
    

County Council meeting
Wednesday 17 February 2021 at 10.00 am

Please note that this meeting will be held remotely and can be viewed on the County 
Council website at www.gloucestershire.gov.uk

Chief Executive

A G E N D A

Chair’s Opening of Council

“May we find wisdom to carry out our duties, humanity to listen to all, the courage to do what 
is right and the generosity to treat each other with respect.”

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

2  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 18)

To confirm and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 25 November 2020. 

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or personal interests that you may have 
relating to any specific matters which may be discussed at the meeting.

4  CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (Pages 19 - 20)

a) Queen’s New Year Honours
To congratulate the people living in Gloucestershire who received awards as part of 
the Queen’s New Year Honours.  



    

b) Constructing Excellence awards
Shire Hall won the regional awards for the following categories in December 2020: 
integration and collaborative working, value and building project of the year.  The 
Council went forward to the national awards and has just been announced as the 
winner in the integration and collaborative working category.

5  PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item.

To answer any written public questions about matters which are within the powers and duties 
of the County Council.

The closing date for receipt of questions is 10am on Wednesday, 10 February 2021.  
Please send questions to the Chief Executive marked for the attention of Stephen Bace 
(email stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk)

Questions received and proposed responses do not accompany this agenda but will be 
circulated prior to the meeting.

6  CORPORATE PARENTING (Pages 21 - 24)

Cllr Richard Boyles, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and 
Early Years, to present report.

7  PETITIONS 

Cllr Stephen Davies to present a petition relating to the roundabout road improvements at the 
A38 Perry Way junction, near Frampton-on-Severn, to Cllr Vernon Smith, Cabinet Member 
for Highways and Flood.

To receive any other petitions from members without discussion.

8  POLICY AND BUDGET FRAMEWORK - MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 

Pete Bungard, the Chief Executive, will explain how the budget debate will take place (a 
flowchart will be displayed in the chamber).  

a)  REPORT AND RECOMMENDATIONS (Pages 25 - 34)

b)  COUNCIL STRATEGY - APPENDIX 1 (Pages 35 - 58)

mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

c)  MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY - APPENDIX 2 (Pages 59 - 212)

d)  BUDGET CONSULTATION REPORT - APPENDIX 3 (Pages 213 - 234)

e)  BUDGET SCRUTINY - APPENDIX 4 (Pages 235 - 246)

f)  DUE REGARD STATEMENT - APPENDIX 5 (Pages 247 - 340)

9  MEMBER QUESTIONS 

Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item.

To answer any written member questions about matters which are within the powers and 
duties of the County Council. 

The closing date for receipt of questions is 10am on Wednesday, 10 February 2021. 
Please send questions to the Chief Executive marked for the attention of Stephen Bace 
(email stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 

Questions received and proposed responses do not accompany this agenda but will be 
circulated prior to the meeting.

10  SCRUTINY 

a)  SCRUTINY REPORT (Pages 341 - 344)
Cllr Shaun Parsons, Chair of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee, to 
present the scrutiny reports from recent committee meetings. 

b)  HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
Following the resignation of Cllr Brian Robinson as Chair of the Health Scrutiny 
Committee, to appoint a Chair for the remainder of the 2020-21 Civic Year.

11  CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE REPORT (Pages 345 - 364)

Cllr Mark Hawthorne, Chairman of the Constitution Committee, to present the report from the 
meeting held on 18 January 2021.

12  INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION STATEMENTS (Pages 365 - 372)

To consider the decision statements for the period 1 November 2020 to 31 January 2021.

mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

13  CABINET DECISION STATEMENTS (Pages 373 - 386)

To consider the decision statements for the Cabinet meetings held on 16 December 2020 
and 27 January 2021.

14  GLOUCESTERSHIRE LGPS 2019-20 ANNUAL REPORT (Pages 387 - 540)

Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Chair of the Pension Committee, to present the 2019-20 Annual Report 
for the Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS).

If you wish to inspect reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other 
general queries about the meeting, please contact:

Simon Harper, Head of Democratic Services
 01452 324202, email simon.harper@gloucestershire.gov.uk

mailto:simon.harper@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

MINUTES OF COUNTY COUNCIL MEETING
DATE: Wednesday 25 November 2020 TIME:  10.00 am
VENUE: Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester

Present
Membership:

Cllr Phil Awford
Cllr Matt Babbage
Cllr Robert Bird
Cllr Richard Boyles
Cllr David Brown
Cllr Chris Coleman
Cllr Dr John Cordwell
Cllr Kevin Cromwell
Cllr Stephen Davies
Cllr Iain Dobie
Cllr Ben Evans
Cllr Bernard Fisher
Cllr Andrew Gravells MBE
Cllr Kate Haigh
Cllr Terry Hale
Cllr Tim Harman
Cllr Joe Harris

Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE
Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr Jeremy Hilton
Cllr Stephen Hirst
Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
Cllr Carole Allaway Martin
Cllr Dr Andrew Miller
Cllr Patrick Molyneux
Cllr Nigel Moor
Cllr Graham Morgan
Cllr David Norman MBE
Cllr Brian Oosthuysen
Cllr Shaun Parsons
Cllr Sajid Patel
Cllr Loraine Patrick
Cllr John Payne
Cllr Alan Preest (Vice-
Chair)

Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE
Cllr Brian Robinson
Cllr Steve Robinson
Cllr Vernon Smith
Cllr Lynden Stowe
Cllr Klara Sudbury
Cllr Ray Theodoulou 
(Chairman)
Cllr Brian Tipper
Cllr Pam Tracey MBE
Cllr Robert Vines
Cllr Simon Wheeler
Cllr Kathy Williams
Cllr Lesley Williams MBE
Cllr Suzanne Williams
Cllr Will Windsor-Clive

Apologies: Cllr Keith Rippington, Cllr Rachel Smith and Cllr Eva Ward
Honorary Aldermen Bill Crowther and Gordon Shurmer 

12. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 9 September 2020 were confirmed and signed 
as a correct record.

13. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No additional declarations were made. 

14. ABSENCE OF MEMBERS 

Section 85(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 requires a member of a local 
authority to attend at least one meeting of that authority within a six month 
consecutive period, in order to avoid being disqualified as a councillor. This 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

requirement can be waived if any failure to attend was due to a reason 
approved by the authority, in advance of the six month period expiring.

Unfortunately, due to illness, Cllr Keith Rippington, who represents the Bisley 
and Painswick Division, and Cllr Eva Ward, who represents the Stroud Central 
Division, would be unable to attend meetings for the foreseeable future.

Cllr Rachel Smith, who represents the Minchinhampton Division, was currently 
on parental leave, and therefore unable to attend meetings.

The Chairman requested that Council  suspend the six month rule for the three 
councillors until further notice, which was seconded.

RESOLVED that Section 85(1) of the Local Government Act 1972, that requires a 
member to attend at least one meeting within six months, be suspended for Cllrs 
Keith Rippington, Eva Ward and Rachel Smith.

15. ANNOUNCEMENTS 

a) Virtual meeting protocol

Simon Harper, Head of Democratic Services, explained the virtual meeting 
protocol for the meeting to members, and provided guidance on how to use the 
WebEx remote meeting software. 

b) Honours

The Chairman congratulated all those in Gloucestershire who had received 
awards as part of the Queen’s Birthday Honours. Special mention was made of 
Cllr Andrew Gravells, who represents the Abbey Division, on receiving an MBE 
for his services to the local community.

c) Building Excellence Awards

The Council had been named winner of the Best Large Commercial Project in 
the Local Authority Building Control Building Excellence Awards 2020 for the 
West of England region for its transformation of Shire Hall into an energy-
efficient building, fit for the needs of the 21st Century. The Chairman 
congratulated and thanked officers working in Asset Management and Property 
Services (AMPS). 

d) Thank you to GCC staff

The Chairman recognised the hard work of staff across the Council, including in 
Adult Social Care, Children’s Services, and Public Health during the second 
wave of Covid-19, and thanked them for their response to the pandemic. 

e) Margaret Willcox, Executive Director of Adult Social Care

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

The Chairman thanked Margaret Willcox, Executive Director of Adult Social 
Care, who would be retiring, for all her efforts on behalf of the Council. 
Margaret’s leadership of Adult Social Care had transformed the Council’s 
approach to Adult Social Care to a strength based approach, and her 
prestigious position as President of the Association of Directors of Adult Social 
Services (ADASS) was recognised.

Cllr Kathy Williams, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Delivery, praised 
Margaret’s diligent work ethic, expertise, and care of her staff.

Cllr Carole Allaway Martin, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care 
Commissioning, commended Margaret’s visionary thinking, as well as her ability 
to enable staff to work together cohesively, and to pull together partners 
together to work with one voice.

f) Minerals Local Plan

The Chairman informed members that the Minerals Local Plan for 
Gloucestershire had been awarded the ‘Commendation’ prize in the Excellence 
in Plan Making Practice category at the Royal Town Planning Institute (RTPI) 
South West Awards 2020, and thanked officers working in the Environment 
Planning Team for their hard work.

Cllr Nigel Moor, Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning, praised the 
achievement of the Environment Planning Team. 
 

16. CORPORATE PARENTING 

Cllr Richard Boyles, Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years, 
presented the Corporate Parenting report.

Cllr Boyles drew members’ attention to the importance of the ‘One-Page Profiles’ in helping 
young people in care to access work and career opportunities. He reflected that members, 
as corporate parents, should help children in care as they would if they were their own.

One member asked for an update on the establishment of a Youth Council, following a 
motion to Council. In response, it was understood that young ambassadors played a vital 
role by attending Corporate Parenting meetings, mentoring officers, and working with the 
care leavers’ group.  Partners were also working together on the child friendly 
Gloucestershire project, which worked to promote the voices of young people. 

Several members raised questions regarding the most recent letter from Ofsted on its visit 
to Gloucestershire children’s services in October 2020, and expressed their concerns about 
its findings. One member commented that debate on the Ofsted letter should take place at 
Council as all members were responsible for the care of children in Gloucestershire. 

In response, Cllr Boyles reminded members of the journey that the Council had been on so 
far, and of the Council’s ambition to continue improving. Members were advised that there 
would be an appropriate opportunity for members to debate and raise any queries on this 
topic at Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

One member sought clarity on the process for helping young people to engage in the 
process of their care, and in supporting them to use technology, where processes have 
moved online as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic. In response, Cllr Boyles explained that 
the visit rate for Gloucestershire during the pandemic had been the highest in the South 
West, and that they had been working with the courts on ensuring access to the virtual 
courts. 

17. PETITIONS 

Cllr Phil Awford presented Cllr Vernon Smith, Cabinet Member for Highways and 
Flood, with a petition relating to the concerns of the local community regarding the 
frequent closure of the A417 at Maisemore due to flooding.

Cllr Mark Hawthorne also presented Cllr Dave Norman, Cabinet Member for Public 
Protection, Parking and Libraries, with a petition relating to speeding along Elmore 
Lane, Quedgeley.

18. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

Fourteen questions had been received. A copy of the answers was circulated and is 
attached to the signed copy of the minutes.

Q1 – Steve Gower asked whether it concerned the Council that the City Council 
Housing Officers who had signposted vulnerable homeless individuals into hotels 
over the Covid-19 lockdown period didn’t know how many had self harmed and 
attempted suicide when placed there. He asked who was ultimately responsible for 
safeguarding and the welfare of individuals?

Cllr Kathy Williams replied that a written response would be provided. 

Q2 – Paul Ockelton asked if the Cabinet Member could advise how much of library 
provision from Section 106 money had been spent in Tewkesbury Borough and 
requested more detail.

Cllr Dave Norman explained that the amount of money had been put in the answer 
to the original question but could provide any additional information that he 
requested.

Q3 – Paul Ockelton asked how much of the Section 106 money spent on staff had 
been spent in Tewkesbury Borough.

Cllr Dave Norman replied he would send a written breakdown.

Q4 – Beccy MacDonald-Lofts asked if the councillor could confirm that this would 
be looked at as a matter of urgency and she asked when the families could expect 
to receive an update. She emphasised that six families had moved their children out 
of school and into a Gloucestershire setting due to these issues.

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

Cllr Richard Boyles invited the questioner to send the supplementary question in full 
and he confirmed it was a matter of urgency. The team were looking at other 
budget opportunities and this was an ongoing matter. The Council would update 
families when they were in a position to.

Q8 – Declan Wilson asked what measures the Fire and Rescue Service were 
taking to ensure and encourage more applications from BAME communities in the 
future.

Cllr Dave Norman replied that the service needed to go out and engage with these 
communities, and he felt that this could come from existing serving officers from 
those communities. He would do all he could with the Chief Fire Officer to do more 
to increase and ensure representation of all Gloucestershire communities. 

19. MOTIONS 

Motion 867 - Highways trees maintenance
Cllr Jeremy Hilton proposed and Cllr Bernie Fisher seconded the motion included on the 
agenda.

Cllr Hilton informed the meeting of the benefits that trees brought to the environment, 
including a positive impact on climate change. He stated that there were 13,000 high 
priority trees in the county, but that there were insufficient resources to be able to safely 
maintain them all; officers were overworked. He also questioned the process by which the 
agency agreement worked. He stated that it was time to fix an overstretched system. Tree 
stumps should be ground out and trees replaced in a much shorter period of time than at 
present. 

Some members indicated their support for this motion. They agreed that trees were an 
important part of climate change, and that there were insufficient resources to support this 
area of work. They also shared their experience of trying to get support from 
Gloucestershire Highways for tree maintenance in their division(s). 

Other members stated that this motion was trying to amend next year’s budget without a 
budget amendment, and did not explain where the money would come from to fund this 
proposal. It was stated that the council had already agreed to invest in the planting of 
35million trees and that the council was working on this project with the Gloucestershire 
Local Nature Partnership. The council had also been invited by the Woodland Trust to 
submit a bid to its emergency tree planting fund; a bid has been submitted. Information on 
this would be included in a report to be received by Cabinet on 16 December 2020.

Cllr Bernie Fisher, seconder of the motion, emphasised that this was about trees, and that 
if the council kept to its tree planting target it would need the resources to maintain them. 
This was a skilled job, not one that just anyone could do. 

In summing up, Cllr Hilton emphasised that this was about maintaining trees on the 
highway not about planting trees; all that was being asked was that this be looked at in time 
for the budget proposals. 

On being put to the vote the motion was lost.

Motion 868 - ‘Planning for the Future’ White Paper

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

Cllr Nigel Robbins proposed and Cllr Ben Evans seconded the motion included on the 
agenda.

Cllr Robbins stated that the White Paper was an embarrassment. Opposition to it was 
widespread across councils and planning associations. He stated that the advisor to the 
White Paper was not part of any professional planning association. The White Paper 
needed a rethink. He acknowledged that it did take time to get housing built, but the 
solution lies in the hands of developers who were holding onto land. In his view getting 
consent was not the issue, there were various factors involved. In his view the White Paper 
offered developers a blank cheque and took away the democratic right to challenge 
planning applications. 

Cllr Evans stated that, in his view, it was inconceivable that councillors would not support 
this motion. He was of the view that Section 106 (Town and Country Planning Act 1990) 
and the CIL (Community Infrastructure Levy (Planning Act 2008)) were opaque. We were in 
the middle of a climate emergency and this paper did not address how we build houses 
sustainably and quickly. It did not improve the process but instead lowered the barriers. 

Some members indicated that they thought that this was a sensible motion, noting that 
many councillors present had spoken against planning applications in their division(s), this 
right would go away. It was suggested that what was needed was a completion date for the 
planning permission. There was a shared concern from some members as to the loss of 
the democratic right to challenge planning applications. 

An amendment to the motion was to be proposed by Cllr Nigel Moor, and seconded by Cllr 
Mark Hawthorne. However, Cllr Robbins stated that this was a wrecking amendment and 
questioned whether it was constitutional. The Monitoring Officer informed the meeting that 
having considered the amendment and that as it asked for a summary of the debate to be 
included that he was happy for this amendment to proceed. The amendment was therefore 
tabled: -

This Council notes that:
  The Government consultation on the ‘Planning for the Future’ White Paper has 

recently closed.
     The proposals would radically alter the existing planning system for all seven of 

Gloucestershire’s councils.
     The changes have been opposed by the all-party Local Government Association, 

currently led by Conservative Councillors, along with many other interest groups. 
     This council further notes that there are more than 16,000 people on housing 

lists in Gloucestershire, and that there is a serious and long-term need to 
deliver more housing across our country.

     This council welcomes the government’s intention to address this, and the 
opportunity to comment on the proposals.

 
This Council resolves to ask the Chief Executive and County Council leader to 
write to the county’s six MPs welcoming the commitment to build more 
homes across the country to deal with the housing crisis, and  noting the 
areas where the White Paper might be improved following consultation. to 
raise strong opposition to the proposed changes in the White Paper, and to 
request a delay in the publication of the proposals until further consultation has 
been held with the public, Local Authorities and planning professionals.  

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

The letter must include, but not be limited to, the following objections: a 
summary of this debate, noting the points made by councillors. 

·         The presumption in favour of outline planning approval within 'growth' and 
'renewal' areas removes democratic oversight and public scrutiny.

·         The new method for establishing housing requirement figures would mean some 
districts will be overwhelmed by the new housing.

·         Changes to the affordable housing quotas would significantly diminish the amount 
of social rent and affordable housing built in Gloucestershire.

The time-scale of thirty months for producing a Local Plan is unrealistic.

Cllr Moor stated that the motion did not address the important issues in the White Paper; it 
said nothing abut the need for positive change. He informed the meeting that the 
Administration did have concerns with regard to the White Paper and had submitted a 25 
page response to the consultation. 

Cllr Hawthorne stated that this was not a sensible motion. The consultation on the White 
Paper had closed; the Liberal Democrat group had had plenty of time to submit a motion on 
this matter to the September meeting of council. The White Paper was there to elicit 
debate, and many people would have made a substantial input to the consultation. He 
acknowledged that the White Paper had many flaws, but it did try and address the question 
of houses for the next generation. It was important to take action now to support the 
housing crisis.

It was stated that the motion appeared to be divided along party lines and that there were 
major issues with the White Paper. Some members felt it disappointing that members had 
not been able to come up with something that they could all agree on; people needed 
decent homes that they could afford. Other members felt that the original motion had been 
in need of amending and the amendment had helped. It was commented that this White 
Paper fell more in the domain of the district councils; they would have submitted a 
response to the consultation. There was a concern that this would contribute to land 
banking by developers.

Cllr Moor stated that the original motion took us nowhere. The White Paper with 
amendments could make a positive difference to the housing crisis, and questioned what 
was wrong with supporting this amendment to write to the Gloucestershire MPs noting the 
need for more homes to be built and to note the areas where the White Paper could be 
improved post consultation. If members did not support this it would be noted that they 
were not signing up to tackling the housing crisis. 

Cllr Robbins stated that the motion was not expected to be a response to the consultation; 
it was about putting political pressure on Gloucestershire’s MPs to think of Gloucestershire 
and their constituents when debating this matter. It was important to protect democracy. He 
urged members not to support this wrecking amendment.

On being put to the vote the amendment was carried and became the substantive motion: -

This Council notes that:
 The Government consultation on the ‘Planning for the Future’ White Paper has 

recently closed.
 The proposals would radically alter the existing planning system for all seven of 

Gloucestershire’s councils.

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

 The changes have been opposed by the all-party Local Government Association, 
currently led by Conservative Councillors, along with many other interest groups. 

 This council further notes that there are more than 16,000 people on housing lists in 
Gloucestershire, and that there is a serious and long-term need to deliver more 
housing across our country.

 This council welcomes the government’s intention to address this, and the 
opportunity to comment on the proposals.

 
This Council resolves to ask the Chief Executive and County Council leader to write to the 
county’s six MPs welcoming the commitment to build more homes across the country to 
deal with the housing crisis, and noting the areas where the White Paper might be 
improved following consultation. 
 
The letter must include, but not be limited to a summary of this debate, noting the points 
made by councillors.

It was commented that it must be difficult for the Conservative Group to have to defend this 
White Paper but that this did not mean that this was a reason to push through this motion in 
its bowdlerised form. The Administration should be looking at freeing up county council 
land for affordable and social housing. Taking communities out of the consultation process 
for planning applications was not the way to proceed. It was felt that there had been cross 
party condemnation of the White Paper and that watering down the motion was not the way 
to proceed. We all needed to meet the challenge of the housing crisis. 

Cllr Hawthorne reiterated that the White Paper has been subject to a huge amount of 
debate in local government circles, including the LGA, and MPs, and concerns were raised. 
He hoped that as, through this process, people had spoken with one voice, that the 
government would listen. Having gone through this process it was not a good idea to ask 
for it to start again. The amendment had also highlighted the need to tackle the housing 
crisis. He also stated that the county council was doing a lot to support housing through the 
investment in improvements to the wider infrastructure. 

It was commented that some members were already discussing housing issues with their 
local MP and applying political pressure, so it was incorrect to infer that members were not 
already doing this. 

Cllr Moor reiterated that if members did not support this motion (as amended) they were 
indicating their lack of support for tackling the housing crisis.

Cllr Robbins stated that the original motion had not been about a late attempt to engage 
with the consultation process. 

On being put to the vote motion 868 was carried.

RESOLVED that

This Council notes that:
 The Government consultation on the ‘Planning for the Future’ White Paper has 

recently closed.
 The proposals would radically alter the existing planning system for all seven of 

Gloucestershire’s councils.
 The changes have been opposed by the all-party Local Government Association, 

currently led by Conservative Councillors, along with many other interest groups. 

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

 This council further notes that there are more than 16,000 people on housing lists in 
Gloucestershire, and that there is a serious and long-term need to deliver more 
housing across our country.

 This council welcomes the government’s intention to address this, and the 
opportunity to comment on the proposals.

 
This Council resolves to ask the Chief Executive and County Council leader to write to the 
county’s six MPs welcoming the commitment to build more homes across the country to 
deal with the housing crisis, and noting the areas where the White Paper might be 
improved following consultation. 
 
The letter must include, but not be limited to a summary of this debate, noting the points 
made by councillors.

Motion 869 – Child food poverty
Cllr Paul Hodgkinson proposed and Cllr Colin Hay seconded the motion included on the 
agenda.

Cllr Hodgkinson stated that no child should go hungry in the UK in 2020; this was obvious 
and should not be a debate. Although given that it had been necessary to bring a motion to 
this council it could be suggested that some in the Conservative party, and maybe even 
some in this virtual council chamber, considered this a matter of opinion. He was of the 
view that the Conservative Government does not really believe in getting rid of child food 
poverty. Cllr Hodgkinson referred to the recent Parliamentary debate on Free School Meals 
(FSM) which ended with the MPs voting against the bill which would have brought England 
into line with Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland in that FSM be extended to school 
holidays. He thought it shameful that MPs had been whipped to vote against this bill. 

He stated that it was only after being hauled over the coals of the court of public opinion 
that the Government, earlier this month, committed yet another U-turn and took tentative 
steps to address child food poverty. He acknowledged that the Government has, despite 
believing the state has no role to play, pledged to support those on Free School Meals 
during holidays until Christmas next year; and has increased the value of Healthy Start 
vouchers to £4.25 

However, while these were critical steps which were welcome, the Government has not 
expanded free school meals to every child from a household on Universal Credit or 
equivalent; and has not committed to permanently expand holiday food and activities to all 
children on free school meals. He reminded the council that these were some of the 
recommendations from a taskforce that this Government had set up.

He stated that these particular recommendations had been brought to even sharper 
prominence by the vigorous campaign from Marcus Rashford; and have been further  
supported by a taskforce set up by Marcus Rashford which includes Fareshare, the Food 
Foundation, Kelloggs and all the major supermarkets.  

Cllr Hodgkinson asked council what were they going to do about this and discussed the 
points made in the motion. He stated that the eyes of history were upon us; people would 
judge those who stood by and allowed children to go to bed hungry in 2020. He concluded 
by stating that we could do the right thing, we could do what we can, and we could vote for 
this motion. 

Cllr Richard Boyles welcomed the motion and the opportunity that it gave for him to 
describe exactly what the Conservative administration had already done and the plans in 

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

place. He  stated that they had taken great strides to protect the vulnerable and rebuild 
children’s services to make sure that we could identify and support those in need and take 
proactive steps to support.

He reminded the meeting that the Administration had supported the financing of individual 
councillors to tackle holiday hunger and provide food parcels to families in previous years. 
They had continued, through existing services to provide hot meals and food parcels to 
children, and had partnered with a local chain restaurant to provide meals for qualifying 
families and also provided breakfast provision. 

He stated that during the pandemic the Government had stepped in to finance county 
councils and schools so that they could support those most vulnerable. The Conservative 
Administration has used its emergency assistance fund to support families over the recent 
half term – 5276 children were identified and supported. Plans were already in place to 
support these identified children through to the February 2021 half term.

He informed the meeting that the Government had provided £170m nationally of which 
Gloucestershire received £1.54m. This would pay for the Covid-19 winter grant to support 
families over Christmas; an extension to the holiday activities and food programme to cover 
Easter, Summer and Christmas 2021. There would also be an increase of the healthy start 
payments to £4.25.

Cllr Boyles proposed an amendment to the motion, seconded by Cllr Patrick Molyneux: -

This Council:
         Believes that it is shameful that children still go hungry in the UK.
         Commends the initiative of Manchester United footballer Marcus Rashford 

who has successfully campaigned on school holiday hunger and has 
recently formed a taskforce with some of the UK’s leading food retailers and 
charities to help reduce child food poverty.

         Notes that this taskforce has called upon the government to fund three 
policy recommendations from the National Food Strategy to end child food 
poverty for good:

o   The expansion of free school meals to every child from a household 
on Universal Credit or equivalent, reaching an additional 1.5m 
children aged seven to 16

o   The expansion of holiday food and activities to support all children on 
free school meals, reaching an additional 1.1m children

o   Increasing the value of the Healthy Start vouchers from £3.10 to £4.25 
per week and expanding it to all those on Universal Credit or 
equivalent, reaching an additional 290,000 children under the age of 
four and pregnant women

         Further notes that the government has provided the council with 
£1.54m to support vulnerable families in our county, including those on 
free school meals.

         Note no previous government, of any party, has previously funded 
free school meals during school holidays in this manner.

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

         Calls on all councillors to make sure people who need help in their 
areas know it is available, and avoid the risk of causing confusion with 
inaccurate, or misleading political messages.

 
This Council concurs with the conclusion of the taskforce in calling upon the 
Government to immediately fund these recommendations, and resolves to ask the 
Chief Executive to write to:

·         Mr Marcus Rashford commending him for his initiative and offering this 
Council’s support for his work.

·         The Chancellor of the Exchequer calling upon him to fund these three 
recommendations, as a matter of great urgency.

·         Our six local MPs, chastising them for their recent votes/abstentions, and 
asking them to make urgent representations to the Chancellor on this issue.

Cllr Hodgkinson stated that he did not think that this change was constitutional and 
requested the Monitoring Officer to clarify the position. The Monitoring Officer indicated that 
he was happy that this amendment was within the rules of the council’s constitution.

Cllr Molyneux stated that he felt that we could all agree with the way that Marcus Rashford 
had shone a light on this issue. However, targeting those most in need was the way to 
manage this situation. 

Some members commented that the amendment airbrushed the original motion, and did 
contravene the constitution. Children going hungry was an adverse childhood experience 
(ACE) and that this council had committed to reduce ACEs. This motion was not just about 
Covid-19 but also the wider issues; extending this to people on universal credit was 
important. Problems with poverty ran deep in this county. It was disappointing that the 
Government could find £29m for a Brexit festival but could not find £20m for food poverty. 

Cllr Hodgkinson shared his disappointment with the amendment and its dismissal of the 
motion’s recommendations, and the fact that the Gloucestershire MPs either abstained or 
voted against the bill in the Parliamentary debate. He was of the view that the Monitoring 
Officer’s advice was incorrect. 

Cllr Boyles reiterated that the council was working hard to develop schemes to support 
vulnerable young people and their families, and that members should be proud of what is 
being done in Gloucestershire. 

On being put to the vote the amendment was carried and became the substantive motion: -

This Council:
         Believes that it is shameful that children still go hungry in the UK.
         Commends the initiative of Manchester United footballer Marcus Rashford 

who has successfully campaigned on school holiday hunger and has 
recently formed a taskforce with some of the UK’s leading food retailers and 
charities to help reduce child food poverty.

         Notes that this taskforce has called upon the government to fund three 
policy recommendations from the National Food Strategy to end child food 
poverty for good:

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 12 -

o   The expansion of free school meals to every child from a household 
on Universal Credit or equivalent, reaching an additional 1.5m 
children aged seven to 16

o   The expansion of holiday food and activities to support all children on 
free school meals, reaching an additional 1.1m children

o   Increasing the value of the Healthy Start vouchers from £3.10 to £4.25 
per week and expanding it to all those on Universal Credit or 
equivalent, reaching an additional 290,000 children under the age of 
four and pregnant women

         Further notes that the government has provided the council with £1.54m 
to support vulnerable families in our county, including those on free school 
meals.

         Note no previous government, of any party, has previously funded free 
school meals during school holidays in this manner.

         Calls on all councillors to make sure people who need help in their areas 
know it is available, and avoid the risk of causing confusion with inaccurate, 
or misleading political messages.

Cllr Hay stated that this had been an unfortunate debate; we could have been working 
together. He asked that Cllr Boyles extend an invitation to the other groups so that we 
could work together on this issue. We needed to sort out hunger in the longer term as this 
was an Adverse Childhood Experience. It did not matter where the ideas come from, the 
important factor was that children came first.

Cllr Hodgkinson thanked those members who had spoken in favour of the original motion. 
He did however think that there was an element of denial in place, and was angry about the 
way in which the recommendations had been removed. He indicated that he would not be 
supporting the amended motion as it had destroyed what was originally proposed.

On being put to the vote the substantive motion was carried.

RESOLVED that

This Council:
         Believes that it is shameful that children still go hungry in the UK.
         Commends the initiative of Manchester United footballer Marcus Rashford 

who has successfully campaigned on school holiday hunger and has 
recently formed a taskforce with some of the UK’s leading food retailers and 
charities to help reduce child food poverty.

         Notes that this taskforce has called upon the government to fund three 
policy recommendations from the National Food Strategy to end child food 
poverty for good:

o   The expansion of free school meals to every child from a household 
on Universal Credit or equivalent, reaching an additional 1.5m 
children aged seven to 16

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 13 -

o   The expansion of holiday food and activities to support all children on 
free school meals, reaching an additional 1.1m children

o   Increasing the value of the Healthy Start vouchers from £3.10 to £4.25 
per week and expanding it to all those on Universal Credit or 
equivalent, reaching an additional 290,000 children under the age of 
four and pregnant women

         Further notes that the government has provided the council with 
£1.54m to support vulnerable families in our county, including those on 
free school meals.

         Note no previous government, of any party, has previously funded 
free school meals during school holidays in this manner.

         Calls on all councillors to make sure people who need help in their 
areas know it is available, and avoid the risk of causing confusion with 
inaccurate, or misleading political messages.

20. MEMBER QUESTIONS 

Forty five member questions had been received (including an Urgent Question). 
The following supplementary questions were asked:

Q1 – Cllr Bernie Fisher asked the member to read the email exchange he had sent 
him on the issue and asked for a reply.

Cllr Vernon Smith replied that he would.

Q3 – Cllr Paul Hodgkinson asked how many of the 35 million trees had been 
planted since 14 October 2020. He suggested that the Council were behind 
schedule.

Cllr Nigel Moor replied that this was about planting trees and their long-term 
maintenance. It was important to have the right processes in place and that this 
was a decade long commitment.

Q4 – Cllr Paul Hodgkinson referred to a press release on 5 October 2020 and 
questioned the progress that had been made in planting 1 million trees. He asked 
whether the strategy was really focussed on planting 35 million trees given the lack 
of progress.

Cllr Nigel Moor replied that the Tree Strategy set out the vision and this involved a 
whole range of partners. A report would be coming to Cabinet in December setting 
out how this would be started in the spring.

Q5 – Cllr Paul Hodgkinson asked for figures for the number of tree planted as had 
been requested in his initial questions. He suggested that trees had been removed 
but not planted and that the Council was behind on their plans. 

Page 13



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 14 -

Cllr Nigel Moor again referred to the Tree Strategy, which would be published in 
December. 

Q7 – Cllr Jeremy Hilton stated that he had forwarded the email complaint relating to 
London Road to officers and the Cabinet Member, and he asked that an acceptable 
solution be found. He asked if, in the meantime, whether the council could take 
action to stop takeaway delivery drivers parking on the footways in that area.

Cllr Nigel Moor explained that the Council was working with the individuals to 
provide loading facilities close by. He welcomed the feedback from the member.

Q11 – Cllr Jeremy Hilton referred to flooding in parts of his division and asked for a 
written report from the multiagency meeting that would be taking place.

Cllr Vernon Smith replied that he would update the member following the meeting. 

Q14 – Cllr Jeremy Hilton explained that a public consultation exercise for the 
Kingsholm parking review had still not been carried out. He asked that this be 
scheduled in as soon as possible as people wanted to express their views.

Cllr Dave Norman replied that there were two other areas of the County also 
awaiting surveys and that these would be carried out as soon as it was safe to do 
so. 

Q15 – Cllr Jeremy Hilton asked that, if there were plans to make changes to the 
roundabout off Escourt Road, that he be invited to a site visit when held. He asked 
whether changes were planned in the near future.  

Cllr Nigel Moor replied that there would be no imminent changes and that the 
Council was learning from the trial and considering a range of options. Any 
proposals in the new year would be shared with the member.  

Q16– Cllr Jeremy Hilton asked that no Covid-19 NHS patients be transferred into 
care homes. He suggested that instructions from Government were to prepare for 
such transfer and he urged the Cabinet Member to resist this. 

Cllr Kathy Williams replied that no one would be transferred into a care home who 
had tested positive for Covid-19.

Q17 – Cllr Jeremy Hilton stated that based on FOI requests he understood that 
from 19 March and 15 April there had been 113 discharges into care homes, and 
that 42 of those individuals had tested positive for Covid-19. He felt that the County 
Council had failed to act then to stop the transfers and looked for assurances that 
this would not happen in the future. 

Cllr Kathy Williams replied that the member was aware that this was a complex 
situation but that the Council would never knowingly transfer people with Covid-19 
into a care home. 

Page 14



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 15 -

Q23 – Cllr Paul Hodgkinson expressed concern regarding Fosse Cross HRC 
closing for another 6 weeks for essential work. He asked why the essential work 
had not been carried out while the site had been closed during the pandemic? 

Cllr Nigel Moor replied that when the Country went into lockdown there had been 
disruption and it had been challenging to find a partner to do the work at that time. 
He reassured the member that the work would not be started until there was 
confidence it could be done safely and with minimal disruption.

Q25 – Cllr Iain Dobie asked, since the answer to his question outlined that no 
schemes to enhance cycling would be abandoned despite receiving only a small 
percentage of the tranche 2 money, where would the money be found to deliver 
everything ?

Cllr Nigel Moor replied that the Government had committed to major investment in 
cycling. He felt there would be opportunities over the next year and the best way to 
bid for funding was to develop the schemes.

Q26 – Cllr Iain Dobie asked where they would find the missing money to complete 
the Cheltenham to Gloucester cycle link

Cllr Nigel Moor replied there was financing from Highways England for the design 
work and there were other ideas being explored as to where finance could be 
obtained. Officers were working hard on this scheme.

Q30 – Cllr Iain Dobie asked if the Leader would agree that the failure to review the 
disintegration of health scrutiny and adult social care scrutiny showed how scrutiny 
was failing in Shire Hall.

Cllr Mark Hawthorne replied that he did not agree with this and stated that 
Democratic Services had been busy setting up virtual meetings during the lockdown 
period and it was understandable that a review had not been undertaken. He stated 
that there was nothing to stop scrutiny undertaking this review itself. 

Q31 – Cllr Iain Dobie asked whether the Leader agreed that district members who 
sat on committees would be disappointed to not have their views heard in relation 
to a review of scrutiny.

Cllr Mark Hawthorne replied that it would be a matter for scrutiny as to how they 
wished to conduct a review.

Q37 – Cllr Bernie Fisher referred to the West Yorkshire combined authority’s 
strategy and targets related to carbon reduction and encouraging active travel and 
public transport usage. He detailed the progress they planned to make by 2030, 
including reducing private car travel by 21% and increasing bus usage by 39% and 
rail travel by 53%. Looking at those plans, he asked whether Gloucestershire’s 
limited proposals should be taken seriously.

Page 15



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 16 -

Cllr Nigel Moor replied that Gloucestershire was a rural county with ambitious 
figures. Carbon emissions across the estate had been reduced by 97%. 

Q38 – Cllr Bernie Fisher asked whether the member agreed that ‘if you start slowly 
you fail fast’. He felt that progress in Gloucestershire’s plans for carbon reduction 
had been slow.

Cllr Nigel Moor replied that he had given his answer to the previous question on the 
ambitious targets and the progress being made.

Q40 – Cllr Colin Hay explained that he had wanted the answer to his question to 
detail children starting school, but that it was good to hear the work being carried 
out in Early Years. He asked when it would be rolled out throughout the County 
because it was such an important stage for the child.

Cllr Patrick Molyneux replied that he agreed that this was an important stage of a 
child’s life and that across the County there needed to be identification of  those 
families that needed that extra help and support. 

Q42 – Cllr Colin Hay stated that his question included an assessment from a head 
teacher on children not being ‘school ready’ and he wondered how many schools 
were in the same position.

Cllr Patrick Molyneux replied that he agreed it was an important issue. He did not 
recognise the 6% figure that had been give in the question as he had records of 
only two schools being under 25% of pupils achieving a good level of development 
as measured by the Early Years Foundation Stage profile. He would send further 
details to the member. 

20.1 Scrutiny 

Cllr Shaun Parsons, Chair of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee, introduced 
the report which detailed scrutiny activity throughout September and October 2020.  

It was understood that the report on rainbow crossings had now been sent to the 
Leader of the Council for his consideration. It was also noted that two scrutiny task 
group reports for single-use plastics and public participation, were due to be 
presented to the Cabinet on 16 December, and the report on taxi licensing would 
go to Cabinet in January.

Additionally, the scrutiny annual report would be presented to Corporate Scrutiny on 
Friday 27 November.  This report provided a summary of activities since the 
scrutiny review in 2018 and would give members an opportunity to express their 
views on the shape of scrutiny moving forward. 

21. CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE 

Cllr Mark Hawthorne, Chair of the Constitution Committee, presented the report 
from the meeting held on 12 October 2020.

Page 16



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 17 -

It was noted that a complete review of the Constitution had been carried out, and a 
number of amendments and changes had been made. 

One member suggested that there should be a reference in the Constitution for a 
written response to a supplementary question asked at Council to be provided 
within a reasonable timeframe.

Another member proposed that the Constitution should set out that written 
responses to supplementary questions be published. 

It was agreed that these proposals would be considered at the next Constitution 
Committee meeting. 

RESOLVED that the recommendations from the Constitution Committee as 
included in the report be approved. 

22. CABINET 

23. CABINET 14 OCTOBER 2020 

RESOLVED to note the Cabinet Decision Statement for the meeting held on 14 October 
2020.

23.1 Cabinet 11 November 2020 

RESOLVED to note the Cabinet Decision Statement for the meeting held on 11 
November 2020.

23.2 Individual Cabinet Member Decision Statements 

RESOLVED to note the Individual Cabinet Member Decision Statements for the period 1 
September to 31 October 2020.

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 3.10 pm

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



New Year Honours List 2021 – Gloucestershire

Commander of the Order of the British Empire

Professor Edward William PECK - For services to Higher Education

Vice-Chancellor, Nottingham Trent University

Officers of the Order of the British Empire

Mr Daniel Richard Rowley BISHOP – For services to Defence Procurement

Delivery Manager, Type 31 Frigate Programme, Ministry of Defence 

Members of the Order of the British Empire 

1 Mr Philip John COWBURN - For services to Emergency Medicine and to the 
Covid-19 Response

Consultant in Emergency Medicine, South Western Ambulance Service NHS 
Foundation Trust and Great Western Air Ambulance. 

2 Mrs Kim LEWINGTON - For services to Diversity in Aviation

Charity Development Programme, Fly2Help  

3 Mrs Carol Susan TILEY - For voluntary service to Young People

UK South West Area Chairman, Sea Cadets. 

4 Miss Felicity Ann WAGGETT - For services to Young People and to the 
community in Gloucestershire

Medallists of the Order of the British Empire 

1 Mrs Xyza Aura MACUTAY-MALLOCH - For services to Care during Covid-19

Manager, Kingsley House

2 Mrs Patricia Ann MCCULLOCH - For services to the community in Gloucester

3 Mrs Tracey Helena WREN - For services to the community in Gloucestershire

Police Staff, Gloucestershire Constabulary

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



CORPORATE PARENTING REPORT

Education of Children in Care 

Background: The Children and Families Act 2014 requires local authorities in 
England to appoint at least one person for the purpose of discharging the local 
authority’s duty to promote the educational achievement of its Children in Care. The 
Virtual School Head (VSH) must be an officer employed by the local authority. 
 
The VSH is the lead responsible officer for ensuring that arrangements are in place 
to improve the educational experiences and outcomes of the authority’s Children in 
Care, including those placed outside the home authority’s boundaries. 
Gloucestershire employed their first VSH in 2007, before the role was statutory and 
in recognition that the concept of a Virtual School would be beneficial and allow 
tracking and monitoring of outcomes.
 
Since its’ inception The Virtual School in Gloucestershire has developed to include 
other vulnerable learners beyond the children in care cohort. For 6 years an 
Education Advisors, who supports children previously in care, has been in post and 
since September 2018 these children and those post-16 in education have been 
supported as part of the extended duties of the VSH. 

Academic Year 2019/20: This Briefing extracts key information from Gloucestershire 
County Council’s Virtual School Annual Report (2019/20) which was presented to 
The Corporate Parenting Group in December. It provides a summary of the key 
performance headlines. 
 
For reporting purposes, both to the Department of Education (DFE) and internally, 
the progress and performance of Children in Care in Gloucestershire County Council 
is based on those who have been looked after continuously for a minimum period of 
12 months. It is not appropriate to provide comparative data to previous years due to 
changes in counting methodology. 

Performance for 2019/20 in respect of educational outcomes are as follows: 

 Gloucestershire Early Years (11 children in the eligible cohort) 
No EYFS data for this academic year due to Covid 19 

 
 Gloucestershire Key Stage 1 (8 students in the eligible cohort) 

No KS1 data for this academic year due to Covid 19 

 Gloucestershire Key Stage 2 (23 students in the eligible cohort) 
No KS2 data for this academic year due to Covid 19 

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



 
 Gloucestershire Key Stage 4 (58 students in the eligible cohort, 23 students 

not on the GCSE pathway for English and Maths). 7 students (12% of eligible 
cohort and 20% of those who were on the English and Maths GCSE pathway) 
achieved grade 4+ in English and Maths 
(National children in care key stage 4 first statistical release 2018-19. 
17.9%) 

 Gloucestershire has 17 care leavers at University 

 Attendance 2019-20 for the Reception to Year 11 cohort was 92.6% until the 
20th March (start of partial closure due to Covid 19) 

 12.1% of children/young people from reception to the Year 11 cohort 
experienced an exclusion 

 73.6% of children in care were in OFSTED graded ‘Good or Outstanding’ 
schools. 7.4% of children in care were in schools with no rating

Integral to the statutory duties of The Virtual School is their quality assurance role in 
respect of Personal Education Plans (PEP) for all CiC. PEPs are intrinsic to the 
child’s care plan and the child’s social worker, as the lead professional responsible 
for ensuring the PEP process takes place, calls the meeting with the learner’s school 
/education setting. The Virtual School supports the PEP process from the time that a 
child enters care and throughout their care journey. 

Three times a year a CiC will have a PEP meeting arranged by their social worker to 
ensure that the education needs of the child are met via the PEP. From the key 
stages of reception to year 11 there is Pupil Premium Plus funding available to 
source any additional provisions, equipment or resources that the child needs to 
secure good outcomes. Each plan is therefore unique to the child. To request 
additional educational resources and funding this meeting must happen in a timely 
and meaningful way. 

The Virtual School has responsibilities relating to Personal Education Planning 
irrespective of the age of the child while they are also responsible for the 
management of the ‘Looked After Pupil Premium’ (often described as Pupil Premium 
Plus, PP+) to support learning for children in reception to Year 11 (611 children). 
Personal Education Plan completion rates were exceptionally high during the year, 
as follows: 

 Early years = 100% 
 Reception to Year 11 = 99% 
 Post 16 = 99% 4 

Page 22



The financial year 2019/20 saw the continuation of the Pupil Premium Plus allocation 
which is driven by the needs of children and young people. The breakdown of spend 
was as follows: 

Area Total %
Learning £809,879.48 64.4%
Social Emotional and Mental Health £437,332.55 34.8%
Attendance £10,830.00 0.9%

Priority Focus in 2020/21
Educational Outcomes for CiC are too low and whilst completion rates of PEPS are 
high, the quality of PEPs has been highlighted as an area for significant 
improvement. Evidence has show a lack of Specific, Measurable, Achievable, 
Relevant and Timely (SMART) targets set within PEPs which is linked directly to 
outcomes. Addressing this is a key priority for The Virtual School going forward via a 
SMART Target Campaign alongside schools. Progress will be monitored by a newly 
formed Virtual School Management Committee which replicates, as far as possible, 
a Governing Body.

Cllr Richard Boyles
Cabinet Member – Children’s Safeguarding & Early Years 
February 2021

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Gloucestershire County Council

Council Strategy and Medium Term Financial Strategy 
2021/22 – 2023/24
Budget and Precept 2021/22
Report and Recommendations

1. Introduction

This report refers to the detailed  Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) attached, 
and should be read in conjunction with the Council Strategy, the Due Regard Statement 
and the Consultation reports which accompany it.
 
The MTFS contains the proposed budget for 2021/22 including the general fund 
revenue budget, the capital programme and the Dedicated Schools Grant. The draft 
general fund revenue budget totals £483.008 million and is based on an overall 
increase of 4.75% on Council Tax (this includes 1.99% Council Tax increase plus a 
2.76% Adult Social Care Levy). This proposed increase in the Levy is estimated to raise 
an additional £8.753 million for Adult Social Care services. 

This proposed budget will result in a Band D Council Tax of £1,409.22 in 2021/22 
compared to £1,345.32 in 2020/21 – an increase of £63.90 per annum. 

The detailed MTFS is attached to this report as Appendix 2.
 

2. The Council Strategy 2019-22:  Looking to the Future

The Council Strategy – ‘Looking to the Future’ - is the key high-level document that, 
along with the MTFS, sets the Council’s strategic policy direction. It was approved by 
the Council in February 2019 and sets out the Council’s vision, its ambitions for the 
county and its priorities for addressing the challenges and opportunities it faces. The 
Council Strategy has been updated following the recent public consultation and is 
presented for final approval and adoption by Council 

The updated Council Strategy is attached to this report as appendix 1.

3. Summary Budget Proposal 2021/22

The recommended budget for 2021/22 is £483.008 million, which represents an increase in
cash terms of £14.825 million, or 3.17%, from the approved 2020/21 budget.

The recommended budget for 2021/22 contains:

 £25.445 million of extra investment into services, particularly those for vulnerable 
children and adults as well as economic development. 

 £4.079 million to cover for increased costs due to inflation and pay awards.
 £6.761 million of efficiency savings to be delivered.
 £7.938 million reduction due to removal of the 2020/21 one off cost investments
 £119.053 million of new capital investment in roads, schools and other services.

Page 25

Agenda Item 8a



2

The overall cash increases / decreases for service budgets are detailed in the table below.

Medium Term Financial Strategy – 2021/22 Budget – Overall Summary 

Budget Area Approved 
2020-21 
Budget 

Removal of 
2020-21 One Off 

Budget 
Adjustments

Agreed Budget 
Transfers 
between 

Service Areas

MTFS 2020/21 
Base Budget

Pay Inflation 
Costs

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

Proposed 
2021/22 
Budget

Cash 
Increase / 
Decrease 

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 %

Programme Budget Areas

Adults 150,490                            -   341 150,831 1,031 7,864 -3,193 156,533 6,043 4.02%

Vulnerable Children 100,694 -1,761 -498 98,435 1,131 6,131 -4 105,693 4,999 4.96%

Other Children Services 17,970                            -   139 18,109 281 2,400 -112 20,678 2,708 15.07%

Economy, Environment and 
Infrastructure 72,553 -4,505 2,660 70,708 453 4,184 -447 74,898 2,345 3.23%

Community Safety 19,519                            -                           -   19,519 374 129 -13 20,009 490 2.51%

Prevention & Wellbeing 34,387 -60 -61 34,266 45 1,376 -171 35,516 1,129 3.28%

Corporate Resources 35,066 -2,110 939 33,895 734 923 -961 34,591 -475 -1.35%

Technical & Countywide 37,504 498 -3,520 34,482 30 2,438 -1,860 35,090 -2,414 -6.44%

Total Budget 468,183 -7,938                         -   460,245 4,079 25,445 -6,761 483,008 14,825 3.17%

Full details of the budget proposals are set out in annexes 2 and 3 within the detailed
MTFS of Appendix 2 which accompanies this paper.

4. Changes between the 2021/22 consultation budget approved by Cabinet 
December 2020 and the final budget
 
The following changes to the revenue budget proposals were approved by Cabinet on 
27th January 2021, following additional funding of £1.297 million being confirmed in the 
provisional finance settlement:-

 Additional £0.900 million added to the bed based and community inflationary 
assumptions in Adults services funded by a reduction in the Pay and Prices 
Contingency in Technical and Countrywide.

 Removal of the unallocated savings proposals of £0.520 million within Adults services
 Removal of the proposed cost pressure for parking income totaling £0.218 million as it 

is anticipated that this will be met through additional Covid-19 grant funding.
 Removal of the proposed cost pressure for Libraries and Registration income targets of 

£0.244 million as it is anticipated that this will be met through additional Covid-19 grant 
funding.

 Addition of £0.500 million to the proposed cost pressure for external placements within 
the Vulnerable Children’s Service

 Addition of £0.123 million for the provision of District Library Innovation Labs 
 Increase of £0.253 million to the proposed cost increase to Prevention and Wellbeing 

agenda for change.( From £0.344 million to £0.597 million)
 Reduction in the MtC Contingency savings proposal  by £0.363 million within the 

Technical & Countywide service area

Page 26



3

In addition to the above changes approved by Cabinet 27th January 2021, the Council 
has now received more information on the council tax collection fund position and 
Business Rates projected income and collection fund position from our District Councils.  
This has indicated that an additional £1.253 million is available for 2021/22 as follows:-

Detail £m
Budget per Cabinet January 2021 481.755
Additional Council Tax Income 0.920
Deficit on the Council Tax Collection Fund -0.815
Changes to Business Rates Income 1.148
Revised Budget 483.008

It is recommended that a new growth item is now incorporated within the budget 
proposals for a transfer to the Rates Retention Reserve totalling £1.253 million, in 
recognition of the continuing risks presented by the Covid-19 pandemic on future council 
tax and NNDR collection rates.

No changes are required as a result of the final Finance Settlement published on 4th 
February 2021.

5. Forward Draft Plans for the Revenue Budget in 2022/23 and 2023/24

The Council’s revenue expenditure plans are set for the three years covering 2021/22 to 
2023/24. The proposed detailed budget for 2021/22 is set out within the MTFS, whilst 
the current draft forecast budgets for 2022/23 and 2023/24 are:

2022/23   2023/24

£m £m

Budget 490.99 503.42

These are forecast financial positions for 2022/23 and 2023/24 and will be updated as 
further information becomes available.

6. Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)

The Secretary of State for Education Secretary announced the DSG for 2021/22 on the 
17th December 2020.

The 2021/22 position for Gloucestershire is as follows, this includes funding for teachers’ 
pay and pension costs that were previously funded through separate grants:

Page 27



4

This represents an increase in funding of £22.898m (4.8%) from the 2020/21 DSG, a further 
£20.648m (4.3%) has also been included for the movement of the teachers pay and pension 
funding from separate grants into the DSG, bringing the total change up to £43.546m 
(9.1%). 

7. Capital Programme

Further to the consultation budget proposals, Cabinet 27th January 2021 gave approval 
to an increase in new investments within the capital programme of £6.470 million as a 
result of additional funding now anticipated for the B4063 cycle route scheme.

Funding for New Capital Investment £m
Budget per Cabinet December 2020 112.583
Infrastructure – Highways Grant 2021/22 (estimate) 6.470
Revised Budget 119.053

In addition to the above Cabinet on 27th January 2021 also approved  increases in 
existing schemes within the approved  capital programme of a further £3.086 million as 
follows:-

 the Council has received an additional £812k Disabled Facilities Grant 
allocation    from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government for 2020/21. The additional grant has been added to the 
existing Disabled Facilities Grant capital budget.

 an increase of £2.274 million in the Highways capital programme budget 
as summarised below:

- £692k Department of Transport Active Travel Fund (tranche 2) 
grant towards the B4063 Gloucester to Cheltenham Cycle 
Route scheme. 

- £173k from Highways revenue towards the B4063 Gloucester 
to Cheltenham Cycle Route scheme, this being the revenue 
element of the DfT Active Travel Fund (tranche 2) grant 

- £1.165 million Highways England grant towards the B4063 
Gloucester to Cheltenham Cycle Route scheme

- £219k from Highways Locals fund to support a number of 
Structural Maintenance schemes.

- £25k Developer contribution towards a Moreton-in-Marsh 
footway scheme.

Page 28



5

The capital programme provides investment in the county totaling £914.21 million.  The 
main investment relates to Economy, Environment and Infrastructure (£581.53 million), 
Schools and facilities for children (£149.57 million), Corporate Resources (£143.04 
million), Adults (£33.39 million) and Community Safety (£6.679 million).  

The capital programme contains an estimate of £119.05 million of investment in new 
capital schemes, spread over a number of financial years financed from grants, revenue 
contributions and capital financing budgets, as set out in the table below.

8. Consultation 

A formal budget consultation took place between 18th December 2020 and 15th January 
2021, with the following groups:

 All Gloucestershire residents,
 Key partners including Health, the Independent and Voluntary sectors and 

town and parish councils,
 Trade Unions and professional associations,
 Staff, via the usual communication channels,
 Gloucestershire businesses
 Schools, via the schools forum, open meetings and Head Teacher groups

Full details of the results of the consultation are in Appendix 3.

Page 29



6

The Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee have also undertaken their own budget 
scrutiny process on 7th January 2021. Their report is included as Appendix 4. 

9. Risks

In preparing the budget, and in the context that non schools earmarked reserves will fall 
during 2020/21, the following risks have been taken into account in the budget:

 Account has been taken of current spending trends and, where known, 
additional unavoidable cost pressures have been built into the proposed 
2021/22 budget. Current spending trends, especially the volatility of 
expenditure in Children and Families and the emergence of new cost 
pressures will continue to be monitored as the budget is developed. This may 
result in the need to reprioritise resources prior to the final budget being 
approved by Council in February 2021.

 Budget risks have been explicitly considered by all Directorates in preparing 
the budget and taken into account, particularly the funding constraints going 
forward.

 The level of reserves has been examined and will continue to be closely 
monitored during the period of this MTFS, in the context of protecting the 
Council from existing and future liabilities.

 Balancing the Council’s budget over this period of financial constraint requires 
a series of major challenges. Whilst robust programme management plans 
have been put into place to deliver these savings, as evidenced by 
performance over the last three years, there is inevitably some residual risk. It 
should be noted that the 2021/22 saving target of £6.761 million is 
significantly lower than the savings target for 2020/21 of £10.545 million.

 The highest risk areas continue to be demand led services, especially care for 
older and vulnerable people including Children in Care where demand is 
continuing to increase. Additional resources are being invested in these areas 
under the proposed 2021/22 budget options.

 Provision has been made for pay awards, pension and national insurance 
increases, contractual inflationary pressures and the forecast impact of the 
National Living Wage.

 The reserves held are invested and the interest received supports the 
Council’s budget. 

 Consideration to the funding pressures within the DSG High Needs Block 
Funding has been made. Whilst the Council has a programme in place to 
resolve this issue and will benefit from additional funding in 2021/22 this issue 
will need to be closely monitored during 2021/22 and beyond.

 The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in significant financial pressures for the 
Council during 2020/21 however central government have provided additional 
funding and the latest forecast for 2020/21 is that the additional funding will 
be sufficient to cover the costs of responding to the pandemic.  It is 
anticipated that the financial impact will continue beyond 31st March 2021 so 
in SR20 the Government announced the continuation of Sales, Fees and 
Charges reimbursement scheme for the first three months of the new financial 
year and announced a national funding pot of £1.55 billion. Gloucestershire 

Page 30



7

share of this national pot was confirmed as £11.5 million in the provisional 
Finance Settlement.

10. Risk Management Policy Statement & Strategy

It has always been important for organisations to identify and manage their risks.  
Identifying risks enables the Council to effectively manage strategic decision making, 
service planning and delivery to safeguard the wellbeing of its stakeholders and 
increases the likelihood of achieving its outcomes.  

Annex 11 of the detailed MTFS (Appendix 2) provides the Risk Management Policy 
Statement and Strategy for 2018/21, which aligns with the MTFS.  The aims of this 
Strategy are to support the challenges that the Council may face, allowing it to react 
dynamically to changing external circumstances by enabling the Council to handle risk 
effectively and deliver successful outcomes.

11. Public Sector Equality Duty

Members are reminded that we have a legal duty to give due regard to the implications 
for people with protected characteristics. The Due Regard Statement (Appendix 5) 
before us today includes the relevant details. 

12. Conclusion

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources (the Chief Financial Officer) considers 
that the budget proposals set out by the Cabinet are robust and sustainable and that the 
level of reserves, are sufficient to meet the known risks within the budget.

13. Summary of Appendices

Appendix 1 Council Strategy
Appendix 2 Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS)
Appendix 3 Budget Consultation Report
Appendix 4 Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee Budget Report
Appendix 5 Due Regard Statement

Page 31



8

RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL

1 That, the Council Strategy for 2021/22 is approved.

2 That, having considered the additional consultation responses 
and the Public Sector Equality Duty Due Regard Statement , 
approval is given to the MTFS and the revenue and capital 
budgets for 2021/22, council tax for each valuation band, and 
to issue precepts on each district collection fund as set out 
below:

a)  Gloucestershire County Council 2021/22 Budget:

£000

Original 2020/21 Budget 468,183

Removal of 2020/21 One Off Investments -7,938

Revised 2019/20 Budget 460,245

Inflation 4,079

Cost and spending increases 25,445

Cost reductions -6,761

Total 2021/22 Budget 483,008
Less:

Top Up Grant 54,236
Business Rates Income 23,254
Revenue Support Grant 8,220
Public Health Grant 24,767
Improved Better Care Fund 19,436
New Homes Bonus 1,912
Social Care Grant 15,788
Other Non Ring Fenced Grants 6,119
Collection Fund Deficit -815
Reserves 822

Budget to be met by Council Tax Payers 329,269

Total to be precepted:
Total

Taxbase Precept
Total £

Cheltenham 42,970.60 60,555,083
Cotswold 41,848.15 58,973,303
Forest of Dean 29,737.73 41,907,041
Gloucester City 38,119.80 53,719,233
Stroud 45,573.57 64,223,244
Tewkesbury 35,403.02 49,890,689

Total 233,652.87 329,268,593

Page 32



9

b)   That approval is given to the Capital programme set 
out in Annex 8a of the detailed MTFS, and delegated 
authority is given to the Section 151 Officer to vary 
allocations between individual schemes in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Change.

3 That the Council approves the Capital Strategy, set out in Annex 
7 of the detailed MTFS, the Treasury Management Strategy and 
the non treasury Investment Strategy for 2021/22, set out in 
Annex 10 of the detailed MTFS.

4  That approval is given to the Operational Boundary and 
Authorised Limits of borrowing, as set out in the Capital 
Strategy, at Annex 7 in the detailed MTFS as follows:

Table 8: Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary for External Debt

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Limit Limit Limit Limit Limit
£m £m £m £m £m

Total Authorised Limit for External 
Debt and Other Liabilities 440.000 455.000 500.000 500.000 495.000

Split: External Debt 341.592 357.930 404.107 405.575 401.843
Other Liabilities 98.408 97.070 95.893 94.425 93.157

Total Operational Boundary for 
External Debt 420.000 435.000 480.000 480.000 475.000

Split: External Debt 321.592 337.930 384.107 385.575 381.843
Other Liabilities 98.408 97.070 95.893 94.425 93.157

Authorised limit and operational 
boundary 

a) Noting that the authorised limit for 2021/22 will 
be the statutory limit determined under section 3 
(1) of the Local Government Act 2003

b) That the approval is given to the Prudential 
Indicators for Treasury Management set out in 
Annex 10 of the detailed MTFS for :

(i) the maturity structure of borrowings, 
and 

(ii) the upper limit for principal sums 
invested for more than 364 days of 
£200 million.

5 That the Council approves the Schools Funding set out in 
section G and Annex 9 in the detailed MTFS.

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire
Looking to  
the Future
2019-2022

gloucestershire.gov.uk

DRAFTP
age 35

A
genda Item

 8b



Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council DRAFT

2

This year has also shown clearly how strong, resilient 
and community spirited we are as a county. Covid-19 
has tested us all, presented new challenges and 
above all, has brought out the absolute best in people. 
The offers of support from individual members of the
community and organisations have been staggering 
and proven invaluable to those who have needed help. 
We have also been able to showcase the strength 
and effectiveness of the relationships we have with 
colleagues in the police, district councils, the NHS and 
the voluntary and community sector. By all working 
together; helping and supporting those who are most 
at risk, we have, thankfully seen much lower levels of 
impact than in other parts of the UK.

That is not to say there hasn’t been loss and suffering 
as a result of Covid-19, there has, and it is important 
we remember those who have sadly lost their lives 
and those they have left behind. We must do all we 
can to minimise others having to deal with the pain 
and grief that comes with losing a loved one.

Our commitment to delivering high quality services 
remains unwavering but we have also been clear 
that this is not enough, if we want the county to be 
successful, prosperous and carbon neutral. We have 
had a clear focus on what sort of county we want for 
the future, and how we can work with communities 
and partners to bring about the required changes. We 
have worked hard to move forward projects which will 
secure future growth, including progressing work with 
partners on J9 & 10 of the M5 and the A417 missing 
link, as well as improving our superfast broadband 
network, which has become more important than  
ever this year.

We have shown strong leadership in tackling climate 
change and have made significant progress with our 
climate change commitments; rolling out an ambition 
of tree planting that will see 35 Million new trees 
planted across the county by 2030; reduced our own 

carbon emissions to 73% (against 2006/07 base 
level) and brought an end to household waste going 
straight to landfill, with the resulting renewable energy 
generation taking our net emissions reduction to 97%. 
We have gone on investing in new, improved and 
carbon-neutral school facilities, including a new school 
in Brockworth to meet the needs of our children 
with social, emotional and mental health needs, and 
a brand new secondary school in Cheltenham. We 
have delivered significant new or improved cycling 
and walking infrastructure and continue our essential 
flood alleviation work. We are nearing completion 
of our £150m in the county’s road network, having 
resurfaced over 400 miles of road since April 2018.

There has also been additional investment in our 
children and family services, which has helped 
improve the experiences and outcomes for young 
people. There is much more to do but our foot is flat 
to the floor, to make sure improvement continues at  
a good pace.

We know there are many challenges ahead, both 
economically and for the health and welfare of our 
communities. No one is yet clear on what all these 
challenges will be, but we are clear that with our 
partners, our communities and everyone’s hard 
work to date, we are in a strong position to face and 
overcome them and continue to look towards an 
exciting future for our county.

Introduction
Gloucestershire is a great 
place to live, work and do 
business. Most local people 
enjoy a high standard of 
living, and our levels of 
health and wellbeing are 
comfortably above the 
average for the country. 

Generally, local people 
are well-educated, 
unemployment is low and
Gloucestershire’s economy 
is strong and resilient and 
the local environment is 
diverse and attractive.

Councillor  
Mark Hawthorne MBE  
Leader of the Council

Pete Bungard
Chief Executive

P
age 36



3

 A Magnet County
 
A growing working age population, with more 18-40 year olds with  
high level qualifications choosing to live and work in the county 

 An Innovative County 

More businesses starting up, growing and investing in research and innovation

 A Skilled County 

More people with high-level skills and jobs in skilled occupations

 A Prosperous County 

Rising productivity and household incomes offering higher living standards

 An Inclusive County 

The economic and social benefits of growth to be felt by all communities, 
including rural, urban and our areas of highest deprivation. Opportunities to 
be available for all and good relations between those who have protected 
characteristics and those who do not

 A Healthy County 

People to have a good work/life balance and improved health  
and wellbeing

 A Connected County 

Improved transport and internet connections so that people  
and businesses can connect with each other more easily

 A Sustainable, Low Carbon County 

More efficient use of resources, more use of sustainable energy and 
carbon-neutral by 2045. 

 A Resilient County 

Active, resilient local communities that keep people safe, provide  
them with support and help them to make a positive contribution

Our ambition is for Gloucestershire to be: 

 DRAFT Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council

To make the most of all that Gloucestershire has to offer, help improve the quality of life  
for every community, support businesses to be successful and make sure the county is  
a place where people want to live, work and visit.

Our vision

P
age 37



Inequalities and deprivation
While living standards are high overall, there are areas 
of the county where residents’ outcomes fall well below 
national averages and where, as a result, local people 
are more likely to depend on the services we provide. 
19,415 people (3.1% of the county’s population) live in 
areas amongst the most deprived 10% in England. 

Covid-19 has shone a light on inequalities. We 
quickly saw evidence emerging of a disproportionate 
impact on different parts of society; for example, 
older people, men and some geographic areas. But 
by far the biggest impact was seen in people from 
Black, Asian and minority ethnic backgrounds. Sadly, 
we have seen a higher number of Covid-19 cases, 
deaths, hospitalisations and complications in members 
of these communities. Black and Asian people were 
between 2.5 and 3 times more likely to be admitted 
to hospitals in the county with Covid-19 than white 
people of the same age. It is important that we seize 
this opportunity to focus on tackling inequalities and 
that the learning from the first wave informs not only 
GCC actions but those of the local system for the 
second wave. The 2020 Annual Report of the Director 
of Public Health focuses on the impact of Covid-19 
on the BAME community and provides some clear 
recommendations. Work is also happening via the 
Health and Wellbeing Board and within the Integrated 
Care System.

Rural isolation
As well as being one of our best assets, the rural 
nature of the county makes it difficult for some 
people to access the services they need. This is a 
particular challenge for the three out of every twenty 
Gloucestershire households that have no access to 
a car or van. The roll-out of high-speed broadband 
internet access has already reached nearly all 
addresses across the County, but we need to continue 
to work towards full coverage so that all households 
and businesses benefit.

Demographic change
Gloucestershire’s population is ageing more quickly 
than the UK average. The increasing number of retired 
people in the county will bring experience, resources 
and time to their communities, but as they grow older 
and more frail will also need more support from health,
social care and safeguarding services. We are also 
seeing increasing numbers of people living with disabilities 
and other long-term conditions in all age groups.

At the same time, our 18-64 population is expected to 
remain static. Young people tend to leave the county 
in their late teens and early twenties - the net loss can 
be as many as 400 19-25 year olds per year. While 
the concept of ‘working age’ is shifting, we do need 
to respond to this challenge to make sure we have the 
skills we need to keep the county competitive  
and support economic growth. We can also expect 
to see a trend towards more people living as single 
person households. This will make it harder for people 
to rely on immediate family for support in the future, 
and make it more important that they are part of 
resilient communities that look out for one another.

Climate change
Along with councils up and down the country, 
Gloucestershire County Council has declared a climate 
change emergency. This recognises the irreversible 
impact that humans have already had on climate 
change and the need for bold and timely action to 
be taken. The County Council is providing a strong 
leadership role, working with other public sector 
bodies and local communities, to reduce Carbon 
emissions across the whole county. We are already 
close to achieving carbon neutrality as a council and 
have made a strong public commitment to achieving a 
carbon neutral county by 2045. We have backed that 
up with a wide range of ambitious yet practical actions 
as set out in our Climate Change Strategy.

Challenges and 
opportunities
In order to achieve our 
vision and ambition for 
Gloucestershire, we 
need to understand and 
plan together for the 
opportunities and  
challenges we are facing. 

4

Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council DRAFT

P
age 38



Financial reforms
The basis on which councils are funded is changing 
dramatically. Over recent years we have seen big 
reductions in the level of funding we receive from 
Central Government. Whilst we do not yet know 
the outcome of the Fair Funding Review for Local 
Government or the next Comprehensive Spending 
Review, we expect to see further significant changes, 
including the phasing out of the Revenue Support 
Grant and the introduction of a funding model based 
on business rates retention. This would mean that 
future funding would be more closely linked to growth 
in the local economy than has previously been the 
case. We are also likely to see more of a ‘whole 
system’ approach to funding, such as through the 
pooling pilot with district councils and the roll out of 
‘Integrated Care Systems’ with the NHS.

Our economic potential  
as a growing county
The growth that is planned for Gloucester, 
Cheltenham and Tewkesbury is a game-changer.
It allows us to think imaginatively about the role 
we want Gloucestershire to play in the sub-region, 
and the infrastructure we need to put in place to 
make that happen. It has the potential to free us 
from some of the constraints that would otherwise 
hamper economic growth, and to enable change on a 
significant scale.

The power of our communities
Gloucestershire has a thriving voluntary and 
community sector and already benefits from the
ideas, effort and energy of the many thousands of 
people who are active in their communities. We are 

already seeing a willingness from communities to play 
an increasing role in the early and preventative steps 
for health and social care. We know there is an
appetite in many communities to do more, and we 
want to work more effectively with those who want to 
make a difference to the places they live and work. 
The Covid-19 pandemic has provided an opportunity 
to not only strengthen existing community and 
voluntary groups but for new groups to flourish. The 
shared aim of supporting each other through a global
crisis has brought about tangible gains in terms of the 
County’s vibrant VCSE sector. 

The readiness of our  
partnerships and relationships
Gloucestershire already benefits from the fact that 
almost all our key public sector partners work to 
the same geographic boundary and serve the same 
population. Changes to the way the public sector is 
funded, and the potential for different relationships at 
the sub-regional, national and European level make it 
more important than ever to work creatively with
partners to make sure Gloucestershire punches  
above its weight and attracts inward investment  
and national funding. 

The potential of digitisation  
to transform public services
The rapid growth of digital technology provides 
tremendous opportunities to innovate and
transform the way we deliver services for local people. 
For example, social media is changing the way we 
communicate and interact with communities. Local 
government has yet to explore fully the potential of 
‘big data’ to predict future demand for services and 
to design and deliver preventative solutions. In terms 

5

DRAFT Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council

of the wider economy, the potential of robotics and 
artificial intelligence will be critical given our likely 
limitations on working age population numbers.

While the impact of these issues and the speed 
with which they will affect us is hard to predict, what 
will matter is our ability to anticipate, respond, and 
reposition ourselves. This means we must be forward 
looking, adaptable and innovative as a council and 
capable of providing effective leadership across  
our communities.

P
age 39



6

Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council DRAFT

There are around

3,300 
miles
of road within  
the county

82.1%
of total support 
requests involved 
help accessing 
food and general 
supplies

The council 
provides a 
network of

31 libraries
and supports local groups 
to provide a further  
8 community libraries

Since 2009 the 
population has 

 grown 
 by 7.9% 
(compared to 7.6% for 
England & Wales over 
the same period)

The County Council 
has 53 councillors 
and employs 

3,965 
staff

Assuming current population  
trends continue, the population  
in Gloucestershire will reach 

738,482 
by 2043

683,849
by 2028

&

Although Gloucestershire 
generally benefits from 
a high standard 
of living, 

19,415 
people 
(3.1% of the county population) 
live in areas that are in the most 
10% deprived nationally

Gloucestershire 
has around 

800 
Children in 
Care and the County 
Council supports 

5,118 
adults receiving 
long term care

Gloucestershire has 

123 Sites 
of Special Scientific 
Interest and 

3 Areas 
of Outstanding Natural Beauty which 
cover 51% of the county’s area

Manufacturing and health are 
significant sectors in terms of 
employment accounting for 

11.6% and 13.9% 
of employment respectively

Gloucestershire 
has a population of

637,070

27.6%  3.5%

Since 2009 the growth of the older 
population (aged 65 and above) 
  has outpaced that 
  of the younger 
  population 

During lockdown, 
the County Council’s 
Community Help 
Hub received 

6,738
requests for help1

1 This figure will include some duplicate requests

P
age 40



Children’s wellbeing and safeguarding
• Make Gloucestershire a child-friendly county
• Increase the resilience of children and families
• Intervene effectively to keep vulnerable children and 

young people safe
• Make sure children in care and care leavers get the best 

possible opportunities

Communities and Localities
• Make sure no community is left behind
• Increase the resilience and safety of local communities

Environment, Economy, Transport and Infrastructure
• Secure the benefits of high quality growth for local people  

and communities

• Help business in Gloucestershire to thrive, grow and connect with 

the wider world

• Safeguard the county’s natural landscape and environment

• Reduce Gloucestershire’s carbon emissions by 80% by 2030, and 

secure a carbon neutral county by 2045

Highways
• Invest in improving the county’s roads
• Improve customer service and satisfaction

Council leadership
• Get the most out of the shared public sector estate
• Transform services through digital innovation
• Develop a future focussed workforce

Education and Skills
• Make sure children have access to a good quality education
• Help children and young people with additional needs to 

learn and succeed
• Develop skills for the future

Health, Care and Prevention
• Design an adult social care system that helps people 

stay healthy and independent and supports people with 
long-term needs

• Promote better mental health for all
• Help people of all ages to stay healthy and well
• Join up health and care services

Our Priorities for Gloucestershire 
The first part of this strategy has set out our long-term vision and ambition for Gloucestershire. The remaining sections show how that 
relates to our work as a council, and sets out our priorities and the actions we will take over the next three years.

7

DRAFT Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council

P
age 41



We want Gloucestershire to be a place where

• Every child can thrive, learn, develop and contribute to 
their communities and where no child is left behind

• Every family is resilient, equipped to deal with challenges 
when they arise and are able to get back on their feet

• Vulnerable children and young people achieve the best 
possible outcomes 

• Children who are in need or at risk get high quality 
support that makes a real and lasting difference in  
their lives

Children’s 
safeguarding 
and wellbeing 

8

We recognise that the council has an important part 
to play in making this happen. We want to spread this 
vision and capture the imagination of people across 
Gloucestershire to work together to raise our ambition 
for local people. We also want to act as a champion 
for vulnerable children within our county. The 2017 
Ofsted inspection showed us that our services were 
not keeping children safe or making the difference 
in their lives that we would want. We are making 
progress in improving the quality of those services but 
we know we have much further to go to make sure 
that all children and young people get the quality of 
support that they need and deserve.

Investing in Gloucestershire’s future means placing 
children at the heart of everything we do. What we 
achieve today in making Gloucestershire a place 
where children and young people can thrive, develop 
and reach their potential will shape and influence 
our communities for generations to come. We want 
to make Gloucestershire a great place for children 
to grow up, and we can only do that if individuals, 
families, communities, businesses and other partners 
work together.

Ambition 
tracker

Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council DRAFT

P
age 42



• Implementing our Child Sexual Exploitation 
strategy of Prevent, Protect and Pursue and 
raising awareness of CSE with our partners;

• Continuing to use the voice of children 
and young people to shape, challenge and 
improve everything we do.

• Do everything we can to make sure children  
in care and care leavers get the best 
possible opportunities to grow up healthy,  
stay safe and do well in education and work by: 

• Improving the stability of placements for 
children in care by planning their entry into 
care more effectively to get more placements 
right first time;

• Increasing the availability and variety of high 
quality, local placements for children in care;

• Strengthening our care leaver strategy and 
launching our local offer for care leavers to 
make sure they have a smooth transition to 
adulthood and independence.

We will work with:

We will:

• Make Gloucestershire a child-friendly county, 
where all partners take into account the needs of 
children when making decisions, by:

• Working with our ambassadors for vulnerable 
children and young people to engage with 
local children and young people to understand 
what will make Gloucestershire a better place 
for them to live, play and grow up;

• Setting out a clear commitment to listen to 
and consider the needs and aspirations of 
children and young people in everything we 
do as a council;

• Encouraging our partners, local organisations 
and communities to join us in listening to 
children and young people when we are 
making decisions that affect their lives;

• Developing a toolkit to help local organisations 
place children at the heart of what they do;

• Working together to raise the aspirations of 
children and young people and to reduce 
health inequalities amongst children and 
young people;

• Making sure children get a good start in 
life and enter school with the skills and 
knowledge they need in order to learn  
and succeed.

• Increase the resilience of children and 
families by:

• Promoting effective local partnerships that 
work together with families in a holistic way  
to address their needs;

DRAFT Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council

• Reviewing, redesigning and joining up early 
help services to make sure they work together 
effectively to provide the support that  
families need;

• Working with partners to identify, as early as 
possible, those children and families that need 
help and support;

• Developing effective parenting programmes;

• Increasing use of Family Group Conferencing;

• Making more use of early help coordinators 
and community social workers;

• Extending use of family support working 
through Families First Plus, across all levels of 
need;

• Implementing our strategy to prevent and 
build resilience against adverse childhood 
experiences (ACEs);

• Adopting and promoting a restorative, 
strengths-based approach across all services;

• Working with schools to reduce the need  
for exclusions.

• Intervene effectively to keep vulnerable 
children and young people safe and make a 
positive, lasting difference to their outcomes by:

• Working through Gloucestershire 
Safeguarding Children’s Board to implement  
a quality framework;

• Focussing relentlessly on driving up the quality 
of social work practice;

• Actively exploring alternatives to care  
and exclusion; 

• Building and retaining a high quality children’s 
social workforce;

Schools  
and colleges 

District 
councils

Police

Community 
and voluntary 
groups

Health

9

P
age 43



We want:

• Every Gloucestershire child to have a high quality education, suited to their needs, 
that equips them with the skills and attributes they need to make a positive 
contribution to their community and succeed in life

• Children and young people with high needs to learn and succeed in  
local schools that understand, respond to and meet their needs in a flexible way

• To grow the working age workforce by keeping and attracting more  
18-40 year olds with high level qualifications

• Gloucestershire’s economy to be driven by a flexible, well-trained workforce which 
can provide the skills local employers need in a modern, diverse and successful 
economy

Education 
and skills 

10

The council’s role in education is evolving. Against a backdrop of increasing 
independence, school autonomy and the developing role of Regional 
School Commissioners, the council has three key roles in education:

• Making sure that the system works for families – that high quality 
school places are available in the right location, that meet the 
aspirations of families and reflect the needs of all children.

• Improving outcomes for vulnerable children and all those with  
additional needs.

• Championing the needs of vulnerable children and young people so 
that there is an inclusive learning system for all.

Increasingly, we achieve this by influencing and working with others, 
including the leadership of academies, free schools and the Regional 
Schools Commissioner. This will be the premise of the new Education 
Strategy which aims to create a whole system approach across the county 
to provide effective, high quality and inclusive education.

We also know that while Gloucestershire children achieve well overall, this 
masks the reality for some. In particular, too many children with additional 
needs experience poor results. We are seeing increasing numbers of 
children with an Education Health & Care Plan and rising expectations from 
families. We cannot continue to do things in the same way. We need to 

change the way that the council and schools work together to meet the 
needs of these children.

Looking beyond the role of schools, the county’s working age population 
is expected to remain static. There is demand for more people to replace 
workers retiring from the county’s workforce, and the county loses up to 
400 young adults to other parts of the UK each year. We will need to be 
creative and bold in order to make sure that the county can provide a 
workforce with the skills to drive economic growth.

We know that the country’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic will 
have a significant impact on children and young people’s education and 
future employment possibilities. The majority of children received online 
education at home during the lockdown period and will be supported by 
schools to catch-up on any missed progress as a result of this; additionally 
young people leaving school in 2020 did not sit exams and the plans for 
2021 are currently unclear. Additional support will be provided to young 
people seeking employment and training opportunities given the impact of 
Covid-19 on businesses and the economy. 

Alongside providing a broad, balanced and differentiated curriculum, 
schools will be focused upon ensuring children and young people’s social, 
emotional and mental health needs are met following the impact of the 
pandemic on their lives to enable them to be in the best place to learn.

Ambition 
tracker

Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council DRAFT

P
age 44



We will:

• Work with schools to make sure children 
have access to a good quality education that 
prepares them for adulthood, by:

• Developing and delivering a school places 
strategy (which includes a new comprehensive 
school for Cheltenham);

• Supporting and challenging schools, 
academies and other settings to improve 
where needed;

• Making sure that the way we allocate school 
places and home to school transport is fair, 
equitable, clear and transparent.

• Supporting schools to maintain high quality 
and effective education for all children during 
the Covid-19 pandemic; including on-site, 
catch-up and remote learning

• Help children and young people with 
additional needs to learn and succeed, by:

• Developing alternative provision and providing 
alternatives to exclusion;

• Supporting schools to keep children and 
young people in mainstream provision;

• Providing more flexible support to meet the 
needs of individual children;

• Giving schools better access to specialist 
support, including a new special school for 
Social, Emotional and Mental Health needs;

• Passing more funding directly to schools to 
help them respond to the needs of children as 
they arise;

• Providing peer support for parents and carers 
within their community;

11

DRAFT Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council

Children, young 
people and their 
families

Schools, colleges, 
headteacher 
associations  
and governor 

Further education 
providers including 
leading universities

Local and regional 
employers

Education, skills and 
employability funding 
bodies

Regional partners, 
including GFirst 
and neighbouring 
LEPs and combined 
authorities

The Regional 
Schools 
Commissioner

Employment  
and Skills Board

• Developing post-16 placements that offer 
routes into employment and community 
based support.

• Support young people and adults to develop 
skills for the future by:

• Working with local employers to create 5,000 
new apprenticeships, at least 2,000 of which 
will be in engineering;

• Increasing the uptake of apprenticeships and 
other training opportunities both within the 
council and with local businesses;

• Making sure the new technical level 
qualifications include sufficient and 
appropriate work experience with local 
businesses and organisations;

• Dealing with replacement demand by 
increasing opportunities and options for older 
workers and influencing businesses’ and 
individuals’ expectations of what constitutes 
‘working age’;

• Strengthening links between schools, colleges 
and businesses; improving and making better 
use of labour market information;

• More effectively coordinating digital skills 
development to build on the strengths of the 
Gloucestershire economy in terms of cyber 
and digital;

• Linking local businesses with schools to 
develop early aspirations;

• Increasing access to good quality work 
experience opportunities. 

We will work with:

P
age 45



We want:

• Inclusive and supportive communities

• Gloucestershire people to make choices that lead to healthy lives

• People to enjoy increased wellbeing, independence  
and personal resilience

• Good quality care and support available when people need it

Health, 
Care and 
Prevention 

The Covid-19 pandemic has shone an important light on the work of our invaluable 
social care workforce, who are providing care and support to all who need it in the 
most challenging of circumstances. Adult social care and support is a vital service 
in helping people of all ages to live the life they want to lead.

Despite the impact, additional pressure and restrictive nature of the pandemic, our 
strategic ambition of supporting people to live independently continues, reflecting 
their aspirations. For many the expectation will still be to live a healthier longer 
life which is changing the way they choose to spend their later years. The idea 
of a fixed retirement age is disappearing and being replaced by a more gradual 
transition from working life to retirement. This is positive for local people. Many 
people choose to use their retirement years to ‘give something back’ and get 
involved in voluntary work or other community activities.

However, we also know that an ageing population will put increasing pressure on 
public health and social care services. We expect the number of over-75s (the age 
group most likely to rely on council services) to increase by an average of 2,240 
per year per year over the next 25 years, and we are already seeing an increasing 
number of people of all ages with complex, long-term health conditions.

While, in the short term, the county council and Central Government have invested
additional resources into health and social care, we need a solution that is 
sustainable in the long term. We need to think differently about how we meet the 

health and care needs of an ageing population. That will mean doing more to make 
sure people can live independently for longer, including exploring the potential of 
technology to support them.

We recognise that there is an extremely strong link between a person’s mental 
health and their physical health. A positive approach to mental health and making 
good lifestyle choices will help them to stay healthy for longer, and to minimise the 
impact of any long-term condition on their lives.

We are already working with communities and voluntary organisations to help them 
respond to a growing number of more vulnerable people, and to make sure that 
our services work effectively in partnership with those communities. We are also 
working more closely with the NHS and other partners to help more people back to 
independence, for example, after a stay in hospital. These things are already easing 
pressure on the system and allowing us to provide good quality care for those who 
need it most, but we need to do more.

As part of our response to Covid-19 we have developed the Local Outbreak 
Management Plan (LOMP) which provides the local road map for the system to 
prevent, contain, monitor and respond to outbreaks of Covid-19, alongside our 
Gloucestershire partners. This also includes our work to address health inequalities 
through the Covid-19 BAME Task and Finish Group, to understand the impact of 
Covid-19 on these communities.

Ambition 
tracker

Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council DRAFT

P
age 46



We will:
• Design an adult social care system that helps 

people to stay healthy and independent and 
supports people with long-term needs, by:
• Making sure we focus on the strengths of 

individuals and communities – their skills, their 
networks and resources – rather than just 
their needs and vulnerabilities;

• Helping people to do things for themselves;

• Working with community groups to help them 
offer support and help to vulnerable people;

• Improving the impact of short term help to 
make sure people regain their confidence and 
independence whenever possible;

• Working with other health and care professionals 
to promote positive risk taking that helps 
people to achieve their personal goals;

• Increasing the range of local housing  
options available to allow more people to 
live independently;

• Supporting those individuals who find 
themselves vulnerable to help them cope  
with daily living and adapt;

• Responding proactively to frailty  
and vulnerability;

• Continuing to make Gloucestershire a 
dementia-friendly county;

• Making sure that carers are identified early 
and have timely access to quality information, 
advice and guidance to enable them to 
maintain independence;

• Exploring the potential of technology to 
support carers and improve the quality of care 
that people receive;

• Joining up data to better understand the 
impact we are having;

• Working with partners to develop a 
sustainable social care workforce. 13

DRAFT Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council

• Promote better mental health for all by:
• Ensure that Mental Wellbeing support is 

available to those affected by Covid-19 &  
the lockdown restrictions;

• Creating a county wide movement that 
focusses on the factors that contribute  
to good mental health;

• Promoting better understanding and 
awareness of mental health; and encouraging 
other organisations to join us; 

• Embedding thinking about mental health  
in everything we do through a ‘no health 
without mental health’ approach;

• Offering free mental health first aid training  
for organisations that sign up to our  
shared commitment;

• Help people of all ages to stay healthy and 
well by:
• Deliver the Outbreak Management Plan to 

help prevent, contain, respond to and monitor 
Covid-19 in Gloucestershire;

• Providing Covid-19 support to high risk 
settings such as Care Homes, Schools, 
Universities & Supported Housing

• Working with partners to review our approach 
to focus on prevention and on reducing health 
inequalities, including those resulting from 
COVID 19;

• Mitigating the impact of long-COVID on health 
inequalities in the local population;

• Helping people in vulnerable circumstances 
to improve their health, supporting them to 
live independently and preventing them from 
becoming homeless;

• Working with children, parents, schools and 
partners to reduce childhood obesity;

• Encouraging inter generational activity and 
other ways of helping people to be active in 13

Voluntary and 
community groups 

Gloucestershire 
Clinical 
Commissioning 
Group 

Gloucestershire 
Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust

Gloucestershire  
Care Services  
NHS Trust

2gether NHS 
Foundation Trust

GPs and other 
primary care 
providers

District councils

Police

their communities;

• Raising awareness of the impact of Adverse 
Childhood Experience (ACEs) on people’s long term 
health and wellbeing, building resilience and helping 
to prevent the impact of ACEs being passed on to 
the next generation;

• Joining up our data to better understand and 
improve health outcomes across Gloucestershire. 

• Joined up health and care services through  
an integrated Care System to provide:

• An even greater focus on supporting people to keep 
healthy and independent and developing active 
communities;

• More joined up care and support for people with 
long term health conditions – in their homes, GP 
surgery, community or hospital;

•  More control for people over the care they receive;

• Greater freedom and control to make  
local decisions about services.

We will work with: 

P
age 47



 

We want:

• Healthy, resilient and engaged communities that work together to improve 
the places they live and work

• Everyone to have the same opportunities regardless of where they live

• Thriving voluntary and community groups that support innovation and 
collaboration

• To work with partners for the good of local people - inspiring confidence 
in public services

• Councillors that are active and knowledgeable in their communities and 
can support change at a local level

Working with 
Communities 
and Localities  

14

Along with our partners, we have a strong track 
record of understanding local communities
and using data about local needs to inform what 
services we provide and how. However, more could 
be done to work with communities to understand 
what assets and strengths they can offer and to 
help them articulate their goals and ambitions. We 
know there is greater scope to gather, analyse and 
act on feedback from communities. We have tended 
to rely on traditional methods of consultation and 
engagement, and have not yet begun to fully explore
the potential of social media and other less formal 
ways to shape our understanding of what
local people want and think.

We recognise that the county has a thriving 
community sector and already benefits from the
enthusiasm and effort of countless volunteers as 
school governors, community activists,
carers and more. We also know that there is an 
appetite to do more if we work with communities 

to make that happen. We don’t want to miss any 
opportunity to help local people improve the places 
they live and work

The Covid-19 crisis initiated a new wave of volunteer 
and community action across the county. The 
Gloucestershire Community Help Hub received 3500 
individuals signing up to give help to their neighbours 
and communities. Voluntary sector and community 
groups swiftly switched to remote support for 
vulnerable people via digital platforms. Staff from all of
the Gloucestershire local authorities were redeployed, 
including volunteering for a range of other activities 
from delivery logistics to management of mobile 
testing units.

This demonstrated not only the dedication and 
commitment of both staff and the public to serving 
their communities but also the value of joint working 
to resource operations flexiblyand the value of strong 
partnerships in delivering vital services.

Ambition 
tracker

Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council DRAFT

P
age 48



We will:

• Make sure that no community is left  
behind, by: 

• Working with local people and communities 
to understand what they want to achieve and, 
with our partners, to help them to improve the 
places they live and work;

• Maintaining the Gloucestershire Covid-19 
Community Help Hub to signpost to self help 
support or local support from the district Help 
Hubs

• Working collaboratively to deliver a  
co-ordinated volunteer response and 
volunteering infrastructure in Gloucestershire.

• Piloting our approach to community 
engagement through a plan specific to 
Gloucester City;

• Focussing on neighbourhoods and areas 
where need is greatest;

• Ensuring that no-one’s opportunities or 
aspirations are limited because of where  
they live;

• Helping people develop skills and experience 
in areas where outcomes and prospects 
are poorest through our network of Growth 
Hubs and Innovation Labs to make sure they 
benefit from the opportunity of a growing 
Gloucestershire economy;

• Enhancing library services in our three major 
centres (Gloucester, Cheltenham and Stroud) 
and in areas where need is greatest to 
support community aspirations;

15

DRAFT Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council

• Supporting local councillors to use any 
‘Growing Our Communities’ grants remaining 
unspent to help meet the aspirations of their 
communities.

• Build the resilience and safety of local 
communities by:

• Encouraging and extending the use of our 31 
libraries and 21 fire stations as community 
hubs;

• Promoting councillors as community leaders 
and champions and tapping into their 
knowledge and expertise about their local 
areas;

• Working collaboratively with parish councils 
and community groups to join up services and 
share resources at a local level;

• Building on and developing the strengths 
within individual communities;

• Using digital technology to connect people 
and tackle social isolation and loneliness;

• Targeting community safety advice and 
support (including fire and trading standards)
to ‘at risk’ groups;

• Further developing the innovative work of the 
fire & rescue service in identifying vulnerable 
people and helping them to stay safe and well 
in their homes;

• Using firefighters to provide a falls ‘pick up’ 
service and a telecare response.

District councils

Police

Local 
community 
groups and 
voluntary 
organisations

Parish and  
town councils

We will work with: 

P
age 49



 
  

We want:

• More Gloucestershire businesses starting up,  
growing and investing in research and innovation

• Rising productivity and household income,  
offering higher living standards

• The economic and social benefits of growth to be felt 
by all communities, including rural, urban and areas of 
highest deprivation

• Improved transport and internet connections so that people 
and businesses can connect with each other more easily

• A carbon neutral county that provides a high quality of 
life now and for future generations

• More efficient use of resources and more use of 
sustainable energy

Environment,
Economy 
Transport, and 
Infrastructure 

Changes to the county’s population, and to the way that local government is funded, means that we will be 
increasingly reliant on the success of our economy to fund vital public services. We know that over the next 
20 years 60,000 houses need to be built in Gloucestershire. We welcome that growth and the opportunities 
that brings with it, but need to make sure that it is delivered in a way that works for Gloucestershire and its 
communities and that meets our commitment to tackling climate change. That means planning for and bringing  
 investment into local infrastructure and making sure that our rural areas are accessible and well   
  connected to the urban centre of the county. With large numbers of people working at home  
   either through choice or necessity, the roll-out of high speed broadband to every part  
    of the county remains a high priority and one that we continue to support.

16

Ambition 
tracker

Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council DRAFT

P
age 50



We will:

• Secure the benefits of high quality growth  
for local people and communities, by: 
• Delivering transport access for the new UK 

Cyber Business Park in Cheltenham;

• Making sure that we plan the infrastructure 
needed to support sustainable growth;

• Continuing to negotiate with developers to 
secure investment in the infrastructure that 
communities need.

• Help businesses in Gloucestershire to thrive, 
grow and connect with the wider world by:

• Supporting GFirst to develop a Local Industrial 
Strategy for Gloucestershire;

• Continuing to support Highways England 
push ahead with the improvement work on 
the A417 Missing Link;

• Progressing the business case development 
of major transport schemes to attract 
Government funding and remove barriers to 
future economic growth – including M5, J9 
and A46;

• Improving the long-term passenger transport 
offer across the Central Severn Vale including 
high-impact, high-efficiency “super routes”;

• Working in partnership with Network Rail and 
regional partners to improve rail connectivity 
and deliver the Gloucestershire Rail 
Investment Strategy;

• Working with partners and developers to 
create a cycle superhighway across the centre 
of the county.

• Delivering superfast broadband to every home 
by 2021;

• Commissioning work to develop plans for a 
full fibre network. 17

DRAFT Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council

• Safeguard the county’s natural features and 
environment for future generations by:
• Embedding green infrastructure into our 

thinking and planning for Gloucestershire’s 
future development and regeneration;

• Planning and designing with health and 
wellbeing in mind;

• Tackling poor air quality to reduce its impact 
on people’s health;

• Taking preventative measures to increase the 
county’s flood resilience and improving flood 
allevation and drainage;

• Reducing reliance on landfill and recovering 
value from non recyclable waste;

• Continuing to work with district councils to 
reduce waste and increase recycling.

• Reduce Gloucestershire’s carbon emissions 
by 80% by 2030, and secure a carbon neutral 
county by 2045. We will do this by working 
with our partners through Leadership 
Gloucestershire to:
• Implement the Gloucestershire Climate 

Change strategy;

• Deliver the Gloucestershire Tree Strategy that 
will see 35 million trees planted by 2030;

• Install over 200 electric vehicle charging points 
by 2023;

• Strengthen the Gloucestershire Sustainable 
Energy Strategy;

• Grow our low carbon economy;

• Help our residents, businesses and partners 
to radically reduce carbon.

We will work with: 

Sub-National 
Transport 
Body 

Sub-regional 
LEPs and 
combined 
authorities

District 
councils

Developers

Local 
Economic 
Partnership

Local Nature 
Partnership

Growth hubsP
age 51



 

We want:

• A highways network that keeps people and goods 
moving and helps Gloucestershire’s economy

• High levels of satisfaction with roads

• To be at the forefront of highways technological 
transformation, encouraging early adopters to base 
themselves in Gloucestershire

• More efficient use of resources and more use of 
sustainable energy

Highways 
Delivery 

18

Highways is probably the most visible service that we 
provide. Our roads affect everyone on a daily basis, 
and in many cases shape how local people feel about 
the council. Whilst significant progress has been made 
in improving the road network in recent years, more
needs to be done to improve people’s perception of 
our roads and their satisfaction in the service they 
receive. The easier we make it for customers to 
interact with us digitally, the more we can focus our 
time and money on repairing and maintaining roads.

More people using the roads and more frequent 
severe weather will put more pressure on our road 
network. This will affect everyone, but residents 

in more rural parts of the county are particularly 
dependent on private car ownership in order to 
access education, work and essential services. We 
know that we need to keep the county moving. The 
solution is likely to lie not in building more roads, but  
in using technological advances to improve the flow  
of traffic.

Self-driving and semi-autonomous vehicles, the roll 
out of 5G mobile technology, changing patterns of 
car ownership and growing public awareness and 
concern about air quality, will all shape the way  
we use and think about the road network in  
coming years.

Ambition 
tracker

Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council DRAFT

P
age 52



We will:

• Continue to invest in improving the county’s 
roads by: 

• Completing our £150m investment in 
resurfacing highways;

• Focussing maintenance on those high speed 
and high capacity roads;

• Progressing the delivery of major transport 
projects designed to improve highway 
capacity – including M5 J10;

• Delivering transport schemes and changes 
to town centres to facilitate CV19 social 
distancing measures;

• Delivering major active travel schemes 
to facilitate the use of cycling when 
accessingmkey services and employment 
opportunities;

• Exploring new opportunities to generate 
income from the highways network in order to 
invest it in maintenance;

• Investigating the potential for developing 
a world class traffic signal infrastructure to 
reduce congestion;

• Setting up a highways skills academy to  
work with local contractors to grow 
construction skills;

• Starting to plan for the introduction of  
5G technology;

• Improve customer service and  
satisfaction by:

• Making it easier to report and track progress 
of repairs online;

• Keeping flexibility within the service to  
carry out a range of basic highways  
maintenance functions at a local  
level in response to local priorities.

19

DRAFT Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council

Highways 
contractors

District 
councils

Parish 
and town 
councils

We will work with: 

P
age 53



 

We want:

• To be a council that looks to the future by delivering 
resilient, digitally enabled services through a skilled, 
empowered workforce

• To focus on the needs of residents and refuse to be 
constrained by organisational boundaries

• To harness innovation, maximising benefits of technology 
to transform services and improve access

Council 
leadership

20

We want to be at the forefront of changing local 
government. Over recent years, we have worked hard 
to make sure that we are financially resilient by making 
choices (often difficult ones) about what services we 
can provide and how we should provide them. That 
gives us a solid base from which to build for  
the future.

Covid19 has accelerated innovations in the way we 
work; increasing remote working, making more of 
our services available online, reducing our carbon 
footprint. But we know there is more that can and 
should be done.

As we begin to tackle the challenge of economic 
recovery, we are using our influence and our 
resources to stimulate Gloucestershire’s economy. We 
will continue to provide leadership and join up services 
across the local public sector to champion the needs 
and aspirations of our residents. We want to be a 
force for good across Gloucestershire, striving
to do the right thing, not the easy thing.

In order to do that, we will need council leaders and 
staff that are not only up for that challenge, but who 
relish it – who are innovative, creative and motivated 
to achieve the very best. Our culture will need to be 
underpinned by strong values and an appetite for 
doing things differently, always putting residents first.

Ambition 
tracker

Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council DRAFT

P
age 54



We will:

• Get the most of the shared public sector 
estate, by:

• Improving customer service and creating 
efficiencies by sharing facilities and delivering 
agile working capabilities;

• Selling surplus buildings and land to generate 
capital receipts and support wider community 
aspirations around housing and employment;

• Making the most of our physical resources 
to meet our environmental and economic 
ambitions.

• Transform public services through digital 
innovation by:

• Helping residents and communities develop 
digital skills;

• Using data to better understand the needs of 
our residents and customers;

21

DRAFT Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council

• Investing in our Digital First programme to 
transform our ICT capacity and maximise 
provision of digital services;

• Maximising the use of technology to support 
independent living and reduce the need for 
people to go into residential care homes;

• Developing a customer access strategy that 
provides clear, joined up service pathways  
for customers and stakeholders.

• Develop a future focussed workforce by:

• Setting out a clear, attractive and competitive 
Gloucestershire ‘offer’ to attract the best 
people, valuing diversity and optimising the 
benefits of inclusion;

• Getting the most out of our people, wherever 
they are, by delivering on Agile working;

• Empowering and equipping staff to be 
innovative and work across boundaries to 
achieve the very best for local residents;

• Providing clear development opportunities 
and making it easy for staff to gain new skills 
and experience.

We will work with: 

District 
councils 

Local NHS 
trusts

West of 
England 
Combined 
Authority

Police

GFirst LEP

P
age 55



Achieving our vision through our values and behaviours

Over the past year, building on conversations with staff about what is important to them, 
we have agreed the following values that will inform and underpin the way we work.

Excellence
We continually improve through 
listening, learning and innovation.

Integrity
We are honest, fair and speak up.

Respect
We value and listen to each other.

Accountability
We do what we say we will.

Empowerment
We enable communities and 
colleagues to be the best they can.

Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council DRAFT

22

P
age 56



23

DRAFT Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council

P
age 57



G
C

C
_2

32
5 

10
.1

8

Gloucestershire
Looking to  
the Future
2019-2022

P
age 58



APPENDIX 2

1

F

Appendix 2
Gloucestershire 
County Council

Medium Term 
Financial Strategy

2021/22 to 2023/24

Budget 2021/22

Page 59

Agenda Item 8c



APPENDIX 2

2

A Context

1. This Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is recommended to County Council 
by Cabinet. It has been prepared using best estimates from available data, based 
on the provisional settlement received in December 2020. The final Finance 
Settlement was published on 4th February 2021 and any amendments required have 
been included in this report.

 
2. The MTFS contains the proposed budget for 2021/22 including the general fund 

revenue budget, the capital programme and the Dedicated Schools Grant. The 
general fund revenue budget totals £483.008 million and is based on an overall 
increase of 4.75% on Council Tax (this includes 1.99% Council Tax increase plus a 
2.76% Adult Social Care Levy).  This proposed increase in the Levy is estimated to 
raise an additional £8.753 million for Adult Social Care services.

3. The MTFS (Appendix 2) should be considered in the context of the Council 
Strategy, Looking to the Future, which sets out the Council’s ambitions, plans and 
priorities for Gloucestershire.

4. Commissioning Intentions for each service area which expand on the high level 
plans included in the Council Strategy are provided in Annex 1. The Commissioning 
Intentions highlight current achievements and future plans in relation to the different 
services provided by the Council. These detailed narratives cover Adults (Annex 
1.1), Children and Families (Annex 1.2), Economy, Environment & Infrastructure 
(Annex 1.3), Community Safety (Annex 1.4), Prevention and Wellbeing (Annex 1.5) 
and Corporate Resources (Annex 1.6).

B Looking to the Future – Our Council Strategy 2019/22 (refreshed for 2021/22)

5. The Council Strategy – ‘Looking to the Future’ - is the key high-level document that, 
along with the MTFS, sets the Council’s strategic policy direction. It was approved 
by the Council in February 2019 and sets out the Council’s vision, its ambitions for 
the county and its priorities for addressing the challenges and opportunities it faces. 
The Council Strategy has been updated following the public consultation exercise 
and is presented for final approval and adoption by Council.

6. The Council’s vision is to make the most of all that Gloucestershire has to offer, help 
improve the quality of life for every community, support businesses to be successful 
and make sure Gloucestershire is a place where people want to live, work and visit.

7. Our ambition is for Gloucestershire to be:

- A Magnet county - A growing working age population, with more 18-40 year olds 
with high level qualifications choosing to live and work in the county

- An Innovative county - More businesses starting up, growing and investing in 
research and innovation

- A Skilled county - More people with high-level skills and jobs in skilled occupations
- A Prosperous county - Rising productivity and household incomes offering higher 

living standards

Page 60



APPENDIX 2

3

- An Inclusive county - The economic and social benefits of growth to be felt by all
- A Healthy county - People to have a good work/life balance and improved health 

and wellbeing
- A Connected county - Improved transport and internet connections so that people 

and businesses can connect with each other more easily
- A Sustainable county - More efficient use of resources and more use of 

sustainable energy
- A Resilient county - Active, resilient local communities that keep people safe, 

provide them with support and help them to make a positive contribution

8.  The updated Council Strategy is attached to this report as Appendix 1.

C Consultation 

9. A formal budget consultation took place between 18th December 2020 and 15th 
January 2021 with the following groups:

 All Gloucestershire residents,
 Key partners including Health, the Independent and Voluntary sectors and 

town and parish councils,
 Trade Unions and professional associations,
 Staff, via the usual communication channels,
 Gloucestershire businesses,
 Schools, via the schools forum, open meetings and Head Teacher groups

10. As well as targeted stakeholder engagement, the Council carried out a strong social 
media campaign, including Facebook advertising to target hard to reach groups.

11. Full details of the formal budget consultation are included as Appendix 3

12. The Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee have also undertaken their own 
budget scrutiny process on 7th January 2021. The Chair of the OSMC presented 
the findings of the scrutiny process to Cabinet 27th January 2021, and a copy of this 
report can be found in Appendix 4.

D Finance Settlement and Funding Assumptions

13. The overall funding assumptions for the Council are based on central governments 
2020 Spending Review (SR20) and provisional settlement. A one year “roll over” 
type finance settlement was announced by SR20, and this was confirmed with the 
provisional settlement that was announced on the 17th December 2020. The final 
Finance Settlement was received on the 4th February 2021 and any changes are 
included in this report. 

14. SR20 and the provisional settlement confirmed the following:
 4.5% national increase in Core Spending Power
 Flexibility to increase Council Tax – 2% general Council Tax limit plus up to 3% 

Adult Social Care Levy which can be spread over two years
 Reimbursement of 75% of irrecoverable Council Tax and NNDR due to COVID, by 

way of a direct grant to the Council
 Roll over of Adult Social Care Grant, Improved Better Care Fund, Public Health 

Page 61



APPENDIX 2

4

Grant and Troubled Families Grant
 Continuation of 75% lost Sales, Fees and Charges reimbursement scheme for 3 

months in 2021/22
 Better Care Fund (GCC / CCG Shared Pot) increased by 5.3%
 Continuation of New Homes Bonus with two years legacy payments continuing 

and an additional years allocation.
 Additional Social Care Grant of £300m, of which the Council’s allocation is £1.8 

million.
 £1.55 billion nationally to fund additional COVID related spend in 2021/22 with an 

allocation of £11.5 million for the Council.
 Local Roads Maintenance fund of £1.7 billion to tackle potholes, relieve congestion 

and boost connectivity. The GCC allocation is not currently known.

15. Funding beyond 2021/22 will be subject to another Spending Review in 2021, when 
it is also expected that a wider consultation will be implemented on the Fair Funding 
Review and the new Business Rates Retention System, both of which have been 
delayed as a result of the Covid-19 crisis.

16. The final settlement was published on 4th February 2021 and any amendments have 
been included in this report.

Financial Settlement 2021/22

17. The Council receives its funding through a number of sources; government grant, 
business rates retention income, council tax and charging for some of its services 
through fees and charges.  

18. The financial settlement sets out the Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA) and 
Core Spending Power (CSP) calculation for each authority.  The SFA includes the 
Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and the Baseline Funding Level (BFL), which is split 
between the Business Rate Top Up Grant and target business rates.  RSG and the 
Top Up grant form the main grants received by the Council.  The BFL is part of the 
Business Rates Retention Scheme (BRR).  

19. The CSP as announced by SR20 will increase by 4.5% nationally.  The CSP for the 
Council, as announced in the provisional settlement is shown below.  It should be 
noted that this presentation is not directly comparable to the Budget presented.  
This is because our Budget is based on actual business rates received, and actual 
Council Tax raised whereas the CSP illustrates a BFL based on central 
governments view of our need and a maximum Council Tax increase per year and a 
national average increase in council taxbase.  CSP also excludes Public Health 
funding and several other unringfenced funding streams that are included within the 
Council’s Budget.

Page 62



APPENDIX 2

5

2020-21 2021-22

£ millions £ millions
Settlement Funding Assessment 84.0 84.0
of which:
Revenue Support Grant 8.2 8.2
Baseline Funding Level 75.8 75.8
Council Tax Requirement 313.5 335.2
Compensation for under-indexing the 
business rates multiplier 3.0 3.9

Improved Better Care Fund 19.4 19.4
New Homes Bonus 2.8 1.9
Social Care Grant 14.0 15.8
Core Spending Power 436.7 460.2

20. The BRR Scheme was introduced from 2013/14.  The Scheme allows the Council to 
retain some of the business rates raised locally and currently the scheme is a 50% 
retention scheme. This means the business rate yield is divided equally between 
central and local government. The Council’s share of the locally retained element is 
20%. The Top Up grant is received in order to protect upper tier services (i.e. those 
with responsibility for children’s and adults social care) with the BFL representing 
the “need” level of the Council.  The Council does not receive this BFL as a grant, 
instead receiving an allocation of 10% of business rates raised from the district 
councils based on the estimate of total business rates to be collected.

21. The Council now has the final position from the district councils on the funding to be 
received from Business Rate income.  Due to the Covid situation income collected 
by the districts was lower during 2020/21, however a grant will be received to help 
offset these losses.  As a result of this additional grant total income will be £1.148 
million more from Business Rates than presented in the draft Budget agreed for 
consultation by Cabinet on 16th December 2020.

22. During 2020/21 the Council, was part of a Business Rates Pool with all the district 
councils in Gloucestershire.  This meant that an additional element of growth was 
retained locally.   The Council, together with the district councils in Gloucestershire, 
have submitted an application to remain as a Business Rates Pool during 2021/22.  
This application has been approved and all the district councils have re-confirmed 
their desire to continue the arrangement in 2021/22.

23. Following modelling work the central case scenario is that gains can still be 
achieved, particularly as it is expected that the retail relief grants will continue into 
the next financial year. These gains are uncertain so are not included in the MTFS 
figures – any gains that do materialise during 2021/22 will be transferred to the 
Strategic Economic Development Fund.  

Page 63



APPENDIX 2

6

Pool Gain Est. Pool Gain Est. Pool Gain
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

£m £m £m
District Share 3.1 2.5 1.7
GCC Share 0.8 0.6 0.4
SEDF Share 1.0 0.8 0.5
Total 4.9 3.9 2.6

24. The move to a 75% BRR scheme is currently on hold however it is assumed that 
this will be introduced in 2022/23, now two years later than originally expected.  It is 
expected that consultation papers on how the new funding system will operate will 
be circulated during 2021.  It has been verbally confirmed that there will be no 
business rates reset for 2021/22, which is good news for the Pool as it enables the 
councils within Gloucestershire to retain more business rates from “growth” than 
would otherwise be expected had the baseline been reset. 

Other Funding Streams

25. In addition to the main un-ringfenced grants received as part of the BRR system, the 
Council also receives a number of other grants, which central government include in 
the CSP of local authorities.  Following the SR19, many of the one off grants 
provided for 2019/20 were confirmed as continuing during 2020/21. SR20 confirmed 
that this rollover will happen once again in the absence of a longer term outlook by 
central government.  As a result the following grants will be received for 2021/22:

       Improved Better Care Fund
This funding stream consists of several funding streams that were announced at 
different times, but have now been combined into one.  This includes the original 
Improved Better Care Fund and additional money that was announced on a 
reducing balance basis from 2017/18.  In addition, one off Winter Pressures grant 
announced for 2019/20 became part of this grant for 2020/21.  In total for 2020/21 
the Council received £19.4 million and this funding level will continue in 2021/22. 
The Council continues to work closely with Health partners to use this funding to 
facilitate more integrated working between health and social care. 

 Social Care Support Grant
This funding included a new grant as part of SR19 for additional support for social 
care combined with existing 2019/20 social care funding.  SR20 confirmed that this 
funding stream will continue at a similar level in 2021/22 (£14 million) to support 
adults and children social care. An additional £300 million nationally has been 
allocated and the Council’s element of this additional grant funding is £1.8m.

 New Homes Bonus (NHB)
The Government introduced the NHB as a cash incentive scheme to reward 
councils for new home completions and for bringing empty homes back into use.  
This provided match funding for each new property. Over time the scheme as been 
amended and allocations reduced.  SR20 confirmed that the legacy payment would 
continue for two of the three years and that an additional payment would be made. 
The Council’s allocation for 2021/22 will be £1.9 million.  This is a reduction on that 
received in 2020/21 and reflects the reducing funding from the scheme that was 

Page 64



APPENDIX 2

7

announced as part of SR19.  

 Public Health Grant
It is expected that the Council will receive around £24.8million for Public Health in 
2021/22.

26. Well over half of the Council’s funding comes from Council Tax – in 2021/22 it is 
anticipated that the Council will generate £292.9 million from Council Tax and £36.4 
million from the cumulative impact of the Adult Social Care levy (ASC).  The general 
Council Tax referendum limit for upper tier authorities is set at 2% for 2021/22. 
SR20 also announced a 3% ASC precept, which can be spread over two years. It is 
proposed to use 2.76% for the 2021/22 budget, which gives an increase of £8.75 
million on 2020/21 levels.  The budget for 2021/22 therefore proposes to raise 
council tax by 4.75% - 1.99% from general council tax with an additional 2.76% from 
the Adult Social Care Levy. 

27. The budget assumptions usually include an estimated increase in the tax base for 
the county. For the draft Budget presented to Cabinet this was set at 0% due to the 
uncertainties around receipts as a result of the impact of COVID-19. The Council 
now has confirmation of the final figure which is an overall small increase of 0.28% 
raising an additional £920k`.  

28. Normally a council tax surplus is included within the Budget figures, however for 
2021/22 no surplus is expected and a breakeven position was assumed in the draft 
MTFS. The risk of a deficit position in 2021/22 was highlighted and it was noted that 
legislation has been set by central government meaning that these deficits have to 
be spread over three years. The Council now has the final position and there is a 
deficit of £815k for the first year.  The reason for this deficit is that more people have 
had to claim council tax support during the Covid-19 pandemic.  This has an impact 
on the estimated taxbase that was calculated for 2020/21 and reduces collection 
levels.  SR20 announced that a grant to cover 75% of irrecoverable losses would be 
available to support councils the remaining deficit not covered by this grant will be 
funded from the Rates Retention Fund. 

29. Alongside the one year 2021/22 settlement there are still other significant longer 
term changes that will impact future local government funding. These potential 
changes include the proposed move to 75% BRR, the Fair Funding Review and 
proposals aimed at addressing the long tern funding solutions for social care. It is 
anticipated there will be a multi year Comprehensive Spending Review in the 
autumn of 2021 to address these issues.

Fair Funding Review

30. The National Fair Funding Review will review the underlying needs formula and 
distribution methodology used for assessing need and allocating funding to Local 
Government. It has not been reviewed since 2013.  MHCLG are looking for a 
formula based model with common cost drivers such as population, sparsity and 
deprivation, which are relevant, objective, distinct, stable and future proof.  
Originally, the review was expected to be completed in time to implement the new 
approach by 2019/20 however delays and postponements have meant that it is now 

Page 65



APPENDIX 2

8

expected to be implemented in 2022/23.  As consultations are received the Council 
will review and feed back as necessary.  

E Revenue Budget Proposal 2021/22

31. The following table shows the changes to council funding since the approval of the 
draft consultation budget by Cabinet  in December 2020:

Detail £m
Budget per Cabinet December 2020 480.458
Reduction in Settlement Funding (announced at 
provisional settlement 17/12/20) -1.206
Increase in non ringfenced grant  (announced at 
provisional settlement 17/12/20) 0.699
Increased from Additional Social Care Grant  
(announced at provisional settlement 17/12/20) 1.804
Budget per Cabinet January 2021 481.755

32. Increase in funding of £1.297 million as a result of provisional Finance Settlement.

33. As a result of this additional funding  the  following changes  to the revenue budget 
proposals for 2021/22 were approved by Cabinet 27th January 2021;

 Additional £0.900 million added to the bed based and community inflationary 
assumptions in Adults services funded by a reduction in the Pay and Prices 
Contingency in Technical and Countrywide.

 Removal of the unallocated savings proposals of £0.520 million within Adults 
services

 Removal of the proposed cost pressure for parking income totalling £0.218 million 
as it is anticipated that this will be met through additional Covid-19 grant funding.

 Removal of the proposed cost pressure for Libraries and Registration income 
targets of £0.244 million as it is anticipated that this will be met through additional 
Covid-19 grant funding.

 Addition of £0.500 million to the proposed cost pressure for external placements 
within the Vulnerable Children’s Service

 Addition of £0.123 million for the provision of District Library Innovation Labs 
 Increase of £0.253 million to the proposed cost increase to Prevention and 

Wellbeing agenda for change.( From £0.344 million to £0.597 million)
 Reduction in the MtC Contingency savings proposal  by £0.363 million within the 

Technical & Countywide service area

34. In addition to the above changes approved by Cabinet 27th January 2021, the 
Council has now received more information on the council tax and NNDR collection 
fund figures from District Councils and this has indicated that an additional £1.253 
million is available for 2021/22. It is proposed to transfer this to the Rates Retention 
Reserve to deal with potential deficits in future years.   

Page 66



APPENDIX 2

9

Detail £m
Budget per Cabinet January 2021 481.755
Additional Council Tax Income 0.920
Deficit on the Council Tax Collection Fund -0.815
Changes to Business Rates Income 1.148
Revised Budget 483.008

35. The proposed allocations expected under the Dedicated Schools Grant for 2021/22 
have been updated based on the Department for Education announcement on 17th 
December 2020. Further details of these changes can be found in Section G. 

36. In addition to the above changes, the starting budget for individual services (shown 
in Annexes 2 and 3) has also been realigned to reflect permanent budget transfers 
occurring between November 2020 and December 2020. 

37. The Council also receives a number of specific grants. The latest position is as 
follows:- 

Page 67



APPENDIX 2

10

Forecast Forecast

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

Adoption Support Fund - SGO          180             180 
Adult Education Budget (ESFA) 2457 2457
Adult Apprenticeships (ESFA) 226 226

Better Care Fund (joint funding with CCG) 39,453 39,650

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 268,721 268,721
Extended Rights to Free Travel 503 503
Fire Link Grant 247 254
Fire Pensions Grant 1,093 1,093
Independent Living Fund 895 901
Lead Local Flood 52 52
Local Council Tax Support Grant 0          4,735 
Local Reform and Community Voices 356 0
Music service 802 802
New Dimension  Service and 
Maintenance Grant 80 80

Primary School PE and Sport Funding 3,524 3,524
Pupil Premium Grant 11,831 11,831
Rapid Rehousing Pathway 711 711
Responding to New Risks (Fire MTFA) 29 29
School Improvement Grant 784 784
Sixth Form Funding 1,493 1,493
Staying Put 260 260
Tackling Troubled Families & PbR       1,148          1,148 
Teacher's Pay Grant       1,499                -   

Teachers Pension Employer Contribution       3,803                -   

The Private Finance Initiative (PFI) 4,875 4,875
Unaccompanied Asylum Seekers 1,000 1,000
Universal Infant Free School Meals Grant 5,376 5,376
Virtual School Head s31 77 77
War pension disregard grant 169 169
Youth Justice Board 490 485
Youth Justice Board - Remands 48 48
Total Ringfenced Grant 352,181 351,464

 Revenue Grants, not included in Base 
Funding

COVID-19 

38. The Council also received a COVID Emergency Grant allocation of £11.526 million 
for 2021/22 and confirmation that the lost sales, fees and charges reimbursement 
scheme would continue for the first three months of 2021/22. It is anticipated that 
additional specific grants will be announced if the impacts of the pandemic continue 
beyond June 2021.

Page 68



APPENDIX 2

11

Page 69



APPENDIX 2

12

A summary of the draft budget (excluding specific grants) is provided below. 

Medium Term Financial Strategy – 2021/22 Budget – Overall Summary 

Budget Area Approved 
2020-21 
Budget 

Removal of 
2020-21 One Off 

Budget 
Adjustments

Agreed Budget 
Transfers 
between 

Service Areas

MTFS 2020/21 
Base Budget

Pay Inflation 
Costs

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

Proposed 
2021/22 
Budget

Cash 
Increase / 
Decrease 

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 %

Programme Budget Areas

Adults 150,490                            -   341 150,831 1,031 7,864 -3,193 156,533 6,043 4.02%

Vulnerable Children 100,694 -1,761 -498 98,435 1,131 6,131 -4 105,693 4,999 4.96%

Other Children Services 17,970                            -   139 18,109 281 2,400 -112 20,678 2,708 15.07%

Economy, Environment and 
Infrastructure 72,553 -4,505 2,660 70,708 453 4,184 -447 74,898 2,345 3.23%

Community Safety 19,519                            -                           -   19,519 374 129 -13 20,009 490 2.51%

Prevention & Wellbeing 34,387 -60 -61 34,266 45 1,376 -171 35,516 1,129 3.28%

Corporate Resources 35,066 -2,110 939 33,895 734 923 -961 34,591 -475 -1.35%

Technical & Countywide 37,504 498 -3,520 34,482 30 2,438 -1,860 35,090 -2,414 -6.44%

Total Budget 468,183 -7,938                         -   460,245 4,079 25,445 -6,761 483,008 14,825 3.17%

P
age 70



APPENDIX 2

13

39. The 2021/22 draft budget is funded as follows:
£000

Original 2020/21 Budget 468,183

Removal of 2020/21 One Off Investments -7,938

Revised 2019/20 Budget 460,245

Inflation 4,079

Cost and spending increases 25,445

Cost reductions -6,761

Total 2021/22 Budget 483,008
Less:

Top Up Grant 54,236
Business Rates Income 23,254
Revenue Support Grant 8,220
Public Health Grant 24,767
Improved Better Care Fund 19,436
New Homes Bonus 1,912
Social Care Grant 15,788
Other Non Ring Fenced Grants 6,119
Collection Fund Deficit -815
Reserves 822

Budget to be met by Council Tax Payers 329,269

Council Tax at Band D = £1,409.22

40. The proposed budget for 2021/22 contains provision to fund key budget pressures 
including estimates for unavoidable contractual inflation, pay (including the impact of 
the National Living Wage), demographic increases in demand led services and 
corporate priorities such as additional funding for Children & Families to fund the 
continuing improvement following the OFSTED inspection. There is uncertainty 
around the impact of the decision for a freeze on pay for parts of public sector. The 
current budget includes 2.75% increase for 21/22 – 0.75% relates to a catch up for 
the 2020/21 pay award.

F Financial Performance in 2020/21
41. The current forecast of the year end revenue position for 2020/21, based on actual 

expenditure at the end of November 2020 and forecasts made in December 2020, is 
a £1.730 million overspend.  This overspend relates to non Covid-19 related spend, 
as it is expected that additional Government grants will fully fund the Covid-19 
expenditure. The Executive Director of Corporate Resources is continuing to review 
all opportunities to reduce the overspend including a review of Reserves. Any 

Page 71



APPENDIX 2

14

remaining overspend at the year end will need to be funded from General Reserves.  
Currently General Reserves are £18.846 million.

42. Details of the forecast year end position, analysed by service area, is provided in 
the table below.
 

Directorate Breakdown for Cabinet Report - Position December Forecasts 2020 (P9)

Variance

Revised 
2020/21 
Budget

%
Forecast 

excluding 
Covid-19

£000 £000 £000 % £000 £000

Adults 163,168 178,968 15,800 9.68% 15,800 0 

Prevention & Wellbeing 34,659 35,828 1,169 3.37% 1,478 -309 

Children & Families 130,191 143,955 13,764 10.57% 7,128 6,636 

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure 81,243 88,595 7,352 9.05% 7,352 0 

Community Safety 22,234 22,833 599 2.69% 462 137 

Corporate Resources 36,652 40,697 4,045 11.04% 4,138 -93 

Corporate Resources Recharges -36,575 -36,575 0 0.00% 0 0 

Total for Services 431,572 474,301 42,729 9.90% 36,358 6,371 

Technical & Countywide 36,611 33,508 -3,103 -8.48% 1,538 -4,641 

Total 468,183 507,809 39,626 8.46% 37,896 1,730 

Additional Funding Covid-19 to be 
allocated 37,896 0 -37,896 -37,896 

Revised Total 506,079 507,809 1,730 0.37% 0 1,730 

Covid-19 
Forecast

Service Area

Forecast 
Outturn 
Position

Forecast 
Outturn 

Variance

43. Further  details  of  the  forecast  year  end  position  can  be  found  in  the  
Financial Monitoring Report 2020/21 presented to Cabinet 27th January 2021. The 
assumption built into the MTFS is that in year pressures will be managed and the 
budget will be balanced at the end of 2020/21. 

Page 72



APPENDIX 2

15

G Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 

44. The Secretary of State for Education announced the DSG for 2021/22 on the 17th 
December 2020.

45. The 2021/22 position for Gloucestershire is as follows, this includes funding for 
teachers’ pay and pension costs that were previously funded through separate 
grants:

46. This represents an increase in funding of £22.898m (4.8%) from the 2020/21 DSG, 
a further £20.648m (4.3%) has also been included for the movement of the teachers 
pay and pension funding from separate grants into the DSG, bringing the total 
change up to £43.546m (9.1%). 

Schools Block and Delegated Schools Formula

47. Currently the DfE uses the national funding formula (NFF) to set notional allocations 
for each school, which are then aggregated, and used to calculate the total schools 
block received by each local authority (LA). LAs are then responsible for setting a 
local schools formula, in consultation with their schools and Schools Forum.

48. For 2021/22 the funds in the schools block settlement are enough to cover the 
£1.5m agreed by the schools forum for funding new and growing schools and to 
allow each formula factor rate and the minimum funding levels to be implemented 
100% at the NFF level. This includes setting the minimum funding guarantee (MFG) 
at the same +2% level as the funding floor within the NFF which ensures each 
school is allocated at least 2% more pupil-led funding per pupil when compared to 
its 2020/21 NFF allocations.

49. The minimum per pupil funding (MPPF) levels have increased by £250 in primary 
and £150 in secondary. They have also been raised further to take account of the 
movement of the teachers pay and pension funding from separate grants into the 
DSG bringing them up to £4,180 primary and £5,415 secondary. 

50. Other key changes and clarifications for 2021/22 are:

 The total Sparsity Factor funding for small and remote schools increases 
nationally by over 60%. By sectors the increase is 73% in primary from a 
maximum of £26,000 in 2020/21 to £45,000 in 2021/22 and for secondary an 
increase of 11% from the 2020/21 maximum of £67,600 to a 2021/22 maximum 
of £75,000.   The DfE announcement says this is to reflect the financial 

Page 73



APPENDIX 2

16

challenges that these schools can face, and the unique role they play in local 
communities. 

 An update has been made to the Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index 
(IDACI) data used for deprivation funding, so that it is based on ranking rather 
than scores and so that it is based on the latest 2019 data rather than the 
previous 2015 data. A change has also been made to the allocation rate to 
reflect the data changes and further increases to the funding blocks.

51. The table below summarises how schools in each sector are now being funded in 
2021/22 e.g. whether they are funded just by the funding formula factors, or needing 
an uplift to be funded at the minimum per pupil funding (MPPF) level, or receiving 
additional minimum funding guarantee (MFG) protection to ensure their pupil-led 
funding per pupil when compared to 2020/21 is at least 2% higher.

52. After implementing the NFF at its 100% level, this leaves a balance of £0.643m in 
the 2021/22 schools block. At the 14th January 2021 Schools Forum it was agreed 
that this balance should be used as a one off contribution to support the continued 
funding of the 1 in 40 High Needs model, as per the same agreement as 
2020/21.Funding formula is shown in annex 9.

High Needs Block

53. The High Needs Block has been allocated an additional £8.246m, bringing the total 
funding for 2021/22 to £74.622m. Included within this figure is £2.255m of funding 
for teachers’ pay and pension costs that were previously funded through separate 
grants.

54. Gloucestershire’s high needs block, like most LAs nationally is currently in deficit. A 
deficit budget of £5.449 million was set for 20/21 to give realistic budgets within high 
needs services considering growth trends and existing activity demands. In-year 
there is significant demand for special school provision and this is putting financial 
pressure on both special school and independent special school provision. These 
trends will continue into 2021/22 and the additional funding will offset some of these 
pressures. The LA and Schools Forum are looking at proposals on how to resolve 
this deficit, and initiatives to tackle need more effectively and reduce costs in the 
long run.

Central School Services Block (CSSB)

55. The CSSB includes funding for on-going responsibilities of Local Authorities for the 
statutory duties that they hold for both maintained schools and academies. It 

Page 74



APPENDIX 2

17

includes funding for Admissions, School Forum coordination, copyright licences and 
centrally retained duties. The allocation is based on a formula using pupil numbers 
(90%), free school meals (Ever 6, 10%) with an area cost adjustment applied. The 
rate per pupil for 2021/22 is £34.19 and there has been an increase of £0.205m 
related to the net increase in pupil numbers and for teachers' pension employer 
contributions funding for centrally employed teachers. 

Early Years Block

56. The funding announcements on 17th December included an increase in the hourly 
funding rates by 6 pence for three and four year olds and 8 pence for two year olds 
resulting in an increase in the block of £476,895. In addition to this increase there 
was a reduction of £7,995 to the disability access fund, giving an overall increase to 
the early years block of £468,900 for 2021/22. There will be further updates in the 
summer 2021 and summer 2022 for the January pupil counts.  

H Council Tax

57. The Council’s current 2020/21 Band D Council Tax is £1,345.32, including the Adult 
Social Care Precept.  For 2021/22 it is proposed that Council Tax will increase by 
1.99% plus an additional 2.76% for the Adult Social Care Precept thereby making 
Band D Council Tax £1,409.22 (an increase of £63.90 or just over £5 per month).

58. Forecast Council Tax levels for each band are shown below.

Budget on 2020/21
£ £

A £939.48 £42.60
B £1,096.06 £49.70
C £1,252.64 £56.80
D £1,409.22 £63.90
E £1,722.38 £78.10
F £2,035.54 £92.30
G £2,348.70 £106.50
H £2,818.44 £127.80

Band 2021/22 Increase

59. Nearly two-thirds of households in Gloucestershire are in Bands A, B or C.

I Robustness of the Budget Proposals

60. The MTFS and proposed detailed budget for 2021/22 have been formulated in 
accordance with the medium term financial planning framework and budget 
principles as detailed in Annex 4.

61. The starting point for producing the MTFS for the next three years and the detailed 
budget proposals for 2021/22 is the 2020/21 MTFS.

Page 75



APPENDIX 2

18

62. The proposed 2021/22 budget and future years’ budgets takes into account forecast 
funding changes, new unavoidable commitments, strategic risks, the level of 
reserves, changes in legislation and Administration / Council Strategy priorities. 

J Flexible Use of Capital Receipts

63. As part of the local government settlement for 2016/17 Government announced 
greater flexibility for councils in how they make use of capital receipts.  Councils 
were previously only allowed to use capital receipts for repaying debt or funding 
further capital spend.  The rules now allow new capital receipts to be used to fund 
the revenue costs of transformation projects designed to generate ongoing revenue 
savings in the delivery of public services or to transform service delivery in a way 
that reduces costs or demand for services in the future.  

64. The proposed budget 2021/22 does not anticipate the use of capital receipts in this 
way. However, given the on going transformation programme and the financial 
challenges faced by the Council as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic it may 
become necessary to consider using capital receipts in this flexible manner in 
future. Using capital receipts in this way will require the approval of the County 
Council.

65. When developing and adopting a Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy the 
impact on the Council’s Prudential Indictors will be carefully considered.   

K Council’s Financial Standing and Risks

66. Under the Local Government Act 2003 the Council has a responsibility to ensure 
that reserves are adequate. During 2020/21 all reserves have been examined in 
detail.

67. A summary of the Council’s forecast reserves as at 31st March 2020, and 
movements since 31st March 2021 are as follows:

31st March 31st March 

  2020        2021

  £000        £000

Earmarked Revenue Reserves -Non Schools 101,807     63,275
Earmarked Reserves – School Related     8,625          909
General Fund Reserves   18,846     18,846

68. The current level of General Reserves is considered to be a satisfactory level by the 
Council’s s151 officer following a risk based review – see Annex 5b.

69. Non School Revenue Earmarked Reserves are forecast to fall from £101.807 million 
as at 31st March 2020, to £63.275 million as at 31st March 2021, a reduction of 
£38.532 million. This is largely as a result of drawdowns from the Revenue Grants 

Page 76



APPENDIX 2

19

Reserve (£15.987 million, relating to Tranche 1Covid-19 Grant funding), Capital 
Fund (£5.193 million), Adults Reserve (£5.430 million), Transformation Reserve 
(£3.848 million), Rates Retention Reserve (£2.291 million), Economic Stimulus 
Reserve (£2.167 million), Strategic Waste Reserve (£1.497 million), A417 Missing 
Reserve (£0.987 million), Growing our Communities Reserves (£0.798 million),  to 
support in year budget pressures. 

70. School Related Reserves are forecast to reduce from £8.625 million at 31st March 
2020, to £0.909 million as at 31st March 2021, as a result of the forecast over spend 
on the Dedicated School Grant. The DSG reserve is anticipated to be in a £14.432 
million deficit position as at 31st March 2021, as a result a full recovery plan is 
currently being developed with the Schools Forum. 

71. It is anticipated that Capital Reserves will remain at similar levels as those held at 
31st March 2020.

72. Annex 5a provides further detail on the Earmarked Reserves, including all of the 
proposed and forecast reserve movements during the year.

L Section 151 Officer Review of the Budget

73. In October 2019 a new requirement to have regard to the CIPFA Financial 
Management Code (FM Code) was introduced, with the 2020/21 financial year 
being a shadow year before full implementation from April 2021.  The Council has 
reviewed the new requirements of the FM Code and has concluded that processes 
are in place to ensure compliance.  

74. The level of General Reserves needs to reflect the risks the Council is facing. These 
risks will depend upon the robustness of the budgets, the ability to generate planned 
savings / efficiencies, the adequacy of budgetary control and external factors such 
as inflation and interest rates. Other specific risks include the ability to find a 
solution to the high needs block overspend within DSG, increased demand for Adult 
and Children’s social care, pay awards exceeding the level assumed in the budget 
and funding both the OFSTED and HMICFRS improvement plans. Further details of 
general reserve risk analysis can be found in Annex 5b.

75. In preparing the budget, and in the context that non schools earmarked reserves will 
fall during 2020/21, the following risks have been taken into account in the budget:

 Account has been taken of current spending trends and, where known, 
additional unavoidable cost pressures have been built into the proposed 2021/22 
budget. Current spending trends, especially the volatility of expenditure in Children 
and Families and the emergence of new cost pressures will continue to be 
monitored as the budget is developed. This may result in the need to reprioritise 
resources prior to the final budget being approved by Council in February 2021.

 Budget risks have been explicitly considered by all Directorates in preparing the 
budget and taken into account, particularly the funding constraints going forward.

 The level of reserves has been examined and will continue to be closely monitored 
during the period of this MTFS, in the context of protecting the Council from existing 
and future liabilities.

Page 77



APPENDIX 2

20

 Balancing the Council’s budget over this period of financial constraint requires a 
series of major challenges. Whilst robust programme management plans have been 
put into place to deliver these savings, as evidenced by performance over the last 
three years, there is inevitably some residual risk. It should be noted that the 
2021/22 saving target of £6.761 million is significantly lower than the savings target 
for 2020/21 of £10.545 million.

 The highest risk areas continue to be demand led services, especially care for older 
and vulnerable people including Children in Care where demand is continuing to 
increase. Additional resources are being invested in these areas under the 
proposed 2021/22 budget options.

 Provision has been made for pay awards, pension and national insurance 
increases, contractual inflationary pressures and the forecast impact of the National 
Living Wage.

 The reserves held are invested and the interest received supports the Council’s 
budget. 

 Consideration to the funding pressures within the DSG High Needs Block Funding 
has been made. Whilst the Council has a programme in place to resolve this issue 
and will benefit from additional funding in 2021/22 this issue will need to be closely 
monitored during 2021/22 and beyond.

76. The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in significant financial pressures for the 
Council during 2020/21 however central government have provided additional 
funding and the latest forecast for 2020/21 is that the additional funding will be 
sufficient to cover the costs of responding to the pandemic. It is anticipated that the 
financial impact will continue beyond 31st March 2021 so in SR20 the Government 
announced the continuation of Sales, Fees and Charges reimbursement scheme for 
the first three months of the new financial year and announced a national funding 
pot of £1.55 billion. Gloucestershire share of this national pot was confirmed as 
£11.5 million in the provisional Finance Settlement.

77. On the basis of the above, the Section 151 Officer’s  advice is that the level of 
reserves, following the movements indicated earlier, are adequate and the financial 
standing of the Council is sound in the context of the key risks. Therefore the 
proposed budget is robust and achievable. As mentioned earlier in the report the 
finance settlement only covers a single financial year so funding beyond 2021/22 is 
uncertain therefore making medium term financial planning more difficult.

M Public Sector Equality Duty 

78. Cabinet Members are reminded that we have a legal duty to give due regard to the 
implications for people with protected characteristics. The Due Regard Statement 
before us today includes the relevant details. 

Page 78



APPENDIX 2

21

N Forward Draft Plans for the Revenue Budget 

79. The Council’s plans are set for the three years covering 2021/22 to 2023/24. The 
proposed detailed budget for 2021/22 is set out within the MTFS, whilst the current 
draft forecast budgets for 2022/23 and 2023/24 are:

2022/23     2023/24
   £m £m

Budget 490.99      503.42             

80. Annex 6 gives outline financial proposals for 2022/23 and 2023/24, and will be 
updated as further information about funding and pressures becomes available.

P Capital Strategy and the Prudential Code

81. The prudential framework for local authority capital investment was introduced 
through the Local Government Act 2003.  CIPFA developed the Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the Code) as a professional code of practice to 
support local authorities in taking decisions on capital investments.  The Code was 
fully updated in 2017 bringing in a new requirement for a Capital Strategy.

82. The Capital Strategy, Annex 7, has been developed in line with the CIPFA 
guidance.  It gives a high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital 
financing and treasury management activity contribute to the provision of local 
public services along with an overview of how associated risk is managed and the 
implications for future financial sustainability.

83. The objectives of the Code are:

 To ensure that capital expenditure and investment plans are affordable.

 For the Council to be accountable by providing a clear and transparent framework.

 All external borrowing and other long-term liabilities are within prudent and 
sustainable levels.

 Treasury management and other investment decisions are taken in accordance 
with professional good practice.

84. The Council’s Capital Strategy sets out the long-term context in which capital 
expenditure and investment decisions are made and gives due consideration to 
both risk and reward and the impact on the achievement of priority outcomes.  The 
capital strategy forms part of the Council’s integrated revenue, capital and balance 
sheet planning.

Page 79



APPENDIX 2

22

85. The Council complies with the Prudential Code by:

 Having a Capital Strategy,

 Having medium term plans (Corporate Strategy, Revenue and Capital budgets),

 Complying with the Treasury Management Code of Practice, and

 Producing indicators for affordability and prudence.

86. The capital programme has been developed in accordance with the Capital Strategy 
which is set out in Annex 7.

Q Capital Expenditure

87. Further to the consultation budget proposals, Cabinet on 27th January 2021 gave 
approval to an increase in new investments within the capital programme of £6.470 
million as a result of additional funding now anticipated for the B4063 cycle route 
scheme.

Funding for New Capital Investment £m
Budget per Cabinet December 2020 112.583
Infrastructure – Highways Grant 2021/22 (estimate) 6.470
Revised Budget 119.053

88. In addition to the above Cabinet on 27th January 2021 also approved increases in 
existing schemes within the  capital programme of a further £3.086 million as 
follows:-

 the Council has received an additional £812k Disabled Facilities Grant 
allocation from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
for 2020/21. The additional grant has been added to the existing Disabled 
Facilities Grant capital budget.

 an increase of £2.274 million in the Highways capital programme budget as 
summarised below:

- £692k Department of Transport Active Travel Fund (tranche 2) grant 
towards the B4063 Gloucester to Cheltenham Cycle Route scheme. 

- £173k from Highways revenue towards the B4063 Gloucester to 
Cheltenham Cycle Route scheme, this being the revenue element of the 
DfT Active Travel Fund (tranche 2) grant 

- £1.165 million Highways England grant towards the B4063 Gloucester to 
Cheltenham Cycle Route scheme

- £219k from Highways Locals fund to support a number of Structural 
Maintenance schemes.

- £25k Developer contribution towards a Moreton-in-Marsh footway scheme

Page 80



APPENDIX 2

23

89. The proposed capital programme is set out in Annex 8a, with details of the financing 
of this programme being provided at the start of this Annex.

90. The capital programme provides investment in the county totalling £914.21 million.  
The main investment relates to Economy, Environment and Infrastructure (£581.53 
million), Schools and facilities for children (£149.57 million), Corporate Resources 
(£143.04 million), Adults (£33.39 million) and Community Safety (£6.679 million).  

New Capital Investment 

91. The capital programme contains an estimate of £119.05 million of investment in new 
capital schemes, spread over a number of financial years financed from grants, 
revenue contributions and capital financing budgets, as set out in the table below.

New Capital Funding £000

Adults – Disabled Facilities Grant 2021/22 (estimate) 6,030

Children's Services – Schools Condition Allocation 2021/22 (estimate) 4,500

Infrastructure – Highways Block Maintenance Grant 2021/22 (estimate) 14,350

Infrastructure – Highways Block Maintenance Grant - Incentive Element 
2021/22 (estimate) 2,989

Infrastructure – Integrated Transport Block Grant 2021/22 (estimate) 2,861

Infrastructure – Pothole Action Fund 2021/22 (estimate) 1,435

Infrastructure – Highways Grant 2021/22 (estimate) 6,470

Total Grant 38,635

Internal Borrowing - Highways 4,000

Internal Borrowing - New MTFS Bids 75,918

Total Capital Financing Budgets 79,918

Revenue contributions – Highways (estimate) 500

Total Revenue Contributions 500

Total New Capital Funding 2021/22 onwards 119,053

92. Priority schemes not supported by grants or contributions, have been included 
within the new programme on the basis that they can be funded from internal 

Page 81



APPENDIX 2

24

borrowing, thereby avoiding the need for new external borrowing. These new 
schemes recommended for approval amount to £75.92 million, which are detailed in 
Annex 8b. The £4.00 million of internal borrowing, listed separately in the table 
above, is the future years’ element of the £16.00 million approved last year to invest 
in Highways structural maintenance.

Adults

93. An indicative figure for the Disabled Facilities Grant of £6.03 million has been 
included for 2021/22 based on the original allocation received for 2020/21.

Children’s Services

94. An indicative figure for the Schools Condition Allocation of £4.50 million has been 
included for 2021/22 based on the allocation received for 2020/21.

Economy, Environment and Infrastructure

95. The Council receives capital grants from the Department of Transport for Highways 
Maintenance Block and Integrated Transport Block.

96. Indicative figures for the Maintenance Block Grant allocations have been included 
based on the allocations received for 2020/21. £14.35 million for the main 
Maintenance Block Grant allocation and £2.99 million for the Incentive Element of 
the Maintenance Block Grant allocation. 

97. An indicative figure for the Integrated Transport Block Grant of £2.86 million has 
been included for 2021/22 based on the allocation received for 2020/21.

98. An estimate of £1.44 million is included for the Pothole Action Fund.

99. An estimate of £6.470 million is included for the B4063 cycle route.

Overall Capital Programme

100. The Capital Programme will be updated during the financial year when actual 
allocations for the above estimates / indicative figures are confirmed. 

R Borrowing

101. Total borrowing requirement at the end of 2020/21 (including the new Waste 
financing liability) is forecast to be £393.7 million, an increase of £3.9 million 
compared with the £389.8 million outstanding at the end of 2019/20.  It is intended 
to use internal borrowing to meet this additional borrowing requirement.  

102. If external borrowing is required it is usually obtained from the Public Works Loans 
Board (PWLB), usually at fixed rates of interest, over a set number of years.  

103. In recent years, due to the significant differential between interest rates charged by 
the PWLB and interest earned on invested balances, the Council has internally 
funded borrowing from investment balances (mainly reserves).  This strategy, 

Page 82



APPENDIX 2

25

currently followed by the majority of local authorities, essentially involves lending 
investment balances to ourselves to reduce overall interest costs. 

104. In line with the Council’s aim to reduce the level of external borrowing required, 
capital receipts are used where available to fund some capital expenditure or repay 
debt. A Disposal Schedule will be considered by Cabinet in March 2021 in line with 
the Disposal Strategy. All forecast capital receipts are currently being used to fund 
the existing capital programme so it is not anticipated that this will be a source of 
funding for new schemes approved in this MTFS.  

105. The proposed capital programme includes significant new investment – the vast 
majority of projects will be funded from government grants or capital financing 
budgets.  In addition internal borrowing is also used.  Three major investment 
projects have previously been agreed and included in the current capital programme 
- Cheltenham School, Quayside development and highway investment.  From 
2021/22 a number of additional schemes have been agreed which will be funded 
internally, totalling £75.92 million (see annex 8b). 

106. The Council will remain open to the potential for capital investment opportunities 
arising from commercial activities linked to regeneration. Any such opportunities will 
be subject to a robust business case with the assumption that the scheme is self 
funding with no impact on the revenue budget. A provisional sum of £50 million has 
been included in the draft capital programme for such schemes. Such investments 
will be reviewed on a case by case basis and will be subject to Cabinet approval. 

S Treasury Management and Investment Strategy

107. The proposed Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2021/22 is shown in 
Annex 10.

108. It was considered by the Audit and Governance Committee in January 2021 
alongside the Capital Strategy and Non Treasury Investment Strategy.

109. Annex 10 provides details of:

 Treasury Management Strategy for 2021/22.

 Non Treasury Management Investment Strategy 2021/22.

 Policy on the use of Financial Derivatives.

 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Statement. 

T Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy

110. The Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy for 2018/21, which was 
approved by Cabinet in January 2018 is shown in Annex 11. The aims of this 
Strategy are to support the challenges that the Council may face, allowing it to react 
dynamically to changing external circumstances by enabling the Council to handle 
risk effectively and deliver successful outcomes.

U Annexes

Page 83



APPENDIX 2

26

Annex 1 Commissioning Intentions
Annex 2 Budget Movements by Service Area

Annex 3 Budget Summaries by Service Area
Annex 4 Medium Term Financial Planning Framework 
Annex 5a Reserves and Balances Analysis
Annex 5b General Fund Risk Analysis
Annex 6 Revenue Budget Forward Projections
Annex 7 Capital Strategy 
Annex 8a Capital Programme 2021/22

Annex 8b New Schemes 2021/22 Funded from Capital Receipts 

Annex 9 Dedicated Schools Grant – Schools Block

Annex 10 Treasury Management Strategy and Investment Strategy

Annex 11 Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy

Page 84



APPENDIX 2

27

Annex 1.1 – Adults Social Care Commissioning Intentions 2021-22

Context

The 2021/22 net budget for Adult Social Care is £156.5 million, the single biggest 
area of expenditure of the County Council.  We support approximately 25,000 
people who have a disability, are vulnerable, or live with an age-related disorder, 
as well as commissioning services aimed at addressing social care and health 
inequalities, promoting health and well being. We work in partnership with our 
service users and carers, health, housing and the third sector to maximise 
people’s potential for independence, meeting assessed need within a legal 
framework most notably as set out in the Care Act 2014.

The net budget does not include the Central Government grant funding to meet 
the cost to adult services of responding to the Covid-19 pandemic within the 
County.  As the Local Government Association (LGA) wrote on its submission to 
the Health and Social Care Committee inquiry into Social care: funding and 
workforce: The Covid-19 pandemic has shone an important light on the work of our 
invaluable social care workforce, who are providing care and support to all who need it in 
the most challenging of circumstances. Adult social care and support is a vital service in 
helping people of all ages to live the life they want to lead. It binds our communities, helps 
sustain the NHS and provides essential economic value to our county. 

Strategic Direction

Despite the additional pressure and restrictive nature of the Pandemic, our 
strategic ambition continues to be to support people to live independently.  This 
reflects the national policy framework created by Think Local Act Personal, which 
built on the direction set by “Putting People First” with its focus on community 
support and involvement, early intervention, prevention and reablement services. 
This has also been reinforced by the detailed guidance released in support of the 
Care Act 2014. As part of this, and for those people who have ongoing needs, we 
want to ensure we put each individual service user in control of their care and 
support, offering choice, providing professional advice and enabling their voice to 
be heard, with the ultimate aim of improving outcomes for people.

We are reducing reliance on institutional care, creating innovative alternatives and 
encouraging the use of universal services, whilst recognising that there will always 
be a place for specialists too. We are also addressing the wider responsibilities in 
the Act for carers and for all people with care needs and not just those we support.  
We are also continuing to promote an ethos of early intervention and prevention as 
an integral element to our intentions. Improvements continue, including with 
reducing the reliance on residential and nursing care and the use of self directed 
support.

We continue to increase the numbers of people supported to live independently 
through the use of technology (telecare) and continue to make progress in 
supporting people with disabilities into employment. We have also devoted 
additional resources to ensuring timely hospital discharge and are actively 
addressing the timeliness of assessment work and the robustness of our 
intermediate care offer.

Page 85



APPENDIX 2

28

Although the focus in this document is on Adult Social Care, most of our 
commissioning work is carried out jointly with the Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group (GCCG) and many of the intentions referred to reflect joint 
priorities. During 2021/22 and beyond the Council will also work with GCCG and 
other local Health partners on the developments needed to take full advantage of 
Gloucestershire’s Integrated Care System (ICS) status.  

Needs Analysis

The Impact of Covid:

Studies by the Local Government Association on the impact of Covid highlight 7 
key pressure points on social care services:  

1. Reduced care capacity due to services closing and workforce isolation/sickness 
2. Covid-19 hospital discharges present new challenges for 
reablement/enablement providers and care providers
3. The challenge of communal living with high risk people in Covid hotspots, e.g. 
care home, including risks to staff
4. Workforce availability and challenges with supply of device and hardware to 
ensure telecare continuity
5. Detrimental impact of long-term social isolation on mental health and wellbeing
6. Digital exclusion of vulnerable residents/service users to maintain contact and 
daily living
7. Increased caring responsibilities of informal carers due to a reduction of 
availability of care and/or to support their family to remain isolated/shielded

The number of adults aged 18 and over in Gloucestershire is projected to rise from 
505,400 to 600,800 between 2018 and 2043. The 18-64 age group is projected to 
increase by 6.6%, from 370,400 to 394,900 in this period whilst the 65 and over 
age group is projected to increase by 52.5% from 135,000 to 205,900. These 
increases are both higher than the projected increases for these age groups in 
England in the same period (3.5% for the 18-64 age group and 44.7% for the 65 
and over age group.  

In 2020, an estimated 28,000 older people in private households have a long-term 
illness or disability that limits their day-to-day activities a lot. The number will 
increase to nearly 37,000 by 2030, and most of this increase will be in the 75-84 
and over-85s age groups.

Benefit claims data suggest that currently, the most common long-term health and 
disabling conditions among older people that require care and support were 
arthritis, dementia/neurological disease, heart disease and musculoskeletal 
disease. Projections for the next 10 years indicate that the biggest increases in 
numbers would be for cardiovascular disease and obesity.

The number of older people unable to manage at least one mobility activity on 
their own is projected to rise from 25,800 to 33,800 between 2020 and 2030. At 
the same time, the number unable to manage at least one self-care activity will 
increase from 40,000 to 51,800 in the same period.

Page 86



APPENDIX 2

29

In 2018/19, a total of 6,129 people of all ages in Gloucestershire were diagnosed 
with dementia, more than twice the number diagnosed in 2009/10. Modelled data 
estimates that as of 2020, a total of 9,900 people aged 65+ in Gloucestershire 
have dementia. This is projected to rise to 13,400 in 2030.

Studies suggest that the level of unmet social care need is higher among older 
people on low incomes than those on higher incomes. In Gloucestershire, 8 
neighbourhood areas were ranked among the national top 10% income 
deprivations affecting older people. In November 2019, 5,644 people aged 65+ 
were receiving Guarantee Credit, a state benefit that tops up their weekly income.

Loneliness compounds the need for social care because of the link between 
persistent loneliness and increased health risk. Using national studies, it was 
calculated that around 6,000 older people in Gloucestershire feel lonely always or 
often. A local survey reveals that 5% of social care service users aged 65+ had 
little social contact with people and felt isolated, and a further 15% had some 
social contact but not enough. 

Modelling suggests that currently around 12,100 older people in Gloucestershire 
have depression, with 3,800 of these suffering from the severe form. Both figures 
are projected to rise considerably in the next 10 years as the population ages.

Lack of access to a car presents particular problems in areas where public 
transport services to health care and community facilities are limited. In 
Gloucestershire, one in five over-65s did not have access to a car according to 
Census 2011. Among those with a long-term illness or disability that limited their 
daily activities a lot, the proportion with no access to a car nearly doubled.

An ONS study suggests older people’s use of the internet has been consistently 
lower than the younger age groups, but the proportions using the internet are 
increasing. However, use of the internet remains low among the over-75s who 
have a disability, at 41%.

There are an estimated 20,200 informal carers aged 65+ in Gloucestershire in 
2020, and the number is projected to increase to 25,100 in 2030. The largest rate 
of increase would be in the number providing 50+ hours of care a week.

The latest Carer Survey for Gloucestershire suggests that eight in ten carers aged 
65+ receiving council-funded services were caring for an older person. They were 
also more likely than those in the general population to provide long hours of care 
and in poor health.

The same survey also suggests that quality of life most adversely impacted on by 
caring for older people was around social isolation, lack of encourage and support, 
lack of control over life and not doing things they enjoy with their time.  

Various measures suggest that old-age in itself is not necessarily felt as a deficit 
among many older people. On personal wellbeing, a higher proportion of older 
people have reported very high level of life satisfaction, worthwhileness and 
happiness than the younger age groups. The 65-74 age group, in particular, 

Page 87



APPENDIX 2

30

shows a relatively high level of social capital compared to other age groups e.g. to 
have volunteered in the past 12 months, be interested in politics, and be members 
of political, voluntary, professional or recreational organisations.

It is estimated that in 2020 there will be 3,400 people in Gloucestershire aged 18-
64 who have a serious personal care need and 15,600 who have a moderate care 
need, as a result of a physical disability. Both numbers are expected to increase 
slightly between 2020 and 2025 and then to fall slightly between 2025 and 2030.

For both working-age and older people in Gloucestershire, arthritis and other 
musculoskeletal diseases are the most common physical disabling condition for 
claiming disability benefits.  This is followed by neurological diseases for the 
under-65s, and heart disease and cerebrovascular disease for the over-65s.

Many people with a physical disability have complex needs. Some of the most 
common conditions that people with physical disabilities also experience are long-
term pain, depression and mental health conditions. 

A Gloucestershire survey by Barnwood Trust, carried out in 2013, found that 73% 
of local people with mobility impairments had a high level of sense of belonging to 
their local area. The proportion, however, dropped to 54% among those with a 
sensory impairment.

Around four-fifths of carers in England providing physical or sensory support have 
difficulty finding time to do the things they enjoy and around two-thirds say they do 
not have enough social contact with people.

People with learning disabilities have poorer health outcome than the general 
population, much of which is avoidable. 

Modelled data estimates that currently nearly 12,000 adults in Gloucestershire 
have a learning disability, with those aged between 18 and 64 accounting for 
three-quarters of the total. However, the rate of increase in the next 10 years is 
predicted to be most steep in the older age groups as life expectancy improves.

People with a severe or moderate learning disability are more likely to have a 
social care need than those with mild conditions. Modelling suggest that in 
Gloucestershire, one in five adults who have a learning disability have a moderate 
or severe form of the condition, with the majority being under the age of 65.

Patient Register records show that the number of diagnosed cases for a learning 
disability of all ages in Gloucestershire rose by 15.8% between 2014/15 and 
2018/19, from 3,403 to 3,941 people.

As of May 2019, a total of 3,163 people aged 16 or over in Gloucestershire were 
claiming a benefit for a learning disability condition. Nearly all of them (98%) were 
assessed as having a care or support need. Data shows that the majority of these 
(66.9%) were receiving the high or enhanced rate of the benefit, suggesting 
considerable, long-term personal care and support needs.

Page 88



APPENDIX 2

31

Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD) is not a learning disability, but around half of 
people with autism may have a learning disability. Modelled data and calculations 
suggest that in Gloucestershire, around 3,200 adults currently have a learning 
disability as a result of ASD. The number is expected to rise to 3,500 in 2030.

A person with Down’s syndrome will have some degree of learning disability, but 
the level varies between individuals. Modelling suggests that in Gloucestershire, 
Down’s syndrome affects around 255 adults aged 18 and over in 2020, and the 
majority are under the age of 65.

Challenging behaviour is not a learning disability, but people with a learning 
disability are more likely to show challenging behaviour, partly due to 
communication problems. Modelled estimates suggest that challenging behaviour 
affects around 170 adults aged 18-64 in 2020 in Gloucestershire, with the number 
projected to remain stable in the next 10 years.

Many people with learning disabilities have complex need, as they are likely to 
also develop other long-term health conditions, such as speech impairment, vision 
impairment, and hearing loss.  

People with learning disabilities are also at an increased risk of developing 
dementia as they age, and they generally develop it at a younger age than the 
general population. This is particularly the case for people with Down’s syndrome. 
Studies found that people with learning disabilities are less likely to receive a 
correct or early diagnosis of dementia.

The National survey of carers suggests that compared to other groups of carers, 
carers providing learning disability support were more likely to provide 100 or more 
hour of care each week, and more likely to have a learning disability themselves

The same survey also suggests that quality of life most adversely impacted on by 
caring for people with a learning disability was around worries about personal 
safety, lack of encouragement and support, social isolation, and self-neglect.

The PANSI model estimates that in 2020, around 70,000 people aged 18-64 in 
Gloucestershire will have a common mental disorder, 12,300 will have antisocial 
personality disorder, 8,900 will have borderline personality disorder and 2,600 will 
have a psychotic disorder.

There is a link between mental health and alcohol and drug use. It is estimated 
that in Gloucestershire, an estimated 16,500 people aged 18-64 are at higher risk 
of alcohol related health problems and a further 12,200 will be dependent on drugs 
in 2020. Research also shows an association between child sexual abuse and 
childhood and adult mental disorders. It is estimated that in 2020 there will be 
42,700 adults aged 18-64 in Gloucestershire who experienced abuse as a child. 

Long-term illness or disability can lead to mental health issues, making the needs 
more complex.  It is estimated that in England 46% of people with a mental health 
problem have a long-term health condition and 30% of people with a chronic 
physical health condition have a mental health condition. An estimated 34% of 

Page 89



APPENDIX 2

32

people who have sight loss report feeling unhappy or depressed. Research also 
shows that lonely people are more likely to experience depression, and the lonelier 
a person is, the more likely they are to experience increased depressive 
symptoms.

There were 172 suicides in Gloucestershire in the three year period from 2016 to 
2018. The rate for males is consistently higher than that for females. 60% of carers 
providing support with memory and cognition and 63% of carers providing mental 
health support have a long-standing illness or disability. Carers providing mental 
health support are more likely than other carers to experience mental health 
problem themselves.

A survey by Barnwood Trust, carried out in Gloucestershire in 2013, found that 
people with mental health challenges were less likely to feel a sense of belonging 
to their local area compared with other disability groups; 43% of respondents with 
a mental health challenge said they felt they belonged to their area compared with, 
for example, 73% of people with a mobility impairment and 54% of people with a 
sensory impairment. 

There were 62,644 unpaid carers (10.5% of the population) in Gloucestershire in 
2011. A small proportion of carers were children under the age of 16 (1.7%) but 
the majority were aged 50 or over (64%). If the proportion of carers in the 
population stays the same, the number of carers aged 65 and over is predicted to 
rise from 20,157 in 2020 to 25,077 in 2030, a rise of 24.4%, with the greatest 
increase predicted for 80-84 year-olds (53.35%).

Census 2011 shows that 7.2% of the Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) population 
in Gloucestershire were carers, compared to 10.7% of the white population. This is 
mainly because BME groups have an age profile that is significantly younger than 
the white majority population. As the BME population ages, the proportion of BME 
carers is likely to increase.

National studies show that 40% of unpaid carers look after a parent, 18% look 
after a spouse, partner, or cohabitee, and 17% look after a son or daughter.

Research by Carers UK suggests that carers caring for long hours are more likely 
to experience poor health themselves and less likely to be economically active. 
Many carers face difficult financial situations due to their caring responsibilities. 
39% of all carers are struggling to make ends meet and of these, 68% regularly 
use their own income or savings to pay for care or support services, equipment or 
products for the person they care for.

Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021/22

In line with the strategic direction set out above, we have a series of projects 
targeted at living within our means and adjusting to meeting demand differently. 
Most of these are designed around the implementation of national policy and good 
practice – expanding on the model of reablement, working in multidisciplinary 
teams whilst increasing our investment in the management of the social care 

Page 90



APPENDIX 2

33

function, avoiding crisis, commissioning differently, listening to our service users 
and improving the customer journey. We also continue to look at our processes.
Looking Forward

The proposed net budget for 21/22 is £156.5m and includes funding to address 
the impact of demographic changes and cost pressures including the National 
Living Wage.  Recognising that not all pressures can be addressed within the 
resources available and in the context of our intentions to improve outcomes, we 
will seek to achieve financial balance in adult services by:

 continuing to strengthen our assessment and care management function whilst 
also developing stronger links with primary care as part of the integrated 
multidisciplinary place based model

 supporting more people to live independently in the community
 develop our offer to carers in line with Care Act requirements
 improving transitions to adult services for children with special needs by 

ensuring they are prepared adequately for independence in adulthood from the 
age of 16

 being more responsive to potential demand through early intervention and 
prevention

 developing specialist services enabling people with behavioural issues to 
maintain their independence

 continuing with our cultural change work which supports both staff and service 
users to reflect on their attitude to managing risk in everyday life

 working with the NHS to better case manage people at risk of crisis or in need 
of urgent support, facilitate timelier discharges from hospital and reduce 
admissions and readmissions

 supporting a Population Health Management approach with a particular focus 
on making better use of data available across organisations to promote 
proactive case finding (people pre at a risk of crisis stage but where an 
intervention now will have significant medium and longer term health and well 
being gains)

 further improvements in the efficiency and effectiveness of services we 
commission including those commissioned jointly with the Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG)

 decommissioning services that are no longer peoples’ preferred choice as they 
opt to meet their needs in different ways

 stimulating the market and empowering communities who want to be involved
 working with District Councils and Housing Associations to both enhance the 

specialist housing offer and future-proof new-build homes to enable all lives to 
be lived as independently as possible

 working with partners to develop new opportunities for volunteering
 building on our success with helping people into the workplace by exploring 

innovative employment links to increase the number of disabled people in paid 
work

 continuing to actively review high unit cost contracts to seek efficiencies 
including tighter management of voids in shared housing

 develop jointly with the CCG the Shared Lives service in the county

Page 91



APPENDIX 2

34

 ensuring our Telecare offer helps people to live independently through 
solutions which improve service and cost less than traditional care

 enabling people with a learning disability to live more inclusive and 
independent lives in the community improving quality of life and ensuring each 
person has a circle of support around them

 continuing to embed the use of Electronic Call Monitoring systems and 
ensuring we use the information that flows from the system to improve the 
quality of care and to inform our commissioning

 continuing the roll out of an outcomes based approach in the new domiciliary 
care service

 partnering with the CCG to ensure people with a learning disability in long stay 
hospitals are returned to independent living in their own community

 respond to the learning from the involvement of our mental health fieldwork 
services in the national integration accelerator pilot work 

 Review In-house Services to ensure that we are using GCC managed 
resources to best meet the needs of vulnerable people in Gloucestershire 
whilst delivering good value for money.

 Review the four Partnership Boards to ensure that the views of people with 
“lived experience” help to shape the priorities across the Integrated Care 
System and help to deliver and effect positive change for vulnerable people 
living in Gloucestershire.

Delivering Change

Demographic changes indicate a rising demand for support from people with 
increasingly complex needs that requires us to better manage and respond to 
demand. This will involve a range of partnerships, many of which will be new 
relationships with communities. Whilst it will be challenging financially, it will result 
in investment in local communities and will provide opportunities to work with 
community and voluntary sector agencies in new ways and ensure we are 
sensitive to the communities in which many of our service users live.

The scale and pace of change continues at an unprecedented level and will create 
transitional issues as we all adjust to working in a different way. Communicating 
our intentions and listening to the voice of those we serve will be central to our 
thinking and will assist us to ensure all voices are heard and concerns and 
questions are actively addressed.

All activities will be subject to community impact assessments and specific 
consultation will be undertaken where appropriate with stakeholders. We will 
actively pursue opportunities to engage with service users and their carers to 
continue to build confidence in those partnerships.

At the heart of this work is culture change, based on a three tier conversation at 
the frontline in adult services that gives us a simple structure to help focus on 
helping people to help themselves.
Tier one – Help to help yourself.
Tier two – Help when you need it.
Tier three – Ongoing support for those that need it.

Page 92



APPENDIX 2

35

To ensure that we align this culture change work with our approach to 
communities, commissioning and other joint developments we will continue to 
operate a single programme governance structure for Adult Social Care.  

Page 93



APPENDIX 2

36

Annex 1.2 - Children and Families Commissioning Intentions 2021/22

Introduction
The Council has wide ranging responsibilities for services for children, young people and families; 
this includes leading and co-ordinating all local partners to ensure outcomes for children and young 
people improve. In 2019/20 the total budget for Children’s Services excluding the Dedicated Schools 
Grant was £118.6 million; this included other grants and funding from formula/Council Tax. The 
strategic direction for Children’s Services is set by the local Families Framework, which is currently 
being replaced by a new Children and Families Plan when combined together with the Council 
Strategy, identifies a continuing need to improve outcomes for the most vulnerable.

Background
Since our last Ofsted inspection in February 2017, Gloucestershire’s Children’s Services have been 
on an improvement journey - ‘Building the Best’. This improvement plan sets out how we are 
bringing about the necessary improvements to services for children and young people across 
Gloucestershire and to ensure clarity and direction for Children’s Services, our partners and 
everyone who needs to be involved in our transformation journey.

Following seven subsequent monitoring visits and the most recent Ofsted Focus visit in October 
2020, we are now in the final preparations for a full inspection within the next few months. It is 
acknowledged that Children’s Services continue to be on a very structured improvement journey and 
whilst there are some strong signs of improvement, the recent Focus visit saw an improvement in 
the pace of change over the past six months, however there is still work to be done to ensure there 
is consistent practice and performance. The service is very clear as to the main areas that require 
focus in readiness for the full Ofsted inspection, and dedicated work is underway to ensure this 
remains a priority. There is a communication and implementation strategy to prepare all staff and 
partners for the pending inspection, so Gloucestershire has every opportunity to demonstrate all the 
improvement work that has taken place, how practice has changed, and the wider long term vision 
for Children’s Services. 

Strategic Direction
Strategic priorities within our commissioning intensions have been reshaped as an inevitable 
consequence of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. We have taken on additional responsibilities and 
ensured the market has been supported and managed, to allow services to continue where possible. 
For some areas within the market there has been a   40% reduction in capacity, GCC has worked 
hard to mitigate these enforced changes, by supporting providers to access additional funding, 
which in turn has provided much needed stability during these anxious times. This includes 
some contract extensions for 2021 which have been awarded following council processes.  

Additional responsibilities taken on by Children’s Integrated Commissioning in direct response to the 
pandemic include:

 PPE - co-ordination for the department,  partners  and providers for Children Services 
 COVID-19  children fund  
 Emergency  assistance Grant  -  for GCC  

In addition a Vulnerable  Children Cell (VCC)  chaired by  the AD for integrated commissioning, 
brings together  a number of  agencies,  partners and voluntary sector colleagues,  to review the 
impact of  COVID -19  on families and  identify the  “new Vulnerable “   who’s circumstances have 
changed due to the impact of COVID -19. The VCC highlights areas of need, delivers 
coherent messages to partners and families about support and resources available.  

Page 94



APPENDIX 2

37

The following are activities coordinated through the VCC:
 Summer programme  to  support the reduction of 40%   activity  -  by commissioning 

  targeted provision 
 Holiday  hunger  programme  -   local provision with  Councillors,  targeted work within the 

holiday programmes  -   developing a  Food booklet  for all families and professionals  -  
FSM voucher scheme for  Oct half term   -  “ no child in Gloucestershire will go hungry “  

 Fuel poverty   -  via the Emergency Assistance Grant 
 Christmas  programme  -  for food and activities 
 Early years  sufficiency  -  to support vulnerable families   under  2yrs  - especially babies  
 ICON -  champagne
 See Hear Respond   -  Barnardo’s  national programme
 Data  review  of new  FSM  -  children  accessing  education and early years settings   

Joint Commissioning
The County Council and the Clinical Commissioning Group are committed to an integrated 
commissioning model that spans both children and adult’s services. Within the Children and 
Families Commissioning Hub we have much to be proud of with regards to how we approach 
commissioning across our children’s health and social care systems. Our shared approach and 
commitment to jointly commission directly contributes to improving outcomes for our most vulnerable 
children, young people and their families. As part of the single vision for Gloucestershire, local 
partners are committed to the development of a highly aspirational vision for Gloucestershire’s 
children and young people. It will be informed by the views of children and young people in both its 
development and delivery phases through the Child Friendly County project. The Health and 
Wellbeing Board provides strategic oversight and direction. This includes our strategic aspirations 
around improving outcomes for not only children, young people and their families, but for the wider 
partnerships and Children’s Services workforce. 

We are now just entering into the third year of our Placement Sufficiency Strategy for 
Gloucestershire, which initially set out our revised blueprint to improve Gloucestershire Children’s 
Services over a three year period. The Sufficiency Strategy aligns with our improvement journey for 
improving front line practice, especially in planning for and where appropriate, preventing children 
and young people from coming into care. The number of children and young people in care has 
increased, and the strategy sets out how we intend to purchase placements, to achieve the best 
possible outcomes for children and young people, and use our resources in the most efficient and 
effective way. 

We have made progress in some areas to implement the Sufficiency Strategy by embedding 
oversight and compliance through the implementation of a number of panels, which have been 
expanded to take on the additional challenges due to COVID -19. As part of this work and to ensure 
we embed commissioning into practice, a number of tools have been created to support practice and 
partners with this new approach. 

The NHS Long Term Plan, 2019 – 2024 sets out the vision for the NHS redesign of services to 
better support, and properly join-up care at the right time in the optimal care setting. Our local 
commissioning intentions reflect the national priorities in the long term plan, in particular for children 
– reducing health inequalities for children and young people including children in care and care 
leavers, faster access to community and crisis mental health services; ensuring children with 
learning disabilities and/or autism live happier, healthier and longer lives with timely support to 
children and families; and improving the health of children and young people with long term 
conditions.
Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board has published a new coherent narrative of change, 
(Gloucestershire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2030), which creates a universal 
strategy for the county by setting out our future ambitions to improve the health and wellbeing 

Page 95



APPENDIX 2

38

outcomes of all Gloucestershire residents and reduce inequalities. The Board oversees two linked 
strategic initiatives of particular relevance to our emerging Youth Support Strategy within the 
Children and Families Commissioning Hub:

 The development of a single, strategic shared plan/vision for all children and young people in 
Gloucestershire. This complements existing plans on social care practice, safeguarding and 
the welfare of the most vulnerable, with a wider focus on the safety, health and well-being of 
all children and young people.

 The Child Friendly Gloucestershire youth engagement and research project, which has been 
working closely with the third sector to engage a wide range of young people, host a platform 
for their diverse voices, and report back in 2020. The overarching aim is to create an 
infrastructure through which to have a continuing, authentic dialogue with young people on 
the scope and quality of our offer.

Working through its recently revised multi-agency child safeguarding and commissioning 
arrangements, Gloucestershire continues to review its approach towards Early Help, which will set 
out the vision with our partners to join up current activity and providers of early help to develop a 
coherent partnership plan that meets the needs of children and their families at a lower level of need 
to stop the escalation into specialist services. 

The key drivers for this plan will be to intervene at the earliest point for the children or family, to be 
outcome focused in our approach, using evidenced based practice where possible, build resilience 
and above all keep families together where it is safe to do so. The Early Help Strategy once 
implemented will deliver some of the biggest changes to families, by identifying and responding to 
need in a timely and proportionate manner, which in turn will reduce the pressures on statutory 
services. Getting this element of the continuum right is critical to not only turning the curve on 
improving outcomes for children and families but also for the wider improvement journey in 
Gloucestershire. 

Commissioning has a key role to play within early help services, not just with the external Children 
and Families Centres, but also to contribute towards a shared commissioning and investment 
strategy in this space, across all areas of the continuum including working with partners. 
Commissioning will scope the development of community hubs within children and family centres 
where midwifery, health visitors and family support services can be aligned and staff are co-located. 
This will support the development of family hubs identified within the Early Help Strategy. 

Commissioning has reconfigured the composition and function of departmental panels to achieve 
better consistency of practice and decision making across children’s and families. The revised panel 
configurations for 2020/21 are:

 Access to Resources – which oversees a range of spend and creates a framework of 
providers from auditing of needs against spend to commissioning high quality and efficient 
therapeutic services.

 Additional Emergency  assistance grant  -  for  individuals and families experiencing  financial 
difficulties due to   COVID -19  

 Multi-Agency Panel – which actively monitors and reviews provision, through local services 
or out of authority placements for Children and Young people with exceptional needs.

 Transition Tracking Panel – for all placements where adult service assessments need to be 
undertaken.

 16 Plus Panel – for all young people becoming care leavers, to review their placements. To 
also track young people at risk of Homelessness in B&B’s, hotels, sofa surfing or at risk of 
being evicted. Also review all young peoples placements  18+  who have not been able to 
transition into independent housing due the impact of COVD-19

Page 96



APPENDIX 2

39

 High Risk, Cost and Unregulated Placements – this is the Corporate Parent’s senior 
management and structural response to oversee and scrutinise those children and young 
people whose needs, risks and consequently costs are most acute.

Wider Drivers for Change
The Children and Families Act 2014 seeks to improve services for vulnerable children and support 
their families. It underpins wider reforms to ensure that all children and young people can succeed, 
no matter what their background. The changes in the law give greater protection to vulnerable 
children, better support for children whose parents are separating, a new system to help children 
with special educational needs and disabilities, and help for parents to balance work and family life. 
It also ensures vital changes to the adoption system can be put into practice, meaning more children 
who need loving homes are placed faster. Reforms for children in care can be implemented, 
including giving them the choice to stay with their foster families until their 21st birthday.

The Care Act 2014 is designed to bring the current laws relating to adult social care together into 
one Act. Whilst predominately focused on adults, the Care Act did introduce new legislation to 
support young people who find themselves caring for a parent or sibling. Gloucestershire Young 
Carers project was recommissioned in 2019, at this time it was expanded to include the 
development of new young adult care services to support young carers who want to remain in 
education or training.

Following on from the Keep on Caring Strategy 2016, the Children and Social Work Act 2017 is 
intended to improve support for children in care and care leavers, promote the welfare and 
safeguarding of children, and make provisions about the regulation of social workers. The Act 
reinforces the corporate parenting principles for the Council as a whole to be the best parent it can 
be to every child in its care. These are largely a collation of existing duties local authorities have 
towards children in care and those preparing to leave care, and are now extending our duties up to 
the age of 25 for all care leavers who require ongoing advice and support. For those who choose not 
to receive support post 21, we are keeping in contact to ensure they know their right to come back 
into the service if they wish to. We are required to publish our support offer to care leavers and to 
promote the educational attainment of children who have been adopted or placed in other long term 
arrangements. The legislation extends the current considerations of the court when making 
decisions about the long term placement of children to include an assessment of current and future 
needs and of any relationship with the prospective adopter. The Act makes changes to the 
arrangements for local child safeguarding partnerships and the serious case review process, 
including provision for a central Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel for cases of national 
importance. It also establishes a new regulatory regime for the social work profession. 

Commissioning has responded proactively to the statutory requirement in the 2017 act. We continue 
to work in partnership with our care leavers to publish a local offer by reviewing our corporate 
commitment to ensure care experienced young people are placed in the right placement first time 
(Sufficiency Strategy 2018-2021). In 2019 we reviewed the offer and updated it leading to the 
development of a revised Care Leavers Strategy which places greater emphasis on the voice of 
young people and committing to make every service we commission good enough for our children 
and care leavers, thereby giving them a positive experience of their transition to adulthood. 

Liberty Protection Safeguards were introduced in the Mental Capacity (Amendment Act) 2019, 
replacing the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguarding system that is currently in place. The Safeguards 
will provide protection for people who are deprived of their liberty as part of their care or treatment, 
and don’t have mental capacity to consent to their care arrangements. Groups who might have a 
Liberty Protection Safeguards authorisation include those with dementia, autism and learning 
disabilities. The amended act will have a significant impact on young people aged 16 years + in 
several key areas of children and families commissioning including health, placements, youth 
support and care assisted young people, which will drive change in the way we commission services 
for these groups in 2020/21. 

Page 97



APPENDIX 2

40

The European Settlement Scheme
Commissioning has been mindful of the substantial impact the Brexit agenda and accompanying 
legislative changes will have on the services we provide for children and families in 2020/21. 
Commissioning has taken the departmental lead on Brexit and has been instrumental in the 
dissemination of Brexit related information across the department, to ensure adequate preparatory 
plans are in place for the anticipated legislative changes. The most pertinent legislative change 
affecting children and families is the European Settlement Scheme (EUSS), which sets out a new 
application process to be completed by EU citizens, their families and others currently working or 
residing in the UK post Brexit. 

Commissioning has successfully bid for £114K to deliver practical support to Gloucestershire 
vulnerable or at-risk EU, EEA and Swiss citizens and their family members to help them make their 
EU Settlement Scheme application. Our EUSS project covers the whole of County of 
Gloucestershire, complimenting support provided in Tewksbury District by Tewksbury BC funded by 
the Home Office.  It will provide information advice and practical registration support for the most 
vulnerable EU, EEA and Swiss citizens (and their non-EU family members) many of whom we 
believe are currently unaware of the Scheme or their need to register.  
The staff and volunteers of the three VCSE delivery partners, North and West Gloucestershire CAB, 
Stroud and Cotswolds CAB and GARAS, will provide information, advice, support and technical 
assistance for vulnerable EU citizens and their families to register with the EU Settlement Scheme

We have designed a flexible and responsive programme, focusing on providing registration support 
out in our communities across the County, which is important in our rural areas which we know are 
sometimes hard to reach through our experience of supporting vulnerable residents.
Our Communications Strategy for the project will harness the networks of the County and District 
Councils, including social media, to reach local residents, business and community and voluntary 
sector.  We will work with local media to ensure that regular consistent messages are provided to 
our residents about the need to register and the support for vulnerable EU citizens.  

Needs Analysis
The Joint Strategic Needs Analysis (JSNA) identifies a number of areas that require review.

In 2018/19, despite decreasing numbers and rates, Gloucestershire had a higher rate of permanent 
school exclusions in comparison to national and statistical neighbour rates (and the same rate as 
regional). The proportion of secondary pupils excluded was the fourth highest among our statistical 
neighbours, and in the second quartile among authorities in England. Over half of these exclusions 
relate to children and young people with additional needs. Permanent exclusions in Gloucestershire 
reduced by 23% for the 2018/19 academic year, with significant reduction in the primary phase; 
putting us equal with statistical neighbours and national comparators for that phase, and below the 
regional comparator.

Fixed term exclusions have historically been relatively low in Gloucestershire compared to national 
and statistical neighbour averages but are now starting to rise as an alternative to permanent 
exclusion.

Over the past few years there has been a national increase in children being identified as having 
social, emotional and mental health needs: and this is no difference in Gloucestershire. From an 
education perspective, this has placed pressure on specialist SEMH places and has resulted in a 
rise in the number of children with such needs requiring independent specialist provision. A 
Commitment has therefore been made to build a new 75 place SEMH to meet such needs in county 
by 2021 

Due to Covid-19 there is no assessment data for 2020, but for the Early Years Foundation Stage in 
2019, 71.9% of children achieved a good level of development (GLD); this has been steadily 
improving since 2014 and for the first time Gloucestershire is slightly above the national average of 

Page 98



APPENDIX 2

41

71.8% although more improvement is needed to bring us in line with statistical comparators. There 
remains a notable gap in gender with 78.4% of girls, and 65.4% of boys achieving a GLD (mirroring 
the national gender differences). The achievement gap between the lowest attaining 20% of children 
continues to reduce in Gloucestershire and is currently at 29%. This is compared to the national gap, 
which is increasing and currently at 32.4%.

In 2019 51.9% of the children in Gloucestershire who are eligible for free school meals have 
achieved a good level of development which although increased, is still slightly below the 56.4% 
national level. However the trend is upwards and has improved significantly from 30% in 2013. Since 
the first COVID related lockdown, the FSM figures have grown significantly. From 23rd March to 5th 
December 2020, we have an additional 2,754 young people currently entitled to FSM, bringing the 
total number of protected FSM to 17’006. It is important to note that included in the aforementioned 
figure are 1’869 new applications which have been received since the 1st of September 2020, 1’137 
of these are current entitled protected.

The Joint Additional Needs Strategy brings together a multi-agency response to understanding and 
responding to children’s needs. There have been noteworthy improvements to the support offered to 
such children; however this requires greater co-ordination and strategic multi-agency leadership 
moving forward. As such, a number of work streams to deliver the strategic priorities of the Joint 
Additional Needs and High Needs strategies have been established, with oversight from strategic 
leaders across the Council. This will form a key part of our work moving forward across the 
education, social care and health arenas; not only meeting our statutory duties but also providing the 
most appropriate and effective support for children and young people.

The 2018/19 rate of young people aged 10-24 admitted to hospital for self harm in Gloucestershire 
(536.4 per 100,000) is higher than England (444.0) but lower than all except for one of our statistical 
neighbours. Now rated as “Red”, this represents an increase from 456 per 100,000 in 2017/18.

A review of the self-harm pathway has been completed, and a number of initiatives have been taken 
forward; supplementing the existing services and support already available in the county. These 
include:
-              Introduction of an advice line for parents concerned about their child’s emotional wellbeing 
(run by TIC+).
-              Improved information resources on self-harm for young people, their parents/Carers, and 
health professionals.
-              Commissioning of a new self-harm training course targeted at professionals working with 
people who may be self-harming,
-              Development of ‘Harmlessglos’, an online planning and support tool for professionals 
working with children and young people who are self-harming. 

It is unclear about the effects of the pandemic on children’s mental health. However, an analysis of 
various sources including a survey run by Oxford University in which pupils from 88 schools in 
Gloucestershire took part and nationally, generated research estimate that there will be a rise in 
need and demand. Work is ongoing locally to better understand and monitor trends. 

Gloucestershire County Council commissioned additional services to provide a range of support to 
children and young people. These included two open access, universal services for children and 
young people which do not require a referral from a health professional i.e. children and young 
people can access support directly.  In addition, Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group has 
commissioned a more targeted offer for vulnerable young people. 

Education permeates across all aspects of children and families commissioning. As a result of the 
local area SEND inspection in 2016, Ofsted and CQC were pleased with the Council’s initial 
response to the SEND reforms following implementation of the Children & Families Act.

Page 99



APPENDIX 2

42

The second round of inspections are being formulated for late 2021 and it is anticipated that these 
will focus more specifically upon; joint commissioning, impact for children and young people 
resulting from effective multi-agency working across social care, education and health, early help 
across all services and embedded co-production with parent and carers. Whilst there has been 
much progress in relation to supporting children and young people with SEND and additional needs 
in the county these areas have been identified as requiring greater leadership and impact prior to 
any future inspection regime. 

We have a Joint Strategy for Children and Young People with Additional Needs (including SEND) 
agreed with the Clinical Commissioning Group and partners, and this outlines the county’s approach 
to meeting the needs of these children and young people (0-25 years) between 2018-2021, across 
education, health and care. This supports the holistic assessment and provision for children and 
young people which holds them at the centre. This is further supported by our High Needs, Post 16 
and Specialist Commissioning strategies which ensure that our commissioning provides value for 
money and meets emerging changes in children’s needs whilst preparing them for effective 
transition into adulthood

Ofsted evaluation of the framework for the inspection of local area’s effectiveness in identifying and 
meeting the needs of children and young people with SEND was published in July 2020. The report 
evaluates the fidelity of the framework’s implementation and explores views on the impact of the 
framework on services for children and young people with SEND. However, at date of writing the 
SEND review was still being undertaken and options for consultation were yet to be finalised.

Our School Place Commissioning Strategy which sets out our educational requirements over the 
next five years is reviewed annually to ensure that all children have access to local, quality provision 
which meets their needs. This sets the expectation that most children will have their needs met in 
mainstream education settings and therefore underpins the Specialist Commissioning Strategy 
which focuses on specialist education settings for children with higher level of needs.

Following the academy agenda and the financial pressures on the education system, the increasing 
concerns for home educated children, those with SEND and those who have been excluded or off-
rolled from schools has gained significant national coverage and parliamentary interest. The new 
Ofsted framework which came into place in September 2019 for schools which has a greater focus 
on outcomes for all children is therefore welcomed. It is also anticipated that there will be legislative 
changes made to how the education system responds to these challenges in 2021– with a greater 
expectation of inclusion and ability to meet children’s needs across school systems and greater 
accountability in how schools provide for all children.

The focus of education during the COVID-19 pandemic has highlighted the importance for all 
children, and especially the most vulnerable, to have access to high quality face to face education 
which can be differentiated to meet their needs. Whilst all settings will continue to ensure that 
children and young people continue to receive a broad and balanced curriculum, they now have to 
respond to infection control measures, helping children catch up on any missed education and 
supporting the mental health and wellbeing of children whom have been away from formal schooling 
during the lockdown period. We are having to adapt our approach and offer to support the 
challenges created by COVID-19 for children, families and education settings alongside managing 
the system as our business as usual.

The Compliance and Quality Assurance Team
Commissioning is committed to ensuring that every Provision we commission for our vulnerable 
young people provides the best service possible. To ensure we continue to meet this obligation, we 
have now developed a Compliance and Quality Assurance Team (CQAT) which will lead on 
developing, implementing and monitoring a high quality compliance process for all existing and new 
providers. CQAT will lead on the development of a range of tools to allow Commissioners and Social 

Page 100



APPENDIX 2

43

Workers to quickly identify the assessed position of every provider on compliance, inspection (where 
appropriate) and quality assurance and collate that into a single RAG rating.

The CQAT will also work alongside the wider GCC Quality Assurance team to gather in-depth, real 
time intelligence about the quality of commissioned services, to inform assurance activity and 
judgements with a focus on information from and about individual service user. 

The CQAT are currently involved in the following tasks to support improving outcomes for children 
and young people;

 Single agency visits and assessments of providers of concern (as a result either of recent 
Inadequate judgements or where serious incidents have been reported)

 Joint visits with Education colleagues to Residential Schools where concerns have been 
raised on both education and care issues. This has included developing joint action plans 
between GCC Education, Social Care and the provider to improve quality;

 Attendance at Allegation Management Meetings and Complex Allegation Management 
Meetings as appropriate;

 Leading the Commissioning Hub response to the request by the Gloucestershire 
Safeguarding Executive for a section 11 Children Act 2004 audit of providers safeguarding 
policies and procedures;

 Completing all new Due Diligence requests to the Hub;
 Identifying lead contact points within CQAT for all providers these team members will also 

lead annual monitoring meetings with the provider;
 Developing a RAG rating for each provider based on inspection outcomes, s11 responses 

and service user feedback

Children’s Social Care
Gloucestershire currently has an increasing cared-for population which currently stands at 782 
children in care, which is a clear increase for 730 children in care at the same period last year (Oct 
2020)    and a substantial increase from previous level of 651 in March 2018. There are a number of 
possible reasons for this; the current improvement journey shows that our thresholds are not fully 
understood by all services, and therefore not consistently applied so, along with an improvement in 
practice and assessment; this could increase the number of children and young people becoming 
looked after. The Children and Social Care Act has also extended the statutory duties for young 
people leaving care up to the age of 25 (previously 21), irrespective of their educational, 
employment or training circumstances and this is likely to further increase our care population. We 
know our care leaving population will be one of our largest growth areas of the coming years. 

Our work with children and young people who have additional needs as they transfer into adulthood 
will be a critical area of focus for the coming year. We are committed to developing and 
implementing a partnership approach to transitions, so that young people and their families get the 
right information, support and assessments at the earliest point, ensuring transitions are understood 
planned for and effective.

This will include tracking all young people who we believe might meet a threshold for adult services, 
from the age of 14 years or as early as possible post this age,  so that joint planning, working and 
assessments can take place at the right point within a young persons journey.

Taking a collaborative and solution focused approach, our key ambition for all young people where 
possible is for them to remain in or return to county, with the appropriate support to fulfil their 
potential. To achieve this aspiration we will work together, make joint commissioning decisions, 
manage and develop our commissioning frameworks to allow for smooth transitions at 16 years as 
they journey to adulthood.

Page 101



APPENDIX 2

44

Single Point of Access for All placements: 
To ensure we have a seamless process for all placements, in September 2019 the Children’s 
commissioning hub took responsibility for all 18+ Placements that were held within the leaving care 
service.    
.    This included:

 All 18 + placements within  semi-independent provision 
 Staying Put arrangements 
 Staying Close  developments 
 Crash Pads 
 Two independent  properties 

Over the next year – we intend to drive this work further by:

 Developing  a  virtual estate agent for care leavers, to get advice on housing,   report poor 
quality, concerns or  repairs about r property and also get  advice and guide about  moving 
on especially when they are leaving university,  or secured  employment 

 Establish a housing forum,  that will include,  working with housing officers,  districts, 
supporting people ,leaving care services and care experienced young people  to develop and 
manage  a  housing offer for vulnerable young people,  reducing /eliminating  the risk of 
homelessness. 

 Tender for a partner to manage and deliver  our   two  semi – independent  properties  
 Expand our in county property portfolio to include  dedicated accommodation for  Edge of 

care provision,    UASC  and  supported lodgings 
 Expand our current Staying Put offer for young people  in  foster care to stay with their 

families post  18yrs 
 To develop our residential market to offer our young people Staying Close arrangements for 

young people in placements post 18yrs.  
 To test the Staying Close arrangements within Trevone House, and embed this within future 

placement developments. 

Capital Projects   
As part of GCC Sufficiency Strategy “Right Placement First Time” - our ambition is to develop quality 
provision in county using a partnership approach with providers. Trevone House is our pilot project, 
which has been well received within the market securing a well established provider as our delivery 
partner, as well as gaining national interest as a model of best practice:  
The council is committed to expanding this work further with the intention to build on the success of 
Trevone House by Commissioning and developing a 3 year programme of capital projects which 
includes:  

 Development of residential home within county using the existing  Barnwood site, to 
development into  a registered  residential home,  for two young people with additional 
capacity within the grounds for emergency  provision  - 

 Reconfigure council assets to develop a second    site similar to Trevone, to provide support 
for our care leavers into semi-independent accommodation. 

 Reconfigure council assets to create  a    site    of excellence for early years, offering  
residential  parent and child  assessments,  a children centre and nursery  

There are other capital projects being developed with the Department of Health and NHSE, to 
provide provision and support in county for some of our most complex children and young people so 
they can stay with their families or have a lifetime home in county. 

Page 102



APPENDIX 2

45

Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2021/22
While having a substantial increase to the agency budget for 2020/21this still shows a large 
predicted overspend in addition to the increased funding. While some of this additional expenditure 
is due to the increase in the numbers of children in care, there has also been the impact of COVID-
19,   especially for young people who have reached their 18th birthday during 2020,   but have been 
unable to transfer into independent provision.  Efficiencies also need to be gained through better 
market management and purchasing. Commissioning continues to make savings through the review 
of packages of care for young people through High Cost Panel and 16 + panel which has made 
efficiencies during 2020/21 despite the new pressures. .

There were no efficiency targets for Children’s Commissioning for 2021/22, but we have embarked 
on trying to capture some efficiencies, which was predominantly in relation to better management 
oversight and governance for corporate spend, high cost placements, access to recourses and 
applying a standardised assessment criteria to joint funding arrangements. There will also be a key 
focus on planning earlier for young people who transition to adult services, beginning this work 
earlier within a child’s life, from the age of 14 years. 

Over the duration of the next financial year, children and families will continually review services to 
ensure we manage demand in the most effective and efficient way.

Looking Forward
In preparation for the full Ofsted inspection, Children’s Services are on a very structured 
improvement journey and the associated improvement plan has focused and driven our priorities.

We continue to strive to embed commissioning into practice and continue to work in partnership with 
internal and external partners to change practice and the overall outcomes for our children and 
young people. The implementation of our “How to guide” has provided clarity around practice and 
procedures relating to placement requests, writing a child or young person’s profile, and how to 
make requests for both emergency and planned needs.

While the latest Ofsted monitoring feedback acknowledged some key areas of improvement, there 
are still clear priority areas in relation to assessment and risks, especially to young people, so it is 
important we continue to work at pace to embed change. While the focus is particularly on the 
children in care population, the Council will also need to continue to respond to changes in 
Government funding for core education services as responsibility for school improvement continues 
to transfer to schools and academies. 

The new Children and Families Plan will underpin our wider strategic direction with our partners. 
During 2019/20 the Council reviewed our needs analysis and worked with all partners to develop 
both the Children and Families Plan and the Placement Sufficiency Strategy. Taking forward the 
priorities of our partnerships with a focus on prevention through to providing support for the most 
vulnerable and keeping children safe, the Children and Families Plan will have a family based focus 
and will frame the longer term commissioning strategy.

Delivering Change
The main drivers to our work in 2021/22 will be:

 To deliver against the OFSTED improvement plan pending full inspection
 Take forward the priorities identified in the forthcoming Children and Families Plan including 

areas identified in the JSNA.
 Implementing the changes in legislation outlined in the Children and Social Care Act 2017.
 Review transitions processes between children and adult services to develop a joint strategy for 

young people “preparing for adulthood” - in partnership with adult services, the Clinical 
Commissioning Group and partners. 

Page 103



APPENDIX 2

46

 Continue to deliver on the key priorities identified in the Sufficiency Strategy “Right placement 
First Time” 2018-2021.  Complete a full review and delivery a new  Sufficiency  Strategy for 
Gloucestershire   2022 -  2025 

 Deliver on priorities in the NHS Long Term Plan 2019 -2024.
 The Joint Additional Needs and High Needs Transformation Programme.
 Implementation of the Liberty Protection Safeguards introduced in the Mental Capacity 

(Amended Act) 2019 – for young people aged 16 years+.
 Improve services around children with special education needs and disabilities including EHCP, 

learning disabilities service, positive behavioural support, medical needs in schools and personal 
health, early years, placement for children with disabilities and additional needs.

 Continued implementation of the new Positive Behaviour Service for children with additional 
needs

 Continued Implementation and mobilisation of Trevone House, and the capital programme linked 
to our sufficiency strategy.

Specific Planned Activities
1. Review the first year of the strategy and align this to the continued implementation of the 

Sufficiency Strategy for Children’s Services. This is a whole system change and will 
include extensive market management and the development and reconfiguration of 
provision across the continuum of need, which will include:
 A new Early Help Strategy, to deliver a robust early help offer that is understood and 

implemented across all partners and services.  
 Support, scrutinise and challenge the Trevone House project in furtherance of our 

pledge to achieve the right placement first time for our care experienced young 
people.

 Edge of Care Services - reconfigure provision and where appropriate, prevent 
children and young people from coming into care. 

 Improved placement stability – through better planning and market developments. 
 Increasing the capacity of in-house fostering provision by 100 new households over 

the next three years. 
 An increase in placements offered in county to support children and young people to 

remain in local schools, with improved access to health services allowing children to 
stay connected to their families and communities. 

 Development of placement and support services provision in county to meet the 
needs of children and young people with additional needs, so where possible they 
can stay at home, and purchase services through direct payments and personal 
budgets. 

 The development of emergency provision to meet current needs, including the Out Of 
Hours and PACE (Police and Criminal Evidence) placements. 

 Development of the market for accommodation of young people to meet the new 
Duty for Care Leavers which comes into force from January 2019 - this will include 
UASC (Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children) young people.

 Redesign services for young people who are at risk of Missing and Exploitation, 
jointly with our partners. 

 Our commitment is to ensure young people are actively involved in the development, 
design and monitoring of ALL our contracts, services and tendering activities.

2. While in our latest Focus visits, inspectors confirmed that Commissioning is having   

Page 104



APPENDIX 2

47

positive impact on children’s and young people lives, this is still a key area of work for 
the commissioning hub who will continue to work in partnership with practice and 
strengthen the relationships further.

3.   Re-configuration and re-tendering of the Youth Support Service to achieve better more 
efficient focusing of youth provision for all young people in GCC. A one year contract 
extension was granted in response to the pandemic, with the intention of submitting a 
full retendering exercise in 2021.  

4. Development of a preventative pathway for young people in vulnerable circumstances, 
by working in partnership with Supporting People tendering process for young people 
aged 16 years and beyond.

5. Continue to work with colleagues across the partnership to implement the Joint Strategy 
for Children and Young People with Additional Needs ensuring seamless support for 
children and young people’s needs. This will include a focus on improving transitions to 
adult services for children with additional needs by ensuring they are supported to make 
a smooth transition into early adulthood.

6. The implementation of the new statutory guidance for young people leaving care, as 
stated within the new Children and Social Work Act 2017, which was required from 
January 2019. Requirements include:

 To publish an annual re-fresh of the authority’s “Leaving Care Offer”.
 Timely allocation of a Personal Advisor for all care leavers up to the age of 25 years - 

regardless of whether the young person intends to pursue education or training.
 A duty to carry out an assessment of the young person’s needs and to provide the 

necessary advice and support.
 Meeting the requirements for care leavers within the new Reducing Homelessness 

Act 2018. 
 To support practice to embed the new “Preparing for Independence” tools into 

practice. 
 To create Gloucestershire’s Leaving Care Strategy, and monitor progress.
 Support the implementation of Gloucestershire’s Trail Blazer in schools. 
 Work in partnership to monitor the delivery of wider young people’s mental health 

services within Gloucestershire as described within the Clinical Commissioning 
Group’s Long Term Plan. This will include extending the Mental Health in schools 
approach from Stroud into Gloucester City, working with partners on the self harm 
pathway and also looking at the mental health needs of children and young people 
who have suffered trauma and abuse.

7. Development of priorities in the NHS Long Term Plan, in particular, 
 Health screening and needs met for children and young people with a learning 

disability.
 Working with partners to increase annual health checks for those over 14 years with 

a learning disability.
 All children with learning disabilities and autism are supported by easily accessible 

ongoing care - this will encompass developing better pre diagnosis support, 

Page 105



APPENDIX 2

48

increased post diagnostic support and shorter waiting times for a diagnosis.
 Working with partners to ensure that there is a digital flag in patient records to ensure 

staff know a patient has an LD and/or autism.
 Children and young people with LD/autism with most complex needs have 

designated keyworker implementing Lenehan recommendations.
 Reduction of waiting times in learning disability services.
 Development of an agreed collaborative approach to funding packages of care 

across social care, health and education through PBENG (Personal Budget 
Exceptional Needs Group) and the Multi-agency Resource Panel.

 Development of the services to support medical needs in schools provision.

8. Update of the Childcare Sufficiency Strategy and associated action plan to deliver the 
anticipated rise in demand following the roll out of the free 30 hours entitlement.

 Work with the market to increase the take up of achieving 2 year old funded places.
 Roll out a new business and market management strategy to support the EY sector. 

This is especially key during and post COVID-19. (New additions)

9. Supporting children and young people in care to promote their health and wellbeing, in 
particular ensuring:

 Improved timeliness of initial and review health assessments.
 A streamlined process across social care and health professionals to ensure timely 

health assessments.
 A targeted approach to providing young people with a health passport to ensure they 

have their health information in one place.
 The emotional wellbeing and mental health of children in care is fully addressed in 

health care assessments, reviews and health plans, and in doing so, conducting a 
review of the Strengths and Difficulty Questionnaire (SDQ) process and how this can 
be developed as part of a patient centred pathway for mental health.

10. Work with Public Health Nursing and Education, to ensure the 2 – 2½ years integrated 
checks are fully embedded across the county.

11. Continue to deliver the Council’s statutory responsibilities for education which include:
 A significant expansion of mainstream primary and secondary school provision in 

Cheltenham and Gloucester – mix of new schools and expansion of existing schools.
 Building a new maintained special school for children with SEMH (Social, Emotional 

and Mental Health) needs and Autism.
 Shift of support for children with additional needs to early help and creation of primary 

hubs – passporting more high needs funding to schools. This is subject to Schools 
Forum agreement.

 Using the implementation of the Education Strategy to provide a whole system 
response to high quality education in the county.

12. Continue to embed ACE’s (Adverse Childhood Experiences) within all new Children’s 
Services contracts; rolling out the refined ACE’s tools, within services and partner 
agencies.

Page 106



APPENDIX 2

49

Embed ACES across the Social Work Academy and build on trauma informed practices 
within commissioning and across Children’s Services.

13. Following a successful pilot of the Family Plus Outcome Star within the Children and 
Family Centres Targeted Support offer in Stroud, Forest of Dean and Gloucester City, 
embed this practice and roll out to other providers in Cotswolds, Cheltenham and 
Tewkesbury areas to ensure they are meeting the threshold for support and families are 
having a consistent service and the service has measurable outcomes and impact of 
support.

14. Set up a process that will review the step up and step down work of the commissioned 
Children and Family Centres. This will involve auditing 10% of cases that have been 
open for over six months and or themes identified each month.

15. Continue to review the development of a Fostering Social Impact Bond (SIB) which will 
re-design fostering services in Gloucestershire and increase the number of foster carers 
recruited by the Council that will offer placements to children in Gloucestershire to 
enable children to stay close to their community, school and friends.

16. Continue to implement and monitor the suite of Panels, moving on to develop 
commissioning frameworks which will ensure procurement and governance 
requirements are met as well as achieving value for money and quality assurance, 
including the new spend for national COVID funding.

17. Scope the development of community hubs within Children and Family Centres where 
midwifery, health visitors and family support services can be aligned and staff are co-
located. This will support the development of family hubs emerging from the Early Help 
Strategy.

18. Embed a range of strategic changes within placements for children in care alongside 
the IPC work and revamped panel work including:

 Increase placement stability, continuity and sustainability throughout the child’s life-
long journey in care.

 To have a sufficient number of beds in order to adequately meet the accommodation 
needs for the growing number of children in care.

 To increase access and sustainability of more accommodation provisions, to further 
improve the quality of support required to better prepare children in care for their 
transition towards independence/leaving care.

 To ensure that the voices, wishes and feelings of our children in care/care leavers 
that were ascertained throughout the development of the Sufficiency Strategy (Right 
Placement First Time), are embedded into practice to further improve the 
experiences children and young people are likely to encounter. 

 The implementation of measurable tools, i.e. (Young Peoples Outcome Star) is to be 
imbedded in placements so as to better monitor the outcomes for Children in 
Care/Care Leavers an to inform the commissioning of support packages so they are 

Page 107



APPENDIX 2

50

needs led to achieve good outcomes for our young people’s journey to adulthood.

19. Children in Care and Edge of Care, our improvement plan includes building resilience 
by supporting families where appropriate to remain together with the right support:

 Expansion of the Family Group Conference Services will support families earlier and 
be a county wide provision.

 Additional resources will be available for special guardianships.
 The Social Work Academy will continue to drive best practice, develop and grow our 

social work workforce, to give our children, young people and their families’ continuity 
in practice, stability and a good Children’s Services offer.

20. SEND needs analysis strategy to consider the development of additional specialist 
placements to meet increasingly complex needs.

21. Redesign of the alternative provision school system and approach for children at risk of 
exclusion from school.

22. A review of Speech and Language and Mental Health support provided to children and 
schools to identify and respond to emerging needs; including a review of the 
neurodisability diagnostic pathway.

Over the past year the Children and Families Integrated Commissioning Hub has developed 
a dynamic commissioning model that responds to both the longer term strategic needs of 
the departments as well as emerging needs of the service and complex individuals. This 
approach has allowed innovation to take place supporting Gloucestershire County Council’s 
aspiration for a Good Children’s Service.

Page 108



APPENDIX 2

51

Annex 1.3

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure Commissioning Intentions 2021/22

Context

The Economy, Environment & Infrastructure (EEI) Directorate supports the long-term delivery of 
sustainable economic growth across the county.  We ensure communities can connect with, access 
and use local services; enable the delivery of new housing and employment sites; create 
opportunities for business innovation; support individuals to retrain and learn; protecting and 
enhancing the green, built and historic environment of the county and push for a carbon free future.  

In addition to the delivery of place changing services which enable the county to grow and prepare 
for the future, the Directorate has a strong regulatory roll which is particularly important in terms of 
place making and ensuing that areas are pleasant to live and normal life can exist, services such as 
parking services, registration and planning enforcement have a large impact on peoples lives and 
have been heavily involved in the response to Covid-19.

The total budget for 2021/22 is £157.644 million.  

Essentially we ensure places are effective and efficient.  We do this by:

 Helping to plan and provide the infrastructure and services needed to support long-term 
sustainable growth;

 Supporting people and communities to feel safe and empowered by creating a sense of place;
 Enabling people and communities to access essential services locally;
 Delivering opportunities for training, learning and upskilling to support inclusive growth;
 Providing choices for how people connect with and access places either by driving, walking, 

cycling or using passenger transport;
 Managing the municipal waste stream to Reduce, Reuse, Recycle and Recover waste; and
 Leading the strategy and actions to help address the climate emergency whilst building the 

resilience to adapt to climate change, protect homes and businesses in emergencies, and 
recover quickly when they happen.

We along with our partners are not only responsible for delivering today’s services, but also 
designing those services and infrastructure requirements necessary to provide for and enable 
communities in the future.  We engage and help implement a range of strategies including: the Joint 
Core Strategy, Local Industrial Strategy, Municipal Waste Management Strategy, Gloucestershire 
Energy Strategy, Digital Strategy, Air Quality & Health Strategy, Local Transport Plan and the 
Gloucestershire 2050 Vision.  

Work at regional level is also of increasing importance as we build resilience into our economy and 
we will continue to work with colleagues across the Western Gateway economic and transport 
Bodies to support this.

Strategic Direction

It is essential we continue to plan for a sustainable future.  As a Directorate we need to avoid taking 
actions in response to the immediate challenges posed by Covid-19 that may later negatively impact 

Page 109



APPENDIX 2

52

our ability to deliver sustainable growth.  

Covid-19 has impacted all elements of work delivered across the Directorate and the legacy of 
Covid-19 will have a profound impact on how EEI operates in the long-term.  This includes how 
transport is provided as use of passenger transport networks remains low and dependent on 
additional financial support both from the council and the Department for Transport.

As a Directorate we will steer the council’s response to supporting the local economy and 
maintaining employment opportunities.  We will manage this process by implementing the Covid-19 
Economic Recovery Plan which focuses on targeted sectoral support; accelerated broadband roll 
out to improve connectivity and ease of trading; and the reorienting of skills.  This will be supported 
by expanding our network of library growth hubs set up to make business support more simplified 
and accessible, to every corner of Gloucestershire.

In addition we will continue to meet the needs of our adult learners by delivering outstanding 
learning, inspiring individuals and transforming the lives of communities and employers.  This will 
enable adults within Gloucestershire to improve their lives through life-changing education, providing 
a range of high quality programmes, leading to progressive learning and enhanced employment 
skills.

We will also continue to use libraries as expanded centres of learning with the roll out of the 
Innovation Labs and supporting our Adult Education service to provide localised training and 
research support facilities for businesses to better help rural isolation issues and address economic 
recovery due to Covid-19.

The decision taken during the first wave of the Covid-19 crisis to continue to progress, and in some 
cases accelerate, our ambitious major infrastructure projects portfolio has ensured that the county 
will benefit from significant inward investment during 2021/22 intended to remove barriers to the 
delivery of new homes and the creation of new employment opportunities. 

Our expanded major projects team will focus across three different work streams – one team will 
concentrate on the strategic road network projects such as M5 J10 and J9, whilst a second team will 
be directed to large projects on the local network, such as West of Cheltenham Transport 
Infrastructure Scheme, and finally a third specialist team on major structures and geotechnical 
projects like A46 Coopers Hill and Lydbrook Bridge.  There is a focus over the next 12 months on 
building and developing the permanent team with the skillset to deliver highway projects for GCC on 
an unprecedented scale.

The way people connect and use their local communities is likely to change during the recovery 
phase of Covid-19.  It is important that we are able to be responsive to this change, while continuing 
to deliver the council’s priorities.  As a Directorate we will need to be brave to innovate and take 
risks where there is a strong case for influencing behaviours where they do not support sustainable 
behaviours.  This is especially relevant as we manage our transport network to recover from the 
impacts of Covid-19 while balancing the need to reduce transport derived carbon emissions as part 
of commitment to be carbon ‘Net Zero’ by 2030.

During 2020/21 we continued to progress the Gloucestershire Climate Change Strategy which will 
now guide our priorities for 2021/22.  This includes: managing the £1m Climate Change & Air Quality 
Action Fund; support delivery of the Gloucestershire Local Nature Partnership’s Tree Strategy which 
includes a target of 20% tree canopy cover by 2030 through planting 35m trees: Develop the 
Gloucestershire Carbon Offsetting Scheme and implement the Electric Vehicle Infrastructure 
Strategy. 

The planning of places is critical to successful developments and sustainable living and we will 

Page 110



APPENDIX 2

53

continue to work with our partners to support the production of long-term growth plans.  It is not just 
how a development looks and feels, but how it connects and functions with its neighbouring areas 
when accessing education, culture, training and employment opportunities.  If this is considered 
early on it can have a long term positive impact on an individual’s health and wellbeing, creating 
vibrant and resilient communities which are less dependent upon stretched public services. 

Our commissioning strategy is to:
 Build positive relationships with partners, contractors and communities to enable us deliver a 

sustainable future;
 Use our network of library growth hubs and Adult Education Service to support Gloucestershire 

residents and businesses recover from the economic effects of Covid-19; and
 Provide leadership to tackle the challenges of climate change, demographics, community safety, 

housing and transport.

Needs analysis

Gloucestershire has a prosperous and resilient economy set within a highly attractive natural 
environment, which offers a high standard of living for local residents.  The population of 
Gloucestershire was estimated to be around 637,070 in 20191.  Assuming current population trends 
continue, ONS projections suggest that the population in Gloucestershire will reach 683,849 by 2028 
and 738,482 by 20432.  As the population continues to grow it brings with it an increased demand for 
services, jobs, houses and more, and opportunities for increased productivity and investment.

The dominating feature of population projections for 2018 to 2043 is the sharp increase in population 
in the age group 65 or over, which is projected to increase from 134,973 in 2018 to 205,865 in 2043 
(an increase of 52.5%). The working age population (aged 20-64) is projected to rise by only 6.5% 
over the same period. This growth is slower than the national trend for this group and means that by 
2043 the working population in Gloucestershire will have fallen from 56.2% of the population to 
51.4% of the population3.

Although Gloucestershire generally benefits from a high standard of living, this is not evenly 
distributed across the county, and pockets of deprivation do exist particularly in the main urban 
areas and in some of the market towns4.

A strong economy is essential if we are to realise the potential that employment has to improve the 
health of the local population. Gross Value Added (GVA) is a measure of the value of goods and 
services produced in an economy and is the main indicator used to monitor the overall economic 
wellbeing of an area. The total GVA of the Gloucestershire economy was approximately £16.54 
billion in 2018, representing 12% of the value of output in the South West and 1% of the UK 
economy. According to latest figures, GVA per head in Gloucestershire was £26,101, which was 
above the South West (£24,891) and below the UK average (£28,729)5. 

There are around 29,8856 businesses in the county supporting a workforce of approximately 
302,000 people7. The majority of the businesses in the county are small, with 89% employing less 
than 9 people8; this reflects the picture at national level.  Both manufacturing and health are 

1Mid 2019 Population Estimates, ONS
2 2018 based Sub National Population Projections, ONS
3 Ibid
4 Indices of Multiple Deprivation 2019, MHCLG
5 Regional gross value added (balanced) per head and income components, ONS
6 UK Business Counts 2020, ONS
7 Business Register and Employment Survey, ONS
8 UK Business Counts 2020, ONS

Page 111



APPENDIX 2

54

significant sectors in terms of employment accounting for 11.6% and 13.9% of employment 
respectively9. Other major sectors include education, construction and retail. There is a positive 
entrepreneurial culture in Gloucestershire, businesses starting up have very high survival rates with 
90.5% of businesses born in 2017 surviving 1 year and 46.6% of business born in 2013 surviving 5 
years, this compares to a national average of 89.1% and 42.5% respectively10.

Essential services are those necessary to ensure the full social inclusion of people in society. 
Gloucestershire has around 3,300 miles of roads11 and over a quarter of a million households.  Over 
40,000 households are without a car or van to enable them to access essential services12. 

The county’s natural environment is a valuable resource. The rural nature of the county is what 
attracts many residents to the area and facilitates access to open space improving health and 
wellbeing; however it can also create problems of accessibility and isolation. This can affect all parts 
of the population, and is a particular problem for people who rely on public transport and the elderly.  
Managing bus service provision and ensuring internet access is essential to keep communities 
joined up to local essential services. 

Pollution poses a threat to the natural environment and the health of the population. Air quality in 
Gloucestershire is generally good; however there are Air Quality Management Areas (AQMA) in 
place in all districts with the exception of Stroud. Whilst vehicles are getting cleaner vehicle trips 
have increased and little progress has been made towards reducing emissions here over the past 
decade. The AQMA’s are located in urban areas or in the case of the Cotswold’s at the A417 Air 
Balloon major road junction; three AQMA’s are located in areas of high deprivation, with studies 
showing that those who pollute the least are affected the most.

There is evidence that noise pollution can lead to a range of health problems including increased 
stress, strokes, high blood pressure and heart attacks.  The county has low levels of population 
exposed to road, rail and air transport noise pollution both during the day (3.4% of the population) 
and at night (5.9% of the population). This is broadly in line with the regional average and below the 
national average13.

Climate change predictions suggest incidences of flooding will become more frequent and pressure 
to provide more housing means new housing developments are being built on land vulnerable to 
flooding. In addition to increasing the frequency of flood events, predictions also suggest climate 
change will mean the UK will experience hotter, drier summers and warmer, wetter winters 
alongside more extreme weather events with floods, storms and heat waves of greater severity and 
frequency. 

In 2018 Gloucestershire’s carbon dioxide emissions stood at 5.3 tonnes per capita, this was slightly 
higher than the regional and national totals of 54.8 and 5.0 tonnes per capita14. Considerable work 
has been undertaken in recent years to reduce carbon dioxide emissions to mitigate the impact of 
climate change; this action has seen emissions in Gloucestershire fall from 8.2 tonnes per capita in 
2005 to 5.3 tonnes in 2018. 

The disposal of waste is an important environmental issue due to the pressures created by the use 
of transport and landfill sites, which includes the emission of methane, carbon dioxide and other 
greenhouse gases. Around 285,000 tonnes of household waste is produced in Gloucestershire each 
year. The projected increase in population and continued economic development means this figure 

9 Business Register and Employment Survey, ONS
10 Business Demography, ONS
11 Draft LTP
12 2011 Census, ONS
13 Public Health Outcomes Framework, PHE
14 UK local authority and regional carbon dioxide emissions national statistics: 2005-2018, BEIS

Page 112



APPENDIX 2

55

is likely to increase over the coming years. The Javelin Park Energy from Waste facility will 
significantly reduce the county’s dependence on landfilling, whilst recovering value from waste in the 
form of electricity, recyclable metals, and aggregate. A countywide recycling rate of 52% remains 
above the national average of 44%15.

Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS)

While continuing to seek service efficiencies and delivering our savings plan, we will invest in 
initiatives that support inclusive growth by engaging with people and delivering improvements in 
social infrastructure (homes, education, library services and, vocational skills).  This will ensure 
place based and wider social care services that are fit for today and prepared for the future.  
Similarly, we will continue to support the Employment and Skills Board to provide the workforce of 
the future, while attracting and retaining employers.

There is a need for strong collaborative partnerships with the Local Planning Authorities and GFirst 
LEP to ensure that infrastructure investment supports and enables planned housing and 
employment land. However, the scale of growth needs to be delivered in the context of reducing and 
mitigating the impacts of climate change and the delivery of council services; therefore in parallel 
with promoting growth our approach will need to include measures to more effectively influence 
consumer behaviour and manage future demand.

To support this we need to continue to invest in business case development for large strategic 
transport projects designed to enable growth by removing existing pinch points and separating 
strategic travel demand from local transport networks. The challenge of attracting government 
funding for these types of schemes is only going to be more competitive as we compete nationally 
for investment.

Looking Forward

The national landscape is uncertain as we recover from the Covid-19 pandemic and adjust to the 
UK’s exit from the EU. To mitigate the impacts at a local level we must provide leadership when 
working with our partners to ensure local infrastructure, environment and industrial strategies align 
and strengthen the case for investment in Gloucestershire.  

We will continue to work with government to make the case for investing in Gloucestershire - sharing 
our best practice to make a positive difference, creating solutions, bidding/securing funding, advising 
and advocating where needed. Our positive relationships with partners, contractors and 
communities are enabling us to deliver and transform our services targeting investment based on 
need. 

Commissioning Intentions 2021/22

Highways

 Continue to maintain and operate the highway and Public Rights of Way networks effectively and 
efficiently 

 Complete the delivery of the £150m highway improvements pledge 
 Continue to deal proactively with ash die back across the network
 Deliver major transport projects to enable economic growth including M5 J10 and the wide 

ranging capital portfolio including bridge and geotechnical schemes as well as projects to 
support district councils across Gloucestershire

15 Local Authority Collected Waste Statistics, DEFRA

Page 113



APPENDIX 2

56

 Deliver major active travel schemes to facilitate the use of cycling when accessing key services 
and employment opportunities

 Continue to support apprentices and the growth of construction skills through the delivery of the 
Highways Skills Academy

 Strengthen governance arrangements between council and contractors to optimise collaborative 
working practices, improve delivery performance and increase customer satisfaction.

Strategic Infrastructure

 Influence Strategic Road Network & Rail Investment decisions
 Produce the Outline Business Case for M5 Junction 9 required by the Department for Transport 

by the end of 2021 to seek the necessary £300m required for delivery of the scheme
 Continue to support Highways England in the delivery of the A417 Missing Link scheme
 Ensure Cyber Park transport schemes are delivered to time and to budget
 Support the review of Local Plans including the Joint Core Strategy 
 Deliver Broadband to isolated properties through Fastershire project
 Implement the Minerals Local Plan review & embark on a review of the Waste Local Plan
 Ensure that development is sustainable by protecting the natural and historic environment
 Continue to invest in flood alleviation schemes and measures throughout the county
 Take a leading role in the challenge and review of Community Infrastructure Levy policies with 

the districts to ensure that income from developments for the provision of strategic infrastructure 
and transport to mitigate against the negative impacts of development is maintained at an 
adequate level

Community Infrastructure

 Lead development of the Climate Change Strategy and action plan
 Deliver walking and cycling initiatives to maximise use including School Streets
 Deliver electric vehicle charging infrastructure
 Upgrade the existing Urban Traffic Control system for Cheltenham and Gloucester
 Deliver Bus Service Strategy to manage passenger transport demand during the Covid-19 

recovery phase
 Provide Home to School transport for 5,800 children with personalised transport plans to create 

socially distanced travel bubbles to enable children to return safely to school

Library and Registration Service

 Develop new 5 year library strategy to replace the 2012 strategy
 Help businesses and individuals to support economic recovery through the introduction of an 

Intellectual Property service, promotion and marketing of The Growth Hub @ The Library and the 
creation of new Innovation Labs.  Introduce Innovation Stations to libraries to provide access to 
increased online content.

 Expand digital and virtual services and activities available through Libraries and the Innovation 
Lab

 Introduce increased customer self service options to libraries and registration ensuring they 
operate as COVID secure environments.

 Expand the strong network between education/businesses and communities to enable increased 
digital growth through the network of library innovation labs

 Support the County Council’s Climate Change Strategy through provision of information in local 
communities

 Introduce a Scheduled Marriage system and contribute to the Law Commission consultation on 
Weddings Law

Page 114



APPENDIX 2

57

 Support venues and couples to marry or form a Civil Partnership in COVID secure environments

Waste Management 

 Manage and deliver waste treatment contracts to ensure that waste is managed in line with the 
waste hierarchy – reduced, reused, recycled or recovered. Key contracts include:

o Green waste composting;
o Anaerobic Digestion of food waste; and
o Energy from Waste

 Review and renew the site management contract with Ubico for the operation of Household 
Recycling Centres

 Develop and support the new Gloucestershire Resources and Waste Partnership with district 
councils, working in partnership to deliver:

o A new Resources and Waste Strategy for Gloucestershire; and
o A shared communications plan for the promotion of waste prevention and recycling 

messages across the county
 Help reduce the transmission of Covid-19 and continue to protect public health by providing 

waste treatment infrastructure and a network of HRCs that have robust Covid-19 plans and 
control measures in place

Skills and Employment

 Widen our participation in learning by helping adults to overcome the barriers that prevent them 
from successfully taking part in learning – whether the learning is for personal development, 
family support or in connection with employment  

 Provide high quality training and support for employers in the county that helps meet their 
business objectives

 Ensure that learning opportunities are flexible and responsive to people’s needs so that they may 
participate, achieve their goals, and progress to further participation and achievement if they so 
wish

 Ensure that learning opportunities and the accompanying support for learners fit with local, 
regional and national priorities and are of high quality

 Deliver an efficient and effective service which maximises the resources available to pay for 
adult learning in the county

 Implement operational plans supporting the priorities of the Gloucestershire Employment and 
Skills Board

 Work with local employers to create new apprenticeships
 Devise and provide a digital skills strategy, building on the strengths of the Gloucestershire 

economy in terms of cyber and digital.

Page 115



APPENDIX 2

58

Annex 1.4

Community Safety Commissioning Intentions 2021/22

Context
As the Fire and Rescue Authority, Gloucestershire County Council has a legal duty to 
ensure that a highly effective Fire and Rescue Service is available to our communities at all 
times. The 2020/21 net revenue budget to run this service was £17.5m.
The Government outlines expectations of English Fire & Rescue Services through the Fire 
and Rescue National Framework for England. The key priorities set out in the Framework 
include: 

 Identifying and assessing the full range of foreseeable fire and rescue related risks 
that Gloucestershire faces. 

 Making appropriate provision for fire prevention and protection activities and 
response to fire and rescue related incidents. 

 Collaborating with emergency services and other local and national partners to 
increase efficiency and effectiveness of service provision. 

 Being accountable to the communities of Gloucestershire for the service we provide. 
 Developing and maintaining a workforce that is resilient, skilled, flexible and diverse.

Locally, the direction is set by the Council Strategy 2019-2022 ‘Working with 
Communities and Localities’. The priorities include:
 Encouraging and extending the use of our fire stations as community hubs.
 Targeting community safety advice and support to ‘at risk’ groups.
 Further developing the innovative work of the Fire and Rescue Service in identifying 

vulnerable people and helping them to stay safe and well in their homes.

The Fire and Rescue Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP) 2018-21 is a statutory 
document outlining how we match our resources to risks within the county and detailing our 
objectives which are to:

 Increase the focus on prevention and protection initiatives.
 Explore, further develop and maximise opportunities to collaborate with partners and 

other stakeholders.
 Reconfigure and reform our Service.

The County Council has agreed that a one year Community Safety Plan for 21/22 will be 
published based on the current IRMP objectives.  This will align the refresh of the IRMP to 
the Council Strategy which will then set the direction for 2022-2025.
The Fire and Rescue service will build on the recommendations from both the 
comprehensive audit carried out by Gloucestershire County Council and the recent 
inspection by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabularies and Fire and Rescue Services 
(HMICFRS).  

Page 116



APPENDIX 2

59

Needs Analysis
Our risk information comes from a variety of sources. Currently, the National Fire Chiefs 
Council are leading a project on identifying data sets that allow us to assess all of the risks 
to our county to ensure we have resources that can respond most effectively. We will review 
our data sources and ensure it informs our professional judgment when we decide on the 
most suitable protection, prevention and emergency response arrangements to put in place 
to maintain risk at an acceptable level. 

What are the risks?

 Injury or death to residents and visitors
 Damage to property
 Disruption to business impacting on the economy of Gloucestershire
 Loss of built and / or natural heritage
 Social impact on communities
 Firefighter safety
 Loss of infrastructure
 Impact on our environment

Gloucestershire is a diverse county covering 2,653 square km and hosting a population of 
approximately 633,600.

The county is divided into six districts, City of Gloucester, Cheltenham, Forest of Dean, 
Tewkesbury, Cotswold and Stroud with the main urban centres being Gloucester and 
Cheltenham where approximately 40% of the county’s population live. 

It is an extremely attractive place to live and work, with many residents spread across a 
number of small market towns, villages and hamlets in areas surrounded by countryside.

Population growth remains steady and is predicted to rise by another 7.1% between 2016 
and 2036. Gloucestershire is also predicted to have a higher than average number of over 
65 year olds, rising by 30,500 to reach 160,200 by 2026. This increase in a higher risk 
group, coupled with the Government’s desire to deliver ‘personalised’ services to the elderly 
will have a direct impact on the county’s ability to support and deliver services, such as 
nursing and social care that support safe and independent living. 

While the county has some wealthy areas, there are pockets of significant deprivation in 
Cheltenham and Gloucester with rural deprivation found in the Forest of Dean. There is a 
proven link between social deprivation and the occurrence of fire. 

Over the last 10 years, population growth has been concentrated in the urban areas 
although there is now a growing tendency towards residential development in more rural 
locations.
There are a number of factors which contribute to the county’s risk profile including:

 National Risk Assessment 

Page 117



APPENDIX 2

60

The National Risk Assessment is intended to capture the range of emergencies that might 
have a major impact on all, or significant parts, of the UK. It provides a national picture of 
the risks we face and is designed to complement our local Community Risk Register. The 
driver for this work is the Civil Contingencies Act 2004, which defines the meaning of 
‘emergencies’ and what duties and responsibilities are placed on us so that we can prepare 
for them. Risks covered in the assessment include: severe weather, pandemics, animal 
disease, major accidents and malicious attacks including cyber-attack and acts of terrorism.

 Local Community Risk Register 

Our Local Community Risk Register looks at the likelihood and potential impact of a range 
of hazards occurring in specific areas. It is approved and published by our Local Resilience 
Forum (LRF), which includes representatives from local emergency services, public, private 
and voluntary organisations. In order to produce the Community Risk Register, the LRF use 
a combination of local knowledge about each risk, as well as guidance provided by central 
government drawn from the National Risk Assessment.

 Critical National Infrastructure 

With its national resilience capability, the Service is part of the response to maintain critical 
infrastructure in the event of any of the identified risks becoming a reality. Joint working with 
utility companies and private businesses has been carried out with the LRF and Fire Safety 
Enforcement, to provide advice to promote business continuity and resilience. 

 Severe Weather 

As the devastating flood of 2007 demonstrated, communities in Gloucestershire are at risk 
from the on-going effects of climatic change. Plans to deal with these events are in place 
and reviewed on a regular basis.

Looking Forward

An extensive Improvement Plan is being prepared following the outcome of the HMICFRS 
report. There are two key areas of concern which we are currently focussing on, our 
protection strategy and improving the culture of the Service by embedding new values and 
identifying acceptable behaviours.

Our long-term expectations are captured in the national fire vision which all fire and rescue 
services are endeavouring to attain. This includes:

 Developing and broadening our role and partnerships, modernising the response, 
prevention and protection service for the 21st century.

 Increasing our range of interventions, building on experience in delivering prevention 
work based on local needs and risks.

 Continuing to play key roles in enforcing fire safety, maintaining a sustainable fire 
service and recognising the need for a staff establishment sufficient to manage fire 
risk.

Page 118



APPENDIX 2

61

 Recruiting, retaining and developing a workforce that reflects the communities it 
serves and developing an inclusive culture which supports everyone to do their best.

 Endeavouring to be the partner of choice, working with others to shape our places, 
delivering increasing value for money and exemplifying effective joint working to meet 
local and national risks efficiently.

Delivering change
Our commissioning intentions for 2021/22 are:

 Continued implementation of the Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service Integrated 
Risk Management Plan (2018-21) through the development of a one year Community 
Safety Plan 2021/22.

 Responding to the outcomes of the HM Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and 
Rescue Services (HMICFRS) report.

 Reviewing our fire appliance and light fleet strategy.

Specific planned activities for 2021/22 include:
 Further developing and maximising opportunities to collaborate with partners and 

other stakeholders. 
 A complete review of risk across the county in order to publish an up to date IRMP in 

2022.
 Implementation of the HMICFRS Improvement Plan in order to address concerns 

raised.
 Complete the update of the fire control room mobilising technology. The update will 

increase functionality, improve data capture and utilisation of resources.
 Undertaking a comprehensive review of the operational fleet to ensure that it meets 

current and future operational needs aligned to risk.
 Establishing and implementing an organisational development strategy to further 

improve the culture, inclusivity and behaviours of the Service
 Strengthening links with the wider County Council, particularly Corporate Resources.
 Evaluate and review the 20/21 restructure to ensure it meets the correct staffing 

levels required to effectively deliver the functions and strategic objectives of the 
Service.

Page 119



APPENDIX 2

62

Annex 1.5 
Prevention, Wellbeing and Communities (PWC) Commissioning Intentions 2021-22

Responding to the pandemic

As we deal with the ongoing pandemic, the impacts of which are likely to be with us for 
some time to come, this will require all our resilience to protect our most vulnerable and 
drive up our economy. There is great strength within our communities, as we have seen 
again recently, and we must make the most of those strengths.

Covid-19 has shone a light on inequalities.   We quickly saw evidence emerging of a 
disproportionate impact on different parts of society; for example, older people, men and 
some geographic areas. But by far the biggest impact was seen in people from Black, Asian 
and minority ethnic backgrounds. Sadly, we have seen a higher number of COVID-19 
cases, deaths, hospitalisations and complications in members of these communities. Black 
and Asian people were between 2.5 and 3 times more likely to be admitted to hospitals in 
the county with Covid-19 than White people of the same age.  

It is important that we seize this opportunity to focus on tackling inequalities and that the 
learning from the first wave informs not only GCC actions but those of the local system for 
the second wave.  The 2020 Annual Report of the Director of Public Health focuses on the 
impact of Covid-19 on the BAME community and provides some clear recommendations.   
Work is also happening via the Health and Wellbeing Board and within the Integrated Care 
System.

The Covid-19 pandemic has provided an opportunity to not only strengthen existing 
community and voluntary groups but for new groups to flourish.  The shared aim of 
supporting each other through a global crisis has brought about tangible gains in terms of 
the County’s vibrant VCSE sector.  The challenge now is to sustain this.

As part of our response to Covid-19 we have developed the Local Outbreak Management 
Plan (LOMP) which provides the local road map for the system to prevent, contain, monitor 
and respond to outbreaks of Covid-19, alongside our Gloucestershire partners. This also 
includes our work to address health inequalities through the Covid-19 BAME Task and 
Finish Group, to understand the impact of Covid-19 on these communities. 

Whilst our usual priorities, including our mandated functions remain important, much of our 
resources have had to be re-focussed on the response to Covid-19. And we will be unlikely 
to make a complete return to ‘business as usual’ in the near future.

The Covid-19 crisis initiated a new wave of volunteer and community action across the 
county.  The Gloucestershire Community Help Hub received 3500 individuals signing up to 
give help to their neighbours and communities.  Voluntary sector and community groups 
swiftly switched to remote support for vulnerable people via digital platforms. Staff from all of 
the Gloucestershire local authorities were redeployed, including Firefighters volunteering for 
a range of other activities from delivery logistics to management of mobile testing units. 

Page 120



APPENDIX 2

63

This demonstrated not only the dedication and commitment of both staff and the public to 
serving their communities but also the value of joint working to resource operations flexibly 
and the value of strong partnerships in delivering vital services.
Context – background to Prevention, Wellbeing and Communities

The three domains of public health; health improvement; health protection and health care 
public health, became part of local government’s public health function in 2013. 
Gloucestershire County Council has a statutory duty to promote the health of the 
Gloucestershire population, and responsibility for commissioning specific public health 
services, supported by a ring-fenced grant, which was extended to include new 
responsibilities for 0-5 year olds (health visiting) in 2015.  

In 2016 the commissioning hubs were formed and the public health function was aligned 
with the commissioning function for the provision of support for people in vulnerable 
circumstances.  This provision had previously been commissioned both under the auspices 
of Public Health targeted services and the Supporting People Strategy 2011 – 2015 as 
overseen by the Supporting People Partnership Board, made up of district councils, health, 
Probation and the Council.

The learning and experience gained through the implementation of the Settled, Secure and 
Safe Lives in Gloucestershire Policy has informed the Council’s approach to working with 
people, communities and partners to ensure provision of support to people in vulnerable 
circumstances and commits the Council to:

 a joined up and complementary approach to respond to need, providing information and 
support for people to do more for themselves and their families;

 investing in community capacity to provide support where people live;
 reconnecting adults with their community;
 using intensive support to promote recovery and long term stability; and making a lasting 

difference and targeting specialist help on those with complex needs

In 2020/21, the public health grant available was £24.281m which included an allocation for 
‘Agenda for Change’ pay implications on contracts with NHS health providers. No details 
have been received on the provisional allocation for 2021/22 so the same grant total has 
been assumed at this point. The allocation is based on a national formula linked to health 
inequality and health need.  The Prevention, Wellbeing and Communities Hub also holds 
£10.105m commissioning budget for people in vulnerable circumstances and wider hub 
activities. During 2020/21 additional grants were received to fund new responsibilities for 
test and trace activities in response to the COVID-19 pandemic with £2.221m being 
received to fund the Local Management Outbreak Plan and further funding being 
announced by the DHSC to support proactive containment and intervention measures linked 
to tier levels at £1 per head of population at the medium tier. Other additional expenditure 
for COVID-19 covers three main areas, shelter for the homeless, additional commissioned 
mental health services and mortuary planning costs at an estimated cost of £1.465m which 
will be offset by the COVID-19 general grant received by the Council.

The public health grant is spent on activities whose main or primary purpose is to positively 
impact on the health and wellbeing of the local population, with the aim of reducing health 
inequalities in local communities. 

Page 121



APPENDIX 2

64

Specifically, Gloucestershire County Council is required to deliver a number of mandated 
functions:

 appropriate access to sexual health services
 health protection assurance functions delegated from the Secretary of State
 ensuring NHS commissioners receive population public health advice (CCG core offer)
 the National Child Measurement Programme (NCMP)
 ensuring those eligible are invited to receive an NHS Health Check
 five mandated points of contact through the health visiting (0-5) service

The conditions of the public health grant also identify further requirements, such as 
improving outcomes from drug and alcohol treatment services and oral health promotion.

The remaining budget is to ensure provision for those that have poor life experiences 
creating vulnerabilities from which they may or may not recover.  The gap in living well, 
between them and others, can be wide and difficult to close without help from those around 
them to resolve issues and build on their strengths.  This investment funds services which 
help support individuals and families to aspire to and achieve independent living and social 
and economic resilience; and being part of and sustained by their community connections 
and relationships.  

Strategic Direction

Whilst our usual priorities, including our mandated functions remain important, much of our 
resources have had to be re-focussed on the response to Covid-19, and we won’t make a 
full return to our usual activities in the near future.

Nationally, the strategy for Public Health in England was laid out in the Government’s White 
Paper Healthy Lives, Healthy People (2010). More recently the Prevention Green Paper 
Advancing Our Health – Prevention in the 2020s (2019) and the NHS Long Term Plan 
(2019) drive the strategic direction. 

Locally, our system’s strategic ambition is reflected in the vision presented in 
Gloucestershire’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy: that “Gloucestershire is a place where 
everyone can live well, be healthy and thrive”. This strategy has been refreshed during 2019 
and continues to focus on tackling inequalities but also maximising the resources available 
from the Health and Wellbeing Board member organisations to tackle ‘wicked issues’ in our 
system.

Another key strategic driver is the Integrated Care System.  One Gloucestershire: 
Transforming Care, Transforming Communities, describes the vision for how publically 
funded health and social care services can support a healthier Gloucestershire, that is 
socially and economically strong and vibrant, to achieve an improved and more sustainable 
health and care system.  The PWC Hub will continue to play a key role in influencing the 
Integrated Care System and will participate in the development and delivery of the Long 
Term Plan, in particular leading its prevention and self-care plan through both the 
commissioning of services that contribute to the prevention of health and care needs and 
providing systems leadership on key societal health issues. In addition the emerging 
enabling work stream of population health management means that all the constituent 

Page 122



APPENDIX 2

65

organisations are working together to better understand the data and intelligence they hold, 
how this can be used to manage demand on the health and care system and therefore 
target preventative services.
Recent national strategic drivers to prevent the (repeat) risk of harm to people in vulnerable 
circumstances include:

 Ending Violence Against Women and Girls Strategy 2016 – 19; and impending 
legislation for domestic abuse – including provisions for male victims;

 Serious Violence Prevention Strategy 2018 – focusing on prevention and early 
intervention as one of the four main themes. This is also underpinned by guidance on 
public health approach to reducing violence;

 Rough Sleepers Strategy 2018 - The rough sleeping strategy sets out the government’s 
vision for halving rough sleeping by 2022 and ending it by 2027;

 Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 - modifies and extends existing homelessness 
protection;

 Children Social Care Act 2017 – extension of duties for care leavers up to 25

The Prevention, Wellbeing and Communities Hub is undertaking piece of work to review our 
‘ways of working’ including how we are configured as a team and how we allocate our 
officer resource. As part of this we have agreed the following vision and approach to guide 
our commissioning and wider influencing and enabling roles.

Our Vision:

Helping to make Gloucestershire a place where everyone can be healthy, feel safe, and 
flourish.

Our Approach:

1. Influencing and enabling colleagues, partners and communities to embed prevention, 
and reduce health inequalities, through all we do 

2. Learning from experience and promoting evidence-based change
3. Collaborating with communities and other stakeholders to make the most of all of 

Gloucestershire’s assets
4. Creative commissioning that enables individuals and communities to act for 

themselves; building confidence, aspiration and resilience
5. Tackling the root causes of problems to develop more sustainable solutions.
6. Balancing the allocation of resources with delivering improved quality and outcomes
7. Adopting a proportionate approach; being clear about where we can and where we 

should add value 

The Prevention, Wellbeing and Communities Hub have identified the following principles to 
guide our commissioning intentions: 

 We prioritise prevention, self-help/self-care and early intervention, with a view to 
improving health and wellbeing and changing demand for services;

 We take a strengths-based approach, to make the most of assets and resources 
within communities, help build community capacity and develop community 
safeguarding and resilience;

 We work to ensure the best start in life;

Page 123



APPENDIX 2

66

 We give equal weight to physical and mental health and wellbeing;
 We focus resources where the need is greatest, helping to address avoidable health 

inequalities; prevent health, social care and housing crises; reduce risk of harm; 
targeting the most vulnerable;

 We work across GCC and the wider system, with health, social care, housing and 
other partners.

The Local Government Association has identified that investment in public health leads to 
reduced pressure on national and local government and the NHS, saving money that can be 
further invested in prevention and early intervention. This, in turn, through improved health 
and wellbeing and health equality, leads to further reductions in pressure on care services. 
Systematic primary prevention is critical to reduce the overall burden of disease in the 
population. It is estimated that 80% of cases of heart disease, stroke and type 2 diabetes, 
and 40% of cases of cancer could be avoided if common lifestyle risk factors were 
eliminated (WHO, 2005). Secondary prevention, involving detecting the early stages of 
disease and intervening before full symptoms develop (for example through the NHS Health 
Check programme) is often cost effective, and if implemented at scale, would rapidly have 
an impact on life expectancy (Kings Fund, 2013).

Needs Analysis

The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is a strategic planning tool that brings 
together the latest information on the health and wellbeing of people who live in 
Gloucestershire and people who use Gloucestershire public services and underpins the 
Health and Wellbeing Board’s Strategy. It tells us that overall Gloucestershire is one of the 
healthiest counties in England. Health outcomes are above the national average and deaths 
from the major diseases like cancer, heart disease and strokes are below the national 
average and falling. 

However the picture in Gloucestershire is not perfect. There are areas of Gloucestershire 
where residents experience poorer health than the England average. Additionally, the health 
of people living in Gloucestershire has not been improving over time as seen in other parts 
of the country.  Although life expectancy at 65 years of age is better in Gloucestershire 
compared to England overall, it is not improving in line with the national trends for life 
expectancy, especially for females. The age to which men in Gloucestershire can expect to 
live with good health has been declining since 2010. This, coupled with the fact we have an 
ageing population, presents our biggest challenge.

The three leading causes of death in Gloucestershire are cancer (28.6%), circulatory 
disease (24.0%) and respiratory disease (13.2%). However, there are differences across the 
districts of Gloucestershire. When looking at age-standardised mortality rates for the county, 
Tewkesbury district has the highest cancer mortality rate, Cheltenham district has the 
highest circulatory disease mortality rate and Gloucester district has the highest rate for 
respiratory deaths.  

Lifestyle factors such as smoking, poor nutrition, physical inactivity and alcohol misuse are 
important contributors to most preventable diseases. Unless we take early action to support 
individuals, families and communities to take steps to improve their own health and 
wellbeing now, we will not be able to resource the increases in people with ongoing care 

Page 124



APPENDIX 2

67

needs in the future.

Through the improved co-ordination of services and monitoring of targeted services we have 
been able to identify a cohort of people in vulnerable circumstances with entrenched 
behaviours resulting from historic and/or long term adverse experiences.  We have 
observed how this group often move in and out of services; have high level of involvement 
of health and the Police, and those who repeatedly fail to sustain accommodation due to 
their very high and complex needs. A co-ordinated partnership response to this evidence 
has resulted in attracting additional investment to jointly commission a person led and 
outcomes based response to better meet the needs of this cohort. We continue to explore in 
partnership opportunities to design and commission a model that could meet shared 
objectives of managing demand across the wider health, social care and housing system 
with a targeted focus on prevention and community capacity building.

Between the 1st March 2020 and 4th July 2020 (when lockdown was eased across 
England) the County Council's Community Help Hub received 4,598 requests for help. 
Some requests required multiple forms of support, making 6,738 separate support requests. 
The most common type of support requested involved help accessing food and general 
supplies, accounting for 82.1% of total support requests.

Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021/22

Proposed investments of £1.169m have been submitted for 2021/22 to meet shortfalls in 
Agenda for Change pay uplifts, continuation of mental health contracts for a year following 
the impact of COVID-19, and pressure within services such as domestic abuse and 
substance misuse. One-off funding has been proposed to enable the completion of the child 
weight management pilot and it’s evaluation which will inform future investment decisions. 
Savings of £0.327m were realised in 2020/21 and a further £0.171m will be achieved in 
2021/22 through the planned reduction in contract values (healthy lifestyles, sexual health 
and mental health) as services are commissioned and provided in other ways.

Major recommissioning projects make up a significant portion of the allocated public health 
grant and, in 2021/22, the team’s focus will continue the shift from recommissioning and 
remodelling  activity to overseeing the implementation of new services, the ‘core business’ 
activity of contract management and developing the systems leadership role of public health 
and prevention, for example, working with the police to lead our local approach to 
addressing Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) and implementing a whole systems 
approach to obesity prevention building on our learning as partners in the national whole 
systems obesity programme. This learning will also be applied to other agendas including 
the development of an oral health promotion strategy and supporting the implementation of 
Gloucestershire Moves, the countywide approach to improving physical activity levels, led 
by Active Gloucestershire.   

Savings in the wider hub’s commissioning activity have been realised through the continued 
reshaping of services that shifts towards developing more flexible, generic services that will 
help the programme to adapt to shifts in the pattern of needs; with a reduced reliance on 
accommodation-based services.  

Again, as referenced earlier whilst these priorities remain important to us, whilst we are 
leading the response to the pandemic we are unlikely to return completely to non-covid 

Page 125



APPENDIX 2

68

business.
Looking Forward

The public health grant allocation is a ring-fenced grant and the expectation is that it will be 
fully spent. However, the Comprehensive Spending Review (CSR) in 2015 brought about a 
reduction in the public health grant over the four-year period to 2019/20. Whilst the four 
major public health recommissioning projects were completed during 2019/20, further 
reductions will need to be met through the review of individual elements of spend in 2021/22 
and will continue to focus on the PWC Hubs influencing and knowledge management and 
decision-making support roles. Helping people to stay healthy and live independently for 
longer and ensuring children have the best start in life are major contributors to reducing 
cost pressures in the medium and longer term. As such, our prevention activity plays a key 
role in supporting the new Council Strategy and therefore the commissioning intentions of 
other parts of Gloucestershire County Council, including children’s and adult social care, as 
well as the wider system. 

Contract arrangements for Community Based Support (CBS) and Accommodation Based 
Support (ABS) end dates have been aligned so that we can remodel and retender the entire 
provision of ABS and CBS to take a ‘whole system approach’ to develop those services and 
pathways that enable independent living and prevent homelessness.  Savings will be 
realised during the programme through reductions in community based support in line with 
utilisation and reduce capacity of accommodation based support in line with demand.  This 
will be undertaken in parallel with key partners regarding the opportunities to align 
investment and models to achieve shared outcomes and objectives.

Delivering Change

As mentioned above our commissioning intentions remain important to us, however whilst 
we are leading the response to the pandemic we are unlikely to return completely to non-
covid business.

Our commissioning intentions for 2021/22 are:

1. Deliver mandated functions where they have not been paused by NHS England due to 
C:19

 NHS Health Checks, Sexual Health, National Child Measurement Programme, Health 
Protection, Core Offer to the CCG & Health Visiting service

2. Deliver our driving change projects:

 Local Outbreak Management Plan (LOMP)
 Establishment of multi-purchaser, multi provider pseudo framework for Community and 

Accommodation Based Support services (CABS).

3. Engage and influence partners to improve the public’s health and ensure support for 
people in vulnerable circumstances and the building and harnessing of communities’ 
capacity

 address health inequalities through the Covid-19 BAME Task and Finish Group

Page 126



APPENDIX 2

69

 support mental health and wellbeing through the Covid-19 Mental Health & 
Wellbeing Cell; working with partners to ensure support is available to people, 
especially those in vulnerable circumstances. 

4. Develop and embed heath and wellbeing in GCC business

Specific planned activities for 2021/22 include:

1. Delivering our mandated functions: add same comment 

 NHS Health Checks –monitor the more targeted approach to the delivery of NHS Heath 
Checks via GP practices

 Sexual Health –  provision of STI testing and treatment; and contraceptive services
 National Child Measurement Programme
 Health Protection functions
 Core Offer to the CCG – supporting the implementation, monitoring and evaluation of 

initiatives delivered as part of the shadow integrated care system
 Health Visiting service – embed the reshaped public health nursing service.

2. Deliver our driving change projects: 

 Continue to promote and deliver the integrated healthy lifestyles service including the 
implementation of targeted lifestyle support to pregnant women and young children (first 
1001 days), the delivery of a healthy workplace accreditation scheme and rolling out the 
schools based peer support programme aiming to build resilience and reduce the uptake 
of ‘risky’ behaviours including smoking, drug taking and gambling.  We will continue to 
offer Making Every Contact Count (MECC) and health coaching training We are also 
undertaking a review of the overall adult weight management offer (including CCG 
commissioned elements) with a view to improving the offer to meet wider needs. 

 Continue to monitor and seek opportunities to strengthen the delivery of sexual health 
and contraceptive services in primary care; and work with the Specialist Sexual Health 
Service to roll out the routine commissioning of Pre-Exposure Prophylaxis for HIV.

 Embed the Maternity Contraception pilot in mainstream commissioning; enabling 
vulnerable women to access contraception postnatally as part of the maternity pathway. 

 Recommission the Sexual Health: prevention service (‘Developmental Services’) 
focused on the provision of behaviour change and health education interventions for 
groups at risk of poor sexual health.  

 Implement and evaluate the community based (tier 2) children’s weight management 
services (joint commissioning activity with GCCG) 

 Implement the new contract for the Pupil Wellbeing Survey (formally Online Pupil 
Survey) and support the delivery of the survey in 2021

 Continue to work with the Children and Families Hub and the CCG to scope out a health 
and care model for children and young people aged 0-19

 Implementation and mobilisation of call off contracts from community and 
accommodation based support framework  

 Consolidate the changes made to drug and alcohol recovery services in 2017, with a 
particular focus on ensuring that there is coordinated harm reduction offer and a clear 
pathway for those with co-existing substance misuse and mental health conditions. 

Page 127



APPENDIX 2

70

 Work with the Education Hub to review the Gloucestershire Healthy Living and Learning 
offer.

 Review our breastfeeding support offer, incorporating the outputs from the 
Breastfeeding Social Marketing project (October 2019 - September 2020).

 Complete the most recent Suicide Audit; and the refresh of the Gloucestershire Suicide 
Prevention Strategy. Alongside this, implement the local proposals approved under the 
NHS England Suicide Prevention Transformation programme, including the GloW 
(Gloucestershire Wellbeing) community grant scheme; and review and develop the 
support provided to those bereaved through suicide. 

3. Engage and influence partners to improve the public’s health.

 Deliver the Outbreak Management Plan to help prevent, contain, respond to and monitor 
Covid-19 in Gloucestershire;

 Working with partners to review our approach to make sure we are focussed on 
prevention and on reducing health inequalities, including through the impact of Covid19;

 Work with the Clinical Commissioning Group and other partners to ensure that Mental 
Wellbeing is available to those affected by COVID-19 & the lockdown restrictions and 
work with partners to make the promotion of mental wellbeing ‘everyone’s business’.

 Providing COVID19 support to high risk settings such as Care Homes, Schools, 
Universities & Supported Housing

 Actively working with the Clinical Commissioning Group and other partners to support 
the implementation of the NHS Long Term Plan including steps to embed prevention and 
to reduce health inequalities

 Support the implementation of the new Health and Wellbeing Strategy
 Work with community organisations to develop innovative approaches to addressing 

health inequalities in key population groups
 Continue to work  across the system to  implement a whole systems approach to 

reducing obesity
 Continue to support the implementation and evaluation of ‘We Can Move’ (formerly 

Gloucestershire Moves) countywide physical activity programme
 Supporting the development and implementation of Gloucestershire Moves – 

Gloucestershire’s programme to promote active lifestyles
 Supporting the Health and Wellbeing Board as it seeks to embed our approach to  

Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) and how an ACEs informed approach should be 
taken forward in Gloucestershire

 Lead the implementation of the countywide oral health promotion strategy and plan
 Work with our regional and national partners, such as Public Health England and the 

Association of Directors of Public Health, to support delivery of the national agenda to 
promote mental wellbeing and prevent suicide. 

 Support the development of the ICS staff health and wellbeing agenda via the ICS OD  
delivery group   

 Implementation and mobilisation of call off contracts from Domestic abuse multi 
purchaser and provider framework  

 Continue to work across the system to  implement our  whole systems approach to 
supporting people in vulnerable circumstances

Page 128



APPENDIX 2

71

 Support the Children and Families Hub and wider agencies, to deliver a Gloucestershire 
strategy for children and young people, underpinned by a collaborative governance 
framework.

4. Develop and embed health and wellbeing in GCC business:

 Build on the feedback from the 2018 LGA Peer Review of Prevention to co-ordinate and 
develop the community offer across the whole care sector.  Working within prevention 
and early intervention elements of the operating model and being cognisant of how the 
system works and how changes to the community offer can affect demand elsewhere.

 Further develop our growing influence on the wider determinants of health, specifically 
planning policy and the planning of new housing developments and the development 
and delivery of the Local Industrial Strategy.

 Continue to support implementation of GCC’s workplace health and wellbeing plan.

Page 129



APPENDIX 2

72

Annex 1.6 - Corporate Resources Commissioning Intentions 2021/22

Context

Corporate Resources is the directorate of Council services which support governance, 
internal infrastructure and the smooth running of the organisations front line services. It is 
therefore impacted by most of the factors listed in the Commissioning Intentions of the other 
Directorates, but it also has to consider the wider outcomes of not just the Council, but also 
our partner organisations and national/regional policy networks.

 Growing demand - there is increasing demand for council services, which means we 
still have to make prudent decisions in order to make our money go further.  We can’t 
afford to do everything we want to do, so have to prioritise our resources to where they 
can have the greatest impact and continue to drive efficiencies at all levels of the 
organisation.

 Growing expectations - customers expect more choice in the way they interact and 
communicate with us; and services to be tailored and personalised to their needs and 
the way they want to live their lives.  Customers are more empowered through social 
media and other means to make their views known, and better informed about their 
rights as citizens.

 Partnership landscape – all of our key challenges as a county and a council require us 
to work with partners across the public, private, voluntary and community sectors.  The 
partnership landscape is increasingly complex to navigate.  We need support services 
that enable and facilitate collaboration and joint working, and staff that are comfortable 
working across traditional boundaries of sector and specialism.

 Impact of COVID-19 – we anticipate that this will continue to dominate much of our work 
for the first part of the year at least, but will also have much wider ramifications for the 
way we work in the longer term.  

 Financial uncertainty – for the second year in a row the Finance Settlement for 
2021/22 will only cover a 12 month period. This lack of certainty about the level of 
resources beyond this time horizon makes medium / longer term planning uncertain.  
The Fair Funding Review, the Business Rate Review and a long term solution to funding 
Social Care have all been put on hold.

Page 130



APPENDIX 2

73

Strategic Direction 
These are the key themes of our organisational direction of travel:

 Digitalisation and modernisation:  
o Continuing our journey to be a Council that is modern and digitally-enabled. 

Supporting and enabling a greater range of council services to be available 
online.  

o Exploiting technology to improve customer choice and experience and 
promoting self-service to reduce demand.  

 Data driven council:  
o Using data and analytics to develop a better understanding of our customers, 

their needs and preferences and the impact our services are having on their 
lives.  

o Better use of data as a corporate asset – making it easier for staff and 
customers to find the information they need, within a properly governed 
environment

o Laying the foundations to be able to exploit machine learning and artificial 
intelligence in the future.

 A Customer-focussed, enabled workforce:
o Ways of working that respond to the needs of our customers, but also allow 

our staff flexibility to maintain a healthy work-life balance
o Managing for outcomes not for outputs
o Agile working enabling staff to work wherever they are, and using that to drive 

productivity
o Office and other accommodation that supports agile working and reduces the 

councils carbon footprint
 Customer:

o Having a single view of our customers
o More clear and consistent customer offer across services, supported by 

modern technology

Needs Analysis (What are the trends driving our business)
The trends that drive our business are the same ones that affect the Council as a whole and 
are described in the other commissioning intentions.

 Growing needs of vulnerable children:
o Supporting Children’s Services improvement
o Increasing number of children and young people in legal proceedings or pre-

proceedings
 Growing school-age population:

o Increasing the physical capacity of our education system and supporting 
school building and expansion

 Ageing population:
o Requires us to develop better use of data to manage demand and target 

preventative activity more effectively

Page 131



APPENDIX 2

74

 Increasing number and complexity of information requests
 The recruitment and retention of employees in hard to fill, critical positions 
 Tackling issues in recruiting and retaining qualified and experience staff in certain 

critical positions.  There are a number of factors influencing this including a shortage 
of those with the right skills and experience; our salaries falling behind other councils 
and the private sector; the perception of local government; the aging profile of our 
workforce means that there is an ongoing loss of key experienced workers.

 Impact of COVID: 
o In the short term, has placed significant additional demands on most if not all 

of our services:
 Communications – Keeping our communities and stakeholders 

informed and advised
 HR / Occ Health – supporting the wellbeing of staff
 Performance, Data & Analysis – supporting decision-makers with 

accurate data to understand the development of the pandemic and 
target our response

 AMPS / Health & Safety – adapting our estate and ensuring our 
buildings and facilities are COVID secure 

 ICT – responding with pace to support the vast majority of our staff to 
work remotely

 Finance – managing additional grants, government reporting and 
monitoring requirements, as well as responding to the extra pressures 
put on service budgets as a result of the pandemic

 Procurement – working with commissioners to ensure that the market 
is able to provide the services that the council needs and with our key 
providers to support their resilience

 Legal – supporting the implementation and use of new powers of 
direction and enforcement. 

 Internal Audit - Covid-19 has resulted in an increase in fraud referrals 
to the Counter Fraud Team within Internal Audit.
ARA Shared Service has been providing independent assurance that 
the key new/emerging covid-19 risks to organisational objectives are 
being managed efficiently & effectively and supports improvement & 
good governance. 

 Insurance Services – responding accordingly to the council’s service 
operating model changes and risk profiles.

 All services – supporting business continuity and providing flexible 
additional capacity as required to respond to the changing demands on 
the Council’s services

Page 132



APPENDIX 2

75

Medium Term Financial Strategy
List major areas of growth and savings

 Investment in: 
o Digital to achieve a step forward in the capability, capacity and stability of our 

systems
o Investment in Legal services to meet growing demands for Children’s legal 

proceedings
 Savings from:

o Efficiencies from digitalisation / automation across all areas
o More efficient use of our estate and agile working

Looking Forward 
Specific areas of activity for next year:

 Continue delivery of our Worksmarter Digital Programme:
o Implementation of redesigned ICT service
o Mobilisation of new ICT support contracts
o Roll out of Office 365
o Roll out of software to provide electronic signatures
o Improve facilities for online storage

 Roll out agile working across the Council:
o Design the ‘office of the future’
o Ensure all staff have the equipment and skills they need to work flexibly

 Develop the capacity of our Legal Services team:
o Recruit and develop Paralegals and Legal Assistants through our ‘Grow our 

Own’ programme
o Implement a quality practice model and a new case management system

 Manage the 2021 election and the induction of new members:
 Streamline and modernise governance processes: 

o Complete the end-to-end review of the council’s constitution
o Continue to streamline the Council’s decision-making processes
o Launch and disseminate Procurement Toolkit

 Develop a stronger Information Governance culture 
o Implement the recommendations of the ICO audit
o Review capacity and processes for managing requests
o Achieve N3 compliance
o Develop a business case for scanning of physical records

 Continue to review, rationalise and maximise income from our property estate
o Deliver £150k savings
o Quayside development phase 2

 Roll out the next phase of Power BI dashboards
 Upgrade our core system for finance, HR, procurement and employee/manager self 

service
 Develop our Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Plan

Page 133



APPENDIX 2

76

Annex 2 – Budget Movements by Service Area 

Medium Term Financial Strategy – 2021/22 Budget – Overall Summary 

Budget Area Approved 
2020-21 
Budget 

Removal of 
2020-21 One Off 

Budget 
Adjustments

Agreed Budget 
Transfers 
between 

Service Areas

MTFS 2020/21 
Base Budget

Pay Inflation 
Costs

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

Proposed 
2021/22 
Budget

Cash 
Increase / 
Decrease 

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 %

Programme Budget Areas

Adults 150,490                            -   341 150,831 1,031 7,864 -3,193 156,533 6,043 4.02%

Vulnerable Children 100,694 -1,761 -498 98,435 1,131 6,131 -4 105,693 4,999 4.96%

Other Children Services 17,970                            -   139 18,109 281 2,400 -112 20,678 2,708 15.07%

Economy, Environment and 
Infrastructure 72,553 -4,505 2,660 70,708 453 4,184 -447 74,898 2,345 3.23%

Community Safety 19,519                            -                           -   19,519 374 129 -13 20,009 490 2.51%

Prevention & Wellbeing 34,387 -60 -61 34,266 45 1,376 -171 35,516 1,129 3.28%

Corporate Resources 35,066 -2,110 939 33,895 734 923 -961 34,591 -475 -1.35%

Technical & Countywide 37,504 498 -3,520 34,482 30 2,438 -1,860 35,090 -2,414 -6.44%

Total Budget 468,183 -7,938                         -   460,245 4,079 25,445 -6,761 483,008 14,825 3.17%

P
age 134



APPENDIX 2

77

2021/22 Adults Budget  including the National Adult Social Care Levy

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Approved MTFS 2020/21 Budget 150,490

Removal of 2020/21 One Off Budget Increases -

Additional Ring Fenced Grant Funding now rolled into Base Budget -

Agreed Service Budget Transfers 341

Starting Budget (2020/21 Revised Budget) 150,831

Budget Changes:

Cost Increases
Pay Inflation (2%) 764

Additional Pay Inflation (0.75%) 267

National Living Wage  (Providers) 875

2,826

4,022

141
Cost Reductions

Adult Single Programme: supporting the strategic direction of keeping 
people safe and independence, ideally within their own home. 
Continuing supporting prevention to delay and avoid more expensive 
care support and supporting the integration of Health and Social Care 
to deliver positive outcome for individuals. There are continued targets 
to manage future demand expanding the model of reablement, 
working in a multi-disciplinary way and also investing in social care to 
avoid crisis. As well as listening to our service users and improving 
the customer journey through the three tier conversation at the frontline 
of adult services.

-3,193

TOTAL NET CHANGE 8,895 -3,193 5,702

2021/22 Adults Budget  including National Adult Social Care Levy 156,533

Bed Based and Community Based inflationary assumptions 

Demand Pressures linked to net demographic growth 

Learning Disabilities Transforming Care Programme

Page 135



APPENDIX 2

78

2021/22 Children and Families Budget - Vulnerable Children

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Budget Changes:

Approved MTFS 2020/21 Budget 100,694

Removal of 2020/21 One Off Budget Increase -1,761

Agreed Service Budget Transfers -498

Starting Budget (2020/21 Revised Budget) 98,435

Cost Increases
Pay Inflation 859
Additional Pay Inflation (0.75%) 272
Agency Social Workers additional costs - Based on an average of 65 agency 
staff in established posts across the year, reduced from 100 agency staff last 
year. The funding was allocated on a one-off basis in 20/21 so a further one-off 
bid is required to cover the on-going costs 

1,000

External Placements. Rise in number and cost of placements - the increase is 
based on a total children in care population of 760 with 39%, 296 in external 
placement at a unit price of £103,600. This requires an additional £4.017m to be 
added to the current budget. Current placement numbers are 317, excluding C19, 
and will be linked to the in-house fostering service which should reduce the 
number of external placements. £1m to be found from 20/21 MTFS bids held 
back

3,500

Child Protection Conference Chairs/IRO's. Cost pressure to cover staff regrading 
to bring them into line with team managers (£111k); also covers the cost of ICT 
equipment for student social workers in the academy (£30k) 

141

Fostering/Adoption/SGO & Child Arrangement Allowances. Child allowances 
based on 20/21 increase 2.05%, carers fees 0.7% (May CPI), contract 2%. 
Increase is against the budget which will cover number of allowances as follows:- 
Fostering 417, Child Arrangement Orders 23, SGOs 390, Adoption 174.  

233

SGO'S Increased Numbers. Forecast July £340k O/S. Activity increased from 40 
starters estimated to 73 in 19/20. 70 new SGOs assumed in 20/21 and on-going. 
The model is based on the actual numbers at the start of the year 20/21 (390) less 
estimated leavers (17) and starters (70) which are profiled over the year. This has 
reduced by £78k equivalent to 9 SGOs

875

Child Protection Case costs - Increase required in the non-legal disbursement 
budget for child protection cases. Cost of legal fees for expert advice has 
increased due to an increase in care proceedings. Overspend in 19/20 £236k 
with £100k added into the budget through the MTFS in 20/21. 

100

One Off Cost Increases
Interim Commissioning /Operational Staff (One-off). Delayed recruitment to posts 
due to Ofsted inspection being delayed due to COVID-19 - timing of recruitment 
will impact on funding required.

282

Cost Reductions
Income Target -4

TOTAL NET CHANGE 7,262 -4 7,258

Children & Families - Vulnerable Children Budget 2021/22 105,693

Page 136



APPENDIX 2

79

2021/22 Children and Families Budget - Other Children Services

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Approved MTFS 2020/21 Budget 17,970

Removal of 2020/21 One Off Budget Increase -

Agreed Service Budget Transfers 139

Starting Budget (2020/21 Revised Budget) 18,109

Budget Changes:

Cost Increases
Pay Inflation 210

Additional Pay Inflation (0.75%) 71

Home to School Transport Inflation - Costs have been increasing as routes are 
retendered and this will have included the new living wage (NLW) potential costs 
since no increases  have been given out to providers. A 2% increase in costs 
would require £239k.

200

Home to School Transport - Current overspend is forecast at £1.6m (excluding 
COVID-19 costs), market is struggling to maintain standards and new contracts 
are submitted at a higher cost. SEN routes are predicted to increase by 236 
between Jan 20 and Jan 22. Measures being taken to reduce over-spend include 
reviewing high cost transport for alternative providers/options; cutting any 
discretionary services, potential for in-house service; solo routes; ticket prices and 
also to develop the market

2,000

Supporting Children with SEND - Increase in number of Education, Health and 
Care Plans (EHCPs) assumed at 300 to 350 a year and 450 CYP with SEN 
support - additional staff required to support this need and will include 1 FTE SEN 
support (RB1), 2 FTE EHCPs (Grade 10), 2 FTE Assistant Education 
Psychologist

200

Cost Reductions
Education Pensions:  Reduce the budget based on an assessment of the 
reduction in no. of pensioners and spouses based on age and trends

-100

Income Target -12

TOTAL NET CHANGE 2,681 -112 2,569

Children & Families - Other Services Budget 2021/22 20,678

* This budget excludes the ringfenced Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG).

Page 137



APPENDIX 2

80

2021/22 Economy, Environment and Infrastructure Budget

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Approved MTFS 2020/21 Budget 72,553

Removal of 2020/21 One Off Budget Increase -4,505

Agreed Service Budget Transfers 2,660

Starting Budget (2020/21 Revised Budget) 70,708

Budget Changes:

Cost Increases
Pay Inflation 339
Additional Pay Inflation (0.75%) 114
NLW Inflation (Providers) 6
Contract Inflation 3,067
Revenue costs associated with EE&I Capital Bids 17

Railway Partnership 50
Reduced income from commercial waste landfill royalties due to increased recycling 
options available.  Reducing waste to landfill is part of GCC's climate change strategy so 
although we are receiving less income on commercial landfill royalties we are inline with 
the overall Climate strategy. 

60

In house traffic Mgt. ( Walking, cycling, bus priorities & road safety urban traffic work) 350
Strengthen the senior management team within EE&I Structure 441

Libraries District Innovation Labs 123

One Off Cost Increases
Carbon reduction pathway 70

Cost Reductions
Reduce  Food Waste Agreements payments to WCAs. -72
Income Target -375

TOTAL NET CHANGE 4,637 -447 4,190

Economy, Environment and Infrastructure Budget 2021/22 74,898

Page 138



APPENDIX 2

81

2021/22 Community Safety

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Approved MTFS 2020/21 Budget 19,519

Removal of 2020/21 One Off Budget Increase -

Agreed Service Budget Transfers -

Starting Budget (2020/21 Revised Budget) 19,519

Budget Changes:

Cost Increases
Pay Inflation (2%) 334
Additional Pay Inflation (0.75%) 40
Continual professional development (CPD) increase for grey book staff to ensure
parity with those paid by similar Fire and Rescue Services.

43

Increase to Civil Protection Team staffing to allow provision of 24/7 cover in case
of county wide emergencies and provide sufficent resource to cover the wider
range of duties the team are responsible for.

86

Cost Reductions
Income Target -13

TOTAL NET CHANGE 503 -13 490

Community Safety Budget 2021/22 20,009

Page 139



APPENDIX 2

82

2021/22 Prevention & Wellbeing Budget

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Approved MTFS 2020/21 Budget 34,387

Removal of 2020/21 One Off Budget Increase -60

Agreed Service Budget Transfers -61

Starting Budget (2020/21 Revised Budget) 34,266

Budget Changes:

Cost Increases
Prevention staff - Pay Inflation 42

Additional Pay Inflation (0.75%) 3

Full year effect of integrated maternity contraception service approved in 20/21. 
This is the full year effect of the service agreed by full Council in February 2020 to 
secure the continuation of the Maternity Contraception Programme which helps 
prevents repeat unplanned pregancies in vulnerable women.

42

Agenda for Change Costs. Contract inflation for NHS pay awards - included in 
grant but not passed on to the Prevention service in 20/21. This affects circa 250 
FTEs mostly Health Visitors and School Nurses. Figures are still under review 
awaiting actual costs from Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust 

597

Domestic Abuse Services as a result of C19 impact.  All national and local 
assumptions point to an increased demand on the Domestic Abuse system.
The pressure includes additional support into 4 areas – support to the MASH 
(£30k 1 FTE), core service provided by Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Support 
Service (£60k 2 FTEs) , perpetrator programme (£27k 1 FTE) and STREET 
Gloucestershire which supports Young people who have witnessed Domestic 
Abuse (£50k 1.8 FTE).

167

Support for repeat rough sleepers and homeless clients.  This investment will 
contribute to the joint funding (with District Councils) of a support service targeting 
those who have been rough sleeping or are long-term homeless, and face complex 
and overlapping barriers to accessing and staying in accommodation, such as 
drug/alcohol misuse, offending history, or mental ill health.  It is aimed at people 
who will have suffered large amounts of trauma within their lives, with this trauma 
manifesting itself in challenging behaviour.  A number of individuals have been 
identified during the ‘Bring Everyone in’ activity during the pandemic who need 
bespoke housing and support solutions to enable them to successfully sustain 
accommodation.  

50

Page 140



APPENDIX 2

83

2021/22 Prevention & Wellbeing Budget Continued Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000
Intensive substance misuse treatment (residential rehab or inpatient detox) for 
Housing First clients - This additional investment will provide dedicated intensive 
substance misuse treatment to enable clients to sustain accommodation through 
the Housing First model. Whilst they will be receiving the standard level of 
commissioned support and treatment from CGL, this will enable support workers 
to quickly access additional, targeted residential rehabilitation, inpatient alcohol 
detox and other specialist solutions where they are considered to be a vital part of 
the package that helps sustain accommodation. 

100

One Off Cost Increases
Mental Health Services commissioned due C19 impact (One Off). The funding will 
enable the recommissioning for up to 12 months of some of the additional mental 
health support for adults and CYP put in place to increase capacity in the system to 
deal with the expected increase in mental health issues during the pandemic. The 
services  fill a gap in the county’s existing commissioned mental health services 
with respect to early intervention, open access, anonymous universal support. The 
short contract period will enable a fuller assessment to be made of ongoing 
need/demand to inform future commissioning decisions.

250

Children’s weight management service (pilot continuation) One Off - In the 
absence of an off-the-shelf children’s weight management intervention, and 
difficulties in engaging families in weight management, GCC commissioners have 
co-produced an offer with a specialist provider (BeeZee Bodies) and local 
families. The resulting offer, the first of its kind in the UK, was to be piloted and 
evaluated during 2020, but the core face-to-face element has been paused due to 
COVID-19.  Early learning from the pilot has highlighted the complexity of needs 
among local families affected by obesity and the scope for an intervention of this 
nature to benefit both families and wider council services. This one-year 
investment would fund the completion of the pilot during 2021/22 and the current 
independent evaluation and cost/benefit will be undertaken to underpin the case 
for recurrent investment into a countywide service from April 2022.    

170

Cost Reductions
Reduce research fund within Healthwatch contract -16

Mentalk/Girl talk decommissioning -  Current contracts were coming to an end and 
the requested investment will provide a service to a wider range of young people 
(including those not in schools) than the numbers reached via the Mentalk/GirlTalk 
programme  

-40

Sexual health:  release prevention fund - Overall investment in prevention across 
the sexual health portfolio has increased due to GCC funding for the maternity 
contraception programme (approved in 19/20)  and DHSC funding for PrEP (the 
HIV prevention drug). This means we can release some uncommitted prevention 
funding from the separate ‘sexual health prevention’ cost centre; while still 
increasing overall investment in preventative interventions. 

-35

Agreed changes to funding for Gloucestershire Money Advice Service (GLOMAS) - 
Planned withdrawal of grant agreed with provider across 2 years. 

-5

Renegotiate scope & focus of healthy lifestyles service - Planned reductions in the 
healthy lifestyles contract across 4 years

-25

Reduction in the nicotine replacement therapy (NRT) budget as current activity is 
below budget in 19/20 and 20/21.

-50

TOTAL NET CHANGE 1,421 -171 1,250

Prevention & Wellbeing Budget 2021/22 35,516

Page 141



APPENDIX 2

84

2021/22 Corporate Resources Budget

Cost Increases Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Approved MTFS 2020/21 Budget 35,066

Removal of 2020/21 One Off Budget Increase -2,110

Agreed Service Budget Transfers 939

Starting Budget (2020/21 Revised Budget) 33,895

Budget Changes:

Cost Increases
Pay Inflation (2%) 533
Additional Pay Inflation (0.75%) 201
Legal - Additional Child Protection Legal Resouce. This is assist with the growth in
children Social Care and the partial suspension of court activity during COVID.
Legal resource was referenced in the recent focussed visit. 

373

ICT - Estimated increase in cost of operating core ICT services. A new operating
model will also develop in-house services from April 2021. A strategy has been
produced which includes Enterprise Support (2nd, 3rd line technical
support),Systems Management (tooling) delivery and support,Security
Operations,LAN / WAN management and support,Cloud Hosting and Operations.
The strategy also includes an ITSM tool to support the in-house service desk.
£2.111m was added to the base budget in 20/21 of which £487k is permanent
and £1.635 million is one off. Included in the £1.635 million was a one off £1m
Developing & procuring the right ICT service for the future

500

One Off Cost Increases

ICT - Upgrading remote sites connectivity . One off cost improve connections to
key locations, ensuring they are developed to an equivalent standards to Shire Hall
with regard to enabling telephony, broadband, wifi.

50

Cost Reductions
20/21 AMPS Building efficencies for reduction in use -150

Reduce capacity for one-off projects -103

ICT: savings from WAN upgrade -175

AMPS:savings / additional income from Quayside House phase one -110

Operational Efficiencies -321

Income Target -102

TOTAL NET CHANGE 1,657 -961 696

Corporate Resources Budget 2021/22 34,591

Page 142



APPENDIX 2

85

2021/22 Technical and Countywide Budget

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Approved MTFS 2020/21 Budget 37,504

Removal of 2020/21 One Off Budget Increase 498

Agreed Service Budget Transfers -3,520

Starting Budget (2020/21 Revised Budget) 34,482

Budget Changes:

Cost Increases
Pay Inflation (2%) 22
Additional Pay Inflation (0.75%) 8
MRP - Highways. This accounts for the debt charge in the highways capital
programme. The actual charge will depend on the capital spent. The expected
borrowing for the programme is £39m and the useful life of this asset is 25 years.
This gives a charge of £1.56m. £1.08m has already been set aside in previous
budget setting.

480

MRP- Cheltenham School. This accounts for the debt charge of capital cost. The
actual charge will depend on the capital spent. The expected borrowing is £15m
and the useful life of this asset is 50 years. This gives a charge of 0.3m, £0.2m is
has already been set aside in previous budget setting.

100

MRP Quayside Development. This account for the debt charge of capital cost. The
actual charge will depend on the capital spent . The borrowing is £7.55m and the
useful life of this asset is 50 years.  This gives a charge of 0.151m.  

151

Pay and Price Contingency – the impact of Covid on future price increases is
uncertain therefore a pay and price contingency has been created from the lower
than anticipated increase in National Living Wage. This contingency will be
available to fund higher than anticipated in year price increases.

454

Transfer to Rates Retention Reserve- To support in Council against the risks
associated with the on going impact of the Covid pandemic on future council tax
and NNDR collection rates.

1,253

Cost Reductions

Customer - Property Disposals
LGPS savings generated from reductions in employers contribution rates agreed 
with actuaries following tri-annual valuation

-1,700

Reduction in MtC Savings Contingency in line with reduced savings target in 
2021/22

-160

TOTAL NET CHANGE 2,468 -1,860 608

Technical and Countywide Budget 2021/22 35,090

Page 143



APPENDIX 2

86

Annex 3 – Budget Summary by Service Area
Medium Term Financial Strategy – 2021/22 Budget – Overall Summary

2020/21 
Employee 

Related 
Budget

2020/21 Non - 
Employee 

Expenditure 
Budget

2020/21 Gross 
Expenditure 

Budget

2020/21 
Income

2020/21 
Revised MTFS 
Base Budget

Pay Inflation 
Costs

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

Proposed 
2021/22 
Budget

Proposed 
Employee 

Budget 201/22

Proposed 
Non - 

Employee 
Budget 
2021/22

Proposed 
Gross 

Expenditure 
Budget 
2021/22

Proposed 
Income 
Budget 
2021/22

Proposed 
MTFS Budget 

2021/22

Budget Area £000's £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

Adults               37,951             142,707             180,658 -29,827             150,831                 1,031                 7,864 -3,193 156,533 38,982 147,378 186,360 -29,827 156,533

Vulnerable Children               41,597               57,431               99,028 -593               98,435                 1,131                 6,131 -4             105,693               44,121             62,169             106,290 -597             105,693 

Other Children Services                 9,879                 9,226               19,105 -996               18,109                    281                 2,400 -112               20,678               10,260             11,426               21,686 -1,008               20,678 

Economy, Environment & 
Infrastructure               17,019               72,677               89,696 -18,988               70,708                    453                 4,184 -447               74,898 18,031 76,230 94,261 -19,363 74,898

Community Safety               16,673                 3,492               20,165 -646               19,519                    374                    129 -13               20,009 17,176 3,492 20,668 -659 20,009

Prevention & Wellbeing                 2,110               32,372               34,482 -216               34,266                       45                 1,376 -171               35,516 2,185 33,547 35,732 -216 35,516

Corporate Resources               26,012               15,051               41,063 -7,168               33,895                    734                    923 -961               34,591               26,746             15,013               41,759 -7,168               34,591 

Technical and Countywide 9,864 27,853 37,717 -3,235               34,482                       30                 2,438 -1,860 35,090                 8,194             30,131               38,325 -3,235               35,090 

Total Budget 161,105 360,809 521,914 -61,669 460,245                 4,079               25,445 -6,761 483,008             165,695          379,386             545,081 -62,073             483,008 

The split of the 2021/22 proposed budget to employee and non employee budget areas is estimated based on initial plans, however this is subject to 
further change when these initiatives have been developed further.

P
age 144



APPENDIX 2

87

Adults MTFS 2021/22

2020/21 
Employee 

Related 
Budget

2020/21 Non - 
Employee 

Expenditure 
Budget

2020/21 
Gross 

Expenditure 
Budget

2020/21 
Income

2020/21 
Revised 

MTFS Base 
Budget

Pay 
Inflation 
Costs

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

Proposed 
2021/22 
Budget

2021/22 
Proposed 
Employee 

Related 
Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 

Non - 
Employee 

Expenditure 
Budget

2021/22 
Proposed 

Gross 
Expenditure 

Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 
Income 
Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 
MTFS 
Budget 

Budget Area £000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £'000

Services for Older People 17,078 49,384 66,462 -16,628 49,834 437 3,497 -1,351 52,417 17,515 51,530 69,045 -16,628 52,417

Services for People with 
Physical Disability 2,034 11,857 13,891 -1,765 12,126 54 598 -329 12,449 2,088 12,126 14,214 -1,765 12,449

Services for People with a 
Learning Disability 6,988 57,644 64,632 -10,024 54,608 180 2,515 -1,513 55,790 7,168 58,646 65,814 -10,024 55,790

Services for People with 
Mental Health Issues                   - 10,452           10,452 -20 10,432               -              878                      - 11,310                   - 11,330 11,330 -20 11,310

Community 
Equipment/Telecare 3,173 1,023 4,196 -245 3,951 80 115                      - 4,146 3,253 1,138 4,391 -245 4,146

Adults Safeguarding 1,060 505 1,565 -60 1,505 29 38                      - 1,572 1,089 543 1,632 -60 1,572

Carers Services                   - 1,160              1,160               - 1,160               -                   -                      - 1,160                   - 1,160 1,160                   - 1,160

Occupational Therapy Service                   - 2,183              2,183               - 2,183               - 75                      - 2,258                   - 2,258 2,258                   - 2,258

Other Direct Services 2,563 775 3,338               - 3,338 70                   -                      - 3,408 2,633 775 3,408                   - 3,408

Adults 
Management,Commissioning 
& Support Services

5,031 1,411 6,442 -1,085 5,357 181 148                      - 5,686 5,212 1,559 6,771 -1,085 5,686

Funding for Allocation 24 6,313 6,337               - 6,337               -                   -                      - 6,337 24 6,313 6,337                   - 6,337

Total:  Adults 37,951 142,707 180,658 -29,827 150,831 1,031 7,864 -3,193 156,533 38,982 147,378 186,360 -29,827 156,533

P
age 145



APPENDIX 2

88

Children & Families MTFS 2021/22

2020/21 
Employee 

Related 
Budget

2020/21 Non - 
Employee 

Expenditure 
Budget

2020/21 
Gross 

Expenditure 
Budget

2020/21 
Income

2020/21 
Revised 

MTFS 
Base 

Budget

Pay 
Inflation 
Costs

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

Proposed 
2021/22 
Budget

2021/22 
Proposed 
Employee 

Related 
Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 

Non - 
Employee 

Expenditure 
Budget

2021/22 
Proposed 

Gross 
Expenditure 

Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 
Income 
Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 
MTFS 
Budget 

Budget Area
£000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

Vulnerable Children 41,597 57,431 99,028 -593      98,435 1,131 6,131 -4 105,693 44,121 62,169 106,290 -597 105,693

Other Children Services 9,879 9,226 19,105 -996      18,109 281 2,400 -112 20,678 10,260 11,426 21,686 -1,008 20,678

Total: Children & Families 51,476 66,657 118,133 -1,589    116,544 1,412 8,531 -116 126,371 54,381 73,595 127,976 -1,605 126,371

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure MTFS 2021/22

2019/20 
Employee 

Related 
Budget

2019/20 Non - 
Employee 

Expenditure 
Budget

2019/20 
Gross 

Expenditure 
Budget

2019/20 
Income

2019/20 
Revised 

MTFS 
Base 

Budget

Pay 
Inflation 
Costs

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

Proposed 
2020/21 
Budget

2021/22 
Proposed 
Employee 

Related 
Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed Non - 

Employee 
Expenditure 

Budget

2021/22 
Proposed 

Gross 
Expenditure 

Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 
Income 
Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 
MTFS Budget 

Budget Area
£000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £'000

Community Infrastructure           1,057 11,168 12,225 -1,006 11,219 35              113                   -   11,367             1,092 11,281 12,373 -1,006 11,367
Libraries & Registration Services 5,175 819 5,994 -2,760 3,234 166              123                   -   3,523 5,459 824 6,283 -2,760 3,523Adult Education 0                 -   0                   -                        -   0 0 0 0                      -   
Highways 7,159 14,940 22,099 -2,889 19,210 131 1,185                   -   20,526 7,290 16,125 23,415 -2,889 20,526
Parking 418 1,805 2,223 -5,556 -3,333 10 45                   -   -3,278 428 1,850 2,278 -5,556 -3,278
Waste 530 39,215 39,745 -6,531 33,214 25 1,854 -72 35,021 555 40,997 41,552 -6,531 35,021
Strategic Infrastructure 1,500 3,046 4,546 -66 4,480 35 50                   -   4,565 1,535 3,096 4,631 -66 4,565
Flood Alleviation 272 1,085 1,357 -180 1,177 10                  -                     -   1,187 282 1,085 1,367 -180 1,187
EE&I Central Costs 908 599 1,507              -   1,507 41 814 -375 1,987 1,390 972 2,362 -375 1,987
Total: Economy Environment & 
Infrastructure 17,019 72,677 89,696 -18,988 70,708 453 4,184 -447 74,898 18,031 76,230 94,261 -19,363 74,898

P
age 146



APPENDIX 2

89

Community Safety MTFS 2021/22

2020/21 
Employee 

Related 
Budget

2020/21 Non - 
Employee 

Expenditure 
Budget

2020/21 
Gross 

Expenditure 
Budget

2020/21 
Income

2020/21 
Revised 

MTFS 
Base 

Budget

Pay 
Inflation 
Costs

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

Proposed 
2021/22 
Budget

2021/22 
Proposed 
Employee 

Related 
Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 

Non - 
Employee 

Expenditure 
Budget

2021/22 
Proposed 

Gross 
Expenditure 

Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 
Income 
Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 
MTFS 
Budget 

Budget Area
£000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £'000

Fire & Rescue Service 14,892 2,959 17,851 -471 17,380 324 43 -9 17,738 15,259 2,959 18,218 -480 17,738
Coroners 755 409 1,164            -   1,164 21                  -                     -   1,185 776 409 1,185                -   1,185
Trading Standards 822 110 932 -81 851 23                  -   -2 872 845 110 955 -83 872
Public Protection             204 14 218 -94 124 6                 86 -2 214 296 14 310 -96 214

Total: Community Safety 16,673 3,492 20,165 -646 19,519 374 129 -13 20,009 17,176 3,492 20,668 -659 20,009

P
age 147



APPENDIX 2

90

Prevention & Wellbeing MTFS 2021/22

2020/21 
Employee 

Related 
Budgets

2020/21 Non - 
Employee 

Expenditure 
Budgets

2020/21 Gross 
Expenditure 

Budgets

2020/21 
Income

2020/21 
Revised 

MTFS Base 
Budget

Pay 
Inflation 
Costs

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

Proposed 
2021/22 
Budget

2021/22 
Proposed 
Employee 

Related 
Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 

Non - 
Employee 

Expenditure 
Budget

2021/22 
Proposed 

Gross 
Expenditure 

Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 
Income 
Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 
MTFS 
Budget 

Budget Area
£000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £'000

Public Health - Ringfenced Grant (See 
below for Service Breakdown)                   1,622                24,047                 25,669 -100            25,569          1,159 -150               26,578 1,622 25,056 26,678 -100 26,578 
Supporting People                        94                  8,124                   8,218 -          116              8,102              217                     -                   8,319              124 8,311 8,435 -          116 8,319 
Other Prevention & Wellbeing Activities                      394                     201                      595 0                  595              45 -21                     619 439 180 619 0 619 
Total: Prevention & Wellbeing 2,110 32,372 34,482 -216 34,266 45 1,376 -171 35,516 2,185 33,547 35,732 -216 35,516 

2020/21 
Employee 

Related 
Budgets

2020/21 Non - 
Employee 

Expenditure 
Budgets

2020/21 Gross 
Expenditure 

Budgets

2020/21 
Income

2020/21 
Revised 

MTFS Base 
Budget

Pay 
Inflation 
Costs

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

Proposed 
2021/22 
Budget

2021/22 
Proposed 
Employee 

Related 
Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 

Non - 
Employee 

Expenditure 
Budget

2021/22 
Proposed 

Gross 
Expenditure 

Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 
Income 
Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 
MTFS 
Budget 

Budget Area
£000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £'000

Sexual Health                          -                    3,647                   3,647                -                3,647               -   138 -35                 3,750                -                 3,750              3,750                -   3,750 
Health Behaviours                          -                    1,917                   1,917                -                1,917               -                   -   -75                 1,842                -                 1,842              1,842                -   1,842 
Drugs and Alcohol                          -                    6,182                   6,182 -100              6,082               -   113                     -                   6,195                -                 6,298              6,298 -100 6,198 
Children 0-19 (incl. Health Visiting & 
School Nursing)                          -                  10,795                 10,795                -              10,795               -   658                     -                 11,453                -               11,450            11,450                -   11,450 

Public Mental Health                          -                       250                      250                -                    250               -   250 -40                     460                -                     460                  460                -   460 
NHS Health Checks                          -                       470                      470                -                    470               -                   -                       -                       470                -                     470                  470                -   470 
PH function incl. staffing and intelligence 1,622                     786                   2,408                -                2,408               -                   -                       -                   2,408 1,622                   786              2,408                -   2,408 
Total: Public Health 1,622 24,047 25,669 -100 25,569               -   1,159 -150 26,578 1,622 25,056 26,678 -100 26,578

Public Health - Ring Fenced Grant 2021/22

P
age 148



APPENDIX 2

91

Corporate Resources MTFS 2021/22

2020/21 
Employee 

Related 
Budget

2020/21 Non 
- Employee 
Expenditure 

Budget

2020/21 
Gross 

Expenditure 
Budget

2020/21 
Income

2020/21 
Revised 

MTFS 
Base 

Budget

Pay 
Inflation 
Costs

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

Proposed 
2021/22 
Budget

2021/22 
Proposed 
Employee 

Related 
Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 

Non - 
Employee 

Expenditure 
Budget

2021/22 
Proposed 

Gross 
Expenditure 

Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 
Income 
Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 
MTFS 
Budget 

Budget Area
£000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £'000

Asset Management & Property Services 2,926 6,031 8,957 -3,502 5,455 81                 - -303 5,233 3,007 5,728 8,735 -3,502 5,233
Digital & People Services 4,556 8,853 13,409 -543 12,866 139 550 -295 13,260 4,695 9,108 13,803 -543 13,260
Strategic Procurement 823 97 920               - 920 21                 - -23 918 844 74 918                -   918
Communications 900 49 949 -89 860 24                 - -20 864 924 29 953 -89 864
Strategic Finance 7,319 -914 6,405 -2,158 4,247 186                 - -77 4,356 7,505 -991 6,514 -2,158 4,356
Policy Performance & Governance 9,332 739 10,071 -876 9,195 248 373 -140 9,676 9,580 972 10,552 -876 9,676
Executive Support & Information 156 196 352               - 352 35                 - -103 284 191 93 284                -   284
Total: Corporate Resources 26,012 15,051           41,063 -7,168 33,895 734 923 -961 34,591 26,746 15,013 41,759 -7,168       34,591 

Technical & Countywide MTFS 2021/22

2020/21 
Employee 

Related 
Budget

2020/21 Non 
- Employee 
Expenditure 

Budget

2020/21 
Gross 

Expenditure 
Budget

2020/21 
Income

2020/21 
Revised 

MTFS 
Base 

Budget

Pay 
Inflation 
Costs

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

Proposed 
2021/22 
Budget

2021/22 
Proposed 
Employee 

Related 
Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 

Non - 
Employee 

Expenditure 
Budget

2021/22 
Proposed 

Gross 
Expenditure 

Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 
Income 
Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 
MTFS 
Budget 

Budget Area
£000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £'000

County Council Contingencies 9,209 4,170 13,379            -   13,379            -           1,707 -1,860 13,226 7,509 5,717 13,226                 -   13,226
Corporately Controlled Budgets              495 1,463 1,958            -   1,958            -                  -                      -   1,958 495 1,463 1,958                 -   1,958
Capital Financing & Interest Credits                 -   21,018 21,018 -3,235 17,783            -               731                    -   18,514 - 21,749 21,749 -3,235 18,514
Members and Elections 160 1,202 1,362            -   1,362          30                -                      -   1,392 190 1,202 1,392                 -   1,392

Total: Technical & Countywide 9,864 27,853 37,717 -3,235 34,482 30 2,438 -1,860 35,090 8,194 30,131 38,325 -3,235 35,090

P
age 149



APPENDIX 2

92

Medium Term Financial Planning Framework 2021/22 to 2023/24 Annex 4

Context

The purpose of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is to give financial expression to the 
Council Strategy for the next three year period. The MTFS sets out the Council’s high-level funded 
plan, for achieving its goals and priorities, balancing available financing and spending ambitions. It 
highlights the financial projections for financing, spending (revenue and capital), and reserves. The 
MTFS is prepared annually and covers the three year period 2021/22 to 2023/24. It links decisions 
on resource allocation with decisions on policy priorities as set out in the Council Strategy.
Principles
The principles underlying the MTFS are:

 Stable and sustainable budgets.

 Ensures resources are focused on the Council’s highest priorities

 Demonstrates value for money.

 Recognises risk and ensures an adequate level of financial protection against risk by 
maintaining a prudent, but not excessive, level of financial reserves.

 Secure understanding of sources of potential finance.

 Builds financial capacity for organisational change.

 Is flexible – to allow shifts in spending should circumstances change.

 Does not overburden the Council with future financial commitments, with a key aim being 
to continue to reduce debt over the period of the new MTFS, thereby releasing on going 
debt related revenue savings.

 Aligns on-going financing resources with on-going spending commitments.

Budget Assumptions

The 2021/22 Budget and MTFS has been produced using the following assumptions
 Council tax will increase by 1.99%.
 The Adult Social Care Levy of 2.76% will be applied in 2021/22
 A 0.28% growth in taxbase is assumed.
 An assumed pay increase of 2% plus any National Living Wage impact will apply to all Council 

employees, together with an additional provision of 0.75% for the 2020/21 pay award above that 
previously approved within the 2020/21 Budget. 

 Inflation – budgets will only be adjusted for inflation where there is a contractual commitment
 Fees and charges will be increased by inflation and any subsidies removed.
 The level of General Reserves will be assessed on a risk based approach 
 External Borrowing will be repaid as it matures and no new external borrowing is anticipated 

during the lifetime of this MTFS
 A limited amount of central contingency will be held to cover potential risk of unachievable 

savings 

Page 150



APPENDIX 2

93

Reserves & Balances Analysis Annex 5a
   

Balance at 
31st March 

2020

Forecast 
Transfers 

Out 2020/21

Forecast 
Transfers In     

2020/21

Forecast 
Balance at 
31st March 

2021

£,000s £,000s £,000s £,000s
Earmarked Reserves
Capital Fund 15,776 7,205-            2,012 10,583 1
Strategic Waste Reserve 3,809 1,497-            - 2,312 2
Transformation Reserve 4,554 4,108-            260 706 3
Invest to Save 2,465 - - 2,465 4
Insurance Fund 13,566 700-               - 12,866 5
Public Health 32 32-                 269 269 6
County Elections 700 - 200 900 7
Fire Joint Training Centre 1,040 51-                 - 989 8
Economic Stimulus Reserve 3,944 2,167-            - 1,777 9
Fire PFI Reserve - GFRS 3,711 - 106 3,817 10
Revenue Grant Reserves 28,767 15,987-          - 12,780 11
Rates Retention Reserve 8,454 2,291-            - 6,163 12
Education Funding Risk Reserve 216 216-               - - 13
Vulnerable Children Reserve 151 151-               36 36 14
Home to School Transport Reserve 28 - - 28 15
A417 Missing Link 2,791 1,032-            45 1,804 16
Adult Care 5,430 5,430-            - - 17
Communities & Infrastructure Reserve 831 822-               800 809 18
Traded Services & Shared Audit Service Reserves 427 262-               - 165 19
LED Renewables Reserve 675 170-               - 505 20
Other Reserves 303 1-                   - 302 21
Growing Our Communities 798 798-               - - 22
People Services Reserve 281 40-                 - 241 23
Minimum Wage Reserve 1,000 - - 1,000 24
Highways Act - Commuted Sum Reserve 2,058 - - 2,058 25
Ash Die Back Reserve - - 700 700 26
Earmarked Reserves ( Non School) 101,807 42,960-          4,428 63,275

Schools Related
School Balances 15,248 - - 15,248 27
Other Schools Related 93 - - 93 27
Dedicated Schools Reserve -6,716 7,716-            - -14,432 27
School Related 8,625 -7,716 - 909

Earmarked Reserves Total 110,432 -50,676 4,428 64,184

General Fund Balances 18,846 - - 18,846 28

Total Revenue Reserves 129,278 -50,676 4,428 83,030

Earmarked Capital Reserves
Capital Grant & Contributions Reserves 94,522 - - 94,522 29
Capital Receipts Reserve 20,544 - - 20,544 30
Total Capital Reserves 115,066 - - 115,066

Useable Reserves Total 244,344 -50,676 4,428 198,096

Reserve Detail Notes

Forecast of Projected Reserve Balances for 31st March 2021

Page 151



APPENDIX 2

94

Notes on Reserves

1. This is an earmarked reserve to provide funding for capital expenditure to prevent the 
need for external borrowing. All funds are earmarked for specific capital projects as 
agreed under the capital programme.

2. The strategic waste reserve is a smoothing reserve relating to the full contract life of the 
Energy from Waste project.

3. The transformation reserve was set up in 2009/10 to fund liabilities to pay for 
redundancy and one-off transformation costs associated with the MtC programme. 

4. The invest to save reserve supports projects that are designed to deliver on-going 
savings in the future by providing “pump priming” funding. 

5. Levels are based on external professional actuarial review and advice to mitigate the 
Council's insurance liability.

6. The public health reserve holds any unused balances from the Public Health Grant 
received by Government. 

7. The county elections reserve acts as a smoothing reserve to fund the costs associated 
with county council elections held every four years.  A budgeted annual contribution 
of
£0.2 million is annually made to this fund. 

8. The fire joint training reserve acts as an equalisation fund to smooth out revenue 
implications over the course of the PFI contract. PFI credits are received within the early 
years of the contract and need to be held to fund anticipated costs in the later years of 
the contract. Reserve balances are now expected to slowly reduce for the remaining of 
the contract to 2028.

9. The economic stimulus reserve is committed to fund a series of initiatives to support 
economic growth within Gloucestershire i.e. fastershire rural broadband and 
apprenticeship initiative. 

10. The fire PFI reserve acts as an equalisation fund to smooth out revenue implications 
over the course of the PFI contract. PFI credits are received within the early years of the 
contract and need to be held to fund anticipated costs in the later years of the contract. 
Reserve balances are therefore expected to peak in 2025, but then reduce over the 
next 13 years.

11. The revenue grants reserve is a technical reserve established, as required under 
accounting policies, for specific unapplied revenue grants where conditions related to 
the grant have been fully met. 

Page 152



APPENDIX 2

95

12. The Council receives part of its base funding through the Business Rates Retention 
system (BRR).  As a result the Council is subject to volatility around Business Rate 
collections. To smooth this volatility this reserve was created to top up any deficits.  This 
reserve is also used to manage the operation of the Business Rates Pool (and Pilot 
during 2018/19).  Surplus cash generated, or deficits needing to be funded, are 
managed via this reserve to ensure that there is no in year impact on the Budget.  Part 
of this reserve is ring fenced for economic development projects across the county, 
funded from surplus Pool money allocated to the Strategic Economic Development 
Fund, held by the Council on behalf of all Pool members. An approved transfer of 
£1.534 m was approved as part of the 2020/21 revenue budget.

13. The education funding smoothing reserve was established to finance any in-year 
funding adjustments made in relation to Academies.  A proposal was agreed at Cabinet 
in Jan 19 to use this reserve balance to pump prime hubs in 2019/20. The seven 
primary Local Inclusion Clusters have produced proposals to deliver inclusion projects 
across their local areas. For example, Tewkesbury District Partnership will run a pilot 
project that will focus upon improving pupil wellbeing, achievement and attendance 
through support programmes targeted at identified mental health needs that are most 
prevalent for the vulnerable pupils within primary schools.  The programme provides 
training to build and develop local expertise in ‘build happy hidden needs’, focussing 
specifically on dealing with loss, handling emotions and hidden needs. It is anticipated 
that the remaining balance within the reserve will be fully utilised in this financial year. 

14. The vulnerable children’s reserve was established to cover the budgetary risks 
associated with the fluctuations in demand led Children Services, such as agency 
placements, fostering allowances, special guardianship and care allowances

15. The home to school transport reserve was created in order to smooth out the budgetary 
pressures caused by the fluctuations in school transport days between financial years.

16. This reserve was established to support the upgrading of a section of the A417. 

17. Adult care reserve was established to cover the budgetary risks associated with the 
fluctuations in demand led adult services. 

18. This reserve was created to hold a number of small revenue carry forwards for 
Economy, Environment and Infrastructure services. 

19. The traded services & shared audit reserve was created to support activities to 
generate further traded income.  

20. This is the smoothing reserve for the repayment of the SALIX/SEELs repayments over 
7 years. 

21. This relates to a small number of specific reserves.

22. The Growing our Communities Reserve was established in 2018/19 to provide an 
annual contribution of £10,000 to each councillor to fund community based investments 
over a three year period (2018/19 to 2020/21). 

Page 153

http://www.build-happy.co.uk/buildhappy-hidden-needs/


APPENDIX 2

96

23. Reserve was established in 2017/18 to mitigate volatility risk to the service budgets 
within Adult and Children Services. 

24. Reserve was established in 2017/18 to mitigate volatility risk to the Adult Services 
budgets following Government changes to minimum wage legislation. 

25. This Reserve holds Highways Act Commuted sums and will be used to support future 
years revenue costs.

26. New Reserve to support the Ash Die Back protection programme as approved by 
Cabinet November 2020

27. It has been assumed that balances for Schools will remain at similar levels to those held 
at 31st March 2020. Following considerable funding pressures relating to the high 
needs services it is forecast that the Dedicated Schools Grant Reserve will be in a 
£14.4 million deficit at the end of 2020/21. A recovery plan is currently being developed 
and consulted with Schools Forum to rectify this position.

28. Assuming a balanced outturn position on the revenue budget for 2020/21 general 
reserves are forecast to remain at £18.86 million at 31 March 2021. In the event of an 
over spend position a draw down on general reserves will be required.

29. The capital grants & contributions reserve is a technical reserve established, as 
required under accounting policies, for specific unapplied capital grants & contributions 
where conditions related to the grant have been fully met. These fully committed funds 
will be used to support the capital programme from 2020/21 onwards. 

30. The capital receipts reserve holds capital receipts which have been received from 
approved property disposals. These receipts are held to finance the approved capital 
programme.

Page 154



APPENDIX 2

97

General Reserves Risk Analysis Annex 5b

Risk Risks & Quantification Likelihood & Value 
of Potential Call on 
Reserves 

Inadequate Reserves 
and Provisions

Reserves and provisions are assessed each year 
and are considered sufficient to cover known risks.

Low

£0m

Overspend on Service 
Expenditure

An amount is included for the potential risk of 
overspends in future years (excluding the risk on 
deliverability of budget proposals covered below). 
Volatility of between +\- 1% is possible given service 
delivery demand pressures.

High

£4.8m

Covid-19 Pandemic Additional costs associated with the Covid-19 
Pandemic, not matched with additional Government 
support grants will need to be funded to support the 
Council’s revenue budget. 

High

£2.0m

Major Emergency The Government has confirmed that the Bellwin 
Scheme will continue thereby limiting certain costs to 
be borne by the Council. It is assumed that only 
costs in excess than a £1m would be applicable 
under the scheme.

Medium

£1.0m

Robustness of 2021/22 
savings proposals

The 2021/22 budget proposals include £7.5m of 
savings proposals. It is prudent to include a risk 
regarding the deliverability of these proposals to 
allow for potential slippage on delivery. The £1.4m is 
based on a potential non achievement of 25% of the 
savings target – less £500k already in base budget. 

Medium

£1.4m

Known Contingent 
Liabilities – Pension 
Guarantees

The Council has guaranteed to cover the liabilities 
associated with the pensions of ex-employees 
following the transfers of council services to external 
bodies. These arrangements are monitored and 
future liabilities assessed. Any liabilities that occur 
would need to be funded from the General Fund.

Low

£0.5m

Grant Funding The Council receives grant funding to undertake one 
off projects both capital and revenue. There is a risk 
of grant clawback where projects do not meet their 
outputs, where they do not proceed, or the Council 
subsequently breaks the grant conditions. There is 
also a risk that expenditure will slip beyond the 
period of the grant so becoming ineligible and 
require financing from alternative resources.

Low

£1.0m

Treasury Management Whilst the Council attempts to minimise the risks 
when making treasury management investment 
decisions there is still a potential risk of a bank or 
financial institution in which the Council has invested 
collapsing or has a lower than anticipated yield. 

Low

£0.5m

Contractual Issues The Council has a wide range of contractual 
arrangements that could see unexpected financial 
pressures in the event of the bankruptcy of a 
supplier or compensation due as a result of a breach 

Medium

£1.0m

Page 155



APPENDIX 2

98

Risk Risks & Quantification Likelihood & Value 
of Potential Call on 
Reserves 

of procurement rules. 

Pay awards and other  
employee related 
changes 

The risk of the pay award exceeding the 2% 
provision included in the base budget for 2021/22 is 
considered extremely low. However an allowance 
has been included for and unexpected increases in 
NI – based on 0.5% of staffing costs...  

Low

£0.7m

Collection of Council 
Tax / NNDR

Fluctuations in council tax base figures could result 
in considerable pressure on the Councils revenue 
budget. 

Medium

£2.0m

Financial penalties as a 
result of a breach of 
GDPR / PCIDSS / 
HMRC rules

Increasingly local authorities are subject to a much 
tighter regulatory framework and breaches can 
potential attract large fines if the Council is deemed 
to have acted negligently 

Medium

£1.0m

Improvement Plans The Council is subject to a variety of statutory 
inspections. A poor inspection judgement may 
require the Council to implement immediate in year 
changes.

Medium

£0.5m

Estimated total risks £17.8m
Current level of Reserves £18.8m

Page 156



APPENDIX 2

99

Revenue Budget Forward Projections Annex 6

MTFS 2021/22 – 2023/24 – Forecast draft budgets based on funding assumptions 

  

2021/22 2022/23 2022/23
Forecast Forecast Forecast

£m £m £m
Original Base Budget 468.18 483.01 490.99

One off Budget Adjustments -7.94 -0.82 0.00

Revised Budget 460.24 482.19 490.99
Pay Inflation 4.08 3.14 3.21

Cost and Spending Pressures 25.45 18.39 20.33

Cost Reductions -6.76 -12.73 -11.10
Net Operating Budget 483.01 490.99 503.43

Less:-
Top Up Grant 54.24 56.86 57.95
Business Rates Income 23.25 21.95 22.35
Revenue Support Grant 8.22 8.51 8.68
Public Health Grant 24.77 25.27 25.27
Improved Better Care Fund 19.44 19.83 19.83
New Homes Bonus 1.91 0.56 0.56
Social Care Grant 15.79 13.99 13.99
Other Non Ring Fenced Grants 6.12 5.52 5.52
Collection Fund Deficit -0.82 -0.90 -0.90
Reserves 0.82 0.90 0.90

Council Tax Calculation

Council Tax Base ( Est) 233,653 235,522 238,282

Council Tax Band D Equivalent) £1,409.22 £1,437.26 £1,465.87

% Increase in Council Tax 4.75% 1.99% 1.99%

Budget to be met by Council Tax Payers
329.27 338.50 349.28

Page 157



APPENDIX 2

100

Annex 7
Capital Strategy 

2021/22 

Introduction

This capital strategy gives a high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital 
financing and treasury management activity contribute to the provision of local public 
services along with an overview of how associated risk is managed and the implications 
for future financial sustainability. 

Decisions made this year on capital and treasury management will have financial consequences 
for the Council for many years into the future. They are therefore subject to both a national 
regulatory framework and to local policy framework, summarised in this annex.

Capital Expenditure and Financing

Capital expenditure is where the Council spends money on assets, such as property or 
vehicles that will be used for more than one year. In local government this includes 
spending on assets owned by other bodies, and loans and grants to other bodies 
enabling them to buy assets.  Subject to all Financial Regulations and Accounting 
Instructions, Directors have the authority to incur expenditure provided in the capital 
programme approved by the County Council.

Expenditure may not be incurred if it is contrary to, or not wholly in accordance with, the 
Policy Framework or Capital Programme.  Virements and changes to approved capital 
schemes can be made in accordance with the Accounting Instructions.

In 2021/22, the Budget set for planned capital expenditure is £221.9 million– planned 
capital expenditure for other financial years is summarised below.  

 
Table 1: Estimates of Capital Expenditure

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
General Fund services 88.460 123.473 221.948 78.985 222.168
PFI and Finance Leases 80.369 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
TOTAL 168.829 123.473 221.948 78.985 222.168

Estimates of Capital Expenditure

Governance: 

For the majority of service areas service managers bid annually to include projects in the 
Council’s capital programme.  The Council’s project appraisal process will be the 
methodology employed to evaluate schemes included in the MTFS. The elements are:

 Scheme description
 Fit against the Council’s priorities
 Costs including whole life costs and scheme phasing
 Available funding and source

Page 158



APPENDIX 2

101

 Revenue consequences
 Risk assessment
 VAT issues
 Planning and site issues
 Target dates

Analysis of existing approved schemes will be carried out at each MTFS refresh to 
identify all “non-committed” schemes. If necessary these will be re-prioritised against 
other priority schemes awaiting approval.  Capital resources will be made available to 
deliver schemes that meet the Council’s “invest to save” criteria.

All Highway related projects, with a few limited exceptions are subjected to a 
mathematical assessment process applicable to the area of the service involved.  The 
exceptions are the allocations that are set aside for reactive works which relates to urgent 
work necessary to keep the network in a safe and operational state, Community Offer 
where we match contributions from the community and low cost minor works where we 
react on a local basis to needs. 

The Council has a statutory obligation to ensure there are sufficient local school places 
available across the County.  The capital and grant funding it receives is prioritised 
against schemes which have been identified to meet forecast growth (basic need) in 
areas where additional places are required and where the condition of the school’s 
infrastructure needs updating and replacing. Annual monitoring of pupils forecasts and 
housing, together with annual inspections of school site and premises ensure the 
information is up to date to inform planned decisions.  The Council produced a draft 
School Places Strategy document (2018- 2023).  The strategy, which was approved by 
Cabinet in December 2018, is a key framework document for the Council in considering 
any statutory proposals for changes to school organisation including the commissioning 
of new schools and will inform future capital investment priorities. 

The final capital programme is presented to Cabinet in January and to Council in 
February each year.

Full details of the Council’s current capital programme can be found in the MTFS: 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/performance-and-
spending/budget-and-medium-term-financial-strategy/

Financing Capital Expenditure

All capital expenditure must be financed, either from external sources (government grants 
and other contributions), the Council’s own resources (revenue, reserves and capital 
receipts) or debt (including internal borrowing), leasing and Private Finance Initiative). 
The planned financing of the above expenditure is as follows:

Page 159

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/performance-and-spending/budget-and-medium-term-financial-strategy/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/performance-and-spending/budget-and-medium-term-financial-strategy/


APPENDIX 2

102

 
Table 2: Financing the Capital Programme

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
External Sources 58.087 84.190 138.670 36.614 200.018
Internal Resources, Capital 12.602 20.068 34.951 11.304 2.001
Internal Resources, Revenue 5.786 6.900 10.309 2.667 0.949
Debt 11.985 12.315 38.018 28.400 19.200
Sub Total 88.460 123.473 221.948 78.985 222.168
PFI and Finance Leases 80.369 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Total 168.829 123.473 221.948 78.985 222.168

Capital Financing

Debt is only a temporary source of finance, since loans and leases must be repaid, and 
this is therefore replaced over time by other financing, usually from revenue which is 
known as the minimum revenue provision (MRP) and leased PFI assets are financed via 
lease payments.  Alternatively, proceeds from selling capital assets (known as capital 
receipts) may be used to replace debt finance. Planned MRP. PFI and lease payments 
are as follows (there are no plans to use capital receipts in this way at the current time):

  
Table 3: Replacement of Debt Finance

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Minimum Revenue Provision 6.600 7.079 7.570 8.600 9.374
PFI and Finance Leases 1.098 1.338 1.177 1.468 1.268
Total 7.698 8.418 8.747 10.067 10.642

Replacement of Debt Finance

MRP is increasing due to additional unfunded capital spend included as part of the 
approved capital programme, details of which can be found in the MTFS.  The Council’s 
full MRP statement is available within the Treasury Management Strategy, Annex 10 of 
the MTFS.

The Council’s cumulative outstanding amount of debt finance is measured by the capital 
financing requirement (CFR). This increases with new debt-financed capital expenditure 
and reduces with MRP payments and capital receipts used to replace debt.  Based on 
the above figures for expenditure and financing, the Council’s estimated CFR is as 
follows:

Page 160



APPENDIX 2

103

  
Table 4: Capital Financing requirement

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
General Fund services 291.436 296.671 327.119 346.919 356.746
PFI and Finance Leases 98.408 97.070 95.893 94.425 93.157
TOTAL CFR 389.844 393.741 423.012 441.345 449.903

Capital Financing Requirement

Asset management: 

To ensure that capital assets continue to be of long-term use, the Council has an asset 
management strategy in place. This document seeks to align the asset portfolio with the 
needs of the Council.  

The Council’s asset management strategy is available on the Council’s website, 
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk

Asset disposals: 

When a capital asset is no longer needed, it may be sold so that the proceeds, known as 
capital receipts, can be spent on new assets or to repay debt.  Since 2016/17 new capital 
receipts can also be used to fund the revenue costs of transformation projects designed 
to generate ongoing revenue savings in the delivery of public services and / or to 
transform service delivery in a way that reduces costs or demand for services in the 
future.  The proposed budget 2021/22 does not anticipate the use of capital receipts in 
this way, however given the on going transformation programme and the financial 
challenges faced by the Council as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic it may become 
necessary to consider using capital receipts in this flexible manner in future. Using capital 
receipts in this way will require the approval of the County Council. 

Repayments of capital grants, loans and investments also generate capital receipts. The Council 
plans to receive £21.5 million of capital receipts in the coming financial year as follows:

 
Table 5: Capital Receipts

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Asset sales 12.602 9.962 21.502 17.962 3.750
Investment Platform 0.037 0.035 0.028 0.000 0.000
TOTAL 12.639 9.997 21.530 17.962 3.750

Capital receipts

Page 161

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/


APPENDIX 2

104

Treasury Management

Treasury management is concerned with keeping sufficient but not excessive cash 
available to meet the Council’s spending needs, while managing the risks involved.  
Surplus cash is invested until required, while a shortage of cash will be met by borrowing, 
to avoid excessive credit balances or overdrafts in the bank current account.  The Council 
is typically cash rich in the short-term as revenue income is received before it is spent, 
but cash poor in the long-term as capital expenditure is incurred before being financed.  
The revenue cash surpluses are offset against capital cash shortfalls to reduce overall 
borrowing. 

Due to decisions taken in the past, the Council currently has £261.8 million borrowing as 
at the end of March 2021 at an average interest rate of 4.72% and £362.3 million treasury 
investments at an average rate of 1.273%, projected as at the end of March 2021. 

Borrowing strategy: 

The Council is currently holding all new long term external borrowing requirements 
internally.  However, should the Council need to externalise this debt or take short term 
debt for cash flow purposes the main objectives when borrowing will be to achieve a low 
but certain cost of finance, while retaining flexibility should plans change in future.  These 
objectives are often conflicting, and the Council therefore seeks to strike a balance 
between cheap short-term loans (currently available at around 0.15%) and long-term 
fixed rate loans where the future cost is known but higher (currently 1.5 to 2.5%).

Projected levels of the Council’s total outstanding debt (which comprises borrowing and 
PFI liabilities are shown below, compared with the capital financing requirement (see 
above).  
Table 6: Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Debt (incl. Other Liabilities) 368.194 358.893 347.771 334.203 324.935
Capital Financing Requirement 389.844 393.741 423.012 441.345 449.903

Gross Debt and the Capital Financing 
Requirement 

Statutory guidance is that debt should remain below the capital financing requirement, 
except in the short-term. As can be seen from table 6, the Council complies with this in 
the medium to longer term. 

Liability benchmark: 

To compare the Council’s actual borrowing against an alternative strategy, a liability 
benchmark has been calculated showing minimum level of borrowing required to keep 
investments at a minimum level.  This benchmark is currently -£13.0 million as a result of 
the historical borrowing portfolio of the Council and the level of balances and reserves.  
The benchmark is forecast to increase to £44.5 million over the next three years due to 
the additional borrowing proposed.  In effect, this is saying that if we had no additional 

Page 162



APPENDIX 2

105

investment balances / surplus cash during 2020/21 the Council would not need to borrow 
currently to support the capital programme.    

 
Table 7: Borrowing and the Liability Benchmark

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Outstanding borrowing 269.786 261.823 251.878 239.778 231.778
Liability benchmark -38.964 -13.029 15.019 34.719 44.546

Borrowing and the Liability 
Benchmark 

The table shows that the Council expects to remain borrowed above its liability 
benchmark in the medium term.  This is because the Council has a large historic debt 
portfolio, and due to the high premiums that would be incurred on the early repayment of 
this debt, it is not currently feasible to reduce the level of borrowing.  Any new debt 
requirements are currently held internally, reducing the cost of carry and this additional 
debt results in the Council being above the liability benchmark from 2021/22.  This new 
debt would only be externalised if it become uneconomical to hold it internally.

The purpose of the liability benchmark is to assist the Council when making decisions 
about affordability of the capital programme and the need to borrow in the future.

Affordable borrowing limit: 

The Council is legally obliged to set an affordable borrowing limit (also termed the 
authorised limit for external debt) each year and to keep it under review.  In line with 
statutory guidance, a lower “operational boundary” is also set as a warning level should 
debt approach the limit.

 
Table 8: Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary for External Debt

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Limit Limit Limit Limit Limit
£m £m £m £m £m

Total Authorised Limit for External 
Debt and Other Liabilities 440.000 455.000 500.000 500.000 495.000

Split: External Debt 341.592 357.930 404.107 405.575 401.843
Other Liabilities 98.408 97.070 95.893 94.425 93.157

Total Operational Boundary for 
External Debt 420.000 435.000 480.000 480.000 475.000

Split: External Debt 321.592 337.930 384.107 385.575 381.843
Other Liabilities 98.408 97.070 95.893 94.425 93.157

Authorised limit and operational 
boundary 

Further details on borrowing are available within the treasury management strategy at 
Annex 10 below.  The Council’s proposed capital programme will be contained within 
these affordability limits.

Page 163



APPENDIX 2

106

Treasury Investment strategy: 

Treasury investments arise from receiving cash before it is paid out again.  Investments 
made for service reasons or for pure financial gain are not generally considered to be 
part of treasury management however MHCLG guidance requires that an non treasury 
management Investment Strategy is maintained and can be included as part of the 
Treasury Management Strategy.

The Council’s policy on treasury investments is to prioritise security and liquidity over 
yield that is to focus on minimising risk rather than maximising returns. Cash that is likely 
to be spent in the near term is invested securely, for example with the government, other 
local authorities or selected high-quality banks, to minimise the risk of loss. Money that 
will be held for longer terms is invested more widely, including in bonds, shares and 
property, to balance the risk of loss against the risk of receiving returns below inflation. 
Both near-term and longer-term investments may be held in pooled funds, where an 
external fund manager makes decisions on which particular investments to buy and the 
Council may request its money back at short notice.

Following the Motion agreed by Council in November 2019 the Council has developed 
and implemented a Responsible Investment Policy, which rules out new investments in 
fossil fuel companies. 

 
Table 9: Treasury Manasgement Investments

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Near-term investments 180.4 146.5 108.5 76.7 58.8
Longer-term investments 121.9 121.9 121.9 121.9 121.9
TOTAL 302.3 268.4 230.4 198.6 180.7

Treasury Management Investments

Further details on treasury investments are within the Treasury Management and 
Investment strategy, Annex 10.

Governance: 

Decisions on treasury management investment and borrowing are made daily and are 
therefore delegated to the Section 151 Officer and staff, who must act in line with the 
treasury management strategy approved by annually by Council in February.  Regular 
reports on treasury management activity are presented to Audit and Governance 
Committee.  The Audit and Governance Committee is responsible for scrutinising 
treasury management decisions.

Page 164



APPENDIX 2

107

Investments for Service Purposes

The Council makes investments to assist local public services; this could include making 
loans to local service providers, small businesses to promote economic growth and 
Council subsidiaries that provide services.  In light of the public service objective, the 
Council is willing to take more risk than with treasury investments, however it still plans 
for such investments to break even after all costs.

Governance: 

Decisions on service investments are made by the relevant service manager in 
consultation with the Section 151 Officer and must meet the criteria and limits laid down 
in Accounting Regulations and the Treasury Management and Investment Strategy.  
Most loans and shares are capital expenditure and significant purchases will be approved 
as part of the capital programme.

Further details on service investments are within the Treasury Management and 
Investment Strategy, Annex 10.

Commercial Activities

With central government financial support for local public services declining, many local 
authorities have invested in commercial property for financial gain.  

With financial return being the main objective, Council’s will generally accept higher risk 
on commercial investment, in line with business cases, than it would for treasury 
investments. The principal risk exposure includes gaps in rental income, falls in capital 
value, delays in occupation.  Should the Council choose to pursue commercial activities, 
the risks will be managed in line with a comprehensive business case. 

Governance: 

Decisions on commercial investments will be made by the Section 151 Officer in line with 
the criteria and limits approved by full Council in the Treasury Management and 
Investment Strategy.  Property and most other commercial investments are also capital 
expenditure and purchases will therefore also be approved as part of the capital 
programme.

Further details on commercial activities are within the Treasury Management and 
Investment Strategy, Annex 10.

Page 165



APPENDIX 2

108

Revenue Budget Implications

Although capital expenditure is not charged directly to the revenue budget, interest 
payable on loans and MRP payments are charged to revenue, offset by any investment 
income receivable.  The net annual charge is known as financing costs; this is compared 
to the net revenue stream i.e. the amount funded from Council Tax, business rates and 
general government grants. 

  
Table 10: Proportion of financing costs to net revenue stream

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Proportion of Financing Costs to Net 
Revenue Stream 5.78% 6.20% 6.23% 6.63% 6.70%

Further details on the revenue implications of capital expenditure are within Annex 8 of 
this MTFS.

Sustainability: 

Due to the very long-term nature of capital expenditure and financing, the revenue budget 
implications of expenditure incurred in the next few years will extend for up to 50 years 
into the future. The Section 151 Officer is satisfied that the proposed capital programme 
is prudent, affordable and sustainable because new schemes are robustly challenged 
through the capital bid process.

Knowledge and Skills

The Council employs professionally qualified and experienced staff in senior positions 
with responsibility for making capital expenditure, borrowing and investment decisions.  
The Council pays for staff to study towards relevant professional qualifications.

Where Council staff do not have the knowledge and skills required, use is made of 
external advisers and consultants that are specialists in their field. The Council currently 
employs Arlingclose Limited as treasury management advisers.  

Asset valuations are co-ordinated internally by the Council’s Valuation Service Team, 
with valuations carried out through a combination of the Council’s internal valuers and, 
where necessary, external valuers (RICS qualified). The Valuation Service Team ensures 
all valuations are carried out in accordance with the methodologies and bases for 
estimation set out in the professional standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered 
Surveyors.

Page 166



APPENDIX 2

109

Annex 8a 

Capital Programme 2020/21

MEDIUM TERM CAPITAL PROGRAMME - COUNTY COUNCIL SERVICES
FINANCING STATEMENT

----------------------    Profiled Budget   ---------------------- Total Prior Total 
Future Still Years Scheme

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Years Required Actual Investment
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

GROSS PAYMENTS

Adults 9,757 12,587 1,800 0 0 24,144 9,245 33,389
Children's Services:
Schools 21,232 63,780 12,373 1,507 200 99,092 41,339 140,431
Non Schools 450 1,686 2,500 1,250 0 5,886 3,254 9,140
Economy, Environment & Infrastructure :
Highways 68,415 85,882 35,292 202,321 2,300 394,210 163,935 558,145
Strategic Infrastructure 2,881 2,766 2,534 2,540 0 10,721 8,793 19,514
Waste Disposal 580 316 51 0 0 947 338 1,285
Libraries 408 1,032 0 0 0 1,440 1,141 2,581
Community Safety:
Fire & Rescue Service 1,426 2,720 1,520 0 0 5,666 974 6,640
Trading Standards 39 0 0 0 0 39 0 39
Corporate Resources:
AMPS 12,304 27,656 7,255 0 0 47,215 7,309 54,524
ICT Projects 4,271 10,041 2,900 2,050 2,550 21,812 9,421 31,233
Business Service Centre 831 12,787 12,720 12,500 12,500 51,338 13 51,351
Archives & Information Management 51 25 0 0 0 76 3,504 3,580
Customer 828 670 40 0 0 1,538 819 2,357
Total 123,473 221,948 78,985 222,168 17,550 664,124 250,085 914,209

AVAILABLE RESOURCES

Revenue Contributions 832 627 0 0 0 1,459
Section 106 Contributions 3,849 5,066 0 0 0 8,915
Capital Fund 3,675 8,164 2,862 876 0 15,577
Other External Contributions 1,269 277 0 73 0 1,619
External Grant - including Government 79,072 133,327 36,414 200,018 0 448,831
Other Reserves 2,393 1,518 5 0 0 3,916
Capital Receipts 20,068 34,951 11,304 2,001 0 68,324
Internal Borrowing 12,315 38,018 28,400 19,200 17,550 115,483
Other - including Borrowing 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total 123,473 221,948 78,985 222,168 17,550 664,124

Surplus/deficit (-) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Page 167



APPENDIX 2

110

Capital Programme 2021/22 Budget

Scheme Name
Total Scheme

Budget
Prior Years 

Actuals 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Future Years
Revenue 
Contrib

S106 
External 
Contrib Capital Fund

Other 
External 
Contrib

External 
Grant

Other 
Reserves

Capital 
Receipts 

Internal 
Borrowing

Other incl. 
Borrowing

Total for 
Remaining Life    

Prior Years 
Funding

Funding of 
budget total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Summary by service area
Adults 33,389 9,245 9,757 12,587 1,800 0 0 0 0 0 0 20,467 0 3,677 0 0 24,144 9,245 33,389
Schools 140,431 41,339 21,232 63,780 12,373 1,507 200 0 3,633 183 0 79,276 0 0 16,000 0 99,092 41,339 140,431
Children's Services - Non-Schools 9,140 3,254 450 1,686 2,500 1,250 0 0 0 0 0 131 0 380 5,375 0 5,886 3,254 9,140
Highways 558,145 163,935 68,415 85,882 35,292 202,321 2,300 1398 4,777 2,974 1,546 348,297 0 7,203 28,015 0 394,210 163,935 558,145
Strategic Infrastructure 19,514 8,793 2,881 2,766 2,534 2,540 0 0 17 1,731 73 360 3,763 4,777 0 0 10,721 8,793 19,514
Waste Disposal 1,285 338 580 316 51 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 104 743 100 0 947 338 1,285
Libraries 2,581 1,141 408 1,032 0 0 0 0 478 0 0 21 0 941 0 0 1,440 1,141 2,581
Fire & Rescue 6,640 974 1,426 2,720 1,520 0 0 61 0 82 0 124 38 5,361 0 0 5,666 974 6,640
Trading Standards 39 0 39 0 0 0 0 0 0 39 0 0 0 0 0 0 39 0 39
AMPS 54,524 7,309 12,304 27,656 7,255 0 0 0 10 4,555 0 154 0 34,946 7,550 0 47,215 7,309 54,524
ICT Projects 31,233 9,421 4,271 10,041 2,900 2,050 2,550 0 0 5,913 0 1 0 7,455 8,443 0 21,812 9,421 31,233
Archives & Information Management 3,580 3,504 51 25 0 0 0 0 0 20 0 0 11 45 0 0 76 3,504 3,580
Customer 2,357 819 828 670 40 0 0 0 0 80 0 0 0 1,458 0 0 1,538 819 2,357
Business Service Centre 51,351 13 831 12,787 12,720 12,500 12,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,338 50,000 0 51,338 13 51,351

Total Capital Programme 914,209 250,085 123,473 221,948 78,985 222,168 17,550 1,459 8,915 15,577 1,619 448,831 3,916 68,324 115,483 0 664,124 250,085 914,209

Adults
ERIC Replacement 1,897 1,482 415 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 415 0 0 0 0 415 1,482 1,897
Community Capacity Grant 290 0 0 290 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 290 0 0 0 0 290 0 290
Supported Living Accommodation Fairford 730 2 100 628 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 728 0 0 0 0 728 2 730
H.O.L.D. Scheme 654 122 250 282 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 532 0 0 0 0 532 122 654
Transitions for Life 450 0 0 450 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 450 0 0 0 0 450 0 450
Community Capacity/Market Management 5,100 123 200 3,050 1,727 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,300 0 3,677 0 0 4,977 123 5,100
Disabled Facilities Grant 19/20 9,076 5,495 3,581 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,581 0 0 0 0 3,581 5,495 9,076
Disabled Facilities Grant 20/21 6,843 0 5,096 1,747 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6,843 0 0 0 0 6,843 0 6,843
Schemes under £250,000 20/21 onwards 2,319 2,021 115 110 73 0 0 0 0 0 0 298 0 0 0 0 298 2,021 2,319
New Starts 2021/22 onwards
Disabled Facilities Grant 2021/22 (estimate) 6,030 0 0 6,030 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6,030 0 0 0 0 6,030 0 6,030

Total Adults 33,389 9,245 9,757 12,587 1,800 0 0 0 0 0 0 20,467 0 3,677 0 0 24,144 9,245 33,389

Schools
Alderman Knight expansion 1,900 0 1,040 810 50 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,900 0 0 0 0 1,900 0 1,900
Battledown expansion 550 0 300 250 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 550 0 0 0 0 550 0 550
Belmont expansion 450 0 60 390 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 450 0 0 0 0 450 0 450
New SEMH Special School 9,750 2 498 9,250 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9,748 0 0 0 0 9,748 2 9,750
Chipping Campden School Performing Arts 722 186 236 300 0 0 0 0 536 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 536 186 722
Rednock School sports hall 309 38 200 71 0 0 0 0 271 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 271 38 309
The Cotswold School expansion 5,800 185 2,200 3,365 50 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,615 0 0 0 0 5,615 185 5,800
Winchcombe School expansion 4,700 164 2,000 2,536 0 0 0 0 107 0 0 4,429 0 0 0 0 4,536 164 4,700
New Secondary School, Cheltenham 30,000 1,234 4,766 15,000 9,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 13,766 0 0 15,000 0 28,766 1,234 30,000
Healthy Pupils Capital Fund 18/19 409 0 409 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 409 0 0 0 0 409 0 409
Basic Need Grant 2020/21 5,035 0 0 5,035 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,035 0 0 0 0 5,035 0 5,035
Schools Condition Allocation 2020/21 3,640 0 0 3,640 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,640 0 0 0 0 3,640 0 3,640
Ashchurch Primary replace temps 1,000 60 750 150 40 0 0 0 236 0 0 704 0 0 0 0 940 60 1,000
Bourton-on-the-Water Primary expansion 1,004 522 442 40 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 482 0 0 0 0 482 522 1,004
Parton Manor Junior additional classbase 300 20 250 30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 280 0 0 0 0 280 20 300
Warden Hill Primary expansion 6,503 46 600 2,150 2,500 1,207 0 0 0 0 0 6,457 0 0 0 0 6,457 46 6,503
St. David's Primary expansion 1,500 203 150 850 297 0 0 0 997 0 0 300 0 0 0 0 1,297 203 1,500
The John Moore Primary expansion 2,188 1,526 662 0 0 0 0 0 349 0 0 313 0 0 0 0 662 1,526 2,188
Winchcombe Abbey Primary expansion 1,500 109 5 1,386 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,391 0 0 0 0 1,391 109 1,500
Leckhampton Primary expansion 4,287 1,190 1,527 1,570 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,097 0 0 0 0 3,097 1,190 4,287
Hunts Grove, ICT/FFE 406 34 125 125 122 0 0 0 0 0 0 372 0 0 0 0 372 34 406
Bishops Cleeve New Primary School 11,000 30 50 10,920 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10,970 0 0 0 0 10,970 30 11,000
Capital Maintenance Contingency 20/21 1,930 0 1,930 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,930 0 0 0 0 1,930 0 1,930
Schemes under £250,000 20/21 onwards 40,048 35,790 3,032 1,112 114 0 0 0 1,137 183 0 2,938 0 0 0 0 4,258 35,790 40,048

Financing for Remaining Life (2020/21 onwards)

P
age 168



APPENDIX 2

111

Capital Programme 2021/22 Budget

Scheme Name
Total Scheme

Budget
Prior Years 

Actuals 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Future Years
Revenue 
Contrib

S106 
External 
Contrib Capital Fund

Other 
External 
Contrib

External 
Grant

Other 
Reserves

Capital 
Receipts 

Internal 
Borrowing

Other incl. 
Borrowing

Total for 
Remaining Life    

Prior Years 
Funding

Funding of 
budget total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

New Starts 2021/22 onwards
Carbon Reduction support for education projects 1,000 0 0 300 200 300 200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,000 0 1,000 0 1,000
Schools Condition Allocation 2021/22 (estimate) 4,500 0 0 4,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,500 0 0 0 0 4,500 0 4,500

Total Schools 140,431 41,339 21,232 63,780 12,373 1,507 200 0 3,633 183 0 79,276 0 0 16,000 0 99,092 41,339 140,431

Children's Services - Non-Schools
Trevone House 2,854 2,474 380 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 380 0 0 380 2,474 2,854
Schemes under £250,000 20/21 onwards 911 780 70 61 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 131 0 0 0 0 131 780 911
New Starts 2021/22 onwards
Barnwood Residential home 375 0 0 375 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 375 0 375 0 375
Southfields – Semi Independent Accommodation 2,500 0 0 0 1,250 1,250 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,500 0 2,500 0 2,500
Townsend House 2,500 0 0 1,250 1,250 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,500 0 2,500 0 2,500

Total Children's Services - Non-Schools 9,140 3,254 450 1,686 2,500 1,250 0 0 0 0 0 131 0 380 5,375 0 5,886 3,254 9,140

Highways
PROW Capital Works - MTFS 2020-21 750 0 150 150 150 300 0 0 0 750 0 0 0 0 0 0 750 0 750
A435 Charlton Hill Cheltenham Phase 2 1,031 169 432 430 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 862 0 0 0 0 862 169 1,031
A46 Coopers Hill South - Site 2 Slip 2,021 183 1,475 363 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,838 0 0 0 0 1,838 183 2,021
London Road Gloucester - Active Travel 296 0 86 210 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 296 0 0 0 0 296 0 296
B4063 Gloucester to Chelt Cycle Route 2,030 0 1,165 865 0 0 0 173 0 0 0 1,857 0 0 0 0 2,030 0 2,030
Support for Stroud Water Canal Reopening 466 175 0 291 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 291 0 0 0 0 291 175 466
M5 Junction10 Improvement Schemes 249,132 0 5,935 11,362 33,114 198,721 0 0 0 0 0 249,132 0 0 0 0 249,132 0 249,132
Lydney Harbour Project 1,400 0 1,221 179 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,400 0 0 0 0 0 1,400 0 1,400
A38 Canal Bridges 4,500 1,392 3,061 47 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,108 0 0 0 0 3,108 1,392 4,500
Gloucester South West Bypass - Llanthony 7,462 1,269 1,256 4,937 0 0 0 0 128 0 0 6,065 0 0 0 0 6,193 1,269 7,462
Cross Keys Roundabout Improvements 3,809 2,783 100 926 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,026 0 0 0 0 1,026 2,783 3,809
Cheltenham to Bishops Cleeve Cycle Track 1,027 289 650 88 0 0 0 0 738 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 738 289 1,027
Honeybourne Cycle ext A40 Lansdown 417 50 0 367 0 0 0 0 307 0 0 60 0 0 0 0 367 50 417
A419 Improvements (Stonehouse to M5) 5,588 4,223 1,225 140 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,365 0 0 0 0 1,365 4,223 5,588
Arle Court - WCTIS Ph1 9,231 2,237 4,622 2,372 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6,994 0 0 0 0 6,994 2,237 9,231
Junction 11 - WCTIS Ph2 4,480 946 766 2,768 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,534 0 0 0 0 3,534 946 4,480
Telstar Way - WCTIS Ph3 8,063 558 2,866 4,639 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7,505 0 0 0 0 7,505 558 8,063
Pedestrian & Cycle Works – WCTIS Ph5 1,600 74 561 965 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,526 0 0 0 0 1,526 74 1,600
A435 Bishops Cl' to Racecourse Capacity 1,234 151 522 561 0 0 0 0 1,083 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,083 151 1,234
Telstar Way/Hubble Road 456 0 80 376 0 0 0 0 456 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 456 0 456
LED Streetlighting Major Project 20,974 18,860 1,314 400 400 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,114 0 0 2,114 18,860 20,974
Street Column Structural Test & Repair 2,167 1,894 273 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 273 0 0 0 0 273 1,894 2,167
Column Replacement - LED Project 4,003 3,141 662 200 0 0 0 0 0 0 862 0 0 0 0 862 3,141 4,003
Highmasts - A430 Metz Way Gloucester 1,077 351 70 328 328 0 0 0 0 687 0 39 0 0 0 0 726 351 1,077
StLight Column Replacement 800 0 200 200 200 200 0 0 0 800 0 0 0 0 0 0 800 0 800
Concrete Road Renewal Unallocated 3,000 0 0 3,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,000 0 0 0 0 3,000 0 3,000
Tintern Wireworks Bridge B575 1,540 9 61 1,470 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,531 0 0 0 0 1,531 9 1,540
Winchcombe Station Bridge 775 Bearings 378 1 377 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 377 0 0 0 0 377 1 378
Cleveland Bridge - 557 1,058 459 599 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 599 0 0 0 0 599 459 1,058
Bamfurlong Depot - BadgeworthTEWKS 4,629 0 0 4,629 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,629 0 0 4,629 0 4,629
Gouda Way/Hare Lane TS-016 265 4 203 58 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 261 0 0 0 0 261 4 265
GIRR Worcester St Junction 1 TS-131 283 4 279 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 279 0 0 0 0 279 4 283
North Place/Portland 298 0 298 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 298 0 0 0 0 298 0 298
Minor Works 1,944 0 1,944 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,944 0 0 0 0 1,944 0 1,944
C'Ways - Class A Roads: Struct Maint 6,996 0 6,796 200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,996 0 0 5,000 0 6,996 0 6,996
C'Ways - Class B Roads: Struct Maint 4,405 0 4,205 200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,405 0 0 3,000 0 4,405 0 4,405
C'ways - Class 3 Roads: Struct Maint 8,053 0 7,853 200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,038 0 0 3,015 0 8,053 0 8,053
C'ways - Unclassified: Struct Maint 3,311 0 3,111 200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,311 0 0 2,000 0 3,311 0 3,311
Footways: Structural Maintenance 2,458 0 2,458 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,458 0 0 0 0 2,458 0 2,458
Reactive Works 3,381 0 2,594 787 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,381 0 0 0 0 3,381 0 3,381
Bulk Lining and Studs 1,000 435 115 450 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 565 0 0 0 0 565 435 1,000
Advance Design 587 323 238 26 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 264 0 0 0 0 264 323 587
Schemes under £250,000 20/21 onwards 136,940 123,955 8,592 4,393 0 0 0 725 2,065 737 146 8,852 0 460 0 0 12,985 123,955 136,940

Financing for Remaining Life (2020/21 onwards)

P
age 169



APPENDIX 2

112

Capital Programme 2021/22 Budget

Scheme Name
Total Scheme

Budget
Prior Years 

Actuals 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Future Years
Revenue 
Contrib

S106 
External 
Contrib Capital Fund

Other 
External 
Contrib

External 
Grant

Other 
Reserves

Capital 
Receipts 

Internal 
Borrowing

Other incl. 
Borrowing

Total for 
Remaining Life    

Prior Years 
Funding

Funding of 
budget total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

New Starts 2021/22 onwards
Life Expired Steel Lighting Columns 600 0 0 100 100 100 300 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 600 0 600 0 600
Inflationary pressures on structural Maintenance delivery 2,000 0 0 0 1,000 1,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,000 0 2,000 0 2,000
B4063 cycle route 9,470 0 0 9,470 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6,470 0 0 3,000 0 9,470 0 9,470
M5 Junction 10 improvements 4,000 0 0 0 0 2,000 2,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,000 0 4,000 0 4,000
Bamfurlong replacement highway depot 400 0 0 400 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 400 0 400 0 400
A Roads Struct Maint 2021/22 5,882 0 0 5,882 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,867 0 0 2,015 0 5,882 0 5,882
B Roads Struct Maint 2021/22 1,701 0 0 1,701 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,118 0 0 583 0 1,701 0 1,701
Class 3 Roads Struct Maint 2021/22 2,828 0 0 2,828 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,859 0 0 969 0 2,828 0 2,828
Unclassified Roads Struct Maint 2021/22 497 0 0 497 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 327 0 0 170 0 497 0 497
Reactive Works 3,685 0 0 3,685 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,422 0 0 1,263 0 3,685 0 3,685
Data collection inc SCRIM data and signing 130 0 0 130 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 130 0 0 0 0 130 0 130
Coring & Assessment 2021/22 200 0 0 200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 200 0 0 0 0 200 0 200
Capital Minor Works (MTC3) 2021/22 2,000 0 0 2,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,000 0 0 0 0 2,000 0 2,000
Footway and Cycleway Maint 2021/22 550 0 0 550 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 550 0 0 0 0 550 0 550
PROW resurfacing 25 0 0 25 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 25 0 0 0 0 25 0 25
Highway Safety Features 2021/22 240 0 0 240 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 240 0 0 0 0 240 0 240
Bridges and Walls 2021/22 1,663 0 0 1,663 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,663 0 0 0 0 1,663 0 1,663
Street Lighting 2021/22 800 0 0 800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 800 0 0 0 0 800 0 800
Drainage 2021/22 500 0 0 500 0 0 0 500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 500 0 500
Traffic Signals 2021/22 1,000 0 0 1,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,000 0 0 0 0 1,000 0 1,000
Slips 2021/22 1,500 0 0 1,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,500 0 0 0 0 1,500 0 1,500
Large and Miscellaneous Schemes 2021/22 2,400 0 0 2,400 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,400 0 0 0 0 2,400 0 2,400
Parking 2021/22 250 0 0 250 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 250 0 0 0 0 250 0 250
Public Transport Infrastructure 2021/22 150 0 0 150 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 150 0 0 0 0 150 0 150
Cycle Infrastructure 2021/22 100 0 0 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 100 0 0 0 0 100 0 100
Safety Schemes 2021/22 400 0 0 400 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 400 0 0 0 0 400 0 400
Accessibility & Community 2021/22 150 0 0 150 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 150 0 0 0 0 150 0 150
Support for Stroud Water Canal Reopening 234 0 0 234 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 234 0 0 0 0 234 0 234
High Street Cheltenham - Pedestrian Area 250 0 0 250 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 250 0 0 0 0 250 0 250

Total Highways 558,145 163,935 68,415 85,882 35,292 202,321 2,300 1,398 4,777 2,974 1,546 348,297 0 7,203 28,015 0 394,210 163,935 558,145

Strategic Infrastructure
Fastershire Broadband Strategy 13,701 6,046 2,192 1,821 1,821 1,821 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,301 4,354 0 0 7,655 6,046 13,701
Flood & Water Management Act 523 15 0 146 146 216 0 0 0 360 73 75 0 0 0 0 508 15 523
Priors & Oakley FAS - FDGiA 2,933 2,623 200 80 15 15 0 0 0 167 0 143 0 0 0 0 310 2,623 2,933
Coleford Flood Alleviation Project 350 0 0 20 240 90 0 0 0 350 0 0 0 0 0 0 350 0 350
Pittville Flood Alleviation Project 450 0 0 0 174 276 0 0 0 300 0 0 0 150 0 0 450 0 450
Schemes under £250,000 20/21 onwards 995 109 276 355 133 122 0 0 17 454 0 142 0 273 0 0 886 109 995
Strategic Transport Model 2020-21-22 562 0 213 344 5 0 0 0 0 100 0 0 462 0 0 0 562 0 562

Total Strategic Infrastructure 19,514 8,793 2,881 2,766 2,534 2,540 0 0 17 1,731 73 360 3,763 4,777 0 0 10,721 8,793 19,514

Waste Disposal
Mobile Compactors 252 1 0 200 51 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 54 197 0 0 251 1 252
Fosse Cross HRC (Cirencester) 281 31 250 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 250 0 0 250 31 281
Schemes under £250,000 20/21 onwards 652 306 330 16 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50 296 0 0 346 306 652
New Starts 2021/22 onwards
CCTV at HRC sites 80 0 0 80 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 80 0 80 0 80
Bodycams at HRC sites 20 0 0 20 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 20 0 20 0 20

Total Waste Disposal 1,285 338 580 316 51 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 104 743 100 0 947 338 1,285

Libraries
Customer Services Programme 1,519 578 270 671 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 941 0 0 941 578 1,519
Schemes under £250,000 20/21 onwards 1,062 563 138 361 0 0 0 0 478 0 0 21 0 0 0 0 499 563 1,062

Total Libraries 2,581 1,141 408 1,032 0 0 0 0 478 0 0 21 0 941 0 0 1,440 1,141 2,581

Financing for Remaining Life (2020/21 onwards)

P
age 170



APPENDIX 2

113

Capital Programme 2021/22 Budget

Scheme Name
Total Scheme

Budget
Prior Years 

Actuals 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Future Years
Revenue 
Contrib

S106 
External 
Contrib Capital Fund

Other 
External 
Contrib

External 
Grant

Other 
Reserves

Capital 
Receipts 

Internal 
Borrowing

Other incl. 
Borrowing

Total for 
Remaining Life    

Prior Years 
Funding

Funding of 
budget total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Fire & Rescue
ERV - Fire Appliances & Equipmnt 18/19 3,913 0 165 2,228 1,520 0 0 0 0 13 0 0 0 3,900 0 0 3,913 0 3,913
ERV - Light Fleet Vehicles 580 0 150 430 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 580 0 0 580 0 580
ECR - Mobilising System Upgrade 343 60 255 28 0 0 0 43 0 0 0 0 0 240 0 0 283 60 343
Personal Protection Equipment 616 10 606 0 0 0 0 16 0 0 0 0 0 590 0 0 606 10 616
Schemes under £250,000 20/21 onwards 1,188 904 250 34 0 0 0 2 0 69 0 124 38 51 0 0 284 904 1,188

Total Fire & Rescue 6,640 974 1,426 2,720 1,520 0 0 61 0 82 0 124 38 5,361 0 0 5,666 974 6,640

Trading Standards
Schemes under £250,000 20/21 onwards 39 0 39 0 0 0 0 0 0 39 0 0 0 0 0 0 39 0 39

Total Trading Standards 39 0 39 0 0 0 0 0 0 39 0 0 0 0 0 0 39 0 39

AMPS
Area Based Review 3,572 0 200 3,372 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,572 0 0 3,572 0 3,572
Locality Solutions (Stroud) 345 21 100 224 0 0 0 0 0 324 0 0 0 0 0 0 324 21 345
Refurbishment of Service Properties 562 0 44 318 200 0 0 0 0 1 0 102 0 459 0 0 562 0 562
Shire Hall - Planned External maint 640 50 590 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 40 0 550 0 0 590 50 640
Shire Hall - Block 2 Windows 400 89 311 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 311 0 0 311 89 400
Shire Hall - External Blk 6 incl Parking 821 462 359 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 359 0 0 359 462 821
Cotswold Hub - Lewis Lane 578 32 100 400 46 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 546 0 0 546 32 578
Quayside - Health Hub 16,030 1,451 6,500 8,000 79 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 14,579 0 0 14,579 1,451 16,030
Quayside - Multi-Storey Car Park 7,550 0 100 6,900 550 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7,550 0 7,550 0 7,550
Automatic Doors - Corp Prop MTFS 19-20 300 10 110 90 90 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 290 0 0 290 10 300
Access Control - Corp Prop MTFS 19-20 300 34 145 121 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 266 0 0 266 34 300
Planned Capital Maintenance - MTFS 19-20 932 160 400 372 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 772 0 0 772 160 932
Coroners Court Refrigeration Replacement 450 4 346 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 446 0 0 446 4 450
County Offices Chelt - Refurb & Reconfig 8,056 27 200 2,829 5,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8,029 0 0 8,029 27 8,056
Corporate Property Condition Data Works 4,150 0 500 2,500 1,150 0 0 0 0 4,150 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,150 0 4,150
Social Care Service Remodelling 2,000 0 500 1,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,000 0 0 2,000 0 2,000
Schemes under £250,000 20/21 onwards 6,204 4,161 1,549 354 140 0 0 10 80 12 1,941 2,043 4,161 6,204
Rural Estates - Farm Investment 1,634 808 250 576 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 826 0 0 826 808 1,634

Total AMPS 54,524 7,309 12,304 27,656 7,255 0 0 0 10 4,555 0 154 0 34,946 7,550 0 47,215 7,309 54,524

ICT Projects
ICT Strategy - Telephony 2,236 1,871 330 35 0 0 0 0 0 269 0 1 0 95 0 0 365 1,871 2,236
ICT Strat - Network Strategy Upgrade 1,313 223 212 878 0 0 0 0 0 893 0 0 0 197 0 0 1,090 223 1,313
ICT Strat - End User Device O/S 2,350 411 321 1,618 0 0 0 0 0 1,939 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,939 411 2,350
Secure WiFi Solution 2 All Council Sites 2,200 234 351 1,615 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,966 0 0 1,966 234 2,200
Endpoint Devices Replacement 5,424 2,768 1,656 1,000 0 0 0 0 0 224 0 0 0 2,432 0 0 2,656 2,768 5,424
Contact Centre solution enhancement 368 110 83 175 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 258 0 0 258 110 368
Hware Refresh Unsupported Servers 272 17 155 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 255 0 0 255 17 272
Microsoft databases upgrade 367 76 104 187 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 291 0 0 291 76 367
ICT Critical and Core Systems Upgrade 1,685 0 0 1,685 0 0 0 0 0 1,685 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,685 0 1,685
C&F ICT Systems Rationalisation 500 0 0 250 250 0 0 0 0 500 0 0 0 0 0 0 500 0 500
Schemes under £250,000 20/21 onwards 5,015 3,711 1,059 145 100 0 0 0 0 403 0 0 0 901 0 0 1,304 3,711 5,015
Upgrading remote site connectivity 1,060 0 0 1,060 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,060 0 0 1,060 0 1,060
New Starts 2021/22 onwards
Delivery of the Technical Digital and ICT Roadmap 8,443 0 0 1,293 2,550 2,050 2,550 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8,443 0 8,443 0 8,443

Total ICT Projects 31,233 9,421 4,271 10,041 2,900 2,050 2,550 0 0 5,913 0 1 0 7,455 8,443 0 21,812 9,421 31,233

Archives & Information Management
Schemes under £250,000 20/21 onwards 3,580 3,504 51 25 0 0 0 0 0 20 0 0 11 45 0 0 76 3,504 3,580

Total Archives & Information Management 3,580 3,504 51 25 0 0 0 0 0 20 0 0 11 45 0 0 76 3,504 3,580

Financing for Remaining Life (2020/21 onwards)

P
age 171



APPENDIX 2

114

Capital Programme 2021/22 Budget

Scheme Name
Total Scheme

Budget
Prior Years 

Actuals 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Future Years
Revenue 
Contrib

S106 
External 
Contrib Capital Fund

Other 
External 
Contrib

External 
Grant

Other 
Reserves

Capital 
Receipts 

Internal 
Borrowing

Other incl. 
Borrowing

Total for 
Remaining Life    

Prior Years 
Funding

Funding of 
budget total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Customer

Digital Transformation Unallocated 650 0 0 650 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 650 0 0 650 0 650
Business Analytics 950 148 802 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 802 0 0 802 148 950
Schemes under £250,000 20/21 onwards 757 671 26 20 40 0 0 0 0 80 0 0 0 6 0 0 86 671 757

Total Customer 2,357 819 828 670 40 0 0 0 0 80 0 0 0 1,458 0 0 1,538 819 2,357

Business Service Centre
Procure to Pay Digital Project 900 13 600 287 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 887 0 0 887 13 900
Schemes under £250,000 20/21 onwards 451 0 231 0 220 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 451 0 0 451 0 451
New Starts 2021/22 onwards
Investing in self funded income schemes 50,000 0 0 12,500 12,500 12,500 12,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50,000 0 50,000 0 50,000

Total Business Service Centre 51,351 13 831 12,787 12,720 12,500 12,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,338 50,000 0 51,338 13 51,351

Financing for Remaining Life (2020/21 onwards)

P
age 172



APPENDIX 2

115

Annex 8b 

P
age 173



APPENDIX 2

116

Capital Programme New Schemes 2021/22 onwards funded from Internal Borrowing

Scheme Name

Total 
Scheme
Budget

£000
2021/22

£000
2022/23

£000
2023/24+

£000

Scheme Description

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure
Highways Depots - Cirencester Depot 400 400 0 0 Completion of the refurbishment works at Cirencester Depot. 

Life Expired Steel Lighting Columns 600 100 100 400 Asset replacement programme for “life expired” steel street l ighting columns that have exceeded their useful service l ife.

Capital Structural Maintenance Delivery 3,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 To cover inflationary pressures on structural maintenance works to enable delivery expectations to be met rather than reduced.

B4063 Cycle Route 3,000 3,000 0 0
Contribution to enable delivery of the 11km cycle route between Cheltenham and Gloucester, along the B4063.  Walking and cycling 
schemes are widely seen as a key component in the transport sector’s contribution to encouraging active travel as well  as the Covid-
19 economic recovery.   

CCTV at HRC sites 80 80 0 0 Replacement of CCTV at the five Household Recyling Centre sites as the current CCTV infrastructure is no longer fit for purpose

Bodycams at HRC sites 20 20 0 0 The use of body cams will  help to defuse potential situations of conflict and provide valuable evidence to verify and respond to 
complaints and allegations against members of staff. 

M5 Junction 10 Improvements 4,000 0 0 4,000
This project is forecast to cost £253.131 mill ion, of which Homes England will  be providing capital grant funding for £249.131 
mill ion and the remaining £4 mill ion will  need to be funded by GCC in the last two years of the contract - 2023/24 and  2024/25 
respectively.

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure Total 11,100 4,600 1,100 5,400

Children's Services
Carbon Reduction financial support for education 
capital projects 

1,000 300 200 500 Current education capital projects can be enhanced to help the council  meet carbon reduction target

Barnwood Residential home 375 375 0 0 Residential provision for Children in Care, including Emergency / PACE provision. 

Southfields – Semi Independent Accommodation 2,500 0 1,250 1,250 Accommodation for the 16 – 25 age groups is particularly needed and whilst COVID-19 has temporarily exacerbated the demand for 
Semi Independent placements, we have also seen a steady increase in demand over the past 2 years. 

Townsend House: Parent & Child assessment centre, 
Nursery & Children Centre.

2,500 1,250 1,250 0 This project would create a centre of Best Practice for parent and child assessments. Alongside an Early Years service for local 
vulnerable families

Children's Services Total 6,375 1,925 2,700 1,750

ICT

Delivery of the Technical Digital and ICT Roadmap (10 
Schemes)

8,443 1,293 2,550 4,600
Part of the “Technical Digital and ICT Roadmap” additional funding needed for a five year period.  A Technical Digital & ICT roadmap 
has therefore been developed to provide GCC with a clear and concise roadmap for a future state of the ICT Service and 
Infrastructure. The roadmap sets out the change and investment profile required to meet GCC’s digital and ICT ambition. 

ICT  Total 8,443 1,293 2,550 4,600

Corporate 
Investing in self funded income schemes 50,000 12,500 12,500 25,000 Funding for regeneration / commercial self funding schemes. Approval of these schemes will  be dependant on a successful business 

case, with the assumption the scheme is self funding and there is no impact on revenue.
Corporate Total 50,000 12,500 12,500 25,000

Total New Schemes 2021/22 onwards 75,918 20,318 18,850 36,750

P
age 174



APPENDIX 2

117

Annex 9

P
age 175



APPENDIX 2

118

P
age 176



APPENDIX 2

119

P
age 177



APPENDIX 2

120

Annex 10

Treasury Management and Investment Strategy Statement
2021/22 

Introduction

Treasury management is the management of the Councils cash flows, borrowing 
and investments, and the associated risks. The Council has borrowed and 
invested substantial sums of money and is therefore exposed to financial risks 
including the loss of invested funds and the revenue effect of changing interest 
rates.  The successful identification, monitoring and control of financial risk are 
therefore central to the Council’s prudent financial management. 

Treasury risk management at the Council is conducted within the framework of the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury Management in 
the Public Services: Code of Practice 2017 Edition (the CIPFA Code) which 
requires the Council to approve a treasury management strategy before the start 
of each financial year. This report fulfils the Council’s legal obligation under the 
Local Government Act 2003 to have regard to the CIPFA Code.

Investments held for service purposes or for commercial profit are considered 
within this Strategy as per MHCLG guidance.

External Context

Economic background

The impact on the UK from coronavirus, lockdown measures, the rollout of 
vaccines, as well as the new trading arrangements with the European Union (EU), 
will remain a major influence on the Council’s treasury management strategy for 
2021/22.  

The Bank of England (BoE) maintained Bank Rate at 0.10% in December 2020 
and Quantitative Easing programme at £895 billion having extended it by £150 
billion in the previous month. The Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) voted 
unanimously for both, but no mention was made of the potential future use of 
negative interest rates. In the November Monetary Policy Report (MPR) forecasts, 
the Bank expects the UK economy to shrink -2% in Q4 2020 before growing by 
7.25% in 2021, lower than the previous forecast of 9%. The BoE also forecasts the 
economy will now take until Q1 2022 to reach its pre-pandemic level rather than 
the end of 2021 as previously forecast. By the time of the December MPC 
announcement, a COVID-19 vaccine was approved for use, which the Bank noted 
would reduce some of the downside risks to the economic outlook outlined in the 
November MPR.

Page 178



APPENDIX 2

121

UK Consumer Price Inflation (CPI) for November 2020 registered 0.3% year on 
year, down from 0.7% in the previous month. Core inflation, which excludes the 
more volatile components, fell to 1.1% from 1.5%. The most recent labour market 
data for the three months to October 2020 showed the unemployment rate rose to 
4.9% while the employment rate fell to 75.2%. Both measures are expected to 
deteriorate further due to the ongoing impact of coronavirus on the jobs market, 
particularly when the various government job retention schemes start to be 
unwound in 2021, with the BoE forecasting unemployment will peak at 7.75% in 
Q2 2021. In October, the headline 3-month average annual growth rate for wages 
were 2.7% for total pay and 2.8% for regular pay. In real terms, after adjusting for 
inflation, total pay growth was up by 1.9% while regular pay was up 2.1%.

GDP growth rebounded by 16.0% in Q3 2020 having fallen by -18.8% in the 
second quarter, with the annual rate rising to -8.6% from -20.8%. All sectors rose 
quarter-on-quarter, with dramatic gains in construction (41.2%), followed by 
services and production (both 14.7%). Monthly GDP estimates have shown the 
economic recovery slowing and remains well below its pre-pandemic peak. 
Looking ahead, the BoE’s November MPR forecasts economic growth will rise in 
2021 with GDP reaching 11% in Q4 2021, 3.1% in Q4 2022 and 1.6% in Q4 2023.

GDP growth in the euro zone rebounded by 12.7% in Q3 2020 after contracting by 
-3.7% and -11.8% in the first and second quarters, respectively. Headline inflation, 
however, remains extremely weak, registering -0.3% year-on-year in November, 
the fourth successive month of deflation. Core inflation registered 0.2% y/y, well 
below the European Central Bank’s (ECB) target of ‘below, but close to 2%’.  The 
ECB is expected to continue holding its main interest rate of 0% and deposit 
facility rate of -0.5% for some time but expanded its monetary stimulus in 
December 2020, increasing the size of its asset purchase scheme to €1.85 trillion 
and extended it until March 2022.

Credit Update

After spiking in late March as coronavirus became a global pandemic and then 
rising again in October/November, credit default swap (CDS) prices for the larger 
UK banks have steadily fallen back to almost pre-pandemic levels. Although 
uncertainly around COVID-19 related loan defaults lead to banks provisioning 
billions for potential losses in the first half of 2020, drastically reducing profits, 
reported impairments for Q3 were much reduced in some institutions. However, 
general bank profitability in 2020 and 2021 may be significantly lower than in 
previous years.

The credit ratings for many UK institutions were downgraded on the back of 
downgrades to the sovereign rating. Credit conditions more generally though in 
banks and building societies have tended to be relatively benign, despite the 
impact of the pandemic.

Looking forward, the potential for bank losses to be greater than expected when 
government and central bank support starts to be removed remains a risk, 
suggesting a cautious approach to bank deposits in 2021/22 remains advisable.

Page 179



APPENDIX 2

122

Interest Rate Forecast

The Council’s treasury advisors, Arlingclose, is forecasting that BoE Bank Rate will 
remain at 0.1% until at least the first quarter of 2024. The risks to this forecast are 
judged to be to the downside as the BoE and UK government continue to react to 
the coronavirus pandemic and the new EU trading arrangements. The BoE 
extended its asset purchase programme to £895 billion in November while keeping 
Bank Rate on hold and maintained this position in December. However, further 
interest rate cuts to zero, or possibly negative, cannot yet be ruled out but this is 
not part of the Arlingclose central forecast.

Gilt yields are expected to remain very low in the medium term. Shorter-term gilt 
yields are likely remain below or at zero until such time as the BoE expressly rules 
out the chance of negative interest rates or growth/inflation prospects improve. 
The central case is for 10-year and 20-year to rise to around 0.60% and 0.90% 
respectively over the time horizon. The risks around the gilt yield forecasts are 
judged to be broadly balanced between upside and downside risks, but there will 
almost certainly be short-term volatility due to economic and political uncertainty 
and events.

A more detailed economic and interest rate forecast provided by Arlingclose is 
attached at Appendix A.

Local Context

At 31st March 2021 the Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital purposes as 
measured by the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is estimated to be £393.7 
million, while usable reserves and working capital which are the underlying 
resources available for investment are estimated at £362.3 million. This is set out 
in further detail at Appendix B.  Forecast changes in these sums are shown in the 
balance sheet analysis in table 1 below.

The Council currently has £261.8 million of external borrowing, a £97.1 million 
lease liability (including PFI and the Waste liability) and £367.3 million (as at 29th 
October 2020) of internal investments. This is set out in further detail at Appendix 
B, and forecasts changes in these sums are shown in the balance sheet analysis 
at Table 1 below. 

The Council’s current strategy is not to borrowing but to hold lower investment 
balances, sometimes known as internal borrowing.  CIPFA’s Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance in Local Authorities recommends that the Council’s total debt 
should be lower than its highest forecast CFR over the next three years.  Table 1 
shows that the Council expects to comply with this recommendation during 
2021/22. 

  

Page 180



APPENDIX 2

123

Table 1: Balance Sheet Summary and Forecast
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
General Fund CFR 389.844 393.741 423.012 441.345 449.903
Less: Other debt liabilities 98.408 97.070 95.893 94.425 93.157
Loans CFR 291.436 296.671 327.119 346.919 356.746
Less: External borrowing 269.786 261.823 251.878 239.778 231.778
Internal (over) borrowing 21.650 34.848 75.241 107.141 124.968
Less: Usable reserves 244.300 223.600 226.000 226.100 220.100
Less: Working capital 79.600 79.600 79.600 79.600 79.600
(Investments) or New borrowing (302.250) (268.352) (230.359) (198.559) (174.732)

Balance Sheet Summary

Liability benchmark

To compare the Council’s actual borrowing against an alternative strategy, a 
liability benchmark has been calculated and presented in the Capital Strategy, 
showing the lowest risk level of borrowing. This benchmark is currently -£13.2 
million and is forecast to rise to £44.5 million over the next three years as the 
Council seeks to hold new capital borrowing requirements internally.

Borrowing Strategy

The total borrowing requirement at the end of 2020/21 is forecast to be £393.7 
million (equivalent to the CFR).  This is financed by historic external and a lease 
liability.  The Council’s aim is to both repay maturing debt, and where possible 
some of the existing debt when opportunites to do this arise. The Council also 
considers new borrowing where it can be shown to be prudent and financial 
beneficial to do so.  In 2020/21 £8.0 million maturing external debt was repaid with 
£9.9 million being forecast to be repaid in 2021/22.

The Councils chief objective when borrowing money is to strike an appropriately 
low risk balance between securing low interest costs and achieving cost certainty 
over the period for which funds are required.  The flexibility to renegotiate loans 
should the Councils long-term plans change is a secondary objective.

The Councils borrowing strategy continues to address the key issue of affordability 
without compromising the longer-term stability of the debt portfolio. With short-term 
interest rates currently much lower than long-term rates, it is likely that in the event 
that the Council needed to borrow it would be more cost effective in the short-term 
to either use internal resources, or to borrow short-term loans instead.  

By doing so, the Council is able to reduce net borrowing costs (despite foregone 
investment income) and reduce overall treasury risk. Whilst such a strategy is 
most likely to be beneficial over the next 2-3 years as official interest rates remain 
low, it is unlikely to be sustained in the medium-term.  The benefits of internal 
borrowing will be monitored regularly against the potential for incurring additional 
costs by deferring borrowing into future years when long-term borrowing rates are 
forecast to rise modestly.  Arlingclose will assist the Council with this ‘cost of carry’ 
and breakeven analysis. 
In addition, the Council may borrow short-term loans (normally for up to one 

Page 181



APPENDIX 2

124

month) to cover unexpected cash flow shortages.
Sources of Borrowing and Portfolio Implications

The approved sources of long-term and short-term borrowing are:

 HM Treasury’s PWLB lending facility (formerly the Public Works Loan 
Board)

 UK local authorities
 any institution approved for investments (see below)
 any other bank or building society authorised to operate in the UK
 any other UK public sector body
 UK public and private sector pension funds (except Gloucestershire 

Pension Fund)
 capital market bond investors
 UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc and other special purpose companies 

created to enable local Council bond issues

In addition, capital finance may be raised by the following methods that are not 
borrowing, but may be classed as other debt liabilities:

 leasing
 hire purchase
 Private Finance Initiative 
 sale and leaseback.

The Council has previously raised the majority of its long-term borrowing from the 
PWLB, but will consider long-term loans from other sources including banks, 
pensions and local authorities, in order to lower interest costs and reduce over-
reliance on one source of funding in line with the CIPFA Code.  PWLB loans are 
no longer available to local authorities planning to buy investment assets primarily 
for yield; the Council intends to avoid this activity in order to retain its access to 
PWLB loans.

The UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc was established in 2014 by the Local 
Government Association as an alternative to the PWLB.  It  issues bonds on the 
capital markets and lends the proceeds to local authorities.  This is a more 
complicated source of finance than the PWLB for two reasons: borrowing 
authorities will be required to provide bond investors with a guarantee to refund 
their investment in the event that the agency is unable to for any reason; and there 
will be a lead time of several months between committing to borrow and knowing 
the interest rate payable. Any decision to borrow from the Agency will therefore be 
the subject of a separate report to Audit and Governance Committee.  

Page 182



APPENDIX 2

125

The Council holds £33.050 million of Lender’s Option Borrower’s Option (LOBO) 
loans where the lender has the option to propose an increase in the interest rate 
as set dates, following which the Council has the option to either accept the new 
rate or to repay the loan at no additional cost.  All of these LOBO’s have options 
during 2021/22, however lenders are unlikely to exercise their options in the 
current low interest rate environment. The situation with these LOBOs will be kept 
under regular review and the Council will take the option to repay LOBO loans at 
no cost if it has the opportunity to do so.  Previously a further £8.0 million of loans 
with Barclays were classified as LOBOs, however Barclays have now fixed the 
interest rates on these loans until maturity. These are now classified as fixed rate 
market loans.

Short-term and variable rate loans leave the Council exposed to the risk of short-
term interest rate rises and are therefore subject to interest rate exposure limits in 
the treasury management indicators below.  Financial derivatives may be used to 
manage this interest rate risk (see Financial Deriavitives section below).

Debt Rescheduling

The PWLB allows authorities to repay loans before maturity and either pay a 
premium or receive a discount according to a set formula based on current interest 
rates. Some bank lenders may also be prepared to negotiate premature 
redemption terms. The Council may take advantage of this and replace some 
loans with new loans, or repay loans without replacement, where this is expected 
to lead to an overall saving or reduction in risk..

Borrowing and rescheduling activity will be reported to the Audit and Governance 
Committee in the Annual Treasury Management Report, the Mid Year Report and 
any other treasury management reports presented to Audit & Governance 
Committee.

Treasury Investment Strategy

The Council holds significant invested funds, representing income received in 
advance of expenditure plus balances and reserves held.  During 2020/21 the 
Council’s internal treasury investment balance has ranged between £308.8 million 
and £384.8 million.  Balances are expected to start falling as internal borrowing 
starts to become a feature of future years.

The CIPFA Code requires the Council to invest its treasury funds prudently, and to 
have regard to the security and liquidity of its investments before seeking the 
highest rate of return, or yield.  The Council’s objective when investing money is to 
strike an appropriate balance between risk and return, minimising the risk of 
incurring losses from defaults and the risk receiving unsuitably low investment 
income.  Where balances are expected to be invested for more than one year, the 
Council will aim to achieve a total return that is equal or higher than the prevailing 
rate of inflation, in order to maintain the spending power of the sum invested.

Page 183



APPENDIX 2

126

Negative interest rates:
The COVID-19 pandemic has increased the risk that the Bank of England will set 
its Bank Rate at or below zero, which is likely to feed through to negative interest 
rates on all low risk, short-term investment options. Since investments cannot pay 
negative income, negative rates will be applied by reducing the value of 
investments. In this event, security will be measured as receiving the contractually 
agreed amount at maturity, even though this may be less than the amount 
originally invested.

Given the increasing risk and very low returns from short-term unsecured bank 
investments, the Council aims to continue its strategy of diversifying into more 
secure and / or higher yielding asset classes during 2021/22.  This is especially 
the case for funds available for longer-term investment. The pie chart below shows 
how the Council’s surplus cash is currently invested.

UK Banks
5%

Covered 
Instruments

1%

Local Authorities
39%

MMF+
1%

MMFs
31%

Housing 
Associations

3%

Long Dated 
Funds
12%

Property Fund
8%

Investments as at 29/10/20

Under the new IFRS 9 standard, the accounting for certain investments depends 
on the Council’s “business model” for managing them. The Council aims to 
achieve value from its internally managed treasury investments by a business 
model of collecting the contractual cash flows and therefore, where other criteria 
are also met, these investments will continue to be accounted for at amortised 
cost.

The Council may invest its surplus funds with any of the counterparty types in 
table 2 below, subject to the cash limits (per counterparty), the time limits shown 
and the Responsible Investment Policy incorporated as part of the Treasury 
Management Policies.

Page 184



APPENDIX 2

127

Table 2: Approved Investment Counterparties 
 

Sector  Time limit Counterparty 
limit Sector limit

The UK Government  50 years Unlimited n/a
Local authorities & other government entities 25 years £15m  Unlimited
Secured investments * 25 years £30m  Unlimited
Banks (unsecured) * 13 months £15m Unlimited
Building societies (unsecured) * 13 months £15m £30m
Registered providers (unsecured) *  5 years £15m £30m
Money market funds * n/a £30m / fund Unlimited
Strategic pooled funds n/a £30m £150m
Real estate investment trusts n/a £30m £30m
Other investments * 5 years £15m £30m
* Minimum credit rating: Treasury investments in the sectors marked with an asterisk will only be made with 
entities whose lowest published long-term credit rating is no lower than A-

Table 2 should be read in conjunction with the notes below:

 Credit Rating: 
Investment limits are set by reference to the lowest published long-term 
credit rating from a selection of external rating agencies. Where available, 
the credit rating relevant to the specific investment or class of investment is 
used, otherwise the counterparty credit rating is used. However, investment 
decisions are never made solely based on credit ratings, and all other 
relevant factors including external advice will be taken into account.

For entities without published credit ratings, investments may be made 
either (a) where external advice indicates the entity to be of similar credit 
quality; or (b) to a maximum of £100,000 per counterparty as part of a 
diversified pool e.g. via a peer-to-peer platform.

 Government: 
Loans, bonds and bills issued or guaranteed by national governments, 
regional and local authorities and multilateral development banks. These 
investments are not subject to bail-in, and there is generally a lower risk of 
insolvency, although they are not zero risk. Investments with the UK Central 
Government may be made in unlimited amounts for up to 50 years.

 Secured Investments: 
These investments are secured on the borrower’s assets, which limits the 
potential losses in the event of insolvency.  Where there is no investment 
specific credit rating, but the collateral upon which the investment is 
secured has a credit rating, the highest of the collateral credit rating and the 
counterparty credit rating will be used to determine cash and time limits.  
The combined secured and unsecured investments in any one bank will not 
exceed the cash limit for secured investments.

Page 185



APPENDIX 2

128

 Banks and Building Societies Unsecured: 
Accounts, deposits, certificates of deposit and senior unsecured bonds with 
banks and building societies, other than multilateral development banks.  
These investments are subject to the risk of credit loss via a bail-in should 
the regulator determine that the bank is failing or likely to fail.

 Registered Providers (unsecured): 
Loans and bonds issued by, guaranteed by or secured on the assets of 
registered providers of social housing and registered social landlords, 
formerly known as housing associations.  These bodies are regulated by 
the Regulator of Social Housing (in England). As providers of public 
services, they retain the likelihood of receiving government support if 
needed.  

 Money market funds: 
Pooled funds that offer same-day or short notice liquidity and very low or no 
price volatility by investing in short-term money markets. They have the 
advantage over bank accounts of providing wide diversification of 
investment risks, coupled with the services of a professional fund manager 
in return for a small fee. Although no sector limit applies to money market 
funds, the Council will take care to diversify its liquid investments over a 
variety of providers to ensure access to cash at all times.

 Strategic Pooled Funds: 
Bond, equity and property funds offer enhanced returns over the longer 
term, but are more volatile in the short term.  These allow the Council to 
diversify into asset classes other than cash without the need to own and 
manage the underlying investments. Because these funds have no defined 
maturity date, but are available for withdrawal after a notice period, their 
performance and continued suitability in meeting the Council’s investment 
objectives will be monitored regularly.

 Real estate investment trusts: 
Shares in companies that invest mainly in real estate and pay the majority 
of their rental income to investors in a similar manner to pooled property 
funds. As with property funds, REITs offer enhanced returns over the longer 
term, but are more volatile especially as the share price reflects changing 
demand for the shares as well as changes in the value of the underlying 
properties.  Investments in REIT shares cannot be withdrawn but can be 
sold on the stock market to another investor.

 Other investments: 
This category covers treasury investments not listed above, for example 
unsecured corporate bonds and company loans. Non-bank companies 
cannot be bailed-in but can become insolvent placing the Council’s 
investment at risk. 

Page 186



APPENDIX 2

129

 Operational bank accounts: 
The Council may incur operational exposures, for example though current 
accounts, and merchant acquiring services, to any UK bank with credit 
ratings no lower than BBB- and with assets greater than £25 billion.  These 
are not classed as investments but are still subject to the risk of a bank bail-
in, and balances will therefore be kept to a minumum.  The Bank of England 
has stated that in the event of failure, banks with assets greater than £25 
billion are more likely to be bailed-in than made insolvent, increasing the 
chance of the Council maintaining operational continuity.

 Risk assessment and credit ratings: 
Credit ratings are obtained and monitored by the Council’s treasury 
advisers, who will notify changes in ratings as they occur. The credit rating 
agencies in current use are listed in the Treasury Management Practices 
document. Where an entity has its credit rating downgraded so that it fails to 
meet the approved investment criteria then:

o no new investments will be made,
o any existing investments that can be recalled or sold at no cost will 

be, 
o full consideration will be given to the recall or sale of all other existing 

investments with the affected counterparty.

Where a credit rating agency announces that a credit rating is on review for 
possible downgrade (also known as “negative watch”) so that it may fall below the 
approved rating criteria, then only investments that can be withdrawn will be made 
with that organisation until the outcome of the review is announced.  This policy 
will not apply to negative outlooks, which indicate a long-term direction of travel 
rather than an imminent change of rating.

Other information on the security of investments: 

The Council understands that credit ratings are good, but not perfect, predictors of 
investment default.  Full regard will therefore be given to other available 
information on the credit quality of the organisations in which it invests, including 
credit default swap prices, financial statements, information on potential 
government support, reports in the quality financial press and analysis and advice 
from the Council’s treasury management adviser.  No investments will be made 
with an organisation if there are substantive doubts about its credit quality, even 
though it may otherwise meet the above criteria.

When deteriorating financial market conditions affect the creditworthiness of all 
organisations, as happened in 2008 and 2020, this is not generally reflected in 
credit ratings, but can be seen in other market measures. In these circumstances, 
the Council will restrict its investments to those organisations of higher credit 
quality and reduce the maximum duration of its investments to maintain the 
required level of security.  The extent of these restrictions will be in line with 
prevailing financial market conditions. If these restrictions mean that insufficient 
commercial organisations of high credit quality are available to invest the Council’s 
cash balances, then the surplus will be deposited with the UK Government or with 
other local authorities.  This will cause a reduction in the level of investment 
income earned, but will protect the principal sum invested.

Page 187



APPENDIX 2

130

Investment Limits

The Council’s holds general revenue reserves which would be available to cover 
investment losses.  However, in order to limit this risk, in the case of a single 
default, the maximum that will be lent to any one organisation (other than the UK 
Government) will be £30.0 million.  A group of entities under the same ownership 
will be treated as a single organisation for limit purposes.  Limits will also be 
placed on fund managers, investments in brokers’ nominee accounts, foreign 
countries and industry sectors as below. Investments in pooled funds and 
multilateral development banks do not count against the limit for any single foreign 
country, since the risk is diversified over many countries.

Table 3: Investment Limits

Cash limit

Any group of pooled funds under the same management
£30m per 
manager

Negotiable instruments held in a broker’s nominee 
account

£30m per 
broker

Foreign countries
£30m per 
country

Liquidity management: 
The Council uses cash flow forecasting to determine the maximum period for 
which funds may prudently be committed.  The forecast is compiled on a prudent 
basis to minimise the risk of the Council being forced to borrow on unfavourable 
terms to meet its financial commitments.  Limits on long-term investments are set 
by reference to the Council’s medium-term financial plan and cash flow forecast.

The Council will spread its liquid cash over at least three providers (e.g. bank 
accounts and money market funds) to ensure that access to cash is maintained in 
the event of operational difficulties at any one provider.

Treasury Management Indicators

The Council measures and manages its exposures to treasury management risks 
using the following indicators.

Security: The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to credit 
risk by monitoring the value-weighted average credit rating of its investment 
portfolio.  This is calculated by applying a score to each investment (AAA=1, 
AA+=2, etc.) and taking the arithmetic average, weighted by the size of each 
investment. Unrated investments are assigned a score based on their perceived 
risk.

Credit risk indicator Target
Portfolio average credit rating A

Page 188



APPENDIX 2

131

Liquidity: The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to 
liquidity risk by monitoring the amount of cash available to meet unexpected 
payments within a rolling three month period, without additional borrowing.

Liquidity risk indicator Target
Total cash available within 3 months £50m

Interest rate exposures: This indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure to 
interest rate risk.  The upper limits on the one-year revenue impact of a 1% rise or 
fall in interest rates will be:

Interest rate risk indicator Limit
Upper limit on one-year revenue impact of a 1% rise / 
fall in interest rates £901,000

The impact of a change in interest rates is calculated on the assumption that 
maturing loans and investments will be replaced at current rates.

Maturity structure of borrowing: This indicator is set to control the Council’s 
exposure to refinancing risk. The upper and lower limits on the maturity structure 
of borrowing will be:

Refinancing rate risk indicator Upper limit Lower limit
Under 12 months 25% 0%
12 months and within 24 months 25% 0%
24 months and within 5 years 50% 0%
5 years and within 10 years 100% 0%
10 years and above 100% 0%

Time periods start on the first day of each financial year. The maturity date of 
borrowing is the earliest date on which the lender can demand repayment. 

Principal sums invested for periods longer than a year: The purpose of this 
indicator is to control the Council’s exposure to the risk of incurring losses by 
seeking early repayment of its investments.  The limits on the long-term principal 
sum invested to final maturities beyond the period end will be:

Table 5: Upper Limit
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Upper Limit for total principal sums 
invested over 364 days 200.000200.000 200.000 200.000 200.000

Page 189



APPENDIX 2

132

The Council’s Approach to Responsible Investment

The Council has implemented a Responsible Investment Policy for future Treasury 
Management investment. 

I. For direct investments, the Council will seek to ensure that 
counterparties (excluding the UK Government and other UK Local 
Authorities) have no direct investment in Fossil Fuel companies prior to 
investing.

II. For additional investments into Pooled Funds the Council will seek to 
ensure that any fund used does not have exposure to Fossil Fuel 
investments prior to investing.

Non Treasury Investment Strategy

The Council invests its money for three broad purposes:

 because it has surplus cash as a result of its day-to-day activities, for 
example when income is received in advance of expenditure (known as 
treasury management investments),

 to support local public services by lending to or buying shares in other 
organisations (service investments), and

 to earn investment income (known as commercial investments where this 
is the main purpose).

This section of the report is concerned with meeting the requirements of statutory 
guidance issued by the government in January 2018, and focuses on the second 
and third of these categories, service and commercial investments. 

Service Investments: Loans

The Council can lend money to support local public services and stimulate local 
economic growth.  The Council has previously made a £100,000 investment in the 
Funding Circle platform, designed to support local businesses and economic 
growth within Gloucestershire.  The Council is currently disinvesting from the 
platform and to date has received back £71,838.90.

Where loans are made for service purposes accounting standards require the 
Council to set aside loss allowance for loans, reflecting the likelihood of non-
payment. Following changes to Accounting Standards the figures for loans in the 
Council’s statement of accounts from 2018/19 onwards will be shown net of this 
loss allowance, where material.  

Page 190



APPENDIX 2

133

Service Investments: Shares

The Council holds shares costing £1 in Ubico Ltd. The fair value of the council’s 
interest in the company at 31st March 2020 is considered to be nil, since it is a 
wholly local authority owned not-for-profit ‘Teckal’ company.  As a ‘Teckal’ 
company it is treated as if it were an in house department and the shareholder 
councils are able to enter into service contracts with the company without 
undertaking an EU compliant procurement process.

Commercial Investments: Property

The Council has not invested in Commercial Property to date and has no plans to 
do so.  

It has however invested in Gloucestershire based regeneration projects which 
have a commercial element and will continue to look at similar regeneration 
projects in future. Should the Council identify such a regeneration opportunity it will 
require a detailed business case and will only do so in accordance with 
government guidance. The Council considers a property investment to be secure if 
its accounting valuation is at or higher than its purchase cost including taxes and 
transaction costs.

The Council will assess the risk of loss before entering into and whilst holding 
property investments by producing a comprehensive business plan and monitoring 
performance on an ongoing basis.

Loan Commitments and Financial Guarantees

Although not strictly counted as investments, since no money has exchanged 
hands yet, loan commitments and financial guarantees carry similar risks to the 
Council and are included here for completeness. 

The Council has guaranteed to cover the liabilities associated with the pensions of 
ex-employees following the transfers of council services to external bodies.  These 
arrangements are monitored and assessed to ensure that any provision for 
possible liabilities are made, and included within the Statement of Accounts.  

Capacity, Skills and Culture

The Council provides training from our Treasury Management Advisors to 
members of the Audit and Governance Committee on an annual basis, to ensure 
that they are fully aware of the investments included in the Treasury Management 
Strategy and Investment Strategy.  This training will also cover the requirements of 
the Capital Strategy and the non Treasury Management investments.  This 
ensures that members can take informed decisions on the investments being 
included in the strategies, and have the opportunity to challenge their use to 

Page 191



APPENDIX 2

134

ensure that they fully understand the implications of the investment.

Where commercial deals are to be negotiated, Finance will be involved to ensure 
that the core principles of the prudential framework and of the regulatory regime 
within which local authorities operate is taken into account.

Investment Indicators

The Council has set the following quantitative indicators to allow elected members 
and the public to assess the Council’s total risk exposure as a result of its 
investment decisions. 

The first indicator shows the Council’s total exposure to potential investment 
losses. This includes amounts the Council is contractually committed to lend but 
have yet to be drawn down, and guarantees the Council has issued over third 
party loans, if any.  It assumes that balances for treasury investments reduce as 
reserves reduce.

Table 1: Total Investment Exposure
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Treasury management investments 308.8 274.9 236.9 205.1 187.2
Service investments: Loans 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Commercial investments: Property 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Exposure 308.8 274.9 236.9 205.1 187.2

Total investment exposure

Government guidance is that these indicators should include how investments are 
funded. Since the Council does not normally associate particular assets with 
particular liabilities, this guidance is difficult to comply with.  However the table 
below shows that the Council will not hold any investments funded by borrowing 
as usable capital receipts plus its working capital are expected to exceed total 
investments. This is indicative that the Council uses internal borrowing to fund part 
of its capital programme.

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Treasury management investments -15.1 -28.3 -68.7 -100.6 -118.5
Commercial investments: Property 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Funded by Borrowing -15.1 -28.3 -68.7 -100.6 -118.5

Investments funded by borrowing

Table 2: Investments funded from 

Page 192



APPENDIX 2

135

Rate of return received: This indicator shows the investment income received 
less the associated costs, including the cost of borrowing where appropriate, as a 
proportion of the sum initially invested. Note that due to the complex local 
government accounting framework, not all recorded gains and losses affect the 
revenue account in the year they are incurred.  Where a negative return is shown, 
this has occurred as costs are greater than investment income received.

Table 3: Investment RoR
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

% % % % %
Treasury management investments 1.78 1.82 1.86 1.90 1.95
Service investments: Loans 4.50 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Investments net rate of return

Other items

The CIPFA Code requires the Council to include the following in its treasury 
management strategy.

Financial Derivatives 

Local authorities have previously made use of financial derivatives embedded into 
loans and investments both to reduce interest rate risk (e.g. interest rate collars 
and forward deals) and to reduce costs or increase income at the expense of 
greater risk (e.g. LOBO loans and callable deposits).  The general power of 
competence in Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 removes much of the 
uncertainty over local authorities’ use of standalone financial derivatives (i.e. those 
that are not embedded into a loan or investment). The CIPFA Code requires 
authorities to clearly detail their policy on the use of derivatives in the annual 
strategy.
The Council will only use standalone financial derivatives (such as swaps, 
forwards, futures and options) where they can be clearly demonstrated to reduce 
the overall level of the financial risks that the Council is exposed to.  Additional 
risks presented, such as credit exposure to derivative counterparties, will be taken 
into account when determining the overall level of risk.  Embedded derivatives, 
including those present in pooled funds and forward starting transactions, will not 
be subject to this policy, although the risks they present will be managed in line 
with the overall treasury risk management strategy.
Financial derivative transactions may be arranged with any organisation that 
meets the approved investment criteria assessed using the appropriate credit 
rating for derivative exposures. An allowance for credit risk calculated using the 
methodology in the Treasury Management Practices document will count against 
the counterparty credit limit and the relevant foreign country limit.

In line with the CIPFA Code, the Council will seek external advice and will consider 
that advice before entering into financial derivatives to ensure that it fully 
understands the implications.

Page 193



APPENDIX 2

136

Markets in Financial Instruments Directive

The Council has opted up to professional client status with its providers of financial 
services, including advisers, banks, brokers and fund managers, allowing it access 
to a greater range of services but without the greater regulatory protections 
afforded to individuals and small companies. Given the size and range of the 
Council’s treasury management activities, this is the most appropriate status.

2021/22 Minimum Revenue Provision Statement

The Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) was introduced when the Local 
Government Capital Finance System was changed on 1 April 1990.  CLG’s 
Guidance on MRP places a duty on local authorities to make a prudent provision 
for debt redemption.  Guidance has been issued by the Secretary of State and 
local authorities are required to “have regard” to such Guidance under section 
21(1A) of the Local Government Act 2003.  The MRP Statement must be 
submitted to Council before the start of the financial year.  If it is ever proposed to 
vary the terms of the original MRP Statement during the year, a revised statement 
would be put to Council at that time.

In line with Council policy on the repayment of debt, and with the continuation of 
capital grants by government, the Council has not borrowed externally to fund the 
capital programme over the last 8 years.  Opportunities are now limited for the 
repayment of debt early due to the low interest rate environment, meaning that 
high premiums would need to be paid should the Council wish to restructure or 
repay external debt early.  Maturing debt will continue to be redeemed over the 
next few years, and where opportunities present to repay internal borrowing this 
will  be by way of a voluntary revenue provision.

In order to ensure that the MRP charge remains prudent, the Council regularly 
reviews its Capital Financing Requirement.  To reduce the amount of excess MRP 
set aside, the Council changed its policy for supported capital expenditure in 
2015/16. The method used is similar to other local authorities and sets aside a 
fixed sum of MRP each year. For Gloucestershire the fixed sum was set at £8.2m. 
Following further review of the Capital Financing Requirement and the Prudential 
Indicators, and discussions with the Council’s treasury advisors (Arlingclose) and 
external auditor (Grant Thornton) the MRP charge was further reduced during 
2017/18 for existing debt to £6.2 million.  This change still allows for a prudent 
provision for the repayment of existing debt, and ensures that Prudential Indicators 
are not breeched.

The asset life of capital assets obtained through the capital programme will form 
the basis of calculating an annual MRP provision  for any new borrowing 
requirement going forward.  For any commercial related investments a business 
case review will be carried out and an appropriate provision for the repayment of 
any debt taken, set aside.

MRP in respect of PFI and finance leases brought on Balance Sheet under the 
IFRS-based Code of Practice will match the annual principal repayment for the 
associated deferred liability. 

Page 194



137

Appendix   A 

Arlingclose’s Economic and Interest Rate Forecast 

Underlying Assumptions:

• The medium-term global economic outlook has improved with the distribution 
of vaccines but the recent upsurge in coronavirus cases has worsened 
economic prospects over the short term.

• Restrictive measures and further lockdowns are likely to continue in the UK 
and Europe until the majority of the population is vaccinated by the second half 
of 2021. The recovery period will be strong thereafter, but potentially longer 
than previously envisaged.

• Signs of a slowing UK economic recovery were already evident in UK monthly 
GDP and PMI data, even before the second lockdown and Tier 4 restrictions. 
Employment is falling despite an extension to support packages.

• The need to support economic recoveries and use up spare capacity will result 
in central banks maintaining low interest rates for the medium term. 

• Brexit will weigh on UK activity. The combined effect of Brexit and the after-
effects of the pandemic will dampen growth relative to peers, maintain spare 
capacity and limit domestically generated inflation. The Bank of England will 
therefore maintain loose monetary conditions for the foreseeable future.

Page 195



138

• Longer-term yields will also remain depressed, anchored by low central bank 
policy rates, expectations for potentially even lower rates and insipid longer-
term inflation expectations. There is a chance yields may follow a slightly 
different path in the medium term, depending on investor perceptions of growth 
and inflation, or the deployment of vaccines.

Forecast: 
• Arlingclose expects Bank Rate to remain at the current 0.10% level. 

• The central case for Bank Rate is no change, but further cuts to zero, or 
perhaps even into negative territory, cannot be completely ruled out, especially 
with likely emergency action in response to a no-deal Brexit.

• Gilt yields will remain low in the medium term. Shorter term gilt yields are 
currently negative and will remain around zero or below until either the Bank 
expressly rules out negative Bank Rate or growth/inflation prospects improve.

• Downside risks remain, and indeed appear heightened, in the near term, as the 
government reacts to the escalation in infection rates and the Brexit transition 
period ends.

Page 196



139

Appendix B 

EXISTING PORTFOLIO PROJECTED FORWARD 

Portfolio 
29-Oct-20

Average 
Rate

31-Mar-21 31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-24

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£m % £m £m £m £m

External Borrowing
Fixed Rate – PWLB 220.773 4.89 220.773 210.828 198.728 190.728
Fixed Rate – Market 33.050 4.24 33.050 33.050 33.050 33.050
Variable Rate – PWLB 0.000 0.00 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Variable Rate – Market 8.000 5.00 8.000 8.000 8.000 8.000
Total External Borrowings 261.823 4.79 261.823 251.878 239.778 231.778
Other long-term liabilities (PFI) 97.070 97.070 95.893 94.425 93.157
Total External Debt 358.893 358.893 347.770 334.203 324.935
Treasury Investments:
Managed in house

- Short term deposits and monies 
on call and Money Market Funds 235.968 0.56 198.968 160.950 132.550 113.350

- Long Term investments (over 12 
months)

56.300 1.29 88.300 88.300 88.300 88.300

Managed externally / Strategic 
Funds 75.000 4.00 75.000 75.000 75.000 75.000

Total Investments 367.268 1.37 362.268 324.250 295.850 276.650

Net  (Borrowing) / Investment 
Position 8.375 3.375 (23.520) (38.353) (48.285)

Page 197



140

Annex 11

                                                                                                                                

Gloucestershire County Council
Risk 
Management 
Policy 
Statement & 
Strategy
2018-2021

Page 198



141

Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) recognises that Risk Management is one of the 
key principles of effective Corporate Governance. It is also a key contributor to a 
sound internal control environment and the Annual Governance Statement.

The Council seeks to adopt recognised best practice in the identification, evaluation and cost 

effective/proportional control of risks and opportunities to ensure that they are managed at 

acceptable levels. Risk management within GCC is about managing our threats and 

opportunities and striving to create an environment of ‘no surprises’. By managing our threats 

effectively we will be in a stronger position to deliver our business objectives. By managing 

our opportunities we will be in a better position to demonstrate improved services and better 

value for money.

Risk is unavoidable. It is an important part of life that allows us all to move forward and 

develop. As an organisation it can impact in many ways, whether financially, politically, on 

our reputation, environmentally or to our service delivery. Successful risk management is 

about ensuring that we have the correct level of control in place to provide sufficient 

protection from harm, without stifling our development. As an organisation, with a range of 

different stakeholders, each with differing needs and expectations, this can be a challenge. 

We must ensure that the decisions we take as a Council reflect a consideration of the 

potential implications for all our stakeholders. We must decide whether the benefits of taking 

our actions outweigh the risks.

The Council’s overriding attitude to risk is to operate in a culture of creativity and innovation, 

in which risks are identified in all areas of the business, are understood and proactively 

managed, rather than avoided. Risk management therefore needs to be taken into the heart 

of the Council and our key partners. We need to have the structures and processes in place 

to ensure the risks and opportunities of daily Council activities are identified, assessed and 

addressed in a standard way. We do not shy away from risk but instead seek to proactively 

manage it. This will allow us not only to meet the needs of the community today, but also be 

prepared to meet future challenges.

The Cabinet and the Corporate Management Team are fully committed to effective risk

management and see it as part of our responsibility to deliver an effective public service to 

the communities within Gloucestershire.

Page 199



142

Contents

 Risk Management Strategy ...................................................................................................3
 What are the real benefits of managing risk?.......................................................................3
 Our Strategic Risk Management Objectives .........................................................................4
 What is the Council’s Risk Appetite?.....................................................................................5
 How are our objectives going to be met?.............................................................................5
 Monitoring and Review of Risk Management Activities (minimum requirements) ................6
 Accountabilities, Roles and Responsibilities .........................................................................7
 Risk Management Governance Structure .............................................................................8

2

Page 200

file://svrshir07/res_shirehall$/CorpResourcesFinance/MTFS-MTFSConsolidation/MTFS%202019-20/Cabinet%20Report%20Jan%2019/Risk%20Management%20Policy%20and%20%20Strategy%202018-21%20(3).docx%23_bookmark0
file://svrshir07/res_shirehall$/CorpResourcesFinance/MTFS-MTFSConsolidation/MTFS%202019-20/Cabinet%20Report%20Jan%2019/Risk%20Management%20Policy%20and%20%20Strategy%202018-21%20(3).docx%23_bookmark1
file://svrshir07/res_shirehall$/CorpResourcesFinance/MTFS-MTFSConsolidation/MTFS%202019-20/Cabinet%20Report%20Jan%2019/Risk%20Management%20Policy%20and%20%20Strategy%202018-21%20(3).docx%23_bookmark2
file://svrshir07/res_shirehall$/CorpResourcesFinance/MTFS-MTFSConsolidation/MTFS%202019-20/Cabinet%20Report%20Jan%2019/Risk%20Management%20Policy%20and%20%20Strategy%202018-21%20(3).docx%23_bookmark3
file://svrshir07/res_shirehall$/CorpResourcesFinance/MTFS-MTFSConsolidation/MTFS%202019-20/Cabinet%20Report%20Jan%2019/Risk%20Management%20Policy%20and%20%20Strategy%202018-21%20(3).docx%23_bookmark4
file://svrshir07/res_shirehall$/CorpResourcesFinance/MTFS-MTFSConsolidation/MTFS%202019-20/Cabinet%20Report%20Jan%2019/Risk%20Management%20Policy%20and%20%20Strategy%202018-21%20(3).docx%23_bookmark5
file://svrshir07/res_shirehall$/CorpResourcesFinance/MTFS-MTFSConsolidation/MTFS%202019-20/Cabinet%20Report%20Jan%2019/Risk%20Management%20Policy%20and%20%20Strategy%202018-21%20(3).docx%23_bookmark6
file://svrshir07/res_shirehall$/CorpResourcesFinance/MTFS-MTFSConsolidation/MTFS%202019-20/Cabinet%20Report%20Jan%2019/Risk%20Management%20Policy%20and%20%20Strategy%202018-21%20(3).docx%23_TOC_250000


143

Risk Management Strategy

This strategy recognises that the next few years will present unprecedented 
challenges for the Council in delivering its services and corporate priorities.

Risk Management is a central part of the Council’s strategic management. It is a cyclical 

process whereby the Council identifies, evaluates, monitors and controls potential 

opportunities and adverse effects that challenge the assets, reputation and objectives of the 

organisation. It enables the Council to effectively manage strategic decision-making, service 

planning and delivery, to safeguard the wellbeing of our customers and stakeholders.

The Council should not be afraid of identifying a risk or feel that identifying a risk is a failure. 

Identification of a risk provides an opportunity for improvement and success!

What are the real benefits of managing risk?

Risk Management will strengthen the ability of the Council to achieve its corporate 
objectives and enhance the value of services provided by:

 Informing strategic and operational decision-making;

 Safeguarding all persons to whom the Council has a duty of care;

 Increasing our chances of success and reducing our chances of failure;

 Enhancing stakeholder value by minimising losses and maximising opportunities;

 Increasing knowledge and understanding of exposure to risk;

 Enabling not just backward looking review, but forward looking thinking;

 Contributing towards social value and sustainable development;

 Reducing unexpected and costly surprises;

 Minimising our vulnerability to fraud and corruption;

 Freeing up management time from ‘fire-fighting’;

 Providing management with early warnings of problems;

 Ensuring minimal service disruption;

 Ensuring statutory compliance;

 Better targeting of resources i.e. focus scarce resources on high risk activity;

 Reducing the financial costs due to, e.g. service disruption, litigation, insurance 
premiums and claims, and bad investment decisions;

 Delivering creative and innovative projects; and

 Protecting our reputation.

Page 201



144

Our Strategic Risk Management Objectives

 Strategic approach to risk management to make better informed decisions which is 
vital to successful transformational change;

 Setting the ‘tone from the top’ on the level of risk we are prepared to accept on our 
different service delivery activities and priorities. Understanding our ‘risk appetite’ and 
acknowledging that how we ‘think about risk’ will be different depending on the context 
of corporate impact and sensitivity;

 Risk management enables us be more consistent in options appraisals and more 
flexible/agile in delivering change. Risk aversion can result in the bar being set much 
higher for commissioning a change compared with maintaining the status quo;

 Acknowledging that even with good risk management and our best endeavours, things 
can go wrong. Where this happens we use the lessons learnt to try to prevent it from 
happening again;

 Developing leadership capacity and skills in having a clear understanding of the risks 
facing the Council and how we manage them;

 Risk management should be integral to how we run Council business/services. Risk 
management processes provide effective arrangements that identify and achieve 
successful local and national priority objectives;

 Supporting a culture of well-measured risk taking throughout the Council’s business, 
including strategic, programme, partnership, project and operational. This includes 
setting risk ownership and accountabilities and responding to risk in a balanced way, 
considering the level of risk, reward, impact and cost of control measures;

 Ensure that the Council continues to meet all statutory and best practice requirements 
in relation to risk management and continues to be a key and effective contributor to 
Corporate Governance and a satisfactory Annual Governance Statement;

 Effective monitoring and Board intelligence on the key risks facing the Council; and

 Good practice tools to support the Council in the management of risks and 
opportunities.

Page 202



145

What is the Council’s Risk Appetite?

There are numerous definitions of organisational ‘risk appetite’, but it all boils 

down to how much of what sort of risk an organisation is willing to take.  The 

HM Treasury definition being: ‘The amount of risk that an organisation is 

prepared to accept, tolerate or be exposed to at any point in time.’ So why do 

we need to determine our risk appetite?

If managers are running the business with insufficient guidance on the levels of risk that are 

legitimate for them to take, or not seizing important opportunities due to a perception that 

taking on additional risk is discouraged, then business performance will not be maximised. At 

the other end of the scale an organisation constantly erring on the side of caution (or one that 

has a risk-averse culture) is one that is likely to stifle creativity and not necessarily 

encouraging innovation, nor seek to exploit opportunities.

A framework has been developed and implemented to enable risk judgements to be more 

explicit, transparent and consistent. By enhancing our approach to determining risk appetite 

we are able to raise the Council’s capability to deliver on challenging targets to raise 

standards, improve service quality, system reform and provide more value for money.

This framework is considered by all levels of the business, from strategic decision making, to 

operational delivery.

How are our objectives going to be met?

The Council’s objectives will be achieved by:

 Adopting good practice risk management principles, in line with the Institute of Risk 
Management Professional Standards 2015 and the International Risk Management 
Standard (ISO 31000 - 2009). The application of the standards and principles within it 
will be reviewed annually and amended accordingly to reflect key changes;

 Establishing clear roles and responsibilities and reporting lines within the Council for 
risk management;

Page 203



146

 Incorporating risk management into the council’s decision making and strategic 
management processes;

 Incorporating risk management into service/business planning, option appraisals, 
programme and project management, partnerships and procurement processes;

 The provision of risk management training, advice, detailed guidance and support and 
providing opportunities for shared learning; and

 The provision of a risk governance framework to ensure the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the identification, assessment, control, monitoring and review 
arrangements in place to manage risk. The framework will ensure that risk 
management is dynamic and responsive to change.

Monitoring and Review of Risk Management Activities 
(minimum requirements)

 A quarterly review of the Strategic Risk Register;

 A quarterly review of service area risk registers;

 A monthly review of programme/project/partnership risk registers;

 An annual review of the corporate Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy;

 An annual report on risk management activity; and

 An annual review and report on the overall effectiveness of risk management and 
internal control by Internal Audit, which feeds into the Annual Governance Statement.

Page 204



147

Accountabilities, Roles and Responsibilities

There needs to be clarity in terms of ‘who does what’ otherwise we will be exposed to 
risks being unmanaged, causing us damage or loss that we could otherwise 
influence, control or avoid. The key roles and responsibilities are outlined below:

Cabinet / Portfolio Holders

 Endorse the Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy;

 Endorse the content of the Strategic Risk Register and proposed risk mitigation plans, 
and monitor implementation;

 Be aware of the risk management implications of decisions;

 Monitor key performance results including the production of an annual report on 
strategic risk management activity; and

 Nominate a Lead Member Risk Management Champion to be responsible for the 
championing, scrutiny and oversight of the risk management activities.

Scrutiny

 Ensure that risks and opportunities within their portfolio are identified and effectively 
managed through discussions with Directors and Service Heads;

 Facilitate a risk management culture across the council;

 Contribute to the Cabinet review of risk and being proactive in raising risk from the 
wider Gloucestershire area and community; and

 Monitor and challenge key risk controls and actions.

Audit and Governance Committee

 Provide independent assurance to the Council of the adequacy and effectiveness of 
the risk management arrangements and associated control environment; and

 Receive an annual report on risk management activity.

Page 205



148

Corporate Management Team (CoMT)

 Provide corporate leadership of risk management throughout the council;

 Agree an effective council-wide framework for the management of risks and 
opportunities;

 Advise Members on effective risk management and ensure Members receive relevant 
risk information;

 Ensure that the council complies with the corporate governance requirements relating 
to risk management;

 Own the council’s Strategic Risk Register and ensure that risks are reviewed as part of 
the wider council’s performance arrangements;

 Ensure that reports to support strategic and/or policy decisions include a risk 
assessment;

 Monitor the implementation of key mitigation plans and controls assurance 
programmes;

 Ensure processes are in place to report any perceived new/emerging (key) risks or 
failures of existing control measures; and

 Nominate a Director to be responsible for the championing, scrutiny and oversight of 
risk management activities.

Directors

 Ensure that risk management within their areas of responsibility is implemented in line 
with the council’s Risk Management Strategy;

 Assist in the preparation of the council’s Annual Governance Statement by providing 
an assurance statement for the internal control framework operating within their 
service(s);

 Ensure that risks associated with the delivery of outcomes are identified and effectively 
managed by owning risk registers;

 Ensure regular review of the risk registers as part of wider council performance;

 Challenge relevant Lead Commissioners and Service Heads on relevant risks relating 
to their areas of responsibility;

 Proactively raise risk issues at management team meetings and with Portfolio Holders; 
and

 Nominate a Risk Champion to work alongside the Corporate Risk Management Team, 
who will be the key interface in supporting the application of risk management 
principles within their service.

Page 206



149

Lead Commissioners/Service Heads

 Ensure that risk management, within their areas of responsibility, is implemented in 
line with the council’s Risk Management Strategy;

 Own their risk register and identify cross-cutting risks as well as risks arising from their 
areas of responsibility; prioritising and initiating mitigating actions;

 Ensure regular review of the service risk register as part of wider council performance;

 Report to Directors on any perceived new and emerging risks or, failures of existing 
control measures;

 Promote and share good practice across service areas;

 Liaise with their service Risk Champion; and

 Challenge risk owners and actions to ensure that controls are operating as intended.

Managers

 Ensure that risk management within their areas of responsibility is implemented in line 
with the council’s Risk Management Strategy;

 Communicate the risk management arrangements to staff;

 Liaise with their service Risk Champion;

 Identify training needs and report these to their service Risk Champion;

 Take accountability for actions and, report to their Lead Commissioner or Service 
Head; and

 Report any perceived new and/or emerging risks or, failure of control measures to their 
Lead Commissioner or Service Head.

Staff/Other Stakeholders

 Maintain risk awareness, assessing and managing risks effectively in their job and, 
report risks to their manager.

Page 207



150

Corporate Risk Management Team

Strategic and Operational Risk

 Lead on the development and manage the implementation of an integrated risk 
management framework, strategy and process on behalf of the council;

 Undertake an annual review of the council’s Corporate Risk Management Strategy and 
update accordingly, presenting any revisions to COMT for approval;

 Spread the ethos and, promote the effectiveness of good risk management throughout 
the council;

 Facilitate the review and update of the Strategic Risk Register;

 Identify and address cross-cutting risks and risk management issues;

 Support the development of the council’s service, programme, project and partnership 
risk registers;

 Provide the council with guidance, toolkits, advice and support on the application of 
risk management principles and, support the Risk Champions in delivering their role;

 Lead, co-ordinate and develop risk management activity across the council with the 
support of the Risk Champions;

 Ensure that all relevant staff and Members are adequately trained in risk management 
and risk assessment techniques;

 Moderate and challenge the application of risk management principles accordingly;

 Liaise with external consultants and risk management organisations and review 
national standards to identify, share and maintain best practice within the council; and

 Liaise with both internal and external audit with regard to risk management.

Risk Financing and Insurance

 Lead on the development and implementation of the council’s insurance programme;

 Provide advice and guidance with regards to insurance requirements, indemnities and 
legal liabilities;

 Lead on claims management and investigation services for claims made against the 
council; and

 Provide an insurance programme to maintained schools, who buy-back the traded 
service.

Page 208



151

Corporate Risk Management Group

The group is made up of senior officers within the following:

 Corporate Risk Management;

 Performance and Improvement;

 Information Management;

 Health and Safety;

 Civil Protection;

 Risk/Insurance Services;

 Commercial Services;

 Asset Management and Property Services, and

 Service area risk champions. 

The key aims of the group are to:

 Act as the main risk management contact/advisor for their service areas, ensuring that 
corporate information and requirements are communicated throughout the service 
areas and that key service risk information is escalated, to enable appropriate action to 
be taken by the Corporate Risk Management Team i.e. ‘top down – bottom up’ 
approach;

 Support the development and implementation of the council’s Risk Management Policy 
and Strategy;

 Support the development of the Strategic Risk Register;

 Support the development of and advise on the adequacy of the service, programme, 
project and partnership risk registers;

 Identify and address cross cutting risks and risk management issues;

 Provide support on risk management to Directors, Service Heads and other managers 
within their service area;

 Promote the benefits of risk management across their service areas;

 Identify their service areas training needs and notify the Corporate Risk Management 
Team;

 Maintain, on behalf of their services, risk registers that comply with corporate 
guidelines;

 Promote and share best practice/lessons learned across the service areas; and

 Report on the progress and development of the risk management strategy within the 
council.

Page 209



152

Internal Audit

The role of Internal Audit in respect of risk management is to:

 Provide an annual independent, objective assessment/opinion of the effectiveness of 
the risk management and control processes operating within the council which feeds 
into the council’s Annual Governance Statement;

 Provide advice and guidance on risk and control; and

 Ensure that the Internal Audit activity is focused on the key risks facing the council.

Page 210



153

14

Risk Management Governance Structure

Support Functions

County Council
Audit and Governance 

Committee

Cabinet
Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Committee
Cabinet/CoMT

Scrutiny Committees

Corporate Management Team (CoMT)

Commissioning Board

Management Teams – Portfolio, Project and Programme Boards

Staff/Other Stakeholders

13

Civil Protection Team

Corporate Risk
Management Team

Performance 
and Improvement

Internal 
Audit

P
age 211



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 3

1

  

Page 213

Agenda Item 8d



APPENDIX 3

2

Contents

        Page
1. Executive Summary of Public Consultation
1.1 Background ............................................................................................................3
1.2 Survey and engagement method ...........................................................................4

2. Key Findings from Budget Consultation
  
2.1   Council Priorities...................................................................................................6
2.2   Council Budget .....................................................................................................8

Appendix A
Data tables of survey respondents 

Appendix B
Online and Paper Questionnaire

Page 214



APPENDIX 3

3

1. Executive summary of public consultation

1.1 Background

Stakeholders were asked to comment on a proposed budget totalling more than 
£480 million of investments, including an extra £10 million of funding to help the most 
vulnerable children in Gloucestershire and a further investment of £67 million in 
2021/22 set aside for highways. This budget also proposes a 1.99% council tax 
increase to ensure the Council can deliver on its proposed spending plans for next 
year. The council tax bill will also include the National Adult Social Care Levy of 
2.76%, to cover increasing demand for social care for adults. 

The council’s draft budget proposals for 2021/22 are based on the following 
emerging priorities:

• Public health 

• Supporting vulnerable adults

 • Protecting vulnerable children 

• Climate change

• Fire and Rescue 

• Digital services 

• Delivery of jobs, homes and infrastructure

Consultation on the 2021/22 draft budget took place between 18th December 2020 
and 15th January 2021. 

The consultation outlined the council’s budget proposals and also sought feedback 
on the priority areas. 

Stakeholders were also encouraged to give any general feedback they had on the 
proposed budget. 

This report outlines the key findings from the consultation.

Page 215



APPENDIX 3

4

1.2 Survey and engagement methods 

The survey was self-selecting and could be completed online or via  a paper copy, 
on request. 
 
The survey was sent to key stakeholders and promoted to residents via a variety of 
digital and traditional methods – e-mail, social media, press releases, website and 
newsletters. 

The consultation was also promoted to key organisations representing the protected 
characteristics including the county council’s employee networks, including the 
Disability Network and PRISM.

We engaged with a variety of different groups which helped us to ensure a 
representative sample. 

In total, 277 responses were received online and 0 postal copies were received, 
Alongside the questions respondents were given the opportunity to provide  free text 
comments, which resulted in 343 individual remarks. 

Of the 277 responses, three of them were written submissions from town and parish 
councils. All responses have been themed in the same way so that everyone’s 
responses have been treated equally and fairly.

Our media coverage was achieved through press releases and a social media 
presence. On social media we placed 12 Tweets and 12 Facebook posts (organic). 
Organic posts receive 44 likes, 55 retweets, 7 replies and 258 clicks. Our Twitter 
reach was 402.8K (402,799) and our Facebook reach was 19.9K (19,866).

We received 13 individual comments via organic social media on twitter and 
Facebook.

Many of the comments were around roads and repairs to potholes.

We also carried out a paid Facebook advert that reached 67,214 people in 
Gloucestershire, and the advert was seen 73,711 times on screen, including via 
Facebook’s sister platform, Instagram.

We sent out a digital newsletter of the engagement to the People’s Panel who 
represent the geographical distribution of the population of Gloucestershire as well 
as the age, gender and ethnic diversity of the county, and also to people who have 
signed up to receive our news bulletins. 

This reaches around 3,200 people and generated  1,241 unique opens of the 
newsletter and 378 unique clicks from the newsletter to more information. 

Page 216



APPENDIX 3

5

From our website there 147* unique downloads of relevant PDFs

County Council staff were informed via Talksmart and staffnet, and a message  was 
sent direct to staff networks.

A dedicated webpage at gloucestershire.gov.uk provided links to the survey and 
supporting information, and a a widget on the homepage encouraged people to have 
their say

GCC Members were informed via a newsletter from Democratic Services

Partners, including district and borough councils were sent notification via the 
county-wide Local Resilience Forum’s Warning and Informing Group and asked to 
share with all relevant internal stakeholders. 

Schools were notified via a communication sent from the education team.

The budget consultation was discussed at a meeting with Trade Unions held on the 
13 January 2021

The budget consultation was discussed at the schools forum meeting held on the 14 
January 2021.

2. Key Findings 

 In total we received 277 responses to the public consultation 

 67% agree with our budget proposals, including the 1.99% increase in Council 
Tax and 2.76% national social care levy.  

Overall the comments received supported the council’s budget proposals, and 
particularly the investment in tackling climate change, active travel and transport and 
infrastructure schemes.

 More investment in tackling climate change and protecting the environment and 
habitat, and better recycling.

 More investment in  infrastructure -  more investment into improving and maintaining 
our roads and developing better more reliable public transport and rail links

 More investment in active travel – spending needed to improve cycle paths and 
public footpaths and help reduce the amount of traffic on the roads.

 More investment in health services, to protect the vulnerable and to support those in 
need. More investment into mental health and wellbeing.

Page 217



APPENDIX 3

6

2.1 Council priorities

Respondents were asked the extent to which they agreed with the council’s 
overarching priorities and for any comments they had.

Our priorities
In making decisions on how best to spend our £480 million budget the council based 
its  spending plans on where it was felt the  biggest impact on the lives of people in 
the county could be achieved. This is done by carefully listening to all feedback  and 
using all other relevant  information  available.. 

Our budget proposals for 2021/22 are based on the following priorities:

Public health
 
Supporting vulnerable adults

Protecting vulnerable children 

Climate change

Fire and Rescue 

Digital services 

Delivery of jobs, homes and infrastructure

Question 1: 

Question: Please tell us to what extent you agree or disagree with our priorities:

270 people responded to this question. 76% (205) strongly agreed or agreed with 
this priority.

Page 218



APPENDIX 3

7

18%

58%

18%

6%

Strongly agree Agree Disagree Strongly agree
0

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

Series 1

Please tell us to what extent you agree or disagree 
with our budget priorities:  

On disaggregation of the data, there was some variation in responses amongst 
groups by Age, gender and disability. 

Age Percentage who agree
Under 25 85% (6)
25-54 79% (104)
55+ 74% (87)

Gender Percentage who agree
Male 70% (84)
Female 85% (107)

Disability Percentage who agree
Yes 90% (18)
No 77% (170)

Question 2: 

Question: Would you like to give us any feedback on the priorities in question 1 and 
on any specific areas you feel we should spend the money on, which aren’t already 
listed?

We received 183 comments. All comments were analysed and themed. The top 
themes were:

Page 219



APPENDIX 3

8

 More investment in tackling climate change and protecting the environment 
and habitat, and better recycling. (49 comments)

 More investment into infrastructure -  more investment into improving and 
maintaining our roads, better more reliable public transport and rail links (41 
comments)

 Invest more in active travel – more investment needed to improve cycle paths 
and public footpaths and help reduce the amount of traffic on the roads. (37 
comments)

 More investment into health services, to protect the vulnerable and to support 
those in need. More investment into mental health and wellbeing. (25 
comments)

 More investment into adult/young adults and youth services, to support the 
most vulnerable (23 comments)

 More investment into local housing and jobs infrastructure (17 comments)

2.2 Council budget 

Respondents were asked the extent to which they agreed with the council’s draft 
budget proposals for 2021/22 and for any comments they had.

Question 3

Question: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our budget proposals for 
2021/22?

264 people responded to this question. 67% strongly agreed or agreed with this 
priority.

Page 220



APPENDIX 3

9

9%

58%

24%

9%

Strongly agree Agree Disagree Strongly disagree
0

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

Series 1

To what extent do you agree or disagree with our budget 
proposals for 2020/21?  

On disaggregation of the data, there was some variation in responses amongst 
groups by Age, gender and disability. 

Age Percentage who agree
Under 25 85% (6)
25-54 71% (92)
55+ 67% (76)

Gender Percentage who agree
Male 63% (76)
Female 78% (95)

Disability Percentage who agree
Yes 85% (17)
No 69% (150)

Page 221



APPENDIX 3

10

Question 4

Question: Do you have any further comments you would like to make about our 
proposed 2021/22 budget?

We received 160 comments. All comments were analysed and themed. The top 
themes were:

 More investment in tackling climate change, to improve active travel and 
protect our environment. (38 comments)

 More investment into infrastructure and economy to include better road 
maintenance, gulley clearing, footpaths, cycle lanes and public transport 
(25comments)

 Disagree with the council tax rise, people are already struggling to cope with 
the impact of Covid-19. (14 comments)

 More investment into health care services including the NHS- to support people with 
mental health issues, domestic violence and also help with the affects of Covid-19 
(10 comments)

 Protecting the most vulnerable (9 comments)

 Agree that the proposals are the right ones (9 comments)

 More investment into schools, education and training (8 comments)

Appendix A – Data Tables – Respondent breakdown

Age

270Total
97%
7No response

 2%

Page 222



APPENDIX 3

11

7Under 25
2%
1425-34
5%
5235-44
19%
6845-54
24%
5355-64
19%
5065-74
18%
1575 or over
5%
11Prefer not to say
3%

Gender
267Total
97%
10No response

 3%
123Male
44%
127Female
45%
16Rather not say

 5%
 

Page 223



APPENDIX 3

12

Q16. Do you have any kind of disability?
 
  

269Total
98%
8No response

 2%
20Yes
7%
225No
81%
24Prefer not to say
8%

 
 
Ethnic Origin 

266Total
97%
11No response

 3%
219White British
78%
13BME
5%
34Prefer not to say 11%

Q19. Do you identify yourself as...? 
 

267Total
97%
10No response

 3%
223Heterosexual/Straight
80%
5Gay or lesbian 
2%
2Bisexual
1%
36Prefer not to say
11%

Page 224



APPENDIX 3

13

Religion or Belief 
267Total
96%
10No response
3%
99Christian
35%
1Buddhist
0%
3Muslim
1%
1Hindu
0%
124Non religious
44%
7Other
2%
32Prefer not to say
11%

Page 225



APPENDIX 3

14

Appendix B – Online and paper survey questionnaire e online 
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/budget2014

Page 226



APPENDIX 3

15

Page 227



APPENDIX 3

16

Page 228



APPENDIX 3

17

Page 229



APPENDIX 3

18

Page 230



APPENDIX 3

19

Page 231



APPENDIX 3

20

Page 232



APPENDIX 3

21

Page 233



APPENDIX 3

22

Page 234



APPENDIX 4

CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held on Thursday 7 January 2021 virtually.

PRESENT

Cllr Rob Bird Cllr Nigel Robbins
Cllr Kevin Cromwell Cllr Brian Robinson
Cllr Iain Dobie Cllr Ray Theodoulou
Cllr Kate Haigh Cllr Lesley Williams
Cllr Joe Harris
Cllr Stephen Hirst
Cllr Shaun Parsons

In attendance:

Cllr Steve Robinson
Cllr Ben Evans
Cllr Phil Awford
Cllr Lorraine Patrick
Cllr Jeremy Hilton
Cllr John Cordwell
Cllr Rachel Smith
Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
Cllr Bernard Fisher

Cabinet Members:

Cllr Richard Boyles, Deputy Leader of Council and Cabinet Member for 
Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years (Item 1& 4) 
Cllr Vernon Smith, Highways and Flood (Item 2)
Cllr Kathy Williams, Adult Social Care Delivery (Item 3) 
Cllr Carole Allaway Martin Adult Social Care Commissioning (Item 3)
Cllr Nigel Moor, Environment and Planning (Item 2)
Cllr Lynden Stowe, Finance and Change (Item 1 & 5)
Cllr Dave Norman, Public Protection, Parking and Libraries (Item 2 & 3)
Cllr Patrick Molyneux, Economy, Education and Skills (Item 2 & 4)
Cllr Tim Harman, Public Health and Communities (Item 3) 

Officers:

Pete Bungard, Chief Executive
Steve Mawson, Executive Director of Corporate Resources
Rob Ayliffe, Monitoring Officer and Director of Policy, Performance and 
Governance

Page 235

Agenda Item 8e



APPENDIX 4

Colin Chick, Executive Director of Economy, Environment & Infrastructure
Sarah Scott, Executive Director of Adult Social Care & Public Health
Mark Preece, Assistant Chief Fire Officer
Chris Spencer, Director of Children’s Services
Gail Hancock, Interim Director for Children’s Safeguarding & Care
Wendy Williams, Assistant Director for Integrated Children and Families 
Commissioning
Stephen Bace, Lead Democratic Services Adviser

1. INTRODUCTION & COUNCIL STRATEGY

1.1 Cllr Richard Boyles, Cllr Lynden Stowe and Pete Bungard discussed the 
Council Strategy with members and gave an introduction to budget 
scrutiny day. Throughout the day the committee would meet with the 
Cabinet Members and Directors under the remit of each Scrutiny 
Committee and discuss their areas of the budget.

1.2 Members were advised to consider how effectively the proposed budget 
responded to: 

  The changing needs of Gloucestershire residents and communities 
  The priorities and ambitions set out within the Council Strategy.
 Any legislative or other changes in national policy or guidance 

1.3 The Committee understood that the proposed budget was 
£480.458million. 

The Budget issued for consultation was based on 1.99% Council Tax 
increase and 2.76% National Social Care Levy. 

Band D Council Tax of £1,409.22 

The Budget Consultation period ran from 18th December 2020 to 15th 
January 2021. 

1.4 Members were informed that there would be an additional £1.3 million in 
funding which would be split between adults and children budget areas.

1.5 There were a number of areas highlighted for members as priorities and 
now included in the council strategy including: 

 Helping children and young people and schools recover from the 
pandemic

 Delivering the local outbreak management plan, 
 Addressing health inequalities, 

Page 236



APPENDIX 4

 Continue to build on the Covid Health Hub, 
 Leading Covid economic recovery
 Major Transport and Infrastructure schemes, 
 Supporting agile working, 
 Adapting buildings and estate to fit purpose.

1.6 There was scope for the budget to change further, and Cabinet and 
Senior Officers were looking forward to scrutiny’s contribution. It was felt 
that Central Government had provided the funds to meet most of the 
costs associated with COVID-19.

1.7 For context the Council was having to handle a record number of looked 
after children and the consequence of Covid-19 pandemic meant that 
there would likely need to be changes to practices across all services.  
The frailty of the older population was likely to increase but the adult 
single programme had been a success for the Council. There were 
pressures on the acute hospital and 200 ‘discharge to assess’ beds had 
been provided. Members understood that there were ambitious 
infrastructure programmes planned such as the A417 and A419 missing 
link. 

1.8 Members were reminded that senior officer advice could be sought to cost 
up any budget proposals being put forward by opposition groups and 
members.

1.9 In response to questions it was explained that the response to climate 
change was an integral part of the strategy.

1.10 In relation to the social care levy, it was unknown how long that would 
continue. It would likely require national government to do a fundamental 
review of adult social care funding to change this. This was a one year 
settlement and left scope for changes in future years. Some funding had 
been taken from the new homes bonus but there was a net increase of 
£1.28 million which would be split with £500,000 for adults, £500,000 into 
the cost of children’s social care placements and £280,000 into an 
inflation contingency fund relating to contract costs.

1.11 Members discussed the long term public health effects of long Covid, 
which were relatively unknown but could create additional budget 
pressures in the future.

1.12 There was discussion around the impact of inequality and the work that 
had been carried out by the community and voluntary sector. This was 
something that members wished to see reflected in funding decisions 
going forward. It was emphasised that much of the support through Covid-
19 had been provided by communities at a very local level, and it was 
clear that they had the best understanding of local needs. 

Page 237



APPENDIX 4

2. Environment Scrutiny and Economic Growth

2.1 Cllr Nigel Moor, Cllr Vernon Smith, Cllr Patrick Molyneux and Cllr Dave 
Norman outlined the Commissioning Intentions and budget changes 
relating to Economy, Environment and Infrastructure. In particular 
members noted the following:

 The majority of growth within the budget looked to cover contracted 
inflation and pay increases

 The £350,000 cost increase within the budget under in-house traffic 
management related to strengthening the team to be able to be 
more responsive to requests from members and the public.

 A one off cost increase relating to carbon reduction pathway
 The team had worked well together during the past nine months 

with procurement, finance,  legal and communications to achieve 
the common goal of minimising the impact of Covid-19

 Major schemes continued to move forward despite the disruption.
 A high proportion of Council and Cabinet questions related to this 

area of the budget putting pressure on teams.
 The revised Local Transport Plan would be received by Council in 

due course
 2020/21 climate change strategy underpinned everything within the 

budget
 The Council would be in a better than carbon neutral position by 

March 2021.
 A Bus Service Strategy was being developed to ensure home to 

school transport was available for those who needed it including 
personalised plans that allowed for social distancing

 Resources and Waste Partnership was chaired by non GCC 
councilors

 Support was being provided with key stakeholders to help the local 
economy in response to Covid-19 – including broadband rollout 
and reskilling and training in response to job losses. All supported 
by library based growth hubs and the innovation lab model.

 Working closely with GFirst and partners.
 Climate change was likely to result in increased flooding issues and 

extreme weather events and there was provision in the budget to 
meet this challenge.

 Continuing to deliver the £150 million investment in the County’s 
roads.

2.2 One member suggested that consideration should be given to a more 
flexible and innovative approach to home to school transport through in 
house provision with specialised training for drivers in working with 
vulnerable children and adults. It was suggested that any such budget 

Page 238



APPENDIX 4

proposals could be costed up with senior officers and put to the 
administration.

2.3 In response to questions it was explained that the Road Safety Cabinet 
Panel would be reporting and that funding for proposals from this report 
would likely come from in year highways spending, from Fire and Rescue 
Service budget and from partners.

2.4 There was a discussion around recent flooding with one member 
suggesting that there needed to be clearer signposting for members and 
the community to seek support. In response to queries over spending on 
flood alleviation, it was explained that £2.1 million was within the budget 
each year and that to date £72.8 million had been spent. This was 
supported by work carried out in relation to major schemes. Some 
member expressed concern about a lack of work carried out in their 
areas. Other members provided detail of the work carried out across the 
County and stated that Gloucestershire was considered to be the source 
of best practice. One member suggested that a scrutiny task group on 
flooding should be scoped up to take into consideration new areas of 
surface flooding and a need to re map the area prior to new 
developments. Members supported this suggestion.
ACTION Democratic Services

2.5 It was stated that there had been a drop off in parking income over the 
previous 12 months as more people were staying home, working from 
home and shopping online.

2.6 Members noted the £3m outlined for contract inflation, and it was 
explained  that this covered contracts across the range of services.

2.7 The new five year library strategy was being developed looking at how to 
use them better. Thirty-one libraries were operational across the County 
and, while browsing had been stopped due to Covid-19, click and collect 
and deliveries had been put in place. One member emphasised the 
importance of libraries and was keen to see them utilised further. One 
member stated that the Innovation Lab in Coleford had been a success.

2.8 In response to a question it was stated that 97-98% of homes had super 
fast broadband access and that it was now about providing for those last 
few percent.

2.9 It was explained that the Council was in the fourth year of the £150m 
spend on highways with details of the capital spend on page 108 of the 
draft MTFS.

2.10 In response to a question it was explained that £1.2m had been budgeted 
for removal of ash trees due to the Ash die back disease.

Page 239



APPENDIX 4

2.11 One member provided details of the need for LED lighting in his area, it 
was explained that there was £400,000 in the budget for LED street 
lighting.

3. Adult Social Care and Communities 

3.1 Cllr Kathy Williams, Cllr Carole Allaway Martin, Cllr Tim Harman and Cllr 
Dave Norman outlined the Commissioning Intentions and budget changes 
detailed in the draft MTFS relating to Adult Social Care and Communities. 
In particular members noted the following:

 In addition to the Public Health grant, the Government had provided 
additional funding to support the public health response to Covid-19.

 Mental Health services were being enhanced.
 The ambition for adult social care was to allow people to live as 

independently as possible with support rom universal services enhanced 
where necessary with specialist services.

 The impact on adult social care of current NHS pressures. Attempting to 
manage ‘business as usual’ while implementing additional strategies.

 Understanding and tackling health inequalities
 Local accommodation being provided to allow individuals needing support to 

remain in their own communities
 A paper was going to the next Cabinet meeting on Preparing for Adulthood 

Strategy
 Support by district outreach teams for roughs sleepers and those choosing 

to remain on the streets.
 Support for people who had suffered domestic violence was a key priority
 In relation to the Fire and Rescue Service the focus was on continuing the 

improvement journey following the HMIC inspection.

3.2 One member asked whether the County Council was confident in the 
stability of the care home system, given the financial pressures 
exacerbated by the Covid-19 pandemic. In response it was explained that 
significant support was given to all care homes and that the 
Gloucestershire Care Providers Association met with staff and senior 
officers to talk through any issues. In the long term, the sector would face 
challenges as client numbers would fall due to individuals choosing to 
remain in their own home. It was clarified that under the Care Act there 
was a responsibility to manage the care market and there was an 
Integrated Brokerage Team to support the market and source packages 
of care. The Council was still awaiting the Social Care Green paper and 
longer term financial settlement plans for the sector.

Page 240



APPENDIX 4

3.3 A member expressed concern about the above inflation increase in 
council tax and the growth in demand for social care funding. He asked 
whether the NHS would provide funding for the County Council in relation 
to their actions to help relieve pressure as instructed by central 
government. In response it was detailed that the Integrated Care System 
had provided long established relationships with the CCG and that there 
was £35m of ‘joint money’ that could be used to buy the beds being used 
by the Local Authority to help relieve pressure on NHS beds. It was 
emphasised that we were ‘in this together’ and there was daily contact 
between GCC and NHS teams in terms of moving patients safely and 
quickly through the system.

3.4 It was explained that the changes to the Money Advice Service was due 
to duplication with the Citizens Advice offer.

3.5 In response to concerns about budget decreases in wider Public Health 
work it was explained that these were minor decreases and overall there 
was much more investment in services relating to domestic abuse, rough 
sleepers, children’s weight management, in addition to the additional 
grants relating to the pandemic. There was important work to be done on 
inequalities and long Covid going forward.

3.6 Some members felt that funding for community groups sometimes went to 
larger organisations that would be ‘helicoptered’ in to provide services that 
were already being provided by local community groups who had long 
established relationships. It was explained that funding for ‘Know your 
Patch’ network was about supporting those groups. The Cabinet Member 
supported the need for local groups to come together and for this funding 
to be used effectively.

3.7 Members welcome the upcoming strategy around preparing for adulthood 
which supported transitions up to the age of 25.

3.8 One member raised the importance of the Fire and Rescue Service 
budget also providing appropriate equipment and expertise for ‘Rescue’. It 
was explained that the service was always looking at ways to respond 
more effectively to 999 calls and that if additional equipment was needed 
then options involving capital would be explored. One member suggested 
that SARA, who carried out a great deal of work on water rescues, receive 
a donation to help support them. It was explained that equipment was 
donated to SARA but that the Cabinet Member would take on board the 
suggestion. 

3.9 In response to questions, it was explained that every Fire and Rescue 
Service station was a community one and was open for use. The example 
was given that Cheltenham East Fire Station was being used as a 
vaccination centre for Covid-19. 

3.10 Members noted the commissioning intentions for the Adult Care budget 
and asked for additional detail on how savings would be realised and how 

Page 241



APPENDIX 4

the budget would be used over the coming year. In response it was 
explained that the strategy of supporting individuals to remain in their own 
home benefitted the individual and helped save money. In additional the 
use of technology, particularly over the period of the pandemic provided 
additional support in this area.

3.11 The Health and Wellbeing Board would be working with all agencies and 
partners and would revisit its work plan at a future meeting to ensure that 
the wider implications of projects on health and planning policy were 
being considered.

4. Children and Young People 

4.1 Cllr Richard Boyles and Cllr Patrick Molyneux outlined the Commissioning 
Intentions and budget changes detailed in the draft MTFS relating to 
Children and Young People. In particular members noted the following:

 Gloucestershire’s Children’s Services had been on an Improvement Journey 
following the Ofsted Inspection.

 There was a significant investment in Vulnerable Children in the budget with 
£3m for external placements. This would need to be monitored carefully.

 The introduction of Trevone House as a facility to provide the best support 
for young people and to help control this budget area

 21.2% of the workforce was now agency workers, which was down from 
around 50%. This was a more manageable level.

 Continuing rise in children in care numbers (800) and those on child 
protection plans

 Net of Covid-19 current overspend in the service of £7.669 million, the latest 
report to cabinet for January would show a £1 million improvement on this.

 Small savings within education through the reduction in pension costs
 Increase in the number of foster carers
 GCC was not unlike other authorities in experiencing challenges in this area 

with the LGA identifying a £3bn gap in the children service budget nationally.
 A Sufficiency Strategy was in place to attempt to manage the children’s 

social care market and ensure the right mix of placements.

4.2 Members expressed concern about year on year overspends in the 
Children’s budget and suggested that if we know we are going to 
overspend would it not make more sense to increase the budget to begin 
with? In response it was explained that the budget figures provided in the 
draft budget for 2021/22 were felt to be at the right level and was a 
realistic budget for the service with the caveat that the placement budget 
was still likely to require further resourcing during 2021-22. Currently this 
included an additional £3million as well as £1million in contingency for 
additional placement costs but this was unlikely to be sufficient given a 
combination of rising unit costs, increases in the number of children in 

Page 242



APPENDIX 4

care related to the impact of Covid -19 and the time required to deliver our 
sufficient strategy. Of the £11.5 million additional money relating to Covid-
19 it was felt that an element of that would be needed in Children’s Social 
Care and that stability was key.

4.3 In response to questions it was explained that there had been a service 
improvement action plan in place to recruit 40 new foster carers. The aim 
was to increase capacity and build on the support provided. In addition 
there was a new offer being developed for an Edge of Care service to 
help families to continue with their birth children. Supported by an external 
transformation consultant there would be an intensive family preservation 
service. 

4.4 Trevone House had been up and running for over a month and it was 
clarified that there had been no delay. Two residents had moved into the 
house in the previous few days. Five young people were in Trevone 
House and this put the Council on target.

4.5 SEND funding was complex with a structural deficit of £8.4 million. This 
was a school owned deficit not a County Council one but there was no 
chance of schools being able to absorb it. The hope wasthat the current 
Government SEND review would provide a long term solution. There was 
successful funding for a SEMH school to open in 2022/23.

4.6 There was emphasis on the importance of early intervention with one 
member talking about the first 1000 days of a child’s life. Early years 
provision had led to a significant improvement in school readiness. 

4.7 Members noted the scrutiny task group that had made recommendations 
feeding into the development of the Youth Strategy. This strategy was not 
looking to reduce services but would be looking to provided universal and 
specialist services. This would be going to Cabinet in April and then out to 
the market. Some members commented that outreach youth work within 
communities was an option which should be explored as well as in-house 
provision. In response it was explained that the priority was looking at 
what was in the best interest of the children and that there was a 
balanced view on whether that be in house services or outsourced where 
the County did not have provision. 

4.8 Members emphasised the importance of being proactive and preemptive 
in strategies to identify potential problems to prevent children reaching the 
point where they needed to be in care. There was concern about the 
potential spike of numbers of referrals in the future as a result of the 
Covid-19 pandemic. Officers responded by stating that the spike was 
expected and that this analysis had been done as part of the budget 
setting. It was a recognised risk on the budget.

Page 243



APPENDIX 4

5 Corporate Services

5.1 Cllr Lynden Stowe outlined the Commissioning Intentions and budget 
changes detailed in the draft MTFS relating to Corporate Resources. In 
particular members noted the following:

 There was £600,000 within the budget to enable the transition to Office 365 
as well as IT infrastructure and additional software.

 There was a specific increase in the budget for legal services for children. 
This was a difficult recruitment environment.

 £455,000 was held centrally for contract contingency fund in case of contract 
inflation.

 The commitment to climate change was embedded throughout with the 
Council becoming carbon neutral in 2021.

 It was emphasised that there was a commitment to our staff to provide the 
appropriate accommodation and IT whatever the future held in store. 
Alongside this HR support, staff car parking and support around health and 
wellbeing was being provided.

 One saving identified was in relation to contributions to the pension fund 
where, as a result of good returns, it was 100% funded.

5.2 In response to a question it was clarified that the contract contingency fund 
was budgeted within Corporate Resources but would be used for contracts 
across other services.

5.3 There was a discussion about the continued disposal of property assets. It 
was recognised that changing working practices such a social distancing and 
working from home would mean that the Council estate would have to be 
used in new ways.  While there were challenges here there were also cost 
savings. It was explained that the quarterly list of disposals was still in 
operation and received by Cabinet. One member suggested that when 
disposing of land and assets consideration should be given to providing social 
housing. In response there was a discussion around affordable and social 
housing and the support being provided through large scale development and 
capital sales. The Cabinet Member detailed the importance of ensuring best 
value from asset sales and that receipts from capital sales were a part of the 
budget process. He would like see continued work between the Council and 
district colleagues for good quality and design, preferably carbon neutral 
housing.

5.4  One member asked how the Council was going to fulfil the commitment made 
when declaring a climate emergency to reduce carbon emissions in 
Gloucestershire. In response it was explained that the first priority was to ‘get 
our own house in order’ and lead by example, setting the right framework for 

Page 244



APPENDIX 4

others to follow. The aim to plant 35 million trees in Gloucestershire was also 
cited as an example of the actions being taken. There would also be 
opportunities for help provide finance and support partners in their actions to 
achieve this aim. The administration would welcome any more positive ideas 
in formulating the budget and strategy to help in this. Some members 
suggested that climate change should receive a higher profile in the Council 
Strategy.

5.5 One member expressed surprise that the reserves had not been increased 
despite the additional risks the Council had identified over the past year. In 
response it was explained that an actual risk assessment of reserves had 
been carried out to estimate the appropriate level. In the past a flat 
percentage of revenue had been taken to determine the level of general 
reserves. There was confidence that the level of general reserves was 
adequate after considering the areas of biggest risks and overspends and the 
realisation of savings.

6.  Summary

6.1 The Committee had the opportunity to feed back to the Chief Executive 
and Cabinet Members on the themes and trends that had been identified 
over the course of the day.  

6.2 Members had been advised to consider how effectively the proposed 
budget responded to:

 The changing needs of Gloucestershire residents and communities
 The priorities and ambitions set out within the Council Strategy
 Any legislative or other changes in national policy or guidance

While the Committee did not make any formal recommendations, the 
significant comments raised by Members against those criteria (minuted 
in detail previously) are listed below:

 The response to climate change to have greater prominence within the 
Council Strategy with more explicit detail on the direction of travel.

 Recognition of the challenges of long Covid with some members asking that 
the need to support people with long Covid be included within the pressures 
for adult social care.

 The voluntary community sector needed continued support following the 
additional pressures over the pandemic period. Some members’ 
emphasised the need for a focus on funding for local groups who have 
knowledge of communities. 

Page 245



APPENDIX 4

 Concerns expressed regarding the long term funding solution for adult social 
care and pressure on the Gloucestershire tax payers. Members recognised 
that the current financial settlement was for one year with potential changes 
in future years.

 Concern about the pressures on the children services budget. Members 
noted the assurances that the proposed budget was a realistic one but 
recognised the overspending in previous years and unknown implications of 
the Covid-19 pandemic.

 One member suggested looking at new ways of providing home to school 
transport that would ensure trained drivers and management of costs.

 Members suggested a scrutiny task group on flood alleviation.  A one page 
strategy would be scoped up with interested members.

 Some members asked for additional details around cost reductions with the 
Adult Social Care budget.

 Members recognised the importance of providing stability and support for 
the care home market.

 One member asked that consideration be given to how additional support 
could be provided to SARA.

 Members noted the timetable for the upcoming Youth Strategy and the 
influence of the scrutiny task group on this.

 Recognition of the changing use of office space for County Council staff 
going forward, the importance of the appropriate utilisation of assets and the 
need for continued improvement in IT provision to allow for effective home 
working.

Page 246



APPENDIX 5

Gloucestershire County Council Strategy and MTFS 2021/22 – implications of the 
Public Sector Equality Duty

Under the Equality Act 2010, decision makers must show ‘due regard’ to the need to:

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation
 advance equality of opportunity between those who share a protected characteristic 

and others who do not share it; and
 foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 

and persons who do not share it

The protected characteristics are age, disability, sex, race, religion or belief, sexual 
orientation, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, and marriage and civil 
partnership.

Having ‘due regard’ is a legal term that requires Members to consider what is 
proportionate and relevant in terms of the decisions they take. The policy and budget 
framework is a decision for all Members of the County Council.

Members have been provided with, and should read, the Due Regard Statement (DRS) 
which accompanies the Council report. In relation to service users, each of the cost 
increases and cost reductions that were identified as requiring an equality assessment 
are considered, with due regard given to what it means for those with protected 
characteristics and the potential impact. The implications of the proposals for the 
workforce are also set out in the DRS. More detailed Equality Impact Assessments will 
be produced, where required, during the 2021/22 financial year.

To meet the legal obligation Members should first be content that they have sufficient 
information to enable them to consider the equality impacts and that they can 
consciously and actively consider the relevant matters. The detailed Due Regard 
Statement sets out the key issues in relation to the Council Strategy and MTFS, in 
terms of service users and the workforce.

As decision makers, Members must weigh up all the factors and reach a balanced 
view, ensuring that there are mitigating factors wherever possible. Again, these 
are set out in the Due Regard Statement.

Page 247

Agenda Item 8f



This page is intentionally left blank



Due Regard Statement - Gloucestershire County Council Strategy and Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS) 2021/22 
 

This document demonstrates how the council is meeting its duties under the Equality Act 2010, by giving due regard to the 
requirement to:  
 
 eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited by or under the Equality Act 2010;   
 advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share 

it; and 
 foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it.   
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
The Council Strategy is a key, high level document that, along with the MTFS, sets out the council’s strategic policy direction. It is 
approved each year by the Council, alongside the MTFS. The council’s current strategy ‘Looking to the Future (2019-22)’ includes 
the council’s vision and details the level of ambition the council has for the county over the coming years and what it will do to 
support improved outcomes and quality of life for every community and business in Gloucestershire. 
 
The Council Strategy also confirms the council’s key priorities over the coming years, which are: 
 

 Children’s wellbeing and safeguarding 

 Education and skills 

 Health, care and prevention 

 Communities and localities 

 Transport, economy and infrastructure 

 Highways 

 Council leadership 
 
The purpose of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is to give financial expression to the Council Strategy for the next 
three year period. The MTFS sets out the council’s high-level funded plan, for achieving its goals and priorities, balancing available 
financing and spending ambitions. It highlights the financial projections for financing, spending (revenue and capital), and reserves. 

P
age 249



The MTFS is prepared annually and covers the three year period 2021/22 to 2023/24. It links decisions on resource allocation with 
decisions on policy priorities as set out in the Council Strategy. 
 
The net revenue budget proposal for 2021/22 as set out in the MTFS is £483.008 million; a net increase of £14.825 million from the 

2020/21 budget. This is made up of £29.524 million of investment in services offset by £6.761 million of savings and efficiencies, 

and a reduction of 20/21 one off investments of £7.938 million. 

In line with the priorities set out in the Council Strategy, there are important investments included in the 2021/22 budget, such as: 
 

 Investment in Adult Social Care to help manage the demand pressures linked to demographic growth in the county which 
has a positive impact on older people, adults and people with physical and learning disabilities (age and disability) 
  

 Investment in a broad range of services within Children’s Social Care, including the external agency placement budget, to 
help ensure we can protect the county’s most vulnerable children and young people 

 
As well as the permanent investments in the 2021/22 draft budget, proposals also include one-off investments across services 
totalling £2.075 million. 
 
In addition to the revenue budget proposals, the capital programme for 2021/22 onwards contains £119.053 million of new 
investment in capital schemes, financed from grants, revenue contributions and capital financing budgets, across a range of council 
services including adults and children’s social care and the county’s infrastructure. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 250



Methodology for assessing the equality impacts of the council’s budget for 2021/22 on those with the protected 
characteristics  
 
An initial screening assessment was undertaken to assess the actual or potential impact relating to equalities. An equality analysis 
was then completed in cases where the screening identified that this was necessary. 
 
Part 1: Summary of initial screenings 
 
The table set out in Appendix 1 to this Due Regard Statement lists those budget proposals that do not require an equalities impact 
assessment because they relate to cost of living increases in connection with staffing costs, the council’s existing contractual 
commitments, debt charges and a small number of specific savings for the financial year 2021/22.  
 
Part 2:  Equality analysis 
 
The equality impact assessment below sets out a further more detailed assessment of the council’s proposed budget following the 

initial screening set out in Part 1.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 251



Documenting use of sufficient information  

Age & Sex 

Inform - Population by Age and Sex: 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/inform/population/population-figures/county-and-district-data/ 
 
Source data: 
ONS Mid Year Population Estimates: 

Who is responsible 
for delivering the 
service? 
 

 
As the MTFS encompasses the council’s broad range of activities and functions, responsibility for delivery 
is varied.  

 
Service user data/Needs analysis information 

 
Equality information for the county is available on the council’s website: 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/equalities-and-our-duties-under-the-equality-act-2010/equality-
information-and-analysis/  
 
This includes the following reports: 

 Population Profile 2020 (PDF, 862.7 KB)  

 Service User Diversity Report 2019/2020 (DOCX, 279.2 KB)  

 Gloucestershire Equality Profile (on Inform Gloucestershire) 

Office of National Statistics (ONS) data from the Gloucestershire 2011 census provides the most robust break down of the county's 
population and within this particular equality groups. 

 
The Office for National Statistics publishes mid-year Population Estimates annually. 
 

P
age 252

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/inform/population/population-figures/county-and-district-data/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/equalities-and-our-duties-under-the-equality-act-2010/equality-information-and-analysis/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/equalities-and-our-duties-under-the-equality-act-2010/equality-information-and-analysis/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2097197/equality-profile-2020-final.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2097192/service-user-diversity-report-19-20-2.docx
https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/equality-and-diversity/
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/guide-method/census/2011/index.html
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland


https://www.nomisweb.co.uk 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/po
pulationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland 
 
Inform - Population Projections: 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/inform/population/population-projections/ 
 
Source data: 
ONS Subnational Population Projections: 
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datasets/l
ocalauthoritiesinenglandtable2 

Disability 

People aged 65 and over predicted to have dementia 
People aged 65 and over predicted to have a learning disability 
Poppi: 
http://www.poppi.org.uk/ 
 

People aged 18-64 predicted to have a learning disability 

Pansi: 
http://www.pansi.org.uk/ 
 
Learning Disability Profile, Public Health England: 
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/learning-disabilities 
 

Gloucestershire GPs registered patients with learning disability 
National General Practice Profiles, Public Health England: https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/general-
practice/data#page/4/gid/2000004/pat/46/par/E39000043/ati/165/are/E38000062/iid/93443/age/164/sex/4 
 
Vision and hearing impairments 
National General Practice Profiles (data from GP Patient Survey), Public Health England: 
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/general-

P
age 253

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/inform/population/population-projections/
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datasets/localauthoritiesinenglandtable2
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datasets/localauthoritiesinenglandtable2
http://www.poppi.org.uk/
http://www.pansi.org.uk/
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/learning-disabilities
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/general-practice/data#page/4/gid/2000004/pat/46/par/E39000043/ati/165/are/E38000062/iid/93443/age/164/sex/4
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/general-practice/data#page/4/gid/2000004/pat/46/par/E39000043/ati/165/are/E38000062/iid/93443/age/164/sex/4
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/general-practice/data#page/4/gid/2000004/pat/46/par/E39000043/ati/165/are/E38000062/iid/355/age/164/sex/4


practice/data#page/4/gid/2000004/pat/46/par/E39000043/ati/165/are/E38000062/iid/355/age/164/sex/4   
 
Public Health Outcomes Framework, Public Health England: 
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/mortality#page/0/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000009/ati/102/are/E10000013/cid/4/pag
e-options/ovw-do-0 

 

Race (including 
Gypsy & 
Traveller) 

ONS Census: 
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/2011census 

Marriage & Civil 
Partnership 

Religion or 
Belief 

Pregnancy & 
Maternity 

ONS, live births in England and Wales down to local authority local area: 
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/livebirths/datasets/birthsumm
arytables 

Sexual 
Orientation 

ONS Sexual Orientation: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/culturalidentity/sexuality/bulletins/sexualidentityuk/2018  
 
ONS Sexual Identity, Subnational: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/culturalidentity/sexuality/datasets/sexualidentitysubnatio
nal 

Gender 
Reassignment 

Gender Identity Research and Education Society (2009) Gender Variance in the UK- Update 2011. 
http://www.gires.org.uk/assets/Medpro-Assets/GenderVarianceUK-report.pdf  

 
 
 

P
age 254

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/general-practice/data#page/4/gid/2000004/pat/46/par/E39000043/ati/165/are/E38000062/iid/355/age/164/sex/4
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/mortality#page/0/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000009/ati/102/are/E10000013/cid/4/page-options/ovw-do-0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/mortality#page/0/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000009/ati/102/are/E10000013/cid/4/page-options/ovw-do-0
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/
https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/2011census
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/livebirths/datasets/birthsummarytables
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/livebirths/datasets/birthsummarytables
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/culturalidentity/sexuality/bulletins/sexualidentityuk/2018
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/culturalidentity/sexuality/datasets/sexualidentitysubnational
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/culturalidentity/sexuality/datasets/sexualidentitysubnational
http://www.gires.org.uk/assets/Medpro-Assets/GenderVarianceUK-report.pdf


Other information  

 
Workforce data 
 
Please document details of GCC staff only if they will be affected by the proposed activity. This could include GCC staff transferring 

under TUPE to a new service provider, relocating, employment at risk.  GCC Workforce diversity reports are available on our 

website. If the proposed activity does not affect GCC staff, please state ‘Not affected below’. 

Total number of 
GCC  staff 
affected 

As at 30 September 2020, 4013 individuals were employed by the County Council, including employees from 
the Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service, but excluding those individuals who are engaged on casual or 
temporary contracts 

Age 
 
Equality information is available on the council’s website: https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-

democracy/equalities-and-our-duties-under-the-equality-act-2010/equality-information-and-analysis/  

This includes the following documents regarding the workforce: 
 
 2020 Workforce Equality and Diversity Report (PDF, 1.2 MB)  
 Gender Pay Gap 2019 (PDF, 380.2 KB)  
 Gender Pay Gap 2019 Data CSV (CSV, 785 bytes)  
 GCC Workforce Equalities Report Tables 2020 (CSV, 12.2 KB)  

 

Disability 

Sex 

Race (including 
Gypsy & 
Traveller) 

 

The Commissioning Intentions (Annex 1 of the MTFS) include a ‘needs analysis’ section.  
 

P
age 255

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/equalities-and-our-duties-under-the-equality-act-2010/equality-information-and-analysis/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/equalities-and-our-duties-under-the-equality-act-2010/equality-information-and-analysis/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2099440/gcc-workforce-equalities-report-2020docx.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2097276/gender-pay-gap-report-2019-final.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2097277/232-gender-pay-gap-gcc-310319-cvs.csv
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2102621/gcc-workforce-equalities-report-tables-2020-final.csv


Gender 
reassignment 

Marriage & civil 
partnership 

Pregnancy & 
maternity 

Religion or Belief 

Sexual 
Orientation 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 256



Consultation and engagement 

List all types of consultation that has taken place during the development of this activity. Include on-line consultations, events, 

meetings with stakeholders, community events, employee consultation exercises etc. 

 

 
Service users 
 

Following the publication of the draft budget proposals in December 2020, a public consultation was launched. 
The consultation outlined our budget proposals and also sought feedback on the council’s draft priorities.  
 
Stakeholders were also encouraged to give us their general feedback on our draft budget through a link to the full 
Medium Term Financial Strategy. 
 
An online survey was available and hard copies of the survey, by request.  
 
As well as targeted stakeholder engagement, the council carried out a strong social media communications 
campaign, including paid for Facebook advertising to target those hard to reach groups, and a digital newsletter 
that reaches around 3,200 people in the county. 
 
In total we received 277 responses to the budget consultation. We also received 13 comments on social media. 
  
Council Budget 
 

 67% of respondents agreed with our draft budget proposals including the 1.99% increase in council tax and 
2.76% national social care levy.   

 
Overall the comments received supported the council’s budget proposals, and particularly the investment in 
climate change, active travel and transport and infrastructure schemes. 

 

 More investment into climate change and protecting the environment and habitat, and better recycling. 

 More investment in  infrastructure -  more investment into improving and maintaining our roads and developing 
better more reliable public transport and rail links 

 More investment in active travel – spending needed to improve cycle paths and public footpaths and help 

P
age 257



reduce the amount of traffic on the roads. 

 More investment in health services, to protect the vulnerable and to support those in need. More investment 
into mental health and wellbeing. 

 

Council Priorities 

 76%  of respondents agreed with our priorities:  
 Public health 
 Supporting vulnerable adults 
 Protecting vulnerable children  
 Climate change 
 Fire and Rescue  
 Digital services  
 Delivery of jobs, homes and infrastructure 

 
On disaggregation of the data, there was some variation in responses amongst groups by age, gender and 
disability:  
 

Age Percentage who agree 

Under 25 85% (6) 

25-54 79% (104) 

55+ 74% (87) 

 

Gender Percentage who agree 

Male  70% (84) 

Female 85% (107) 

 

Disability  Percentage who agree 

Yes 90% (18) 

No 77% (170) 

 
 

P
age 258



 
We received 183 comments about our priorities and the main comments were: 
 

 More investment into climate change and protecting the environment and habitat, and better recycling. (49 
comments) 

 More investment into our infrastructure -  more investment into improving and maintaining our roads, better 
more reliable public transport and rail links (41 comments) 

 Invest more in active travel – more investment needed to improve cycle paths and public footpaths and help 
reduce the amount of traffic on the roads. (37 comments) 

 More investment into our health services, to protect the vulnerable and to support those in need. More 
investment into mental health and wellbeing. (25 comments) 

 More investment into our adult/young adults and youth services, to support the most vulnerable (23 
comments) 

 More investment into local housing and jobs infrastructure (17 comments) 
 
Budget Proposals 
  

 67% of respondents agreed with our budget proposals. 
 
On disaggregation of the data, there was some variation in responses amongst groups by age, gender and 
disability: 
 

Age Percentage who agree 

Under 25 85% (6) 

25-54 71% (92) 

55+ 67% (76) 

 

Gender Percentage who agree 

Male  63% (76) 

Female 78% (95) 

 

P
age 259



 

Disability  Percentage who agree 

Yes 85% (17) 

No 69% (150) 

 
We received 160 comments about our proposed budget and the main comments were: 
 

 More investment into climate change, to improve active travel and protect our environment (38 comments) 

 More investment into our infrastructure and economy to include better road maintenance, gulley clearing, 
footpaths, cycle lanes and public transport (25 comments) 

 Disagree with the council tax rise, people are already struggling to cope with the impact of Covid-19 (14 
comments) 

 More investment into our health care services including the NHS - to support people with mental health issues, 
domestic violence and also help with the affects of Covid-19 (10 comments) 

 Protecting the most vulnerable (9 comments) 

 Agree that the proposals are the right ones (9 comments) 

 More investment into schools, education and training (8 comments) 
 

Workforce 
 

 
In addition to the above, staff were encouraged to take part in the consultation through the usual internal 
communications channels.  Formal budget consultation meetings with the Trade Unions and the Schools Forum 
took place in January 2021. In addition to asking for clarification on a small number of questions relating to 
teachers’ pay and schools funding, questions were also asked about what Gloucestershire County Council is 
doing to tackle issues in recruiting and retaining qualified and experienced staff in certain critical positions.  
 

 
A comprehensive summary of the consultation accompanies the Council Strategy and MTFS when it is considered by the Cabinet 
and the County Council in January and February 2021. The consultation report will highlight any significant difference in the views 
of the different protected characteristic groups. 
 

 

P
age 260



Equality analysis: Summary of what the evidence shows and how has it been used 

This section will allow you to outline how the evidence has been used to show ‘due regard’ to the three aims of the general equality 
duty. It is important that this consideration is thorough and based on sufficient information. Consideration should be relevant and 
proportionate.  
 

 Eliminate discrimination  

 Advance equality of opportunity  

 Promote good relations 
 
Each Directorate’s priorities and plans for the year are set out in their Commissioning Intentions which are in Annex 1 of the MTFS. 
This Due Regard Statement is Appendix 5 of the MTFS Cabinet report. Proposals for cost increases (investment) and cost 
reductions (savings) are driven by these Commissioning Intentions.  
 
Each of the proposals that were identified as requiring an equality assessment are considered in the following pages and due 
regard given to what it means for those with protected characteristics and the potential impact of those proposals. More detailed 
Equality Impact Assessments will be produced, where required, during the 2021/22 financial year.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 261



Service Users   
  
Budget Area: Children & Families – Key cost increases / cost reductions and what this means for protected groups 
 

Budget Change Proposal Description 
Protected 
Groups 

Impact 
Strengthening Action / 

Monitoring 

Cost Increases 

Agency Social Workers - 
additional costs 
 
 

The social worker 
workforce strategy is to 
continue reducing the 
number of children’s 
agency social workers and 
build workforce stability by 
promoting permanent 
substantive recruitment. 
Whilst a reduction of 
agency social workers has 
been achieved there is still 
some considerable way to 
go. 
 
 

All 
 
 

Opportunity: 
To have sufficient capacity in 
Children’s Social Care to 
ensure consistent good 
outcomes for all children 
across the county, including 
those with a protected 
characteristic(s) 

Extensive efforts 
continue to be made to 
promote our ability to 
‘grow’ our own social 
workers. This includes 
the appointment of 
newly qualified social 
workers via a number 
of different 
training/qualification 
pipelines, as well as 
overseas social 
workers to provide 
continuity for looked 
after children 

Interim Commissioning / 
Operational Staff 
 
 

Investment to provide 
additional resources to 
support the Children’s 
Improvement Plan 
 
 

All Opportunity: 
To provide additional 
resources to support the 
council’s improvement journey 
to achieve better outcomes for 
children and young people, 
including children in care, 
children in need of support, 

 

P
age 262



vulnerable families and 
children with additional needs, 
including those with the 
protected characteristics 

External Placement 
Budget 
 
 

Investment to provide for 
the increased cost and 
number of placements for 
children going into care 
 
 

Age / All 
 
 
 
 

Opportunity: 
To enable the council to 
continue to provide 
placements to meet the 
needs of its children in care, 
including those with a 
protected characteristic(s), by 
ensuring it can provide 
sufficient placements 

Gloucestershire’s 
Sufficiency Strategy 
and resulting action 
plan looks to ensure 
the provision of a 
range of placements 
that are available 
locally, sufficient to 
meet the needs of all 
children including 
those with a protected 
characteristic(s) 

Child Protection 
Conference Chairs/IROs 
 
 

Investment in additional 
staffing to meet demand 
and statutory standards 
 

All Opportunity: 
Investment to ensure sufficient 
capacity in this area will 
ensure the council continues 
to protect children in the 
county, including those who 
may have a protected 
characteristic(s) 

CP Chairs are an 
important part of 
providing robust 
checks and balances 
to the quality of social 
work practice 

Fostering/Adoption/SGO 
& Child Arrangement 
Allowances 
 
 

Investment in order to 
meet the increased 
numbers of Foster Carers; 
Adopters; Special 
Guardianship Orders and 
Child Arrangement 

All Opportunity: 
To continue to work to achieve 
permanence for children, 
including those who may have 
a protected characteristic(s) 
 

Monitoring the 
implementation of the 
council’s Sufficiency 
Strategy and action 
plan  
 

P
age 263



Allowances  

SGOs - Increased 
Numbers 
 
 

Investment in staffing 
resources to manage the 
increase in the number of 
Special Guardianship 
Orders 
 
Increased investment in 
this area provides a broad 
range of permanence 
options and contributes to 
the reduction in our overall 
child in care population 
which ultimately provides 
a cost reduction 

Age / All Opportunity: 
This additional investment will 
ensure there is the necessary 
capacity available to meet the 
assessed needs of looked 
after children and young 
people in the county, including 
those with a protected 
characteristic(s) 
 
Challenge: 
To ensure the council has 
sufficient capacity to manage 
the increase in the number of 
SGOs 

To continue to monitor 
the overall levels of 
demand for SGOs to 
ensure the funding 
provides sufficient 
capacity to meet the 
assessed needs of 
children in care and 
young people with the 
protected 
characteristics 
 
 

Child Protection case 
costs - increase the 
non-legal disbursement 
budget for the 
appropriate provision of 
experts in child 
protection cases 
 
 
 

The volume of family court 
care proceedings is 
currently at its highest 
reported level and has 
been increasing year on 
year. This additional 
funding will ensure the 
council is in a positon to 
appoint appropriate 
experts during such legal 
proceedings. 
 
 
 

Age / All Opportunity: 
To ensure the council has the 
funding to appoint experts in 
child protection proceedings to 
enable assessments of looked 
after children and their families 
to achieve the best outcome 
for the child and provide 
stability and permanence for 
them 

 

P
age 264



Supporting children 
with SEND 
 
 

This investment is to 
provide for additional 
resources to manage the 
increase in the volume of 
Education, Health and 
Care Plans (EHCP) 
 

Age  
Disability 

Opportunity: 
This additional investment will 
ensure there is the necessary 
capacity available to meet the 
assessed needs of children 
and young people in the 
county needing an ECHP 

 

Home to school 
transport 
 
 

To provide funding to meet 
the demand and needs of 
children with a continued 
right to transport. There 
has been a sustained 
upward pressure on home 
to school transport costs 
both in Gloucestershire 
and elsewhere.  
 

Age 
Disability 

Opportunity: 
To ensure that children in 
Gloucestershire who are 
entitled to home to school 
transport continue to receive 
this service and to manage an 
increase in demand for 
transport to school for children 
with SEND and/or who have 
an EHCP.  
 
 

 

Cost Reductions 

Income target 
 
 
 

Review of fees and 
charges in line with 
inflation  

All  Opportunity:  
To ensure that fees and 
charges keep pace with the 
true cost of providing services 

Where relevant a 
specific Due Regard 
Statement will be 
undertaken to consider 
the equality impact as 
detailed proposals are 
developed 

 
 
 

P
age 265



Budget Area: Adults – Key cost increases / cost reductions and what this means for protected groups 
 

Budget Change Proposal Description 
Protected 
Groups 

Impact 
Strengthening Action / 

Monitoring 

Cost Increases 

Demographic Growth - Older 
People 
 
 

Investment to ensure 
there is sufficient 
social care funding to 
meet demand from 
an increasing 
number of people, 
many of whom are 
elderly 
 

Age  Opportunity: 
To continue to meet the 
increasing demand for 
social care services from 
a growing number of 
people, many of whom 
are elderly  

 

Demographic Growth - Physical 
Disabilities 
 
 

Investment to ensure 
there is sufficient 
social care funding to 
meet demand from 
an increasing 
number of people, 
many of whom have 
a disability  
 

Disability 
Age 

Opportunity: 
To continue to meet the 
increasing demand for 
social care services from 
a growing number of 
people, many of whom 
have a disability 
 
 

Continuous work with 
providers to deliver 
high quality services 
which improve 
outcomes and deliver 
value for money 
 
Focus on supporting 
people with disabilities 
to maximise their 
independence 

In House Services - Cost Increases 
 
 
 

To provide funding to 
meet the increase 
due to the impact of 
demographic growth 

Age 
Disability 

Opportunity: 
To provide the necessary 
support  for vulnerable 
people, including those 

 

P
age 266



on Fieldwork 
Services, community 
and bed based 
Reablement, 
Safeguarding, 
Telecare and the 
GCC Adults Services 
Community 
Equipment 

who may have a 
protected 
characteristic(s), to 
ensure the council meets 
the increased demand for  
providing support across 
a range of Adult Social 
Care support  including 
Fieldwork, Safeguarding, 
Telecare and community, 
and best based 
Reablement, 
Safeguarding, Telecare 
and Community 
Equipment 

Demographic Growth - Adult 
Mental Health 
 
 
 

To provide funding 
for the rising demand 
and complexity of 
cases. Investment to 
ensure that sufficient 
funding is in place to 
meet statutory duties 
under the Care Act 
and s117 of the 
Mental Health Act. 

All Opportunity: 
To continue to provide 
the necessary safeguards 
for vulnerable people, 
including those who may 
have a protected 
characteristic(s) and 
support those who may 
require specialist 
intervention under the 
Care Act or to provide 
after care support for 
those who are detained in 
hospital under the Mental 
Health Act. 

 Development of 
quality 
improvement plan 
with GHC 

 Recommissioning 
of operational SW 
model including 
embedding of 
personalisation 
approaches and 
peer led panels 

 

P
age 267



Demographic Growth - Learning 
Disabilities 
 
 

Investment to ensure 
there is sufficient 
social care funding to 
meet demand from 
an increasing 
number of people, 
many of whom have 
a disability and 
whose life 
expectancy is 
increasing together 
with managing 
special needs of 
young adults with 
complex needs  

Disability 
Age 

Opportunity: 
To continue to meet the 
increasing demand for 
social care services from 
a growing number of 
people, many of whom 
have a disability 
 
 
 
 
. 

Continuous work with 
providers to deliver 
high quality services 
which improve 
outcomes and deliver 
value for money 
 
Focus on supporting 
people with disabilities 
to maximise their 
independence 
 
 

Learning Disabilities Transforming 
Care Programme 
 
 
 

This is an ongoing 
programme aimed at 
improving the 
outcomes for people 
with a learning 
disability and/or 
autism, with mental 
health difficulties and 
behaviours 
described as 
challenging, some of 
whom are currently 
residing in in-patient 
units 
 

Age 
Disability 

Opportunity: 
To develop community 
services for  people with 
a learning disability 
and/or autism to avoid 
unnecessary admissions 
into in patient Hospitals 
 
 
Challenge:  
Ongoing challenge of 
locating suitable 
community services able 
to provide specialist 
services and suitably 
qualified staff in the 

Partnership working 
with the NHS through 
the Transforming Care 
Programme 
 
Development of more 
bespoke 
accommodation in the 
community to support 
people’s sensory 
needs 
 
Active discharge 
planning to support 
people to move back 
into the community 

P
age 268



community settings with 
the skills necessary to 
deliver care 

 
Additional Funding via 
the Community 
Discharge Grant to 
fund double running 
costs, during the 
transition process 

Cost Reductions 

Technology Strategy, digital and 
workforce 
 
 

The Technology 
Strategy for Adult 
Social Care will set 
out the council’s 
strategy for enabling 
streamlined systems 
to support people to 
remain independent 
in their own homes. 
 
The Strategy aims to 
prevent, reduce and 
delay the need for 
social care by using 
technology to 
promote prevention 
and early 
intervention. 
 
 

Age  
Disability 
 

Opportunity: 
To support 
Gloucestershire residents 
in need of social care, 
including those with the 
protected characteristics, 
through the use of 
assistive technologies 
 
Challenge: 
Connectivity across the 
county is variable; culture 
shift necessary for both 
staff and service users 
 
 

Working closely with 
the voluntary sector as 
well as internal 
partners (such as the 
Fastershire project) to 
identify and overcome 
issues at a very local 
level. The Strategy 
outlines our plans for 
training, awareness 
raising and information 
sharing to promote 
culture change.  
 
Support and 
encouragement for 
those with the 
protected 
characteristics to 
enable them to feel 
confident in using new 
technologies. 

P
age 269



Parity of offer across all client 
groups including Specialist 
Services review 
 
 

This enabler aims to 
ensure that people 
receive appropriate 
personalised 
services regardless 
of their age or 
disability 
 
 

Age 
Disability 

Opportunity: 
To provide appropriate 
personalised services 
regardless of their age or 
disability or other 
protected characteristic 
including: 
 

 Increasing the scope 
of the offer to older 
people to enhance 
their quality of life and 
prolong their 
independence 

 Provision of equitable 
approach to the 
commissioning and 
procurement of 
services regardless of 
age or diagnoses 

When developing new 
contracts and in 
particular the pricing 
structure, care will be 
taken to ensure that 
this will not diminish 
the service being 
provided to individuals, 
including those with the 
protected 
characteristics.  An 
equality impact 
assessment will be 
undertaken as part of 
the procurement of 
such services. 
 
    

Transitions 
 
 

To enable closer 
working across 
adults and children’s 
services to achieve a 
smoother transition 
process from 
Children’s Social 
Care to Adult social 
Care 

Age  
Disability 

Opportunity: 
To support young people, 
including those with 
protected characteristics, 
prepare for adulthood 
through a range of 
support methods, 
including: 

 Early identification 
and planning  

 An holistic, young 

 Implementation of a 
joint transitions 
strategy 
(Preparation for 
Adulthood Strategy) 

  

P
age 270



person focused 
approach 

 Active involvement of 
young people and 
their families  

 Raising aspirations 
and focusing on key 
life chances  

 Provision of 
information and 
advocacy  

 Flexibility in transfer 
arrangements i.e. 
arrangements may 
need to continue over 
a period of years  

 Working together to 
ensure integrated 
streamlined 
assessment and 
planning processes 
across all agencies  

Development of interventions 
based on our Population Health 
Management Programme 
 
 
 

The current Adults 
Single Programme 
contains a series of 
innovations in the 
community that are 
associated with tier 1 
of our 3 tier 
conversations. This 
range of community 

Age 
Disability / 
Mental Health 

Opportunity:  
To continue to meet the 
increasing demand for 
social care services from 
a growing number of 
people, many of who are 
elderly or have a 
disability. 
 

Continued working with 
partners within the 
Integrated Care 
System in order to 
deliver high quality 
services for individuals, 
including those with the 
protected 
characteristics, which 

P
age 271



based options is 
focussed on diverting 
future need.  
However, in addition 
there is the focussed 
work on supporting 
those individuals with 
complex needs in 
their own home in 
order to divert them 
away from more 
formal services. 

Whilst older and disabled 
people are in receipt of 
the services in question it 
is not anticipated that 
they will be adversely 
impacted. The move to a 
strengths based 
approach aims to ensure 
that people receive 
bespoke personalised 
services which will 
enhance their quality of 
life and support their 
independence for longer. 

improve outcomes and 
deliver value for 
money. 
 
Focus on supporting 
people with disabilities 
to maximise their 
independence. 

Enhanced Independence model 
including reconfigured in house 
services and GCS specification 
 
 
 

To deliver 
efficiencies in the 
delivery of 
commissioned Home 
First and Bed Based 
Reablement 
Pathways 
 

Age 
Disability 
Sex 

Opportunity: 
To support vulnerable 
individuals, including 
those with the protected 
characteristics, to 
maximise their 
independence through 
the way the council 
provides support by 
looking at synergies 
between the Enhanced 
Independence Offer and 
therapy specifications to 
deliver a holistic service 
 
 

All activities in relation 
to the Enhanced 
Independence Offer 
and its implementation 
will continue to be 
monitored through the 
Adult Single 
Programme and wider 
council and Clinical 
Commissioning Group 
governance systems.  
 
  

P
age 272



Housing (including Extra Care & 
Supported Living) 
 
Housing choices for younger 
people (including tech based and 
shared lives) 
 
 
 

This means potential 
for efficiencies to 
support people to 
move into more 
appropriate housing 
and through utilising 
aids, adaptations 
and technology to 
reduce care needs  
 
. 

All   Opportunity: 
To provide support for 
vulnerable people, 
including those with the 
protected characteristics 
to: 
 

 remain in their own 
homes through 
appropriate 
adaptations and use of 
technology or 

 access and move into 
more appropriate 
housing settings, 
including extra care 
housing, supported 
living, sheltered 
housing, adaptable 
and wheelchair 
accessible general 
needs housing 

 enable a positive 
impact on personal 
outcomes, increasing 
health and wellbeing 
and reducing and 
delaying the need for 
care in line with the 
council’s three tier 
conversation. 

Monitoring: 
The Housing with Care 
team will continue to 
utilise the activity 
report to monitor 
progress on the work 
stream. This includes 
case studies to 
demonstrate person 
centred outcomes, 
including clear 
outcomes for those 
with the protected 
characteristics, to 
demonstrate 
transformational 
service delivery. 
 
Strengthening 
Action:  
Undertaking further 
research and 
consultation with 
providers and residents 
to ensure the Housing 
with Care that will be 
procured reflects local 
needs and offers value 
for money.   
 
 
 

P
age 273



Challenges: 

 Ensuring  access to 
appropriate housing 
and adaptations can 
be undertaken in a 
timely way 

 Ensuring an early 
assessment  and 
identification of  
housing needs for 
individuals, including 
those with the 
protected 
characteristics, is 
undertaken  as part of 
a holistic health and 
wellbeing assessment 
to consider the impact 
of their housing on 
their health and care 
needs. 

Strengths/outcomes/independence 
focus in commissioned services  
 
 

There is a potential 
for some savings to 
be made through the 
development of a 
new contract for bed 
based care and 
through a change in 
commissioning 
patterns of  
community based 

Age  
Disability 

Opportunity: 
Whilst older and disabled 
people are in receipt of 
the services in question it 
is not anticipated that 
they will be adversely 
impacted. The move to a 
strengths based 
approach aims to ensure 
that people receive 

The three tier 
conversation is 
designed to bring a 
more person centred 
approach to our 
assessment of need 
and strengths based 
commissioning will 
mirror that in facilitating 
bespoke provision to 

P
age 274



care under the new 
framework 
agreements 

bespoke personalised 
services which will 
enhance their quality of 
life and support their 
independence for longer.  

meet need 

 
Budget Area: Prevention, Wellbeing and Communities – Key cost increases / cost reductions and what this means for 
protected groups 
 

Budget Change 
Proposal 

Description Protected Groups Impact 
Strengthening Action / 

Monitoring 

Cost Increases 

Full year effect of 
integrated maternity 
contraception service 
approved in 20/21 
 
 

The programme provides 
contraception as part of 
the maternity pathway for 
vulnerable women likely 
to be at greater risk of 
unplanned repeat 
pregnancies resulting in 
some cases in children 
being taken into care 
 

All potentially given 
that the service is 
open to all 
irrespective of any 
protected 
characteristics if they 
meet the vulnerability 
criteria. However it 
will have a specific 
impact on: 
  

 women of child 
bearing age 
(gender and age); 

 pregnancy and 
maternity. 

 

Opportunity: 
The service makes it easier 
for women (or individuals 
who may not identify 
themselves as female, but 
have given birth and are 
able to conceive) to make 
an informed choice and 
receive contraception as 
part of the maternity 
pathway. It thereby 
improves the accessibility of 
contraception for all eligible 
service users irrespective of 
the presence of any 
protected characteristic. 
 
 

The service will 
continue to collate 
data on the 
characteristics of 
services users, 
including age, 
ethnicity, disability etc. 
to enable 
commissioners to 
monitor usage by 
groups with different 
protected 
characteristics; and 
inform any future 
commissioning 
decisions/service 
developments. 

P
age 275



 
 
 
 

Challenges: 
None identified. There are 
no restrictions on the use of 
the service based on any of 
the protected 
characteristics, with the 
exception of those who are 
unable to conceive and 
have not given birth.  
Maternity services in the 
county are able to 
accommodate all 
disabilities, but also have 
clear pathways to refer to 
the specialist sexual health 
service’s complex 
contraception clinic if an 
individual had particularly 
complex needs. 

Mental Heath Services 
- commissioned due 
C19 impact 
 
 

The funding will enable 
the recommissioning for 
up to 12 months of some 
of the additional mental 
health support for adults 
and children and young 
people put in place to 
increase capacity in the 
system to deal with the 
expected increase in 
mental health issues 
during the pandemic 

All 
 

Opportunity: 
The services will make it 
easier for children, young 
people and adults to access 
mental health support; and 
thereby improves the 
availability of support 
irrespective of the presence 
of any protected 
characteristics. 
 
As detailed, certain groups 

Services will be 
required to collate 
data on the 
characteristics of 
services users, 
including age, 
ethnicity, disability etc. 
to enable 
commissioners to 
monitor usage by 
groups with different 
protected 

P
age 276



 
 

are likely to be at higher risk 
of poor mental health in 
general, but also because 
of the impacts of the 
pandemic. This includes, 
but is not limited to: young 
adults, young girls, middle 
aged men, non-
heterosexuals, BAME 
individuals and those with a 
disability. The additional 
provision may be of 
particular benefit to these 
groups. 
 
The new services will work 
alongside existing mental 
health provision in the 
county to provide a 
comprehensive offer for all.  
 
Challenges: 
As a result of the pandemic, 
services have tended to 
move to non face to face 
provision. The increased 
usage of digital 
services/remote access 
services may not be 
suitable for all individuals 
and we will continue to 
monitor feedback and 

characteristics. This 
will help inform service 
developments and 
future commissioning 
decisions.  

P
age 277



uptake levels to understand 
the profile and needs of 
users.  

Domestic Abuse 
Services 
 
 

To provide funding 
towards an increased 
demand on the support 
required for those who 
experience domestic 
abuse 
 
 
 

All Opportunity: 
This funding provides an 
opportunity to provide 
support for those who are 
disproportionately affected 
as victims of domestic 
abuse, including those with 
a protected characteristic, 
including focussed support 
to: 

 Women who are 
disproportionally 
affected as victims of 
domestic abuse of male 
perpetrators. Domestic 
abuse is however 
gender biased not 
gender neutral 

 Early intervention / 
prevention activity to 
young people affected 
by domestic abuse, 
aged 13-19 through the 
STREET programme 

Performance reporting 
is closely monitored 
and reported in 
summary to partners 
of the Gloucestershire 
Domestic Abuse and 
Sexual Violence 
Commissioning Group 
to identify any specific 
additional 
opportunities to 
maximise the potential 
positive impacts 

Supporting people - 
Housing first model 
 

To provide support to a 
number of homeless who 
have complex needs to 

All Opportunity: 
To provide support to a 
number of homeless, 

Performance to be 
closely monitored and 
reported in summary 

P
age 278



 sustain them in 
appropriate 
accommodation 
 

including those with a 
protected characteristic, 
who have complex needs, 
to sustain them in 
appropriate accommodation 
 
The funded support will be 
tailored to the individual and 
their specific needs, taking 
into account the impact of 
any protected 
characteristics 

to Strategic Housing 
Partnership to identify 
any specific additional 
opportunities to 
maximise the potential 
positive impacts 

Intensive substance 
misuse treatment 
(residential rehab or 
inpatient detox) for 
Housing First clients 
 
 

This additional 
investment will provide 
dedicated intensive 
substance misuse 
treatment to enable 
clients to sustain 
accommodation through 
the Housing First model. 
Whilst they will be 
receiving the standard 
level of commissioned 
support and treatment 
from CGL, this will 
enable support workers 
to quickly access 
additional, targeted 
residential rehabilitation, 
inpatient alcohol detox 
and other specialist 

Key groups: 

 Disability – 
people with long 
term conditions / 
disability, 
including mental 
health conditions 

 Sex – men are 
disproportionately 
represented in 
this cohort but 
women may also 
have difficulty in 
accessing 
support 

 
Potential to impact 
on all other protected 
groups 

Opportunity: 
To ensure that barriers to 
treatment and support 
which result from 
mainstream services not 
being able to meet complex 
needs are removed.  
 
The funded ‘solutions’ will 
be tailored to the individual 
and their specific needs, 
taking into account the 
impact of any protected 
characteristics. 
 

Project plan to be 
worked up alongside 
the Housing First 
model to identify any 
specific additional 
opportunities to 
maximise the potential 
positive impacts. 

P
age 279



solutions where they are 
considered to be a vital 
part of the package that 
helps sustain 
accommodation. The 
approach is based on an 
estimate of five 
‘standard’ packages of a 
two week inpatient detox 
and then a 26 week 
residential rehabilitation 
placement, although the 
actual provision would be 
tailored to need. 

 

Childhood Weight 
Management Project 
 
 

To provide a pilot 
Childhood Weight 
Management Project to 
mitigate attendant health 
inequalities (including 
associated COVID19 
risk) by providing a 
targeted community 
weight management offer 
for children affected by 
obesity and their families.   
 
The non-recurrent 
funding will enable pilot 
completion without a 
break in service or 
momentum, maximising 

All  
 
 
 

Opportunity: 
To provide support for 
children and their families, 
including those who have a 
protected characteristic and 
who meet the eligibility 
criteria of being very 
overweight, to access the 
Children and Young 
People’s Weight 
Management Service. 
 
To support children and 
young people to reduce 
childhood obesity through 
sustainable health 
behaviour change. The 

As a result of the 
pandemic, virtual 
delivery has been 
developed in co-
production with 
families. This may 
have increased 
accessibility for more 
families within race 
and disability 
characteristics as it 
removes some of the 
barriers to 
engagement. We will 
be monitoring the 
suitability of the digital 
offer for all individuals 

P
age 280



our current investment. It 
will enable us to 
consolidate early 
learning and collect 
sufficient robust outcome 
data, including 
sustainability of any early 
benefits. This will support 
the case for recurrent 
funding from 2022 for a 
substantive service that 
ensures future provision 
is aligned to local needs.  
 
 
 

 

offer uses a ‘structural 
resilience model’ to identify 
issues that impact a family’s 
capacity to benefit and 
enable them to access 
existing support or work 
with them directly pre-
programme to maximise 
outcomes.  
 
The pilot will provide a 
range of age-appropriate 
weight management 
support within Gloucester 
City and Forest of Dean for 
5-18 year olds and their 
families (around 145 
families), with 30 families 
with complex needs 
receiving enhanced one-to-
one support.  
 
The programme will 
support eligible children 
and families to achieve: 

 Improvements in health 
and wellbeing 
(including weight 
stabilisation and loss, 
improved 
confidence/self-

and will work to 
understand the profile 
and needs of users. 
 
Virtual delivery 
achieved during 
Covid-19 in 2020 
although effective for 
some families cannot 
replace the learning 
from planned face to 
face delivery that is 
key to providing 
assurance.  
 

P
age 281



esteem, family 
relationships and 
engagement with 
education) 

 Behaviour change and 
weight loss for the 
child and adults and 
siblings engaged in 
the family programme 

 Prevention of obesity 
becoming a 
safeguarding issue  

 Reduced risk of obesity 
affecting participants’ 
life chances  

 Skills development e.g. 
behaviour change 
skills, parenting, food 
skills, budgeting 

 The pilot includes co-
production of a tailored 
offer to BAME 
communities in line with 
local evidence of an 
association between 
childhood obesity, 
deprivation and 
ethnicity.    

 
 
 

P
age 282



Challenges: 
Age: As a targeted 
children’s service adults of 
all ages can benefit 
indirectly from support for 
achieving a healthy weight. 
Signposting for adults is 
made to the separate care 
pathways in the county for 
adult obesity.  
 
Disabilities: A structural 
resilience model including a 
shared care approach for 
children with complex 
needs, including disabilities, 
is part of the pilot extension 
and will inform future 
commissioning.  

Cost Reductions 

Reduce research fund 
within Healthwatch 
contract 
 

See full Due Regard 
Statement in Appendix 2 

   

Public Mental Health: 
Decommissioning of 
Mentalk and GirlTalk 
service 
 

See full Due Regard 
Statement in Appendix 2 
 
 

   

P
age 283



Sexual health: release 
prevention fund 
 
 

Cost efficiencies on 
sexual health prevention 
programme due to an 
increase in the overall 
funding for preventative 
interventions in the 
sexual health portfolio, 
specifically  the maternity 
contraception 
programme and the 
DHSC funding for PrEP 
(the HIV prevention drug) 
 
 
 

All Opportunity: 
There is a good level of 
ongoing provision of sexual 
health support (including 
contraceptive services; 
services for the testing and 
treatment of STIs; and 
preventative 
services/interventions) 
provided in the county. 
Support is open to all 
irrespective of the presence 
of a protected characteristic; 
and is also targeted at those 
groups likely to be at higher 
risk of poor sexual health. 
 
It is not considered that the 
change will have a 
disproportionate impact 
based on the presence of a 
protected characteristic.  
 
The council will continue to 
invest in targeted 
programmes which focus on 
those groups whom 
evidence shows are at 
higher risk; and work closely 
with partners who are 
already engaging with these 
groups. 

The council will 
continue to monitor 
risk factors for poor 
sexual health and 
uptake of sexual 
health 
support/interventions 
by protected 
characteristic 
(including age, 
gender, ethnicity and 
sexual orientation) to  
inform any future 
commissioning 
decisions/service 
developments. 
Commissioners will 
also take steps to 
work with service 
providers to improve 
data collection of 
protected 
characteristics which 
are less routinely 
collected. 
 
It will also seek 
opportunities to 
engage with service 
users to understand 
feedback on services 
and needs. 

P
age 284



GLOMAS – small 
business debt advice 
 
 

To reduce contributions 
towards the GLOMAS 
debt advice line for sole 
traders or self employed 

All  Opportunity: 
No significant impact on any 
of the protected groups 
 
The impact is on small 
businesses and sole traders.  
Data is not available about 
their protected 
characteristics. 

GLOMAS is a 
historical project which 
is debt advice for sole 
traders or self 
employed individuals 
partially funded by 
GCC. The service is 
provided by 
Gloucester and 
District Citizens 
Advice Bureau. 
 
The consultation with 
Gloucester and 
District Citizen Advice 
Bureau commenced in 
September 2018 
about the withdrawal 
of the funding by 
March 2020.  This 
would allow GCAB 
time to put in place 
alternative 
arrangements for this 
service which has 
been achieved.  GCC 
committed to invest in 
the CAB core service 
with an annual 
contribution of 
£75,000 per year for 
three years from April 

P
age 285



2018 – March 2021.   

Renegotiate scope & 
focus of healthy 
lifestyles service 
 
 

To identify efficiencies in 
the healthy lifestyles 
service through the 
flexible use of the budget 
across the range of 
services  offered 

All Opportunity: 
As a result of further 
efficiencies proposed, 
changes have been made 
across the contract with 
small reductions being made 
within each of the five 
contract functions. This has 
enabled the service to 
continue to support those 
from the most vulnerable 
groups and those in areas of 
deprivation, including those 
with the protected 
characteristics.  
 
The Service continues to 
have similar activity levels to 
previous years and have not 
had to change any working 
processes.  The changes in 
the cost of the service will 
not reduce the quality or 
accessibility for those who 
are eligible to access the 
service.   
 

The equality impacts 
of the proposed 
healthy lifestyles 
service were 
considered when the 
council made its 
original decision in 
2016 to commission 
the service.  A copy of 
the Cabinet decision 
and original DRS may 
be found here.   
 
The council 
continually reviews the 
characteristics of 
those accessing the 
service.  This includes 
conducting a Health 
Equity Audit (HEA) 
which will explore in 
depth who accesses 
the service. Service 
user data will be 
extrapolated for the 
following 
characteristics  

 Age 

 Sex 

 Mental health 

P
age 286

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=812


 Long term 
conditions 

 Physical and 
learning 
disabilities 

 Pregnancy 

 Ethnicity 

 Deprivation 
 
The HEA will provide 
recommendations that 
will be considered by 
the commissioner and 
the provider and acted 
upon where 
appropriate. 

Nicotine Replacement 
Therapy (NRT)/ PHES 
budget 
 
 

Reduction in the nicotine 
replacement therapy 
(NRT) budget due to a 
reduction in the demand 
for the service. Evidence 
indicates this is in line 
with national data for the 
local stop smoking 
service over the last few 
years. These are due to 
a decrease in the 
prevalence rate for 
smoking and because 
those still smoking are 
less likely to seek 

All 
 
 

Opportunity: 
The changes to the budget 
for the NRT will continue to 
provide sufficient support, 
including to those with the 
protected characteristics, to 
access support to stop 
smoking.  Therefore, the 
proposed changes to the 
budget will not affect any 
particular population group 
or a particular protected 
characteristic. 
 
 

A full Health Equity 
Audit (HEA) will be 
undertaken which will 
explore in depth who 
accesses the Healthy 
Lifestyles Service (of 
which the NRT forms 
part) which includes 
support to stop 
smoking. Service user 
data will be 
extrapolated for the 
following 
characteristics  
 

P
age 287



support due to their 
addiction being 
entrenched.  Therefore 
fewer people are making 
an attempt to quit, 
resulting in less demand 
for NRT. 
 
 
 
 

Smoking is more prevalent 
in areas of deprivation and 
the HLS continues to target 
activity in these 
communities.  

 Age 

 Sex 

 Mental health 

 Long term 
conditions 

 Physical and 
learning 
disabilities 

 Pregnancy 

 Ethnicity 

 Deprivation 
 
The HEA will enable 
the council to consider  
the implications for the 
provision of the NRT  
programme to those 
with protected 
characteristics and 
make appropriate 
changes where 
necessary. 
An updated Equality 
Impact Assessment is 
being produced as 
part of the decision to 
extend the Healthy 
Lifestyles Contract in 
2021. 

 

P
age 288



Budget Area: Economy, Environment and Infrastructure – Key cost increases / cost reductions and what this means for 
protected groups 
 

Budget Change Proposal Description 
Protected 
Groups 

Impact 
Strengthening Action / 

Monitoring 

Cost Increases 

Strategic Infrastructure - 
Rail Partnerships 
 
 
 

To provide investment to 
enable the council to 
progress and influence 
investment in 
Gloucestershire railways  
 

Age  
Disability  
 

Opportunity: 
To enable the council to 
support the improvement of 
Gloucestershire’s railways for 
its residents, including those 
with a protected 
characteristic(s) 

 

Carbon reduction 
pathway 
 
 

Professional services 
support to model the route 
to achieving zero carbon 
emissions from transport 
by 2050, in support of the 
Gloucestershire Climate 
Change Strategy 

Age 
Disability 
Sex 

Opportunity: 
Women, young, elderly and 
those who have a disability 
are the most likely not to have 
access to a car, and so would 
benefit from investment in 
alternative transport modes 

Investment in 
infrastructure and 
sustainable transport 
modes, including for 
ultra low emission 
vehicles. 

In House Traffic 
Management (walking, 
cycling, bus priorities 
and road safety urban 
traffic work) 
 
 
 

Additional support to 
enhance our in house 
capacity and skills to 
implement traffic 
management, road safety 
and sustainable transport 
improvements. Delivering 
these schemes in house 
will provide better value 

All Opportunity: 
Making our roads safer and 
enabling more people to use 
public transport, cycle and 
walk helps to improve health, 
wellbeing, social inclusion and 
economic productivity. Road 
transport emissions are more 
harmful to the health of the 

All schemes include 
consultation to ensure 
that people with 
protected 
characteristics are 
heard and their needs 
are considered.  
 
On larger schemes 

P
age 289



and a more agile service. unborn, young and older 
people and people with long 
term health conditions. They 
also contribute to climate 
change which has a 
disproportionate adverse 
impact on these vulnerable 
groups. 

before and after 
monitoring is carried 
out. 

Library Innovation Labs 
 
 

To provide investment to 
enable the council to 
expand the network of 
Library Innovation Labs 
across the county in 
support of the Economic 
Recovery Plan 

Age 
Disability 
Pregnancy & 
Maternity 
Sex 

Opportunity: 
To provide local access to 
support, advice and 
equipment within a neutral 
trusted environment that has a 
positive impact on those with a 
protected characteristic(s), 
including: 

 Partnership working with 
schools to provide 
workshops for young 
people to explore new 
technology 

 Older people gaining skills 
and confidence in using 
new equipment 

 People with disabilities 
gaining confidence in work 
experience or being 
provided with new skills 
that may not be accessed 
in other ways 

 Women who are pregnant 

 

P
age 290



or on maternity leave 
without equipment at home 
accessing the equipment 
at times to suit them so 
they can continue to work  

 Women with caring 
responsibilities benefitting 
through flexible use of the 
labs 

 
The labs are accessible to 
entrepreneurs/SMEs and 
young people allowing them to 
be creative in exploring STEM 
and developing business 
ideas 

Cost Reductions 

Income target 
 
 
 

Review of fees and 
charges in line with 
inflation  

All  Opportunity:  
To ensure that fees and 
charges keep pace with the 
true cost of providing services 

Where relevant a 
specific Due Regard 
Statement will be 
undertaken to consider 
the equality impact as 
detailed proposals are 
developed 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 291



Budget Area: Community Safety – Key cost increases / cost reductions and what this means for protected groups 
 

Budget Change Proposal Description 
Protected 
Groups 

Impact 
Strengthening Action / 

Monitoring 

Cost Increases 

None     

Cost Reductions 

Income target 
 
 
 

Review of fees and 
charges in line with 
inflation  

All  Opportunity:  
To ensure that fees and 
charges keep pace with the 
true cost of providing services 

Where relevant a 
specific Due Regard 
Statement will be 
undertaken to consider 
the equality impact as 
detailed proposals are 
developed 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 292



Budget Area: Corporate Resources – Key cost increases / cost reductions and what this means for protected groups 
 

Budget Change Proposal Description 
Protected 
Groups 

Impact 
Strengthening Action / 

Monitoring 

Cost Increases 

Legal - additional Child 
Protection Legal 
resource 
 
 

The volume of family court 
care proceedings is 
currently at its highest 
reported level and has 
been increasing year on 
year. This additional 
funding will ensure the 
council is in a positon to 
provide additional 
resources to manage the 
increased demand for 
legal support for child 
protection activity. 

Age Opportunity: 
To ensure there is sufficient 
legal support to progress child 
protection proceedings in a 
timely manner is essential to 
provide children and their 
families to achieve the best 
outcome for the child and 
provide a stable and 
permanence for them 
 

. 

Cost Reductions 

Income target 
 
 
 

Review of fees and 
charges in line with 
inflation  

All  Opportunity:  
To ensure that fees and 
charges keep pace with the 
true cost of providing services 

Where relevant a 
specific Due Regard 
Statement will be 
undertaken to consider 
the equality impact as 
detailed proposals are 
developed 

 
 
 

P
age 293



Workforce 
 
As at 30 September 2020, 4013 individuals were employed by the County Council, including employees from the Gloucestershire 

Fire and Rescue Service, but excluding those individuals who are engaged on casual or temporary contracts. The links to the 

relevant workforce equality reporting are provided in this document and the next Annual Workforce Equality Report will be 

published in April 2021.  

The proposals within this year’s MTFS do not require large scale workforce change, however there are individual proposals which 

will require some local service restructuring and therefore may impact the nature and number of roles.  The council provides a 

toolkit and specialist HR advice to assist managers when planning restructures and other organisational change projects. This 

helps to ensure that the process of change management is carried out fairly and on an equitable and transparent basis, 

incorporating the principles of the Public Sector Equality Duty and other statutory requirements. This toolkit is kept under review 

and updated as necessary to ensure it remains relevant and legally compliant.  The council proactively seeks to minimise 

compulsory redundancy via the use of redeployment. 

The council will continue to support the retention of staff. To achieve this we offer and promote a range of flexible working practices 

and family friendly policies as well as agile working. We continue to operate voluntary purchase of additional leave and voluntary 

reduction to working hour’s schemes, which were initially launched in 2013 and have been extended due to their popularity.  We 

also provide a number of sacrifice schemes and other staff benefits.  We actively promote our hard to fill professional roles and are 

reviewing our pay and reward scheme to ensure that it is fit for purpose and attracts a wide range of candidates including those 

with protected characteristics.  We are a Disability Confident employer and have signed the Race at Work charter. 

The council communicates and engages with staff through a variety of processes including: employee voice groups, staff networks, 

formal consultation and negotiations with Trade Unions, internal communications channels and team meetings.  

The Corporate Leadership Team have agreed that Equality and Diversity is one of four workforce strategic priorities for 2021/22 

and an action plan has been agreed. This includes the review of recruitment, retention and other workforce practice to actively 

promote fairness and inclusion and aims to improve the diversity of our workforce. 

P
age 294



We have employee networks for black, Asian and minority ethnic employees; employees with caring responsibilities; employees 

with disabilities; lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender employees and young employees. The Dignity at Work network is one of 

the initial points of contact for any employee who believes they are experiencing bullying and harassment in the workplace. 

Support is provided through the Occupational Health and Safety services, including professional face to face counselling to support 

staff in appropriate cases. The council continues to sign up to the Mindful Employer Charter and the OH team keeps support and 

advice under review to enable managers and staff have relevant information available.  A Health and Wellbeing Action Plan was 

agreed in 2019 and this is currently being implemented.  There is one off investment during 2020 and 2021 to pilot a number of 

programmes to proactively encourage employees to improve their health and reduce the potential for future physical and mental 

health problems. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 295



Strengthening actions: Planning for further improvements 

Please outline here what actions are required for further improvements to address challenges or opportunities, for example: 

 Arrangements for continued/new engagement with stakeholders, staff, service users 

 Plans to close data gaps across any of the protected characteristics through reviewed contract management arrangements 

 Identify other plans already underway to address the challenges or opportunities identified in this statement 

 Share findings with partner organisations. 

 

If none, state ‘none’ below. 

Action Plan 

Action Who is accountable Time frame 

Support the production of Equality 
Impact Assessments for decisions 
required by the MTFS and Council 
Strategy 

Mandy Quayle 
 

April 2021 - March 2022 
 

Ensure that Due Regard is given as 
appropriate during the year as the 
proposals in the budget are developed 
in detail and implemented 

Relevant Directors 
 

April 2021 - March 2022 
 

 

 

 

P
age 296



Monitoring and Review 

Please indicate what processes/actions will be put in place to keep this ‘activity’ under review. For example will progress be 

monitored/ reported to a board, scrutiny committee, project board etc. 

 
The MTFS and Council Strategy include clear priorities for the coming years. These include measures of success which are 
incorporated into strategic performance reports which in turn are monitored on a regular basis and reported to the Corporate 
Leadership Team (CLT) and Corporate Overview & Scrutiny Committee. 
 
 

Sign off and Scrutiny 

By signing this statement off as complete you are confirming that ‘you’ have examined sufficient information across all the protected 

groups and used that information to show due regard to the three aims of the general duty. This has informed the development of 

the activity  

Senior level sign off: Mandy Quayle 
    Director – People and Digital Services 
 
 
       

Date: 19th January 2021 

 

I am in agreement that sufficient information and analysis has been used to inform the development of this ‘activity’ and that any 

proposed improvement actions are appropriate and I confirm that I as the decision maker have been able to show due regard to the 

needs set out in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.  

 

 

P
age 297



Name of relevant Portfolio Holder/Cabinet Member: Cllr Lynden Stowe – Finance and Change 

Signed by Portfolio Holder/Cabinet Member:  

 

Date:  

19.1.21 

 

Publication 

If this statement accompanies a Cabinet paper it will be published as part of the Cabinet report publication process. Statements 
accompanying Cabinet reports are also published on our website. If this statement is not to be submitted with a Cabinet paper 
please maintain a copy for your own records that can be retrieved for internal review and also in case of future challenge. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 298



Appendix 1 – Budget proposals that do not require an equality impact assessment 
 

The following items do not require an equalities impact assessment because they relate to cost of living increases in connection 
with staffing costs, the council’s existing contractual commitments, debt charges and a small number of specific savings for the 
financial year 2021-2022. 
 

Cost Pressures (Investments) Cost Reductions (Savings) 

Adults 
 Pay Inflation (2%) 
 Additional Pay Inflation (0.75%) 
 NLW Inflation (Providers) 
 Bed Based & Community Based Inflationary Assumptions 

Adults 
 None 

Children and Families  
 Pay Inflation (2%) all except Education 
 Additional Pay Inflation (0.75%) all except Education 
 Pay Inflation (2%) Education 
 Additional Pay Inflation (0.75%) Education 
 Home to School Transport Inflation 

Children and Families  
 Education Pensions:  Reduce the budget based on an 

assessment of the reduction in no. of pensioners and 
spouses based on age and trends 

 

Prevention, Wellbeing & Communities 
 Prevention staff - Pay Inflation 
 Additional Pay Inflation (0.75%) 
 Agenda for Change costs - cost pressure in 20/21 

Prevention, Wellbeing & Communities 
 None 

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure 
 Pay Inflation (2%) 
 Additional Pay Inflation (0.75%) 
 NLW Inflation (Providers) 
 EE&I Contract Inflation 
 ITU Contract Inflation 
 Revenue costs associated with capital bids 

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure 
 Reduce Food Waste Agreements payments to WCAs 
 

P
age 299



 Reduced Commercial waste landfill royalties 

Community Safety 
 Pay Inflation (2%) 
 Additional Pay Inflation (0.75%) 

Community Safety 
 None 

Corporate Resources 
 Pay Inflation (2%) 
 Additional Pay Inflation (0.75%) 
 ICT – Estimated increase in cost of operating core ICT 

services 
 ICT – Upgrading remote sites connectivity 

Corporate Resources 
 20/21 AMPS Building efficiencies for reduction in use 
 ICT: Savings from WAN upgrade 
 AMPS: Savings / additional income from Quayside House 

phase one 
 

Technical and Countywide 
 Pay Inflation (2%) 
 Additional Pay Inflation (0.75%) 
 MRP - Highways (Total Cost £39m / Useful Life 25yrs= MRP 

£1,560k pa) 
 MRP  - Cheltenham School (Total Cost £15m / Useful Life 

50yrs= MRP £300k pa) 
 Quayside Development MRP (Total Cost £7.55m / Useful 

Life 50yrs= MRP £151k pa) 
 Pay and Price Contingency 
 Rates Retention Reserve Transfer 

Technical and Countywide 
 LGPS savings generated from reductions in employers 

contribution rates agreed with actuaries following tri-annual 
valuation 

 Reduction in MtC savings contingency in line with reduced 
savings target in 2021/22 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 300



Appendix 2 - Due Regard Statements  

The following Due Regard Statements are set out below: 

Budget Area Title 

Prevention, Wellbeing and Communities Reduce research fund within Healthwatch contract   

Prevention, Wellbeing and Communities Public Mental Health: Decommissioning of Mentalk and GirlTalk service 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 301



Item title: Reduce research fund within Healthwatch contract  

Due Regard Statement  
 
Please use this statement to evidence how ‘due regard to’ the three aims of the public sector equality duty has been made (section 149 of the 
Equality Act 2010) during the development of the ‘policy’.1  
 

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct prohibited by the ACT: 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and people who do not share it; and 
 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic 

 

Name of the ‘policy’:  Healthwatch Gloucestershire 
 
The Council has a legal duty to make arrangements for the involvement of local people in the commissioning, provision and 
scrutiny of health and social care services.  The arrangements for Healthwatch England and local Healthwatch are contained 
in the Local Government and Public lnvolvement in Health Act 2OO72 as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 20123, 
the NHS Bodies and Local Authorities (Partnership Arrangements, Care Trusts, Public Health and Local Healthwatch) 
Regulations 2012 ("the Regulations")4 and the Local Authorities (Public Health Functions and Entry to Premises by Local 
Healthwatch Representatives) Regulations 20135. 
 
Healthwatch is the independent consumer champion for both health and social care. Their main statutory functions are to: 

 Obtain the views of people about their needs and experience of local health and social care services. Local Healthwatch 

make these views known to those involved in the commissioning and scrutiny of care services. 

                                                           
1
 For ‘policy’: any new and existing policy, strategy, services, functions, work programme, project, practice and activity. This includes decisions about budgets, procurement, commissioning or 

de-commissioning services, service design and implementation. 
2
 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2007/28/contents  

3
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/contents/enacted  

4
 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/3094/contents/made  

5
 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/351/contents/made  

P
age 302

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2007/28/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/3094/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/351/contents/made


 Make reports and make recommendations about how those services could or should be improved. 

 Promote and support the involvement of people in the monitoring, commissioning and provision of local health and 

social care services. 

 Provide information and advice to the public about accessing health and social care services and the options available to 

them. 

 Make the views and experiences of people known to Healthwatch England, helping them to carry out their role as 

national champion. 

 Make recommendations to Healthwatch England to advise the CQC to carry out special reviews or investigations into 

areas of concern. 

Local Healthwatch is currently funded through the LRVC grant; CCG money (BCF) and money from GCC.   

Person(s) responsible for 

completing this statement 

 
Helen Flitton, Outcome Manager, Public Health 

Briefly describe the 

activity being considered 

including aims and 

expected outcomes  

 

 

 

When the contract was recommissioned in 2016/17 it was decided to make an element of the budget a ‘research’ fund that 
would enable the service to: ‘commission bespoke research activities to identify and inform its priorities working in 
consultation with Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board.’  £25,000 was allocated to this fund per year.  Between the 
contract start date of April 2017 and March 2020 the total research fund available was £75,000 and of this a total of £26,853 
was drawn down by the provider.  The research fund was raised at contract monitoring meetings and the provider was 
asked to submit plans for pieces of work that would add value to their regular work but suggestions for research were 
limited to two pieces of work: Healthy Eating in Podsmead and Presentation of People with Mental Health Issues in A&E.   
 
After a poor start at the beginning of the contract the provider’s performance has really improved and they are reporting on 
many issues and showing their impact.  The combination of improved general performance and impact and lack of demand 
for the fund  has meant that this element of the budget has been considered for cost savings and in 2019/20 £20,000 was 
withheld from the GCC contribution to the Healthwatch contract.  Throughout 2020 the Provider has continued to improve 
their performance and there is no evidence of impact on their service from the withdrawal of the research fund.  As a result 
of COVID (and a reduction in volunteer travel expenses etc) they have accrued a small underspend this year which they are 
intending to use to raise their profile across the county, particularly targeting BAME communities. 

 

P
age 303



Documenting use of sufficient information  

Please document below the data and information sources that you have used to understand the needs, participation and experiences of each 

protected group. Evidence must be gathered as the policy is developed and used to inform decisions. 

Service user data 
Service user data is an important source of evidence and should be collated as part of routine monitoring of in- house or external services. If 
service user data is not available record ‘not known’ and use the action plan to identify what improvement actions will be used to gather data 
going forward. 
 

Service user diversity reports are available on our website and give an indication of service user participation across commissioning areas, for 
example adult residential services and youth services. It does not include participation data at individual service level. 
 
Needs analysis  
Gloucestershire population demographics data is available to understand the representation of different protected groups across the county 
and help with needs analysis. Data like this may also be also useful for benchmarking to identify under or over representation of a service by 
any of the protected groups. For example, a service is open to all residents and from monitoring you know that 2% of service users are 
disabled: However, demographic data indicate that 16.7% of Gloucestershire residents report having a disability or long term limiting illness. 
This finding can be used  can be used  to explore if there are barriers to participation by residents with disabilities and how this can be 
addressed as part of the development of your ‘policy’. 
 
Data gaps  
You may find that you have more information about some of the protected groups for example, gender, age, disability and less about others, 
for example, sexual orientation and religion and/or belief. If data is not available and you intend to start collating data about a protected 
characteristic please use the action plan to outline how this data will be collated. You can find equality monitoring guidance on our website 
including an equality monitoring template. 
 
If you have no plans to start collating data about a protected characteristic please state the rational why. 
 

 

P
age 304

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/article/112275/Reports
http://thisweek/index.cfm?articleid=17740
http://thisweek/index.cfm?articleid=18052


Service information (if applicable) or Needs analysis (if applicable) 

 

Who is responsible for 
delivering the service? 
 

The Provider for Local Healthwatch in Gloucestershire is a community interest company called Evolving Communities who also 
hold local Healthwatch contracts in two other areas in the south west.  They oversee the service from their base in Wiltshire 
and there is a paid local Service Manager, Engagement Officer, Volunteer Officer, Administrative Assistant and a volunteer 
Steering Group based in Gloucestershire. 

 
Service user data/Needs analysis information  
 
Please note: All data taken from Gloucestershire Population Profile 2020 .  Healthwatch is a universal service that is available to all residents of 
Gloucestershire. 
 
Age  

The age of an individual, combined with additional factors including other ‘protected characteristics’ may affect their health 
and social care needs. Individuals may also experience discrimination and inequalities because of their age. Age-based 
discrimination can be a form of social exclusion, affect an individual’s mental health, and affect wider determinants of health 
such as employment.  According to the UK government, older people experience most age 
discrimination, although it also takes place against young people. 
 
As a universal open access service, Healthwatch Gloucestershire provides support to all residents.  In 2018, the resident 
population of Gloucestershire was estimated to be 633,558 people of which: 

 22.5% were aged 0-19; 

 56.2% were aged 20-64; 

 21.3% were aged 65 and over. 

Gloucestershire has a lower proportion of 0-19 year olds and 20-64 year olds and a higher proportion of people aged 65+ when 

compared to England. There is some variation at district level: 

 At 24.8%, Gloucester has the highest proportion of children and young people (aged 0- 19) and exceeds the county and 
national figures. 

 Gloucester has the highest proportion of people aged 20-64 (58.5%), exceeding the county and national figures. 

 Cotswold, the Forest of Dean, Stroud and Tewkesbury all have a higher proportion of people aged 65+ when compared 

P
age 305

https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2097102/equality-profile-2020-final.pdf


to the county and national figures. 

 At 25.6% Cotswold has the largest proportion of people aged 65 and over 

Service User Data Unknown.  As a universal open access service Healthwatch provision is accessible to all residents. 
Disability  
 

 

Under the Equality Act (2010) a person has a disability if he or she has a physical or mental impairment which has a substantial 
and long-term adverse effect on that person's ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities. This is consistent with the 
Census definition of a limiting long-term health problem. 
 
According to the 2011 Census 16.7% of Gloucestershire residents reported having a long-term limiting health problem or 
disability; 7.3% reported that their activities were limited ‘a lot’ and 9.5% reported their activities were limited ‘a little’. The 
equivalent national figures for England were 17.6%, 8.3% and 9.3%. At a household level, 24.2% of households had at least one 
person with a long-term limiting health problem or disability; this was slightly lower than the figure for England of 25.7%. 
 
Estimated projections suggest that in 2020 there will be approximately 11,913 people aged 18+ living with a learning disability 
in Gloucestershire equating to 2.3% of the adult population. Of this group, about 2,437 are estimated to have moderate or 
severe learning disabilities, equating to 0.5% of the adult population. With regards to children, 4,955 school pupils in 
Gloucestershire (5.2% of school pupils) were known to have a learning disability in 2018. Of these children, 4,224 had a 
moderate learning disability and 574 had a severe learning disability. 
 
In 2018/19 Gloucestershire GPs recorded that 0.6% of their registered patients were known to have a learning disability; this 
was higher than the England figure of 0.5%. In 2019, 1.3% of people aged 16+ who completed the GP patient survey in 
Gloucestershire, reported that they had a learning disability; this was lower than the England figure of 1.6%. The discrepancy 
between the percentage of people reporting a learning disability and the percentage recorded by GPs may be due to under-
reporting amongst GPs of people who have mild learning disabilities. 
 
Vision and hearing impairments affect people from all sections of society and across all age groups. In 2019 approximately 1.4% 
of the 16+ population in Gloucestershire reported blindness or partial sight. During the same period 6.8% of the population 
aged 16+ reported deafness or hearing loss25. As people get older they become increasingly likely to suffer from hearing and 
vision impairments; given the ageing population this means the number of people affected by these conditions is likely to 
increase in the future. 
 
Service User Data Unknown.  As a universal open access service Healthwatch provision is accessible to all residents. 

P
age 306



Sex 
 
 

 

The sex of an individual, combined with additional factors such as living alone, may affect their health and social care needs. 
Individuals may also experience discrimination and inequalities because of their sex. 
 
A report by the European Social Survey found 24% of respondents had experienced prejudice based on their sex. 
Discrimination on the grounds of sex was reported by more respondents than discrimination based on ethnicity. 
   
A recent report in 2020 by the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) states that gender disparities are still 
persistent. The report states and that 91% of men and 86% of women worldwide show at least one clear bias against gender 
equality in areas such as politics, economic, education, intimate partner violence and women’s reproductive rights. 
 
The overall population split by sex in Gloucestershire is slightly skewed towards females, with males making up 49.1% of the 
population and females accounting for 50.9%. This situation is also reflected at district, regional and national level. 
 
Table 1: Population by sex, Gloucestershire 2018 

 % of population 

 Male Female 

Cheltenham 49.1 50.9 

Cotswold  48.4 51.6 

Forest of Dean  49.1 50.9 

Gloucester  49.4 50.6 

Stroud  49.2 50.8 

Tewkesbury  49.0 51.0 

Gloucestershire  49.1 50.9 

England  49.4 50.6 

 
Although there are slightly more males than females in the 0-19 year old age band, as age increases, females outnumber males 
by an increasing margin. In Gloucestershire in 2018, 52.9% of people aged 65-84 were female, whilst for people aged 85+ the 
difference was more marked with females accounting for 64.0% of the total population; this difference is observed at district, 
regional and national level. As a result of this, 71% of single pensioner households are shown to be headed by a woman.  
However, the proportion of men in the older population is increasing as the life expectancy of men increases; thus amongst the 
population aged 85 and over in Gloucestershire, the proportion of men increased from 31.5% in 2008 to 36.0% in 2018.    
 

P
age 307



Service User Data Unknown.   
 

Race (including Gypsy & 
Traveller) 
 

 
The Equality Act states that race includes colour, nationality, ethnic or national origins. The 2011 Census found that 7.7% of 
Gloucestershire residents (46,100 people) were born outside the UK compared with a national figure of 13.4%; of this group, 
40.8% were born in another European country and 22.3% were born in the Middle East or Asia. More recent estimates 
suggest that in 2018/19 11.2% of Gloucestershire residents were born in another country.   
 
With regards to ethnic origin, the 2011 Census found that 91.6% of Gloucestershire residents were White British, 2.1% were 
Asian/Asian British, 1.5% were from a Mixed/Multiple Ethnic group, 0.9% were Black/Black British, 0.6% were White Irish, 0.1% 
were of Gypsy or Irish Traveller origin, 3.1% were in an ‘other White’ category and 0.2% were in another ethnic group. Some 
36% of the people who were not White British were born in the UK.  The 2011 Census found that overall, 4.6% of the 
population in Gloucestershire was from Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) backgrounds; this figure increased to 8.4% when the 
Irish, Gypsy or Irish Traveller and ‘other White’ categories were included. The proportion of people from Black and Minority 
Ethnic backgrounds was considerably lower than the national figure of 14.6%. 
 
At district level: 

 Gloucester had the highest proportion of people from Black and Ethnic Minorities, at 10.9% of the total population. 
However, this is still considerably lower than the national figure. 

 Cheltenham also had a higher proportion of people from Black and Ethnic Minorities (5.7%) than the county-wide 
figure. 

 Forest of Dean had the lowest proportion of people from a Black and Ethnic Minority, at 1.5% of the total population. 

 The proportion of people that were classified as ‘other White’ was higher in Cheltenham than Gloucestershire and 
England as a whole (5.0% compared with 3.1% for Gloucestershire and 4.6% for England). 

 42% of people who were of Gypsy/Irish Traveller origin lived in Tewkesbury district. 
 
At ward level: 

 Barton and Tredworth ward in Gloucester was the most ethnically diverse ward with 41.4% of its population from a 
Black and Minority Ethnic group and 10.3% from a white background other than White British. 

 
Gloucestershire’s 0-19 year old population is more diverse than other age groups. According to the 2011 Census around 7.6% 

P
age 308



of 0-19 year olds were from a Black and Minority Ethnic groups compared to 4.4% of 20-64 year olds and 1.4% of people aged 
65+. This trend is reflected at a regional, national and district level (please see dynamic report for more information). 
 
Service User Data Unknown 

Gender reassignment 
 

 

Gender reassignment is defined by the Equality Act 2010 as a person proposing to undergo, is undergoing or has undergone a 
process (or part of a process) for the purpose of reassigning their sex by changing physiological or other attributes of sex. This 
means an individual does not need to have undergone any treatment or surgery to be protected by law.  
 
There are no official estimates of gender reassignment at either national or local level. However, in a study funded by the 
Home Office, the Gender Identity Research and Education Society estimate that between 300,000 and 500,000 adults in the UK 
are experiencing some degree of gender variance. These figures are equivalent to somewhere between 0.6% and 1% of the 
UK's adult population. By applying the same proportions to Gloucestershire's adult population, we can estimate that there may 
be somewhere between 3,100 and 5,200 adults in the county that are experiencing some degree of gender variance. 
 
Table 2: Estimates of gender reassignment, 2018 

 Lower Estimate Upper Estimate 

Number of People % of 16+ population Number of People % of 16+ population 

Cheltenham  578 0.6  578  1.0 

Cotswold  447 0.6  447  1.0 

Forest of Dean  433 0.6  433  1.0 

Gloucester  619 0.6  619  1.0 

Stroud  586 0.6  586  1.0 

Tewkesbury  452 0.6  452  1.0 

Gloucestershire  3,116 0.6  3,116  1.0 

England  271,372 0.6  271,372  1.0 

Note: Figures may not sum due to rounding 

 
The ‘Where There’s A Need: Health and Well-Being of Trans People in Gloucestershire and Bristol’ research project, a draft of 
which was published in July 2013, used a health needs questionnaire to assess attitudes, explore issues and concerns and 
provide suggestions for ways forward to meet the needs of the Trans community in Gloucestershire and Bristol.  As part of the 
health needs assessment participants were asked if they had ever received health information or guidance relevant to you as a 
Trans person. Almost 9 out of 10 (88.4%; 61/69) answered ‘no’. 

P
age 309



 

Service User Data Unknown 
 

Marriage & civil partnership 
 

 
Among residents of Gloucestershire: 

 30.5% are single and have never married or registered a same-sex civil partnership 

 50.2% are married; 

 0.3% are in a registered same-sex civil partnership; 

 2.3% are separated but still legally married or still legally in a same sex civil partnership; 

 9.5% are divorced or formerly in a same sex civil partnership which is now legally 

 dissolved; 

 7.2% are widowed or a surviving partner from a same sex civil partnership 
. 
Gloucestershire has a lower proportion of people who are single or separated when compared to the national figure. In 
contrast the proportion of people who are married, divorced or widowed exceeds the national figures. 
At district level: 

 Cheltenham has the highest proportion of single people (38.8%) and exceeds the county and national figures. In 
contrast 25.7% of people in Cotswold are single, which is below the county and national level. 

 Cotswold has the highest proportion of residents who are married at 54.9%, which is higher than the county and 
national figures. The lowest proportion was recorded in Cheltenham. The proportion of same-sex civil partnerships is 
fairly consistent across all districts. 

 Gloucester has the highest proportion of people who are separated and divorced. 

 Cotswold has the highest proportion of people who are widowed or a surviving partner of a same-sex civil partnership 
while Gloucester and Cheltenham have the lowest. This reflects the age structure of these districts. 

 
Service User Data Unknown 
 

Pregnancy & maternity 
 
 
 

 
There were 6,449 live births in Gloucestershire in 2018. The highest proportion of deliveries were to women aged 30 to 34 
continuing the trend of later motherhood. Births to mothers in age bands 25-29, 30-34 and 35-39 account for a slightly higher 
proportion of total births in Gloucestershire than they do nationally, whilst those to mothers aged under 25 account for a 
lower proportion. At district level: 

P
age 310



 The Forest of Dean and Gloucester have a higher proportion of births to mothers aged under 20 (3.6% and 3.5% 
respectively) than Gloucestershire and England. 

 Cheltenham, Cotswold and Stroud have a higher proportion of births to mothers aged 35+ than Gloucestershire and 
England. 
 

Service User Data Unknown 
 

Religion or Belief 
 
 
 

According to the 2011 Census, 63.5% of residents in Gloucestershire were Christian, making it the most common religion. This 
was followed by no religion which accounts for 26.7% of the total population.  Gloucestershire has a higher proportion of 
people who are Christian, have no religion or have not stated a religion than the national figures. In contrast it has a lower 
proportion of people who follow a religion other than Christianity, which reflects the ethnic composition of the county. 
 
At district level: 

 Cheltenham had the lowest proportion of people who are Christian at 58.7% of the total population, this was lower than the 
county and marginally lower than the national figure. 

 Cotswold had the highest proportion of people who follow Christianity. 

 Cheltenham had the highest proportion of Buddhists, Hindus and people who have no religion. 

 At 3.2% of the total population Gloucester had the highest proportion of Muslims. 

 Stroud had the highest proportion of people who follow an "Other Religion" and of people who did not state their religion. 
 

Christianity is the most common religion across all age groups, however it is less common amongst those aged 0-19, with 
55.7% of 0-19 year olds reporting they are Christian compared to 82.3% of those aged 65+. Those aged 0-19 are more likely to 
report no religion than older age groups. 
 
Between 2001 and 2011 the number of Christians in the county declined. This was accompanied by an increase in the number 
of Muslims, Buddhists and people following no religion. This trend was also reflected at a regional, national and district level 
(please see dynamic report for more information). There are many factors driving changes in religious affiliation including 
natural growth (for example, some minority religious groups have a younger demographic profile), migration, and changes in 
willingness to state religion.   
 
Service User Data Unknown 

P
age 311



Other information  

Sexual Orientation 
 
 
 

There are no definitive data on sexual orientation at a local or national level. Estimates used by the Department of Trade and 
Industry in 2003, and quoted by Stonewall, suggest around 5-7%  of the population aged 16 and over are lesbian, gay or 
bisexual. If this figure were applied to Gloucestershire it would mean somewhere between 26,000 and 36,400 people in the 
county are LGB. A more recent estimate from the 2018 ONS Annual Population Survey (APS) suggests that 2.3% of the England 
population aged 16 and over is LGB: if this figure were applied to Gloucestershire it would mean that there are approximately 
11,900 LGB people in the county. 
 
The APS also found that, for the overall UK population, 2.5% of males compared with 2.0% of females identified as LGB in 2018, 
and that young adults were more likely to identify as LGB than older age groups (4.4% of people aged 16 to 24 compared with 
0.7% of people aged 65 or over). 
 
There were also regional variations within England, with London having the highest percentage (2.8%), and the North East of 
England the lowest (1.8%). The proportion of people in the South West identifying as LGB was 2.2%. These variations may be 
associated with regional differences in the age structure of populations. 
 
The percentage of the population identifying as LGB in the APS is increasing, with overall England figures rising from 1.7% in 
2014 to 2.3% in 2018. The APS also provides subnational estimates for Gloucestershire, but these are considered unreliable for 
practical purposes due to the small sample size. 
 
In the next Census (2021) there will be a new question around sexual orientation, asking “which of the following best describes 
your sexual orientation?”, and providing a list of options. It is directed only at people aged 16 and over, and answers will be 
voluntary. A separate, individual form can also be requested and submitted by any household member, should confidentiality 
be a concern. It is hoped that more accurate data around sexual orientation will help equality monitoring in the future.   
 
Service User Data Unknown 

 
For example: National research, partner data, officer knowledge, complaints data, links to reports 
 

Healthwatch England Equality and Diversity Workplan 2020/21: 
https://www.healthwatch.co.uk/sites/healthwatch.co.uk/files/20200805%20Equalities%20and%20Diversity%20Workplan.pdf 

 

P
age 312

https://www.healthwatch.co.uk/sites/healthwatch.co.uk/files/20200805%20Equalities%20and%20Diversity%20Workplan.pdf


 
Workforce data 
 
Please document details of GCC staff only if they will be affected by the proposed activity. This could include GCC staff transferring under TUPE 

to a new service provider, relocating, employment at risk.  GCC Workforce diversity reports are available on our website. 

 If the proposed activity does not affect GCC staff, please state ‘Not affected below’. 

3. Working with Local Healthwatch 
We will provide support to local Healthwatch in understanding their duties to under the equalities act and seek to equip the network with the necessary 
skills and confidence to challenge local systems to be better on equality diversity and inclusion.  We will share examples of best practice to facilitate 
learning from some of the high-quality work on Equality Diversity and Inclusion that is being delivered by local Healthwatch. 
 
In 2020/21 we will: 

 Run sessions for local Healthwatch on equality and diversity including their approach to their public duty. 

 Strengthen the equalities element of the annual data return local Healthwatch provide to Healthwatch England and explore different methods to 
collect this information. 

 Analyse the data return to understand the priorities of local Healthwatch and how this relates to ‘seldom-heard’ groups or those with protected 
characteristics. 

 Share examples of best practice to facilitate learning from some of the high-quality work on equality, diversity and inclusion that is being delivered 
by Healthwatch locally. 

 Produce and promote at least one volunteering case studies highlighting diversity per quarter. 
 
Healthwatch Gloucestershire have published a number of reports over the past three years which can be found on their website: 
 

https://www.healthwatchgloucestershire.co.uk/reports-publications/ 
 
Examples of the types of engagement that HWG are doing include: a lunch held by the Chinese Community; LGBTQ+ Partnership meetings; Family Fund 
Information and Support Day for disabled children; Podsmead Food and Families Day; Frithwood Surgery Dementia event and the Learning Disabilities 
Partnership.  Through their research and undertaking both general and focussed engagement on topics such as mental health and access to services they 
try to reach as many different groups as possible. 
 
 

P
age 313

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/article/112275/Reports
https://www.healthwatchgloucestershire.co.uk/reports-publications/


Total number of GCC  
staff affected  

 
NOT AFFECTED 

Consultation and engagement 

List all types of consultation that has taken place during the development of this activity. Include on-line consultations, events, meetings with 

stakeholders, community events, employee consultation exercises etc 

Service users 
 

If applicable 

 
 
 

Workforce 
 

If applicable 
*Discussions about the use of the research fund are documented within the contract monitoring meeting notes on 27th February 2019; 
7th May 2019; 1st August 2019. 
 
 

Partners 
 

If applicable 

 
 

 

External 
providers of 
services 
 

If applicable 
 

 

 

 

P
age 314



Equality analysis: Summary of what the evidence shows and how has it been used 

This section will allow you to outline how the evidence has been used to show ‘due regard’ to the three aims of the general equality duty. It is 
important that this consideration is thorough and based on sufficient information. Consideration should be relevant and proportionate.  
 

 Eliminate discrimination  

 Advance equality of opportunity  

 Promote good relations.. 
 

Protected group 
 

Challenge or opportunity considered and what we did 

Age(A) 
 
 

The service engages with a wide range of people: attending meetings; holding engagement events and focus groups 
and speaking with people who call or email into the service.  Our population profile shows an aging population and 
HWG has focused on many of the issues relevant to this group including the needs of carers and non clinical 
support for end of life.  They have also set up a ‘Young Listeners’ project and are currently recruiting a Youth 
Engagement Officer (the post was recruited to in March but due to COVID the post holder dropped out and they 
have re-advertised).  The project plan can be seen below: 
 

Appendix 7 HWG 
Young Listeners project proposal_reviewedJuly20.docx

 
 

Disability (D) 
 
 

Primary access to Healthwatch Services is currently through the website and email services.  They also 
communicate and engage via social media channels.  This is in line with the Council’s wider strategy of ‘Enabling 
Active Individuals’ and the ‘Better by digital’ work stream of the Customer Programme. 
 
HWG is committed to providing a website that is accessible to the widest possible audience, regardless of 
technology or ability. They are committed to improving accessibility and usability of their website and adhering to 
many of the available standards and guidelines.  Further details and tools can be found on their accessibility page: 
https://www.healthwatchgloucestershire.co.uk/accessibility/ .  Access to HWG support is also available through the 
telephone helpline, offering an alternative opportunity to access the service for those service users more 

P
age 315

https://www.healthwatchgloucestershire.co.uk/accessibility/


comfortable with using the telephone.  
 
In April 2019 HWG ran a ‘What would you do?’ Campaign to encourage people in the county to share their views 
about what changes to local NHS services should look like in relation to learning disabilities and autism.  Other 
engagement has focussed on the views of carers, people with long term conditions and those with mental health 
conditions. 
 
HWG engages with Inclusion Gloucestershire; the MS Group; the Big Health Check Day; the Parkinson’s conference 
and the Family Fund information and support day for disabled children as well as many other disability related 
groups throughout the course of their work.   
 

Sex (S) Access to HWG is provided in a gender neutral manner.  
 

Race (including 
Gypsy & 
Traveller)(R)) 

Research suggests that for some communities, traditional models of health and social care services do not always 

meet their cultural requirements therefore one of the priority areas for HWG is to strengthen feedback from 

minority communities to ensure provision meets the needs of all residents.   

To strengthen the feedback received from ethnic minority residents HWG works with community groups and 

networks to raise awareness of the support provided by HWG.  For example HWG engaged with the African 

Community Foundation and made links with the Chinese Community through the Cheltenham Chinese Information 

Point of Contact.  

The HWG “Readers Panel” regularly reviews the accessibility of information produced by the local authority and 

CCG in regards to access issues. These reviews include access issues for residents whose first language is not English 

in relation to alternative access to information in translation or with the support of specialist community services.   

Currently, there is no diversity within the HWG Steering Group and efforts are being made to address this through 

active recruitment.  A marketing campaign is also being planned for January 2021 to increase awareness of 

Healthwatch in BAME communities. 

Gender 
reassignment(GR) 

HWG actively engages with LGBTQ Partnership and other groups during the course of it’s normal activities.  There is 

an expectation that this engagement will be strengthened to ensure equality of access across all protected 

P
age 316



 
 

characteristics, through working with communities of interest and specialist organisations skilled in this area. 

Marriage & civil 
partnership (MCP) 
 

As a universal open access service Healthwatch provision is accessible to all residents regardless of their protected 
characteristic status. 

Pregnancy & 
maternity (PM) 
 
 

As a universal open access service Healthwatch provision is accessible to all residents regardless of their protected 

characteristic status.  HWG engages on a regular basis with the Hospital and Community Trust and has strong links 

with their engagement teams.  In the past they have been involved with the Gloucestershire Maternity Services 

Liaison Committee. 

Religion and/or 
Belief (RAOB) 
 
 

HWG is expected to actively engage in ensuring equality of access across all protected characteristics, through 

working with communities of interest and specialist organisations skilled in this area.  They have strong links with 

the GCC Community Development Team and various faith groups as well as faith based support organisations like 

the Marah Trust for homeless people.   

Sexual 
Orientation(SO) 
 

As a universal open access service Healthwatch provision is accessible to all residents regardless of their protected 

characteristic status.  HWG engage with the LGBTQ Partnership and other support groups during the course of it’s 

normal engagement activities. 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 317



Strengthening actions: Planning for further improvements 

Please outline here what actions are required for further improvements to address challenges or opportunities, for example: 

 Arrangements for continued/new engagement with stakeholders, staff, service users 

 Plans to close data gaps across any of the protected characteristics through reviewed contract management arrangements 

 Identify other plans already underway to address the challenges or opportunities identified in this statement 

 Share findings with partner organisations. 

 

If none, state ‘none’ below. 

Action Plan 

Action Who is accountable Time frame 

Monitor HWG’s engagement with the HW 
England Equality and Diversity work plan  

Helen Flitton, Outcome Manager (contract 
manager) 
 
Evolving Communities (Provider) 

January 2020 – March 2022 

Encourage further diversity within the HWG 
team and volunteers 

Helen Flitton, Outcome Manager (contract 
manager) 
 
Evolving Communities (Provider) 

December 2020 – March 2021 and ongoing 

Commission an equality and diversity 
report from HWG to outline their efforts to 
reach these groups 

Helen Flitton, Outcome manager (contract 
manager) 

January 2020 – March 2021 

 

 

P
age 318



Monitoring and Review 

Please indicate what processes/actions will be put in place to keep this ‘activity’ under review. For example will progress be monitored/ 

reported to a board, scrutiny committee, project board etc 

 
Quarterly contract monitoring meetings.  HWG also submit their annual report to the Health and Wellbeing Board (and sit on this Board). 
 

Sign off and Scrutiny 

By signing this statement off as complete you are confirming that ‘you’ have examined sufficient information across all the protected groups 

and used that information to show due regard to the three aims of the general duty. This has informed the development of the activity  

Senior level sign off:        

Date: 6th Jan 2021 

 

I am in agreement that sufficient information and analysis has been used to inform the development of this ‘activity’ and that any proposed 

improvement actions are appropriate and I confirm that I as the decision maker have been able to show due regard to the needs set out in 

section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.  

 

 

 

 

P
age 319



Name of relevant Portfolio Holder/Cabinet Member:  Councillor Tim Harman 

Signed by Portfolio Holder/Cabinet Member:  

 

Date:  

12.1.21 

 

Publication 

If this statement accompanies cabinet paper it will be published as part of the cabinet report publication process. Statements accompanying 

cabinet reports are also published on our website. If this statement is not to be submitted with a cabinet paper please maintain a copy for your 

own records that can be retrieved for internal review and also in case of future challenge. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 320



Item title: Public Mental Health: Decommissioning of Mentalk and GirlTalk service  

Due Regard Statement  
 
Please use this statement to evidence how ‘due regard to’ the three aims of the public sector equality duty has been made (section 
149 of the Equality Act 2010) during the development of the ‘policy’.6  
 

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct prohibited by the ACT: 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and people who do not share it; and 
 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic 

 

Name of the ‘policy’:  Decommissioning of the MenTalk and GirlTalk service  

 

Person(s) responsible for 

completing this statement 

Claire Procter, Head of Commissioning (sexual health and mental wellbeing) 
 

Briefly describe the activity being 

considered including aims and 

expected outcomes  

 

 

 

The DRS covers the proposed decommissioning of the MenTalk and GirlTalk programmes at the end 
of their existing contract periods. 
 
Outline of the programmes 
MenTalk and GirlTalk are short (8 session) holistic mental health awareness programmes, 
incorporating healthy lifestyle advice and physical activities, offered to secondary schools (and Pupil 
Referral Units)  in a gender sensitive way. Each of the optional programmes reaches a targeted 
cohort of approximately 30 Year 9/10 student across approximately 35 schools per annum and 
participants are identified by each school setting (note: school and student participation numbers 

                                                           
6
 For ‘policy’: any new and existing policy, strategy, services, functions, work programme, project, practice and activity. This includes decisions about budgets, 

procurement, commissioning or de-commissioning services, service design and implementation. 

P
age 321



will vary across schools depending on need. Over the year 2019-20 a total of 1, 677 students 
attended the MenTalk and GirlTalk programmes). Whilst the provider was obligated to contact all the 
school settings in the county, not all schools engaged and therefore some students did not attend 
these programmes.  Some school settings were also able to request adaptations to the programme 
content (i.e. the removal of the healthy relationships topic/theme), so students attending at these 
schools did not receive these messages.   
 
Background and rationale for the proposal to decommission 
 
The Council have invested in additional universal mental health services for children and young 
people in connection with the Covid-19 pandemic which have the potential to reach a larger, more 
diverse cohort of young people than the MenTalk and GirlTalk programmes.  
 
Some schools are now commissioning their own healthy lifestyle interventions outside of those 
funded by the council; and will have the option to continue to self-fund equivalent programmes if 
they wish. Public Health investment in school based mental health work and integrated healthy 
lifestyle support will continue via (for example) the Gloucestershire Healthy Living & Learning (GHLL) 
programme; the School Nursing Service, and the Gloucestershire Healthy Lifestyle Service’s peer 
support programme. There has also been significant NHS England led investment in mental health 
work in schools and colleges in Gloucestershire via the Trailblazer programme.  
 
The new Covid-19 services are currently short term contracts, but the Council will be using the 
learning from these programmes to inform future commissioning decisions with respect to 
continued additional mental health support for CYP, and will give due regard to how support can be 
accessible to a wide a group of young people as possible, and take into account the needs of those 
with protected characteristics.  
 

 

 

P
age 322



Documenting use of sufficient information  

Please document below the data and information sources that you have used to understand the needs, participation and 

experiences of each protected group. Evidence must be gathered as the policy is developed and used to inform decisions. 

Service user data 
 
Service user data is an important source of evidence and should be collated as part of routine monitoring of in- house or external 
services. If service user data is not available record ‘not known’ and use the action plan to identify what improvement actions will be 
used to gather data going forward. 
 

Service user diversity reports are available on our website and give an indication of service user participation across commissioning 
areas, for example adult residential services and youth services. It does not include participation data at individual service level. 
 
Needs analysis  
 
Gloucestershire population demographics data is available to understand the representation of different protected groups across 
the county and help with needs analysis. Data like this may also be also useful for benchmarking to identify under or over 
representation of a service by any of the protected groups. For example, a service is open to all residents and from monitoring you 
know that 2% of service users are disabled: However, demographic data indicate that 16.7% of Gloucestershire residents report 
having a disability or long term limiting illness. This finding can be used  can be used  to explore if there are barriers to participation 
by residents with disabilities and how this can be addressed as part of the development of your ‘policy’. 
 
Data gaps  
 
You may find that you have more information about some of the protected groups for example, gender, age, disability and less 
about others, for example, sexual orientation and religion and/or belief. If data is not available and you intend to start collating data 
about a protected characteristic please use the action plan to outline how this data will be collated. You can find equality monitoring 
guidance on our website including an equality monitoring template. 
 
If you have no plans to start collating data about a protected characteristic please state the rational why. 
 

P
age 323

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/article/112275/Reports
http://thisweek/index.cfm?articleid=17740
http://thisweek/index.cfm?articleid=18052


Service information (if applicable) or Needs analysis (if applicable) 

 

Who is responsible 
for delivering the 
service? 
 

The service was commissioned by Gloucestershire County Council and provided by Cheltenham Town Football Club 
Community Trust. 

 
Service user data/Needs analysis information 

Age The MenTalk and GirlTalk programmes targeted secondary aged children in Years 9 and 10 (aged 13-15 years).  
 
Mental health 
National data shows that one in eight (12.8%) 5 to 19 year olds had at least one mental disorder when assessed in 
2017. Poor mental health tends to increase with age in young people; and is higher among those aged 17-19 years. 
This finding is reflected in the Gloucestershire Online Pupil Survey (OPS) which shows indicators of poorer mental 
health increasing as students move through the school system. In the 2018 OPS, 76% of secondary students had high 
or average levels of emotional and mental wellbeing. However, 13% had scores indicating low mental wellbeing.  
 
With respect to other lifestyle behaviours (OPS 2018):  

- Most secondary school pupils in the county do not smoke. 95% of secondary pupils reported that they had 
never smoked or had only tried it once or twice. 

- Fewer young people in Gloucestershire are drinking alcohol. The proportion of secondary school pupils 
reporting that they have never tried alcohol, or have only tried it once or twice, has risen from 46% (in the 
2016 OPS) to 77% (in the 2018 OPS) 

- 81% of secondary school pupils said that the teaching they’d had on healthy relationships and sex had been 
helpful; however, 21% of Year 10 students wanted more support with and knowledge about safer sex. 

- 50% of secondary students reported they did 6 hours or more physical activity per week. 
 
 
 

P
age 324



Disability  
 

National data shows that young people with a disability may be at higher risk of poor mental health. This is also 
reflected in the local OPS 2018 data. 1 in 5 young people with a disability participating in the 2018 OPS recorded low 
mental wellbeing scores compared to 1 in 7 without a disability. Young people with a disability may face other 
barriers to accessing services and support. 
 
There is scope to carry out further analysis of the OPS data to better understand the health related lifestyle 
behaviours of secondary aged children with a disability. 
 

Sex 
 
 

The MenTalk and GirlTalk programmes consisted of separate gender sensitive content for male and female students 
respectively in years 9/10. Of the 1, 677 children attending the MenTalk and GirlTalk programme over 2019-20, this 
equated to 916 attending MenTalk and 761 attending GirlTalk. 
 
Mental health 
National data shows that young women (aged 17-19) have higher levels of emotional mental health disorders, such 
as anxiety and depression; than other age groups and their male counterparts. This is also reflected in the OPS 
findings which show that female students tend to report poorer wellbeing overall. 
 
OPS data indicates that self-reported happiness tends to decrease as young people get older, and this is most 
noticeable in girls. 81% of boys in Year 4 reported that they were happy, compared to 69% of boys in Year 10. For 
girls, 81% in Year 4 were happy, compared to only 50% in Year 10. The proportion of pupils reporting that they were 
satisfied with their lives follows a similar pattern. Overall, 75% of pupils reported that they were ‘quite satisfied or 
satisfied’ with their lives. However, life satisfaction was highest at primary level, and declined at secondary level and 
again at Year 12/FE. While 82% of primary pupils reported that they were satisfied with their lives, this fell to 64% by 
Year 12/FE. Again girls were less likely to be satisfied with their lives than boys, particularly at 
secondary level.  
 
Other lifestyle behaviours (OPS 2018): 

- 77% of secondary school pupils in the county have never tried alcohol, or have only tried it once or twice. Of 
the minority of year 10s who do drink, 11% of girls reported that they drunk monthly, compared to 9.5% of 
boys. Similarly in a national study of young people aged 11-15 years, 11% of girls and 9% of boys had drunk in 

P
age 325



the last week. However this was not a statistically significant difference (NHS 2018).  
- In a national survey of 11-15 year olds, 2% of girls and 3% of boys said they were regular smokers (NHS 2018) 
- 44% of secondary aged girls were physically active compared to 55% of secondary aged boys. National 

studies suggest that adolescent girls are less physically active than their male peers. 
 

Race (including Gypsy & 
Traveller) 
 

A national NHS study carried out in 2017 reported that White British 5 to 19 year olds were about three times more 
likely than Black/Black British or Asian/Asian British children to have a common mental health disorder. However, 
some ethnic groups may be under-represented in studies; and young people from BAME communities may face 
other challenges or barriers to accessing services and support.  
 
Other lifestyle behaviours: 

- In a national NHS study of 11-15 year olds, current smoking prevalence was highest amongst white pupils 
(6%) (NHS 2018). 

- In the same study, white pupils were most likely to have had an alcoholic drink in the last week, with 13% 
having done so. This compares to 7% of Mixed ethnicity pupils, 3% of Black pupils and only 1% of Asian 
pupils. 

 
Gender reassignment 
 

National studies show that young people who are transgender may experience poorer emotional wellbeing. In the 
2018 OPS, the proportion of transgender students reporting low mental health was particularly high in secondary 
phase although not significantly so in comparison to most of their other non-heterosexual peers (apart from 
asexual/figuring it out).  
 
There is scope to carry out further analysis of the OPS data to better understand the health related lifestyle 
behaviours of transgender secondary aged children. 
 

Marriage & civil 
partnership 
 

MenTalk and GirlTalk were school based programme targeting students in year 9/10. Given the age of the 
participants, none were likely to be married or in civil partnerships 

P
age 326

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/smoking-drinking-and-drug-use-among-young-people-in-england/2018
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/statistics-on-smoking/statistics-on-smoking-england-2018/part-4-smoking-patterns-in-children


 

Other information  

Pregnancy & maternity 
 
 
 

MenTalk and GirlTalk were school based programmes targeting students in year 9/10. Given the age of the 
participants, the risk of pregnancy is relatively low. 
 
Under 18 conceptions in Gloucestershire have been on a downward trend since 2007 and are significantly below the 
national average. In 2018, there were 23 conceptions in young girls under the age of 16 in the county; a rate of 2.2 
per 1,000 females aged 13-15 years (PHE Fingertips). 
 

Religion or Belief 
 

There is limited data available on the impact of religion or belief on the wellbeing of young people. 

Sexual Orientation 
 
 
 

Studies that show that young people who identify as non-heterosexual tend to be have poorer emotional wellbeing. 
This is also reflected in the findings of the OPS.  
 
In the 2018 OPS, 1 in 3 non-heterosexual young people reported low mental wellbeing compared to 1 in 8 
heterosexual young people. 
 
There is scope to carry out further analysis of the OPS data to better understand the health related lifestyle 
behaviours of non-heterosexual secondary aged children. 
 

 

Information and data sources: 
- GCC (2019) Online Pupil Survey report 2018 
- GCC (2019) Gloucestershire Healthy Living and Learning Annual Report 
- NHS Digital (2018) Mental Health of Children and Young People in England, 2017. 
- GCC (2020) Children and Young People’s Mental Health and the Covid-19 Pandemic: A Rapid Needs Assessment 
- MenTalk End of Year Evaluation Results 2019 - 20 
- GirlTalk End of Year Evaluation Results 2019 – 20  
- CCG and GHC (2020) Children and Young People’s Mental Health & Wellbeing Engagement report 

P
age 327



Workforce data 
 
Please document details of GCC staff only if they will be affected by the proposed activity. This could include GCC staff transferring 

under TUPE to a new service provider, relocating, employment at risk.  GCC Workforce diversity reports are available on our 

website. 

 If the proposed activity does not affect GCC staff, please state ‘Not affected below’. 

Total number of 
GCC  staff affected  

Not affected 

Age Not affected 

Disability  Not affected 

Sex Not affected 

Race (including 
Gypsy & Traveller) 
 

Not affected 

Gender 
reassignment 
 

Not affected 

Marriage & civil 
partnership 
 

Not affected 

P
age 328

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/article/112275/Reports


Pregnancy & 
maternity 
 

Not affected 

Religion or Belief 
 

Not affected 

Sexual Orientation Not affected 

 

Consultation and engagement 

List all types of consultation that has taken place during the development of this activity. Include on-line consultations, events, 

meetings with stakeholders, community events, employee consultation exercises etc. 

 

Service users 
 

While service users (young people and schools) have not been consulted directly on this proposal, the Online Pupil Survey 
(now the Pupil Wellbeing Survey) (carried out every two years)  captures the experiences and views of school aged children 
in the county and these findings help inform our public health commissioning decisions and work in schools. The results of 
the OPS have also informed this due regard.  
 
Service user experience (young people) is also captured by the annual service evaluations provided by the service provider.  
 
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group and Gloucestershire Health and Care carried out a survey of young people, 
parents/carers and professionals regarding mental health support for CYP in May/June 2020. The findings will be used to 
inform the local approach to the planned redesign of universal and specialist mental health services for children and young 
people. Where relevant the findings from this survey will also help inform future commissioning decisions around CYP 
mental health services commissioned by the council.  
 

Workforce 
 

Not applicable 

 

Partners While partners have not been consulted directly on this proposal, Gloucestershire Healthy Living and Learning (the local 

P
age 329



 healthy schools programme) carry out ongoing engagement with schools and colleges around how best to support the 
health and wellbeing outcomes of students. Learnings are fed into public health commissioning. The GHLL lead is aware of 
our proposal to decommission GirlTalk and MenTalk. 
 

 

External 
providers of 
services 
 

The proposal has been discussed with the current service provider.  
 
There is regular discussion with CYP mental health commissioners in Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 
regarding how best to meet the mental health needs of children and young people and the early intervention/preventative 
services required, including work in schools. 
 

 

Equality analysis: Summary of what the evidence shows and how has it been used 

This section will allow you to outline how the evidence has been used to show ‘due regard’ to the three aims of the general equality 
duty. It is important that this consideration is thorough and based on sufficient information. Consideration should be relevant and 
proportionate.  
 

 Eliminate discrimination  

 Advance equality of opportunity  

 Promote good relations.. 
 

Protected group 
 

Challenge or opportunity considered and what we did 

Age(A) 
 
 

The data shows that low self-reported mental wellbeing increases as young people move through the 
school system. Positively the majority of secondary aged young people are not smoking or drinking. 
However, 50% are not reaching the recommended physical activity levels and 1 in 5 would like more 
information about sexual health and relationships.  
 
The MenTalk and GirlTalk programmes were only focused on a select number of young people in year 

P
age 330



9/10 (aged between 13 – 15 years) as identified by each school setting.  

While the withdrawal of the programmes will remove one form of targeted support for years 9/10 

specifically; it is considered that other programmes led by schools or via GHLL, in addition to the other 

services available will still provide a good level of support to school aged young people irrespective of age; 

and are likely to reach a larger cohort.  

The school based health and wellbeing work supported by the GHLL programme (and part funded by 

Public Health) covers all age groups across both schools and colleges; and targets a range of lifestyle 

behaviours, including physical activity, substance misuse and sexual health.  

The new mental health services commissioned by the council for children and young people are intended 

to provide open access support to a larger age cohort and capture older teenagers and young adults; a 

group known to be at risk of poor mental health. Consideration will be given to how the promotion of 

these services can be targeted to reach those young people whose age and/or gender may put them at 

higher risk of poor mental health. 

Commissioners will continue to learn from the data and work with partners in the ICS to invest in 

preventative mental health and healthy lifestyle programmes which focus on those age groups shown to 

be at higher risk of poor health and wellbeing outcomes.  

Disability (D) 
 
 

National data shows that young people with a disability may be at higher risk of poor mental health. This 

is also reflected in the local OPS data. 

MenTalk and GirlTalk did not include any specific content on disability, but did include content on tackling 

stigma, bullying and reducing discrimination for all young people which may have impacted on those with 

a disability. Decommissioning these programmes may therefore remove one form of awareness-raising 

on these topics within the school setting.  

P
age 331



GHLL (part funded by public health) support programmes in schools on diversity and inclusivity and the 

prevention of bullying. This means that the topic areas should still be addressed within school settings 

and should reach a wider cohort of young people than those captured by the optional MenTalk/GirlTalk 

programmes.  

The wider school based health and wellbeing work supported by the GHLL programme (and part funded 

by Public Health) will also reach young people with a disability; and targets a range of lifestyle behaviours, 

including physical activity, substance misuse and sexual health. GHLL work with schools to help them to 

focus on those groups of young people where there is greatest need.  

The additional Council commissioned mental health support for children and young people is open to all 

young people irrespective of whether they have a disability. As some of the services are delivered online 

or via text-chat or phone, this may also increase the accessibility of services for some young people with a 

disability. However it is important that we monitor this as the nature of young people’s disabilities and 

needs will vary. The new provision will work alongside existing mental health support for children and 

young people in the county helping to ensure there are a range of options for accessing support via 

different media. The resources that are available on the new online support platform include articles and 

forums on disability and bullying, enabling users to access this support information.   

Consideration will be given to how the promotion of the new mental health services can be targeted to 

reach those young people with a disability who may be more vulnerable to poor mental health. 

Sex (S) National data shows that young women (aged 17-19) have higher levels of emotional mental health 

disorders, such as anxiety and depression; than other age groups and their male counterparts. This is also 

reflected in the OPS findings which show that female students tend to report poorer wellbeing overall. 

The proportion of young people of both genders who are smoking and drinking is falling nationally and 

locally. However the OPS data does show that teenage girls tend to be less active than boys; which is also 

P
age 332



reflected in national studies.  

The MenTalk and GirlTalk programmes consisted of separate gender sensitive content for male and 

female students respectively. However they only captured a select number of male and female students 

in year 9/10 per school. 

While the withdrawal of the programmes will remove one form of targeted gender based healthy lifestyle 

intervention; it is considered that other programmes led by schools or via GHLL will still provide a good 

level of health and wellbeing support to school aged young people irrespective of gender. As such, it is 

not anticipated that the decommissioning of the programmes will have a disproportionate impact on any 

individual because of their gender. 

 

The school based health and wellbeing work supported by the GHLL programme (and part funded by 

Public Health) covers both female and male students across schools and colleges.  

The new mental health services commissioned by the council for children and young people are intended 

to provide open access support to young people of all genders; and there will be no access restrictions 

based on gender. The resources that are available on one of the new online support platforms include 

articles and forums on gender identity, body image, enabling users to access this support information.  

Consideration will be given to how the promotion of these services can be targeted to reach those young 

people whose gender and/or age may put them at higher risk of poor mental health. 

 

Race (including 
Gypsy & 
Traveller)(R)) 

The MenTalk and GirlTalk programmes were open to all pupils irrespective of their race, however 

participants of these programmes were selected by each school setting; and it is not anticipated that the 

removal of the programmes will have a disproportionate impact on young people based on race. 

GHLL (part funded by public health) support programmes in schools on diversity and inclusivity; and 

P
age 333



school based health and wellbeing programmes should be open to all pupils irrespective of their race. 

The additional Council commissioned mental health support for children and young people is also open to 

all young people irrespective of their race. The resources that are available on the new online support 

platform include articles and forums on disability, culture & diversity and bullying, enabling users to 

access this support information.  Consideration will be given to how the promotion of these services can 

be targeted to reach young people from BAME communities to help overcome any potential barriers to 

access. Providers will be required to collect ethnicity data so that uptake from different ethnic groups can 

be monitored. 

Gender 
reassignment(GR) 
 
 

Studies that show that young people who are transgender may experience poorer emotional wellbeing.  

The MenTalk and GirlTalk programmes incorporated content designed to raise awareness of the stigma 

and discrimination surrounding LGBTQ+ and bullying. Decommissioning programmes may therefore 

remove one form of awareness-raising on these topics within the school setting.  

GHLL (part funded by public health) support programmes in schools on diversity and inclusivity and the 

prevention of homophobic, bi-phobic, and transphobic bullying. LGBTQ+ awareness should also form part 

of the RSE curriculum in schools which is now mandatory. This means that the topics areas should still be 

addressed within school settings and should reach a wider cohort of young people than those captured by 

the optional MenTalk/GirlTalk programmes.  

The wider school based health and wellbeing work supported by the GHLL programme (and part funded 

by Public Health) will also reach young people of all sexualities and genders; and targets a range of 

lifestyle behaviours, including physical activity, substance misuse and sexual health. GHLL work with 

schools to help them to focus on those groups of young people where there is greatest need.  

The additional Council commissioned mental health support for children and young people is open to all 

young people irrespective of their gender identification. The resources that are available on the new 

P
age 334



online support platform include articles and forums on equality & diversity, LGBT+ and gender identity, 

enabling users to access this support information.  Consideration will be given to how the promotion of 

these services can be targeted to reach those young people whose gender identification may put them at 

higher risk of poor mental health.  

Marriage & civil 
partnership (MCP) 
 

MenTalk and GirlTalk were school based programme targeting students in year 9/10. Given the age of the 

participants, none were likely to be married or in civil partnerships; and as such the withdrawal of the 

programmes should have no impact on individuals with this protected characteristic.  

Pregnancy & 
maternity (PM) 
 
 

Under 18 conceptions in Gloucestershire have been on a downward trend since 2007 and are significantly 

below the national average. 

MenTalk and GirlTalk were school based programmes targeting students in year 9/10. Given the age of 

the participants, the risk of pregnancy is relatively low; however the programmes did incorporate some 

sexual health advice which may have helped reduce unplanned pregnancy in under 18s.  

Public Health is continuing to invest in sexual health and relationships work in schools via the GHLL 

programme. This programme seeks to target all age groups across all schools and colleges in the county 

therefore reaching a wider cohort than the MenTalk and GirlTalk programmes. Relationships and Sex 

Education (RSE) is now mandatory in all secondary schools and as such all schools will be required to 

provide their own RSE programmes. 

The Council continues to commission a Teenage Pregnancy Midwifery Service to provide additional 

specialist midwifery support to teenagers who become pregnant. The service aims to support improved 

outcomes for parent and child through effective partnership working with the wider network of health, 

social care education and related services, including Children and Young People mental health services. 

The additional Council commissioned mental health support for children and young people is open to all 

P
age 335



young people irrespective of whether they were pregnant. The resources that are available on the new 

online support platform include articles and forums on pregnancy and relationships, enabling users to 

access this support information.   

On this basis, it is not anticipated that the decommissioning of the optional MenTalk/GirlTalk programmes 

will have a disproportionate impact on individuals with respect to this protected characteristic.  

Religion and/or 
Belief (RAOB) 
 
 

There is limited data available on the impact of religion or belief on the wellbeing of young people. 

The MenTalk and GirlTalk programmes were available to students irrespective of their religion or belief.  

The additional Council commissioned mental health support for children and young people is open to all 

young people irrespective of their religion or belief. The resources that are available on the online support 

platform include articles and forums on culture & religion, enabling users to access this support 

information.   

The wider school based health and wellbeing work supported by the GHLL programme (and part funded 

by Public Health) will also reach young people irrespective of religion/belief; and targets a range of 

lifestyle behaviours, including physical activity, substance misuse and sexual health. GHLL work with 

schools to help them to focus on those groups of young people where there is greatest need. 

Overall, it is not anticipated that the proposal will have a disproportionate impact on any individual with a 

particular religion or belief; however we will continue to look at data and information on the needs of 

young people with protected characteristics through our service provision (see strengthening actions). 

Sexual 
Orientation(SO) 
 

Studies that show that young people who identify as non-heterosexual tend to be have poorer emotional 

wellbeing. This is also reflected in the findings of the OPS.  

The MenTalk and GirlTalk programmes incorporated content designed to raise awareness of the stigma 

P
age 336



and discrimination surrounding LGBTQ+ and bullying. Decommissioning programmes may therefore 

remove one form of awareness-raising on these topics within the school setting.  

GHLL (part funded by public health) support programmes in schools on diversity and inclusivity and the 

prevention of homophobic, bi-phobic, and transphobic bullying. LGBTQ+ awareness should also form part 

of the RSE curriculum in schools which is now mandatory. This means that the topics areas should still be 

addressed within school settings and should reach a wider cohort of young people than those captured by 

the optional MenTalk/GirlTalk programmes.  

The wider school based health and wellbeing work supported by the GHLL programme (and part funded 

by Public Health) will also reach young people irrespective of their sexual orientation; and targets a range 

of lifestyle behaviours, including physical activity, substance misuse and sexual health. GHLL work with 

schools to help them to focus on those groups of young people where there is greatest need.  

The additional Council commissioned mental health support for children and young people is open to all 

young people irrespective of their sexual orientation. The resources that are available on the new online 

support platform include articles and forums on equality & diversity and LGBT+, enabling users to access 

this support information. Consideration will be given to how the promotion of these services can be 

targeted to reach those young people whose sexual orientation may put them at higher risk of poor 

mental health.  

Overall, it is not anticipated that the proposal will have a disproportionate impact on individuals on the 

basis of their sexual orientation; however we will continue to look at data and information on the needs 

of young people with protected characteristics through our service provision (see strengthening actions).  

 

 

 

P
age 337



Strengthening actions: Planning for further improvements 

Please outline here what actions are required for further improvements to address challenges or opportunities, for example: 

 Arrangements for continued/new engagement with stakeholders, staff, service users 

 Plans to close data gaps across any of the protected characteristics through reviewed contract management arrangements 

 Identify other plans already underway to address the challenges or opportunities identified in this statement 

 Share findings with partner organisations. 

 

If none, state ‘none’ below. 

Action Plan 

Action Who is accountable Time frame 

Continue to require council commissioned 
providers of mental health support for 
children and young people to collate data 
on the characteristics of service users to 
enable uptake from people with different 
protected characteristics to be reviewed. 
 

Commissioners. Ongoing; with activity data subject to 
quarterly review.  

Take steps to work with service providers 
to improve data collection of protected 
characteristics which are less routinely 
monitored. 
 

Commissioners working with service providers. Ongoing; to be included in service 
specifications and subject to progress 
reviews as part of routine contract 
monitoring.  

Explore how promotion of services can be 
targeted to reach groups who may be 
under-represented and/or be at higher risk 
of poor mental health. 

Commissioners working with service providers.
  

Ongoing; to be included in service 
specifications and subject to progress 
reviews as part of routine contract 
monitoring. 

P
age 338



Work with education providers and GHLL to 
capture qualitative feedback from children 
and young people (and professionals) on 
health and wellbeing interventions 
provided in schools to inform future 
commissioning decisions. 

Commissioners working with GHLL Ongoing. 

Consider doing some further analysis of the 
OPS and Pupil Wellbeing Survey data to 
review the needs and lifestyle behaviours 
of CYP with protected characteristics.  
 

Commissioners working with OPS leads  Review after next survey cycle. 

 

Monitoring and Review 

Please indicate what processes/actions will be put in place to keep this ‘activity’ under review. For example will progress be 

monitored/ reported to a board, scrutiny committee, project board etc. 

Progress will be reviewed and reported to the Director of Public Health as part of routine performance reporting.  
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

P
age 339



Sign off and Scrutiny 

By signing this statement off as complete you are confirming that ‘you’ have examined sufficient information across all the protected 

groups and used that information to show due regard to the three aims of the general duty. This has informed the development of 

the activity  

Senior level sign off:  

    

Date: 4.1.21 

I am in agreement that sufficient information and analysis has been used to inform the development of this ‘activity’ and that any 

proposed improvement actions are appropriate and I confirm that I as the decision maker have been able to show due regard to the 

needs set out in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.  

Name of relevant Portfolio Holder/Cabinet Member: Cllr Tim Harman  

Signed by Portfolio Holder/Cabinet Member:  

 

Date:  

4.1.21 

Publication 

If this statement accompanies cabinet paper it will be published as part of the cabinet report publication process. Statements 

accompanying cabinet reports are also published on our website. If this statement is not to be submitted with a cabinet paper 

please maintain a copy for your own records that can be retrieved for internal review and also in case of future challenge. 

 

P
age 340



1

Scrutiny and working group update

November 2020 – February 2021

1 Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny 
Committee

 Director of Public Health Annual Repot – Beyond Covid: 
Race Health and Inequalities in Gloucestershire

 Gloucestershire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report

 Long term viability of Care Homes and Domiciliary Care 
Providers

Joint Meeting (with Health Overview Scrutiny 
Committee)

 Response to Covid-19 (Adult Social Care and Public 
Health)

 Response to Covid-19 (GCCG)
 Response to Covid-19 (GHCFT)
 Road Safety Cabinet Panel

10 November 2020

26 January 2021

2 Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

 Community Phlebotomy Services
 GCCG Performance Report
 Director of Public Health Update

 South West Ambulance Service Performance Update
 Fit for the Future Consultation 
 New Forest of Dean Community Hospital Consultation

17 November 2020

12 January 2021

3 Children and Families Scrutiny Committee

 Report of Independent Scrutineer – Interim Report 2019/20

  Ofsted Focus Review (October 2020)
 Report from Chair of Children’s Services Improvement Board
 Quality Assurance Framework: Progress Update Report

26 November 2020

1 December 2020

Page 341

Agenda Item 10a

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=774&Year=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=774&Year=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=772&Year=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=670&Year=0


2

  Gloucestershire Youth Offending Service Recovery Plan
 Child Friendly Gloucestershire

14 January 2021

4 Environment Scrutiny Committee

 Motion 861: Climate Change

 Motion 864: Restoring our rivers
 River Severn Partnership

 Electric Vehicles Infrastructure update

24 November 2020

9 December 2020

13 January 2021

5 Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee

 Strategic Performance Management Report 2nd Quarter
 Financial Monitoring Report
 Public Participation
 Annual Scrutiny Report

 Budget Scrutiny day

27 November 2020

7 January 2021

6 Economic Growth Joint Scrutiny

 Economic Growth Joint Committee update
 District Member Feedback
 Modern methods of Housing Construction

 Social Mobility
 Local Housing
 Taxi Licensing Task Group
 Governance of the LEP

18 November 2020

20 January 2021

Page 342

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=773&Year=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=771&Year=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=731&Year=0


3

7 Police and Crime Panel

 Covid-19 Enforcement Plan
 Police and Crime Plan Refresh
 Criminal Justice Update
 Opening of the Sabrina Centre

 Police and Crime Precept

6 November 2020

8 February 2021

8 Working groups

 Member Development – ongoing meetings being held

 Road Safety Cabinet Panel – Due to report to Cabinet March 2021

Page 343

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=9385&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



CONSTITUTION CHANGES 

Report to Council 17 February 2021 

Constitution Committee – 18 January 2021 

1. Written Answers To Supplementary Questions 

 

The Committee noted that this request had been raised by Cllrs Iain Dobie and Kate Haigh 

at the previous full Council meeting. Cllr Haigh reminded the Committee that when cabinet 

members were unable to provide a full verbal response to supplementary questions at 

Council, a written response was provided as soon as possible after the meeting. 

 

Whilst the answer to the initial question and verbal answers to supplementary questions 

were in the public domain, written responses were not. It was felt for transparency and 

clarity these responses should form part of the public record of the meeting as well. 

 

It was clarified that there were two separate issues in this amendment. The first was the 

timeframe for officers to provide a response to the questioner, and the draft amendment 

suggested this should be within a reasonable timeframe. The second issue was when any 

written answers provided outside the Council meeting would be gathered together and 

published with the original meeting papers, which was suggested to be no later than 4 

weeks after the meeting. 

 

Following their discussions, the Committee agreed on the following wording: 

 

Supplementary written answers will be provided within a reasonable time 14 days and then 

published as a supplementary document with the original meeting papers no later than 4 

weeks after the meeting.  

 

The Committee confirmed they would like a similar approach to be taken for public 

questions as well. The questioner would be advised at the meeting when to expect their 

response if it could not be provided on the day. 

RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND TO THE COUNCIL that the proposed amendment outlined 

above be made to the Constitution at standing orders 9.5.3, 9.8.3 and 8.8.3. 

 
2. Monitoring Officer changes  

 

Members noted the suggested changes to the Constitution (detailed at Annex A) 

 

Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE 

Chair of the Constitution Committee 

Page 345

Agenda Item 11



ANNEX A 

 

Monitoring Officer Changes to the Constitution 

 

PART 2 - ARTICLES OF THE CONSTITUTION 

Article 13 - Officers 

 

13.01 Management structure 

13.01.1 General 

 The Council will engage Officers to enable it to carry out its functions. 

13.01.2 Statutory Officer Posts 

Position Legislation Name 

Head of Paid Service Local Government and Housing Act 

1989 – Section 4 

Peter Bungard 

Chief Finance Officer Local Government Act 1972 – 

Section 151 

Steve Mawson 

Monitoring Officer Local Government and Housing Act 

1989 – Section 5 

Robert Ayliffe 

Director of Adult Social Care Local Authorities Social Services Act 

1970 – Section 6 

Margaret 

WillcoxSarah Scott 

Director of Children’s Services Children’s Act 2004 – Section 18 Chris Spencer 

Director of Public Health National Health Service Act 2006 – 

Section 73A 

Sarah Scott 

Statutory Scrutiny Officer Local Government Act 2000 – 

Section 9FB 

Simon Harper 

Data Protection Officer General Data Protection 

Regulations Articles 37 to 39. Data 

Protection Act 2018 Part 3, Chapter 

4, sections 69-71 

Jenny Grodzicka 

 

 

Page 346



 

PART 3 – RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS 

 

3.2 APPOINTMENTS COMMITTEE 

 

The purpose of the Appointments Committee is to enable Members to play a full role in deciding 

which persons should be employed, or not, as the Council’s most senior Officers and to 

determine terms of employment. 

 

Table 3.02:  The duties of the Appointments Committee 

 

To be responsible for: 

 

1. Recommending to the full Council the appointment (on a permanent or temporary or acting up 

basis) of the Chief Executive/Head of Paid Service. 

2.       Determining any disciplinary matters short of dismissal in relation to the Head of Paid Service, 

Monitoring Officer and Chief Financial Officer. 

3.       Making recommendations to full Council regarding dismissal of the Head of Paid Service, 

Monitoring Officer and Chief Financial Officer. 

4. The appointment (on a permanent or temporary or acting up basis) of the Chief Finance Officer, 

Monitoring Officer, the Chief Fire Officer, the Director of Public Health and all Executive 

Directors, including the statutory posts of Director of Childrens Services,  and Director of Adult 

Social Care and Director of Public Health. 

5.       The dismissal of the Chief Fire Officer, the Director of Public Health and the Executive Director 

of Children’s Services, the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public Health and the 

Executive Director of Economy, Environment and Infrastructure. 

6. Determining the terms of employment and any variation to those terms of employees of the 

Council including terms of employment and exercising employer discretions in relation to 

pensions. 

7. Subject to any other provisions of the Council's Constitution, determining any other matters 

affecting employees of the Council. 

 

 

Appointments Committee Membership: 

6 County Councillors  

1. At least one of whom must be a Member of the Cabinet;  

2. At least one of whom should be a Cabinet Member whose portfolio of duties includes 

responsibility for the service in which an appointed Officer would be employed.  This 

requirement should be met by a County Councillor appointed to membership of the 

Appointments Committee being substituted by the appropriate Cabinet Member of the 

Page 347



same political party in order to meet political balance requirements.  This requirement 

will not apply in connection with the appointment (on a permanent or temporary or 

acting up basis) of the Chief Executive/Head of Paid Service (including their terms and 

conditions of employment and any variation to those terms and conditions).  Failure to 

comply with this requirement will not invalidate any proceedings of the Appointments 

Committee. 

3. For decisions relating to the conduct and capability of those officers listed under items 

2 and 3 in Table 3.02 above the Appointments Committee will operate through a 

politically-balanced sub-committee acting as an Investigating and Disciplinary panel 

comprising up to 5. 

4. For decisions on the appointment of those officers detailed at item 4 in Table 3.02 

above the Appointments Committee will operate through a sub-committee acting as an 

interviewing panel comprising up to 5 (politically balanced). 

5. Council has resolved that for joint appointments with the NHS in Gloucestershire, which 

are within the remit of the Appointments Committee, a sub-committee should be 

established comprising up to 5 members to be drawn from the Appointments 

Committee’s membership and shall be politically balanced. 

 

Note 1: Reference should be made to the consultation required under paragraph 2 of the 

Officer Employment Rules to be found in Part 4 of the Constitution. 

Note 2: There is granted to the Chief Executive express delegated authority (in consultation 

with Cabinet Members, Group Leaders and relevant Scrutiny Chair) to appoint on an 

interim basis to the position of Director within the employment of the Council for a 

maximum period of up to six months. 

 

  

Page 348



3.12 HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

 

In accordance with the requirements of the Health & Social Care Act 2012 (“the Act”) the 

Council has established the Health and Wellbeing Board as a committee of the Council. Its 

duties/terms of reference are: 

 

1. For the purpose of advancing the health and wellbeing of the people of 

Gloucestershire to encourage persons who arrange for the provision or delivery of 

any health or social care services in the county to work in an integrated manner 

2. To encourage persons who arrange for the provision of any health or social care 

services in the county and persons who arrange for the provision or delivery of any 

health-related services in the county to work closely together. 

3. Pursuant to section 116 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health 

Act 2007 to prepare and publish a joint strategic needs assessment for the county 

4. To prepare and publish a strategy for meeting the needs identified in the joint 

strategic needs assessment and ensuring a strategic planning framework is in place 

5.  To provide such advice assistance or other support as it thinks appropriate for the 

purpose of encouraging the making of arrangements under section 75 of the National 

Health Service Act 2006 in connection with the provision of such services 

6. To encourage persons who arrange for the provision or delivery of any health-related 

services in the county to work closely with the Board 

 

Membership of the Health and Wellbeing Board comprises: 

 

 Chair of Clinical Commissioning Gloucestershire 

 Additional Clinical Commissioning Gloucestershire member 

 Accountable Officer of Clinical Commissioning Gloucestershire  

 A District Council elected representative from Leadership Gloucestershire 

 Four County Councillors, as appointed by the Leader of the County Council 

 The Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public Health , Gloucestershire County 

Council 

 The Executive Director of Children’s Services, Gloucestershire County Council 

 Police and Crime Commissioner 

 The Director of Public Health, Gloucestershire County Council 

Page 349



 A representative of the local Healthwatch  

 A representative of the NHS Commissioning Board Local Area Team 

 A District Council Chief Officer and link for housing related business 

 Chair of Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust 

 Chair of 2gether NHS Foundation Trust 

 Chair of Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

 Chief Constable of Gloucestershire 

 Chief Fire Officer for Gloucestershire 

 

Note 1: Political proportionality will not be applied 

Note 2:  Voting – Individual members of the Board shall be non-voting. Instead each member 

organisation or group of organisations will have one vote. The nominee of each organisation 

must be present to vote. There will be no absence voting provision. The Chair will have the 

casting vote. 

Voting organisations are: 

 Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group, Gloucestershire Care Services NHS   

Trust, Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundations Trust and 2gether NHS Foundation 

Trust 

 Gloucestershire County Council 

 HealthWatch 

 District Councils (one vote for all six) 

 NHS England 

 PCC and Gloucestershire Constabulary 

 

Note 3:  For the purpose of enabling it to carry out its functions the Health and Wellbeing Board 

may request the Council, the Local Healthwatch, the Clinical Commissioning Group or other 

member of the Board to supply it with information specified in the request. 

Note 4: Terms of Office – Each term of office will run for the term of the County Council unless a 

member organisation advises otherwise.  

Note 5: Substitutions: There will be no substitutions, if an organisation is unable to send its 

representative a named substitute may be nominated for that meeting only.   Notice of this shall 

be given by the absent Board member to the committee administrator in advance of the 

meeting.  Ideally a week’s notice shall be given to allow all Board members to be advised of the 

substitution. Procedural Standing Order 28 shall not apply. 

Note 6: Quorum: The quorum for meetings of the Health and Wellbeing Board is that one 

quarter of the membership be present and at least 4 be voting member organisations. 

Page 350



SECTION 5 - SCHEME OF DELEGATION 

 

5.1 The Council is required to make very many executive and non-executive decisions 

every day.  It would be quite impracticable to make all or many of these decisions 

through full Council, the Cabinet and other Council bodies. The full Council, Cabinet 

and, the Leader are able to delegate powers to the Cabinet, individual Cabinet 

Members and to Officers.  Such powers are called “delegated powers” and the 

distribution of responsibility amongst the Leader of the Council, Cabinet Members 

and Officers for making decisions under delegated powers is set out in this 

Scheme.  Such powers must be exercised in accordance with the conditions 

specified in paragraphs 5.2 to 5.8 below. 

 

This scheme does not delegate to the Leader of the Council, Cabinet Members and 

Officers: 

 

5.1.1 Except under delegation CE1 any matter reserved to full Council (see 

Tables 1 and 2 of this Part of the Constitution);  

 

5.1.2 Any matter that by law may not be delegated to the Leader of the 

Council, a Cabinet Member or Officer. 

 

5.2 Delegated powers must be exercised in accordance with: 

 

5.2.1 The law; 

 

5.2.2 All of the rules, procedures, codes and protocols contained in the 

Council’s Constitution;  

 

5.2.3 Council policy. 

 

5.3 Before exercising delegated powers, the Leader of the Council, Cabinet Members 

and Officers must satisfy themselves that the decision is: 

 

5.3.1 Authorised by law and, if in doubt, will consult with the Assistant 

Director of Legal Services;  

 

5.3.2 Within budget (allowing for such variance as may be permitted under 

the Council’s Financial Regulations) and if in doubt will consult with the 

Executive Director of Corporate Resources. 

 

5.4 Before exercising delegated powers the Leader of the Council, Cabinet Members 

and Officers must consider whether it would be advantageous and/or prudent to 

consult with the Leader of the Council, another Cabinet Member or any other 

Member of the Council and/or Officer, and whenever they consult with another will 

carefully consider any response that they receive.   In any event, consultation will 

always be required with all persons referred to in the column “Consultation under 

Page 351



paragraph 5.4” in the table below headed Particular Delegations to Officers and in 

accordance with paragraph 5.9. 

 

5.5 Before exercising delegated powers, Officers will consider whether the use of a 

power might be regarded as sensitive or contentious by Members of the Council 

and if it appears that this will be the case, they will: 

 

5.5.1 In respect of any executive function, consult with the Leader of the 

Council or Cabinet Member with responsibility for that area;  

 

5.5.2 In respect of any non-executive function, consult with the Chair and 

other political groups’ Lead Members of the committee having 

responsibility for that matter and any Member of the Council whose 

electoral division will be affected by the exercise of delegated powers. 

 

5.6 In the absence of a Cabinet Member or if a Cabinet Member is unable to or should 

not exercise a delegated power, the Leader of the Council may exercise that 

delegated power. 

 

In the absence of the Leader of the Council or if the Leader of the Council is unable 

to or should not exercise a delegated power or other power under the Constitution, 

any Cabinet Member or the Cabinet may exercise those powers. 

 

5.7 The Officers named in this scheme shall be deemed to include any other Officer of 

the Council that they authorise in writing to exercise delegated powers on their 

behalf provided: 

 

5.7.1 An Officer named in this scheme must maintain a written record of any 

other Officer they have authorised to exercise delegated powers on 

their behalf and any limitation that they have imposed on the extent 

and duration or other exercise of those powers in addition to those 

specified in this scheme;  

 

5.7.2 A copy of the information specified in paragraph 5.7.1 must be given to 

the Monitoring Officer before another Officer exercises a power on 

behalf of a named Officer and the Monitoring Officer shall place this 

information on a register that, in accordance with Section 100G of the 

Local Government Act 1972, will be maintained for inspection by the 

public. 

 

5.8 The Leader of the Council, Cabinet Members and Officers must maintain a complete 

and permanent written record of all executive decisions, which must (as a minimum) 

include: 

 

5.8.1 A dated record of that decision; 

 

5.8.2 A record of the reasons for the decision; 

 

Page 352



5.8.3 Details of any alternative options considered and rejected at the time by the 

person when making the decision; 

 

5.8.4 A record of any consultation with Members and/or Officers 

 

5.8.5 A record of any conflict of interest declared by any Executive Member who is 

consulted in relation to the decision; and 

 

5.8.6 In respect of any declared conflict of interest a note of any dispensation 

granted by the Audit and Governance Committee of the Council. 

 

Note: Records of all executive decisions are required to be available for public inspection 

after the decision has been taken, in the same way as Cabinet papers. 

 

5.9 There shall be delegated to the Leader of the Council and each Cabinet Member all 

executive functions, duties or powers of the Council within their area of 

responsibility as specified in paragraph 4.4 of Section 4 of the Constitution.  In 

exercising such functions, duties or powers, the Leader and Cabinet Members will 

consult with the Director or Head of any service area affected by their decision. 

 

5.10 The functions, powers and duties identified in the table below headed “Particular 

Delegations to Officers” are delegated to Officers of the Council.  Any Officer 

referred to in the “Appropriate Officer” column of the table below and to whom 

powers have been delegated, shall include any other person subsequently taking 

on that Officer’s responsibilities. 

 

5.11 The Executive Director: Children and Families has responsibility for the statutory 

functions of the Director of Children's Services in accordance with Section 18 of the 

Children Act 2004.  

5.12 The Officer designated as Executive Director of Adult Social Care Services in 

accordance with Section 6(A1) of the Local Authority Social Services Act 1970 (as 

inserted by paragraph 2(2) of Schedule 2 to the Children Act 2004) shall be the 

Commissioning Director: AdultsExecutive Director of Adult Social Care and Public 

Health 

 

 

  

Page 353



Particular Delegations to Officers 

 

Decision 

Category 

Number 

Function, duty or 

power to be delegated 

Appropriate Officer Consultation 

under 

paragraph 

5.4 

CE1 To take any decision that 

could be taken by the 

Council, the Cabinet, any 

committee or any Officer 

(provided such action is 

taken in accordance with 

the law, Rules on Access 

to Information about the 

County Council’s Business 

and the Cabinet Procedure 

Rules). 

Chief Executive. 

 

Council 

function - 

Chair and 

Leader of the 

Council. 

 

Cabinet 

function - 

Leader of the 

Council or 

Cabinet 

Member, as 

appropriate. 

 

Committee 

function - 

Chair and 

Lead 

Members 

CE2 To be the Proper Officer of 

the County Council in 

relation to Section 270(3) 

of the Local Government 

Act 1972. 

Chief Executive N/A 

CE3 To fill casual vacancies on 

committees, in accordance 

with Sections 15-17 of the 

Local Government & 

Housing Act 1989. 

Chief Executive Group leader 

of the political 

group entitled 

to appoint a 

Member to 

any committee 

by virtue of 

any vacancy 

that has arisen 

CE4 To be the Returning Officer 

for County Council 

elections and undertake 

the functions of the Council 

in relation to elections. 

Chief Executive N/A 

CE5 To permanently appoint, 

determine the terms of 

Chief Executive Executive 

Director of 

Page 354



appointment and terminate 

the appointment of all staff 

(except those Officers 

within the responsibility of 

the Appointments 

Committee) under Section 

112 of the Local 

Government Act 1972. 

Corporate 

Resources 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 To appoint on a temporary 

or acting up basis for up to 

one year, determine the 

terms of appointment and 

terminate the appointment 

of those Officers within 

paragraph 2 of the duties 

of the Appointments 

Committee. 

 All Cabinet 

Members 

Group 

Leaders and 

relevant 

Scrutiny Chair. 

 To appoint on an interim 

basis and for a maximum 

period of up to six months 

to the positions of those 

officers within paragraph 2 

of the duties of the 

Appointments Committee. 

 All Cabinet 

Members 

Group 

Leaders and 

relevant 

Scrutiny Chair. 

 DCR 1 To be responsible for and 

do anything required for 

the proper administration 

of the financial affairs of 

the Council. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

 DCR 2 To make arrangements for 

the financing of the capital 

programme of the Council 

by borrowing, leasing or 

other arrangements. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

Leader of the 

Council or 

Cabinet 

Member, as 

appropriate. 

 DCR 3 The functions, duties or 

powers of the Pensions 

Committee. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

Chair of the 

Pensions 

Committee for 

all decisions 

with financial 

implications 

over £250,000 

 DCR 4 To formulate and issue 

general guidelines to 

Officers on financial 

matters including 

insurance and the writing-

off of debts. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

Page 355



 DCR 5 To determine 

arrangements for treasury 

management in 

accordance with the 

Council’s policy statement 

and approved treasury 

management practices and 

where relevant CIPFA’s 

Standard of Professional 

Practice on Treasury 

Management. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

 DCR 6 To make arrangements for 

the Internal Audit of the 

Council. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

 DCR 7 To manage the County 

Fund and all subsidiary 

accounts and any reserve 

or other fund. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

DCR 8 To operate the Local 

Government 

Superannuation 

Regulations, including the 

exercise of discretion 

under those Regulations. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

Relevant 

Cabinet 

Member for all 

decisions with 

financial 

implications 

over £250,000 

DCR 9 To implement national and 

local pay awards and 

increase payments under 

the Pension Increase Act. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

 DCR 10 To make finance leasing 

arrangements and 

authorise and make any 

other financial transaction 

including the borrowing 

and lending of money. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

Relevant 

Cabinet 

Member for all 

decisions with 

financial 

implications 

over £250,000 

 DCR 11 To authorise the writing-off 

of stock, other than 

through fair wear and tear. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

 DCR 12 To effect adequate 

insurance cover for the 

Council. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

 DCR 13 To exercise all other 

functions relating to the 

Financial Management of 

the Council. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

 DCR14 To acquire and dispose of Executive Director of Relevant 

Page 356



any interest in land and 

manage the Council’s 

estate. 

Corporate Resources Cabinet 

Member for all 

decisions with 

financial 

implications 

over £250,000 

 DCR 15 

 

To manage the provision of 

information technology 

services to the Council. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

 DCR 16 To manage the function 

relating to Communications 

and Engagement 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

 DCR 17 To exercise all other 

functions relating to 

support services except for 

functions falling within 

decision categories  ALDS 

1 to 3 and MO1 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

 DCR 18 To secure the proper 

management of the 

Council’s human resources 

except for functions falling 

within decision categories 

CE5 and ALDS 1 to 3 

 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

DCR 19 To exercise all other 
functions relating to the 
following services: 
Planning, Performance & 
Change; Democratic 
Services; Information 
Management; Corporate 
Complaints; Archives; the 
Executive and Cabinet 
Offices; the SHE team; and 
Legal Services, except for 
functions within decision 
categories ADLS1 to 5  

Executive Director of 
Corporate Resources  
 

N/A 

DPPG1 The functions of the Safety 

& Licensing Committee 

under paragraphs 2 and 3 

of its terms of reference. 

Director of Policy, 

Performance & Governance 

 

N/A 

 DPPG2 To publish standards for 

the whole Council, which 

will secure the efficient 

processing of information. 

Director of Policy, 

Performance & Governance 

 

N/A 

MO1 To make payments or 

award other benefits under 

Section 92 of the Local 

Monitoring Officer Chief 

Executive, 

Chief Financial 

Page 357



Government Act 2000 

(payments in respect of 

maladministration and 

related discretionary 

payments. 

Officer and/or 

Director 

responsible for 

the service in 

respect of 

which a 

payment or 

other benefit is 

awarded. 

MO2 To amend the Constitution 

in any way whatsoever in 

order to secure compliance 

with the law and the 

convenient, efficient and 

effective discharge of any 

Council function.  Such 

amendment to be reported 

to the Constitution 

Committee and reported to 

and ratified by the full 

Council (in respect of any 

non-executive function) or 

the Cabinet (in respect of 

any executive function). 

Monitoring Officer Chief 

Executive and 

any Director 

whose service 

is affected by 

any 

amendment to 

the 

Constitution. 

MO 3 The functions of the 

Constitution Committee to 

advertise for, interview and 

appoint persons as 

members of an 

Independent Remuneration 

Panel. 

Monitoring Officer Lead 

Members of 

the 

Constitution 

Committee. 

CFO1 To manage the operations 

of the Gloucestershire Fire 

and Rescue Service. 

Chief Fire Officer Most relevant 

Cabinet 

Member(s) or 

Chief 

Executive for 

all decisions 

with financial 

implications 

over £250,000 

CFO2 To exercise all other 

functions relating to the 

areas of responsibility of 

the following services: 

Trading Standards, 

Coroners and Civil 

Protection 

Chief Fire Officer Most relevant 

Cabinet 

Member(s) or 

Chief 

Executive for 

all decisions 

with financial 

Page 358



implications 

over £250,000 

DCFO1 Without prejudice to the 

powers of the Director of 

Economy, Environment 

and Infrastructure to sign 

warrants and authorise 

Officers to enforce the 

legislation referred to in the 

Trading Standards 

Legislation Master List held 

by the Assistant Director of 

Legal Services and to 

issue statutory notices in 

relation to that legislation. 

Deputy Chief Fire Officer N/A 

DEEI1 The functions of the Safety 

and Licensing Committee, 

except those within 

paragraphs 2, 3, 4 and 7 of 

its terms of reference and 

decision categories 

ADLS1to 3. 

Executive Director of 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure 

N/A 

DEEI2 

 

 

To enforce the Trading 

Standards, Food, Animal 

Health and other legislation 

referred to in the Trading 

Standards Legislation 

Master List held by the 

Assistant Director of Legal 

Services  and issue 

statutory notices in relation 

to that legislation 

Executive Director of 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure 

N/A 

DEEI3 

 

 

 

To exercise the functions 

of the Commons and 

Rights of Way Committee 

as Local Highway Authority   

Commons and Rights of 

Way Committee terms of 

reference 3 to 19. 

Executive Director of 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure 

N/A 

DEEI4 

 

 

To be the Proper Officer in 

relation to functions under 

the Highways Act 1980. 

Executive Director of 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure 

N/A 

DEEI5 

 

 

 

 

To exercise the functions 

falling within Planning 

Committee terms of 

reference 1 to 14 and 16 to 

25, except decision 

Executive Director of 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure. 

(Note:  Where the  

Executive Director is an 

Assistant 

Director of 

Legal 

Services.  

Page 359



categories ADLS1 to 3 of 

this Scheme of Delegation. 

Officer whose 

responsibilities include any 

aspect of the management 

of any land or building to 

which an application made 

by the Council relates, or is 

responsible for a function 

(other than as planning 

authority) materially 

affected by any planning 

matter, this power is 

delegated to the 

appropriate senior officer). 

DEEI6 

 

 

 

 

To exercise the functions 

of the Traffic Regulation 

Committee (terms of 

reference 1 to 12), except 

those falling within decision 

categories  ADLS1 to 3 of 

this Scheme of Delegation. 

Executive Director of 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure 

Assistant 

Director of 

Legal 

Services.  

DEEI7 

 

 

 

To exercise all other 

functions relating to the 

areas of responsibility of 

the following services: 

Development, Planning, 

Transport & Community 

Infrastructure, Road 

Safety, , Registration, 

Libraries and Waste 

Management except 

decision categories ADLS 

1 to 3 (although, in cases 

when only an Officer other 

than the Assistant Director 

of Legal Services may 

institute proceedings, the 

Director of Economy, 

Environment and 

Infrastructure may institute 

a prosecution once it has 

been authorised under 

ADLS2). 

Executive Director of 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure 

Relevant 

Cabinet 

Member for all 

decisions with 

financial 

implications 

over £250,000 

DASS1 The functions of the Safety 

and Licensing Committee 

under paragraph 7 of its 

terms of reference. 

 

Executive Director of Adult 

Social Care and Public 

Health 

 

N/A 

Page 360



DASS2 To exercise all other 

functions relating to the 

areas of responsibility of 

Adult Social Care Services 

except decision category 

ADLS 1to 3. 

 Executive Director of Adult 

Social Care and Public 

Health 

Relevant 

Cabinet 

Member for all 

decisions with 

financial 

implications 

over £250,000 

DCS1 The functions of the Safety 

and Licensing Committee 

under paragraph 4 of its 

terms of reference. 

Executive Director of 

Children’s Services 

 

 

N/A 

DCS2 To exercise all other 

functions relating to the 

areas of responsibility of 

Children’s Services, 

Education and Learning 

except decision category 

ADLS 1 to 3 and in relation 

to the commissioning of 

Children’s Services. 

Executive Director of 

Children’s Services 

Most relevant 

Cabinet 

Member(s) for 

all decisions 

with financial 

implications 

over £250,000 

 

ADLS1 To authorise the institution, 

defence withdrawal or 

settlement of any claims or 

legal proceedings, civil or 

criminal, the issue of 

cautions and to authorise 

the enforcement of any 

order made in those 

proceedings. 

Assistant Director of Legal 

Services  

Director of any 

service area 

affected by 

such a 

decision. 

ADLS2 To authorise Officers of the 

County Council to 

prosecute or defend or 

appear in any legal 

proceedings (NB: The 

Assistant Director of Legal 

Services will authorise 

every decision to 

prosecute or defend such 

proceedings, including 

those which by law may 

only be instituted by 

another Officer). 

 

Assistant Director of Legal 

Services 

Director of any 

service area 

affected by 

such a 

decision. 

Page 361



ADLS3 To authorise the 

withdrawal or settlement of 

any dispute between the 

Council and any third 

party, including those that 

have been referred to any 

statutory or non-statutory 

Tribunal or arbitrator (this 

includes authorising ex 

gratia payments not 

otherwise delegated). 

Assistant Director of Legal 

Services 

Director of any 

 service area 

affected by 

such a 

decision. 

ADLS4 To be the adjudicator for 

disputes under the Local 

Government Pension 

Scheme. 

Assistant Director of Legal 

Services 

N/A 

ADLS5 The functions of the 

Commons and Rights of 

Way Committee under 

paragraphs 1, 2 and 19 or 

its terms of reference. 

Assistant Director of Legal 

Services 

Lead 

members 

DPH1 To exercise the functions 

conferred on the Director 

of Public Health by section 

73A of the National Health 

Service Act 2006 for the 

improvement of the health 

of the people of 

Gloucestershire 

Executive Director of Adult 

Social Care and Public 

Health 

 

GEN1 To enter into any contract 

for works and the supply of 

goods and services. 

Chief Executive, Executive 

Director, Director, Assistant 

Director or Heads of 

Service or equivalent in 

relation to their service 

areas. 

Relevant 

Cabinet 

Member for 

decisions with 

financial 

implications in 

excess of 

£250,000 

GEN2 To take any decision under 

the Regulation of 

Investigatory Powers Act 

2000. 

 

Executive Director, 

Director, Assistant Director 

or Head of Service or 

equivalent in relation to 

their service areas. 

N/A 

GEN3 To do anything that is 

required for the effective 

management of staff and 

other resources within 

each Service of the 

Council. 

Executive Director, 

Director, Assistant Director 

or Head of Service or 

equivalent in relation to 

their service areas. 

N/A 

Page 362



GEN4 To be the Proper Officer in 

relation to each Service of 

the Council 

Executive Director, 

Director, Assistant Director 

or Head of Service or 

equivalent in relation to 

their service areas. 

Relevant 

Cabinet 

Member for 

decision with 

financial 

implications in 

excess of 

£250,000 

 

 

 

Page 363



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO FULL COUNCIL – 17 February 2021

Statement of Individual Cabinet Member Decisions
 taken from 1 November 2020 to 31 January 2021

Decision 
Date

Cabinet Portfolio 
Holder

Decision Key 
Decision

10 Nov 
2020

Cllr Lynden Stowe

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and 
Change

Procurement of a new Microsoft 
Enterprise Agreement

Having fully considered all of the 
available information, I have decided to 
reject the alternative options and take 
the recommended decision to:

 

Delegate authority to the Executive 
Director of Corporate Resources to:
 
a) Conduct a mini-competition 
procurement process under the Crown 
Commercial Service (CCS) Technology 
Products & Associated Services
(TePAS) RM6068 framework agreement 
(Lot 3: Software and Associated 
Services) in respect of a three year call-
off contract for the supply of a volume 
licensing program, including software 
assurance, known as Microsoft 
Enterprise;
 
b) award such call-off contract to the 
preferred tenderer;
 
c) authorise the Head of Legal Services 
to execute such contract by affixing the 
Council’s seal thereto.
 

Yes

Page 365

Agenda Item 12



For the reasons set out in the report

10 Nov 
2020

Cllr Lynden Stowe

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and 
Change

Gloucestershire County Council’s 
(GCC) Counter- fraud and Corruption 
Policy Statement and Strategy 2020 – 
2023

Having fully considered all of the 
available information, I have decided 
to reject the alternative options and 
take the recommended decision to:

Approve the Council’s updated Counter-
fraud and Corruption Policy Statement 
and Strategy 2020-2023
 

For the reasons set out in the report.

No

17 Nov 
2020

Cllr Tim Harman

Cabinet Member – 
Public Health and 
Communities

Delegation of powers under the 
Health Protection (Coronavirus, 
Restriction) (England) (No 3) 
Regulations 2020 to Gloucestershire 
City, Borough and District Councils 
(‘the District Authorities’)

The following key decision was 
considered by Tim Harman, the Cabinet 
Member for Public Health and 
Communities because the decision is 
urgent and it has not been possible to 
publish details about the key decision in 
the Forward Plan.

Having fully considered all of the 
available information, I have decided to 
reject the alternative options and take 
the recommended decision to:

 

·         Delegate responsibility to 
undertake the enforcement powers 
under the Health Protection 
(Coronavirus, Restriction) (England) 
No 3 Regulations (as amended or 

Yes

Page 366

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1563
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1563
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1563
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1563


superseded) to the District 
Authorities.

·         Authorise the Assistant Director of 
Legal Services to enter into an 
Agreement under Section 101 of the 
Local Government Act 1972 and 
Section 9EA of the Local 
Government Act 2000 with the 
District Authorities to undertake the 
enforcement powers under the No 3 
Regulations.

 

For the reasons set out in the report.

1 Dec 
2020

Cllr Lynden Stowe

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and 
Change

Cleaning and Caretaking Services 
Framework for Schools and Corporate 
Properties

Having fully considered all of the 
available information, I have decided to 
reject the alternative options and take 
the recommended decision to:

 

a)    To delegate authority to the 
Executive Director of Corporate 
Resources in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Change to:

b)    Conduct a competitive procurement 
process in respect of a 4 year multi-
supplier Framework Agreement 
under which individual participating 
schools in Gloucestershire and the 
Council may award call-off contracts 
for the delivery of cleaning and 
caretaking services from individual 
participating schools and the 

Yes

Page 367

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1575
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1575
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1575


Council’s corporate properties. The 
proposed framework agreement shall 
be divided into three lots, in order to 
enable smaller local contractors to 
participate;

c)    Award and enter into such 
framework agreement with each of 
the preferred tenderers selected by 
the Council;

d)    Procure and award call-off contracts 
under such framework agreement for 
the delivery of cleaning and 
caretaking services from the 
Council’s corporate properties, 
whose aggregate value shall not 
exceed £6,126,386. Each such call-
off contract shall continue for a 
period of not more than 6 years. 
Participating schools shall exercise 
their own discretion in deciding 
whether to award call-off contracts 
for the delivery of cleaning and 
caretaking services.

 

For the reasons set out in the report.

9 Dec 
2020

Cllr Lynden Stowe

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and 
Change

Property acquisition for a supported 
living scheme

The following key decision was 
considered using the Council’s general 
exception rules because the decision is 
urgent and it has not been possible to 
give 28 days notice on the Forward Plan.
In coming to this decision I have given 
due and full regard to the requirements 
of the public sector equality duty 
contained in section 149 of the Equality 
Act 2010 (“the Act”) by reference to the 
law itself and also the relevant Due 

Yes

Page 368

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1577
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1577


Regard Statement, which was prepared 
in accordance with the requirements of 
the Act.

 

Having fully considered all of the 
available information, I have decided to 
reject the alternative options and take 
the recommended decision to:

 

approve the purchase of a property to 
provide supported living accommodation

22 Dec 
2020

Cllr Lynden Stowe

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and 
Change

Recycling, general waste, food and 
confidential waste collection service 
framework agreement for schools and 
corporate properties

Having fully considered all of the 
available information, Cllr Lynden 
Stowe, Cabinet Member for Finance 
and Change, decided to reject the 
alternative options and take the 
recommended decision to:
 
1.    Delegate authority to the 

Executive Director of Corporate 
Resources in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Change to:

 
a)    Conduct a competitive 

procurement process in 
respect of a 4 year multi-
supplier Framework 
Agreement under which 
individual participating schools 
in Gloucestershire and the 
Council may award call-off 
contracts for the collection of 

Yes

Page 369

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1589
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1589
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1589
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1589


recycling, general waste, food 
waste and confidential waste 
from individual participating 
schools and the Council’s 
corporate properties. The 
proposed framework 
agreement shall be divided 
into eight lots, in order to 
enable smaller local 
contractors to participate;

 
b)    Award and enter into such 

framework agreement with 
each of the preferred 
tenderers selected by the 
Council;

 
c)    Procure and award call-off 

contracts under such 
framework agreement for the 
collection of recycling, general 
waste, food waste and 
confidential waste from the 
Council’s corporate properties, 
whose aggregate value shall 
not exceed £769,265. Each 
such call-off contract shall 
continue for a period of not 
more than 5 years. 
Participating schools shall 
exercise their own discretion in 
deciding whether to award 
call-off contracts for the 
collection of recycling, general 
waste, food waste and 
confidential waste from such 
schools.

 

Page 370



For the reasons set out in the 
published decision report

29 Jan 
2021

Finance and 
Change

Procurement of a Business Analytics 
Strategic Data Partner

Having fully considered all of the 
available information, I have decided to 
reject the alternative options and take 
the recommended decision to:

 

Delegate authority to the Director of 
Policy, Performance & Governance in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Change to:
 
1.    Conduct a competitive procurement 

process in respect of a 3 year Single 
Supplier Framework Agreement for 
the supply of strategic advice and 
support for the development of a 
Business Analytics platform.

2.    Upon conclusion of the competitive 
tender process, appoint the winning 
tenderer to the Single Supplier 
Framework Agreement

3.    Procure and award one or more 
Call-Off Contracts for the supply of 
said services under such Single 
Supplier Framework Agreement 
whose combined aggregate value 
shall not exceed £1,000,000.

 

For the reasons set out in the report.

Yes

Page 371



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet Decision Statement

Wednesday 16 December 2020 Published 

Gloucestershire
County Council

Agenda
Item Decision Portfolio 

6  DRAFT COUNCIL STRATEGY AND MEDIUM TERM 
FINANCIAL STRATEGY (FOR PUBLICATION AND 
CONSULTATION) 

Cllr Lynden Stowe, Cabinet Member for Finance and Change, 
set out proposals relating to the detailed revenue and capital 
budget for 2021/22 and the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
for the period 2021/22 to 2023/24. Cabinet was being asked 
to approve for consultation and scrutiny the proposed detailed 
revenue and capital budget for 2021/22 (including Dedicated 
Schools Grant which would also be considered by the 
Schools Forum), the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 
covering the period 2021/22 to 2023/24 and updated Council 
Strategy. This was prior to finalisation and scrutiny, prior to 
finalisation of the budget for approval by Cabinet on 27 
January 2021 and recommendation to County Council on 17 
February 2021.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report 
and,

RESOLVED to:

Approve for consultation and scrutiny the proposed detailed 
revenue and capital budget for 2021/22 (including Dedicated 
Schools Grant which will also be considered by the Schools 
Forum), the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) covering the 
period 2021/22 to 2023/24 and the updated Council Strategy.

Finance and Change

7  FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT 2020/21 

Cabinet Member for Finance and Change, Cllr Lynden Stowe, gave 
an update on the year-end forecasts for the County Council’s 
Revenue and Capital Budgets 2020/21.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report 
and,

Finance and Change

Page 373

Agenda Item 13



RESOLVED to:

1. Note the forecast revenue year end position based on actual 
expenditure as at the end of September 2020 and October 2020 
(Period 7) forecasts for the 2020/21 financial year including Covid-
19 forecast is an overspend of £8.371 million. The forecast 
excluding Covid-19 is an overspend £4.461 million.

2. Note the forecast capital year end position as at the end of 
September 2020 of £130.145 million against the current budget of 
£135.135 million.

3. Approve the re-profiling of the 2020/21 Adults and AMPS capital 
budgets
to reflect the current forecasts.

4. Note the year end forecast to deliver £9.817 million of savings 
against a target of £10.545 million or 93.10%.

8  LEADING THE RESPONSE TO THE CLIMATE 
EMERGENCY: GLOUCESTERSHIRE CLIMATE CHANGE 
STRATEGY ANNUAL REPORT & ACTION PLAN, 2021/02 – 
2026/27 

Cllr Nigel Moor, Cabinet Member for Environment and 
Planning updated Cabinet on progress with implementing the 
Gloucestershire Climate Change Strategy and sought 
Cabinet’s approval of the revised Action Plan.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report 
and,

RESOLVED to:

1. Note the overall emissions for Gloucestershire outlined in the 
report and in Annex 1.

2. Note the progress and planned key actions outlined in the report 
and in Annex 2.

3. Approve the outline Action Plan 2021/2 to 2026/7 (Annex 3), to 
be developed into a detailed plan in consultation with Leadership 
Gloucestershire partners, for implementation from April 2021.

4. Confirm the Council’s support to the Association of Directors of 
Environment, Economy, Planning and Transport’s call for 
government to secure more powers and resources for councils to 
take action on climate change and nature restoration, and to build 
back better from Covid-19 in their areas.

Environment and 
Planning

Page 374



9  ADULT SOCIAL CARE OCC SYSTEMS CONTRACT 
(DIRECT AWARD) 

Cllr Carole Allaway Martin, Cabinet Member for Adult Social 
Care Commissioning and Cllr Kathy Williams, Cabinet 
Member for Adult Social Care Delivery, sought Cabinet’s 
approval to award to Oxford Computer Consultants, without 
further competition, of a call-off contract for the supply of adult 
social care finance system and related modules.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report 
and,

RESOLVED to:

Approve an award to Oxford Computer Consultants, without further 
competition, of a call-off contract for the supply of the following 
system and related services under Crown Commercial Services 
Framework Agreement RM3821 in accordance with the direct 
contract award criteria thereunder :

a – The adult social care finance system known as ContrOCC
b – The MarketPlace system
c – The Provider Portal module and
d – The E-Brokerage module

Such contract shall continue for an initial period of 3 years and 
include
options to extend its term for no more than two further one year 
periods to coincide with the expiry date of the Council’s current 
contract with Liquidlogic for the supply of the Council’s Adult Social 
Care Case Management solution that is due to expire on 28/03/24 
(which also includes an option to extend its term for a further period 
of not more than two further one year periods).

Approve the execution of such contract under seal by the Assistant 
Director of Legal services.

Delegate authority to the Executive Director: Adult Social Care (in 
consultation with the Cabinet Members for Adult Social Care 
Commissioning and Adult Social Care Delivery) to determine each 
of the options to extend the contract on expiry of the initial contract 
term.

Adult Social Care 
Commissioning

Adult Social Care 
Delivery

10  ESTABLISHMENT AND CONSTRUCTION OF A NEW 3FE 
(630 PLACE) PRIMARY SCHOOL IN BISHOP’S CLEEVE 

Cllr Patrick Molyneux, Cabinet Member for Economy, Education 
and Skills, sought Cabinet’s approval to establish a new 3FE 

Economy, Education 
and Skills

Page 375



(Forms of Entry) (630 place) Primary School to serve Bishop’s 
Cleeve together with approval for commissioning, additional 
funding, land acquisition and delivery of the new school.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report 
and,

RESOLVED to:

1. Approve the establishment of a new 3FE Primary School to 
serve Bishop’s Cleeve and delegates authority to the Executive 
Director of Children’s Services, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Economy, Education and Skills to:

i) Hold a free school presumption competition in accordance with 
the Department for Education’s “The free school presumption” 
(November 2019) in order to identify a suitable Academy Trust to 
sponsor the school.

ii) Upon conclusion of the competition, recommend to the Secretary 
of State the findings of the Local Authority’s assessment to enable 
him to decide upon the most suitable proposer to take forward the 
new free school.

2. Delegate authority to the Assistant Director of Asset 
Management and Property Services in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and Skills to acquire the 
land on which to establish and construct the new primary school.

3. 
(a) approve the addition of £3.000 million to the approved capital 
scheme to contribute towards the funding of construction and 
acquisition of the land [in respect of such school] from unallocated 
basic need grant funding; and
(b) review and ratify a decision by the Assistant Director of Asset 
Management and Property Services to conduct a competitive 
procurement process in respect of a contract for the design and 
build of such school under the County Council’s major framework 
and then award such contract to the preferred tenderer.

4. Delegate authority to the Executive Director of Children’s 
Services in consultation with the Assistant Director of Asset 
Management and Property Services to undertake all ancillary 
matters to enable the establishment of the new 3FE Primary School 
such school.

11  THE PROCUREMENT OF HIGHWAY SERVICES AND 
CONSTRUCTION PHASE WORKS IN CONNECTION WITH 
THE DELIVERY OF A435 CHARLTON HILL 
GEOTECHNICAL STABILISATION SCHEME 

Highways and Flood

Page 376



Cllr Vernon Smith Cabinet  Member for Highways and Flood asked 
Cabinet to delegate authority to the Head of Highway Authority (in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood) for 
the purpose of procuring highway services and construction phase 
works, through competitive tender, in relation to A435 Charlton Hill 
Geotechnical Stabilisation Scheme and awarding contracts for the 
provision of such services and works.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report 
and,

RESOLVED to:

Delegate authority to the Head of Highway Authority (in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood) to:

1. conduct a competitive procurement process(es) for the supply of 
highway services and construction phase works in relation to the 
A435 Charlton Hill Geotechnical Stabilisation Scheme and 
awarding contracts for the provision of such services and works 
and

2. make any other ancillary traffic regulation orders that might be 
required in order to successfully implement the Project (such as 
temporary traffic regulation orders (TTROs for speed limits etc.)) 
during the construction phase of the Project.

12  PROVISION OF INDEPENDENT FOSTERING SERVICES 
2021 - 2022 

Cllr Richard Boyles, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years, sought Cabinet 
authorisation for Gloucestershire County Council (the Council) to 
continue to participate in the current Bath and North East Somerset 
Dynamic Purchasing System (known as the “Framework for the 
placement of children and young people in foster care”), for the 
provision of independent fostering services to participating Local 
Authorities (the “Dynamic Purchasing System/Framework”).

In addition, the report sought  authorisation for a 1.5% uplift in fees 
for new placements under the Dynamic Purchasing 
System/Framework from 1 April 2021.

The report also sought authorisation for Childrens Services to join 
Fostering Frameworks in other regions specifically to meet our 
sufficiency needs.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report 
and,

Deputy Leader and 
Cabinet Member for 
Children’s 
Safeguarding and Early 
Years

Page 377



RESOLVED to:

Delegate authority to the Executive Director of Children Services to:

1) Extend the term of the current Dynamic Purchasing 
System/Framework for the supply of independent fostering 
services” for a period of 12 months from 1st April 2021 until 31st 
March 2022.

2) Extend the term of the Council’s Participation Agreement with 
Bath and North East Somerset Council for a further year from 1 
April 2021 until 31 March 2022 for the purposes of enabling the 
Council to participate in the Dynamic Purchasing System 
/Framework and to pay Bath and North East Somerset Council a 
maximum sum of £4,000 as a contribution to its costs in acting as 
lead authority for the Dynamic Purchasing System/Framework.

3) Agree an uplift in fees (to be capped at 1.5%) paid to 
participating independent fostering agencies under the Dynamic 
Purchasing System/Framework in respect of individual placements 
from 1st April 2021 in conjunction with other participating Local 
Authorities.

4) Procure and award such number of call-off contracts under the 
terms of the Dynamic Purchasing System/Framework as are 
required to meet the Council’s responsibility to provide services for 
the assessed needs for the framework services, provided the 
aggregate value of such call-off
contracts does not exceed an estimated maximum amount of £7.77 
Million.

5) Continue to undertake compliant procurement of placements 
outside of this Framework in order to provide maximum flexibility to 
match children and young people’s needs including cultural 
matching with suitable carers and for PACE where this cannot be 
provided by the current Framework provision.

6) Explore and join, if appropriate, Frameworks outside of the South 
West that are reaching renewal stage in coming years with a view 
to increasing cultural matching and PACE opportunities within the 
financial security of a Framework arrangement.

The decisions published above will come into force and may be implemented on , unless a 
request is made for the decision to be called-in.  

CALL-IN PROCEDURE

A decision may only be only called-in if one or more of the following conditions are satisfied: - 

Page 378



1) The decision conflicts in whole or part with any existing policy that has been formally 
approved or adopted by the Council;  

2) The decision would not be wholly in accordance with the Council’s budget;  

3) In making the decision, the Cabinet, the Leader of the Council, or a Cabinet Member or 
Officer under delegated powers, has taken account of an irrelevant matter or failed to take 
account of a relevant matter, which in the opinion of the Chief Executive, had (or would 
have), a significant bearing on that decision; 

4) The Cabinet, the Leader of the Council, or a Cabinet Member or Officer under delegated 
powers, acted contrary to the Cabinet Procedure Rules, the Access to Information about 
the County Council’s Formal Business, and/or the principles of the decision making set out 
in Part 2, Article 7.02 of the Council’s Constitution. 

At least five members of the council must give notice in writing of their request to call-in a 
decision. 

The request, including reasons for the call-in, must be delivered to the Chief Executive before the 
end of the fifth working day after the day on which the decision is published. 

The request for a call-in of any of the decisions above should be made to  Stephen Bace               
by 5 pm on Wednesday 23 December 2020. 

For information on the contents of this Decision Statement, please contact: - 

Stephen Bace (Democratic Services Unit)
Tel: 01452 324204; email: stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 379



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet Decision Statement

Wednesday 27 January 2021 Published 

Gloucestershire
County Council

Agenda
Item Decision Portfolio 

7  RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL - MEDIUM TERM 
FINANCIAL STRATEGY AND COUNCIL STRATEGY 2021-
22 

Cllr Lynden Stowe, Cabinet Member for Finance and Change, 
presented for approval, the Medium Term Financial Strategy, 
(MTFS), and the final revenue and capital budget proposal for 
2021/22, for recommendation to County Council on 17 February 
2021.

Having considered all of the information, including the outcomes of 
the council’s formal budget consultation, the due regard statement 
relating to the decision and the observations from the Corporate 
Overview Scrutiny Committee meeting on 7
January 2021, Cabinet noted the reasons for the recommendations 
and,

RESOLVED to:-

1. To approve the Refreshed Council Strategy for submission to 
County Council (Appendix 1).

2. To approve changes to the draft budget and to approve the 
MTFS and final revenue and capital budget for 2021/22 for 
recommendation to County Council, including all of the proposals 
set out in the annexes of the detailed MTFS (Appendix 2).

3. To consider the outcome of the budget consultation as set out in 
Appendix 3 and the report from the Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee (COSC) in Appendix 4.

4. To note the schools funding allocations, the provisional local 
government finance settlement and forecast reserve movements as 
summarised in this report and set out in the MTFS.

5. To recommend to Council a revenue budget of £481.755 million, 
a band D council tax of £1,409.22 and consequential precepts on 
District Councils.

6. To note the Capital Strategy and Treasury Management Strategy 

Finance and Change

Page 381



& Investment Strategy as set out in Annexes 7 & 10 of the detailed 
MTFS.

7. To note the Risk Management Policy Statement & Strategy as 
set out in Annex 11 of the detailed MTFS.

8  FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT 

Cabinet Member for Finance and Change, Cllr Lynden Stowe, gave 
an update on the year-end forecasts for the County Council’s 
Revenue and Capital Budgets 2020/21. 

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report 
and,

RESOLVED to:

1. Note the forecast revenue year end position based on actual 
expenditure as at the end of November 2020 and December 2020 
(Period 9) forecasts for the 2020/21 financial year including Covid-
19 forecast is an overspend of £1.730 million, all of which relates to 
non Covid-19 expenditure, as we are forecasting a balanced 
position in relation to covid expenditure and income.

2. Note the forecast capital year end position as at the end of 
November 2020 of £123.280 million against the current budget of 
£123.463 million.

3. Approve the £3.086 million increase to the capital programme as 
outlined in section B of the report.

Finance and Change

9  CONTAINMENT OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT FUND 

Cllr Tim Harman, Cabinet Member for Public Health and 
Communities, sought Cabinet’s approval for the allocation of the 
Local Authority Contain Outbreak
Management  Fund.

RESOLVED to:

Delegate authority to the Executive Director of Adult Social Care 
and Public Health, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Public Health and Communities and the Executive Director for 
Corporate Resources to allocate the Local Authority Contain 
Outbreak Management Fund in order to deliver the objectives in the 
Local Outbreak Management Plan in accordance with the Council’s 
standing orders and procurement legislation.

Public Health and 
Communities

10  GLOUCESTERSHIRE LOCAL TRANSPORT PLAN 2021- Environment and 

Page 382



2041 

Cllr Nigel Moor, Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning, set 
out the updates made to the draft LTP following public consultation 
and sought Cabinet’s approval to take forward for proposed 
adoption at County Council in March 2021, the Gloucestershire LTP 
(2020-2041) as set out in Appendix A.

RESOLVED to:

Approve the Gloucestershire Local Transport Plan (2020-2041) for 
recommendation to the County Council at its meeting on 17th 
March 2021.

Planning

11  GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC RECOVERY PLAN 2021-
24 

Cllr Patrick Molyneux, Cabinet Member for Economy, 
Education and Skills, presented the Gloucestershire County 
Council Covid-19 Economic Recovery and Action Plan and 
sough approval of the plan, action plan and associated 
resource requirements. 

RESOLVED to:

Approve the Gloucestershire County Council Covid-19 Economic 
Recovery and Action Plan.

Economy, Education 
and Skills

12  PREPARING FOR ADULTHOOD STRATEGY 

Cllrs Richard Boyle, Kathy Williams and Carole Allaway 
Martin sought Cabinet’s approval for the Preparation for 
Adulthood Strategy for Gloucestershire. 

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report 
and,

RESOLVED to:

(a) Approve and adopts the Preparation for Adulthood Strategy set 
out in the Appendix.

(b) Delegate authority to the Executive Director of Children’s 
Services to implement the Preparation for Adulthood Strategy, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Children and Young 
People

Deputy Leader/ 
Children’s 
Safeguarding & Early 
Years

Adult Social Care 
(Commissioning)

Adult Social Care 
(Delivery)

13  SCHOOL ADMISSION ARRANGEMENTS FOR 2022/23 
ACADEMIC YEAR 

Deputy Leader/ 
Children’s 
Safeguarding & Early 

Page 383



Cllr Richard Boyles and Cllr Patrick Molyneux sought approval for 
the School Co-ordination and admission arrangements set out with 
the report and appendices.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report 
and,

RESOLVED to:

Approve the School Co-ordination and Admission Arrangements as 
set out in the documents referred to below:

Appendix 1 The Co-ordinated Admissions Scheme for 2022 for all 
Primary/Infant/Junior/Secondary Schools and Academies

Appendix 2 The Admissions Arrangements for Community and 
Voluntary Controlled Primary/Infant/Junior Schools and Secondary 
School for 2022 (Including Published Admission Numbers)

Appendix 3 Protocol for pupil admittance over published admission 
number for Community and Voluntary Controlled Schools for 2022

Appendix 4 School Admissions guidance for children of UK service 
personnel
and crown servants for Community and Voluntary Controlled 
Schools

Years

Economy, Education 
and Skills

The decisions published above will come into force and may be implemented on , unless a 
request is made for the decision to be called-in.  

CALL-IN PROCEDURE

A decision may only be only called-in if one or more of the following conditions are satisfied: - 

1) The decision conflicts in whole or part with any existing policy that has been formally 
approved or adopted by the Council;  

2) The decision would not be wholly in accordance with the Council’s budget;  

3) In making the decision, the Cabinet, the Leader of the Council, or a Cabinet Member or 
Officer under delegated powers, has taken account of an irrelevant matter or failed to take 
account of a relevant matter, which in the opinion of the Chief Executive, had (or would 
have), a significant bearing on that decision; 

4) The Cabinet, the Leader of the Council, or a Cabinet Member or Officer under delegated 
powers, acted contrary to the Cabinet Procedure Rules, the Access to Information about 

Page 384



the County Council’s Formal Business, and/or the principles of the decision making set out 
in Part 2, Article 7.02 of the Council’s Constitution. 

At least five members of the council must give notice in writing of their request to call-in a 
decision. 

The request, including reasons for the call-in, must be delivered to the Chief Executive before the 
end of the fifth working day after the day on which the decision is published. 

The request for a call-in of any of the decisions above should be made to    Stephen Bace             
by 5 pm on 3 February 2021. 

For information on the contents of this Decision Statement, please contact: - 

Stephen Bace (Democratic Services Unit)
Tel: 01452 324204; email: stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 385



This page is intentionally left blank



GLOUCESTERSHIRE LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION FUND ANNUAL 
REPORT AND PENSION BOARD ANNUAL REPORT FOR 2019/2020

Introduction

The Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund produces an Annual 
Report that is distributed to all employers within the Fund. Copies are also 
available on request to scheme members, organisations and the general 
public. In addition the Annual Report is available on the County Council 
website.

Annual Report

The Annual Report provides information on the management of the Fund, an 
analysis of investment activity and investment performance, details of Fund 
membership and a summary of Fund benefits. The report also contains the 
formal accounts of the Fund for the year ended 31st March 2020 and copies 
of the Fund’s strategy and policy statements.

Pension Board

The Pension Board’s Annual Report to County Council is contained within the 
main Annual Report on page 53.  The report sets out the background to the 
setting up of the Pension Board, its members and activities during the year.
 
Recommendation

That the Council notes the Pension Fund Annual Report and Pension Board’s 
Annual Report for 2019/2020.

Cllr Ray Theodoulou
Chairman - Pension Committee
17th February 2021 

Page 387

Agenda Item 14



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Local Government 

Pension Fund

www.gloucestershire.gov.uk

19/20

Page 389



2  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

Information contained in this report is provided for information purposes 
only. Nothing contained herein should be construed as a recommendation or 
solicitation to buy or sell any security. Please remember past performance is 
not necessarily a guide to future returns.

Page 390



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  3

Contents
Introduction 3
Independent Investment Advisor’s Report  7
Overall Fund Management 11
 Scheme management and advisors 11
 Risk management 12

Financial performance 13
Investment Policy and Performance 19
Scheme Administration 26
 Administration arrangements 26
     Value for money statement 26
      Summary of activity 27
      Key performance data 27
      Other information 31
      Internal Disputes Resolution Procedure 38

Pensions Administration Strategy 39
Executive Summary on the Last Triennial Valuation 44
Actuarial Report on Fund 46
Rates & Adjustment Certificate 48
Governance 53
 Pension Board 53
 Governance Compliance 54
 Fund Governance Compliance Statement 55
 Governance Policy Statement 57

Fund Account, Net Assets Statement and Notes 63
Asset Pools 104
Funding Strategy Statement 109
Investment Strategy Statement 136
Communications Policy Statement 144
Summary of Fund Benefits 146
Glossary of Terms  147

Page 391



4  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

It is with pleasure that we 
introduce this year’s Annual 
Report of the Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund. It contains 
details of the administration 
of the Fund, together with its 
investments and accounts for 
the year to 31st March 2020. 

Introduction

This introductory section provides a summarised 
version of the key issues set out within the Annual 
Report and hence can be read as a standalone report.

The Fund is managed and administered by 
Gloucestershire County Council on behalf of 
Gloucestershire local authorities, other bodies 
providing public services and certain admitted bodies, 
as part of the national Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) Regulations. The Fund collects 
employer and employee pension contributions in 

relation to active employees of these organisations 
and meets the cost of pension benefits due to current 
and former employees.

Fund Membership and Employers

This report is primarily aimed at members and 
participating employer organisations within the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund. In terms of Fund 
Members these have increased steadily over the last 
five years, as illustrated below.

 Contributors         Pensioners         Deferred Pensioners

 Undecided/Unprocessed Leavers         Total Members

2019/20

60,000

50,000

40,000

30,000

20,000

10,000

0
2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Membership Summary

To
ta

l M
em

be
rs

Page 392



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  5

Membership at the end of 2019/20 
stood at approximately 55,900, 
split between active contributors 
(19,121), pensioners (16,607) and 
deferred members (20,173). There 
were also unprocessed leavers 
(4,516) at the end of the period. 
This equates to a fall of 174 
compared with the position at the 
end of 2018/19. A more detailed 
breakdown of membership can 
be found on pages 31 to 32 in the 
main body of the report.

With regards to participating 
employers, the Pension Fund 
has seen a net decrease of one 
employer during 2019/20 bringing 
the number of total employers to 
204. A breakdown of employer 
groups and contributions received 
is shown graphically above.  
Contributions received from 
employers and employees totalled 
£103.1m during the year.

A detailed breakdown of all 
participating employers and 
the total value of contributions 
received during 2019/20 can be 
found on pages 34 to 37 in the 
main body of the report. 

Policy Documents

The latest version of the Fund’s 
policy statements covering 
Investment Strategy, Funding 
Strategy, Governance and 
Communication, as well as a brief 

summary of scheme benefits are 
also included within the main body 
of the report. 

Actuarial Arrangements

An actuarial valuation of the Fund 
is undertaken every three years. 
The detailed actuarial report on 
the 2019 valuation of the Fund 
can be found on pages 46 to 47. 
This outlines the approach taken 
to secure Fund solvency while 
keeping employer contributions 
stable and also gives details of 
the actuarial assumptions and 
methods used to value liabilities 
at the 2019 triennial valuation. 
The Fund’s assets, as at the 2016 
triennial valuation were valued 

at £1,703 million, which were 
sufficient to meet 79.7% of the 
liabilities (i.e. the present value 
of promised retirement benefits), 
accrued up to that date. The 
Fund’s assets, as at the 2019 
triennial valuation were valued 
at £2,379 million, which were 
sufficient to meet 101.8% of the 
liabilities accrued up to that date. 

The funding levels at the last four 
triennial valuations are shown in 
the graph below. Further details 
of the rationale and assumptions 
used to calculate these funding 
levels can be found in the main 
body of the report.

Number of Employers 2019/20 Total Contributions 2019/20
£000’s

 Admitted Bodies         Academies         Scheduled Bodies

39

97

68

81,152

16,000 5,
96

8

  Funding Level

31/03/2010

120.0%

100.0%

80.0%

60.0%

40.0%

20.0%

0%

70.4% 70.1%
79.7%

101.8%

31/03/2013 31/03/2016 31/03/2019

Page 393



6  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

Investment and Fund 
Performance

During 2019/20 the Fund achieved 
a -6.2% return on its investments, 
placing Gloucestershire 45th out 
of the 61 LGPS Funds measured 
by PIRC Local Authority Pension 
Performance Analytics (who 
monitor the performance of 
Pension Funds). Despite this, the 
long-term performance of the Fund 
has been positive. Over a ten year 
period annualised performance 
was +6.8%, placing the Fund 
27th out of the 61 LGPS Funds 
measured over that period.

An analysis of the performance of 
the Fund compared with the other 
LGPS Funds and its strategic 
benchmark is shown on the right. 
The position of the Gloucestershire 
Fund is presented as a red 
diamond in each of the relevant 
bars. The higher the positioning, 
the higher the Fund scored in 
comparison to it’s peers in terms 
of absolute return over 3, 5, 10 
and 20 year periods.

The value of the Fund’s assets as 
at 31st March 2020 was £2,244.6 
million. This represented an 
overall decrease of £134.1 million 
compared with the position at 31st 
March 2019. The value of the Fund 
at the end of the last ten financial 
years is shown in the graph on 
page 6.

The Fund undertakes their 
investments in accordance with 
the Strategic Asset Allocation. This 
Strategic Asset Allocation was 
reviewed in detail during 2019/20, 
with a new allocation being 
agreed by the Pension Committee 
which is set out in the Investment 
Strategy Statement (ISS). A copy 
of this policy, along with details 
of the Fund’s investment and 
performance, is available on 
pages 136 to 143 and 19 to 25 
respectively of the full report.

Statement of Accounts

The full Statement of Accounts 
of the Fund for the year ended 
31st March 2020 and the auditors 
report in relation to these accounts 
can be found on pages 63 to 103. 

Scheme Details

We remind both existing and 
future pensioners, that the Local 
Government Pension Scheme 
(LGPS) is determined by statutory 
legislation. This legislation 
can only be changed by the 
Government via the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) and the 
scheme cannot be changed by the 
County Council or other scheduled 
employers of the Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund. 

Following a review by the Public 
Service Pensions Commission 
a new LGPS scheme was 
introduced, commencing from 
1st April 2014. The terms of the 
LGPS scheme only apply to new 
pensionable service accrued with 
effect from April 2014. Previously 
accrued pensionable service and 
pensions in payment prior to April 
2014 are not affected. 

Further information on the main 
features of the 2014 LGPS 
scheme can be found on page 
146.

Pensions Administration

Details relating to the 
administration of the 
Gloucestershire Pension Scheme 
are shown on pages 26 to 30. 

Annualised Returns 3 years 5 years 10 years 20 years

Fund 1.1% 4.2% 6.8% 5.0%
Universal Average 1.9% 5.2% 6.9% 5.5%
Ranking (46) (42) (27) (32)

3 Year 5 Year 10 Year 20 Year

10

9

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

0

A
bs

ol
ut

e 
re

tu
rn

 %
 p

a

Page 394



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  7

and also within the Administration 
Strategy at page 39. 

The Public Service Pensions 
Act 2013 and LGPS regulations 
required LGPS Funds to set 
up local Pension Boards from 
2015/16. Their role, which 
continued in 2019/20, is to 
assist administering authorities in 
ensuring compliance with LGPS 
and other pension regulations. 
More details of the membership, 
meetings and work of the 
Gloucestershire Pension Board in 
relation to 2019/20 can be found 
on page 53.

LGPS Pooling

In July 2015 the Government 
announced their intention for 
LGPS Funds to set up investment 
pooling arrangements. This 
involved a number of LGPS Funds 
with assets totalling approximately 
£30 billion jointly investing in the 
various asset classes, as chosen 
by each Fund, via a FCA approved 
organisation. The aim of this 
approach is to reduce investment 
manager fees whilst not adversely 
affecting, or even improving, 

individual Fund investment 
performance. During 2016/17 the 
Government approved and issued 
new investment regulations for the 
LGPS Funds to both facilitate and 
ensure investment pooling took 
place. 

The Gloucestershire Fund is 
collaborating with nine other LGPS 
Funds from the South West of 
England and has established a 
new FCA regulated investment 
pooling company called the Brunel 
Pension Partnership (BPP). This 
process is ongoing and the ten 
Funds are continuing to transfer 
their investments into the BPP 
as envisaged by Government. As 
at 31st March 2020, £1,285m of 
Gloucestershire investments were 
under the management of the 
BPP, this equates to 57.3% of the 
total assets of the Fund at 31st 
March 2020. Further details of our 
pooling progress can be found on 
pages 104 to 108 of the full report.

Our Thanks

We express our thanks to 
all those involved with the 
investment, accounting and 

pension administration activities 
of the Gloucestershire Fund, and 
the development of the Brunel 
Pension Partnership. In this, we 
acknowledge the continuing work 
of the members of the Pension 
Committee, whose membership 
is shown on page 11, in 
overseeing the Fund’s investment 
management and administration 
arrangements as well as the 
support from the Pension Board, 
whose membership is shown 
on page 53, in assisting the 
administering authority to comply 
with the LGPS and other pension 
regulations.

Cllr Raymond Theodoulou 
Chairman of the Pension 
Committee 

Steve Mawson 
Director of Corporate Services 

Paul Blacker 
Director of Finance

  Market value

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

£m

2500.0

2000.0

1500.0

1000.0

500.0

0.0

1,157.4 1,205.2
1,384.8

1,506.5

1,709.1 1,702.5

2,088.6
2,239.4

Market value of Fund by year £m

2,378.7

2020

2,244.6

Page 395



8  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

Economic background

The first nine months of the 
2019/20 financial year seems like 
an oasis of calm in hindsight. The 
global economy was growing, 
albeit at a reduced rate, interest 
rates were low and inflation 
subdued. Investment returns 
from this period were decent 
without being exceptional and 
the Fund’s investment return was 
slightly ahead of its benchmark. 
The financial year to March 
2020, however, will forever be 
associated with the Covid-19 virus 
and ensuing economic lockdown 
affecting over half the global 
population. The human cost of this 
has been huge and our thoughts 
go out to all those who have been 
adversely affected by this crisis. 

The Covid-19 pandemic is 
unlike any other crisis we have 
experienced in living memory. 
The need to stop the spread 

of the virus and thereby avoid 
overwhelming national healthcare 
systems, has necessitated a 
massive reduction in human 
contact. To achieve this, many 
governments across the world 
initiated an economic lockdown, 
restricting the movement of entire 
populations in a manner which 
would have been unthinkable only 
a few short months before. This 
brought on the fastest economic 
downturn we have seen in a 
generation and created turbulence 
within investment markets. 

In a normal recession, as demand 
falls, so do corporate profits 
and cashflows and so investors 
worry about dividend cuts and 
ultimately a company’s ability 
to pay interest on their debt. It 
is this concern which causes 
investments to fall. In this crisis, 
the economic downturn has been 
more severe and come faster than 
anything previously experienced. 

In addition, the impact of the 
economic lockdown has not been 
uniform. Companies which rely on 
social interaction or a high density 
of customers (Airlines, Hotels, 
Shops) have seen their revenues 
drop to zero almost overnight, 
bringing their entire business 
model into question, whereas, 
many of those offering services 
remotely (Information Technology, 
Online Retail) have seen increased 
demand. Because of this, the 
effect on individual investments 
has been very varied and often 
outside of previous expectations. 
For corporate debt, high quality 
companies would be expected to 
be rated as ‘Investment Grade’ 
suggesting a very high likelihood 
that the debt will be repaid when it 
becomes due. Companies which 
have lost that status over the first 
few months of 2020 include the 
Ford Motor Corp, food producers 
Kraft and Heinz and Macy’s the 

Independent Investment 
Advisor’s Report

GDP Growth

20.00%

15.00%

10.00%

5.00%

0.00%

-5.00%

-10.00%

-15.00%

-20.00%

USA            CHN            EU 27            GBR            JPN

2000-Q1         2003-Q1         2006-Q1         2009-Q1         2012-Q1         2015-Q1         2018-Q1

Page 396



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  9

US department store to name but 
a few. These are not companies 
which are likely to go bankrupt 
but where current conditions are 
having a significantly adverse 
impact on their business.

As Covid-19 struck it reduced 
the demand for many products 
including oil. A battle for market 
share between Saudi Arabia and 
Russia ensued which resulted in 
the oil price falling 65% in the first 
quarter of 2020; putting additional 
strain on the finances of many 
oil exporting nations and energy 
companies and adding to the 
uncertainty for investment markets. 

At the time of writing, Virus 
hotspots are now the United 
States, Russia, India and Latin 
America but localised virus 
hotspots are appearing across 
the globe in countries which 
had previously worked hard to 
eradicate the virus.

The chart on page 7 shows 
the change in quarterly GDP 
on the same quarter twelve 
months previously. The scale of 
the Covid-19 related downturn 
exceeds that of the Global 
Financial Crisis in 2008/9 both in 
terms of scale and speed of onset.

Market returns

As noted earlier, during the first 
9 months of this financial year, 
all major asset classes produced 
positive returns. During this period 
the Fund rose by 8.1% to reach 
a value of over £2.58bn, as at 
31st December 2019. Everything 
changed during March 2020 as 
the Covid-19 virus and ensuing 
economic lockdown hit. By the 

end of the 2019/20 financial year 
the Fund had fallen in value to 
£2.24bn declining in value by 
-13.2% during the final quarter of 
the financial year and by -6.2% 
for the 2019/20 financial year as a 
whole. 

Equity markets fell across the 
world with the FTSE index of 
developed equity markets falling 
by over 20% in Sterling terms in 
the final quarter of the financial 
year and by over 10% for the 
financial year as a whole. The UK 
market was particularly badly hit 
as it contains a high percentage 
of Financial, Oil and Mining related 
companies, all of which were 
badly affected by the crisis as well 
as continuing uncertainty over 
the post BREXIT outlook for the 
economy. The UK FTSE All-Share 
index finished the financial year 
down -18.5%.

Bond markets were also disrupted 
by the Covid-19 crisis with 
corporate bonds suffering a sharp 
sell-off, even for high quality, 
Investment Grade bonds, as the 
economic lockdown brought 
some businesses to a complete 
halt. Government Bonds also fell 
during the start of the Covid-19 
related market fall as investors 
panicked and sought to hold 
only US Dollar cash and eschew 
all other assets. However, once 
central banks supplied extra 
liquidity to investment markets, 
Government Bonds recovered. 
By the end of the financial year 
it was only developed world 
government bonds and gold which 
had produced a positive return 
with all other major asset classes 
seeing falls in value. Less liquid 

asset classes such as property 
and infrastructure were difficult to 
price during the rapid market fall 
experienced in the final month of 
the financial year and the majority 
of property funds restricted trading 
during this period.

Whilst all of this sounds a concern, 
I would note that most asset 
classes have recovered at the 
time of writing as central bank 
and government actions have 
supported markets. In addition, 
the Fund had a strong funding 
ratio at the time of the last actuarial 
valuation and remains committed 
to investing over the long term to 
meet its liabilities.

Fund returns

Gloucestershire County Council 
Pension Fund returned -6.2% for 
the fiscal year 2019/20, taking the 
fund to a value of £2.24 billion. 
The return achieved by the Fund 
was below the -4.7% return of 
the strategic benchmark for the 
year. The Fund performance was 
heavily affected by the final quarter 
when the Covid-19 virus hit, falling 
-13.2% during that period and 
underperforming the benchmark 
by -1.7%. This underperformance 
undermined the longer-term 
performance against the 
benchmark and the Fund now lags 
the return of the benchmark by 
-0.4% per annum over the last 10 
years, returning 6.8% against 7.2% 
per annum for the benchmark.

A number of the benchmarks set 
for individual portfolios within the 
Fund, such as Global Credit and 
Multi-Asset assume a long-term 
return target of a set percentage 
return per annum irrespective of 

Page 397



10  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

underlying market conditions. 
During periods of market decline 
the respective portfolio will 
underperform its benchmark and 
this happened during the final 
quarter of the 2019/20 financial 
year. In addition, the Fund was 
more heavily exposed to equities 
as we entered the Covid-19 crisis 
than its benchmark and, again, 
this exaggerated the market 
decline. The underperformance 
experienced in the final quarter 
has been recovered as markets 
have recovered during the 
first quarter to end June 2020 
of the new financial year. The 
underperformance over the 
longer-term has been due to 
a small number of managers 
underperforming their respective 
benchmarks. These managers are 
being replaced over time as the 
management of the Fund’s assets 
is taken over by Brunel Pension 
Partnership, the LGPS pool which 
Gloucestershire is a member of.

Brunel Pension 
Partnership – Pooling

The Fund has continued to 
transfer the management of its 
assets to the Brunel Pensions 
Partnership which is the LGPS 
pool responsible for managing 
all LGPS assets in the South 
West region. The Fund’s assets 
will remain segregated within 
Brunel and managed purely in the 
interest of the members of the 
Gloucestershire County Council 
Pension Fund. 

During the year the Fund’s 
remaining holdings in UK, 
Global and Emerging Market 
Equities have been successfully 
transitioned across to the 
Brunel pool. This move into the 
Brunel pool gave the Fund the 
opportunity to invest part of its 
Global Equity portfolio into a new 
Sustainable Equity portfolio for the 
first time. Brunel have a strong 
commitment to the environment 

and investing responsibly. Any 
members particularly interested 
in this area should visit the Brunel 
website for further information. 
In addition, the Fund’s officers 
and Pensions Committee will 
continue to challenge all its 
investment managers in the 
areas of environmental and social 
responsibility and governance 
structure, expecting adherence to 
the highest standards, in the belief 
that this will improve the long-term 
returns of the Fund.

Brunel will be responsible for 
the selection of investment 
managers going forward whilst the 
Gloucestershire County Council 
Pension Fund remains responsible 
for the strategic asset allocation of 
the Fund. 

Review of the Strategic 
Benchmark 

Once every three years the Fund 
undertakes an actuarial revaluation 
which calculates the current value 
of the Fund’s liabilities (future 
pension payments) and the 
investment return required to meet 
these liabilities going forward. This 
took place during the 2019/20 
financial year. Following on from 
this, the Fund reviewed the make-
up of its Strategic Benchmark 
which is the target allocation 
between asset classes which best 
fits the Fund’s long-term risk and 
return requirements. 

Due to the actuarial revaluation 
showing that the Fund’s funding 
position had improved, the amount 
of risk the Fund was taking in its 
investments could be reduced 
slightly. This will be achieved 
by reducing the exposure to 
Equities and bonds and increasing 
the exposure to Infrastructure, 
Private Equity, Direct Lending 
and International Property. This 
greater diversification of the Fund’s 
assets should enable it to meet 
its return target with less risk. 

As the targeted asset classes 
for investment are less liquid, 
it will take a number of years 
to complete this reallocation of 
the scheme’s assets. Equities 
will remain the majority of the 
Fund’s assets as the Committee 
continues to believe they offer the 
best risk adjusted return over the 
long-term.

Outlook

The economic damage from 
Covid-19 is obvious but the central 
assumption remains that it will 
be transitory and relatively short-
lived. However, life has changed, 
and it is unlikely we will entirely 
revert to previous practises, either 
behaviourally or as a society. Many 
of these changes are accelerations 
of existing trends; increased use 
of video calls and social media 
apps; working from home etc. 
For the Pension Fund it is the 
changes to the long-term outlook 
that are important because the 
Pension Fund is investing over the 
long-term. 

The most interesting debate 
is about the future state of the 
global economy. Central banks 
responded to the Global Financial 
Crisis in 2008/9 by lowering 
interest rates towards zero and 
when this was not enough to 
stimulate the economy, they 
commenced Quantitative Easing 
(QE) (the direct purchase of 
bonds) to push down interest 
rates for longer-term borrowers. 
In this crisis, central banks 
across the developed world have 
restarted their QE programmes 
at an unprecedented rate, 
forcing long-term borrowing 
rates down to ultra-low levels. 
In addition, governments have 
taken on spending commitments 
on a truly massive scale in 
order to limit the collapse of 
their domestic economy. It is 
questionable whether this build-up 
of government debt will ever be 

Page 398



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  11

fully repaid in today’s terms; the 
economic cost will be too great. 

Governments will likely, therefore, 
take three actions:

• Increasing taxes. 

• Encouraging central banks to 
continue their QE programmes 
and thereby keep interest rates at 
ultra-low levels well into the future. 
This keeps the cost of servicing 
the government’s debts low.

• Accepting a level of inflation 
that remains above interest rates 
and thereby depreciates the stock 
of debt in real terms. 

The immediate impact of the 
current recession is for inflation 
to fall. In the medium-term, 
however, interest rates are likely 
to remain low because, post 
an economic recovery from 
the current lockdown, it seems 
unlikely we will leave the previous 
environment of low growth. The 
higher inflation rate will come 
from the extra business costs of 
creating a more secure supply 
chain; producing less in low cost 
locations to reduce complexity and 
greater government regulation and 
involvement in the private sector. 
All these costs will be passed on 
to the end consumer in the form 
of higher prices. Having interest 
rates below inflation for much of 
the developed world will make it 
harder for asset owners, including 
this Fund, to retain the real value of 
their assets into the future.

The requirement for companies 
to act in a socially acceptable 
manner and for investors to 
pressurise them to do so is 
another issue which this crisis 
has reinforced. This is a challenge 
for a capitalist system, put 
bluntly, either the true cost of 
the environmental and social 
damage caused by a company’s 
production and products is fully 
priced and companies bear this 

cost as part of their business, 
or, shareholders recognise that 
a company has a much broader 
set of responsibilities than 
maximising returns. This means 
a greater acceptance that the 
shareholder can no longer be 
the primary focus and a broader 
group of stakeholders, which 
will undoubtedly include broad 
society and the environment, will 
be the focus going forward. Either 
approach would seem likely to 
alter return expectations into the 
future, but change is necessary 
and appears to be inevitable.

John Arthur

August 2020

Page 399



12  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

Overall Fund Management 

Scheme Management and Advisors
Administering Authority: Gloucestershire County Council

Pension Committee at 31st March 2020
Representing Gloucestershire County Council:

Cllr. D. Brown Cllr. C. Hay                                                                  Cllr. S. Parsons              Cllr. R. Smith Cllr.  L. Stowe                                                       

Representing 
Gloucestershire 
District Councils: 
Cllr. N. Cooper             

Investment Managers as at 31st March 2020:
Aberdeen Standard Investments
Arcmont Asset Management Ltd. (formerly BlueBay)
BlackRock Advisors (UK) Ltd.
Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd.
CBRE Global Investment Partners (CBRE)
Golub Capital Partners International 
Federated Hermes Investment Management
Western Asset Management Company Ltd.
Technology Venture Partners LLP (TVP)
Yorkshire Fund Managers Equity Partners (YFM)

AVC Provider:
Prudential Assurance Company Limited
Phoenix Life Limited 

Auditor: 
Grant Thornton UK LLP
 
Global Custodian:
State Street Global Services

Performance Measurement:
State Street Global Services
PIRC Limited 
 
Banker:
HSBC
 
Legal Advisor:
Gloucestershire County Council in-house legal team

Cllr. R. Theodoulou 
(Chairman)                         

County Council Officers: 
Mr. S. Mawson
Executive Director Corporate Resources 
(and Section 151 Officer)

Mr. P. Blacker
Director of Finance

Asset Pool and Asset Pool Operator
Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd.
www.brunelpensionpartnership.org
e-mail: info@brunelpp.org

Independent Advisor: 
Mr. J. Arthur, MJ Hudson Investment Advisers Ltd.

Fund Actuary:
Mrs J. West, Hymans Robertson LLP 
Mr. D. Green, Hymans Robertson LLP 

Scheme Administrator:
Gloucestershire County Council

Representing 
Scheme 
Members:
Mr. P. Clark

Page 400



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  13

Post Year-End Changes 

Councillor N. Cooper resigned 
and was replaced by Councillor 
D. Gray with effect from 1st April 
2020.

Enquiries

For information/contact details 
for committee members, fund 
managers and advisors or for 
details regarding the Fund’s 
investments and accounting 
activities, please contact the 
Pension Investment Team at Shire 

Hall, Gloucester, phone (01452) 
328946.

For details of Local Government 
Pension Scheme benefits and 
administration, please contact the 
Pension Administration Manager 
at Shire Hall, Gloucester, phone 
(01452) 328866.

Complaints

In the event of a complaint 
members should contact the 
Pension Administration Manager 
at Shire Hall, Gloucester, phone 
(01452) 328866 in the first instance.

Website 

Investments and Accounting 
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/
extra/pensions/investments

Benefits and Administration 
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/
pensions

Pension Schemes Registry 
Number: 

PSR 10079170

> Risk Management
The Pension Fund maintains a 
Risk Register which is reviewed 
and reported to every Pension 
Committee and Pension Board 
meeting. Risks are rated on a 
“traffic light system” and assigned 
to a lead officer for monitoring and 
review. Controls are documented 
and further actions identified where 
necessary.

The risks associated with 
the Fund’s administration, 
management and investments are 
included in the Funding Strategy 
Statement (FSS). The risks and 
actions to manage and reduce 
them are shown within the FSS on 
pages 126 to 129 of this report.  

In addition, the Fund’s Statement 
of Investment Principles was 
superseded by the Investment 
Strategy Statement (ISS) with 
effect from 1st April 2017 and 
should be read in conjunction 
with the Fund’s Funding Strategy 
Statement (FSS). The ISS sets out 
the roles of the Fund’s investment 
managers and custodian, who 
have a responsibility for the 
management and safeguarding 
of the Pension Fund’s assets, 
as well as the requirement to 
invest money in a wide variety of 
investments. The ISS also covers 
the authority’s approach to risk, 

including the ways in which risks 
are to be measured and managed, 
as well as the approach to pooling 
investments, including the use of 
collective investment vehicles and 
shared services. The statement 
outlines the authority’s approach 
on how social, environment 
or corporate governance 
considerations are taken into 
account in the selection, non-
selection, retention and realisation 
of investments, and the authority’s 
policy on the exercise of rights 
(including voting rights) attaching 
to investments. 

Internal auditors also evaluate 
both risk and controls for the main 
areas of governance, pension 
administration and investment 
management. This includes third 
party risk and involves obtaining 
assurances from the external fund 
managers on their governance 
and administration arrangements 
as well as acquiring copies of 
their latest audited accounts and 
internal control assurance reports. 
The internal audit results then 
feed into an annual governance 
statement. 

Other Third Party Risk

The receipt and calculation of 
employer pension contributions 

is monitored monthly. Employers 
are required to complete a 
return which reconciles to the 
pension payment and verifies the 
calculation of both employee and 
employer contributions.

Other Investment Risk

The Pension Fund employs 
an Independent Investment 
Advisor to assist and advise the 
Pension Committee. Investment 
performance is reviewed by 
committee every quarter. In 
addition the Independent Advisor 
has regular in-depth meetings 
with investment managers 
to review performance and 
report back to the Pension 
Committee as appropriate. During 
2019/20 performance data was 
provided by the Brunel Pension 
Partnership and the custodian 
to the partnership, as well as 
by an independent specialist 
company, PIRC Local Authority 
Pension Performance Analytics. 
Performance is measured 
against both a customised fund 
benchmark and mandate specific 
benchmarks. 

The Investment Strategy 
Statement (ISS) contains further 
details of how the Fund controls 
risk linked to its investments.  

Page 401



14  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

There is an additional note on the 
Nature and Extent of Risks Arising 
from Financial Instruments within 
the Notes to the Accounts on 
pages 91 to 97.

In addition to the risks identified 
within the ISS, the Internal Audit, 
Risk and Assurance function 
carries out audits of the Pension 
Fund in accordance with their 
Internal Audit Plan each year. 
During 2019/20 the following 
conclusion was reached in relation 
to work carried out for the period: 

The ‘Pensions Assurance 
Statement 2019/20’ review 
identified the risks detailed 
below relevant to the 2019/20 
Annual Governance Statement. 
All of these risks were known to 
management, and appropriate 
action was being taken to address 
these risks.

- Pensions senior management 
post vacancies:

o  Position/Risk: As at May 
2020, the Head of Pensions 
post and the Finance Manager 
(Pensions) post are vacant. 

o  Mitigating action: 

•  A new Head of Pensions 
was appointed in September 
2020 and commenced 
in November 2020. The 
new Head of Pensions 
will evaluate the Finance 
Manager post.

•  Interim arrangements were 
put in place during the time 
without a Head of Pensions, 
with acting up arrangements 
and an officer support offer 
from the Director of Finance 
(line manager of the Head of 
Pensions post), the Strategic 
Finance team and input from 
the ex Head of Pensions.

•  Theme considered on 
the Risk Register (risk G5 
February 20) and to be 
updated.

- Pension Board meeting volume 
and quorum:

o  Position/Risk: The role of the 
local Pension Board is defined 
by sections 5 (1) and (2) of the 
Public Service Pensions Act 
2013. The GCC Pension Board 
met once within 2019/20 and 
this meeting was not quorate. 
The Pension Board terms of 
reference (original and updated 
versions) requires the Board 
to meet no less than twice per 
year, in order to fulfil their role.   

o  Mitigating action: Pension 
Board terms of reference 
update was completed in 
February 2020. The Pension 
Committee agreed to increase 
Board membership, update 
other criteria and mitigate the 
risk of future Board meetings 
being non quorate. New Board 
Members have now been 

appointed to take the new 
membership up to the full level 
of seven members.

o  Theme considered on the 
Risk Register (risk G7 February 
20) and to be updated.    

- Covid-19 impact on fund 
market value and Pension Fund 
operations:

o  Position/Risk: The worldwide 
Covid-19 position will have 
impact on market values and 
hence pension fund market 
values. Lockdown restrictions 
have also impacted the 
Pensions team operational 
delivery.

o  Mitigating actions:

•  Ongoing review of the 
Pension Fund performance 
position by senior 
management, Pension 
Committee and Pension 
Board. Fund value/return/
performance risks are 
reflected within the Risk 
Register (risk F February 20). 

•  Pensions section 
service management 
through a combination of 
home working and officer 
working (e.g. for pensions 
administration), which has 
supported the effective 
provision of key pension 
services up to the point of 
audit review. 

> Financial Performance
The Fund account (page 67) indicates a decrease in the net assets of the scheme available to fund benefits 
during the year of -£134.1m for 2019/20; this follows an increase of £139.3m in 2018/19. The summarised 
figures are shown in the table opposite.

Page 402



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  15

* Excludes recoverable expenditure

   2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

    £m  £m  £m  £m  £m

 Contributions and investment income *  124.3 140.0 168.3 145.7 140.7

 Realised profit/(loss)     14.1 237.9 55.9 196.4 350.3

 Less benefits and other expenses *  (82.8) (88.7) (91.8) (97.3) (106.6)

 Annual surplus/(shortfall)  55.6 289.2 132.4 244.8 384.4

 Increase/(decrease) in market value  (62.2)      96.9      18.4 (105.5) (518.5)
  of investments

 Increase/(decrease) in Fund during year  (6.6)    386.1     150.8 139.3 (134.1)

 Market Value of net assets at 31st March 1,702.5 2,088.6 2,239.4 2,378.7 2,244.6

Financial Summary  

 Fund Account 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
  Actual Actual Actual  Actual  Actual Budget

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

 Contributions:   Employers -81,156 -87,923 -112,820 -93,016 -84,158 -117,020
                          Employees -17,292 -17,625 -17,795 -18,114 -18,962 -19,234
 Transfers in -1,131 -7,100 -6,733 -6,736 -12,575 -6,855
 Bulk transfer values in - -94 - - - -
 Other income -139 -151 -143 -132 -136 -140
 Benefits payable   71,937 76,653 78,170 83,460 88,290 91,584
 Payments to and on account 165 177 297 372 372 318
 of leavers
 Transfers out 2,200 3,146 5,974 4,992 7,929 4,848
 Bulk transfer values out 1,078 338   - - - -
 Net (additions)/withdrawals -24,338 -32,579 -53,050 -29,174 -19,240 -46,499
 from dealings with members
 Investment management 6,136 6,698 5,783 6,492 7,797 7,066
 expenses
 Administration expenses  1,002 1,133 1,217 1,397 1,509 1,750
 Oversight & Governance 475 694 418 553 722 1,017
 expenses
 Investment income -24,723 -27,256 -30,849 -27,681 -25,042 -25,000
 Profit, loss and change in 48,019 -334,803 -74,344 -90,864 168,409 -56,717
 market value

 Net increase (-) / decrease 6,571 -386,113 -150,825 -139,277 134,155 -118,383
 in the Fund

Fund Account (inflows) and outflows
The following table shows the income and expenditure of the Pension Fund over the last five years together 
with an estimate for 2020/21.

Page 403



16  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

Income

During 2018/19 two long standing 
admission bodies exited the Fund 
resulting in one-off cessation deficit 
payments totalling £13.4m.  The 
2019/20 contributions therefore fell 
compared to the previous year but 
not by a corresponding amount as 
contributions increased in line with 
membership growth expectations 
and pay increases.

The 2020/21 contribution forecast 
takes account of a number of 
scheduled bodies who have 
chosen to pay one-off secondary 
contributions of £38.8m to the 
Fund in relation to their 2021/22 
and 2022/23 rates. As a result 
these bodies will benefit from a 
reduced secondary contribution 
payment which will be reflected 
in the apparent reduction in 
contribution income in 2021/22 
and 2022/23.

It was anticipated that Transfer 
Values Received would remain 

broadly constant between 2018/19 
and 2019/20. However there was 
an increase in the number of high 
value transfer values.  The 2020/21 
forecast assumes that Transfer 
Values will reduce to more normal 
levels.

Investment income fell by £2.6m 
between 2018/19 and 2019/20. 
This was primarily due to the 
transition from directly held equities 
paying dividends to pooled 
funds which retain income that is 
reflected in the market value of the 
pooled fund instead.  

Investment income for 2020/21 
is forecast to remain broadly 
consistent with 2019/20 due to 
the uncertainties surrounding the 
impact of Covid-19

Expenditure

Investment management expenses 
in 2019/20 increased by £1.3m 
in comparison to 2018/19. The 
increase arose as a result of 

three key factors, the operational 
activities of the Brunel Pension 
Partnership (BPP), the change 
in the Strategic Asset Allocation 
of the Fund and a different fee 
structure for the BPP UK equites 
mandate compared to the previous 
investment mandate held by the 
Fund.

Payments to beneficiaries 
in respect of pensions have 
increased by £4.8m from £83.5m 
in 2018/19 to £88.3m in 2019/20. 
The 2020/21 forecast figure is 
based on current expectations 
for pensioner growth during the 
period. 

Administration expenses increased 
by £0.11m during 2019/20 to 
£1.5m mainly due to an increase 
in IT costs arising from the cloud 
hosting of pension administration 
software. The 2020/21 forecast of 
administration expenses includes 
an additional £0.1m for staffing to 
facilitate increased resource for the 
Pension Administration team.  

Cash flow  

For 2019/20 the inflow of cash to the Fund continued to exceed the outflow. Details of the net cash inflow to 
the Fund for the past 5 years and a forecast for the following year are shown below:

 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
 Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Forecast

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Net cash inflow 44,783 55,028 78,433 49,929 37,755 37,716

There are a number of factors that affect the size of the net cash inflow. These factors include changes in 
the levels of retirements and pensioner numbers, contribution levels, dividend income and transfers into and 
out of the scheme. During 2019/20 one-off exit credit payments of £1.2m were due to employers leaving the 
Pension Fund whilst 18/19 contained one-off exit payments of £13.447m from employers leaving the Pension 
Fund.

Page 404



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  17

               2016/17                  2017/18                 2018/19      2019/20          2020/21
 Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
 
Administrative
costs

Staff costs 769 586 807 656 832 742  917 766 960
Premises 49 66 52 65 52 74  70 51 70
IT 192 209 317 212 319 287 406 380 400
Supplies and  220 182 205 206 256 220 240 258 260
services 
Other central costs 59 47 60 61 61 66 60 54 60
Cost of democracy  - - - - - - - - -
Other - 43 - 17 - 8 - - -

 1,289 1,133 1,441 1,217 1,520 1,397 1,693 1,509 1,750

Oversight & governance costs

Staff costs  181 189 193 175 200 169 210 165 230
Audit fees 25 24 38 20 31 18 19 25 30
Actuarial fees 213 326 214 196 210 207 300 347 400
Pension Committee/ 3 1 5 1 5 2 2 1 10
Board 
Performance  39 23 39 30 37 83 19 80 117
monitoring service
Investment  21 20 21 21 22 24 30 24 30
consultancy
Other professional 44 111 350 -25 653 50 980 80 200
fees

 526 694 860 418 1,158 553 1,560 722 1,017

Operational expenses  

The following tables show budgeted and actual figures of the three constituent parts that make up the 
operating expenses of the Pension Fund.

The increase in staffing budget in the Administration 
team between 2019/20 and 2020/21 is to facilitate 
increased resource for the Pension Administration 
team. 

Actuarial fees within Oversight & Governance contain 
actuarial expenses of £124,000 (2018/19 £126,000) 
which arose as a result of employer requests and 
was therefore recharged back to them. Net actuarial 
fees for 2019/20 were £223,000 (2018/19 £81,000). 
Additional actuarial costs were incurred in 2019/20 in 
relation to the Fund undertaking the triennial valuation 
carried out by the Fund actuary.

Page 405



18  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

             2016/17                   2017/18               2018/19              2019/20  2020/21
 Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
 
Investment 
management 
expenses

Management fees  4,913 4,953 4,562 4,586 6,500 5,342 5,800 6,731 6,346
Performance fees 775 377 578 432 - 544 - 568 -
Transaction costs - 1,228 - 656 - 428 - 367 580
Custody fees 78 118 90 101 90 176 90 131 140
Tax & legal costs - 22 - 8 - 2 - - -

 5,766 6,698 5,230 5,783 6,590 6,492 5,890 7,797 7,066

Investment management fees for some mandates 
have increased as a result of moving from passive to 
active managers and a change in the strategic asset 
allocation which resulted in increased investments 
to alternatives, particularly private equity and 
infrastructure which are subject to higher fee rates.

Transaction costs cannot be forecast in advance and 
hence are not budgeted for. 

Analysis of pension contributions 
The timeliness of employee and employer pension contributions, which should be paid to the Pension Fund 
no later than 19 days after the end of the month in which they were deducted from pay, is shown below.

Employee and Total                        On Time                                   Late
Employer
Contributions £000 £000 % £000 %

2015/16 97,000 96,600 99.60 400 0.40

2016/17 103,000 102,900 99.90 100 0.10

2017/18 128,000 127,950 99.95 50 0.05

2018/19 108,000 107,850 99.84 150 0.16

2019/20 100,913 100,671 99.76 242 0.24

In total 35 (21 2018/19) monthly payments were received late, of which 17 were received within one month, 
two were received within two months and sixteen, eleven of which were from two employers, paid within 
seven months. (2018/19, 15 received within one month one was received within two months and five, from the 
same employer, paid within seven months).

During 2019/20 the option to levy interest on overdue contributions was not exercised (2018/19 £0 was 
charged).

Page 406



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  19

Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
participates in the National 
Fraud Initiative (NFI) which is a 
biennial data matching exercise 
administered by the Cabinet Office.

Pension data was submitted 
through the web portal in 2018 
and data match reports produced 
matching:-

  Active pensioners with 
Department of Works and 
Pensions (DWP) deceased 
records, to identify cases where 
we might be continuing to pay 
someone who has died;

  Pensioners with payroll records 
for public sector bodies to identify 
cases where pensions should be 
abated; and

  Pensioners receiving an 
enhanced injury pension with 
individuals receiving relevant state 
benefits to identify cases where 
they have failed to declare relevant 
state benefits that may remove 
or reduce entitlement to the 
enhanced pension.

During the 2018 exercise Match 
reports were reviewed and 
additional information sought as 

necessary. The reports identified 
19 pensioners who had died 
where the Pensions Section had 
not been informed of their death 
and total overpayments amounted 
to £19,116.  As at August 2020 
£9,028 had been recovered. 
None of the cases identified were 
suspected of fraud.

 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
 £000  £000 £000 £000 £000

Pension overpayments b/fwd. 23.5 29.1 67.3 29.7 33.2

Pension overpayments in the current year 29.8 88.4 33.0 59.3 20.0

Overpayment recovered (24.1) (50.2) (61.1) (46.1) (34.2)

Overpayments written off (0.2) - (9.5) (9.7) (11.9)

Pension overpayments c/fwd. 29.0 67.3 29.7 33.2 7.1

Analysis of pension overpayments 

Page 407



20  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

Investment Powers 
and Duties

The powers and duties concerning 
the investment of Fund monies are 
set out in the Local Government 
Pension Scheme Management and 
Investment of Funds Regulations 
2016 (as amended) which came 
into force on the 1st November 
2016. The 2016 Regulations 
require the County Council, as 
Administering Authority for the 
Gloucestershire LGPS Fund, 
to invest any monies that are 
not immediately required to pay 
pensions and other benefits. 

The previous Regulations allowed 
a wide range of investments, 
but set certain limits; the 2016 
Regulations allows the authority to 
invest, without any restriction as to 
quantity, in any investment made 
in accordance with a scheme 
under section 11(1) of the Trustee 
Investments Act 1961. However 
the authority’s investment strategy 
must set out the maximum 
percentage of the total value of all 
investments of fund money that it 
will invest in particular investments 
or classes of investment. The 
authority’s investment strategy 
may not permit more than 5% of 
the total value of all investments 
of fund money to be invested in 
entities which are connected with 
that authority.

The Regulations require the 
County Council to have a suitably 

diversified portfolio of investments 
and must obtain the advice of 
properly qualified persons on 
investment matters. In carrying 
out these duties, the County 
Council owes a fiduciary duty to 
the contributors and beneficiaries 
of the Fund, as well as to the 
council taxpayers who ultimately 
‘guarantee’ the financing of future 
liabilities.

Investment Strategy

The Pension Committee is 
responsible for the Fund’s 
investment policy. During 2019/20 
the Committee comprised of six 
County Councillors, one District 
representative and a union 
nominated representative for staff 
/ deferred / pensioner members. 
Further details on the Pension 
Committee regarding meetings 
held and voting arrangements 
can be found in the Governance 
Compliance Statement report on 
pages 54 to 57.

The Committee determines the 
overall investment strategy for the 
Fund after receiving advice from its 
officers, independent advisor and 
appropriate external investment 
consultants. The investment 
strategy developed by the Pension 
Committee is detailed in the 
Investment Strategy Statement 
(ISS) which superseded the 
Statement of Investment Principles 
(SIP) from 1st April 2017 and can 
be found on pages 136 to 143. 

Investment Management

The objective of LGPS pension 
fund investment policy is 
to minimise the level of the 
contributions to be paid into 
the Fund by employer bodies 
to ensure its solvency. In place 
at the year-end were nine 
investment managers, Brunel 
Pension Partnership, Legal & 
General Investment Management, 
Aberdeen Standard Investments, 
BlackRock, Western Asset 
Management, Federated Hermes 
Investment Management, 
CBRE, Golub Capital Partners 
International and Arcmont 
Asset Management who each 
manage portfolios within specific 
asset categories of the Fund’s 
investments. In addition there was 
a relatively small amount invested 
in two private equity/venture 
capital funds.

Investment Policy and 
Performance Report

Page 408



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  21

Fund Performance

Primarily, State Street Global 
Services and additionally, 
PIRC Local Authority Pension 
Performance Analytics, 
measure the Fund’s investment 
performance. These companies 
provide independent performance 
measuring services for the Fund.  

To 31st March 2020 the Fund 
realised the following returns: 

For general market background 
information, the following shows 
rates of return achieved on 
representative market indices over 
the 12 months to 31st March 2020:

 Another year of global 
political uncertainty together with 
the unprecedented effects of 
Covid-19.

 The year saw the fastest ever 
decline in equity markets, albeit 
from close to record high levels, 
new lows in oil prices, much of 
the credit market becoming barely 
liquid and property and many 
alternatives difficult to value.

 Equities fared worst – funds 
with higher exposures to more 
defensive assets will have 
performed relatively well.

 Private equity performed 
strongly in the last year delivering 
returns of 12.1% to March 2020.

 Bond returns returned an 
average universe performance of 
1.7% for the year

 UK equity returns were 
the poorest of the major asset 
classes with an average universe 
performance of -18.2% for the 
year.

Local Authority Universe

For 2019/20, 61 local authority 
funds were included directly in 
the PIRC Local Authority Pension 
Performance Analytics Universe. 
The average investment return 
achieved by Local Authority 
Pension Funds within the 

The Fund’s Investment Mandate Bid Market Value
Managers are:  31st March 2020 
  £m

Investments managed by the Brunel Pension Partnership regional asset pool

Brunel Pension Partnership UK Equities 292.7
 Emerging Markets Equities 120.7
 Global High Alpha Equities 381.8
 Private Equity and Infrastructure Portfolio 12.7
Legal & General Investment  Passive Equities 477.2
Management

Investments managed outside of the Brunel Pension Partnership regional asset pool

BlackRock  Global Equities Including Emerging Markets 63.3
Aberdeen Standard Investments Global Multi Asset Absolute Return Fund  79.7

Western Asset Management Global Fixed Interest 347.7
 Global Multi Strategy Fixed Interest 173.8

Arcmont (formerly BlueBay)  UK Private Debt 30.8
Asset Management LLP

Golub Capital Partners International Overseas Private Debt 33.4

CBRE Global Property 62.4

Federated Hermes Investment UK Property Unit Trusts 142.8
Management

Technology Venture Partners Private Equity 3.7

YFM Group Private Equity 0.8

Each manager is required to have regard for the Fund’s Investment Strategy Statement and the legislative 
environment in which the Fund operates.

State Street Global Services became the Fund’s appointed global custodian in November 2017.

 Fund Strategic
 % p.a. Benchmark
  % p.a. 
 
  1 year -6.2 -4.7
  3 years 1.1 1.6
  5 years 4.2 5.1
  10 years 6.8 7.2

Page 409



22  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

Universe for 2019/20 was -4.8% 
(including property assets), placing 
Gloucestershire 45th out of the 61 
funds.

The average total fund returns for 
the average local authority funds 
are shown on the right:

Comparison of investment 
performance with other 
LGPS Funds

The Fund’s investment 
performance is compared on 
an annual basis against other 
local authority pension funds 

subscribing to PIRC Local 
Authority Pension Performance 
based on the Analytics Universe of 
61 local authority pension funds. 
The Fund performance was ranked 

45th out of 61 over one year and 
46th out of 61 over the three year 
period. Ten year performance 
placed the Gloucestershire Fund 
27th.

Investment Performance

31st March 2020 investment 
returns over 1 year, 3 years, 5 
years and since inception as 
derived from the various asset 
categories in the Gloucestershire 
Fund compared to the specific 
performance benchmark used for 
each asset class:

Average Local 
returns  Authority
over: Universe
 % 

1 year -4.8

3 years 1.9

5 years 5.2

10 years 6.9

* Performance history not available as assets not held for the entire duration of the period

                                                            Since Inception                   1 year                          3 years                          5 years 
  Fund B/mark Fund B/mark Fund B/mark Fund B/mark 
  % % % % % % % %

Asset Pool Managed 
Investments 

Equities        
UK Active*  -11.4 -10.2 -20.0 -18.5           n/a           n/a             n/a          n/a
Passive Low Carbon* -2.1 -2.0 -4.5 -4.5          n/a           n/a            n/a         n/a
Passive Smart Beta* -5.3 -5.0 -9.9 -9.7          n/a           n/a            n/a          n/a
Passive Developed*  -2.7 -5.0 -5.4 -5.4          n/a           n/a            n/a          n/a
Passive Developed Hedged* -6.6 -6.6 -10.6 -10.6          n/a           n/a            n/a          n/a
Global High Alpha* -10.5 -14.4           n/a           n/a            n/a           n/a             n/a          n/a
Emerging Markets* -17.4 -15.2           n/a           n/a            n/a           n/a             n/a          n/a

Alternatives        
Private Markets Infrastructure* 0.3 1.1 11.0 1.5          n/a            n/a           n/a          n/a
Private Markets Private Equity* 31.9 -3.9 21.1 -6.2          n/a            n/a           n/a          n/a

Non-asset Pool 
Managed Investments       

Equities        
Global 8.8 8.3 -7.8 -6.7 2.2 1.8 6.5 6.6

Fixed Interest        
Global 5.8 6.3 0.8 1.7 1.3 1.8 3.6 4.1
Global Multi Strategy 2.4 2.6 -5.5 2.8 -1.1 2.7 0.9 2.6

Property        
UK Unit Trust 6.4 4.8 1.1 0.1 6.3 5.3 7.6 6.3
Global 8.3 7.4 2.3 0.3 5.8 5.3 6.3 6.4

Alternatives        
UK Private Debt* 7.2 5.8 7.1 5.9            n/a          n/a             n/a          n/a
Overseas Private Debt* 10.8 5.8 14.4 5.9             n/a          n/a             n/a          n/a
Global Absolute Return  2.7 5.7 1.5 6.0 0.9 5.9 -0.0 5.8

The 10 year total fund performance returns are shown on page 20. Performance returns by fund manager are 
shown opposite.

Page 410



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  23

* Performance history not available as assets not held for the entire duration of the period

                 Since Inception              1 year                  3 years                 5 years 
 Mandate Benchmark Portfolio B/mark Portfolio B/mark Portfolio B/mark Portfolio B/mark 
   % % % % % % % %

Asset Pool Managed Investments

Brunel UK Active 
Equity*

FTSE All Share -11.4 -10.2 -20.0 -18.5 n/a n/a n/a n/a

Brunel Global High 
Alpha Equity*

MSCI World Total 
Return Gross

-10.5 -14.4 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Brunel Emerging 
Markets Equity*

MSCI Emerging 
Markets Total 
Return Gross

-17.4 -15.2 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Brunel Private Markets 
Infrastructure*

Consumer Price 
Index

0.3 1.1 11.0 1.5 n/a n/a n/a n/a

Brunel Private Markets 
Private Equity*

MSCI All Country 
World Index

31.9 -3.9 21.1 -6.2 n/a n/a n/a n/a

Brunel Passive Low 
Carbon*

MSCI World Low 
Carbon

-2.1 -2.0 -4.5 -4.5 n/a n/a n/a n/a

Brunel Passive Smart 
Beta*

SciBeta Multifactor 
Composite

-5.3 -5.0 -9.9 -9.7 n/a n/a n/a n/a

Brunel Passive 
Developed 
Equity*

FTSE World 
Developed

-2.7 -2.7 -5.4 -5.4 n/a n/a n/a n/a

Brunel Passive 
Developed 
Equity Hedged*

FTSE World 
Developed Hedged

-6.6 -6.6 -10.6 -10.6 n/a n/a n/a n/a

Non-asset Pool Managed Investments

Aberdeen 
Standard 

Global Absolute 
Return 

6M GBP LIBOR + 
5%

2.7 5.7 1.5 6.0 0.9 5.9 -0.0 5.8

BlackRock Global Equities MSCI All Country 
World Index

8.8 8.3 -7.8 -6.7 2.2 1.8 6.5 6.6

Western 
Asset

Global Fixed 
Interest

ICE BoAML Sterling 
Non Gilts

5.8 6.3 0.8 1.7 1.3 1.8 3.6 4.1

Western 
Asset

Global Multi 
Strategy Fixed 
Interest

3M GBP LIBOR + 
2%

2.4 2.6 -5.5 2.8 -1.1 2.7 0.9 2.6

Federated 
Hermes 
Investment

Property MSCI UK PPF 
Balanced PUT

6.4 4.8 1.1 0.1 6.3 5.3 7.6 6.3

CBRE Property MSCI All Balanced 
Property Funds 
Index

8.3 7.4 2.3 0.3 5.8 5.3 6.3 6.4

Golub 
Capital 
Partners

Private Debt* 3M GBP LIBOR 
+5%

10.8 5.8 14.4 5.9 n/a n/a n/a n/a

Arcmont Private Debt* 3M GBP LIBOR 
+5%

7.2 5.8 7.1 5.9 n/a n/a n/a n/a

Net investment performance by fund manager against benchmarks as at 31st March 2020, annualised for 1, 3 
and 5 years and since inception:

Page 411



24  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

 Strategic asset  Actual asset Actual asset
 allocation allocation as at allocation as at
 target 2019/20 31st March 2019 31st March 2020
 % % %

UK Equity 13.0 15.4 13.0
Emerging Markets 4.0 6.0 5.4
Global Equity 19.0 20.1 19.8
Global Equity Including Emerging Markets 22.5 22.0 21.3
Total Equity 58.5 63.5 59.5
Global Fixed Interest (including Index Linked 24.5 22.2 23.2 
Securities) & Global Multi Strategy Fixed Interest
UK and Global Property 7.5 8.5 9.2
Multi Asset Global Absolute Return   4.0 3.3 3.6
Cash & Venture Capital 0.0 0.6 1.0
Private Debt 3.5 1.8 2.9
Infrastructure and Private Equity 2.0 0.1 0.6

 100.0  100.0 100.0

Asset Allocation – Planned compared to actual

Significant changes during the year:

Following progress with pooling arrangements, the Strategic Asset Allocation allows for a range of allocations 
to the various Brunel PP investment portfolios, as agreed by the Committee. The following identifies the 
various allocation ranges of which management can work within in consultation with the Independent Advisor 
to the Fund.

Active Equities    

UK Equities 12.0 10.0 to 14.0
Global High Alpha Equities 13.0 11.0 to 15.0
Emerging Market Equities 6.5 5.0 to 8.0
Sustainable Global Equities 2.0 1.0 to 3.0

Passive Equities  
Developed Equities 10.0 7.0 to 13.0
Low Carbon Equities 2.0 1.0 to 3.0
Smart Beta Equities 9.5 8.0 to 11.0

TOTAL EQUITIES 55.0

Brunel Portfolio   New Agreed Allocation Agreed Target Allocation
 from 1st April 2020    Range from 1st April 2020
 % %

continued...

Page 412



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  25

Fixed Interest  

UK Investment Grade 14.5 13.0 to 16.0
Multi Asset Credit 7.5 6.5 to 8.5

TOTAL FIXED INTEREST 22.0   

Alternatives  

Property 10.0  8.0 to 12.0
Private Debt 5.0 4.0 to 6.0
Infrastructure 5.0 4.0 to 6.0
Private Equity 3.0 2.0 to 4.0

TOTAL ALTERNATIVES 23.0   

TOTAL ALL 100.0 

Brunel Portfolio   New Agreed Allocation Agreed Target Allocation
 from 1st April 2020    Range from 1st April 2020
 % %

As at 31st March 2020 the 
scheme assets were invested 
in a diversified portfolio that 
consisted primarily of equity and 
debt securities. The majority of 
the equities held by the scheme 
are in international blue chip 
entities as included in the FTSE 
and MSCI Indices. The aim is to 
hold a globally diversified portfolio 
of equities with a small allocation 
to higher risk markets, such as 
Emerging Markets, to maintain a 
wide range of diversification and to 
improve return opportunities.  

Annual Responsible 
Investment Update

Over time, the Brunel Pension 
Partnership will manage the 
investment of the Fund assets 
of the Gloucestershire Fund, in 
conjunction with nine other funds 
in the South West of England. 
As such, Brunel will own and 
maintain a Responsible Investment 
(RI) and Stewardship Policy on 
behalf of their clients, which 
will be implemented and the 
performance of asset managers 
will be monitored. Further details 
of the RI and Stewardship 
Policy can be found on the 
Brunel website https://www.

brunelpensionpartnership.org/
responsible-investment/.

During 2019/20, Brunel 
continued to develop policies to 
guide its appointed investment 
managers with respect to 
voting, engagement and RI 
more generally. Brunel’s policy 
is informed by its investment 
beliefs and its clients’ policies and 
priorities together with regulations 
and statutory guidance and are 
aligned with best practice. Brunel’s 
engagement objectives are linked 
to seven priority themes:

1. Climate Change

2. UK Policy Framework

3. Diversity & Inclusion

4. Human Capital

5. Cost and Tax Transparency

6. Cyber Security

7. Supply Chain Management

Federated Hermes

Federated Hermes (formerly 
Hermes EOS), who are the Brunel 
Pension Partnership’s engagement 
partner, are a leading stewardship 
provider with a focus on achieving 

positive change. Their dedicated 
team of engagement and voting 
specialists enable pension funds 
such as Gloucestershire and the 
wider Brunel pool to achieve their 
fiduciary responsibilities and be 
more active owners of companies.

Federated Hermes focuses on 
greater sustainability in outcomes 
for society, in the interests of 
ultimate beneficiaries, through 
improved long-term returns on 
investment.

The following sections summarise 
the work of Brunel, together 
with their engagement provider, 
Federated Hermes, across areas 
including voting, engagement and 
environmental and carbon analysis 
during 2019/20.

Engagement

Brunel Pension Partnership 
believes it is essential that they 
take an active and responsible 
approach to identifying risks and 
opportunities within investment 
portfolios. As such, Brunel set 
engagement objectives linked to 
the priority themes highlighted 
above and provide all of their 
clients with quarterly and annual 

Page 413



26  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

updates relating to the work of both Brunel and their 
appointed asset managers activities. 

During 2019/20, Brunel’s proxy voting and 
engagement provider, Federated Hermes, engaged 
with 867 Brunel held companies (2018/19 746) 
covering 1,081 (2018/19 2,084) identified objectives 
and issues (see chart below). Progress of at least one 
milestone was moved forward for 52% of objectives 
during the year (2018/19 44%).

Engagement undertaken on behalf of Brunel by Federated Hermes

Voting

Brunel Pension Partnership, on behalf of its 
clients, have developed a single voting policy 
for all assets managed by Brunel in the various 
mandates, articulated in their Stewardship Policy 
which is available on the company website. The 
implementation of Brunel’s voting policy which is 
published in their Stewardship Policy is supported by 
Federated Hermes. Voting decisions are informed by 
investment consideration, consultation with portfolio 
managers, clients, other institutional investors 
and Brunel’s engagement with companies. Brunel 
maintains quarterly voting records which are publically 
available. 

With respect to Gloucestershire’s holdings, 
during 2019/20 Federated Hermes made voting 
recommendations at 299 meetings (18/19 34) 
covering 4,017 resolutions (18/19 529). At 125 
(18/19 17) of those meetings Federated Hermes 
recommended opposing one or more resolutions. 
The majority of resolutions where Federated Hermes 
recommended voting against management related to 
Board Structure and Remuneration. 

182 156

110 111

184 171

87 80

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400

Environmental

Social & ethical

Governance

Strategy, risk &
communication

No change

Source: Brunel Pension Partnership 2020 Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes for the year ending 31st December 2019 

Positive progress (engagement moved forward at 
least one milestone during the year to date)

Please note this does not include engagement undertaken directly by Brunel.

Page 414



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  27

Scheme Administration

Administration 
Arrangements

The Pensions Administration 
team is responsible for the 
scheme member and pensioner 
administration of the Fund.  
Members of the Pensions Finance 
team provide support to the 
Pension Committee including 
the production of management 
information and reports. In 
addition employers are responsible 
for ensuring that member and 
employer contributions are 
deducted at the correct rate 
and member data is sent to the 
Pensions Administration team.  

To enable assurances to be 
obtained as to the effective and 
efficient operation of the Fund’s 
investments, performance is 
benchmarked on an annual basis 
against other local authority 
pension funds subscribing to the 
PIRC Local Authority Pension 
Performance Analytics’ Universe 
of 61 local authority pension 
funds. Internal controls are also in 
place to support the reliability and 
integrity of financial information 
and the Fund is subject to internal 
and external audit.

Staff contact details can be found 
on page 12 together with the 
Fund’s web addresses which 
contain detailed documents and 
information on the following areas: 

 The Pension Fund’s policy 
statements.

 The actuary’s triennial valuation 
report at March 2007, March 
2010, March 2013, March 2016 
and March 2019.

 Annual reports from 2009/10 to 
the present.

 Independent Auditor’s 
Consistency Report

 Business Plan

 Funding Strategy Statements

 Investment Strategy Statement

 Pension Board Report

 A range of guides for scheme 
members in “booklet” form 
covering different topics.

 Online copies of the various 
forms members may wish to use 
in connection with their scheme 
membership.

 Updates on latest developments 
affecting the pension scheme.

 Information on the Annual 
Benefit Statements.

 Administration Staff contact 
details

 Employer pages, providing 
an Employer’s Administration 
Guide and associated forms/
documentation together with 
other relevant information.

The Pension Fund’s web pages 
also contain links to the National 
LGPS Member website and 
the Brunel Pension Partnership 
website, the Fund’s pool asset 
manager who will eventually 
manage all the Fund’s investments 
although responsibility for asset 
allocation will remain with the 
Pension Committee.

Value for money statement

The Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
strives to deliver value for money 
services to all of the members 
and employers within the Fund. In 
order to demonstrate the efficiency 
and effectiveness of the services 
provided we collect data on key 

service related performance 
indicators and cost data which is 
used for comparisons over time 
and comparisons with other Funds 
where possible.

The key data to confirm value for 
money is set out on the following 
pages, but in summary this data 
confirms that the Gloucestershire 
Fund continues to deliver a good 
quality, value for money service 
which meets the expectations of 
members of the fund.

From the performance data on 
pages 27 to 28 it can be seen 
that during 2019/20, across the 
majority of indicators, performance 
has improved slightly between 
2018/19 and 2019/20, with 
performance against four of the 
six indicators being on or above 
target in 2019/20, whilst all of 
the Annual Benefits Statements 
were issued to members by the 
statutory deadline. Although the 
performance against the remaining 
two indicators has fallen, it should 
be noted that the number of 
items processed have increased 
significantly in relation to four of the 
five processing areas.

Whilst some areas remain lower 
than the performance levels 
achieved under the pre April 
2014 scheme, it is evident that 
the investment in additional 
staff has had a positive impact 
on administration; allowing 
management to clearly target the 
complex areas of the scheme 
and ensure a high quality service 
continues to be delivered to 
members. The 2020/21 budget 
allows for the recruitment of two 
additional pension administration 
officers which the Fund hopes 
will support the improvement of 
service delivery and performance 
indicators further.

Page 415



28  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

> Summary of activity

Key Tasks Performance Information 

The Pension Fund has a number of local performance targets which are included within the Pension 
Administration Strategy report, and are detailed in the tables below. These tables show the levels of 
achievement for the last five years for the key tasks delivered by the Pension Fund.

 Activity Target 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

 Annual Benefit Statements  31/08/16 31/08/17 31/08/18 31/08/19  31/08/20
 sent by statutory deadline:
  100% 100%* 100%* 100%* 100%* 100%*

 Provide retirement estimates within 15 working days   

 Total completed  693 669 571 651 739
 Completed on time  228 442 485 587 724
 Achievement 90% 32.9% 66.1% 84.9% 90.2% 98.0%

 Pay retirement grants within 15 working days 

 Total completed  650 807 768 858 983
 Completed on time  151 285 575 592 603
 Achievement 90% 23.2% 35.3% 74.9% 69% 61.3%

 Pay death grants within 8 working days

 Total completed  55 59 61 79 76
 Completed on time  6 32 45 65 51
 Achievement 90% 10.9% 54.2% 73.8% 82% 67.1%

   2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

   % % % % %

 Pension contributions paid on or before   99.60 99.90 99.95 99.84 99.76
 the due date

 Employers providing the Pension Fund with  78.5 81.2 79.7 81.0 90.2
 a copy of their discretions policy document 
 (184 out of 204)
 Provision of named pensions contacts for   100 100 100 100 100
 the employer

* Where the year-end return has been received from the employer and 
a definitive match made to the Pensions Administration records

Page 416



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  29

Results from employer satisfaction survey 

The Fund also carries out an annual employer satisfaction survey to measure the level of benefit/improved 
understanding employers derive from attending the employers’ forums and when contacting the Pensions 
section. 

% of employers completing the survey who agreed with the following statements: 

  2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
  % % % % %

 The forums had raised their understanding  100 100 100 100 *
 of current pension issues 
 Employers who felt that what they had 
 learned at the Forum and from the Pensions 89 100 100 100 *
 office would help them in their role as a
 pension fund employer 
 Where I have contacted the Pensions office 
 regarding a pension related issue, I am  93 100 100 100 *
 satisfied with the assistance given in relation 
 to the query raised

Type of complaint 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

System error - - - - -
Staff error - - - 2 1
Staff attitude - - - - -
Total - - - 2 1
Total as % of workload 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Complaints received

 Activity Target 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

 Pay refunds within 15 working days 

 Total completed  n/a 290 448 620 649
 Completed on time  n/a 203 429 609 641
 Achievement 90% n/a 70% 95.8% 98.2% 98.8%

 Pay transfer values within 15 working days

 Total completed  n/a 71 132 147 194
 Completed on time  n/a 55 122 144 192
 Achievement 90% n/a 77.5% 92.4% 98% 99.0%

* Due to Covid-19 no employer’s forum took place. 

Page 417



30  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

The management fees disclosed 
above include investment 
management fees directly 
incurred by the Fund i.e. including 
those charged on pooled fund 
investments which tend to be 
deducted from the market value 
of the investments rather than 
invoiced to the Fund. In addition 
to these costs, indirect costs are 
incurred through the bid-offer 
spread on investments sales and 
purchases. These are reflected in 
the cost of investment acquisitions 
and in the proceeds from the sales 
of investments.

Benchmarking 

The Pension Fund submits 
data (SF3 submission) on an 
annual basis to the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities & Local 
Government (MHCLG). This 
information provides a benchmark 

on the administration and fund 
management of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme 
and is also used in compiling the 
National Accounts and to show 
the role of pension funds in the 
economy. The SF3 submission 
is subjected to a strict validation 
by MHCLG and any significant 
variances are investigated.

Please find detailed opposite 
the results of the benchmarking 
obtained from that submission, 
comparing the average cost 
per scheme member of the 
Gloucestershire Fund to the 
average cost per scheme member 
of all funds in England and Wales.

The results show that the average 
cost per scheme member of the 
Gloucestershire Fund has been 
consistently lower than the average 
of all funds in England and Wales.

> Financial Indicators

Unit Costs per Member

  2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

 Investment Management Expenses   

 Total Costs £000 6,136 6,698 5,783 6,492 7,797
 Total Membership Numbers 55,891 58,465 59,768 60,134 60,417
 Cost per member £ 109.78 114.56 96.75 107.96 129.05

 Administration Expenses 

 Total Costs £000 1,002 1,133 1,217 1,397 1,509
 Total Membership Numbers 55,891 58,465 59,768 60,134 60,417
 Cost per member £ 17.93 19.38 20.36 23.23 24.98

 Oversight and Governance 

 Total Costs £000 475 694 418 553 722

 Total Membership Numbers 55,891 58,465 59,768 60,134 60,417 

 Cost per member £ 8.50 11.87 6.99 9.20 11.95

 Total cost per member £ 136.21 145.81 124.10 140.39 165.98

Page 418



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  31

 Number of full time equivalent  10.8 11.8 14.9 14.6 14.9
 Pension Fund staff

 Total fund membership  55,891 58,465 59,768 60,134 60,417

 Number of fund members to one 5,175 4,954 4,011 4,119 4,055
 member of administration staff

  2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Staffing Indicators 

The table below shows the number of staff over the last five years in the Pensions Administration Team 
working exclusively on local government pension scheme benefits.

Other activities 
undertaken in 2019/20

In addition to the routine tasks 
detailed on pages 27 and 28, 
a number of significant one-off 
projects were delivered by the 
administration section of the Fund, 
as summarised below.

Formal Pension Fund Valuation 
at 31st March 2019

The LGPS Regulations require 
that the Fund is independently 
valued every 3 years, with a formal 
valuation being required of the 
Fund at 31st March 2019. The 

Gloucestershire Pensions staff 
completed this major exercise 
accurately and efficiently and were 
able to provide the fund actuary 
with all required information within 
the agreed timescales.

Migration of computerised 
Pension Administration system 
to a “Hosted” service

Following the award in 2018/2019 
of a contract with the Pensions 
Administration software supplier to 
provide the system in a “hosted” 
environment provided by the 
system supplier, the system was 
successfully migrated and went 

live in October 2019. This has 
provided substantially improved 
system support and disaster 
recovery resilience.

  2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
  £ £ £ £ £

 Administration costs per scheme member   

 Gloucestershire County Council 22.77 26.61 32.28 27.94 32.92
 All Authorities 25.19 29.80 30.24 29.80 32.68  

 Fund management costs per scheme member  

 Gloucestershire County Council 118.46 121.33 127.77 107.80 117.08
 All Authorities 144.65 148.49 155.06 175.44 189.59

 Total Administration and Fund management costs per scheme member 

 Gloucestershire County Council 141.23 147.94 160.05 135.74 150.00
 All Authorities 169.84 178.29 185.30 205.24 222.27

Page 419



32  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

> Other information
Membership Summary

 Contributors 18,630 +1.91 18,986 -0.82 18,830 +0.74 18,969 +0.80 19,121

 Pensioners 14,207 +3.47 14,700 +4.44 15,353 +4.59 16,058 +3.42 16,607

 Deferred 18,149 +3.25 18,738 +3.87 19,463 +4.90 20,417 -1.19 20,173
 pensioners

  50,986 +2.82 52,424 +2.33 53,646 +3.35 55,444 +0.82 55,901

 Undecided/ 4,905 +23.16 6,041 +1.34 6,122 -23.39 4,690 -3.71 4,516
 unprocessed
 leavers

  55,891 +4.61 58,465 +2.23 59,768 +0.61 60,134 +0.47 60,417

Deferred pensioners are former employees who have not transferred their pension rights and to whom benefits will be paid, from their 
eligible retirement date.

Undecided leavers are those members who are no longer accruing service and to whom a refund of contributions or transfer out may 
be due.

Unprocessed leavers are those members which represent cases where we are aware that a member has left, but that case has not 
yet been processed. These cases (once processed) could end up becoming Undecided Leavers or Deferred’s (depending on length of 
membership) or indeed could end up being aggregated with another record the member may hold, in which case the particular record 
itself would be deleted.

  2015/16 % 2016/17 %  2017/18 %  2018/19 %  2019/20
   diff  diff  diff  diff

Page 420



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  33

The following gives an age profile of fund members.

 Gender Category Age Active Deferred Pensioner Widow(er)/ 
      Dependant

 F under 15 0 0 0 23
 M under 15 0 0 0 17
 F 15 to 19 102 1 0 17
 M 15 to 19 48 0 0 18
 F 20 to 24 532 89 0 8
 M 20 to 24 217 64 0 23
 F 25 to 29 886 665 0 6
 M 25 to 29 348 387 0 2
 F 30 to 34 1,186 1,173 0 0
 M 30 to 34 333 531 0 1
 F 35 to 39 1,535 1,543 1 0
 M 35 to 39 324 571 0 1
 F 40 to 44 1,951 1,715 2 3
 M 40 to 44 335 490 0 5
 F 45 to 49 2,609 2,488 9 8
 M 45 to 49 403 571 6 10
 F 50 to 54 2,879 3,300 40 23
 M 50 to 54 541 740 16 28
 F 55 to 59 2,286 2,986 459 33
 M 55 to 59 557 689 156 56
 F 60 to 64 1,230 1,472 1,732 87
 M 60 to 64 370 373 592 94
 F 65 to 69 248 192 2,827 105
 M 65 to 69 123 62 1,168 95
 F 70 to 74 53 46 2,302 163
 M 70 to 74 25 19 1,171 101
 F 75 to 79 0 2 1,300 214
 M 75 to 79 0 4 766 105
 F 80 to 84 0 0 740 223
 M 80 to 84 0 0 470 103
 F 85 to 89 0 0 348 197
 M 85 to 89 0 0 243 54
 F 90 to 94 0 0 132 109
 M 90 to 94 0 0 86 18
 F 95 to 99 0 0 32 38
 M 95 to 99 0 0 11 0
 F 100 to 104 0 0 4 4
 M 100 to 104 0 0 1 0
 F 105 to 109 0 0 0 1

 Total Members    55,901 19,121 20,173 14,614 1,993

Page 421



34  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

Employer Summary

Please find listed opposite a summary of the number 
of employers in the Fund as at 31st March 2020 
analysed by scheduled bodies and admitted bodies 
which are active (with active members) and ceased 
(no active members but some outstanding liabilities) 
during the year.  

 Active Ceased Total

Scheduled bodies 165 16 181

Admitted bodies 39 39 78

Total 204 55 259

Employee Contributions

Employee contributions are 
prescribed by statute and are based 
on pay bands. The pay bands and 
rates applicable from April 2019 are 
detailed opposite:

Whilst these same rates will apply 
to the 2020/21 financial year, the 
pensionable pay banding levels 
have increased slightly. Employees 
can opt to pay 50% of the relevant 
contribution rate to accrue 50% of 
the normal pension.

 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Normal retirement 156 196 195 205 186
Early retirement* 438 502 544 618 683
Ill-health retirement** 22 31 26 32 27
 616 729 765 855 896

Analysis of new pensioners

Please find detailed below a breakdown of new pensioners split into the various types of retirement: 

*Early retirements are made up of employees who, on being made redundant and over the age of 55, were entitled to their accrued 
pension rights plus those employees over 55 who elected to receive their pension benefits before their normal retirement age, incurring 
a reduction in their pension benefits to reflect early payment (there are some exclusions to this rule).

**Ill-health retirements relate to those members of staff, and former members of staff with deferred benefits, deemed permanently 
incapable of continuing in the employment the member was engaged in due to medical reasons and not immediately capable of 
undertaking any gainful employment in the future.  

Pensionable Pay Employee Contribution Rate
 % 

Up to £14,400  5.5
£14,401 to £22,500  5.8
£22,501 to £36,500  6.5
£36,501 to £46,200 6.8
£46,201 to £64,600  8.5
£64,601 to £91,500  9.9
£91,501 to £107,700 10.5
£107,701 to £161,500 11.4
More than £161,501  12.5

Employer Contributions

Employer contributions are assessed every three 
years by the Scheme Actuary. The contributions are 
required to be sufficient to maintain the long-term 
solvency of the Fund. 

The results of the most recent actuarial valuation of 
the Fund, as at 31st March 2019, were announced in 
March 2020 and set the employers’ contribution rates 
payable in each of the three years commencing 1st 
April 2020. The next actuarial valuation is due as at 
31st March 2022, which will prescribe the employer 
rates from 1st April 2023.

The table opposite summarises the whole fund 
Primary and Secondary Contribution rates at the 
2019 valuation. Primary rates relate to future service 
liabilities whilst the secondary rate relates to past 
service deficit payments. The Primary rate is the 
payroll weighted average of the underlying individual 
employer primary rates and the Secondary rate 
is the total of the underlying individual employer 
secondary rates calculated in accordance with the 
Regulations and the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance & Accountancy (CIPFA) guidance. The whole 
fund Primary and Secondary contributions calculated 
at the 2016 valuation of the Fund are shown for 
comparison.

Page 422



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  35

Further information regarding the valuation and the 
scheme’s funding position is included in the Actuarial 
Report on Fund on pages 46 to 47.

Details of benefits payable under the LGPS and how 
they are calculated are contained in a scheme booklet 
that is issued to new employees. A general guide to 
the benefits payable is contained on page 146 of this 
report. In accordance with the Pensions (Increase) Act 
1971 pensions payable are increased in relation to the 
movement in the Consumer Price Index.

Participating Employers and 
Contributions Receivable

A list of the Fund’s participating and contributing 
employers is shown below. The Rates & Adjustment 
Certificate showing each individual employer’s 
contribution rate, as agreed with the Scheme Actuary, 
for the period 1st April 2020 to 31st March 2023 may 
be found on pages 48 to 52.

* including schools

 Last Valuation This Valuation
 31st March 2016 31st March 2019

Primary Rate (% of pay) 19.6% 20.9%

Secondary Rate (£) 2017/18 32,487,000 2020/21 30,652,000

 2018/19 36,638,000 2021/22 26,850,000

 2019/20 40,905,000 2022/23 24,353,000

2019/20 Contributions  Employer  Employee  Total
 Contributions Contributions
 
 
Administering Authority    

Gloucestershire County Council*                            37,791,411 8,695,026 46,486,437

Scheduled Bodies    

Cheltenham Borough Council            1,217,491 451,333 1,668,824
Cotswold District Council  1,983,194 60,630 2,043,824
Forest of Dean District Council  77,319 30,907 108,226
Gloucester City Council  4,452,939 364,477 4,817,416
Stroud District Council  1,689,670 624,709 2,314,379
Tewkesbury Borough Council  3,055,280 375,727 3,431,007
Cotswolds Conservation Board  87,685 26,992 114,677
Cheltenham Borough Homes  898,813 356,379 1,255,192
Farmors Sport Centre Limited  5,030 792 5,822
Sir William Romney Leisure Limited 4,725 695 5,420
Police and Crime Commissioner for Gloucestershire  5,698,315 1,562,791 7,261,106
Lower Severn Drainage Board  141,412 24,689 166,101
Parish and Town Councils (pooled)  547,616 139,158 686,774
University of Gloucestershire  4,815,770 1,033,918 5,849,688
Cirencester College  593,103 121,760 714,863
Gloucestershire College  1,704,223 351,530 2,055,753
Hartpury University  1,766,066 492,674 2,258,740 

Academies    
Abbey View CCT  20,600 4,695 25,295
All Saints  288,425 51,069 339,494
Balcarras School  316,897 68,202 385,099
Holmleigh Park High School (formerly Beaufort Academy)  319,853 54,983 374,836
Berkeley Primary  67,351 13,131 80,482
Berkeley UTC Academy  40,246 10,566 50,812

continued...

Page 423



36  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

2019/20 Contributions  Employer  Employee  Total
 Contributions Contributions
 

Academies (continued)   
Bibury C of E Primary Academy 17,958 3,543 21,501
Bishops Cleeve Primary  168,374 38,170 206,544
Blockley Primary Academy  44,026 8,838 52,864
Bourton On The Water  90,987 19,688 110,675
Brockworth Primary 91,223 22,066 113,289
Cam Woodfield Junior Academy 43,002 9,096 52,098
Charlton Kings Infants School  89,061 19,403 108,464
Charlton Kings Junior School  76,613 14,157 90,770
Cheltenham Bournside School  364,627 72,024 436,651
Chesterton Primary Academy 97,147 21,944 119,091
Chipping Campden School  271,561 56,741 328,302
Chosen Hill School  254,005 50,035 304,040
Christ Church C of E  71,267 16,295 87,562
Churchdown School  318,369 61,142 379,511
Churchdown Village Infants  71,794 16,494 88,288
Cirencester Deer Park School  281,785 62,311 344,096
Cirencester Kingshill School  200,964 45,792 246,756
Clearwater Primary Academy  20,247 5,713 25,960
Cleeve School  286,278 60,460 346,738
Coaley C of E Primary Academy  13,201 3,130 16,331
Cotswold School  301,329 66,877 368,206
Crypt School  162,876 39,143 202,019
Dene Magna School  253,247 49,214 302,461
Denmark Road High School (formerly High School  172,651 31,034 203,685
for Girls)
Diocese of Gloucester Academies Trust  44,852 21,420 66,272
Dursley Primary  107,833 21,880 129,713
Farmors Academy  167,632 34,950 202,582
Field Court C of E Infant School  122,636 26,773 149,409
Field Court C of E Junior School  75,429 14,776 90,205
Five Acres High School Academy  233,324 46,118 279,442
Forest High School  91,994 16,853 108,847
Forest View Primary  113,855 20,812 134,667
Gloucester Academy  212,712 43,044 255,756
Gotherington Primary School  54,217 7,582 61,799
Grange Primary Academy 110,066 21,900 131,966
Gretton Primary School  20,010 4,235 24,245
Hardwicke Primary School  182,985 22,533 205,518
Hartpury C of E Primary Academy 21,759 3,604 25,363
Henley Bank High School (Formerly Millbrook Academy)  135,427 30,095 165,522
Highnam C of E Primary School  44,911 10,358 55,269
Katherine Lady Berkeley School  324,471 63,840 388,311
Kemble Primary Academy 26,027 7,580 33,607
Lakefield Primary Academy  70,114 14,134 84,248
Longford Park Primary Academy  39,004 10,648 49,652
Longney C of E Primary Academy  31,308 5,403 36,711
Marling School  206,158 48,357 254,515
Milestone Academy 726,136 134,083 860,219
Minchinhampton Academy  59,908 14,506 74,414
Mitton Manor Primary Academy  51,016 9,926 60,942

continued...

Page 424



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  37

2019/20 Contributions  Employer  Employee  Total
 Contributions Contributions
 
Academies (continued)   

Moat Primary Academy  72,844 14,887 87,731
Newent Com School  207,933 43,393 251,326
North Cerney C of E Primary Academy  17,926 3,208 21,134
Offas Mead Primary 44,768 8,229 52,997
Paternoster Academy 99,637 18,407 118,044
Pates School  262,335 63,518 325,853
Peak Academy 70,757 14,657 85,414
Primrose Hill Academy  61,186 10,478 71,664
Redmarley C of E School  16,842 3,205 20,047
Ribston Hall School  183,441 40,878 224,319
Robinswood Primary School  336,914 78,623 415,537
Rosary Catholic Primary School  58,317 11,209 69,526
Rowanfield Infant School 70,012 14,108 84,120
Rowanfield Junior School  123,749 27,144 150,893
Severnbanks Primary  83,460 15,422 98,882
Severn Vale School  285,696 58,940 344,636
Severn View Primary 45,834 7,892 53,726
Siddington C of E Primary Academy 27,583 6,051 33,634
Sir Thomas Rich’s  School  192,116 38,704 230,820
Sir William Romney’s School  142,400 28,398 170,798
South Glos & Stroud Academy Trust  32,513 9,231 41,744
Springbank Primary  144,728 33,976 178,704
St James Primary Academy  110,206 18,949 129,155
St Davids Primary  72,757 16,802 89,559
St Dominics Catholic Primary School 21,023 3,516 24,539
St Johns C of E Primary  53,686 8,875 62,561
St Lawrence Academy  49,449 14,965 64,414
St Mary’s Catholic Primary School  63,552 14,477 78,029
St Matthews C of E Primary Academy 41,535 7,540 49,075
St Peter’s Catholic High School  417,236 82,965 500,201
Staunton and Corse C of E School  29,568 5,830 35,398
Stone with Woodford C of E Academy  27,345 4,449 31,794
Stroud High School  209,736 45,045 254,781
Tewkesbury School  321,180 66,392 387,572
The Dean Academy  254,908 43,546 298,454
The Ridge Academy  92,687 20,649 113,336
Thomas Keble School  204,422 41,822 246,244
Tredworth Infant and Nursery Academy  97,082 19,161 116,243
Whiteshill Primary Academy  23,648 4,644 28,292
Winchcombe School  144,544 26,882 171,426
Winchcombe Abbey  77,053 16,419 93,472
Wyedean School  302,048 51,127 353,175 

                                               42,023,055 8,735,140 50,758,195 

continued...

Page 425



38  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

2019/20 Contributions  Employer  Employee  Total
 Contributions Contributions
 
Admitted Bodies   

Adoption West 98,812 27,395 126,207
AMEY (Highways)  1,383 333 1,716
APCOA  9,868 2,332 12,200
Aspire Sports and Cultural Trust  72,059 31,829 103,888
Aspens (Denmark Road) 8,751 1,561 10,312
Aspens Catering (Farmors)  13,903 2,546 16,449
Atkins 15,403 4,912 20,315
Barnardos FOD and Stroud     4,931 1,138 6,069
Barnardos Gloucester      29,805 7,304 37,109
Brandon Trust  22,105 6,014 28,119
Carers Glos. Parent Partnership  726 167 893
Caterlink (Gloucester Academy) 29,489 5,684 35,173
Cheltenham Trust  140,407 35,238 175,645
Civica UK Ltd  200,365 44,101 244,466
Civica UK Ltd - Glos City IT  10,945 1,697 12,642
Cotswold Archaeological Trust  161,160 41,224 202,384
Enterprise (Accord Operations Ltd)  150,238 46,806 197,044
Gardners Lane & Oakwood (Chelt. & Tewks)  114,509 34,485 148,994
Gloucester City Homes   371,579 112,738 484,317
Gloucestershire Airport  446,226 21,968 468,194
Gloucestershire Health & Care NHS Foundation  62,735 16,611 79,346
Gloucestershire Group Homes  106,266 13,570 119,836
Glos Rural Com Council  4,579 978 5,557
INTO University Partnerships  5,655 1,081 6,736
The Orders of St John Care Trust  112,751 14,835 127,586
Places for People  26,121 9,700 35,821
Prospects Youth Service  454,285 145,033 599,318
Publica (Cotswold)  869,376 356,845 1,226,221
Publica (Forest)  460,267 189,030 649,297
Publica (Forest) Revenue & Benefits 49,512 16,148 65,660
Ridge Crest Cleaning (Farmors)    3,611 752 4,363
Ringway Infrastructure Services 79,201 19,328 98,529
Skanska (GCC Street Lighting)   529 143 672
Sport & Leisure Management  106,895 27,519 134,414
Stroud Court Community Trust  68,791 18,494 87,285
Stroud Subscription Rooms 10,210 2,793 13,003
Tinies UK (Glos College)  38,853 9,216 48,069
Two Rivers Housing  208,386 91,107 299,493
UBICO LTD (Chelt BC)  372,714 100,957 473,671
UBICO LTD (Cots DC)  16,128 4,727 20,855
UBICO LTD (FODDC)  28,815 7,066 35,881
UBICO LTD (Tewks BC)  456,570 33,981 490,551
Wealdon Leisure (FODDC)  93,040 22,720 115,760

                              5,537,954 1,532,106 7,070,060

Section 75 Debt (cessation of employer)  -1,194,500 - -1,194,500

Total contributions                    84,157,920 18,962,272 **103,120,192 

**   includes ill health and early retirement contributions totalling £2.2m.
Some of the employers will include accruals for contributions due but not received as at 31st March 2020.

Page 426



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  39

Subject    Number of Requests

Alternative investments    12
Subject access request    2
Voting records    2
Investments in fossil fuels     2
Currency transactions    1
Holdings in Capital Group    1
Assets held    1
    21

The Fund’s Internal 
Disputes Resolution 
Procedure (I.D.R.P.) 

Although the majority of problems 
relating to members benefits 
are normally the result of 
misunderstandings or incorrect 
information and can be dealt with 
informally, the LGPS Regulations 
provide a formal complaint 
procedure known as the Internal 
Dispute Resolution Procedure. 
This formal process consists of 
two stages, as detailed below, 
although many of the complaints 
are resolved during the first stage.

Stage 1

 In the first instance you should 
write to the person nominated by 
the body who made the decision 
about which you wish to appeal. 
You must do this within six months 
of the date of the notification of 
the decision or the act or omission 
about which you are complaining 
(or such longer period as the 
nominated person considers 
reasonable). This is a formal review 
of the initial decision or act or 
omission and is an opportunity for 
the matter to be reconsidered. The 
nominated person will consider 
your complaint and notify you of 
his or her decision.

Stage 2

 If you are dissatisfied with that 
person’s decision, (or their failure 
to make a decision) you may 
apply to the Fund’s administering 
authority to have it reconsidered.

The Pensions Section can tell you 
who your employer’s nominated 
person is and supply you with a 
more detailed leaflet on the Internal 
Disputes Resolution Procedure 
and relevant time limits together 
with a form to fill in or you can ask 
your employer.

The Pensions Advisory 
Service (TPAS)

TPAS is available at any time to 
assist members and beneficiaries 
of the scheme in connection 
with any pension query they may 
have or any difficulty which they 
cannot resolve with the scheme 
administrator. Information can be 
found on the TPAS website at 
www.pensionsadvisoryservice.org.
uk or they can be contacted on 
0800 011 3797.

Pensions Ombudsman

In cases where a complaint or 
dispute has not been satisfactorily 
resolved through the Internal 

Disputes Resolution Procedure, 
or with the help of TPAS, an 
application can be made to the 
Pensions Ombudsman within three 
years of the event that gave rise 
to the complaint or dispute or, if 
later, within three years of when 
the individual first knew about it 
(or ought to have known about 
it). There is discretion in certain 
instances for the time limit to be 
extended.  

The Pensions Ombudsman’s 
website can be found at www.
pensions-ombudsman.org.uk or 
they can be contacted on 0800 
917 4487.  

More detailed information can be 
found on the pages of the Pension 
Section’s website by using the 
following link www.gloucestershire.
gov.uk/pensions. Alternatively, you 
can contact the Pensions Section 
by telephoning (01452) 328888. 

Details of scheme member 
appeals during 2019/2020 are as 
follows:

There was one Stage 1 IDRP 
appeal against the Fund during 
2019/2020. The independent 
appointed person upheld only part 
of the member’s complaint.

Summary of Freedom of Information Requests received during 2019/20

Page 427



40  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

Pensions Administration 
Strategy 

Introduction & Purpose

It is recognised by the Secretary 
of State that for the administration 
of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) to be improved 
and costs reduced, Employers 
and Administering Authorities must 
co-operate closely and provide 
sufficient resource to ensure that 
their statutory obligations are met. 
The purpose of this Administration 
Strategy is therefore to recognise 
those responsibilities and to set 
out the time scales within which 
tasks should be completed. 
This will subsequently improve 
the flow of information between 
Employers and Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund (as Administering 
Authority), ensuring that those 
obligations are met, and ultimately 
that costs are kept to a minimum 
and that scheme members receive 
accurate and timely payment/
notification of their entitlements. 
The Administering Authority has 
assigned responsibility for the 
management and administration of 
the Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
to the Pension Committee.

1. The Regulations

1.1 The Pension Administration 
Strategy is concerned with 
ensuring that Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund runs smoothly for its 
member’s employer organisations 
and Gloucestershire Pension Fund. 

1.2 The Pension Administration 
Strategy is made in accordance 
with Regulation 59 of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme 
Regulations 2013 which states, 
amongst other things that: 

59.(1) An administering authority 
may prepare a written statement 
of the authority’s policies in 

relation to such of the matters 
mentioned in paragraph (2) 
as it considers appropriate 
(‘its pension administration 
strategy’) and, where it does so, 
paragraphs (3) to (7) apply. 

(2) The matters are: 

(a) procedures for liaison and 
communication with Scheme 
employers in relation to which 
it is the administering authority 
(‘its Scheme employers’);

(b) the establishment of 
levels of performance which 
the administering authority 
and its Scheme employers 
are expected to achieve in 
carrying out their Scheme 
functions by:

i) the setting of performance 
targets

ii) the making of agreements 
about levels of performance 
and associated matters, or

iii) such other means as 
the administering authority 
considers appropriate

(c) procedures which aim to 
secure that the administering 
authority and its Scheme 
employers comply with 
statutory requirements in 
respect of those functions and 
with any agreement about 
levels of performance;

(d) procedures for improving 
the communication by the 
administering authority and its 
Scheme employers to each 
other of information relating to 
those functions;

(e) the circumstances in which 
the administering authority 

may consider giving written 
notice to any of its Scheme 
employers under regulation 70 
(additional costs arising from 
Scheme employer’s level of 
performance) on account of 
that employer’s unsatisfactory 
performance in carrying out 
its Scheme functions when 
measured against levels of 
performance established 
under sub-paragraph (b);

(f) the publication by the 
administering authority of 
annual reports dealing with:

(i) the extent to which that 
authority and its Scheme 
employers have achieved 
the levels of performance 
established under sub-
paragraph (b), and

(ii) such other matters 
arising from its pension 
administration strategy as it 
considers appropriate; and

(g) such other matters as 
appear to the administering 
authority, after consulting its 
Scheme employers and such 
other persons as it considers 
appropriate, to be suitable for 
inclusion in that strategy. 

1.3 The Pension Administration 
Strategy is published to 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund’s 
Scheme employers and to the 
Secretary of State.

2. The Strategy 

2.1 Procedures for liaison and 
communication with Scheme 
employers 

2.1.1 The employer will nominate 
a person to act as the ‘employer 

Page 428



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  41

representative’ and Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund’s primary 
contact. The employer will notify 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
who that person is and ensure that 
changes of nominated person are 
notified to Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund immediately. 

2.1.2 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund employs a multi-channel 
approach to liaison and 
communication with Scheme 
employers to ensure that employer 
needs are constantly and 
consistently met. 

2.1.3 Channels include: 

  The ‘Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund Employers Website’, that 
gives access to:

-  information about 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
and the Local Government 
Pension Scheme

-  administration forms to 
download, print and use as 
needed 

-  contact information for key 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
representatives who can inform 
and liaise with employers on the 
scheme and its application to 
individual cases 

  Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
issues information by e-mail to the 
nominated contact for pensions at 
each organisation. 

  Employer representatives can 
distribute pension information 
as appropriate to relevant staff 
within their organisation with 
a view to ensuring the smooth 
operation of the scheme within 
their organisation. The employer 
representative should always be 

mindful of the confidentiality of 
some correspondence.

  Employer update seminars are 
held twice yearly (usually during 
January and June) covering 
scheme development issues 
and providing the opportunity for 
Employers to field any questions/
queries.

2.2 Levels of performance 

2.2.1 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund and Scheme employers must 
have regard to the current version 
of the Pension Administration 
Strategy when carrying out their 
functions. 

Levels of performance for 
Scheme employers and the 
administering authority

2.2.2 The employer must supply 
notifications (or approved 
alternatives) to Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund as follows: 

i.  New starters (FORM: Employer 
pension starter notification): within 
5 weeks of the employee joining.

ii.  Change in member’s details 
(FORM: LGPS con-change): within 
5 weeks of the event.

iii.  Early leavers (FORM: leaver1): 
within 5 weeks of the employee 
leaving.

iv.  Retirement Notifications 
(FORM: leaver1) and all other 
required documents must be 
received by Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund on or before 5 
working days after the last day of 
employment.

v.  Death in active membership 
(FORM: leaver1): within 5 working 
days of the death of the member. 

2.2.3 Great care must be taken to 
avoid breaking The Occupational 
Pension Schemes (Disclosure of 
Information) Regulations 2013. For 
example, where a retirement takes 
place before normal pension age, 
leaver1 form must be received by 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund no 
later than one month after the date 
of retirement. Where a retirement 
takes place on or after normal 
pension age, Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund must receive leaver1 
form no later than 10 working days 
after the date of retirement. The 
above timeframes within 2.2.2 are 
therefore to allow us to ensure 
compliance with the Disclosure 
Regulations in relation to all 
scheme member matters.

2.2.4 Each employer in the fund 
will provide Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund with a monthly 
statement reconciling to the total 
contributions paid. This statement 
must be received by the Pension 
Fund before the payment of the 
contribution is made. The format 
of this statement is stipulated by 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
and contains information as 
detailed in the LGPS Regulations 
2013. It also provides assistance 
to the employer by validating 
the calculations. A separate 
spreadsheet is available for 
employees utilising the 50/50 
scheme and both can be obtained 
from the ‘Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund Employers Web Site’. The 
deadline for receipt of these 
statements is no later than the 
10th day of the month following 
the month in which contributions 
have been deducted. Where the 
10th falls on a weekend or bank 
holiday, the due date becomes the 
last working day prior to the 10th.

Page 429



42  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

2.2.5 Employers will provide 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund with 
a year-end data return as at 31st 
March each year in an approved 
format no later than *31st May 
of that year. The return must be 
balanced by the employer against 
the employee and employer 
contribution payments made for 
that financial year. 

*Please note that in the year of the 
Triennial Valuation, this date may need to 
be brought forward. Any such change will 
be notified in advance to your nominated 
person.

2.2.6 The scheme employer 
is responsible for ensuring 
that employee and employer 
contributions are deducted at the 
correct rate and on the correct 
pensionable pay. This includes 
contributions due on leave of 
absence with reduced or no pay, 
maternity leave contributions, 
contributions relating to the 50/50 
option and any other contributions 
due to the Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund or requested by the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund.

2.2.7 The employer is responsible 
for exercising the discretionary 
powers given to employers by the 
regulations. The employer is also 
responsible for publishing its policy 
in respect of the key discretions as 
required by the regulations to its 
employees. 

2.2.8 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund is not responsible for verifying 
the accuracy of any information 
provided by the employer for the 
purpose of calculating benefits 
under the provisions of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme 
and the Discretionary Payments 
Regulations. That responsibility 
rests with the employer. 

2.2.9 Any over payment of 
benefits resulting from inaccurate 
information supplied by the 
employer shall be recovered from 
the employer. 

Similarly, where Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund are required to 
revise their calculations due to 
incorrect notification of information 
by the employer, Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund reserves the right to 
pass on the administrative costs of 
processing that revision. 

2.2.10 In the event of 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
incurring costs or being fined by 
e.g. The Pensions Regulator, as a 
result of an employer’s action or 
inaction (e.g. the failure to notify 
a retirement within the time limits 
described above), this charge 
will be passed on to the relevant 
employer. 

2.2.11 Under the Data Protection 
Act 1998, the employer will 
protect from improper disclosure 
any information about a member 
contained (where applicable) on 
any item sent from Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund. It will also only 
use information supplied or made 
available by Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund for the operation 
of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme. 

Levels of performance for 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

2.2.12 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund will make available/ issue 
forms, newsletters, booklets 
and such other materials as are 
necessary for the administration of 
the Scheme. 

2.2.13 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund will support employers in 
running the Local Government 
Pension Scheme by: 

i.  providing information, 
interpretation and assistance on 
the scheme and its administration

ii.  distributing regular technical 
information

2.2.14 Working co-operatively 
with employers, Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund aims to: 

i.  in relation to retirements; pay 
retirement grants within 10 working 
days of receipt of all the relevant 
required paperwork 

ii.  in relation to deaths in service; 
pay the death gratuity within 3 
working days of receipt of all the 
relevant required paperwork 

iii.  provide employer requested 
estimates within 15 working days 
of request from employer

iv.  send Annual Benefit 
Statements (ABS’s) to scheme 
members in accordance with 
the specified timeframes within 
the LGPS Regulations following 
the relevant end of financial year, 
(subject to timely receipt of all 
required notifications under 2.2.2 
and a balanced year-end return as 
stated in 2.2.5) 

2.2.15 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund will produce benefit 
illustrations for members each year 
where the employer has submitted 
useable and accurate year-end 
financial data. 

2.2.16 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund will supply any information 
to employers necessary to ensure 
the smooth running of the pension 
fund. 

2.2.17 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund will work with employers 
to ensure that retirement is as 
smooth a process as possible for 
the member and employer. 

2.2.18 Under the Data Protection 
Act 1998, Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund will protect from improper 
disclosure any information held 
about a member. Information held 
will be used by Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund for the operation 
of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme. 

2.2.19 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund is responsible for exercising 
the discretionary powers given to it 
by the regulations. Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund is also responsible 

Page 430



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  43

for publishing its policy to its 
members in respect of the key 
discretions as required by the 
regulations. 

2.2.20 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund aims to provide a service 
to members that meet the 
requirements of the Occupational 
Pension Schemes (Disclosure of 
Information) Regulations 2013. 

2.2.21 The Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund will contact all 
scheme employers throughout 
the financial year, depending on 
their year end reporting date, 
to establish requirements for an 
annual pension liability report 
produced by the Fund’s actuary. 
These reports are required 
under the relevant International 
Accounting Standards (IAS) or 
Financial Reporting Standards 
(FRS) for inclusion in the employer’s 
Annual Report & Accounts. For 
those wishing to commission 
such a report, the Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund will provide all the 
necessary documentation as 
provided by the Fund’s actuary; 
the cost of obtaining this report 
will be recharged to the employer. 
Employers who fail to meet the 
advised deadlines of this exercise 
may incur a further actuarial charge 
due to the nature of the bulk 
discount fee obtained by the Fund.

2.2.22 Where employers who 
are admitted bodies to the Fund 
are required to hold an indemnity 
bond, the Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund will request, from the Fund’s 
actuary, revised bond valuations 
in accordance with the employer’s 
Admission Agreement. Indemnity 
bonds are normally reviewed 
annually and the standard renewal 
date is 1st April. Where an 
employer is required to obtain a 
new or revised bond they will be 
given a minimum of 20 working 
days notice by the Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund. The actuary cost of 
obtaining the bond valuation will be 
recharged to the employer.

2.3 Payments by Scheme 
employers to Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund

2.3.1 Scheme employers will 
make all payments required 
under the Local Government 
Pension Scheme, and any 
related legislation, promptly to 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
and/or its Additional Voluntary 
Contribution providers (Prudential / 
Phoenix Life) as appropriate.

  Payment Dates 

Contributions can be paid over 
at any time but the latest date for 
cleared funds to be received is 
the 19th of the month immediately 
following the month in which 
deductions were made. For 
example contributions deducted 
in April must be received by 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund by 
19th May at the latest. Where the 
19th falls on a weekend or Bank 
Holiday, the due date becomes the 
last working day prior to the 19th.

Similarly, the employer will pay any 
Additional Voluntary Contributions 
to the relevant AVC Provider within 
the same timeframe. 

  Late Payment 

Under the Pensions Act 1995, 
the Pensions Regulator may be 
notified if contributions are not 
received in accordance with the 
regulators code of practice, as 
described above. 

  Monthly Contribution - 
Payment Method

Apart from Additional Voluntary 
Contributions, all other 
Contributions should be paid to 
the Gloucestershire Pension Fund’s 
bank account, by Direct Debit 
or BACS. The payment should 
match the in-month return(s) for 
the employer and a summary 
document should be sent if the 
payment covers two returns or 
more.

  Secondary(deficit) 
Contribution

It is expected that secondary 
(deficit) contribution payments will 
be included on the monthly return 
when payment is made with the 
normal monthly contributions.

  Invoice - Payment Method 

Payments of invoices raised 
by the Pension Fund are due 
immediately upon receipt and 
must be made separate to any 
contribution payment that is due. 
The payment should be paid to the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund’s 
bank account, by BACS quoting 
invoice details.

  Remittance Advices 

Employers must submit a 
remittance advice with each 
payment to the Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund (email address: 
peninv@gloucestershire.gov.uk).  
Employers who are paying monthly 
contributions must provide the 
statement as detailed in paragraph 
2.2.4 above.

2.4 Additional costs incurred as 
a result of Scheme employer’s 
level of performance  

2.4.1 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund will charge the scheme 
employer an administrative fee, for 
chasing any overdue/outstanding 
documentation or overdue 
payment, of £6 subject to VAT in 
relation to each item, each time it 
is chased. 

Payments paid into 
Gloucestershire County Council’s 
bank account rather than the 
Pension Fund’s bank account will 
be subject to an administration 
fee of £6 subject to VAT. Any other 
additional charges imposed by the 
Bank to transfer these payments 
will also be passed on to the 
employer.

Page 431



44  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

In addition, where additional 
costs have been incurred by 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
because of the Scheme employer’s 
level of performance in carrying out 
its functions under the LGPS, the 
additional costs will be recovered 
from that Scheme employer. Costs 
subject to VAT will be based on a 
time and materials basis.

2.4.2 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund will give written notice to the 
Scheme employer stating - 

i.  the reasons for the additional 
cost incurred; 

ii.  that the Scheme employer 
should pay the additional costs 
attributable to that authority’s level 
of performance; 

iii.  the basis on which the specified 
amount is calculated; and 

iv.  the relevant provisions of the 
Pension Administration Strategy 
under which the additional costs 
have arisen. 

Additional costs incurred will 
be collated and invoiced each 
calendar year.

2.4.3 Any disagreement regarding 
the amount of additional cost 
being recovered, which cannot be 
resolved between the employer 
and Gloucestershire Pension Fund, 
will be decided by the Secretary of 
State who will have regard to - 

I.  the provisions of the Pension 
Administration Strategy that are 
relevant to the case; and

II.  the extent to which 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
and the Scheme employer have 
complied with those provisions in 
carrying out their functions under 
these Regulations. 

2.5 Interest on late payments

2.5.1 In accordance with the 
LGPS Regulations, interest may be 
charged on any amount overdue 

from a Scheme employer by more 
than one month. 

2.5.2 Interest will be calculated at 
one percentage point above base 
rate on a day to day basis from the 
due date to the date of payment 
and compounded with three-
monthly rests. 

3. Review of the Pension 
Administration Strategy

3.1 The Pension Administration 
Strategy will be kept under review 
by the Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund’s Pension Committee. 

3.2 The Pension Committee’s 
relationship with Scheme 
employers including details on 
communication, governance, skills 
and knowledge, etc. is contained 
within the following documents: 
Communications Policy; 
Governance Policy; Governance 
Compliance Statement. All these 
documents are available on 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund’s 
website www.gloucestershire.
gov.uk/extra/pensions/
investments

3.3 Employers may make 
suggestions to improve the 
Pension Administration Strategy for 
consideration by Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund at any time. 

3.4 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund will revise the Pension 
Administration Strategy after 
consulting with Scheme employers 
and any other persons considered 
appropriate following a material 
change in any policy covered in the 
strategy. When the Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund publishes its 
Strategy or a revised Strategy it will 
send a copy to each of its Scheme 
employers and to the Secretary of 
State.  

3.5 Employers are welcome to 
discuss any aspect of the Pension 
Administration Strategy with 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund at 
any time. Employers are welcome 

to visit Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund at any time, subject to notice.

3.6 The Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund Annual Report will give 
details of the extent to which 
the Administering Authority and 
Employers have achieved the 
levels of performance as detailed 
in the Administration Strategy as 
well as such other matters from 
the Administration Strategy it 
considers important.

4. Employer contribution 
rates and administration 
costs 

4.1 Employers’ contribution 
rates are not fixed. Employers 
are required to pay whatever 
is necessary to ensure that the 
portion of the fund relating to their 
organisation is sufficient to meet its 
liabilities. 

4.2 Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund has an actuarial valuation 
undertaken every three years by 
the Fund’s actuary. The actuary 
balances the fund’s assets and 
liabilities in respect of each 
employer, and assesses the 
appropriate minimum contribution 
rate for each employer to be 
applied for the subsequent three 
years. 

4.3 The cost of running 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund is 
charged directly to the Fund, and 
the actuary takes these costs 
into account in assessing the 
employers’ contribution rates. 

4.4 If an employer wishes 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund to 
carry out any employer specific 
work, Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund reserves the right to make 
a reasonable charge to cover the 
administration involved, where 
appropriate. Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund would always 
discuss such matters with 
the employer before any work 
commenced.

Page 432



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  45

Funding Position

The table below summarises the financial position of the Fund at 31st 
March 2019, and at the previous three valuation dates, in respect of 
benefits earned by members up to this date.

Executive Summary on the 
Last Triennial Valuation

Past Service Liabilities 1,498 1,976 2,138 2,338

Market Value of Assets 1,054 1,385 1,703 2,379

Surplus / (Deficit) (444)  (591) (435) 41

Funding Level                               70.4%                        70.1% 79.7% 101.8%

 31st March 31st March 31st March 31st March
 2010 2013 2016 2019 

Past Service Position £m £m £m £m

An actuarial valuation of the Fund was carried out as at 31st March 2019. 
The results are briefly summarised below.

The main reasons for the change in the funding level over the period 
were better than anticipated investment returns, the effect of expected 
changes in membership, an increase in the assumed rate of future 
investment returns, an increase in the assumed rate of inflation and 
changes in mortality rates.  

Contribution Rates

The table below summarises the whole fund Primary and Secondary 
Contribution rates at the 2019 valuation. The Primary rate is the payroll 
weighted average of the underlying individual employer primary rates 
and the Secondary rate is the total of the underlying individual employer 
secondary rates calculated in accordance with the Regulations and the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy (CIPFA) guidance.

Primary Employer Contribution Rate as a %  Secondary Rate
of pay 1st April 2020 to 31st March 2023  £000

 2020/21 2021/22  2022/23

                        20.9% 30,652 26,850 24,353

Page 433



46  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

The Primary rate includes an 
allowance of 0.6% of pensionable 
pay for the Fund’s expenses 
(0.5% at the 2016 valuation).  The 
average employee contribution rate 
is 6.3% of pensionable pay (6.3% 
at the 2016 valuation).

The minimum contributions to 
be paid by each employer from 
1st April 2020 to 31st March 
2023 are shown in the Rates and 
Adjustment Certificate on pages 48 
to 52.

The next triennial valuation will take 
place as at 31st March 2022. This 
will set the minimum contributions 
to be paid by each employer from 
1st April 2023 to 31st March 2026.  

A copy of the most recent 
valuation can be found at www.
gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/
pensions/investments

Result of interim 
monitoring

The Fund continues to set life 
expectancy assumptions using 
ClubVita, which is a specialised 
longevity company providing life 
expectancy assumptions based 
on annual monitoring of the Fund’s 
own membership. In addition 
employers’ ill health and early 
retirement experience is monitored 
and extra contributions obtained 
where necessary. In 2019/20 extra 
contributions of £1.7m (£1.6m 

2018/19) were collected from 
employers in connection with early 
retirements and £0.5m (£1.1m 
2018/19) in connection with ill-
health retirements.

Page 434



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  47

Actuarial Report on Fund

This statement has been prepared 
in accordance with Regulation 
57(1)(d) of the Local Government 
Pension Scheme Regulations 
2013. It has been prepared at 
the request of the Administering 
Authority of the Fund for the 
purpose of complying with the 
aforementioned regulation. 

Description of Funding 
Policy

The funding policy is set out in the 
Administering Authority’s Funding 
Strategy Statement (FSS), dated 
February 2020. In summary, the 
key funding principles are as 
follows:

 to ensure the long-term 
solvency of the Fund, using a 
prudent long term view. This will 
ensure that sufficient funds are 
available to meet all members’/
dependants’ benefits as they fall 
due for payment;

 to ensure that employer 
contribution rates are reasonably 
stable where appropriate;

 to minimise the long-term cash 
contributions which employers 
need to pay to the Fund, by 
recognising the link between 
assets and liabilities and adopting 
an investment strategy which 
balances risk and return (this will 
also minimise the costs to be 
borne by Council Tax payers);

 to reflect the different 
characteristics of different 
employers in determining 
contribution rates. This involves 
the Fund having a clear and 
transparent funding strategy to 
demonstrate how each employer 
can best meet its own liabilities 
over future years; and

 to use reasonable measures to 
reduce the risk to other employers 
and ultimately to the Council Tax 
payer from an employer defaulting 
on its pension obligations.

The FSS sets out how the 
Administering Authority seeks 
to balance the conflicting aims 
of securing the solvency of the 
Fund and keeping employer 
contributions stable. For employers 
whose covenant was considered 
by the Administering Authority to 
be sufficiently strong, contributions 
have been stabilised to have 
a sufficiently high likelihood of 
achieving the funding target 
over 17 years. Asset-liability 
modelling has been carried out 
which demonstrate that if these 
contribution rates are paid and 
future contribution changes are 
constrained as set out in the FSS, 
there is at least a 70% likelihood 
that the Fund will achieve the 
funding target over 17 years.

Funding Position as at 
the Last Formal Funding 
Valuation

The most recent actuarial valuation 
carried out under Regulation 62 
of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme Regulations 2013 was as 
at 31st March 2019. This valuation 
revealed that the Fund’s assets, 
which at 31st March 2019 were 
valued at £2,379 million, were 
sufficient to meet 102% of the 
liabilities (i.e. the present value 
of promised retirement benefits) 
accrued up to that date. 

Each employer had contribution 
requirements set at the valuation, 
with the aim of achieving full 
funding within a time horizon 

and probability measure as per 
the FSS. Individual employers’ 
contributions for the period 1st 
April 2020 to 31st March 2023 
were set in accordance with the 
Fund’s funding policy as set out in 
its FSS.  

Principal Actuarial 
Assumptions and Method 
Used to Value the Liabilities

Full details of the methods and 
assumptions used are described in 
the 2019 valuation report.

Method

The liabilities were assessed using 
an accrued benefits method which 
takes into account pensionable 
membership up to the valuation 
date, and makes an allowance 
for expected future salary growth 
to retirement or expected earlier 
date of leaving pensionable 
membership.

Assumptions

A market-related approach was 
taken to valuing the liabilities, for 
consistency with the valuation of 
the Fund assets at their market 
value. 

Page 435



48  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

The key financial assumptions adopted for the 2019 valuation were 
as follows:

 31st March 2019
 Financial assumptions 

 Discount rate 4.2%

 Salary increase assumption  2.6%

 Benefit increase assumption (CPI) 2.3%

  Males Females

 Current Pensioners 21.7 years 23.9 years

 Future Pensioners* 22.4 years 25.3 years

The key demographic assumption was the allowance made for longevity. 
The life expectancy assumptions are based on the Fund’s VitaCurves 
with improvements in line with the CMI 2018 model, an allowance for 
smoothing of recent mortality experience and a long term rate of 1.25% 
p.a. Based on these assumptions, the average future life expectancies at 
age 65 are as follows: 

Copies of the 2019 valuation report and Funding Strategy Statement are 
available on request from the Administering Authority to the Fund. 

Experience Over the Period Since 31st March 2019

Markets were disrupted by Covid-19 which resulted in difficult market 
conditions towards the end of the financial year. As a result, the funding 
level of the Fund as at 31st March 2020 has reduced versus that 
reported in the previous formal valuation.

The next actuarial valuation will be carried out as at 31st March 2022. 
The Funding Strategy Statement will also be reviewed at that time. 

Julie West FFA 
For and on behalf of Hymans Robertson LLP
12th May 2020

Hymans Robertson LLP
20 Waterloo Street, 
Glasgow, G2 6DB

*Aged 45 at the 2019 Valuation.

Page 436



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  49

In accordance with regulation 62(4) 
of the Regulations, the Actuary 
has made an assessment of the 
contributions that should be paid 
into the Fund by participating 
employers for the period 1st April 
2020 to 31st March 2023 in order 
to maintain the solvency of the 
Fund.

The method and assumptions 
used to calculate the contributions 
set out in the Rates and 
Adjustments certificate are detailed 
in the Fund’s Funding Strategy 
Statement and the Actuary’s report 
on the actuarial valuation.

The required minimum contribution 
rates are set out below.  

   Minimum Contributions for the Year Ending 
   Total Contribution Rate (%/£)

 Employer/Pool  2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

 Gloucestershire County Council and Schools Pool 

 Gloucestershire County Council* 26.8% plus  24.7% plus 23.7% plus
   £10,150,000 £150,000 £150,000
 Gloucestershire County Council Schools 30.9% 28.9% 27.9%

 Stabilised       
 Gloucester City Council* 19.4 plus  19.4 plus 19.4 plus  
    £9,644,000 £0 £0
 Cheltenham B.C.* 20.0 plus  20.0 plus  20.0 plus  
    £8,675,000 £0 £0
 Cotswold D.C.*1   20.2 plus 20.2 plus 20.2 plus 
    £4,902,000 £0 £0 
 Forest of Dean D.C.*1 20.3 plus 20.3 plus 20.3 plus 
    £5,531,000 £0 £0 
 Stroud D.C.  19.7 plus 19.7 plus 19.7 plus 
    £2,118,000 £1,840,000 £1,562,000 
 Tewkesbury B.C. 19.7 plus 19.7 plus 19.7 plus 
    £1,661,000 £1,465,000 £1,269,000
 Police and Crime Commissioner 19.8 plus 19.8 plus 19.8 plus
 for Gloucestershire** £512,000 £343,000 £167,000

  Town and Parish Councils Pool % % %

 Berkeley Town Council 23.6 22.4 21.1
 Bisley with Lypiatt Parish Council 23.6 22.4 21.1
 Brockworth Parish Council 23.6 22.4 21.1
 Cainscross Parish Council 23.6 22.4 21.1
 Cam Parish Council 23.6 22.4 21.1
 Chalford Parish Council 23.6 22.4 21.1
 Charlton Kings Parish Council 23.6 22.4 21.1
 Cinderford Town Council 23.6 22.4 21.1

continued...

Summary Statement to the Rates 
and Adjustments Certificate

Page 437



50  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

   Minimum Contributions for the Year Ending 
   Total Contribution Rate (%/£)

 Employer/Pool  2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

  Town and Parish Councils Pool (continued) % % %

 Cirencester Town Council 23.6 22.4 21.1
 Coleford Town Council 23.6 22.4 21.1
 Dursley Town Council 23.6 22.4 21.1
 Hinton Parish Council 23.6 22.4 21.1
 Hucclecote Parish Council 23.6 22.4 21.1
 King’s Stanley Parish Council 23.6 22.4 21.1
 Lechlade Town Council 23.6 22.4 21.1
 Leonard Stanley Parish Council 23.6 22.4 21.1
 Lydney Town Council 23.6 22.4 21.1
 Moreton-in-Marsh Town Council 23.6 22.4 21.1
 Nailsworth Town Council 23.6 22.4 21.1
 Newent Town Council 23.6 22.4 21.1
 Northleach with Eastington Town Council 23.6 22.4 21.1
 Painswick Parish Council 23.6 22.4 21.1
 Prestbury Parish Council 23.6 22.4 21.1
 Rodborough Parish Council 23.6 22.4 21.1
 Stonehouse Town Council 23.6 22.4 21.1
 Stroud Town Council 23.6 22.4 21.1
 Tetbury Town Council 23.6 22.4 21.1
 Tewkesbury Town Council 23.6 22.4 21.1
 Tidenham Parish Council 23.6 22.4 21.1
 Wotton-under-Edge Town Council 23.6 22.4 21.1

 Colleges and University   
 Cirencester Tertiary College 24.8% 24.8% 24.8%
 Gloucestershire College 19.2% plus  19.2% plus  19.2% plus  
    £212,000 £213,000 £213,000 
 Hartpury University 22.9% plus 22.9% plus 22.9% plus 
    £93,000 £95,000 £98,000
 University of Gloucestershire 22.1% plus  22.1% plus 22.1% plus  
    £154,000 £158,000 £162,000 
  Scheduled Bodies  
 Cheltenham Borough Homes Ltd 18.0% 18.0% 18.0%
 Cotswold Conservation Board 19.0% 19.0% 19.0%
 Lower Severn Internal Drainage Board 26.3% plus 26.3% plus 26.3% plus  
    £57,000 £57,000 £57,000

 Admitted Bodies % % %

 Adoption West  23.8 23.8 23.8
 APCOA  0 0 0
 Aspens Catering (Farmors) 29.2 29.2 29.2
 Aspire Sports and Cultural Trust 14.9 14.9 14.9
 Barnardos Forest of Dean and Stroud 26.8 26.8 26.8
 Barnardos Gloucester 0 0 0

continued...

Page 438



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  51

continued...

   Minimum Contributions for the Year Ending 
   Total Contribution Rate (%/£)

 Employer/Pool  2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

 Admitted Bodies (continued) % % %

 Brandon Trust  25.0 25.0 25.0
 Cheltenham Trust 23.7 23.7 23.7
 Civica (GLOS)  0 0 0
 Cotswold Archaeological Trust 29.8 29.8 29.8
 Enterprise (AOL) Ltd 0 0 0
 Forest of Dean DC - Ubico 0 0 0
 Gardners Lane & Oakwood 20.2 20.2 20.2
 Gloucester City Homes Trust 24.0 24.0 24.0
 Gloucester City IT - Civica 26.6 26.6 26.6
 Gloucestershire Airport Ltd. 24.0 24.0 24.0
 Gloucestershire Health & Care NHS Foundation 25.5 25.5 25.5
 Gloucestershire Group Homes 32.8 32.8 32.8
 Places for People 16.3 16.3 16.3
 Prospects Services 0 0 0
 Ridge Crest Cleaning (Farmors) 28.3 28.3 28.3
 Sport Leisure Management (SLM) Ltd 25.3 25.3 25.3
 Stroud Court Community Trust 31.3 31.3 31.3
 The Order of St. John Care Trust 27.9 27.9 27.9
 Tinies UK (Glos College) 22.6 22.6 22.6
 Two Rivers Housing 18.1 18.1 18.1
 Ubico - Cheltenham Waste 0 0 0
 Ubico - Cotswold Waste 21.1 21.1 21.1
 Ubico - Tewkesbury 0 0 0
 Wealden Leisure (Forest of Dean DC - Leisure) 19.9 19.9 19.9

  Multi-Academy Trusts % % % 

 Academies Enterprise Trust *** 24.3 24.3 24.3
 Corinium Education Trust *** 25.2 25.2 25.2
 Cotswold Beacon Academy Trust *** 25.7 25.7 25.7
 Diocese of Gloucestershire Academies Trust*** 27.1 27.1 27.1
 Gloucestershire Learning Alliance *** 23.8 23.8 23.8
 Greenshaw Learning Trust *** 29.1 29.1 29.1
 SGS Academy Trust *** 25.9 25.9 25.9
 The Robinswood Academy Trust *** 23.6 23.6 23.6
 The White Horse Federation *** 29.0 29.0 29.0

  Academies  % % %

 Abbey View – CCT Learning 26.5 27.1 27.6
 All Saints Academy  26.3 24.9 23.4
 Balcarras School 27.4 25.9 24.4
 Blockley CofE Primary School 27.9 27.4 26.8
 Bourton on the Water 25.8 24.5 23.1
 Charlton Kings Infant 26.1 24.7 23.3  
 Charlton Kings Junior 30.6 29.3 27.9
 Cheltenham Bournside 30.5 29.2 27.8

Page 439



52  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

   Minimum Contributions for the Year Ending 
   Total Contribution Rate (%/£)

 Employer/Pool  2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

  Academies (continued) % % % 
 Chipping Campden 28.6 27.9 27.2
 Chosen Hill School 30.6 29.5 28.3
 Christ Church CofE Primary (Cheltenham) 25.6 25.1 24.6
 Churchdown Secondary 33.8 33.3 32.8
 Churchdown Village Infants 24.2 23.8 23.3
 Cirencester Kingshill 26.3 25.6 24.8
 Cleeve School  26.7 25.8 24.8
 Dene Magna  32.5 31.8 31.0
 Denmark Road High School 33.5 32.4 31.2
 Farmors  30.1 30.0 29.8
 Field Court Junior 28.1 26.1 24.1
 Forest View Primary 31.6 31.0 30.3
 Gotherington  38.0 36.5 34.9
 Gretton Primary  28.1 28.8 29.4
 Highnam C of E  25.8 25.7 25.6
 Katharine Lady Berkeleys 31.2 29.7 28.1
 Mitton Manor Primary School 28.1 27.1 26.1
 Newent Community School Academy 30.2 29.8 29.3
 Pate’s Grammar School 27.3 26.7 26.0
 Redmarley C of E 30.2 30.2 30.3
 Ribston Hall High 28.3 26.8 25.2
 Severn Vale  30.8 31.5 32.1
 Severnbanks Primary School 31.2 30.2 29.1
 Sir Thomas Rich’s 31.3 29.8 28.3
 Sir William Romney 29.8 28.9 27.9
 St David’s Primary School 24.8 24.3 23.7
 St Dominics Catholic Primary 32.6 30.6 28.6
 St Mary’s Catholic Primary 25.0 24.2 23.4
 St Peters High School and Sixth Form 30.6 29.5 28.3
 Staunton Corse   27.7 25.7 23.7
 Stone with Woodford CofE Primary School 32.3 30.8 29.2
 Stroud High School 29.1 28.4 27.6
 Tewkesbury School 30.1 29.2 28.3
 The Cotswold School 27.8 26.3 24.8
 The Crypt School 24.9 23.9 22.8
 The Dean Academy 32.5 30.8 29.0
 The Rosary Catholic Primary 29.1 27.4 25.7
 Thomas Keble  29.1 28.1 27.0
 Tredworth Infant School 26.5 25.6 24.6  
 Winchcombe Secondary 31.4 30.4 29.4
 Wyedean School 32.7 31.8 30.8

*The employer Secondary rates have been amended to reflect contribution pre-payments to be made on 1st April 2020 by the 
employers to reduce Secondary contributions that were otherwise due in 2021/22 and 2022/23. The Secondary rates for GCC also 
include an additional £150k p.a. in respect of the former Prospects Services contract.

Page 440



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  53

Further comments

Contributions expressed as a 
percentage of payroll should be 
paid into Gloucestershire County 
Council Pension Fund (“the Fund”) 
at a frequency in accordance 
with the requirements of the 
Regulations.

Further sums should be paid 
to the Fund to meet the costs 
of any early retirements and/or 
augmentations using methods and 
factors issued by us from time to 
time or as otherwise agreed.

Payments may be required to be 
made to the Fund by employers 
to meet the capital costs of 
any ill-health retirements that 
exceed those included within my 
assumptions. If an employer has 
an ill-health liability insurance in 
place with a suitable insurer and 
provides satisfactory evidence to 

the Administering Authority, then 
their certified contribution rate may 
be reduced by the value of their 
insurance premium, for the period 
the insurance is in place.* 

The certified contribution rates 
represent the minimum level 
of contributions to be paid.  
Employing authorities may pay 
further amounts at any time and 
future periodic contributions may 
be adjusted on a basis approved 
by the Fund actuary.

There has been significant volatility 
in the financial markets during 
February and March 2020 as a 
result of the Covid-19 pandemic.  
This volatility may impact 
funding balance sheets for those 
employers planning to exit the 
Fund during the period covered 
by this Rates and Adjustments 
Certificate. In order to effectively 
manage employer exits from the 

Fund, the Administering authority 
reserves the right to revisit the 
contribution rates for employers 
that are expected to cease 
participation in the Fund before 
31st March 2023. An employer will 
be contacted by the Administering 
Authority in this instance.

* From 1st April 2020 a blanket 
ill-health insurance policy has 
been in place covering almost 
all employers resulting in no 
amendments to the certified 
contribution rate.

** The employer Secondary rate in the year 2020/21 has been reduced to reflect up front payment of the whole amount on 
1st April 2020.

*** Each academy within the trust will pay the pooled Multi Academy Trust rate shown.

1  The rates for these Councils are inclusive of the Publica contracts.

Page 441



54  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

The Gloucestershire Local 
Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) Pension 
Board

All Public Sector Pension schemes 
were required under the Public 
Service Pensions Act 2013 to 
set up a Pension Board with 
effect from 2015/16 to assist 
the administering authorities of 
their Pension scheme in ensuring 
compliance with LGPS and other 
pension regulations.

The County Council, as 
administering authority of the 
Gloucestershire LGPS agreed 
the terms of reference of the 
Pension Board in February 2015. 
These terms of reference, which 
were amended during 2019/20, 
are included within the Fund’s 
Governance Policy document 
on pages 60 to 62 of this Annual 
Report.

Taking account of the relevant 
LGPS regulations and guidance, 
the Gloucestershire LGPS decided 
to appoint an independent non 
voting chair of the Pension 
Board. An independent chair of 
the Pension Board cannot have 
any involvement (e.g. through 
membership or employer links) 
with the local pension scheme 
they would be chairing, but 
having good experience and 
knowledge of the LGPS would 
be advantageous and would 
assist the other Board members 
in their role. To comply with these 
requirements the Gloucestershire 
LGPS invited the Head of the 
Pension Fund at the Oxfordshire 
LGPS, Sean Collins, to become 
chair of the Gloucestershire 
Pension Board. 

Due to the Covid-19 Pandemic the 
meeting of the Board scheduled 
for March 2020 was cancelled. 
This meant that during 2019/20 
there was only one meeting of 
the Board on 14th November 
2019. Unfortunately, although this 
meeting went ahead, it was not 
quorate, hence formal minutes of 
the meeting were not produced. 
However, at this meeting the 
following areas were covered:

 The continued development 
of the Governments requirement 
for LGPS Funds to combine their 
investments in pools of at least 
£25 billion via one FCA regulated 
company.

 The Risk Register. The Board 
reviews the risk register at each 
meeting.

 Pension Administration 
Arrangements. The Board 
considered a detailed report on the 
administration arrangements and 
performance achieved against key 
performance indicators. 

 The Annual Report of the 
Pension Fund.

 Ill health Pension Strain 
insurance arrangements.

 The 2019 Actuarial Valuation 

Because of the problems with 
the 14th November meeting of 
the Pension Board, the terms 
of reference for the Board were 
reviewed and amendments were 
made which were subsequently 
approved by the Gloucestershire 
Pension Committee and 
Constitution Committee. In order 
to ensure that all future meetings 
were quorate, the membership 

of the Board was increased from 
five members to seven members, 
with the formal quorum remaining 
as three members, to include one 
employer representative and one 
employee representative.

As a result of these changes 
and the resignation of one of the 
employee representatives the 
membership of the Board is as 
follows:

Employer representatives

Annette Benson (University of 
Gloucestershire) 
Paul Jones (Cheltenham Borough 
Council)
Cllr. Nigel Moor (Gloucestershire 
County Council)

Scheme member representatives
John Abbott
Michael Hunt
Jon Topping

In addition to attendance at Board 
Meetings, members of the Pension 
Board are invited to attend joint 
training and update sessions 
with members of the Pension 
Committee. During 2019/20 a 
member from the Pension Board 
attended at training events on 
“responsible investment” and 
“investment and risk”.

Members of the Pension Board 
are also sent all agenda papers 
for the Pension Committee 
meetings, which they can attend 
as observers. The minutes of the 
Pension Board are reported to the 
next Pension Committee and Cllr 
Nigel Moor, as a member of the 
Board, attends to give a verbal 
update to the Committee on these 
minutes.

Governance

Page 442



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  55

The Pension Fund’s Governance 
structure and the roles and 
responsibilities of each element 
within the structure are contained 
in the Governance Policy 
Statement on pages 57 to 62 of 
this report.

Membership of the Pension 
Committee showing voting rights, 
attendance at meetings and training 
received are shown in the matrix 
opposite. Training days shown 
includes attendance at courses, 
seminars and conferences. This 
is in addition to training received 
at Pension Committee meetings 
which includes fund manager and 
performance presentations, as well 
as officer and investment advisor 
briefings.

Meetings were held on 10th May 
2019, 20th September 2019, 
8th November 2019 and 14th 
February 2020.

Fund Governance 
Compliance Statement

Pension Funds are required to 
produce a statement explaining 
how well they comply with 
a number of best practice 
principles covering governance 
arrangements for the Fund. Good 
governance means there are clear 
arrangements and controls in 
place to help ensure the Pension 

Fund is managed efficiently. The 
following Governance Compliance 
Statement was reviewed in July 
2017. The statement details the 
areas where these best practice 
principles apply, for example, 
covering committee structure and 
representation, arrangements for 
training, etc. The Governance 
Compliance Statement then 
indicates whether the Fund 
is fully compliant in all these 
areas and refers to the relevant 
policy documents such as the 
Governance Policy Statement 
(on page 57) which gives more 
information on the governance 
arrangements which are in place.

Governance Compliance

  Voting Meetings       Training Received
 Member Rights Attended        Number of Days

    From During 
    2016/17 to 2019/20
    2019/20

 Cllr. R. Theodoulou Yes 5 11 2 

 Cllr. D. Brown Yes 4 5 3

 Cllr. N. Cooper Yes 3 6 2

 Cllr. C. Hay Yes 4 13 8

 Cllr. S. Parsons Yes 3 5 1

 Cllr. R. Smith Yes 1 4 4

 Cllr. L. Stowe Yes 3 5 2
 P. Clark  No 5 8 2
 (Scheme Member Rep.)

Page 443



56  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

 
Area

 
Principle

Level of 
Compliance

Reason for 
Non-Compliance

A) Structure a) The management of the 
administration of benefits and 
strategic management of fund assets 
clearly rests with the main committee 
established by the appointing council.

FULL - see 
Governance Policy 
Statement

b) That representatives of participating 
LGPS employers, admitted bodies and 
scheme members (including pensioner 
and deferred members) are members 
of either the main or secondary 
committee established to underpin the 
work of the main committee. 

FULL - see 
Governance Policy 
Statement

c) That where a secondary committee 
or panel has been established, 
the structure ensures effective 
communication across both levels.

Not Applicable 
- There is no 
secondary 
committee or panel

d) That where a secondary committee 
or panel has been established, at 
least one seat on the main committee 
is allocated for a member from the 
secondary committee or panel.

Not Applicable 
- There is no 
secondary 
committee or panel

B) 
Representation

a) That all key stakeholders are afforded 
the opportunity to be represented 
within the main or secondary 
committee structure. These include:

PARTIAL - not 
all employing 
authorities are 
represented

FULL - see 
Governance Policy 
Statement
 
FULL - see 
Governance Policy 
Statement

FULL - see 
Governance Policy 
Statement

Concerns over logistics 
and potential size of 
Committee but will keep 
under review.

Employers are able to 
attend Committee as 
observers and submit 
written questions. Also, 
Employer Forums, 
which are open to all 
employers, are held at 
least twice a year.

b) That where lay members sit on a main 
or secondary committee, they are 
treated equally in terms of access to 
papers and meetings, training and are 
given full opportunity to contribute to 
the decision making process, with or 
without voting rights.

FULL - see 
Governance Policy 
Statement

Fund Governance Compliance Statement

i. employing authorities (including non-
scheme employers, e.g. admitted 
bodies);

ii. scheme members (including 
deferred and pensioner scheme 
members); 

iii. where appropriate, independent 
professional observers; and

iv. expert advisors (on an ad-hoc 
basis).

Page 444



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  57

 
Area

 
Principle

Level of 
Compliance

Reason for 
Non-Compliance

C) Selection 
and Role of Lay 
Members

a) That committee or panel members are 
made fully aware of the status, role and 
function they are required to perform on 
either a main or secondary committee.

FULL - see 
Governance 
Policy Statement 

b) That at the start of any meeting, committee 
members are invited to declare any financial 
or pecuniary interest related to specific 
matters on the agenda.

FULL - see 
Governance 
Policy Statement

D) Voting a) The policy of individual administering 
authorities on voting rights is clear and 
transparent, including the justification for not 
extending voting rights to each body or group 
represented on main LGPS committees.

FULL - see 
Governance 
Policy Statement

E) Training/
Facility Time/
Expenses

a) That in relation to the way in which 
statutory and related decisions are taken 
by the administering authority, there is a 
clear policy on training, facility time and 
reimbursement of expenses in respect of 
members involved in the decision-making 
process.

FULL - see 
Governance 
Policy Statement 
and Members 
Allowances 
scheme within 
the Council’s 
Constitution

b) That where such a policy exists, it applies 
equally to all members of committees, sub-
committees, advisory panels or any other 
form of secondary forum.

FULL - see 
Governance 
Policy Statement 
and Members 
Allowances 
scheme within 
the Council’s 
Constitution

c) That the administering authority considers 
the adoption of annual training plans for 
committee members and maintains a log of 
all such training undertaken.

FULL - see 
Governance 
Policy Statement

F) Meetings - 
Frequency

a) That an administering authority’s main 
committee or committees meet at least 
quarterly.

FULL - see 
Governance 
Policy Statement

b) That an administering authority’s secondary 
committee or panel meet at least twice a 
year and is synchronised with the dates 
when the main committee sits.

Not Applicable 
- There is no 
secondary 
committee or 
panel

c) That administering authorities who do 
not include lay members in their formal 
governance arrangements, provide a forum 
outside of those arrangements by which 
the interests of key stakeholders can be 
represented.

FULL - see 
Governance 
Policy Statement

Page 445



58  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

> Governance Policy Statement

Introduction

1. The County Council, as 
Administering Authority, has 
prepared this policy statement and 
consulted upon it with scheme 
employers.

2. This statement addresses the 
best practice principles identified in 
the statutory guidance issued and 
is in accordance with regulation 55 
of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) Regulations 2013.

3. The County Council’s 
Compliance Statement which 
identifies the level of compliance 
against these best practice 
principles is shown as an appendix 
to this policy statement. The 
Governance and Policy Statement 
was reviewed and updated in 
February 2020.

Purpose of Governance 
Policy Statement

4. The regulations on governance 
policy and compliance statements 
require an administering 

authority, after consultation with 
such persons as they consider 
appropriate, to prepare, maintain 
and publish a written statement 
setting out:

(a)  whether it delegates its 
functions in relation to maintaining 
a pension fund to a committee, 
sub-committee or officer of the 
authority;

(b)  and, if so, it must state:

 the frequency of any committee 
/sub-committee meetings;

 the terms of reference, structure 
and operational procedures of the 
delegation;

 whether the committee/sub-
committee includes representatives 
of

- employing authorities (including 
non-scheme employers)

- scheme members

 and, if there are such 
representatives, whether they have 
voting rights.

(c)  the extent to which a 
delegation, or the absence of a 
delegation, complies with guidance 
given by the Secretary of State 
and, to the extent that it does 
not comply, the reasons for not 
complying; and 

(d)  details of the terms, structure 
and operational procedures 
relating to the local pension board 
established under regulation 53(4) 
(Scheme managers).

5. Thus, the policy statement 
should include information about 
all of the administering authority’s 
pension fund governance 
arrangements. Information 
about the representation of 
employers should also cover any 
arrangements for representing 
admitted body employers (non-
scheme employers). 

 A copy of the Terms of Reference 
for the Fund’s local pension board 
is included on pages 60 to 62.

 
Area

 
Principle

Level of 
Compliance

Reason for 
Non-Compliance

G) Access a) That subject to any rules in the council’s 
constitution, all members of main and 
secondary committees or panels have equal 
access to committee papers, documents 
and advice that falls to be considered at 
meetings of the main committee. 

FULL - see 
Governance 
Policy Statement

H) Scope a) That administering authorities have taken 
steps to bring wider scheme issues 
within the scope of their governance 
arrangements.

FULL - see 
Governance 
Policy Statement

I) Publicity a) That administering authorities have 
published details of their governance 
arrangements in such a way that 
stakeholders with an interest in the way in 
which the scheme is governed, can express 
an interest in wanting to be part of those 
arrangements.

FULL - see 
Governance 
Policy Statement

Page 446



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  59

Pension Committee

8.  The Pension Committee’s 
formal terms of reference (above) 
are interpreted as including:

 Determining the overall 
investment strategy and strategic 
asset allocations of the Fund, with 
regard to investment suitability and 
diversification.

 Overseeing the preparation of 
the Investment Strategy Statement 
(ISS), including the Fund’s policy 
on socially responsible investment 
and Corporate Governance.

 Annually reviewing the ISS.

 Monitoring compliance with the 
ISS

 Overseeing the preparation of 
the Funding Strategy Statement.

 Approving the Annual Report.

 Appointing, reviewing and 
when necessary, dismissing, the 
Fund’s investment managers and 
custodian, subject to changes 
agreed by Brunel Pension 
Partnership as part of the Pooled 
Investments.

 Reviewing investment 

manager performance against set 
benchmarks on a regular basis.

 Appointing, reviewing and when 
necessary, dismissing, the Fund’s 
actuary, investment advisors/
consultants and performance 
measurement consultants.

 Ensuring appropriate Pension 
Fund governance arrangements 
are in place in accordance with 
the LGPS regulations and other 
regulatory requirements.

 Holding an annual meeting.

The Pension Committee reports to County Council. It meets formally each quarter and more frequently 
if formal decisions on fund management are required.

Terms of Reference:

 To set the investment policies of the Fund, including the establishment and maintenance of a strategic 
benchmark for asset allocation, drawing upon professional service providers, considering the 
forthcoming changes with Pooled Investments within Brunel Partnership.

 To appoint and review the performance of all Fund Managers and associated professional service 
providers.

 To approve and keep under review the Funding Strategy Statement.

 To approve and keep under review the Investment Strategy Statement.

 To report annually to the full Council.

 To consider any other matter relevant to the proper operation and management of the Fund.

 To review the Council’s performance as Administering Authority.

 To decide upon arrangements for managing the Administering Authority’s relationship with employers 
in the Fund e.g. agreeing contribution rates, establishing dispute resolution procedures and ensuring 
employers have established policies as required by Regulations.

 To decide upon requests for admission of qualifying organisations wishing to join the Fund.

 To decide upon key pension policy and discretions that are the responsibility of the Administering 
Authority.

 To consider advice and recommendations from the Pension Board on areas that may improve the 
governance of the Pension Fund (the remit of the Pension Board is detailed in its Terms of Reference).

 To consider the Pension Board’s proposed work plan for the forthcoming financial year.

Principle A - Structure

6. The purpose of the Pension 
Committee is to give advice on 
the proper management of the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
and carry out the function of the 
Council as Administering Authority.

7. Under the cabinet structure in 
local government, management 
of the pension fund is a 
non-executive function. In 
Gloucestershire it is linked to 
the administration by virtue of 
the Chairman of the Pension 
Committee being the Deputy 

Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Change. 

Page 447



60  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

Principle B - 
Representation

9. The role of independent 
professional observers in e.g. 
assessing compliance with 
the ISS’ principles and risk 
management, will be met 
by elected councillors with 
support from officers within the 
County Council and the Fund’s 
independent advisor.

Principle C – Selection and 
role of lay members

10. The Agenda for any meetings 
of the Pension Committee will 
include an item at the start of the 
meeting inviting all committee 
members to declare any financial 
or pecuniary interest related to 
specific matters on the agenda.

Principle D – Voting

11. The Pension Committee 
comprises 6 County Councillors, 
including the Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Change, together 
with one voting district council 
representative and one non-voting 
scheme member representative 
(who also represents pensioners 
and deferred members). The 
scheme member representative 
is non-voting because as the 
LGPS is a statutory scheme with 
benefits fully protected by statute, 
any changes in investment or 
other policies which were voted 
on by the scheme member 
representative does not affect the 
scheme members’ benefits.

The Fund’s independent 
investment advisor and the Chief 
Financial Officer and staff support 
the Committee in its role.

12. Elected councillors already 
have legal responsibilities for the 
prudent and effective stewardship 
of LGPS funds and in more general 
terms have a clear fiduciary duty in 
the performance of their functions. 
Lay members (non councillors) 
should be reminded that they 
owe a duty of care to the fund 

beneficiaries and are required to 
act in their best interests at all 
times, particularly in terms of their 
investment decisions. They are not 
there to represent their own local, 
political or private interest.

Principle E – Training/
Facility time/Expenses

13. Decisions should only be 
taken by persons or organisations 
with the skills, information and 
resources necessary to take them 
effectively. Where trustees elect to 
take investment decisions, they 
must have sufficient expertise 
and appropriate training to be 
able to evaluate critically any 
advice they take. All members 
of the Committee (including lay 
members) are offered training, 
including that offered by the 
Employers Organisation (and are 
exposed to presentations at the 
Committee’s quarterly meetings on 
investment matters). Substitutions 
are not permitted on the Pension 
Committee.

14. Committee members 
complete a training requirement 
self-assessment form. These are 
used to determine the training 
to be provided to Committee 
Members and a log of training 
undertaken is maintained by the 
Administering Authority.

15. The members’ allowances 
scheme within the County 
Council’s Constitution outlines the 
process for both councillors and 
lay members reclaiming expenses. 
The same rules apply to both 
councillors and lay members.

Principle F – Meetings 
(frequency/quorum)

16. The Pension Committee 
reports to County Council. It meets 
formally each quarter and more 
frequently if formal decisions on 
fund management are required.

Other ways of engaging 
stakeholders which the Council 
have adopted are:

 bi-lateral discussions, and 
similar forums, involving employers 
and other stakeholders;

 an annual meeting for all 
employers and fund members;

 a triennial meeting between 
all employers and the actuary to 
discuss the results of the actuarial 
valuation.

Principle G – Access 

17. All members of the Pensions 
Committee have equal access to 
committee papers, documents 
and advice. 

Principle H – Scope

18. The terms of reference of the 
Pensions Committee (as detailed 
in paragraph 7, on page 58 of this 
document) include general scheme 
and other administrative issues 
in connection with their role as 
Administering Authority. 

19. The finance and operational 
arrangements of the Fund are 
subject to review and audit by 
both the Fund’s external auditor, 
Grant Thornton, and the Council’s 
own internal audit service. Reports 
issued by our auditors are subject 
to consideration by the Council’s 
elected members acting as an 
audit committee.

Principle I – Publicity

20. The County Council is 
committed to the widest 
inclusion of all stakeholders in 
consultation and communication 
outside of the formal governance 
arrangements. In this respect it 
has made arrangements to make 
its publications available via the 
Council’s public website and its 
intranet.

21. A copy of the Governance 
Compliance Statement will be 
published as part of the Pension 
Fund Annual Report. The Annual 
Report is discussed at the Fund’s 
annual meeting which is open to all 
fund members and employers.

Page 448



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  61

Terms of Reference for the Pension Board of the 
Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund

1.  Role of the Pension 
Board

1.1 The role of the local Pension 
Board as defined by sections 5 
(1) and (2) of the Public Service 
Pensions Act 2013, is to –

 Assist Gloucestershire County 
Council as Scheme Manager; –

- to secure compliance with 
the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) Regulations and 
any other legislation relating to the 
governance and administration of 
the LGPS

- to secure compliance with 
requirements imposed in relation 
to the LGPS by the Pensions 
Regulator

- in such other matters as the 
LGPS regulations may specify

 Provide the Scheme Manager 
with such information as it requires 
to ensure that any member of the 
Pension Board or person to be 
appointed to the Pension Board 
does not have a conflict of interest.

1.2 In addition the LGPS 
(Amendment) (Governance) 
Regulations 2015 expect the 
Pension Board to assist the 
Scheme Manager to secure the 
effective and efficient governance 
and administration of the LGPS 
for the Gloucestershire Local 
Government Pension Fund.

1.3 The Board shall provide 
an annual report to the Pension 
Committee and then to a full 
meeting of Gloucestershire County 
Council. The report will include 
information on the business 
conducted by the Pension 
Board with any risks or concerns 
identified and mitigation steps 
proposed. The report will also be 
published on the Pension Fund’s 
website. Any concerns requiring 

reporting outside the annual 
process should be raised with the 
Pensions Committee.

1.4 The Pension Board will 
ensure it effectively and efficiently 
complies with the code of 
practice on the governance and 
administration of public service 
pension schemes issued by the 
Pension Regulator.

1.5 The Pension Board 
will also help ensure that the 
Gloucestershire Local Government 
Pension Fund is managed and 
administered effectively and 
efficiently and complies with 
the code of practice on the 
governance and administration of 
public service pension schemes 
issued by the Pension Regulator. 

1.6 The cost of running the 
Pension Board will be met from the 
Pension Fund.

2.  Appointment of 
members of the Pension 
Board

2.1 The Pension Board shall 
consist of seven members and be 
constituted as follows:

a)  The Chairman
The Chair of the Pension Board, 
who can demonstrate their 
knowledge and understanding of 
the Local Government Pension 
Scheme will be appointed by 
the Scheme Manager taking due 
regard of the Appointment of 
Other Members guidance, as set 
out in the LGPS Guidance on the 
creation and operation of Local 
Pension Boards in England and 
Wales. The Chair of the Pension 
Board cannot be a Gloucestershire 
County Councillor.

b) Three employer representatives 
who can demonstrate their 
capacity to represent other 
scheme employers, and their 

knowledge and understanding of 
the Local Government Pension 
Scheme. To be appointed by 
the Scheme Manager taking 
due regard of the process for 
appointing Employer and Member 
Representatives guidance, as set 
out in the LGPS Guidance on the 
creation and operation of Local 
Pension Boards in England and 
Wales 

c)  Three scheme member 
representatives who can 
demonstrate, their capacity 
to represent other scheme 
members, and their knowledge 
and understanding of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme. 
To be appointed by the Scheme 
Manager taking due regard of the 
process for appointing Employer 
and Member Representatives 
guidance, as set out in the LGPS 
Guidance on the creation and 
operation of Local Pension Boards 
in England and Wales 

One of the employer or member 
representatives should be a 
County Councillor appointed 
annually at a meeting of Full 
Council.

In order to ensure that effective 
Board Members are appointed 
who can demonstrate their 
capacity to represent other 
scheme employers or members (as 
appropriate), a direct appointment 
process will be followed 
wherever possible, with member 
representative being selected 
through nominations made by 
recognised trade unions, and 
employer representatives being 
selected through nominations 
made from established employers 
within the Fund.

3.  Length of term and 
removal

3.1 The Chairman, each 
employer representative, and 

Page 449



62  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

scheme member representative 
so appointed shall serve initially 
for a 4 year term, which may be 
extended for further 4 year terms 
subject to taking due regard of the 
process for appointing Employer 
and Member Representatives 
guidance, and other Members, as 
set out in the LGPS Guidance on 
the creation and operation of Local 
Pension Boards in England and 
Wales.

3.2 Board members can be 
removed on grounds of non 
attendance, breach of code of 
conduct and non participation in 
training.

3.3 Each Board member should 
endeavour to attend all Board 
meetings during the year and is 
required to attend at least one 
of the scheduled meetings each 
financial year. In the event of a 
Board member failing to do this, or 
other persistent non-attendance 
then the tenure of that member 
should be reviewed by the other 
Board members.

3.4 Other than by ceasing to 
be eligible, a Board member 
may only be removed from office 
during a term of appointment by 
the unanimous agreement of all of 
the other members in attendance 
at the Board Meeting where this 
is being considered. The removal 
of the Chairman also requires the 
consent of the Scheme Manager. 

4.  Quorum

The Board shall have a formal 
quorum of 3 to include one 
employer representative and one 
member representative.

Because of the specialist nature 
of their work, no substitution is 
permitted.

Meetings of the Local Pension 
Board will always be chaired by 
the appointed Chair of the Board 
when in attendance. Where the 

Chair is not in attendance at a 
meeting, those members present 
will elect a temporary chairperson 
for that meeting.

5.  Code of Conduct and 
Conflicts of Interest

The principles included in the 
County Council’s Member Code of 
Conduct applies to all members of 
the Local Pension Board. Likewise, 
all other relevant County Council 
policies shall apply to members of 
the Pension Board.

6. Knowledge and Skills 

A member of the Pension Board 
will be conversant with –

 The legislation and associated 
guidance of the Local Government 
Pension Scheme (LGPS).

 Any document recording policy 
about the administration of the 
LGPS which is for the time being 
adopted by the Gloucestershire 
Local Government Pension Fund.

A member of the Pension Board 
must have knowledge and 
understanding of –

- The law relating to pensions, 
and

- Any other matters which are 
prescribed in regulations.

7.  Board Meetings and 
Publication of Board 
Information

7.1  The Board shall meet no less 
than twice per annum. If there is a 
need for additional meetings these 
will be determined by the Chair of 
the Board.

7.2 The agenda and supporting 
papers shall be distributed to 
members of the board 5 clear 
working days prior to each 
meeting.

7.3 Pension Board papers, 
agendas and minutes of 
meetings will be published on the 
Gloucestershire Local Government 
Pension Fund website subject to 
the Rules on Access to Information 
and the Data Protection Act 1998. 

7.4 The reimbursement of 
reasonable travel and subsistence 
expenses for attendance at Board 
meetings and approved training 
events will be made to Board 
Members.

8. Remit of the Board

The Board shall:

i. Ensure the Pension Fund’s 
strategy and policy documents are 
in place and have been maintained 
in accordance with the LGPS 
Regulations. These documents 
are the Communications Policy 
Statement, Funding Strategy 
Statement, Governance 
Compliance Statement, Pensions 
Administration Strategy, Pension 
Fund Annual Report and Accounts 
and Statement of Investment 
Principles.

ii. Ensure the Pension Fund’s 
internal Risk Register is in place 
and reviewed at least annually.

iii. Review the Pension Fund’s 
performance in complying 
with the requirements of the 
LGPS Regulations and any 
other legislation relating to the 
governance and administration of 
the LGPS.

iv. Review the Pension Fund’s 
performance in complying with 
the requirements of the Pension 
Regulator.

v. Provide advice and make 
recommendations when required, 
to the Pensions Committee, 
on areas that may improve the 
governance of the Pension Fund.

vi. Formulate and agree an annual 
work-plan for the Board.

Page 450



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  63

vii. To carry out any other activities 
relating to the efficient governance 
and administration of the Pension 
Fund, which the Pensions 
Committee may request the 
Pension Board to undertake.  

9. Voting Rights and 
Decision Making

9.1 Only members of the 
Pension Board who are employer 
or member representatives will 
have an individual voting right but 
it is expected the Pension Board 

will as far as possible reach a 
consensus.

9.2 A majority of Board 
members, with a voting right 
and present at a meeting, will be 
required to agree any decision of 
the Board, including any referrals 
back to the Pensions Committee. 

10.  Accountability

The Pension Board will be 
collectively and individually 
accountable to the Scheme 
Manager. 

Definitions

The undernoted terms shall have the following meaning when used in this document:

“Pension Board” or “Board” Means the local Pension Board for Gloucestershire County Council as 
Administering Authority for the Gloucestershire Local Government (LGPS) 
Pension Fund as required under the Public Service Pensions Act 2013

“Scheme Manager” Means Gloucestershire County Council as Administering Authority of the 
Gloucestershire Local Government (LGPS) Pension Fund

“LGPS” The Local Government Pension Scheme as constituted by the Local 
Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013, the Local Government 
Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) 
Regulations 2014 and The Local Government Pension Scheme (Management 
and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2009

“Scheme” Means the Local Government Pension Scheme as defined under “LGPS”

Page 451



64  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

Fund Account and 
Net Assets Statement

> Statement of Accounts 2019/20

Statement of Responsibilities and Foreword 
to Accounts

The audited accounts and notes following on pages 67 to 103, 
summarise the transactions and net assets of the Fund.  

Authority’s Responsibilities

The Authority is required:

 To make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial  
affairs and to secure that one of its officers has the responsibility for 
the administration of those affairs (the Chief Financial Officer).

 To manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of 
resources and safeguard its assets.

 To approve the statement of accounts.

The Chief Financial Officer’s Responsibilities

The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for the preparation of the 
Fund’s statement of accounts in accordance with proper practices 
set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom.

In preparing this statement of accounts, the Chief Financial Officer has:

 Selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently.

 Made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent.

 Complied with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting.

 Kept proper accounting records which were up to date.

 Taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities.

Steve Mawson
Executive Director of Corporate Services 
(and Section 151 Officer)
30th October 2020

Page 452



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]  65

Independent Auditor’s 
Report to the Members 
of Gloucestershire County 
Council on the pension 
fund financial statements 
of Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund

Opinion

We have audited the financial 
statements of Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund (the ‘pension fund’) 
administered by Gloucestershire 
County Council (the ‘Authority’) 
for the year ended 31 March 2020 
which comprise the Fund Account, 
the Net Assets Statement and 
notes to the pension fund financial 
statements, including a summary 
of significant accounting policies. 
The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their 
preparation is applicable law 
and the CIPFA/LASAAC code 
of practice on local authority 
accounting in the United Kingdom 
2019/20.

In our opinion, the financial 
statements:

 give a true and fair view of 
the financial transactions of the 
pension fund during the year 
ended 31 March 2020 and of the 
amount and disposition at that 
date of the fund’s assets and 
liabilities

 have been properly prepared 
in accordance with the CIPFA/
LASAAC code of practice on local 
authority accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2019/20; and 

 have been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements 
of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in 
accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) 
(ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. 

Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described 
in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities 
for the audit of the financial 
statements’ section of our 
report. We are independent of 
the Authority in accordance with 
the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the pension 
fund’s financial statements in the 
UK, including the FRC’s Ethical 
Standard, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

The impact of macro-
economic uncertainties on 
our audit 

Our audit of the pension fund 
financial statements requires us 
to obtain an understanding of all 
relevant uncertainties, including 
those arising as a consequence 
of the effects of macro-economic 
uncertainties such as Covid-19 
and Brexit. All audits assess and 
challenge the reasonableness of 
estimates made by the Executive 
Director of Corporate Resources 
and the related disclosures and 
the appropriateness of the going 
concern basis of preparation of the 
financial statements. All of these 
depend on assessments of the 
future economic environment.

Covid-19 and Brexit are amongst 
the most significant economic 
events currently faced by the 
UK, and at the date of this 
report their effects are subject 
to unprecedented levels of 
uncertainty, with the full range 
of possible outcomes and their 
impacts unknown. We applied 
a standardised firm-wide 
approach in response to these 
uncertainties. However, no audit 
should be expected to predict the 
unknowable factors or all possible 
future implications for a fund 
associated with these particular 
events.

Conclusions relating to 
going concern

We have nothing to report in 
respect of the following matters 
in relation to which the ISAs (UK) 
require us to report to you where:

 the Executive Director of 
Corporate Resources use of the 
going concern basis of accounting 
in the preparation of the pension 
fund’s financial statements is not 
appropriate; or

 the Executive Director of 
Corporate Resources has not 
disclosed in the pension fund’s 
financial statements any identified 
material uncertainties that may 
cast significant doubt about the 
Authority’s ability to continue to 
adopt the going concern basis of 
accounting for the pension fund for 
a period of at least twelve months 
from the date when the pension 
fund’s financial statements are 
authorised for issue.

In our evaluation of the Executive 
Director of Corporate Resources 
conclusions, and in accordance 
with the expectation set out 
within the CIPFA/LASAAC code 
of practice on local authority 
accounting in the United Kingdom 
2019/20 that the pension fund 
financial statements shall be 
prepared on a going concern 
basis, we considered the risks 
associated with the fund’s 
operating model, including effects 
arising from macro-economic 
uncertainties such as Covid-19 
and Brexit, and analysed how 
those risks might affect the fund’s 
financial resources or ability to 
continue operations over the 
period of at least twelve months 
from the date when the financial 
statements are authorised for 
issue. In accordance with the 
above, we have nothing to report 
in these respects. 

However, as we cannot predict 
all future events or conditions and 
as subsequent events may result 
in outcomes that are inconsistent 

Page 453



66  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

with judgements that were 
reasonable at the time they were 
made, the absence of reference 
to a material uncertainty in this 
auditor’s report is not a guarantee 
that the fund will continue in 
operation.

Emphasis of Matter - 
effects of Covid-19 on 
the valuation of pooled 
property investments

We draw attention to Note N2 
of the Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund financial statements and 
the assumptions made about 
the future and other major 
sources of estimation uncertainty 
which describes the effects of 
the Covid-19 pandemic on the 
valuation of the pension fund’s 
pooled property investments as 
at 31 March 2020. As, disclosed 
in this note to the financial 
statements, the valuation of a 
number of the pooled property 
funds include a material valuation 
uncertainty clause given the 
unknown impact of Covid-19 might 
have on the real estate market. Our 
opinion is not modified in respect of 
this matter.

Other information

The Executive Director of 
Corporate Resources is 
responsible for the other 
information. The other information 
comprises the information included 
in the Statement of Accounts other 
than the pension fund’s financial 
statements, our auditor’s report 
thereon and our auditor’s report on 
the Authority’s financial statements. 
Our opinion on the pension fund’s 
financial statements does not cover 
the other information and, except 
to the extent otherwise explicitly 
stated in our report, we do not 
express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit 
of the pension fund’s financial 

statements, our responsibility 
is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information 
is materially inconsistent with 
the pension fund’s financial 
statements or our knowledge of 
the pension fund obtained in the 
audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If we identify 
such material inconsistencies or 
apparent material misstatements, 
we are required to determine 
whether there is a material 
misstatement in the pension 
fund’s financial statements or 
a material misstatement of the 
other information. If, based on 
the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to 
report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this 
regard.

Opinion on other matter 
required by the Code of 
Audit Practice published 
by the National Audit 
Office on behalf of the 
Comptroller and Auditor 
General (the Code of Audit 
Practice)

In our opinion, based on the work 
undertaken in the course of the 
audit of the pension fund’s financial 
statements and our knowledge 
of the pension fund the other 
information published together 
with the pension fund’s financial 
statements in the Statement of 
Accounts for the financial year for 
which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the 
pension fund’s financial statements.

Matters on which we 
are required to report by 
exception

Under the Code of Audit Practice, 
we are required to report to you if:

 we issue a report in the public 
interest under section 24 of the 
Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014 in the course of, or at the 
conclusion of the audit; or

 we make a written 
recommendation to the Authority 
under section 24 of the Local Audit 
and Accountability Act 2014 in the 
course of, or at the conclusion of 
the audit; or

 we make an application to the 
court for a declaration that an item 
of account is contrary to law under 
Section 28 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 in the 
course of, or at the conclusion of 
the audit; or; 

 we issue an advisory notice 
under Section 29 of the Local Audit 
and Accountability Act 2014 in the 
course of, or at the conclusion of 
the audit; or 

 we make an application for 
judicial review under Section 31 of 
the Local Audit and Accountability 
Act 2014, in the course of, or at the 
conclusion of the audit.

We have nothing to report in 
respect of the above matters.

Responsibilities of the 
Authority, the Executive 
Director of Corporate 
Resources and Those 
Charged with Governance 
for the financial 
statements

As explained more fully in the 
Statement of Responsibilities set 
out on page 26, the Authority is 
required to make arrangements 
for the proper administration of 
its financial affairs and to secure 
that one of its officers has the 
responsibility for the administration 
of those affairs. In this authority, 
that officer is the Executive Director 
of Corporate Resources. The 
Executive Director of Corporate 
Resources is responsible for the 

Page 454



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]  67

preparation of the Statement 
of Accounts, which includes 
the pension fund’s financial 
statements, in accordance with 
proper practices as set out in the 
CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice 
on local authority accounting in 
the United Kingdom 2019/20, 
for being satisfied that they give 
a true and fair view, and for such 
internal control as the Executive 
Director of Corporate Resources 
determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the pension fund’s 
financial statements, the Executive 
Director of Corporate Resource 
is responsible for assessing the 
pension fund’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, 
as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless 
there is an intention by government 
that the services provided by the 
pension fund will no longer be 
provided. 

The Audit and Governance 
Committee is Those Charged with 
Governance. Those charged with 
governance are responsible for 
overseeing the Authority’s financial 
reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities 
for the audit of the 
financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain 
reasonable assurance about 
whether the pension fund’s 
financial statements as a 
whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs 
(UK) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from 

fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these financial 
statements.

A further description of our 
responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements is located 
on the Financial Reporting 
Council’s website at: www.frc.
org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. 
This description forms part of our 
auditor’s report.

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the 
members of the Authority, as a 
body, in accordance with Part 5 of 
the Local Audit and Accountability 
Act 2014 and as set out in 
paragraph 43 of the Statement 
of Responsibilities of Auditors 
and Audited Bodies published by 
Public Sector Audit Appointments 
Limited. Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state 
to the Authority’s members those 
matters we are required to state 
to them in an auditor’s report and 
for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility 
to anyone other than the Authority 
and the Authority’s members as a 
body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have 
formed.

Peter Barber, Key Audit Partner

for and on behalf of 
Grant Thornton UK LLP,
Local Auditor
Bristol

18 November 2020

Page 455



68  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

 2018/19 
    
 £000  £000 £000 Note 

Fund Account for the year ended 31st March 2020

  Contributions  
 -93,016  employer contributions -84,158  N20 
 -18,114  members’ contributions -18,962  N20 
 -111,130    -103,120 N7 
   
  Transfers in from other pension funds 
 -6,736  individual transfers from other schemes or funds -12,575
 -  group transfers from other schemes or funds -  
 -6,736    -12,575 
   
  Other income    
 -132  recoveries for services provided  -136 N22 
  
  Benefits     
 69,453  pensions 73,026  N32 
 12,203  commutation of pensions and lump sum 13,930 
   retirement benefits    
 1,804  lump sum death benefits 1,334   
 83,460    88,290 N7 
   

  Payments to and on account of leavers    
 336  refunds to members leaving scheme or fund 373   
 36  payments for members joining state scheme or fund -1   
 4,992  individual transfers to other schemes or funds 7,929
 -  group transfers to other schemes or funds -   
 5,364    8,301 
 
 -29,174 Net (addition) / withdrawals from dealings with members  -19,240

 8,442 Management expenses  10,028 N22

 -20,732 Net (additions) / withdrawals including fund management  -9,212
  expenses 
    

  Returns on investments 
 -27,684  investment income -25,088  N15 
 3  taxes on income 46  N3 & N15 
 -90,864  Profit(-) and losses on disposal of investments and 168,409  N4 
   changes in market value of investments   
 
 -118,545 Net returns on investments  143,367 
  
 -139,277 Net increase (-) / decrease in the net assets  134,155  
  available for benefits during the year   
 
2,239,441  Opening net assets of the scheme  2,378,718 
  

2,378,718  Closing net assets of the scheme  2,244,563

2019/20

Page 456



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]  69

 2018/19  2019/20
   
 £000  £000 Note 

Net Asset Statement as at 31st March 2020

The Fund’s financial statements do not take account of liabilities to pay pensions and other benefits after the 
period end but rather summarise the transactions and net assets of the scheme.

The actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits is disclosed at Note N26.

The notes on the following pages form part of these Financial Statements.

  Investment assets  
 323,927  Bonds 331,206 
 1,829,558  Pooled investment vehicles 1,681,377 N10

 192,478  Property unit trusts  192,062 N10 
  1,297  Derivative contracts 2,904 N2 & N17 

  4,972  Other investments - Venture Capital/Private Equity 4,491  
 11,753  Cash held on behalf of the investment managers 12,328 N27 
  4,450  Other investment balances 4,352  
2,368,435   2,228,720 N14

  Long term investment assets   
 395  Brunel Pension Partnership 427 N9

 395   427

  Investment liabilities   
 -1,429  Derivative contracts -4,108 N2 & N17 

 -1,412  Other investment balances -946  
 -2,841   -5,054 N14

2,365,989 Total Net Investments 2,224,093 

  Long term assets   
 440  Contributions due from employers 315  

 618  Other long term assets (debtors)  - 

 1,058   315 N14 & N24

  Current assets   
 4,708  Contributions due from employers 4,808  

 410  Other current assets 471
 618  Money due re. transfer of staff to another pension scheme 618
 256  Payments in advance 250 
 8,006  Cash balances 17,539 N2, N23
     & N27

 13,998   23,686 N14 & N24

  Current liabilities   
 -26  Unpaid benefits -18  
 -2,301  Other current liabilities -3,513
 -2,327   -3,531 N14 & N25

2,378,718 Net assets of the scheme available to fund 2,244,563 N4, N5,
  benefits at the reporting period end  N14 & N18

Page 457



70  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

N1 Introduction  

The County Council is the 
administering body for the 
Gloucestershire Local Government 
Pension Fund. This is not only for 
County Council employees but 
also for District Councils within 
the County and other local bodies 
providing public services. A full list 
of all employing bodies who are 
members of the Fund are shown 
in the Pension Fund’s Annual 
Report alongside the more detailed 
accounts of the Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund.                                                                                      

The Fund is governed by 
the Public Service Pensions 
Act 2013 and administered 
in accordance with the 
following secondary legislation:                                                                                                                                     
                                                                                     
- The LGPS Regulations 2013 (as 
amended) 

- The LGPS (Transitional 
Provisions, Savings and 
Amendment) Regulations 2014 (as 
amended)

- The LGPS (Management 
and Investment of Funds) 
Regulations 2016 (as amended)                                                                                                                                         
                                                                                      
The Fund exists to provide 
pensions and certain other benefits 
to former employees. The Pension 
Fund is not a Gloucestershire 
County Council fund and is 
subject to its own audit; therefore 
balances are not included in the 
Gloucestershire County Council 
Consolidated Balance Sheet.  
The Fund is administered by the 
Pension Committee, which is a 
committee of Gloucestershire 
County Council. The Pension 
Board was set up with effect from 
the 1st April 2015 to assist the 
Pensions Committee in securing 
compliance with the relevant laws 
and Regulations and to help the 
Pension Committee ensure the 
effective and efficient governance 
and administration of the Fund.

Membership Breakdown

Membership of the LGPS is 
voluntary and employees are free 

to choose whether to join the 
scheme, remain in the scheme 
or make their own personal 
arrangements outside the scheme.

Organisations participating in 
the Pension Fund include the 
following:

- Scheduled bodies, which are 
automatically entitled to be 
members of the Fund.

- Admitted bodies, which 
participate in the Fund under the 
terms of an admission agreement 
between the Fund and the 
employer. Admitted bodies include 
voluntary, charitable and similar 
not-for-profit organisations, or 
private contractors undertaking a 
local authority function following 
outsourcing to the private sector.

Fire fighters, police and teachers 
have their own separate nationally-
administered schemes.

Membership details are set out 
below:    

Notes to the Pension Fund Accounts 2019/20

   31st March  31st March
   2019 2020
 
 Number of employers 205 204

 Number of employees in the scheme

 County Council 10,241  10,252  
 Other employers 8,728   8,869  

   18,969   19,121  
 Number of pensioners  

 County  Council 9,476  9,812  
 Other employers 6,582  6,795  

   16,058    16,607  
 Deferred pensioners  

 County  Council 11,996   11,743  
 Other employers 8,421   8,430 

    20,417   20,173 
    
Total number of members in pension scheme 55,444   55,901 

Page 458



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]  71

In addition there were 4,516 
(4,690 2018/19) undecided or 
unprocessed leavers.  

Undecided leavers are those 
members who are no longer 
accruing service and to whom a 
refund of contributions or transfer 
out may be due.

Unprocessed leavers are those 
members which represent cases 
where we are aware that a 
member has left, but that case has 
not yet been processed.  

Funding

Benefits are funded by 
contributions and investment 
earnings. Contributions are 
made by active members of 
the Fund in accordance with 
the Local Government Pension 
Scheme Regulations 2013 and 
ranged from 5.5% to 12.5% of 
pensionable pay for the financial 
year ending 31st March 2020. 
Employers’ contributions are set 
based on triennial actuarial funding 
valuations. The last such valuation 
was at 31st March 2019. During 
2019/20 employer contribution 
rates ranged from 14.9% to 40.9% 
of pensionable pay.

Benefits

Prior to 1st April 2014, pension 
benefits under the LGPS were 
based on final pensionable pay 
and length of pensionable service. 
From 1st April 2014, the scheme 
became a career average scheme, 
whereby members accrue benefits 
based on their pensionable pay 
in that year at an accrual rate 
of 1/49th. Accrued pension is 
uprated annually in line with 
Consumer Prices Index.

A range of other benefits are also 
provided including early retirement, 
disability pensions and death 
benefits, as explained on the LGPS 
website. 

N2  Summary of 
significant accounting 
policies

Basis of Preparation

The Statement of Accounts 
summarises the Funds’ 
transactions for the 2019/20 
financial year and its position at 
year end as at 31st March 2020. 
The accounts have been prepared 
in accordance with the Code 
of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 
2019/20 which is based upon 
International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), as amended for 
the UK public sector. The accounts 
summarise the transactions of the 
Fund and reports on the net assets 
available to pay pension benefits. 
The accounts do not take account 
of obligations to pay pensions and 
benefits which fall due after the end 
of the financial year. The actuarial 
value of promised retirement 
benefits, valued on an International 
Accounting Standard (IAS19) 
basis, is disclosed at Note 26 of 
these accounts. The accounts are 
prepared on a going concern basis.

Critical judgements in applying 
accounting policies

The net Pension Fund liability is 
recalculated every three years by 
the appointed actuary, with annual 
updates in the intervening years.  
The methodology used is in line 
with accepted guidelines.

This estimate is subject to 
significant variances based 
on changes to the underlying 
assumptions which are agreed 
with the actuary and have been 
summarised in Note N26.

These actuarial revaluations are 
used to set future contribution 
rates and underpin the Fund’s 
most significant investment 
management policies.

Assumptions made about the 
future and other major sources 
of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of financial 
statements requires management 
to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the 
amounts reported for assets and 
liabilities at the year-end-date 
and the amounts reported for the 
revenues and expenses during the 
year. Estimates and assumptions 
are made taking into account 
historical experience, current 
trends and other relevant factors. 
However, the nature of estimation 
means that the actual outcomes 
could differ from the assumptions 
and estimates. Income and 
expenditure have been accounted 
for on an accruals basis.

The items within the Financial 
Statements as at 31st March 
2020, for which there is a risk 
of material adjustment in the 
forthcoming year, are highlighted 
overleaf:

Contribution Income

Income and expenditure have 
been accounted for on an accruals 
basis and amounts due have been 
determined in time for inclusion 
in the accounts. Any amount due 
in year but unpaid will be classed 
as a current financial asset. 
Benefits payable and refunds of 
contributions have been brought 
into the accounts on the basis of 
all valid claims approved during the 
year. Individual transfer values are 
accounted for when they are paid 
or received. Bulk transfer values 
are accrued when the value has 
been determined.

Management Expenses

Pension Fund expenses have been 
accounted for in accordance with 
the CIPFA guidance Accounting 
for Local Government Pension 
Scheme Management Costs. 
A more detailed breakdown of 
management expenses can be 
found in Note N22.

Page 459



72  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

Investment Management 
Expenses

Investment Management 
Expenses comprise of expenses 
which are incurred in relation to 
the management of pension fund 
assets. Where an investment 
manager’s fee has not been 
received by the reporting period 
end date, an estimate based upon 
the market value of the mandate 
at the end of the reporting period 
has been used. Where fees are 
netted off quarterly valuations 
by investment managers, these 
expenses are shown separately 

in Note N22 and grossed up to 
increase the change in value of 
investments.

Federated Hermes deducts its 
fees from a combination of assets 
held and income distributions 
and is included within Investment 
Management Expenses. 
Technology Venture Partners (TVP) 
and Yorkshire Fund Managers 
(YFM) deduct their fees from the 
value of the assets under their 
management. Fees for TVP and 
YFM have not been included as 
they are the legal responsibility of 
the managers and not the Fund.  

Management costs from Arcmont 
are deducted from distributions. 
Brunel Pension Partnership (BPP) 
passive global equity pooled funds 
encash units to cover their fees 
and these have also been included 
within Investment Management 
Expenses. 

Acquisition and Transaction 
Costs of Investments

Acquisition costs of investments 
(e.g. stamp duty) and transaction 
costs are included within 
Investment Management Expenses 
with a corresponding offset against 

Item Uncertainties Effect if actual results differ from 
assumptions

Actuarial present value 
of promised retirement 
benefits (Note N26)

Estimation of the net liability to 
pay pensions depends on a 
number of complex judgements 
relating to the discount rate 
used, salary increases, changes 
in retirement ages, mortality 
rates and returns on fund 
assets. A firm of consulting 
actuaries is engaged to provide 
the fund with expert advice 
about the assumptions to be 
applied

The effects on the net pension liability of 
changes in the individual assumptions can be 
measured as follows:

- A 0.5% decrease in the real discount rate 
would increase the liability by £304m

- A 0.5% increase in the pension increase rate 
would increase the liability by £273m

- A 0.5% increase in the salary increase rate 
would increase the liability by £28m

Pooled property 
investments

The valuation of a number of 
pooled property funds include 
a material valuation uncertainty 
clause given the unknown future 
impact that COVID-19 might 
have on the real estate market.

The total value of these pooled property funds in 
the financial statements as at 31st March 2020 is 
£183.1m. There is a risk that these investments 
may be under or overstated in the accounts.  
A change in market price of 10% would equate  
to a potential movement of £18.3m.

Private Equity, 
Infrastructure and Private 
Debt

Investments are not publicly 
listed and as such there is a 
degree of estimation involved in 
the valuation.  

Due to the normal delay in 
receiving quarterly valuation 
statements for the underlying 
funds, accounts production was 
delayed so as to incorporate 
March end valuations wherever 
possible.  Investments in Private 
Equity and Infrastructure funds 
totalling  £8.8m have a valuation 
date of December 2019. 

The total value of Private equity, Infrastructure 
and Private Debt investments in the 
financial statements as at 31st March 2020 
are £76.735m. There is a risk that these 
investments may be under or overstated in the 
accounts, see Note 28.

A change in market price of those holdings 
valued as at the end of December 2019 of 
10% would equate to a potential movement of 
£0.9m.

Items within the Net Asset Statement as at 31st March 2020, for 
which there is a risk of material adjustment in the forthcoming year

Page 460



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]  73

Profit on Disposal of Investments. 
In addition to the transaction 
costs disclosed, indirect costs 
are incurred through the bid/offer 
spread on investments within 
pooled investment vehicles. The 
amounts of indirect costs are not 
separately provided to the Fund. 
A more detailed breakdown of 
management expenses, including 
transaction costs, can be found in 
Note N22.

Administration Expenses

All administrative expenses are 
accounted for on an accrual basis. 
All staff costs associated with 
administration is charged to the 
Fund. Associated management, 
accommodation and other 
overheads are apportioned to this 
activity and charged as expenses 
to the Fund. Further information 
on administrative expenses can be 
found in Note N22.

Oversight & Governance 
Expenses

All Oversight and Governance 
expenses are accounted for on 
an accrual basis. All staff costs 
associated with Oversight and 
Governance is charged to the 
Fund. Associated management, 
accommodation and other 
overheads are apportioned to 
this activity and charged as 
expenses to the Fund. The 
cost of investment advice from 
external consultants is included in 
Oversight & Governance. Further 
information on Oversight and 
Governance expenses can be 
found in Note N22.

Investment Income

Dividends are accounted for 
when the holding is declared ex-
dividend. Any amount not received 
by the end of the reporting period 
is recognised as a current financial 
asset. Investment income arising 
from the underlying investments 
of Pooled Investment Vehicles 
is reinvested within the Pooled 

Investment Vehicle and reflected in 
the unit price.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash comprises cash in hand 
(bank) and demand deposits 
(money market funds) which also 
includes amounts held by the 
Fund’s custodian on behalf of its 
investment managers.

Cash equivalents are short-term, 
highly liquid investments that 
are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and are subject 
to minimal risk of changes in value.

Cash balances held in accordance 
with the County Councils’ Treasury 
Management Strategy and those 
held with the Funds’ Custodian 
State Street Global Services, on 
behalf of investment managers, are 
in instant access accounts.

The Actuarial Present Value of 
Promised Retirement Benefits

The actuarial present value of 
promised retirement benefits is 
assessed on a triennial basis by 
the scheme actuary in accordance 
with the requirements of IAS 19 
Post-Employment Benefits and 
relevant actuarial standards.

As permitted under the Code, 
the Fund has included a note 
disclosing the actuarial present 
value of retirement benefits by 
way of a note to the net asset 
statement in Note N26.

Contingent assets and 
contingent liabilities

A contingent asset arises where an 
event has taken place giving rise to 
a possible asset whose existence 
will only be confirmed or otherwise 
by the occurrence of future events.

A contingent liability arises where 
an event has taken place prior 
to the year-end giving rise to a 
possible financial obligation whose 
existence will only be confirmed 
or otherwise by the occurrence of 

future events. Contingent liabilities 
can also arise in circumstances 
where a provision would be made, 
except that it is not possible at the 
balance sheet date to measure 
the value of the financial obligation 
reliably.

Contingent assets and liabilities 
are not recognised in the net asset 
statement but are disclosed by 
way of narrative in the notes.

Valuation of Assets

The SORP requires securities to 
be valued on a Fair Value Basis 
therefore assets and liabilities, 
where there is an active and 
readily available market price, 
are valued at the bid price. 
Where assets do not actively 
trade through established 
exchange mechanisms, a price 
is obtained from the manager of 
the investment asset through their 
quarterly reports. Further details 
of their approach to establishing 
fair value can be found within 
Note N28, Basis of Valuation 
table. Investments held in foreign 
currencies are shown at market 
value translated into sterling at the 
exchange rates prevailing as at 
31st March 2020. Purchases and 
sales during the year which require 
settlement in a foreign currency 
are converted from/to sterling at 
the exchange rate prevailing on the 
trade date. Fixed interest securities 
are recorded at market value based 
on their yields. Pooled investment 
vehicles are valued at closing bid 
price if both bid and offer prices 
are published; or if single priced, at 
the closing single price. In the case 
of pooled investment vehicles that 
are accumulation funds, change 
in market value also includes 
income which is re-invested in the 
fund, net of applicable withholding 
tax. Property within the property 
unit trusts are independently 
valued mainly in accordance with 
the Royal Institute of Chartered 
Surveyors valuation standards. 
Private Equity is valued using 
the latest financial statements 

Page 461



74  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

published by the respective fund 
managers and in accordance with 
the International Private Equity and 
Venture Capital Guidelines. The 
valuation standards followed by 
the managers are in accordance 
with the industry guidelines and 
the constituent management 
agreements. Such investments 
may not always be valued on year 
end valuation as information may 
not be available, and therefore 
will be valued based on the 
latest valuation provided by the 
managers adjusted for movements 
to the year end.

Financial assets are included in 
the financial statements on a fair 
value basis at the reporting date. 
A financial asset is recognised in 
the net assets statement on the 
date the fund becomes party to the 
contractual acquisition of the asset. 
From this date any gains or losses 
arising from the changes in the fair 
value of the asset are recognised in 
the Fund Account.

The values of investment as shown 
in the net assets statement have 
been determined at fair value in 
accordance with the requirements 

of the Code and IFRS 13. For 
the purposes of disclosing levels 
of fair value hierarchy, the Fund 
has adopted the classification 
guidelines recommended in 
Practical Guidance on Investment 
Disclosures (PRAG/Investment 
Association).

Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
and the nine other shareholders 
each hold a 10% share in Brunel 
Pension Partnership Ltd (company 
number 10429110). As such, 
no fund is deemed to have a 
significant influence and this long 
term investment is accounted 
for at fair value. The asset was 
initially measured at cost and is 
subsequently revalued for any 
impairment. 

The accounts for the year 
ended 31st March 2020 use the 
valuations for the Fund’s assets 
based on the figures provided by 
the Fund’s custodian, State Street.

Derivatives

Derivative contracts are valued 
at fair value and are determined 
using exchange prices at the 

reporting date. The fair value is 
the unrealised profit or loss at 
the current bid or offer market 
quoted price of the contract. 
Derivative contract assets, those 
with a positive value, are valued at 
bid price and derivative contract 
liabilities, those with a negative 
value, are valued at the offer price.  
The amounts included in change 
in market value are the realised 
gains and losses on closed futures 
contracts and the unrealised 
gains and losses on open futures 
contracts. The fair value of the 
forward currency contracts 
are based on market forward 
exchange rates at the year end 
date.

N3  Taxation

The Fund is exempt from UK 
capital gains tax on the proceeds 
of investments sold. Corporation 
Tax is deducted from UK equity 
dividends; tax deducted from 
property unit trusts can be 
reclaimed. Withholding tax is 
payable on income from overseas 
investments. This tax is recovered 
wherever local tax laws permit.

Page 462



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]  75

Asset Class

 Market value Purchases  Sales  Change in  Market value  
 at 31st  during the year proceeds   market value at 31st 
2018/19 March 2018  at cost and  during the year during the  March 2019   
   derivative  and derivative  year 
   payments  receipts 

 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000

Bonds 288,855 263,080 -229,080 1,072 323,927 
Equities 380,754 43,721 -404,809 -19,666 -                        
Pooled Investments 1,331,728 1,622,774 -1,225,416 100,472 1,829,558
Property Unit Trusts 176,138 7,192                       - 9,148 192,478
Private Equity 5,624   36 -2,198 1,510 4,972

 2,183,099 1,936,803 -1,861,503 92,536 2,350,935

Derivative contracts:
   Futures 203 2,945 -1,657 -2,033 -542
   Forward currency contracts 187                       -           - 223 410

 390 2,945 -1,657 -1,810 -132

Long term investment assets  
   Brunel Pension Partnership 840                     -            - -445 395

 840                     -            - -445 395

Net investment assets 2,184,329 1,939,748 -1,863,160 90,281 2,351,198

N4  Investment Movements Summary

Asset Class

 Market value Purchases  Sales  Change in  Market value  
 at 31st  during the year proceeds   market value at 31st 
2019/20 March 2019  at cost and  during the year during the  March 2020 
   derivative  and derivative year  
   payments  receipts 

 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000

Bonds 323,927 91,304 -78,310 -5,715 331,206 
Equities - - - - -
Pooled Investments 1,829,558 858,584 -849,694 -157,071 1,681,377
Property Unit Trusts 192,478 3,821 -2,224 -2,013 192,062
Private Equity 4,972                     - -44 -437 4,491

 2,350,935 953,709 -930,272 -165,236 2,209,136

Derivative contracts:
   Futures -542 5,058 -3,474 -627 415
   Forward currency contracts 410 - -  -2,029 -1,619

 -132 5,058 -3,474 -2,656 -1,204

Long term investment assets  
   Brunel Pension Partnership 395 - - 32 427

 395 - - 32 427

Net investment assets 2,351,198 958,767 -933,746 -167,860 2,208,359

In addition to the investments there was £36,204k (£27,520k 2018/19) in cash, cash equivalents and 
accruals.  Cash movements, currency adjustments and other end of year settlements totalled (-£550k) (£583k 
2018/19). As a result the total profit (-) and losses on disposal of investments and changes in market value of 
investments was £168.4m (-£90.9m 2018/19). 

Page 463



76  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

In addition to the investments 
there was £27,520k (£55,112k 
2017/18) in cash, cash equivalents 
and accruals. Cash movements, 
currency adjustments and other 
end of year settlements totalled 
£583k (£11,573k 2017/18). As 
a result the total profit (-) and 
losses on disposal of investments 
and changes in market value 
of investments was -£90.9m 
(-£74.3m 2017/18). 

The change in market value 
of investments comprises all 

increases and decreases in the 
market value of investments 
held at any time during the year, 
including profits and losses 
realised on sales of investments 
during the year.

The closing market value of the 
derivatives in the previous tables 
represents fair value as at the 
year end date. In the case of 
derivative contracts, which are 
traded on exchanges, this value is 
determined using exchange prices 
at the reporting date. Forward 

foreign exchange contracts are 
over the counter contracts and are 
valued by determining the gain or 
loss that would arise from closing 
out the contract at the reporting 
date and entering into an equal 
and opposite contract as at that 
date. The profit or loss arising 
is included within the cash and 
accruals figure.

All derivative contracts settled 
during the period are reported 
within the table as purchases and 
sales. 

N5  Management of Fund Assets

The market value of investments managed by each external manager at the end of the financial year was:

Where the value of an investment exceeds 5% of the total value of net assets, details have been disclosed in 
note N18.

     2018/19 2019/20
 £000 % £000 %

Investments managed by the Brunel
Pension Partnership regional asset pool    
Legal & General Investment Management 521,215 21.9 477,178 21.3
Brunel Global High Alpha Fund -                     - 381,851 17.0
Brunel ACS UK Equity Fund 365,801 15.4 292,751 13.0
Brunel Emerging Equity Fund -                    - 120,663 5.4
Brunel Private Equity and Infrastructure Portfolio 2,329 0.1 12,691 0.6
   889,345   37.4 1,285,134 57.3

Investments managed outside of the Brunel
Pension Partnership regional asset pool
BlackRock Advisors (UK)  619,296 26.0 63,290 2.8
Arcmont Asset Management 22,252 0.9 30,752 1.4
CBRE Global Investment Partners 61,678 2.6 62,383 2.8
Golub Capital Partners International 20,145 0.9 33,362 1.5
Hermes Investment Management
Property Unit Trust 140,675 5.9 142,818 6.4
Aberdeen Standard Investments  79,360 3.3 79,715 3.5
Technology Venture Partners 3,629 0.2 3,733 0.2
Western Asset Management Company 527,664 22.2 521,508 23.2
Yorkshire Fund Managers (YFM) 1,342 0.1 757 0.0
 1,476,041                 62.1  938,318 41.8

Total - External Managers 2,365,386 99.5 2,223,452 99.1 

In-house cash and accruals 12,730 0.5 20,471 0.9
Cash instruments with Custodian 207 0.0 213 0.0
Brunel Pension Partnership (Shareholding) 395 0.0 427 0.0

 2,378,718 100.0 2,244,563 100.0

Page 464



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]  77

N6  Actuarial Position 
of the Fund

   In line with the Local Government Pension 
Scheme Regulations, actuarial valuations of the Fund 
are required to be undertaken every three years, for 
the purpose of setting employer contribution rates for 
the forthcoming triennial period. The latest valuation 
took place as at 31st March 2019 and established the 
minimum contribution payments for the three years 
until 31st March 2023. The next valuation will take 
place as at March 2022.

   The estimate of the pension fund liability is subject 
to significant variations, based on changes to the 
underlying assumptions used - please see table at the 
bottom of the Note.

   The table below summarises the whole fund 
Primary and Secondary Contribution rates at the 
2019 valuation. The 2016 valuation results of the 
Fund are shown for comparison.

   Funding Basis

  2016  2019

Rate of return on investments (Discount Rate) 4.0% pa  4.2% pa

Rate of general pay increases 2.4% pa  2.6% pa

Rate of increase to pensions in payment (in excess of  2.1% pa  2.3% pa
guaranteed minimum pension) 

   The full actuarial valuation reports for 2007, 2010, 2013, 2016 and 
2019 are published on the Pension pages of the County Council’s 
website. 

   See note N26 for details of 
the Actuarial Present Value of 
Promised Retirement Benefits.

 Last Valuation This Valuation
 31st March 2016 31st March 2019

Primary Rate (% of pay) 19.6% 20.9%

Secondary Rate (£) 2017/18 32,487,000 2020/21 30,652,000

 2018/19 36,638,000 2021/22 26,850,000

 2019/20 40,905,000 2022/23 24,353,000

   Individual employers’ rates will vary depending on 
the demographic and actuarial factors particular to 
each employer. Full details of the contribution rates 
payable can be found in the 2019 actuarial valuation 
report and the Funding Strategy Statement on the 
Fund’s website. The Actuary has made an assessment 
of the contributions that should be paid into the Fund 
by participating employers for the period 1st April 
2020 to 31st March 2023 in order to maintain the 
solvency of the Fund.

   The market value of the Fund’s assets at the 
March 2019 triennial valuation date was £2,379m 
(£1,703m March 2016) and represented 102% 
(79.7% March 2016) of the Fund’s accrued liabilities.

   The contribution rate has been calculated using 
the projected evolution of each employers’ assets and 
benefit payments and the main actuarial assumptions 
used are as follows:

Page 465



78  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

N7  Analysis of Contributions Receivable and Benefits Payable

     2018/19 2019/20

 Contributions  Benefits Contributions Benefits 
 receivable payable receivable payable
 £000 £000 £000 £000

Gloucestershire County Council  42,619 44,342 46,486 46,656
(Administering Authority)  

Scheduled Bodies  46,784 33,487 50,666 35,667
(164 19/20) (162 18/19)*
(Bodies admitted by right)  

Admitted Bodies  **21,727 5,631 5,968 5,967
(39 19/20) (42 18/19)*
(Bodies admitted by agreement) 

 111,130 83,460         103,120       88,290 

Scheduled bodies now include 97 (96 18/19) schools who have converted to academy status.

* These numbers relate to active employers with active members 

** During 2018/19, two Admitted Body employers left the scheme and paid one-off exit payments, 
as calculated by the Fund actuary, resulting in an increase in contributions received in that year

N8  Investment Strategy Statement

The Fund’s Investment Strategy Statement (ISS) as 
required by the Local Government Pension Scheme 
(Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 
2016 can be found on the Fund’s website www.
gloucestershire.gov.uk/pensions/investments. It 
includes a statement on the Fund’s approach to 
pooling its investment assets as required under the 
Regulations.

N9  Related Party Transactions

Gloucestershire County Council, as Administering 
Authority for the Fund, incurred the following costs 
in relation to the administration of the Fund and was 
subsequently reimbursed by the Fund for these 
expenses. The Council is also the single largest 
employer of members of the Pension Fund. All 
monies owing to and due from the Fund were paid or 
accrued for in the year.

Part of the Pension Fund’s cash holdings are invested 
on the money markets by the Treasury Management 
team of Gloucestershire County Council, see notes 
N2, N23 and N27.

Of the County Council’s key management personnel, 
some of the Executive Director Corporate Resources 
and Director of Finance remuneration costs 
were recharged to the Fund to reflect time spent 
supporting the Fund. These consisted of salary, fees 
and allowances of £11,209 (£10,820 2018/19) and 
employers’ pension contributions of £3,464 (£3,235 
2018/19).

The Executive Director and Director are members 
of the Fund as contributing Gloucestershire County 
Council employees. This does not impact on their role 
as Finance Director and S151 officer, which is clearly 
defined.

The Pensions Committee is the decision making body 
for the Fund and Gloucestershire County Council 
nominates 6 voting committee members.

Each member of the Pension Committee is required 
to declare their interests at each meeting.

Mr. P. Clark, the Scheme Member Representative, is 
a non-voting member of the Pension Committee. Mr. 
Clark is a contributing member of the Pension Fund 
and this does not impact on his Pension Committee 
role.

  2018/19 2019/20
  £000 £000

 Administrative 2,128 2,362
 expenses

Page 466



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]  79

Three members of the Pension Committee were also 
District Council members as at 31st March 2020 and 
these are detailed below:

In addition to the roles outlined above, Cllr. 
R. Theodoulou is the corporate shareholder 
representative for Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
for Brunel Pension Partnership (BPP Ltd), and 
up to April 2019 was the corporate shareholder 
representation for Gloucestershire County Council for 
UBICO Limited. Cllr. L. Stowe took over as corporate 
shareholder representative for the Gloucestershire 
County Council for UBICO Limited from April 2019. 
Cllr. N. Cooper is a governor of Archway School. 
Ubico Limited and Archway School are employers in 
the Fund.

The Pension Board was created on the 1st April 
2015. Two members of the Board are members of 
the Fund as contributing employees and another one 
is in receipt of pension benefits. This does not impact 
on their roles as members of the Pension Board given 
the nature of the Board’s functions.

Transactions between employers and the Fund are 
disclosed in note N7.   

Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd (Company 
Number 10429110) 

Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd. (BPP Ltd.) was 
formed on the 14th October 2016 and will oversee 
the investment of pension fund assets for Avon, 
Buckinghamshire, Cornwall, Devon, Dorset, 
Environment Agency, Gloucestershire, Oxfordshire, 
Somerset and Wiltshire Funds.  

Each of the ten local authorities, including 
Gloucestershire County Council own 10% of BPP 
Ltd. Pension Fund transactions with BPP Ltd. are as 
follows:

In addition to their role as Pension Committee 
member and Cotswold District Council councillor, 
Cllr. R Theodoulou sits on the Committee of Brunel 
Pension Partnership Ltd as Chair of the Brunel 
Oversight Board (BOB).

N9a  Key Management Personnel

The key management personnel of the Fund are the 
Section 151 Officer and the Head of Pensions. The 
Section 151 Officer’s costs have not been included as 
the Pension Fund is recharged on a time spent basis 
and their salary is accounted for in Gloucestershire 
County Council’s accounts.

Total remuneration payable to the Head of Pensions 
position, 0.8 full time equivalent (F.T.E.), (0.9 F.T.E. 
2018/19) is set out below.  

N10  Contingent Liabilities and 
Contractual Commitments

The Fund has investment commitments with seven 
managers where the investment manager has not 
yet drawn down all monies due. These commitments 
relate to investments in private debt, property funds, 
private equity and infrastructure and are requested 
as and when the respective investment manager 
identifies an investment opportunity. The amounts 
requested can therefore be irregular in both size and 
timing.   

During the year the Fund increased it’s commitment 
to the Brunel Pension Partnership’s (BPP) 
infrastructure mandate by £80m and private equity 
mandate by £60m. The Fund also committed 
to invest £50m into BPP’s international property 
mandate and £80m into it’s private debt mandate.  
These last two mandates are still in the process of 
being set up. Brunel anticipates that investment in it’s 
private equity and infrastructure funds may be fully 
drawn down by 2026. 

Member District Council

Cllr. D. Brown Gloucester City Council

Cllr. N. Cooper  Stroud District Council

Cllr. R. Theodoulou Cotswold District Council

  2018/19 2019/20
  £000 £000

 Income - -
 Expenditure 641 860
 Debtors - -
 Payments in 256 250

  897 1,110

 Advance 

  2018/19 2019/20
  £000 £000

Short-term benefits 72 73
Post-employment 36 37
benefits
Other long-term - -
benefits
Termination benefits - -
Share-based - -
payments

  108 110

Page 467



80  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

  Total  Outstanding liability Outstanding liability
  Commitment  2018/19 2019/20
  £000  £000  £000

 Arcmont Asset Management  50,000 27,730 17,532
 LLP (private debt)

 CBRE Global Investment 41,000 1,531 -
 Partners (property)

 Golub Capital Partners 40,000 19,625 5,798
 International (private debt)

 Brunel Pension Partnership  103,000 42,562 96,930
 (private equity)

 Brunel Pension Partnership  123,000 41,119 116,212
 (infrastructure)

 Brunel Pension Partnership  50,000 - 50,000
 (international property)

 Brunel Pension Partnership  80,000 - 80,000
 (private debt)

  487,000 132,567 366,472

It is estimated that the private debt funds managed 
by Arcmont and Golub will have drawn down 80-85% 
of their total commitment by the end of 2020 and 
may then start returning funds as investments mature 
rather than draw down the entire commitment. No 
further funds will be drawn down by CBRE as assets 
managed by them were transferred in the early part of 
April 2020 to Brunel as part of the pooling initiative.  

The following table shows the Fund’s total 
commitment and the remaining liability, following 
drawdowns, at the year end.  

Twelve admitted body employers in the Pension Fund 
held insurance bonds to guard against the possibility 
of being unable to meet their pension obligations.  
These bonds are drawn in favour of the Pension Fund 
and payment will only be triggered in the event of 
employer default. No such defaults have occurred in 
2019/20 (2018/19 nil).

N11  Contingent Assets

Due to retrospective adjustments to how pension 
payments are made for Registration staff working 
additional hours or on a fee basis, a contingent asset 
of £38,504 (18/19 £38,504) has been identified as 
possible additional contributions from ex members of 
staff, during 2020/2021 and future years.

Page 468



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]  81

  2018/19 2019/20 
Pooled investment vehicles £000 £000

UK equity unit trust 365,801 292,751
Overseas equity unit trust -  120,663
Global equity unit trust -  381,851
UK equity unitised insurance policy 13,245                  - 
Overseas equity unitised insurance policy 681,244 63,255
Global equity unitised insurance policy 303,244 477,178
Global multi asset unitised insurance policy 78,167 79,715
UK property managed fund 8,174 8,034
Overseas fixed interest managed fund 183,405 173,831
UK property limited liability partnership 476 181
UK private debt limited liability partnership 22,252 30,752
Overseas private debt limited liability partnership 20,145 33,363
UK infrastructure limited liability partnership 1,797 2,416
Overseas infrastructure limited liability partnership -  3,887
Overseas fixed interest limited liability partnership  -  6,769
Overseas private equity limited liability partnership 480 6,317

 1,678,430 1,680,963

Property unit trusts

UK property unit trust 38,196 35,753
Overseas property unit trust 13,608 14,554

 51,804 50,307

Total 1,730,234 1,731,270

N13  Stocklending

The Pension Funds’ custodian has been authorised 
to release stock to third parties under a stock lending 
arrangement. At 31st March 2020 the value of stock 
out on loan was £4.8m of which £3.7m was in UK 
Government stock and £1.1m was in Overseas 
Equity, (In 18/19 the value out on loan was £1.6m of 
UK Government stock).  

Collateral of £5.6m (£1.7m) equal to 116.5% 
(106.4%) of stock out on loan was held in the form 
of UK Government stock and a restrictive list of 
Overseas Equities. 

The Pension Fund stipulates those institutions that 
are allowed to borrow its stock and the type of 
collateral that is acceptable. 

These investments continue to be recognised in the 
Fund’s financial statements. During the period the 
stock is on loan, the voting rights of the loaned stocks 
pass to the borrower

N12  Unquoted Holdings

The following holdings are unquoted:

Page 469



82  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

    2018/19 2019/20
Financial assets  £000 £000 Note

Bonds   
UK  - Public Sector                           – Quoted 46,521 35,982 
 - Corporate                                         – Quoted 256,694 272,504
Overseas  - Public Sector                           – Quoted 1,741 9,350 
 - Corporate                                         – Quoted 18,971 13,370
    323,927 331,206 

Pooled investment vehicles   
Unit Trusts  
UK           - Equities                             – Unquoted 365,801 292,751
Overseas  - Equities                           – Quoted 142,740                 -   
Overseas   - Equities        – Unquoted -    120,663
Global       - Equities        – Unquoted -    381,851
Unitised Insurance Policies  
UK  - Equities                                       – Unquoted 13,245                 -
Overseas  - Equities                                       – Unquoted* 681,244 63,255
Global  - Equities         – Unquoted* 303,244 477,178 
Global  - Multi Asset    – Unquoted* 78,167 79,715 
Other Managed Funds   
O.E.I.C.’s  - Overseas - Fixed Interest  – Quoted* 8,388 414
 - Overseas - Fixed Interest  – Unquoted* 183,405 173,831  
 - UK - Property               – Unquoted 8,174 8,034
Limited Liability Partnerships  
   - UK – Private Debt                                 – Unquoted          22,252           30,752 
    - Overseas – Private Debt                      – Unquoted          20,145           33,363 
                - UK - Property                    – Unquoted              476               181 
               - UK - Infrastructure                    – Unquoted 1,797             2,416 
 - Overseas - Infrastructure                    – Unquoted                 -               3,887 
 - Overseas - Private Equity  – Unquoted*  480      6,317
                 - Overseas Fixed Interest   – Unquoted - 6,769 
        1,829,558      1,681,377   N10 

Property Unit Trusts   
UK                       – Quoted 140,674 141,755
                      – Unquoted 38,196 35,753
Overseas                        – Unquoted 13,608 14,554
    192,478 192,062 N10

Derivative Contracts   
Futures  - UK   - 211
 - Overseas  773 2,215
Forward Foreign Exchange Contracts  524 478 
    1,297 2,904 N17 

Other Investments   
Venture Capital/Private Equity - UK  4,972 4,491

Cash (Managers)   
Cash Instruments - UK  7,043 9,070 
  - Overseas  2,142 1,006 
Cash Deposits    - UK  1,334 121 
  - Overseas  1,234 2,131 
    11,753 12,328 

Other Investment Balances   
Debtors   
Outstanding settlement of investment transactions  - - 
Accrued dividend income and tax reclaims due on dividend income 4,450 4,352 
    4,450 4,352

Long Term Financial Assets   
Brunel Pension Partnership  395 427 N9

Total Financial Assets  2,368,830 2,229,147

N14  Financial Asset Analysis

Page 470



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]  83

    2018/19 2019/20

Financial Liabilities  £000 £000 Note

Derivative Contracts  
Futures  – UK  -70 -
Futures  – Overseas -1,245 -2,011
Forward Foreign Exchange Contracts -114 -2,097
   -1,429 -4,108  N17 

Other Investment Balances  
Creditors  

Outstanding settlement of investment transactions -1,412 -946

Total Financial Liabilities -2,841 -5,054

Long Term Assets  
Contributions due from employers 440 315
Money due re. transfer of staff to another pension scheme 618 - 

   1,058 315  N24

Current Assets  
Contributions due from employers 4,708 4,808
Other current assets (debtors) 410 471 
Money due re. transfer of staff to another pension scheme 618 618
Payments in advance 256 250 
Cash balances   8,006 17,539  N23 

   13,998 23,686  N24 

Current Liabilities  
Unpaid benefits  -26 -18
Other liabilities (creditors) -2,301 -3,513 
   -2,327 -3,531  N25 

Total   2,378,718 2,244,563

* These overseas pooled funds may incorporate some UK assets.

  2018/19 2019/20 
  £000 £000

 Bonds 9,293 12,222
 Equities 9,957               -
 Pooled investment vehicles 9,658 12,476
 Interest on cash deposits  99 303
 Private equity* -1,401               -
 Other income from stocklending,  78 87
 underwriting and class actions

  27,684 25,088
 Withholding tax -3 -46

  27,681 25,042

* During 2018/19 the Private Equity 
managers confirmed that historic cash 
distributions should have been treated 
as a return of capital rather than dividend 
income.  Therefore all income received 
since 2011 has been removed from 
dividends and has been used to reduce 
the book cost of the investments resulting 
in an increase in unrealised profit. 

In November 2018 assets were transferred from the manager of the directly held UK equity portfolio to a pooled fund managed by the 
Brunel Pension Partnership (BPP). The investment income arising from the underlying investments of this pooled fund is reinvested and 
reflected in the unit price rather than as income received. 

N15  Investment Income

Investment income arises from the 
following investment categories: >

Page 471



84  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

Contributions paid by members in the Prudential scheme during 2019/20 totalled 
£557,479 (2018/19 £647,390) which included additional death in service premiums 
totalling £948 (2018/19 £4,216).

Investments in derivatives are only made if they contribute to a reduction 
of risks and facilitate efficient portfolio management. A derivative is 
a generic term for financial instruments used in the management of 
portfolios and is a financial contract between two parties, the value of 
which is determined by the underlying asset. Derivatives include futures, 
forwards, swaps and options.     

The fixed income portfolio uses futures for duration management 
purposes. Additionally, the investment strategy for this manager, for the 
majority of overseas currency exposures, is to be fully hedged back 
to Sterling which is achieved by the use of foreign exchange forward 
contracts. To mitigate large unrealised profits or losses accruing with any 
one counterparty the contracts are split between a handful of banks and 
the contracts rolled quarterly in order that gains or losses are realised at 
regular intervals.       

The investment strategy of the property manager with overseas holdings 
is to place forward currency trades with the intention of hedging foreign 
currency exposure to ensure the portfolio is not impacted by currency 
fluctuations. The hedges are achieved by placing foreign exchange 
forward contracts with the Fund’s custodian.

N17  Derivatives

Value of separately invested additional voluntary contributions 

  31st March 2019 31st March 2020 
  £000 £000

The Prudential Assurance 6,880  6,385 
Company Limited

Phoenix Life Limited 18  18

         6,898  6,403

N16  Separately Invested Additional Voluntary 
Contributions (AVC’s)

Gloucestershire County Council LGPS provides additional voluntary 
contribution (AVC) schemes for its members, with The Prudential 
Assurance Company Limited and Phoenix Life Limited. The AVC’s are 
invested separately in funds managed by them. These are in the form 
of with-profits, unit-linked and deposit accounts and secure additional 
benefits on a money purchase basis for those members electing to 
pay additional voluntary contributions. Members participating in this 
arrangement receive an annual statement confirming amounts held 
to their account and movements in the year. These amounts are not 
included in the Pension Fund Accounts in accordance with Regulation 
4 (1) (b) of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and 
Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 (as amended). 

Page 472



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]  85

    2018/19  2019/20  2018/19 2019/20 
   Contract Notional Notional Expiration Market Market 
   type* Value Value  Value Value

    £000 £000  £000 £000

 Investment Assets  
 Futures      
 UK - Fixed Interest       
      UK Long Gilt Future   ET  - -9,806 Less than 3 months - 211 
 UK Futures  -    -9,806  - 211

 Overseas - Fixed Interest       
      US Treasury Long Bond Future   ET  1,723 1,444 Less than 3 months 47 105 
      US 5yr Note Future ET 68,801    53,886 Less than 3 months 726 2,034
      German Euro-Bund Future ET -    -7,480  - 76

 Overseas Futures  70,524 47,850  773 2,215

 Total Futures  70,524 38,044  773 2,426

 Forward foreign exchange contracts  OTC  42,329 10,805 Less than 3 months 524 478

 Total Derivative Assets  112,853  48,849  1,297 2,904

 Investment Liabilities       

 Futures      
 UK - Fixed Interest       
      UK Long Gilt Future   ET  -4,528 - Less than 3 months -70 - 
 UK Futures  -4,528    -  -70 -

 Overseas - Fixed Interest
         German Euro Bund Future ET -36,838 - Less than 3 months -795 - 
         US 10yr Note Future ET -13,155 -19,574 Less than 3 months -223 -1,084
         US Ultra Bond Future ET - -9,663 Less than 3 months - -927
         US Treasury Bond Future ET -6,446 - Less than 3 months -227 -

 Overseas Futures  -56,439 -29,237  -1,245 -2,011

 Total Futures  -60,967 -29,237  -1,315 -2,011

 Forward foreign exchange contracts  OTC  15,407  46,343 Less than 3 months -114 -2,097

 Total Derivative Liabilities  -45,560 17,106  -1,429 -4,108

 Net Futures     -132 -1,204

Derivative Contract Analysis

* Contract types ET (exchange traded) OTC (over-the-counter)

Page 473



86  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

   Currency Local Currency Local Asset Liability 
  Settlement bought Value Sold Value Value Value

    000  000 £000 £000

 Up to six months EUR 5,297 GBP 4,475 217
 Up to six months EUR 4,032 GBP 3,415 156 
 Up to six months EUR 1,134 GBP 946 58 
 Up to three months GBP 1,001 USD 1,192 41 
 Up to three months GBP 968 USD 1,194 6 
 Up to three months GBP 816 USD 1,013  0
 Up to three months GBP 907 USD 1,126  -1
 Up to three months EUR 502 GBP 449  -4
 Up to three months USD 668 GBP 543  -5
 Up to three months GBP 567 USD 735  -25
 Up to three months GBP 1,929 EUR 2,208  -27
 Up to three months GBP 760 USD 982  -31
 Up to three months USD 963 GBP 816  -40
 Up to three months USD 2,795 GBP 2,362  -110
 Up to six months GBP 5,964 USD 7,799  -321
 Up to six months GBP 7,842 USD 10,206  -382
 Up to six months GBP 9,138 USD 11,878  -432
 Up to six months GBP 14,250 EUR 16,900  -719

 Open forward currency contracts at 31st March 2020        478 -2,097

 Net forward currency contracts at 31st March 2020    -1,619

 Prior year comparative      

 Open forward currency contracts at 31st March 2019   524 -114

 Net forward currency contracts at 31st March 2019     410

Open Forward Currency Contracts at 31st March 2020

A breakdown of the open forward foreign exchange contracts at 31st March 2020 is given below:-

Page 474



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]  87

N18  Investments Exceeding 5% of Total Net Assets

At 31st March 2020 the Pension Fund held seven, (2018/19, eight) investments that each exceeded 5% of the 
total value of the net assets of the scheme and seven investments totalled £1,427,790k out of a total market 
value for the Fund of £2,244,563k and are detailed below:

Investments exceeding 5%       2018/19   2019/20
of Total Net Assets £000   %  £000   %

BlackRock Global Equity Fund 476,518  20.3 *
Brunel Global High Alpha Equity Fund -  - 381,851  17.0
Brunel ACS UK Equity Fund 365,801   15.4 292,751   13.0
Legal & General SSciBeta Multi Factor -   - 196,325  8.7
Developed Equity Index Fund
Legg Mason Global Funds - WA GMS 183,405  7.7 173,831   7.7
Legal & General Multi Factor North America Fund 142,913  6.0 -  -
BlackRock Emerging Markets Index Fund 142,740  6.0 -  -
Hermes Property Unit Trust 140,674  5.9 141,755  6.3
Brunel Emerging Markets Equity Fund -  - 120,663  5.4
Legal & General Developed World Equity 127,496  5.3 120,614  5.4
Index Fund
Legal & General Developed World Equity 124,997  5.2 *
Hedged Currency Index Fund

  1,704,544  71.8 1,427,790   63.5

*The Fund continues to hold the BlackRock Global Equity Fund 
and Legal & General Developed World Equity Hedged Currency 
Index Fund, however their values have dropped below 5% of Total 
Net Assets standing at £63,255,000 (2.82%) and £111,772,000 
(4.98%) respectively. 

The BlackRock Global Fund is a Unitised Insurance Policy 
investing in global equities.  Blackrock Emerging is a Unit Trust 
investing in emerging markets.

The Brunel Funds are Unit Trusts. 

The Legg Mason Global Fund is an O.E.I.C. investing in overseas 
fixed interest.

Hermes Property Unit Trust is a Property Unit Trust. 

The Legal & General Funds are passively managed Unitised 
Insurance Policies.

N19  Agency Services

The Pension Fund pays discretionary pension awards 
to former employees on behalf of some Pension Fund 
employers. The amounts paid are not included within 
the Fund Account but are provided as a service and 
fully reclaimed from the employer bodies. The sums 
are disclosed below.

N20  Contributions Breakdown 

The employers’ monthly contributions are based 
on a percentage of pensionable pay. Deficit funding 
payments are either based on a percentage of 
pensionable pay or paid as a lump sum. Both 

 2018/19 2019/20 
 £000 £000

Discretionary 1,100 1,115
Payments

Contributions 2018/19 2019/20 
Breakdown £000 £000

From Employers: 
Normal 54,499 57,371 
Augmentation - - 
Deficit Funding 22,349 25,757
Section 75 debt 13,447 -1,194
(cessation of employer) 
Other 2,721 2,224 
 
 93,016 84,158 

From Members:   
Normal 17,869 18,789 
Additional Voluntary 245 173 
 
 18,114 18,962

monthly contributions and deficit funding payments 
have been identified below. The deficit funding 

Page 475



88  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

contributions relate to past service 
benefit accrual and are payable 
over an agreed recovery period, 
not exceeding 17 years.  

Employers who left the scheme 
during 2018/19 paid outstanding 
deficit payments, where necessary, 
and this was included under 
Section 75 debt.  

A revision to the Regulations in May 
2018 and a further more recent 
revision permits, at the discretion 
of the Pension Fund, the payment 
of an exit credit to an employer.  
Accruals for possible payments 
have been included within Section 
75 debt in 2019/20. 

Other contributions are those 
contributions paid by an employer 
to compensate the Pension Fund 
for early retirement costs, excess 
ill health retirement costs or to 
improve their funding levels.   

These payments follow the 
principles outlined in the Funding 
Strategy Statement. Early retirement 
costs are usually paid in one lump 
sum or were historically paid over 
several years dependent on the 
status of the employer. When a 
payment is spread there is an extra 
cost to reflect the delay in total 
payment. There are currently no 
early retirement costs being spread 
and at 31st March 2020 there were 
no accrued early retirements due to 
the Fund (2018/19 nil).   

Excess ill health retirement costs 
are invoiced for as they arise and 
funding level payments are made 
by an employer voluntarily. At 
31st March 2020 £117k (2018/19 
£505k) was due to the Pension 
fund for ill health retirement costs 
which have been accrued; this is 
the final instalment of a payment 
which was being spread over two 
years (2018/19 £235k).  

It had been agreed previously 
that an employer who left the 
Fund in 2008/09 could spread 
the payment of their deficit over a 
number of years. The total amount 
was credited to the Pension Fund 

and an accrual made for the 
outstanding amount. The accrual 
is rolled forward each year and 
adjusted for deficit payments made.  

N21  Custody of 
Investments

The accounts for the year ended 
31st March 2020 use the valuations 
for the Fund’s assets provided by 
our custodian, State Street Global 
Services. This reflects the position 
of the custodian who is ultimately 
the master book of record. 
Custodian records are regularly 
reconciled with the Fund Manager’s 
records. Using the custodian’s 
valuations ensures that the various 
portfolios are priced consistently, 
so that the same stocks, in 
different portfolios, are valued on 
the same basis. Investments held 
in custody by State Street Global 
Services on behalf of the Pension 
Fund, are ring‐fenced from the 
assets of the Bank and segregated 
within its books as belonging to 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund.

N22  Management  
Expenses

Pension Fund expenses have been 
accounted for in accordance with 
the CIPFA guidance Accounting 
for Local Government Pension 
Scheme Management Costs. 

Investment management expenses 
are generally set on a fixed fee 
basis, calculated using the market 
value of each portfolio. The cost of 
investment management expenses 
varies with the value of assets 
under management. 

The increased investment 
management expenses during the 
period of £1.3 million arise as a 
result of three key factors:

•  The operational activities of the 
Brunel Pension Partnership (BPP) 
which the Gloucestershire Fund 
is an equal shareholder with nine 
other Pension Funds.

•  The change in the Strategic 
Asset Allocation of the Fund.

•  A different fee structure for 
the BPP UK equites mandate 
compared to the previous 
investment mandate held by the 
Fund.

Brunel Pension Partnership

The costs relating to the Brunel 
Pension Partnership increased by 
£535,448 in 2019/20 compared 
with 2018/19, including £120,347 
relating to a cost adjustment in 
respect of the Shareholder budget 
for 2018/19. The remainder of the 
increase was due to the increase in 
the overall operational budget of the 
BPP agreed by all the shareholders. 
This increase was required to 
increase the investment capacity 
within the BPP in order to achieve 
the agreed asset transition plan.

Change in Strategic Asset 
Allocation 

In accordance with the new 
agreed strategic asset allocation, 
the management of the Emerging 
Markets investment mandate 
was moved from a passive 
management arrangement to 
the BPP active management 
mandate, with the aim of 
increasing investment returns. 

 Management expenses 2018/19 2019/20
  £000 £000
 
 Investment management expenses *   6,492 7,797
 Administration expenses 1,397 1,509 
 Oversight & governance 553 722

          8,442 10,028

* Please see a more detailed breakdown of the investment management expenses overleaf.

Page 476



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]  89

This move resulted in increased 
fees and transition costs of 
£297,638 in 2019/20. There was 
also an increased investment in 
Private Markets and Infrastructure 
investments, to deliver increased 
diversification to the Fund, which 
resulted in increased investment 
fees and transition costs of 
£491,461. These changes, 
which were supported by the 
Independent Investment advisor 
to the Fund, are designed to 
improve investment returns, and 
increase diversification and reduce 
investment risks to the Fund.

UK Equities Investment 

The pre BPP UK Equities mandate 
held by the Fund had a fee 
structure, which was based on 
a base investment fee and a 
performance related fee which 
would be payable based on 
performance in excess of the 
UK Equities benchmark. The 
BPP fee is now based solely 
on a base investment fee, with 
no performance fee payable for 
investment returns in excess of 
benchmark. As a result of this 

change base fees increased by 
£314,154, but will be fully covered 
provided that the BPP mandate 
delivers against the agreed 
performance target.  

The increase in Administration 
Expenses is largely due to an 
increase in IT costs in relation to 
cloud hosting. The increase in 
Oversight & Governance is mainly 
due to an increase in actuarial 
fees incurred during the triennial 
valuation.

Within Oversight and Governance 
costs there were actuarial 
expenses of £123,512 (£126,358 
2018/19) generated by specific 
employer requirements, these 
were then charged back to the 
employer. The corresponding 
income is included within 
Recoveries for Services Provided 
in the Fund Account.  

In addition to the recharged 
actuarial expenses, recoveries 
for services provided includes 
£12,586 (£5,328 18/19) for 
pension and fee reimbursements.

The management fees disclosed 
include all investment management 
fees directly incurred by the Fund.  
In addition to these costs, indirect 
costs are incurred through the 
bid-offer spread on investments 
sales and purchases. These are 
reflected in the cost of investment 
acquisitions and in the proceeds 
from the sales of investments.  

Audit Fees   

Audit fees of £24,605 (£18,325 in 
2018/19) were incurred in relation 
to Grant Thornton UK LLP, the 
auditors appointed by Public 
Sector Audit Appointments Ltd for 
external audit services.

Transaction costs

When an asset is purchased or 
sold a cost is incurred for broker 
commission and stamp duty, when 
appropriate, based on a small 
percentage of the value of assets 
being transacted.  

Transaction costs of £367,207 
(£427,453 2018/19) were 
included within the purchase cost/
proceeds of investment at the 
point of purchase or sale but for 
transparency purposes have been 
added to Investment Management 
Expenses with a corresponding 
offset against Profit on Disposal of 
Investments as recommended by 
CIPFA.

Transaction costs decreased in 
2019/20 largely due to an on-
going re-organisation of investment 
managers and investment assets 
which commenced in 2018/19.  

N23  Cash

From the 1st April 2010 the 
Pension Fund has had its own 
bank account. At 31st March 
2020 cash of £17.5m (£8.0m in 
2018/19) was invested through 
the County Council’s short-term 
investment procedures. During 
the year the average investment 
balance was £22.6m (£12.3m 
2018/19) earning interest of 
£159.5k (£65.6k 2018/19).

 Investment management 2018/19 2019/20
 expenses £000 £000
 
 Fund value based management fees 
  - invoiced 4,798 4,165
  - deducted from investment 544 2,566

           5,342 6,731
 Performance fee
  - invoiced - -
  - deducted from investment 544 568

           544 568

   5,886 7,299
 Transaction costs 
  - equities 233 -
  - derivatives 27 29
  - bonds 1 -
  - pooled funds 167 338

   428 367

 Custody costs 176 131
 Tax and legal costs 2 -

          6,492 7,797

Page 477



90  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

N24  Current & Long Term Assets

Current Assets  2018/19 2019/20
  £000 £000 

Contributions due - Employees   816 942
Contributions due - Employers   3,892 3,866
Sundry debtors  410 471
Payment in advance  256 250
Money due re. transfer of staff to another pension scheme 618 618

  5,992 6,147

Cash balances   8,006 17,539

  13,998 23,686

Long term assets   
Long term debtors  1,058 315

One central government body 
transferred to another pension 
fund and the resulting bulk transfer 
value due was paid over a number 
of years. The total amount was 
credited to the Pension Fund 
and an accrual made for the 
outstanding amount. The final 
payment of £618,000 is due to 

the Pension Fund within the next 
twelve months and is, therefore, 
included within current assets. 

It had been agreed that an 
employer who left the Fund could 
spread the payment of their 
deficit over a number of years. 
The total amount was credited to 

the Pension Fund and an accrual 
made for the outstanding amount.  
The accrual is rolled forward 
each year and adjusted for deficit 
payments made. A payment of 
£7,200 is due to the Pension Fund 
within the next twelve months. 

N25  Current Liabilities

  2018/19 2019/20
  £000 £000 

Benefits payable  -26 -18
Sundry creditors  -2,301 -3,513
  -2,327 -3,531

N26  Actuarial Present Value of Promised Retirement Benefits

In addition to the triennial funding valuation (See Note N6), the fund’s Actuary also undertakes a valuation 
of the Pension Fund liabilities on an IAS19 basis every year. These liabilities have been projected using a roll 
forward approximation from the last triennial valuation as at 31st March 2019. The Present Value of Promised 
Retirement Benefits at 31st March 2020 includes an allowance for the “McCloud ruling”, i.e. an estimate of the 
potential increase in past service benefits arising from this case affecting public service pension schemes.

Balance Sheet

Year ended 31st March 2019 31st March 2020 
  £m £m

Present Value of Promised Retirement Benefits 3,472 3,137

Page 478



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]  91

The assumptions used are those adopted for the 
Administering Authority’s IAS19 report and are 
different as at 31st March 2020 and 31st March 
2019. It is estimated that the impact of the change 
in financial assumptions to 31st March 2020 is to 

decrease the actuarial present value by £303m 
(18/19 increase of £261m). It is estimated that the 
impact of the change in demographic and longevity 
assumptions is to decrease the actuarial present 
value by £104m (18/19 £0).

Net Assets Available for Benefits

Year ended 31st March 2019 31st March 2020 
  £m £m

Net Assets 2,379 2,245

  Males Females 
  Years Years

Current Pensioners 21.7 23.9
Future Pensioners** 22.4 25.3

Longevity assumptions as at 31st March 2020

Year ended 31st March 2019 31st March 2020 
  % pa % pa

Pension Increase Rate 2.5 1.9
Salary Increase Rate 2.8 2.2 
Discount Rate 2.4 2.3

Significant Actuarial Assumptions Used 
Financial assumption:

Longevity assumption:

Life expectancy is based on the Fund’s VitaCurves with improvements in line with the CMI 2018 model, an 
allowance for smoothing of recent mortality experience and a long term rate of 1.25% p.a. Based on these 
assumptions, the average future life expectancies at age 65 are summarised below. 

** Future pensioners are assumed to be aged 45 at the latest formal valuation as at 31st March 2019.

  Males Females 
  Years Years

Current Pensioners 22.4 24.6
Future Pensioners** 24.0 26.4

Longevity assumptions as at 31st March 2019

Commutation assumption:

An allowance is included for future retirements to 
elect to take 35% (35% 2018/19) of the maximum 
additional tax free cash up to HMRC limits for pre-
April 2008 service and 68% (68% 2018/19) of the 
maximum tax free cash for post-April 2008 service.

Sensitivity Analysis:

CIPFA guidance requires the disclosure of the 
sensitivity of the results to the methods and 
assumptions used. The sensitivities regarding the 

principal assumptions used to measure the liabilities 
are set out overleaf:

The principal demographic assumption is the 
longevity assumption. For sensitivity purposes, 
the Actuary estimates that a 1 year increase in 
life expectancy would approximately increase the 
liabilities by around 3-5%. 

Page 479



92  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

N27  Nature and Extent 
of Risks Arising from 
Financial Instruments

The Gloucestershire Local 
Government Pension Fund’s (“The 
Fund”) objective is to generate 
positive investment returns for a 
given level of risk. Therefore the 
Fund holds financial instruments 
such as securities (equities, bonds), 
collective investment schemes (or 
pooled funds) and cash and cash 
equivalents. In addition debtors 
and creditors arise as a result of 
its operations. The value of these 
financial instruments in the financial 
statements approximates to their 
fair value.

The Fund’s primary long-term risk 
is that the Fund’s assets will fall 
short of its liabilities i.e. promised 
benefits payable to members. 
Therefore the aim of investment 
risk management is to minimise 
the risk of an overall reduction 
on the value of the Fund and to 
maximise the opportunity for gains 

across the whole fund portfolio.  
The Fund achieves this through 
asset diversification to reduce 
exposure to market risk (price risk, 
currency risk and interest rate risk) 
and credit risk to an acceptable 
level. In addition, the Fund 
manages its liquidity risk to ensure 
there is sufficient liquidity to meet 
the Fund’s forecast cash flows.

The Fund’s investments are 
managed on behalf of the Fund 
by the appointed Investment 
Managers. Each Investment 
Manager is required to invest 
the assets managed by them in 
accordance with the terms of 
their investment guidelines or 
pooled fund prospectus. The 
Gloucestershire Local Government 
Pension Fund Committee 
(“Committee”) has determined 
that the investment management 
structure is appropriate and is in 
accordance with its investment 
strategy. The Committee regularly 
monitors each investment mandate 
and considers and takes advice on 

the nature of the investments made 
and associated risks.

The Fund’s investments are held 
by State Street Global Services, 
who act as custodian on behalf of 
the Fund. 

Because the Fund adopts a long 
term investment strategy, the high 
level risks described below will 
not alter significantly during the 
year unless there are significant 
strategic or tactical changes in the 
portfolio.  

Market Risk

Market risk represents the risk 
that the fair value of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices, interest 
rates or currencies. The Fund is 
exposed through its investments 
in equities, bonds and investment 
funds, to all these market risks. 
The aim of the investment strategy 
is to manage and control market 
risk within acceptable parameters, 
while optimising the return from 
the investment portfolio. 

In general, excessive volatility in 
market risk is managed through 
the diversification of the portfolio 
in terms of geographical, industry 
sectors, individual securities, 
investment mandate guidelines 
and Investment Managers. The risk 
arising from exposure to specific 
markets is limited by the strategic 
asset allocation, which is regularly 
monitored by the Committee as 
well as appropriate monitoring of 
market conditions and benchmark 
analysis.

Other Price Risk

Other price risk represents the 
risk that the value of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate as a 
result of changes in market 
prices, caused by factors other 
than interest rate or foreign 
currency movements, whether 
those changes are caused by 
factors specific to the individual 
instrument, its issuer or factors 

 Sensitivity to the Approximate Approximate
 assumptions for the year % increase monetary
 ended 31st March 2020 to liabilities amount

  % £m

 0.5% p.a. increase in the 9 273
 Pension Increase Rate 

 0.5% p.a. increase in the 1  28
 Salary Increase Rate

 0.5% p.a. decrease in the 10  304
 Real Discount Rate

 Sensitivity to the Approximate Approximate
 assumptions for the year % increase monetary
 ended 31st March 2019 to liabilities amount

  % £m

 0.5% p.a. increase in the 8 290
 Pension Increase Rate 

 0.5% p.a. increase in the 1 50
 Salary Increase Rate

 0.5% p.a. decrease in the 10  361
 Real Discount Rate

Page 480



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]  93

affecting all such instruments in the 
market.

Market price risk arises from 
uncertainty about the future value 
of the financial instruments that 
the Fund holds. All securities 
investments present a risk of loss 
of capital. Except for shares sold 
short, the maximum risk resulting 
from financial instruments is 
determined by the fair value of 
the financial instruments. Possible 
losses from shares sold short 

are unlimited. The Investment 
Managers mitigate this price risk 
through diversification in line with 
their own investment strategies 
and mandate guidelines. 

Other Price Risk - 
Sensitivity Analysis

The sensitivity of the Fund’s 
investments to changes in market 
prices has been analysed using 
the volatility of return experienced 

by each investment portfolio during 
the year to 31st March 2020. The 
volatility data is broadly consistent 
with a one-standard deviation 
movement in the value of the 
assets. The analysis assumes that 
all other variables remain constant.  

Movements in market prices would 
have increased or decreased the 
assets, as held by the Fund’s 
custodian, at 31st March 2020 by 
the amounts shown below:

As at 31st March 2020 Value Volatility Value on Value on
  of return Increase Decrease  
 £000  % £000 £000

UK Bonds 308,486 9.80 338,718 278,254

UK Equities 292,751 27.50 373,258 212,244

Overseas Bonds 203,734 9.80 223,700 183,768

Multi National Equities 1,122,661 27.00 1,425,779 819,543

UK Property 185,723 14.20 212,096 159,350

Overseas Property 14,554  14.20 16,621 12,487

Venture Capital/Private Equity/Infrastructure 17,111 28.40 21,971 12,251

Private Debt 64,115 7.20 68,731 59,499

  2,209,135      2,680,874  1,737,396   

Total Gloucestershire Fund 2,209,135 16.30% 2,569,224 1,849,046

As at 31st March 2019 Value Volatility Value on Value on
  of return Increase Decrease  
 £000  % £000 £000

UK Bonds 303,215 10.50 335,053 271,377

UK Equities 379,046 16.60 441,968 316,124

Overseas Bonds 212,505 10.50 234,818 190,192

Multi National Equities 1,205,394 16.60 1,405,489 1,005,299

UK Property 187,521 14.30 214,337 160,705

Overseas Property  13,608  14.30 15,554 11,662

Venture Capital/Private Equity/Infrastructure 7,249 28.30 9,300 5,198

Private Debt 42,397 5.90 44,898 39,896

  2,350,935   2,701,417  2,000,453  

Total Gloucestershire Fund 2,350,935 10.80% 2,604,836 2,097,034

Page 481



94  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

Interest Rate Risk

The Fund invests in financial 
assets for the primary purpose of 
obtaining a return on investments. 
These investments are subject to 
interest rate risk, which represents 
the risk that the fair value or future 
cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate due to changes in 
market interest rates. This risk 
will affect the value of both fixed 
interest and index linked securities. 
The amount of income receivable 
from cash balances will also be 
affected by fluctuations in interest 
rates.

The Funds exposure to interest 
rate movements, as a result of 

the bond portfolio, as at the 31st 
March 2020 is set out below along 
with the interest rate sensitivity 
analysis data.

Interest Rate Risk Sensitivity 
Analysis

The Council recognises that 
interest rates can vary and can 
affect both income to the Fund 
and the value of the net assets 
available to pay benefits. Over the 
last five years long term yields, as 
measured by the yield on the FTSE 
Over 15 Year Gilt Index as at the 
end of March 2020, have averaged 
1.77% (2018/19 2.11%) and 
moved between a high of 2.76% 
(3.45% 2018/19) and a low of 

0.45% (1.13% 2018/19). As at the 
end of March 2020 this yield was 
0.75% (1.48% 2018/19). Given 
the high degree of uncertainty over 
the future economic situation, the 
Fund’s bond manager has advised 
that it is entirely possible that 
yields could fluctuate anywhere 
within this historic range in the next 
year, or in extreme circumstances 
outside these boundaries.

The analysis that follows assumes 
that all other variables, in particular, 
exchange rates, remain constant 
and shows the effect in the year 
on the values of a +/- 100bps (1%) 
change in interest rates on a time-
weighted basis.

 Assets exposed to Carrying amount  as            Change in the year in the net
 interest rate risk      at 31st March 2019           assets available to pay benefits

    +100BPS  -100BPS
    (1% increase)  (1% decrease)

  £000  £000   £000

 Cash held directly by the Fund 8,006    -    -

 Cash and cash equivalents held  11,753   -     - 
 on behalf of the Fund

 Bond Portfolio - Fixed Interest 520,040 -33,024  33,024
 Securities excluding cash

   539,799 -33,024  33,024

 Assets exposed to Carrying amount  as            Change in the year in the net
 interest rate risk      at 31st March 2020           assets available to pay benefits

    +100BPS  -100BPS
    (1% increase)  (1% decrease)

  £000  £000   £000

 Cash held directly by the Fund 17,539     -    -

 Cash and cash equivalents held  12,328    -     - 
 on behalf of the Fund

 Bond Portfolio - Fixed Interest 516,614  -31,968   31,968 
 Securities excluding cash

  546,481  -31,968    31,968 

Page 482



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]  95

Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk represents 
the risk that the fair value of 
future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in foreign exchange 
rates. The Fund is exposed to 
currency risk on both monetary 
and non-monetary investments 
denominated in a currency other 
than Sterling. For a Sterling based 
investor, when Sterling weakens, 
the Sterling value of foreign 
currency denominated investments 
rises. As Sterling strengthens, the 

Sterling value of foreign currency 
denominated investment falls. We 
permit the fixed income portfolio 
manager, global property manager, 
developed world passive manager 
and the global multi asset manager 
to hedge currency exposures back 
to Sterling. 

Currency Risk Sensitivity 
Analysis

Following analysis of historical 
data, by the Fund’s performance 
measurement service, the likely 
volatility associated with foreign 

exchange rate movements 
is considered to be 7.4% (as 
measured by one standard 
deviation).

This analysis assumes that all other 
variables, in particular interest 
rates, remain constant.

A 7.4% strengthening/weakening 
of the Pound against the various 
countries in which the Fund holds 
investments would increase/
decrease the net assets available 
to pay benefits as follows:

2019/20 Asset value as                Change to net assets 
Curency exposure - at 31st March 2020         available to pay benefits
Asset Type £000 £000  £000

  +7.4%  -7.4%

UK Equities                    3              3                   3
Global  Equities 877,084 941,988 812,180
Emerging Market Equities - - -
Overseas Private Debt 33,363 35,832 30,894
Venture Capital /Private Equity/ Infrastructure 10,204 10,959 9,449
Cash/Cash equivalents 3,137 3,369 2,905

   923,791         992,151          855,431    

2018/19 Asset value as               Change to net assets 
Currency exposure - at 31st March 2019         available to pay benefits
Asset Type £000 £000  £000
  +8.8%  -8.8%

UK Equities                    -              -                   -
Global  Equities 815,919 887,720 744,118
Emerging Market Equities 142,739 155,300 130,178
Overseas Private Debt 20,145 21,918 18,372
Venture Capital /Private Equity/ Infrastructure 2,277 2,477 2,077
Cash/Cash equivalents 3,375 3,672 3,078

                        984,455  1,071,087   897,823 

Credit Risk

Credit risk represents the risk that 
the counterparty to a transaction 
or financial instrument will fail 
to discharge an obligation and 
cause the Fund to incur a financial 
loss. This is often referred to as 
counterparty risk.  

In essence the Fund’s entire 
investment portfolio is exposed 
to some form of credit risk, with 
exception of the derivatives 
positions, where the risk equates 
to the net market value of a 
positive derivative position.  
However, the careful selection 
and monitoring of counterparties 
including brokers, custodian and 

investment managers minimises 
any credit risk that may occur 
through the failure to settle 
transactions in a timely manner.  
The Fund’s contractual exposure to 
credit risk is represented by the net 
payment or receipt that remains 
outstanding, and the cost of 
replacing the derivative position in 
the event of a counterparty default.  

Page 483



96  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

The residual risk is minimal due 
to the various insurance policies 
held by the exchanges to cover 
defaulting counterparties.

Bankruptcy or insolvency of the 
custodian may affect the Fund’s 
access to its assets. However, 
all assets held by the custodian 
are ring-fenced as “client assets” 
and therefore cannot be claimed 
by creditors of the custodian. 
The Brunel Pension Partnership, 
on behalf of the Fund, manages 
the risk by monitoring the credit 
quality and financial position of the 
custodian.

Credit risk on over the counter 
derivative contracts is minimised 
as counterparties are recognised 
financial intermediaries with 
acceptable credit ratings 
determined by a recognised rating 
agency.

The Fund’s bond portfolios have 
significant credit risk through its 
underlying investments. This risk 
is managed through diversification 

across sovereign and corporate 
entities, credit quality and maturity 
of bonds. The market prices of 
bonds incorporate an assessment 
of credit quality in their valuation 
which reflects the probability 
of default (the yield of a bond 
will include a premium that will 
compensate for the risk of default). 

The Council believes it has 
managed its exposure to credit risk 
within an acceptable level and its 
default experience over the last five 
financial years is not significantly 
out of line with the industry.  

Another source of credit risk is 
the cash balances held to meet 
operational requirements or by 
the managers at their discretion. 
Internally held cash is managed on 
the Fund’s behalf by the Council’s 
Treasury Management Team 
in line with the Fund’s Treasury 
Management Policy which sets out 
the permitted counterparties and 
limits. The Fund invests surplus 
cash held with the custodian in 
diversified money market funds.

Through its securities lending 
activities, the Fund is exposed 
to the counterparty risk of the 
collateral provided by borrowers 
against the securities lent. This 
risk is managed by restricting 
the collateral permitted to high 
grade sovereign debt, AAA 
rated fixed interest stock issued 
by Supranational bodies and a 
restrictive list of equities indices.  
Cash collateral is not permitted.

Foreign exchange contracts are 
subject to credit risk in relation to 
the counterparties of the contracts 
which are primarily banks. The 
maximum credit exposure on 
foreign currency contracts is any 
net profit on forward contracts, 
should the counterparty fail to 
meet its obligations to the Fund 
when it falls due.

The credit risk within the bond 
portfolios can be analysed using 
standard industry credit ratings 
and the analysis as at 31st March 
2020 is set out below.  

Credit Analysis AAA AA A BBB BB B Unrated
31st March 2020 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

UK Gilts - 36,206 - - - - -

UK Index Linked - - - - - - -

Overseas Govt Bonds 8,591              -          792               -               -               -  - 

Overseas Inflation-linked - - - - - - -

Corporate Bonds             3,399  22,302 150,966 102,758 - - -

High Yield - - - -       6,348        3,930          683 

Emerging Markets                  - - 3,702 - 840 - -

Mortgage Backed Securities - 1,984 - - - - -

Cash/Cash Equivalents/       
Currency Forwards             6,818              1               -                         -               -    -1,611

 18,808 60,493 155,460 102,758 7,188       3,930  -928

% of Fixed Interest Portfolio 5.4 17.4 44.7 29.6 2.1 1.1 -0.3

Page 484



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]  97

Credit Analysis AAA AA A BBB BB B Unrated
31st March 2019 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

UK Gilts - 46,945 - - - - -

UK Index Linked - - - - - - -

Overseas Govt Bonds 933 - - - - - -

Overseas Inflation-linked - - - - - - -

Corporate Bonds 2,988 16,689 136,721 80,529 153 - -

High Yield - - - - 5,063 3,559 150

Emerging Markets                  - - 1,484 - 1,228 - -

Mortgage Backed Securities - 4,724 7,430 22,755 378 - -

Supra/Sov/Local Govts - - - - - - -

Cash/Cash Equivalents/       
Currency Forwards 8,101 - 595 2,611 - - -

 12,022 68,358 146,230 105,895 6,822 3,559 150

% of Fixed Interest Portfolio 3.5 19.9 42.5 30.8 2.0 1.0 0.04

Treasury Management Year End Cash Balances

The management of Pension Fund cash balances not held by the Custodian is delegated to Gloucestershire 
County Council’s Treasury Management team to manage in accordance with their Treasury Management 
Strategy, which reflects the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management in Public Services. Pension 
Fund cash is invested separately from Gloucestershire County Council monies.

The Fund’s cash holding under its treasury management arrangements at 31st March 2020 is shown below:

  Balances as at   Balances as at
                                  31st March 2019   31st March 2020
Account Name Rating* £000 Rating* £000

Aberdeen Standard Liquidity Fund AAAm 757 AAAm 5,857

Federated Short Term Sterling  AAAm 6,209 AAAm -
Prime Fund

HSBC Instant Access AA- 861 A-1+ 7,176

HSBC Current Account AA- 179 A-1+ 569

Handelsbanken  - A-1+ 3,937

Total   8,006  17,539 

* Ratings quoted are all Standard and Poors as at 31st March 2020 and 2019

Credit risk may also occur if an 
employing body not supported by 
central government does not pay 
contributions promptly, or defaults 
on its obligations. The Pension 
Fund has not experienced any 
actual defaults in recent years and 
the current practice is to obtain a 
guarantee before admitting new 

employers so that all pension 
obligations are covered in the 
event of that employer facing 
financial difficulties. The amount of 
contributions due as at 31st March 
2020 was £4,808k (2018/19 
£4,708k) and as at 24th June 
2020 £17k remained outstanding.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk represents the risk 
that the Fund will not be able 
to meet its financial obligations 
as they fall due. The Council 
therefore takes steps to ensure 
that the Pension Fund has 
adequate cash resources to meet 

Page 485



98  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

its commitments. A substantial 
portion of the Fund’s investments 
consist of readily realisable 
securities, in particular equities and 
fixed income investments, even 
though a significant proportion is 
held in pooled funds. However, 
the main liability of the Fund are 
the benefits payable, which fall 
due over a long period and the 
investment strategy reflects the 
long term nature of these liabilities.  
Therefore the Fund is able to 
manage the liquidity risk that arises 
from its investments in less liquid 
asset classes such as property 
which are subject to longer 
redemption periods and cannot be 
considered as liquid as the other 
investments. The Fund maintains 
a cash balance to meet working 

requirements and has immediate 
access to its cash holdings.

Refinancing Risk

Refinancing risk relates to the 
Fund being required to replenish 
a significant proportion of its 
financial instruments at a time 
of unfavourable interest rates. 
Refinancing risk within the Bond 
portfolio is mitigated through 
credit and liquidity analysis of all 
investments and diversification 
by issuer and maturity. The 
CBRE property fund managed on 
behalf of the Pension Fund is not 
leveraged or subject to refinancing 
risk. However, the underlying 
investments within this portfolio are 
leveraged and so may be subject 

to refinancing risk. This risk is 
mitigated by covenants written into 
the Fund documentation. There 
are no other financial instruments 
that have refinancing risk as part 
of its treasury management and 
investment strategies.

N28  Fair Value Hierarchy

Basis of valuation

The basis of the valuation of each 
class of investment asset is set 
out below. There has been no 
change in the valuation techniques 
used during the year. All assets 
have been valued using fair value 
techniques.

Description 
of asset

Valuation 
hierarchy

Basis of 
valuation

Observable and 
unobservable 
inputs

Key sensitivities affecting 
the valuations provided

Futures and 
options in UK 
bonds

Level 1 Published exchange 
prices at the year 
end.

Not required Not required

Quoted Bonds Level 2 Fixed interest 
securities are valued 
at a market value 
based on current 
yields.

Source of 
pricing, valuation 
methodology 
documentation 

Not required

Forward foreign 
exchange 
derivatives

Level 2 Market forward 
exchange rates at 
the year end.

Exchange rate risks Not required

Pooled 
investments

Level 2 Closing bid price 
where bid and offer 
prices are published.
Closing single price 
where single price 
published.

NAV based pricing 
set on a forward 
pricing basis 
and daily prices 
published.  

Not required

Property pooled 
investments

Level 2 Closing bid price 
where bid and offer 
prices are published.
Closing single price 
where single price 
published.

NAV based pricing 
set on a forward 
pricing basis.  

Not required

Page 486



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]  99

Description 
of asset

Valuation 
hierarchy

Basis of 
valuation

Observable and 
unobservable 
inputs

Key sensitivities affecting 
the valuations provided

Quoted Bonds Level 3 Fixed interest securities 
are valued at a market 
value based on current 
yields.

Source of 
pricing, valuation 
methodology 
documentation, 
trade comparison 
review.

Low volume of trades in 
trade comparison review 
cohort.

Property Pooled 
investments

Level 3 Closing bid price 
where bid and offer 
prices are published
Closing single price 
where single price 
published.

NAV-based pricing 
set on a forward 
pricing basis.

Valuations could be 
affected by changes in the 
structure of the holdings 
such as changing from a 
closed ended fund to an 
open ended fund. 

Private equity Level 3 Comparable valuation 
of similar companies 
in accordance with 
International Private 
Equity and Venture 
Capital Valuation 
Guidelines (2012).

EBITDA multiple, 
Revenue multiple, 
Discount for lack 
of marketability, 
Control premium.

Valuations could be 
affected by material events 
occurring between the date 
of the financial statements 
provided and the Pension 
Fund’s own reporting date, 
by changes to expected 
cash flows, and by any 
differences between 
audited and unaudited 
accounts.

Private Debt Level 3 Fair value is 
determined by the 
following factors: 
enterprise value of a 
portfolio company; 
the nature and 
realisable value of any 
collateral; the portfolio 
company’s ability to 
make payments and its 
earnings; discounted 
cash flows; market 
environment and 
changes in the interest 
rate environment.

Initial recognition 
cost, Principal 
repayments, 
effective interest 
method, Impairment 
reductions.

Valuations could be 
affected by material events 
occurring between the date 
of the financial statements 
provided and the Pension 
Fund’s own reporting date, 
by changes to expected 
cash flows, and by any 
differences between 
audited and unaudited 
accounts.

Infrastructure 
Funds

Level 3 Direct investments: 
Independent valuation 
performed using 
discounted cash 
flow methodology 
in accordance with 
international private 
equity valuation 
guidelines.

Future free 
cash flows 
from underlying 
investments. Cost of 
capital of underlying 
investments.

Valuations could be 
affected by material 
events occurring after 
the preparation of the 
independent reports, and 
by changes to expected 
cash flows.

Page 487



100  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

Sensitivity of assets valued at level 3

Having consulted with independent advisors, the Fund has determined that the valuation methods described 
opposite are likely to be accurate to within the following ranges, and has set out below the consequent 
potential impact on the closing value of investments held at 31st March 2020.

2019/20 Assessed Value at Value on Value on
 valuation 31st March Increase Decrease
 range (+/-) 2020    
   £000 £000 £000

UK Property Pooled Funds 14.2% 170,116 194,272 145,960

Venture Capital/Private Equity/ 28.4% 17,111 21,971 12,251
Infrastructure
UK Corporate Bonds 9.8% 17,699 19,434 15,965

Overseas Private Debt 7.2% 33,363 35,765 30,961

UK Private Debt 7.2% 30,752 32,966 28,538

Total  269,041 304,408 233,675

Fair Value Hierarchy

The Fund is required to classify its investments using 
a fair value hierarchy that reflects the subjectivity 
of the inputs used in making an assessment of fair 
value. Fair value is the value at which the investments 
could be realised within a reasonable timeframe. This 
hierarchy is not a measure of investment risk but a 
reflection of the ability to value the investments at 
fair value. Asset and liability valuations have been 
classified into three levels, according to the quality 
and reliability of information used to determine fair 
values. Transfers between levels are recognised in the 
year in which they occur. The fair value hierarchy has 
the following levels:

   Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in an 
active market for identical assets or liabilities that 
the reporting entity has the ability to access at the 
measurement date. Products classified as Level 1 
comprise quoted equities, quoted fixed securities and 
quoted index linked securities.

   Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted market prices 
under Level 1, for example, when an instrument is 
traded in a market that is not considered to be active, 
or where valuation techniques are used to determine 
fair value.

   Level 3 – At least one input that could have a 
significant effect on the instrument’s valuation is not 
based on observable market data.

2018/19 Assessed Value at Value on Value on
 valuation 31st March Increase Decrease
 range (+/-) 2019    
   £000 £000 £000

UK Property Pooled Funds 14% 164,487 187,515 141,458

Venture Capital/Private Equity/ 28% 7,249 9,279 5,219
Infrastructure
UK Corporate Bonds 11% 3,512 3,898 3,126

Overseas Private Debt 6% 20,145 21,354 18,936

UK Private Debt 6% 22,252 23,587 20,917

Total  217,645 245,633 189,656

Page 488



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]  101

The following table provides an analysis of the financial assets and liabilities of the Pension Fund grouped into 
levels 1 to 3, based on the level at which the fair value is observable.

 Quoted Using With significant 
 market price observable unobservable 
  inputs inputs 

Values at 31st March 2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
 £000 £000 £000 £000

Financial assets at fair value  773 2,142,475 217,645 2,360,893
through profit and loss

Non-financial assets at fair value  - - - -
through profit and loss

Financial liabilities at fair value  -1,315 - - -1,315
through profit and loss

Investment manager cash and    6,015
accruals

Net Investment Assets -542 2,142,475 217,645 2,365,593

Brunel Pension Partnership    395
Investment Debtors/Creditors*    12,730

Total Net Investments Assets -542 2,142,475 217,645 2,378,718

 Quoted Using With significant 
 market price observable unobservable 
  inputs inputs 

Values at 31st March 2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
 £000 £000 £000 £000

Financial assets at fair value  2,426 1,950,170 269,041 2,221,637
through profit and loss

Non-financial assets at fair value  - - - -
through profit and loss

Financial liabilities at fair value  -2,011                      -                     -    -2,011
through profit and loss

Investment manager cash and    4,039
accruals

Net Investment Assets 415 1,950,170 269,041 2,223,665

Brunel Pension Partnership    427
Investment Debtors/Creditors*    20,471

Total Net Investments Assets 415 1,950,170 269,041 2,244,563

* Investment debtors and creditors have been added to this table to reflect the total net assets of the Fund.

Transfers between Levels 1 and 2

There has been no movement between levels 1 & 2

Page 489



102  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

2019/20  UK Property  Overseas UK UK
  Pooled Private Private Private Corporate
  Funds Equity Debt Debt Bonds Total

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Market Value  164,487      7,249      20,145  22,252          3,512  217,645
31st March 2019

Transfers into Level 3  6,135  -   -   -   15,451  21,586 

Transfers out of Level 3 -    -    - - - -

Purchases during the year   4,277      8,938       13,797  16,737                 -    43,749
and derivative payments 

Sales during the year                   -    -793 -2,442 -7,775 -1,238 -12,248
and derivative receipts

Unrealised gains/(losses) -4,783 1,752 -579 -462 -59 -4,131

Realised gains/(losses)                   -    -35        2,442            -   33  2,440 

Market Value  170,116   17,111  33,363  30,752   17,699  269,041 
31st March 2020 

Reconciliation of Fair Value Measurements within Level 3

2018/19  UK Property  Overseas UK UK
  Pooled Private Private Private Corporate
  Funds Equity Debt Debt Bonds Total

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Market Value  153,401 5,624 10,693 6,166 1,012 176,896
31st March 2018

Transfers into Level 3  -  -   -   -   -  - 

Transfers out of Level 3 -    -    - - - -

Purchases during the year   6,728 2,313 8,771 20,409 2,557 40,778
and derivative payments 

Sales during the year                   - -797 - -4,270 -47 -5,114
and derivative receipts

Unrealised gains/(losses) 4,358 109 681 -53 -10 5,085

Realised gains/(losses)                   -    -        -            -   -  - 

Market Value  164,487 7,249 20,145 22,252 3,512 217,645 
31st March 2019 

Page 490



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]  103

2019/20 Fair value through Assets at Liabilities at
 profit & loss amortised cost amortised cost

 £000 £000 £000 

Financial assets
Bonds 331,206                      -                     - 
Pooled investments 1,681,377   - -
Property Unit Trusts 192,062   - -
Private equity 4,491   - -
Brunel Pension Partnership 427 - -
Derivative contracts 2,904 - -
Cash - 29,867   -
Other investment balances - 4,352   -
Debtors - 1,339   -
                       2,212,467           35,558  - 

Financial liabilities
Derivative contracts -4,108 - -
Other investment balances  - -946 -
Creditors - - -3,513
Borrowings - - -
 -4,108 -946 -3,513

Total 2,208,359 34,612 -3,513

N29  Financial Instrument Disclosure

2018/19 Fair value through Assets at Liabilities at
 profit & loss amortised cost amortised cost

 £000 £000 £000 

Financial assets
Bonds 323,927                     -                     - 
Pooled investments 1,829,558  - -
Property Unit Trusts 192,478  - -
Private equity 4,972   - -
Brunel Pension Partnership 395 - -
Derivative contracts 1,297 - -
Cash - 19,759  -
Other investment balances - 4,450  -
Debtors - 1,902  -
                2,352,627  26,111 - 

Financial liabilities
Derivative contracts -1,429 - -
Other investment balances  - -1,412 -
Creditors - - -2,301
Borrowings - - -
 -1,429 -1,412 -2,301

Total 2,351,198 24,699 -2,301

Page 491



104  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

N29(a)  Net gains and 
losses on financial 
instruments

All realised gains and losses 
arise from the sale or disposal of 
financial assets which have been 
derecognised in the financial 
statements.

The Fund has not entered into 
any financial guarantees that are 
required to be accounted for as 
financial instruments.

N30  Bulk Transfers in and 
out of the Pension Fund

Transfers to or from other 
pension funds

During 2019/20 there were no bulk 
transfers to or from other pension 
funds.

N31  Accounting 
Standards that have been 
issued but have not yet 
been adopted

The Code requires consideration of 
the impact of standards that have 
been issued but not yet adopted.  
This is to enable users to evaluate 
the risk of these new standards 
on the Pension Fund’s current 
financial position. 

Amendments to IAS 28 Long-term 
Interests in Associates and Joint 
Ventures: The amendments clarify 
that IFRS9 applies to long-term 
interests in an associate or joint 
venture that form part of the net 
investment in the associate or joint 
venture but to which the equity 
method is not applied. This will not 
have an impact on the Pension 
Fund and is therefore considered 
to be immaterial.

N32  Taxation where 
lifetime or annual 
allowances are exceeded

Where a member’s benefit 
entitlement exceeds the United 
Kingdom Inland Revenue tax limits 
(Lifetime Allowance or the Annual 
Allowance), the member is liable 
for taxation. This tax can be paid 
by the member or has to be paid 
by the Pension Fund on behalf 
of the member in exchange for a 
reduction in benefit entitlement.  
The Pension Fund has paid £74k 
on behalf of members during 
2019/20 (£81k 2018/19). Any 
lifetime or annual allowance tax 
paid on behalf of members is 
recovered from their future pension 
payments. No accruals are made 
for the recovery of this tax element 
on the grounds of materiality and 
the very long term nature of its 
recovery.

N33  Events after the 
reporting date

Since December 2019, the 
spread of Covid-19 has severely 

impacted many local economies 
around the globe resulting 
in an economic slowdown. 
Global stock markets have also 
experienced great volatility and 
significant weakening and there 
is a potential for a reduction in 
the Pension Fund’s future income 
and investment returns and an 
increase in expenditure in the form 
of additional costs.  

It is not possible to reliably 
estimate the duration and severity 
of these consequences and their 
impact on the financial position 
and performance of the Pension 
Fund. As investments are valued 
at fair value and any profits and 
losses only realised upon sale, 
it has been determined that the 
Covid-19 pandemic should be 
treated as a non-adjusting event 
and the financial position for the 
year ended 31st March 2020 has 
not been adjusted.

  2018/19 2019/20

  £000 £000

 Financial assets

 Fair value through profit and loss 90,864   -168,409 

 Amortised cost - realised gains on - -
 de-recognition of assets

 Amortised cost - unrealised gains - -

 Financial liabilities

 Fair value through profit and loss - -

 Amortised cost - realised losses on - -
 de-recognition of assets

 Amortised cost - unrealised losses - -

   90,864   -168,409 

Page 492



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  105

Investment Pooling – 
Brunel Pension 
Partnership

In 2015 the Department 
of Communities and Local 
Government (as it then was) 
issued LGPS: Investment Reform 
Criteria and Guidance which set 
out how the government expected 
funds to establish asset pooling 
arrangements. The objective was 
to deliver:

 Benefits of scale

 Strong governance and 
decision making

 Reduced costs and excellent 
value for money, and

 An improved capacity and 
capability to invest in infrastructure

This has led to the creation of 
eight asset pools which have 
significantly changed the previous 
approach to investing, although 
it should be stressed that the 
responsibility for determining asset 
allocations and the investment 
strategy remains with individual 
pension funds.

As a result of the investment 
pooling agenda, the 

Gloucestershire Fund joined with 
nine other LGPS administering 
authorities to set up the Brunel 
Pension Partnership (BPP). 
Gloucestershire County Council 
approved the business case for 
BPP in December 2016, based 
on estimated potential fee savings 
of £550 million over a 20 year 
period across the ten funds, of 
which Gloucestershire’s share was 
estimated to be £10.8 million. This 
estimated fee saving is much lower 
than for the majority of Funds in 
the BPP, due to the fact that the 
investment management fees 
being paid by the Gloucestershire 
Fund were generally lower than 
those paid by the other Funds in 
the BPP. 

The project will see initial net costs 
in the early years primarily due 
to transition costs, but will break 
even in the future as fee savings 
are delivered. With regard to the 
Gloucestershire Fund the original 
business case forecasts that the 
Fund would break even by 2029.

Governance 
Arrangements of the pool

The governance arrangement in 
place between the pool and the 

ten funds involves two types of 
representation:

1. Oversight Board made up of 
one representative from each of 
the fund Committee’s and two 
member representative observers 

2. Client Group made up of senior 
officers from each of the ten funds

Further details of the role and 
involvement of administering 
authorities in the governance 
arrangements of the pool can 
be found within the BPP annual 
report for the year ended 30th 
September 2019. A link to this 
document can be found here: 

https://www.brunelpension
partnership.org/wp-content/
uploads/2020/02/Brunel_Pension_
Partnership_Annual_Report.pdf 

Pool set up costs and 
savings

The expected costs and savings 
for the Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund, as per the original business 
case approved in December 
2016, and then submitted to 
Government, are set out in the 
table below.

Asset Pools

 2016/ 2017/ 2018/ 2019/ 2020/ 2021/ 2022/ 2023/ 2024/ 2025/ 2026 Total
 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026       to 2036

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Set up costs 117 1,034 - - - - - - - - - 1,151

Ongoing - - 413 535 552 570 588 607 627 647 7,742 12,281
Brunel costs

Client savings - - (64) (66) (68) (70) (72) (74) (76) (78) (924) (1,492)

Transition costs - - 1,327 2,652 13 - - - - - - 3,992

Fee savings - - (171) (557) (898) (965) (1,037) (1,111) (1,191) (1,274) (19,514) (26,718)

Net costs / 117 1,034 1,505 2,564 (401) (465) (521) (578) (640) (705) (12,696) (10,786)
(realised 
savings)

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Expected Costs and Savings from Pooling
(As per Business Case Submissions)

Page 493



106  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

Following approval of the business 
case, the BPP Ltd was established 
in July 2017, as a company wholly 
owned by the Administering 
Authorities (in equal shares) 
that participate in the pool. The 
company is authorised by the 
Financial Conduct Authority (FCA). 
It is responsible for implementing 
the detailed Strategic Asset 
Allocations of the participating 
funds by investing Funds’ assets 

within defined outcome focused 
investment portfolios. In particular, 
it researches and selects the 
external managers or pooled funds 
needed to meet the investment 
objective of each portfolio.

Now that BPP is operational, 
the financial performance of the 
pool will be monitored to ensure 
that BPP is delivering on the key 
objectives of investment pooling. 

This includes reporting of the costs 
associated with the appointment 
and management of the pool 
company including set up costs, 
investment management expenses 
and the oversight and monitoring 
of BPP by the client funds. The set 
up and transition costs incurred 
to date are set out in the following 
table.

Gloucestershire 2019/20     Direct Indirect Total Cumulative
 £000 £000 £000 £000 
 
Set up costs

Recruitment - - - 18
Legal - - - 133 
Consulting, advisory & procurement - - - 82
Other support costs e.g IT, accommodation - - - 0
Share purchase / subscription costs - - - 840
Other Working Capital Provided e.g. loans - - - - 
Staff costs  - - - -

Total set up costs - - - 1,073 

Transition costs

Transition fee -                140                 140       140 
Tax -                339                 339       894  
Other transition costs  -            1,996             1,996      3,624 

Total transition costs -            2,475             2,475     4,658  

BPP Pool Set Up Costs

The Gloucestershire Fund 
transitioned its first assets to BPP 
in July 2018, with investments 
being made to the following 
portfolio’s in 2018/19:

 Global Developed Passive 
Equities

 Smart Beta Passive Equities
 Low Carbon Passive Equities
 Active UK Equities

During 2019/20 transitions 
continued, with allocations being 
made to the following portfolio’s 
during the year:

 Active Emerging Market Equities
 Active High Alpha Equities
 Private Markets: Infrastructure
 Private Markets: Private Equity

The investment fee savings 
achieved by the Gloucestershire 
Fund in relation to all of these 
portfolio’s are set out in the table 
overleaf.

Page 494



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  107

Portfolio Value in Value Price Quantity Total  Price Quantity Total
 Original  at 31st Variance Variance Saving/ Variance Variance Saving/
 Business March 2019/20 2019/20 (Cost) Cumulative Cumulative (Cost)  
 Case (31st  2020   2019/20 to date to date Cumulative
 March 2016)       to date
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
 

World Developed 301,562 232,386 73,177 7,466 80,643  124,670 18,745 143,415 
Equity Passive
Smart Beta - 196,325 84,896 -180,925 -96,029 141,332 -300,707 -159,375
Passive Equities
Low Carbon - 48,467 8,227 -19,197 -10,970 13,615 -31,769 -18,154
Passive Equities
Active UK  318,696 292,751 569,742 -178,903 390,839 750,901 -220,419 530,482
Equities
Active Emerging - 120,663 75,549 -428,856 -353,307 75,549 -428,856 -353,307
Markets Equities
Active High - 381,851 442,907 -1,030,747 -587,840 442,907 -1,030,747 -587,840
Alpha Equities
Private - 37,113 34,839 -154,263 -119,424 34,839 -154,263 -119,424
Markets
Infrastructure
Private Markets
Private Equity  - 6,355 20,331 -242,825 -222,494 20,331 -242,825 -222,494

Total - - 1,309,668 -2,228,250 -918,582 1,604,144 -2,390,841 -786,697

Investment Fee Savings from Pooling

This analysis shows the fee 
savings achieved for the 
Gloucestershire Fund in relation to 
the assets that have transitioned to 
the BPP portfolios. Savings figures 
for 2019/20 and cumulative to 
date figures covering 2018/19 to 
2019/20 are provided.

The price variance savings are 
the fee savings achieved by the 
Gloucestershire Fund, based 
on the value of investments in 
each portfolio. These savings 
are calculated based on the fee 
percentages being paid by the 
Gloucestershire Fund prior to 
pooling, compared with the fee 
percentages achieved by the 
BPP. Where fee reductions were 
granted by one of the Investment 
Managers due to pooling, slightly 
in advance of the formulation of 
the business case, the benefits of 
these fee reductions are included 
within the table.

Where the Gloucestershire Fund 
was not invested in some of the 

mandates at 31st March 2016, 
the fee savings were estimated by 
comparing the fees payable under 
BPP, with the average of fees paid, 
pre BPP, by other Funds joining 
the Brunel Pension Partnership, 
who were invested in these 
mandates at 31st March 2016.

The calculated fee savings for all 
of the Funds within the BPP also 
take account of any performance 
fees that were in place with 
investment managers prior to 
pooling, regardless of the fact 
as to whether the performance 
achieved under these mandates 
was sufficient to require the 
payment of these performance 
fees. This is the position regarding 
the UK Equities mandate relating 
to the Gloucestershire Fund, where 
a performance fee was in place 
prior to pooling. Because of the 
actual performance achieved by 
this manager the performance fee 
was not paid, hence the saving 
shown in relation to this mandate 
is a potential cost avoidance 

saving, rather than a cash saving, 
which will be achieved under the 
BPP mandate if it delivers against 
it’s performance target, because 
a performance fee is no longer 
payable under the BPP mandate. 

The fee savings achieved (the price 
variance) feed into the analysis of 
costs and savings set out in the 
table below. The budget figures 
are those that were included in the 
original business case.

The quantity variance is purely a 
technical variance which CIPFA 
requires funds to publish. It is 
calculated by looking at the Assets 
under Management (AUM) at 31st 
March 2016 for each portfolio, less 
the AUM at the end of 2019/20, 
multiplied by the old fee rate. 

However, because the 
Gloucestershire Fund, like the 
majority of other Funds, did not 
have asset allocations in many 
of the portfolios that the Fund 
now invests in under the new 

Page 495



108  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

                              2018/19                              2019/20
 Budget Actual Budget Actual

 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Set up costs - 1,151 - 1,072 - 1,151 - 1,072 
Ongoing Brunel costs 413 413 660 660 535 948 1,059 1,719
Clients savings (64) (64) - - (66) (129) - -
Transition costs  1,327 1,327 2,183 2,183 2,652 3,979 2,475 4,658
Fee savings (171) (171) (294) (294) (557) (728) (1,310) (1,604)

Net costs/(realised savings) 1,505 2,656 2,549 3,621 2,564 5,220 2,224 5,845

Expected Costs compared to Actual Costs / Savings to Date

 In
 y

ea
r

C
um

ul
at

iv
e

to
 d

at
e

In
 y

ea
r

C
um

ul
at

iv
e

to
 d

at
e

In
 y

ea
r

C
um

ul
at

iv
e

to
 d

at
e

In
 y

ea
r

C
um

ul
at

iv
e

to
 d

at
e

The most significant variances 
from the original business case 
can be summarised as follows:

Ongoing BPP costs:  
Cumulative budget to date:  
£0.948m

Cumulative actual to date:  
£1.719m

It is now accepted that the 
estimated budget for ongoing 
BPP costs, set out in the original 
business case, was understated, 
and is insufficient to facilitate the 
effective delivery of investment 
services to the ten Funds within the 
BPP. A detailed examination of the 
budget was undertaken in 2018/19, 
which resulted in a budget increase 
for 2019/20, agreed by all Funds, 
to facilitate increased staffing and 
other investments necessary to 
deliver the transition plan and 
ongoing savings. 

Transition costs:  
Cumulative budget to date:  
£3.979m

Cumulative actual to date:  
£4.658m

The actual transition costs in 
2019/20 were slightly below the 
budgeted level, with all of the 
increased actual costs relating to 
the UK Equities mandate which 
transitioned during 2018/19.

The UK equities transition was 
forecast to cost the equivalent 
of 14 basis points in the original 
business case, but actually cost 
the equivalent of 54.3 basis points. 
The key reasons for the costs 
exceeding the original budget 
were:

1. The budget for transition costs 
relating to the UK equity tender 
in the original business case did 
not include stamp duty payable. 
This equated to the equivalent of 
12.6 basis points, or £472,000 
in relation to the Gloucestershire 
Fund.

2. The budget included in the 
original business case could not be 
based on specific asset holdings, 
and hence used estimated assets 
under management based on 
original client intentions. The 
assumptions behind the budget 
figure assumed a materially more 

liquid portfolio than the one that 
was actually transitioned, resulting 
in higher costs than anticipated 
when the original business case 
was formulated, and could 
not take account of specific 
portfolio holdings, one of which 
experienced a significant downturn 
in value over the transition period.

Fee Savings:   
Cumulative budget to date:  
£0.728m

Cumulative actual to date:  
£1.604m

Fee savings (including cost 
avoidance) are higher than the 
budgeted figure as a result of 
higher asset values due to the 
higher than anticipated investment 
returns over the last three years 
to 2019/20, and lower fees levels 
achieved by the BPP.

Implementation and 
application of the Funding 
Strategy Statement

The Funding Strategy Statement 
(FSS) focuses on how employer 
liabilities are measured, the pace at 

pooling arrangements, the quantity 
variances are significantly inflated 
since the mode of calculation 

compares a zero value in 2016 
with the AUM figure at the end of 
2019/20. 

Page 496



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  109

which these liabilities are funded, 
and how employers or pools 
of employers pay for their own 
liabilities. The FSS is in essence a 
summary of the Fund’s approach 
to funding its liabilities. The FSS 
was reviewed as part of the 
Triennial Fund Valuation process 
and employers consulted prior to 
the current FSS being finalised.  
The full version of the FSS can be 
found on pages 109 to 135.

A key challenge for the 
Administering Authority is to 
balance the need for stable 
affordable employer contributions 
with the requirement to take a 
prudent, longer-term view of 
funding and ensure the solvency 
of the Fund. With this in mind, 
there are a number of methods 
which the Administering Authority 
may permit in order to improve the 
stability of employer contributions.  
These include, where 
circumstances permit, capping 
of employer contribution rate 
changes within a pre-determined 
range (“stabilisation”), the use of 
extended deficit recovery periods, 

the phasing in of contribution 
rises or reductions, the pooling of 
contributions amongst employers 
with similar characteristics and 
the use of some form of security 
or guarantee to justify a lower 
contribution rate than would 
otherwise be the case. Section 3.3 
of the FSS on pages 114 to 120 
gives a summary of how the main 
funding policies differ for different 
types of employer.  

New eligible admitted bodies, 
those employers who do not 
have an automatic right to join the 
Pension Fund, are only admitted 
into the Fund if they have a 
guarantor to cover any pension 
obligations which are not met.  
They may also be required to have 
an indemnity bond or security in 
place to cover any potential risks 
and these are reviewed annually.  
Admitted bodies do not have the 
same freedoms as scheduled 
bodies in how they fund their 
liabilities and these are set out 
again in Section 3.3 of the FSS on 
pages 114 to 120.

Page 497



110  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

Funding Strategy 
Statement 

The Funding Strategy Statement 
shown below is the current version 
of this statement. 

1. Introduction

1.1  What is this document?

This is the Funding Strategy 
Statement (FSS) of the 
Gloucestershire County Council 
Pension Fund (“the Fund”), 
which is administered by 
Gloucestershire County Council, 
(“the Administering Authority”). 

It has been prepared by the 
Administering Authority in 
collaboration with the Fund’s 
actuary, Hymans Robertson LLP, 
and after consultation with the 
Fund’s employers and investment 
adviser. It is effective from 17th 
February 2020.

1.2  What is the Gloucestershire 
County Council Pension Fund?

The Fund is part of the national 
Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS). The LGPS was 
set up by the UK Government 
to provide retirement and death 
benefits for local government 
employees, and those employed 
in similar or related bodies, 
across the whole of the UK. The 
Administering Authority runs the 
Gloucestershire County Council 
Pension Fund, in effect the LGPS 
for the Gloucestershire area, to 
make sure it: 

 receives the proper amount 
of contributions from employees 
and employers, and any transfer 
payments;

 invests the contributions 
appropriately, with the aim that the 
Fund’s assets grow over time with 
investment income and capital 
growth; and

 uses the assets to pay Fund 
benefits to the members (as and 
when they retire, for the rest of 
their lives), and to their dependants 
(as and when members die), as 
defined in the LGPS Regulations. 
Assets are also used to pay 
transfer values and administration 
costs.

The roles and responsibilities of 
the key parties involved in the 
management of the Fund are 
summarised in Appendix B.

1.3  Why does the Fund need a 
Funding Strategy Statement?

Employees’ benefits are 
guaranteed by the LGPS 
Regulations, and do not change 
with market values or employer 
contributions. Investment returns 
will help pay for some of the 
benefits, but probably not all, 
and certainly with no guarantee.  
Employees’ contributions are fixed 
in those Regulations also, at a level 
which covers only part of the cost 
of the benefits. 

Therefore, employers need to 
pay the balance of the cost of 
delivering the benefits to members 
and their dependants.  

The FSS focuses on how employer 
liabilities are measured, the pace at 
which these liabilities are funded, 
and how employers or pools 
of employers pay for their own 
liabilities. This statement sets out 
how the Administering Authority 
has balanced the conflicting aims 
of:

 affordability of employer 
contributions, 

 transparency of processes, 

  stability of employers’ 
contributions, and 

  prudence in the funding basis. 

There are also regulatory 
requirements for an FSS, as given 
in Appendix A.

The FSS is a summary of the 
Fund’s approach to funding 
its liabilities, and this includes 
reference to the Fund’s other 
policies; it is not an exhaustive 
statement of policy on all issues.  
The FSS forms part of a framework 
which includes:

 the LGPS Regulations;

 the Rates and Adjustments 
Certificate (confirming employer 
contribution rates for the next 
three years) which can be found in 
an appendix to the formal valuation 
report;

  actuarial factors for valuing 
individual transfers, early retirement 
costs and the costs of buying 
added service; and

  the Fund’s Investment Strategy 
Statement (see Section 4).

1.4  How does the Fund and this 
FSS affect me?

This depends on who you are:

  a member of the Fund, i.e. a 
current or former employee, or a 
dependant: the Fund needs to be 
sure it is collecting and holding 
enough money so that your 
benefits are always paid in full;

 an employer in the Fund (or 
which is considering joining the 
Fund): you will want to know how 
your contributions are calculated 
from time to time, that these 
are fair by comparison to other 
employers in the Fund, in what 
circumstances you might need to 
pay more and what happens if you 

Page 498



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  111

cease to be an employer in the 
Fund. Note that the FSS applies to 
all employers participating in the 
Fund;

  an Elected Member whose 
council participates in the Fund: 
you will want to be sure that the 
council balances the need to hold 
prudent reserves for members’ 
retirement and death benefits, with 
the other competing demands for 
council money;

  a Council Tax payer: your 
council seeks to strike the balance 
above, and also to minimise 
cross-subsidies between different 
generations of taxpayers.

1.5  What does the FSS aim to 
do?

The FSS sets out the objectives of 
the Fund’s funding strategy, such 
as: 

  to ensure the long-term 
solvency of the Fund, using a 
prudent long term view. This will 
ensure that sufficient funds are 
available to meet all members’/
dependants’ benefits as they fall 
due for payment;

  to ensure that employer 
contribution rates are reasonably 
stable where appropriate;

  to minimise the long-term cash 
contributions which employers 
need to pay to the Fund, by 
recognising the link between 
assets and liabilities and adopting 
an investment strategy which 
balances risk and return (NB this 
will also minimise the costs to be 
borne by Council Tax payers);

  to reflect the different 
characteristics of different 
employers in determining 
contribution rates. This involves 
the Fund having a clear and 
transparent funding strategy to 
demonstrate how each employer 
can best meet its own liabilities 
over future years; and

  to use reasonable measures to 
reduce the risk to other employers 

and ultimately to the Council Tax 
payer from an employer defaulting 
on its pension obligations.

1.6  How do I find my way 
around this document?

In Section 2 there is a brief 
introduction to some of the main 
principles behind funding, i.e. 
deciding how much an employer 
should contribute to the Fund from 
time to time.

In Section 3 we outline how the 
Fund calculates the contributions 
payable by different employers in 
different situations.

In Section 4 we show how the 
funding strategy is linked with the 
Fund’s investment strategy.

In the Appendices we cover 
various issues in more detail if you 
are interested:

A. the regulatory background, 
including how and when the FSS 
is reviewed,

B. who is responsible for what,

C. what issues the Fund needs to 
monitor, and how it manages its 
risks,

D. some more details about the 
actuarial calculations required,

E. the assumptions which the 
Fund actuary currently makes 
about the future,

F. a glossary explaining the 
technical terms occasionally used 
here.

If you have any other queries 
please contact the Pensions  
Team in the first instance at 
peninv@gloucestershire.gov.uk 
or on telephone number 01452 
328949.

2. Basic funding issues

(More detailed and extensive 
descriptions are given in Appendix 
D).

2.1  How does the actuary 
calculate the required 
contribution rate?

In essence this is a three-step 
process:

  Calculate the funding target for 
that employer, i.e. the estimated 
amount of assets it should 
hold in order to be able to pay 
all its members’ benefits. See 
Appendix E for more details of 
what assumptions we make to 
determine that funding target;

  Determine the time horizon 
over which the employer should 
aim to achieve that funding target. 
See the table in 3.3 and Note (c) 
for more details;

  Calculate the employer 
contribution rate such that it has at 
least a given likelihood of achieving 
that funding target over that 
time horizon, allowing for various 
possible economic outcomes over 
that time horizon. See 2.3 below, 
and the table in 3.3 Note (e) for 
more details.

2.2  What is each employer’s 
contribution rate?

This is described in more 
detail in Appendix D. Employer 
contributions are normally made 
up of two elements:

a) the estimated cost of benefits 
being built up each year, after 
deducting the members’ own 
contributions and including an 
allowance for administration 
expenses. This is referred to as the 
“Primary rate”, and is expressed 
as a percentage of members’ 
pensionable pay; plus

b) an adjustment for the difference 
between the Primary rate above, 
and the actual contribution the 
employer needs to pay, referred to 
as the “Secondary rate”. In broad 
terms, payment of the Secondary 
rate is in respect of benefits already 
accrued at the valuation date. The 
Secondary rate may be expressed 
as a percentage of pay and/or a 

Page 499



112  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

monetary amount in each year. 

The rates for all employers are 
shown in the Fund’s Rates and 
Adjustments Certificate, which 
forms part of the formal Actuarial 
Valuation Report. Employers’ 
contributions are expressed as 
minima, with employers able to 
pay contributions at a higher rate. 
Account of any higher rate will 
be taken by the Fund actuary at 
subsequent valuations, i.e. will 
be reflected as a credit when 
next calculating the employer’s 
contributions.

2.3  What different types of 
employer participate in the 
Fund?

Historically the LGPS was intended 
for local authority employees only.  
However over the years, with the 
diversification and changes to 
delivery of local services, many 
more types and numbers of 
employers now participate. There 
are currently more employers 
in the Fund than ever before, a 
significant part of this being due to 
new academies. 

In essence, participation in the 
LGPS is open to public sector 
employers providing some form 
of service to the local community. 
Whilst the majority of members 
will be local authority employees 
(and ex-employees), the majority of 
participating employers are those 
providing services in place of (or 
alongside) local authority services: 
academy schools, contractors, 
housing associations, charities, 
etc.

The LGPS Regulations define 
various types of employer as 
follows:

Scheduled bodies - councils, 
and other specified employers 
such as academies and further 
education establishments. These 
must provide access to the LGPS 
in respect of their employees who 
are not eligible to join another 
public sector scheme (such as 
the Teachers Scheme). These 

employers are so-called because 
they are specified in a schedule to 
the LGPS Regulations.     

It is now possible for Local 
Education Authority schools to 
convert to academy status, and for 
other forms of school (such as Free 
Schools) to be established under 
the academies legislation. All such 
academies (or Multi Academy 
Trusts), as employers of non-
teaching staff, become separate 
new employers in the Fund. As 
academies are defined in the 
LGPS Regulations as “Scheduled 
Bodies”, the Administering 
Authority has no discretion over 
whether to admit them to the 
Fund, and the academy has no 
discretion whether to continue to 
allow its non-teaching staff to join 
the Fund. There has also been 
guidance issued by the MHCLG 
regarding the terms of academies’ 
membership in LGPS Funds.

Designating employers - 
employers such as town and 
parish councils are able to 
participate in the LGPS via 
resolution (and the Fund cannot 
refuse them entry where the 
resolution is passed). These 
employers can designate which of 
their employees are eligible to join 
the scheme.

Other employers are able to 
participate in the Fund via an 
admission agreement, and are 
referred to as ‘admission bodies’.  
These employers are generally 
those with a “community of 
interest” with another scheme 
employer – community admission 
bodies (“CAB”) or those providing 
a service on behalf of a scheme 
employer – transferee admission 
bodies (“TAB”). CABs will include 
housing associations and charities, 
TABs will generally be contractors. 
The Fund is able to set its 
criteria for participation by these 
employers and can refuse entry if 
the requirements as set out in the 
Fund’s admissions policy are not 
met. (NB The terminology CAB 
and TAB has been dropped from 
recent LGPS Regulations, which 

instead combine both under the 
single term ‘admission bodies’; 
however, we have retained the old 
terminology here as we consider 
it to be helpful in setting funding 
strategies for these different 
employers).

2.4  How does the calculated 
contribution rate vary for 
different employers?

All three steps below are consid-
ered when setting contributions 
(more details are given in Section 3 
and Appendix D).

1. The funding target is based 
on a set of assumptions about 
the future, (e.g. investment 
returns, inflation, pensioners’ life 
expectancies). If an employer 
is approaching the end of its 
participation in the Fund then 
its funding target may be set on 
a more prudent basis, so that 
its liabilities are less likely to be 
spread among other employers 
after its cessation;

2. The time horizon required is 
the period over which the funding 
target is achieved. Employers 
may be given a lower time horizon 
if they have a less permanent 
anticipated membership, or do 
not have tax-raising powers to 
increase contributions if investment 
returns under-perform; and

3. The likelihood of achieving 
the funding target over that time 
horizon will be dependent on the 
Fund’s view of the strength of 
employer covenant and its funding 
profile. Where an employer is 
considered to be weaker then 
the required likelihood will be set 
higher, which in turn will increase 
the required contributions (and vice 
versa).

For some employers it may be 
agreed to pool contributions, see 
3.4. 

Any costs of non ill-health early 
retirements must be paid by the 
employer, see 3.6.

Page 500



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  113

Costs of ill-health early retirements 
are covered in 3.7 and 3.8.

2.5 How is a funding level 
calculated?

An employer’s “funding level” is 
defined as the ratio of:

  the market value of the 
employer’s share of assets (see 
Appendix D, section D5, for further 
details of how this is calculated), to 

  the value placed by the actuary 
on the benefits built up to date 
for the employer’s employees and 
ex-employees (the “liabilities”).  
The Fund actuary agrees with 
the Administering Authority 
the assumptions to be used in 
calculating this value.

If this is less than 100% then it 
means the employer has a shortfall, 
which is the employer’s “deficit”; 
if it is more than 100% then the 
employer is said to be in “surplus”.  
The amount of deficit or shortfall is 
the difference between the asset 
value and the liabilities value.

It is important to note that the 
funding level and deficit/surplus are 
only measurements at a particular 
point in time, on a particular set 
of assumptions about the future. 
Whilst we recognise that various 
parties will take an interest in these 
measures, for most employers 
the key issue is how likely it is that 
their contributions will be sufficient 
to pay for their members’ benefits 
(when added to their existing asset 
share and anticipated investment 
returns). 

In short, funding levels and deficits 
are short term, high level risk 
measures, whereas contribution-
setting is a longer term issue.

2.6 How does the Fund 
recognise that contribution 
levels can affect council and 
employer service provision, 
and council tax?

The Administering Authority and 
the Fund actuary are acutely aware 

that, all other things being equal, 
a higher contribution required to 
be paid to the Fund will mean less 
cash available for the employer to 
spend on the provision of services.  
For instance:

  Higher Pension Fund 
contributions may result in reduced 
council spending, which in turn 
could affect the resources available 
for council services, and/or greater 
pressure on council tax levels;

  Contributions which Academies 
pay to the Fund will therefore not 
be available to pay for providing 
education; and

  Other employers will provide 
various services to the local 
community, perhaps through 
housing associations, charitable 
work, or contracting council 
services. If they are required to pay 
more in pension contributions to 
the LGPS then this may affect their 
ability to provide the local services 
at a reasonable cost.

Whilst all this is true, it should also 
be borne in mind that:

  The Fund provides invaluable 
financial security to local families, 
whether to those who formerly 
worked in the service of the local 
community who have now retired, 
or to their families after their death;

  The Fund must have the 
assets available to meet these 
retirement and death benefits, 
which in turn means that the 
various employers must each 
pay their own way. Lower 
contributions today will mean 
higher contributions tomorrow: 
deferring payments does not alter 
the employer’s ultimate obligation 
to the Fund in respect of its 
current and former employees;

  Each employer will generally 
only pay for its own employees 
and ex-employees (and their 
dependants), not for those of 
other employers in the Fund;

  The Fund strives to maintain 
reasonably stable employer 
contribution rates where 
appropriate and possible. 
However, a recent shift in 
regulatory focus means that 
solvency within each generation is 
considered by the Government to 
be a higher priority than stability of 
contribution rates;

  The Fund wishes to avoid the 
situation where an employer falls so 
far behind in managing its funding 
shortfall that its deficit becomes 
unmanageable in practice: such 
a situation may lead to employer 
insolvency and the resulting 
deficit falling on the other Fund 
employers. In that situation, those 
employers’ services would in turn 
suffer as a result;

  Council contributions to the 
Fund should be at a suitable level, 
to protect the interests of different 
generations of council tax payers. 
For instance, underpayment of 
contributions for some years 
will need to be balanced by 
overpayment in other years; the 
council will wish to minimise 
the extent to which council tax 
payers in one period are in effect 
benefitting at the expense of 
those paying in a different period. 

Overall, therefore, there is clearly 
a balance to be struck between 
the Fund’s need for maintaining 
prudent funding levels, and the 
employers’ need to allocate 
their resources appropriately.  
The Fund achieves this through 
various techniques which affect 
contribution increases to various 
degrees (see 3.1). In deciding 
which of these techniques to 
apply to any given employer, the 
Administering Authority takes a 
view on the financial standing of 
the employer, i.e. its ability to meet 
its funding commitments and the 
relevant time horizon.

The Administering Authority will 
consider a risk assessment of that 
employer using a knowledge base 
which is regularly monitored and 

Page 501



114  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

kept up-to-date. This database 
will include such information as the 
type of employer, its membership 
profile and funding position, any 
guarantors or security provision, 
material changes anticipated, etc.  

For instance, where the 
Administering Authority has 
reasonable confidence that an 
employer will be able to meet its 
funding commitments, then the 
Fund will permit options such as 
stabilisation (see 3.3 Note (b)), 
a longer time horizon relative to 
other employers, and/or a lower 
likelihood of achieving their funding 
target. Such options will temporarily 
produce lower contribution levels 
than would otherwise have applied.  
This is permitted in the expectation 
that the employer will still be able to 
meet its obligations for many years 
to come.

On the other hand, where there is 
doubt that an employer will be able 
to meet its funding commitments 
or withstand a significant change 
in its commitments, then a 
higher funding target, and/or a 
shorter time horizon relative to 
other employers, and/or a higher 
likelihood of achieving the target 
may be required.

The Fund actively seeks employer 
input, including to its funding 
arrangements, through various 
means: see Appendix A.  

2.7  What approach has the 
Fund taken to dealing with 
uncertainty arising from the 
McCloud court case and its 
potential impact on the LGPS 
benefit structure?

The LGPS benefit structure from 
1 April 2014 is currently under 
review following the Government’s 
loss of the right to appeal the 
McCloud and other similar court 
cases. The courts have ruled 
that the ‘transitional protections’ 
awarded to some members of 
public service pension schemes 
when the schemes were reformed 
(on 1 April 2014 in the case of 

the LGPS) were unlawful on the 
grounds of age discrimination. At 
the time of writing, the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) has not 
provided any details of changes 
as a result of the case. However, it 
is expected that benefit changes 
will be required and they will likely 
increase the value of liabilities. At 
present, the scale and nature of any 
increase in liabilities is unknown, 
which limits the ability of the Fund 
to make an accurate allowance.  

The LGPS Scheme Advisory 
Board (SAB) issued advice to 
LGPS funds in May 2019. As there 
was no finalised outcome of the 
McCloud case by 31st August 
2019, the Fund Actuary has acted 
in line with SAB’s advice and 
valued all member benefits in line 
with the current LGPS Regulations.

The Fund, in line with the advice 
in the SAB’s note, has considered 
how to allow for this risk in the 
setting of employer contribution 
rates. As the benefit structure 
changes that will arise from the 
McCloud judgement are uncertain, 
the Fund has elected to reflect 
the increase in risk through the 
likelihood of success parameters 
which are used in the assessment 
of employer contribution rates at 
the 2019 valuation. 

Once the outcome of the McCloud 
case is known, the Fund may 
revisit the contribution rates set to 
ensure they remain appropriate.

The Fund has also considered 
the McCloud judgement in its 
approach to cessation valuations. 
Please see note (j) to table 3.3 for 
further information. 

2.8 When will the next actuarial 
valuation be?

On 8 May 2019 MHCLG issued 
a consultation seeking views on 
(among other things) proposals to 
amend the LGPS valuation cycle 
in England and Wales from a three 
year (triennial) valuation cycle to a 

four year (quadrennial) valuation 
cycle. 

The Fund intends to carry out its 
next actuarial valuation in 2022 
(3 years after the 2019 valuation 
date) in line with MHCLG’s desired 
approach in the consultation. The 
Fund has therefore instructed the 
Fund Actuary to certify contribution 
rates for employers for the period 
1st April 2020 to 31st March 2023 
as part of the 2019 valuation of the 
Fund. 

3. Calculating 
contributions for  
individual Employers

3.1 General comments

A key challenge for the 
Administering Authority is to 
balance the need for stable, 
affordable employer contributions 
with the requirement to take a 
prudent, longer-term view of 
funding and ensure the solvency 
of the Fund. With this in mind, 
the Fund’s three-step process 
identifies the key issues:

1. What is a suitably (but not 
overly) prudent funding target? 

2. How long should the employer 
be permitted to reach that target? 
This should be realistic but not 
so long that the funding target is 
in danger of never actually being 
achieved.

3. What likelihood is required to 
reach that funding target? This will 
always be less than 100% as we 
cannot be certain of the future. 
Higher likelihood “bars” can be 
used for employers where the 
Fund wishes to reduce the risk 
that the employer ceases leaving 
a deficit to be picked up by other 
employers. 

These and associated issues are 
covered in this section.

The Administering Authority 
recognises that there may 
occasionally be particular 

Page 502



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  115

circumstances affecting individual 
employers that are not easily 
managed within the rules and 
policies set out in the Funding 
Strategy Statement. Therefore the 
Administering Authority reserves 
the right to direct the actuary 
to adopt alternative funding 
approaches on a case by case 
basis for specific employers.

3.2 The effect of paying lower 
contributions 

In limited circumstances the 
Administering Authority may permit 
employers to pay contributions at 
a lower level than is assessed for 
the employer using the three step 
process above. At their absolute 
discretion the Administering 
Authority may: 

  extend the time horizon for 
targeting full funding;

  adjust the required likelihood of 
meeting the funding target;

  permit an employer to 
participate in the Fund’s 
stabilisation mechanisms; 

  permit extended phasing in of 
contribution rises or reductions;

  pool contributions amongst 
employers with similar 
characteristics; and/or

  accept some form of security 
or guarantee in lieu of a higher 
contribution rate than would 
otherwise be the case.

Employers which are permitted 
to use one or more of the above 
methods will often be paying, for 
a time, contributions less than 
required to meet their funding 
target, over the appropriate time 
horizon with the required likelihood 
of success. Such employers 
should appreciate that:

  their true long term liability (i.e. 
the actual eventual cost of benefits 

payable to their employees and 
ex-employees) is not affected by 
the pace of paying contributions; 

  lower contributions in the 
short term will result in a lower 
level of future investment returns 
on the employer’s asset share. 
Thus, deferring a certain amount 
of contribution may lead to higher 
contributions in the long-term; and

  it may take longer to reach 
their funding target, all other things 
being equal.  

Below and overleaf (3.3) is a 
summary of how the main funding 
policies differ for different types 
of employer, followed by more 
detailed notes where necessary.

Section 3.4 onwards deals with 
various other funding issues which 
apply to all employers.

3.3 The different approaches used for different employers

Type of employer

Sub-type

Funding Target 
Basis used

Primary rate 
approach

Stabilised 
contribution rate?

Maximum time 
horizon – Note (c)

Secondary rate – 
Note (d)

 Scheduled Bodies  Community  Transferee
  Admission Bodies  Admission 
  and Designating Bodies*
  Employers 

 Local Colleges & Academies Open to Closed (all)
 Authorities,  Universities  new to new
  Police, Fire   entrants entrants 

Contractor exit basis, 
assumes fixed contract 
term in the Fund (see 

Appendix E)

Ongoing participation basis, assumes 
long-term Fund participation (see 

Appendix E)

Ongoing 
participation 

basis

(see Appendix D – D.2)

 Yes - see  No No No No No
 Note (b)

 17 years 14 years 17 years  17 years 17 years As per the letting
      but aiming employer
     for future
     working
     lifetime

Gilts exit 
basis - see 

Note (a)

 Monetary  Monetary % of Monetary Monetary % of payroll or
 amount amount payroll amount amount monetary amount

Page 503



116  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

Type of employer

Sub-type

Treatment of 
surplus

Likelihood of 
achieving target - 
Note (e)

Phasing of 
contribution 
changes

Review of rates – 
Note (f)

New employer

Cessation of 
participation: 
exit debt/credit 
payable

 Scheduled Bodies  Community  Transferee
  Admission Bodies  Admission 
  and Designating Bodies*
  Employers 

 Local Colleges & Academies Open to Closed (all)
 Authorities,  Universities  new to new
  Police, Fire   entrants entrants 

Covered by 
stabilisation 
arrangement

Contributions 
kept at 

Primary rate

Administering Authority reserves the right to review contribution 
rates and amounts, and the level of security provided, at regular 

intervals between valuations

Cessation is assumed not to be generally 
possible, as Scheduled Bodies are legally 

obliged to participate in the LGPS. In 
the rare event of cessation occurring 
(machinery of Government changes 

for example), the cessation calculation 
principles applied would be as per Note (j).

Can be ceased subject 
to terms of admission 
agreement. Exit debt/

credit will be calculated 
on a basis appropriate 
to the circumstances of 
cessation – see Note 

(j).

For employers due to 
cease beyond the next 

formal valuation, the 
contributions have been 
set to the minimum of 

the current rate and the 
calculated primary rate.

For employers due 
to cease prior to 31 

March 2023, reductions 
to contributions are 

permitted

Contributions 
kept at 

Primary rate

Preferred approach: 
contributions kept 

at Primary rate. 
Reductions may 
be permitted by 

the Administering 
Authority

70% 70% or 75% 
depending 

on evidence 
of financial 
strength

75% 80% for 
Community 
Admission 

Bodies, 
70% for 

Designating 
Employers

80% 66%

Covered by 
stabilisation 
arrangement

3 years 3 years for 
increases and 

decreases, 
subject to 

a maximum 
increase / 

decrease of 
2% p.a. 

3 years 3 years None

n/a n/a Note (g) Note (h) Notes (h) and (j)

Particularly reviewed in last 
3 years of contract

Participation is assumed 
to expire at the end of 

the contract.  Cessation 
debt/credit calculated on 
the contractor exit basis, 

unless the admission 
agreement is terminated 
early by the contractor 
in which case the low 
risk exit basis would 

apply. Letting employer 
will be liable for future 

deficits and contributions 
arising. See Note (j) for 

further details

* Where the Administering Authority recognises a fixed contribution rate agreement between a letting authority and a contractor, the 
certified employer contribution rate will be derived in line with the methodology specified in the risk sharing agreement.  Additionally, in 
these cases, upon cessation the contractor’s assets and liabilities will transfer back to the letting employer with no crystallisation of any 
deficit or surplus. Further detail on fixed contribution rate agreements is set out in note (i).

Page 504



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  117

Note (a) (Gilts exit basis 
for CABs and Designating 
Employers closed to new 
entrants)

In the circumstances where:

  the employer is a Designating 
Employer, or an Admission Body 
but not a Transferee Admission 
Body, and

  the employer has no guarantor, 
and

  the admission agreement is 
likely to terminate, or the employer 
is likely to lose its last active 
member, within a timeframe 
considered appropriate by the 
Administering Authority to prompt 
a change in funding, 

the Administering Authority may set 
a higher funding target (e.g. based 
on the return from long-term gilt 
yields) by the time the agreement 
terminates or the last active 
member leaves, in order to protect 
other employers in the Fund. 
This policy will increase regular 
contributions and reduce, but not 
entirely eliminate, the possibility 
of a final deficit payment being 
required from the employer when a 
cessation valuation is carried out.  

The Administering Authority also 
reserves the right to adopt the 
above approach in respect of 
those Designating Employers 
and Admission Bodies with no 
guarantor, where the strength 
of covenant is considered to be 
weak but there is no immediate 
expectation that the admission 
agreement will cease or the 
Designating Employer alters its 
designation.

Note (b) (Stabilisation)

Stabilisation is a mechanism 
where employer contribution rate 
variations from year to year are 
kept within a pre-determined 
range, thus allowing those 
employers’ rates to be relatively 
stable. In the interests of stability 
and affordability of employer 

contributions, the Administering 
Authority, on the advice of the 
Fund Actuary, believes that 
stabilising contributions can 
still be viewed as a prudent 
longer-term approach. However, 
employers whose contribution 
rates have been “stabilised” (and 
may therefore be paying less than 
their theoretical contribution rate) 
should be aware of the risks of 
this approach and should consider 
making additional payments to the 
Fund if possible.

This stabilisation mechanism 
allows short term investment 
market volatility to be managed 
so as not to cause volatility in 
employer contribution rates, on 
the basis that a long term view 
can be taken on net cash inflow, 
investment returns and strength of 
employer covenant.

The current stabilisation 
mechanism applies if:

  the employer satisfies the 
eligibility criteria set by the 
Administering Authority (see below) 
and;

  there are no material events 
which cause the employer 
to become ineligible, e.g. 
significant reductions in active 
membership (due to outsourcing or 
redundancies), or changes in the 
nature of the employer (perhaps 
due to Government restructuring), 
or changes in the security of the 
employer.

On the basis of extensive 
modelling carried out for the 2019 
valuation exercise (see Section 
4), the following employers will be 
permitted to stabilise contribution 
increases and decreases subject 
to previously agreed limits:

  Gloucestershire County Council 
and Schools
  Cotswold District Council
  Forest of Dean District Council
  Gloucester City Council
  Stroud District Council
  Tewkesbury Borough Council

  Gloucestershire Police

The stabilisation criteria and 
limits will be reviewed at the next 
formal valuation. However the 
Administering Authority reserves 
the right to review the stabilisation 
criteria and limits at any time 
before then, on the basis of 
membership and/or employer 
changes as described above.

Note (c) (Maximum time 
horizon)

The maximum time horizon starts 
at the commencement of the 
revised contribution rate (1 April 
2020 for the 2019 valuation). The 
Administering Authority would 
normally expect the same period 
to be used at successive triennial 
valuations, but would reserve the 
right to propose alternative time 
horizons, for example where there 
were no new entrants.

For community admission bodies 
that are closed to new entrants, the 
time horizon has been extended 
beyond the future working lifetime 
to maintain contributions at a 
stable level. The Fund would 
not permit an extension to the 
time horizon that resulted in a 
reduction in contributions unless 
the employer was in surplus on the 
gilts exit basis. 

Note (d) (Secondary rate)

For employers where stabilisation 
is not being applied, the 
Secondary contribution rate for 
each employer covering the period 
until the next formal valuation 
will often be set as a monetary 
amount. However, where a 
percentage of salaries approach is 
used, the Administering Authority 
reserves the right to amend these 
rates between formal valuations 
and/or to require these payments 
in monetary terms instead, for 
instance where:

  the employer is relatively 
mature, i.e. has a large Secondary 
contribution rate (e.g. above 15% 
of payroll), or

Page 505



118  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

  there has been a significant 
reduction in payroll due to 
outsourcing or redundancy 
exercises, or

  the employer has closed the 
Fund to new entrants.

Note (e) (Likelihood of 
achieving funding target)

Each employer has its funding 
target calculated, and a relevant 
time horizon over which to reach 
that target. Contributions are set 
such that, combined with the 
employer’s current asset share and 
anticipated market movements 
over the time horizon, the funding 
target is achieved with a given 
minimum likelihood. A higher 
required likelihood bar will give rise 
to higher required contributions, 
and vice versa.

The way in which contributions are 
set using these three steps, and 
relevant economic projections, 
is described in further detail in 
Appendix D.

Different likelihoods are set for 
different employers depending on 
their nature and circumstances: in 
broad terms, a higher likelihood will 
apply due to one or more of the 
following:

  the Fund believes the employer 
poses a greater funding risk than 
other employers;

  the employer does not have 
tax-raising powers;

  the employer does not have 
a guarantor or other sufficient 
security backing its funding 
position; and/or

  the employer is likely to cease 
participation in the Fund in the 
short or medium term.

Note (f) (Regular Reviews)

Such reviews may be triggered 
by significant events including 
but not limited to: significant 
reductions in payroll, altered 

employer circumstances, 
Government restructuring affecting 
the employer’s business, or failure 
to pay contributions or arrange 
appropriate security as required by 
the Administering Authority.

The result of a review may be to 
require increased contributions 
(by strengthening the actuarial 
assumptions adopted and/or 
moving to monetary levels of deficit 
recovery contributions), and/or 
an increased level of security or 
guarantee.  

Note (g) (New Academy 
Conversions)

At the time of writing, the Fund’s 
policies on academies’ funding 
issues are as follows: 

i. The new academy will be 
regarded as a separate employer in 
its own right and will not be pooled 
with other employers in the Fund. 
The only exception is where the 
academy is part of a Multi Academy 
Trust (MAT) in which case the 
academy’s figures will be calculated 
as below but can be combined 
with, for the purpose of setting 
contribution rates, with those of the 
other academies in the MAT;

ii. The new academy’s past 
service liabilities on conversion will 
be calculated based on its active 
Fund members on the day before 
conversion. For the avoidance of 
doubt, these liabilities will include 
all past service of those members, 
but will exclude the liabilities 
relating to any ex-employees of 
the school who have deferred or 
pensioner status;

ii. The new academy will be 
allocated an initial asset share 
from the ceding council’s assets 
in the Fund. This asset share will 
be calculated using the estimated 
funding position of the ceding 
council at the date of academy 
conversion. The share will be 
based on the active members’ 
funding level, having first allocated 
assets in the council’s share to 
fully fund deferred and pensioner 

members. The assets allocated 
to the academy will be limited if 
necessary so that its initial funding 
level is subject to a maximum of 
100%. The asset allocation will 
be based on market conditions 
and the academy’s active Fund 
membership on the day prior to 
conversion;

iv. The new academy’s calculated 
contribution rate will be based on 
the time horizon and likelihood of 
achieving funding target outlined 
for Academies in the table in 
Section 3.3 above;

v. It is possible for an academy to 
leave one MAT and join another. 
If this occurs, all active, deferred 
and pensioner members of the 
academy transfer to the new MAT.

The Fund’s policies on academies 
are subject to change in the light 
of any amendments to MHCLG 
and/or DfE guidance (or removal 
of the formal guarantee currently 
provided to academies by the DfE). 
Any changes will be notified to 
academies, and will be reflected in 
a subsequent version of this FSS. 
In particular, policies (iii) and (iv) 
above will be reconsidered at each 
valuation.

Note (h) (New Admission 
Bodies)

With effect from 1 October 2012, 
the LGPS 2012 Miscellaneous 
Regulations introduced mandatory 
new requirements for all Admission 
Bodies brought into the Fund 
from that date. Under these 
Regulations, all new Admission 
Bodies will be required to provide 
some form of security, such 
as a guarantee from the letting 
employer, an indemnity or a bond.  
The security is required to cover 
some or all of the following:

  the strain cost of any 
redundancy early retirements 
resulting from the premature 
termination of the contract;

 allowance for the risk of asset 
underperformance;

Page 506



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  119

  allowance for the risk of a 
greater than expected rise in 
liabilities;

  allowance for the possible non-
payment of employer and member 
contributions to the Fund; and/or

  the current deficit.

Transferee Admission Bodies: 
For all TABs, the security must 
be to the satisfaction of the 
Administering Authority as well as 
the letting employer, and will be 
reassessed on an annual basis. 
See also Note (i) below.

Community Admission Bodies: 
The Administering Authority will 
only consider requests from CABs 
(or other similar bodies, such as 
section 75 NHS partnerships) to 
join the Fund if they are sponsored 
by a Scheduled Body with tax 
raising powers, guaranteeing their 
liabilities and also providing a form 
of security as above. 

The above approaches reduce 
the risk, to other employers in 
the Fund, of potentially having to 
pick up any shortfall in respect of 
Admission Bodies ceasing with an 
unpaid deficit.

Note (i) (New Transferee 
Admission Bodies)

A new TAB usually joins the 
Fund as a result of the letting/
outsourcing of some services from 
an existing employer (normally 
a Scheduled Body such as a 
council or academy) to another 
organisation (a “contractor”). This 
involves the TUPE transfer of some 
staff from the letting employer to 
the contractor. Consequently, for 
the duration of the contract, the 
contractor is a new participating 
employer in the Fund so that 
the transferring employees 
maintain their eligibility for LGPS 
membership. At the end of the 
contract the employees revert 
to the letting employer or to a 
replacement contractor.

Ordinarily, the TAB would be set 

up in the Fund as a new employer 
with responsibility for all the 
accrued benefits of the transferring 
employees; in this case, the 
contractor would usually be 
assigned an initial asset allocation 
equal to the past service liability 
value of the employees’ Fund 
benefits. The quid pro quo is that 
the contractor is then expected to 
ensure that its share of the Fund is 
also fully funded at the end of the 
contract: see Note (j).

Employers which “outsource” 
have flexibility in the way that 
they can deal with the pension 
risk potentially taken on by the 
contractor. In particular, there are 
three different routes that such 
employers may wish to adopt. 
Clearly as the risk ultimately 
resides with the employer letting 
the contract, it is for them to agree 
the appropriate route with the 
contractor:

i) Pooling

Under this option the contractor is 
pooled with the letting employer. In 
this case, the contractor pays the 
same rate as the letting employer, 
which may be under a stabilisation 
approach.

ii) Letting employer retains pre-
contract risks

Under this option the letting 
employer would retain 
responsibility for assets and 
liabilities in respect of service 
accrued prior to the contract 
commencement date. The 
contractor would be responsible 
for the future liabilities that accrue 
in respect of transferred staff. The 
contractor’s contribution rate could 
vary from one valuation to the next. 
It would be liable for any deficit (or 
entitled to any surplus) at the end 
of the contract term in respect of 
assets and liabilities attributable 
to service accrued during the 
contract term.

iii) Fixed contribution rate agreed

Under this option the contractor 

pays a fixed contribution rate 
throughout its participation in the 
Fund and on cessation does not 
pay any deficit or receive an exit 
credit. In other words, the pension 
risks “pass through” to the letting 
employer. 

The Administering Authority is 
willing to administer any of the 
above options as long as the 
approach is documented in 
the Admission Agreement as 
well as the transfer agreement. 
Alternatively, letting employers and 
Transferee Admission Bodies may 
operate any of the above options 
by entering into a separate Side 
Agreement. The Administering 
Authority would not necessarily 
be a party to this side agreement, 
but may treat the Admission 
Agreement as if it incorporates 
the side agreement terms where 
this is permitted by legislation or 
alternatively agreed by all parties.  

Any risk sharing agreement should 
ensure that some element of risk 
transfers to the contractor where 
it relates to their decisions and 
it is unfair to burden the letting 
employer with that risk. For 
example the contractor should 
typically be responsible for pension 
costs that arise from:

  above average pay increases, 
including the effect in respect 
of service prior to contract 
commencement even if the letting 
employer takes on responsibility 
for the latter under (ii) opposite;  

  redundancy and early 
retirement decisions.

Note (j) (Admission Bodies 
Ceasing)

Notwithstanding the provisions 
of the Admission Agreement, 
the Administering Authority may 
consider any of the following as 
triggers for the cessation of an 
admission agreement with any 
type of body:

  Last active member ceasing 
participation in the Fund (NB 

Page 507



120  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

recent LGPS Regulation changes 
mean that the Administering 
Authority has the discretion to 
defer taking action for up to three 
years, so that if the employer 
acquires one or more active Fund 
members during that period then 
cessation is not triggered. The 
current Fund policy is that this is 
left as a discretion and may or may 
not be applied in any given case);

  The insolvency, winding up or 
liquidation of the Admission Body;

  Any breach by the Admission 
Body of any of its obligations 
under the Agreement that they 
have failed to remedy to the 
satisfaction of the Fund;

  A failure by the Admission Body 
to pay any sums due to the Fund 
within the period required by the 
Fund; or

  The failure by the Admission 
Body to renew or adjust the level 
of the bond or indemnity, or to 
confirm an appropriate alternative 
guarantor, as required by the Fund.

On cessation, the Administering 
Authority will instruct the Fund 
actuary to carry out a cessation 
valuation to determine whether 
there is any deficit or surplus. 
Where there is a deficit, payment of 
this amount in full would normally 
be sought from the Admission 
Body; where there is a surplus, 
the Administering Authority will 
determine the amount of exit credit 
to be paid in accordance with 
the Regulations. In making this 
determination, the Administering 
Authority will consider the extent 
of any surplus, the proportion 
of surplus arising as a result of 
the Admission Body’s employer 
contributions, any representations 
(such as risk sharing agreements 
or guarantees) made by the 
Admission Body and any employer 
providing a guarantee to the 
Admission Body and any other 
factors the Administering Authority 
deem relevant. The Fund’s Exit 
Credit Policy can be found on the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

Website, along with this Funding 
Strategy Statement. This policy will 
only become operational when it 
has been agreed by the Pension 
Committee at the next meeting 
of the Committee scheduled 
for September 2020. Hence no 
surplus payments will be made until 
the matter has been considered by 
the Pension Committee.

As discussed in Section 2.7, the 
LGPS benefit structure from 1 April 
2014 is currently under review 
following the Government’s loss of 
the right to appeal the McCloud 
and other similar court cases. 
The Fund has considered how it 
will reflect the current uncertainty 
regarding the outcome of this 
judgement in its approach to 
cessation valuations. For cessation 
valuations that are carried out 
before any changes to the LGPS 
benefit structure (from 1 April 2014) 
are confirmed, the Fund’s policy is 
that the actuary will apply a [x%] 
loading to the ceasing employer’s 
post 2014 benefit accrual value, as 
an estimate of the possible impact 
of resulting benefit changes.

The Fund Actuary charges a fee 
for carrying out an employer’s 
cessation valuation which 
the Fund will recharge to the 
employer. For the purposes of 
the cessation valuation, this fee 
will be treated as an expense 
incurred by the employer and will 
be deducted from the employer’s 
cessation surplus or added to the 
employer’s cessation deficit, as 
appropriate. This process improves 
administrative efficiency as it 
reduces the number of transactions 
required to be made between the 
employer and the Fund following 
an employer’s cessation. 

For non-Transferee Admission 
Bodies whose participation 
is voluntarily ended either by 
themselves or the Fund, or 
where a cessation event has 
been triggered, the Administering 
Authority must look to protect 
the interests of other ongoing 
employers. The actuary will 

therefore adopt an approach 
which, to the extent reasonably 
practicable, protects the other 
employers from the likelihood 
of any material loss emerging in 
future:

a) Where a guarantor does not 
exist then, in order to protect 
other employers in the Fund, 
the cessation liabilities and final 
surplus/deficit will normally be 
calculated using a “gilts exit basis”, 
which is more prudent than the 
ongoing participation basis. This 
has no allowance for potential 
future investment outperformance 
above gilt yields, and has added 
allowance for future improvements 
in life expectancy. This could give 
rise to significant cessation debts 
being required.  

b) Where there is a guarantor for 
future deficits and contributions, 
the details of the guarantee will be 
considered prior to the cessation 
valuation being carried out. In 
some cases the guarantor is 
simply guarantor of last resort and 
therefore the cessation valuation 
will be carried out consistently with 
the approach taken had there been 
no guarantor in place. Alternatively, 
where the guarantor is not simply 
guarantor of last resort, the 
cessation may be calculated using 
the ongoing participation basis or 
contractor exit basis as described 
in Appendix E;

c) Again, depending on the 
nature of the guarantee, it may 
be possible to simply transfer 
the former Admission Body’s 
liabilities and assets to the 
guarantor, without needing to 
crystallise any deficit or surplus. 
This approach may be adopted 
where the employer cannot pay the 
contributions due, and this is within 
the terms of the guarantee.

Under (a) and (b), any shortfall 
would usually be levied on the 
departing Admission Body as a 
single lump sum payment. If this 
is not possible then the Fund may 
spread the payment subject to 
there being some security in place 

Page 508



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  121

for the employer such as a bond 
indemnity or guarantee.

In the event that the Fund is 
not able to recover the required 
payment in full, then the unpaid 
amounts fall to be shared amongst 
all of the other employers in 
the Fund. This may require an 
immediate revision to the Rates 
and Adjustments Certificate 
affecting other employers in the 
Fund, or instead be reflected in 
the contribution rates set at the 
next formal valuation following the 
cessation date.

As an alternative, where the 
ceasing Admission Body is 
continuing in business, the Fund at 
its absolute discretion reserves the 
right to enter into an agreement 
with the ceasing Admission Body.  
Under this agreement the Fund 
would accept an appropriate 
alternative security to be held 
against any deficit on the gilts exit 
basis, and would carry out the 
cessation valuation on the ongoing 
participation basis. Secondary 
contributions would be derived 
from this cessation debt. 

This approach would be monitored 
as part of each formal valuation 
and secondary contributions would 
be reassessed as required. The 
Admission Body may terminate 
the agreement only via payment of 
the outstanding debt assessed on 
the gilts exit basis. Furthermore, 
the Fund reserves the right to 
revert to the “gilts exit basis” and 
seek immediate payment of any 
funding shortfall identified. The 
Administering Authority may need 
to seek legal advice in such cases, 
as the Admission Body would have 
no contributing members.

3.4 Pooled contributions

From time to time, with the advice 
of the Actuary, the Administering 
Authority may set up pools 
for employers with similar or 
complementary characteristics.  
This will always be in line with its 
broader funding strategy. Currently 
the pools in place within the Fund 

are as follows:

  Town and Parish Councils (as 
a way of sharing experience and 
smoothing out the effects of costly 
but relatively rare events such as 
deaths in service).  

  LEA schools are generally 
pooled with their funding Council. 
However there may be exceptions 
for specialist or independent 
schools. 

  Admission Bodies may be 
pooled with the letting employer or 
other associated Local Authorities, 
provided all parties (particularly 
the letting employer(s) or Local 
Authorities) agree.

The intention of the pool is to 
minimise contribution rate volatility 
which would otherwise occur 
when members join, leave, take 
early retirement, receive pay 
rises markedly different from 
expectations, etc. Such events 
can cause large changes in 
contribution rates for very small 
employers in particular, unless 
these are smoothed out for 
instance by pooling across a 
number of employers.

On the other hand it should 
be noted that the employers 
in the pool will still have their 
own individual funding positions 
tracked by the Actuary, so that 
some employers will be much 
better funded, and others much 
more poorly funded, than the pool 
average. This therefore means 
that if any given employer was 
funding on a stand-alone basis, 
as opposed to being in the pool, 
then its contribution rate could be 
much higher or lower than the pool 
contribution rate.

On exit from a pool, Town and 
Parish Councils, and LEA schools 
converting to academies, will 
normally be attributed assets on 
a pro-rata basis measuring the 
pool’s funding position at that time.  
This differs from the alternative 
approach (in effect applied to 
TABs ceasing their contract) which 

would be to assess the individual 
employer’s calculated asset share.  
The reason for this difference in 
approach is the long history of 
Town and Parish Councils and 
LEA schools paying pooled rates 
regardless of their own calculated 
asset share, and also to ensure 
that any orphan liabilities are 
accounted for. 

Those employers which have been 
pooled are identified in the Rates 
and Adjustments Certificate.

Employers who are permitted to 
enter (or remain in) a pool at the 
2019 valuation will not normally 
be advised of their individual 
contribution rate unless agreed by 
the Administering Authority.

Community Admission Bodies that 
are deemed by the Administering 
Authority to have closed to new 
entrants are not usually permitted 
to participate in a pool.  

3.5 Additional flexibility in 
return for added security

The Administering Authority 
may permit greater flexibility to 
the employer’s contributions if 
the employer provides added 
security to the satisfaction of the 
Administering Authority.  

Such flexibility includes a reduced 
rate of contribution, an extended 
time horizon, or permission to join 
a pool with another body (e.g. the 
Local Authority). 

Such security may include, but 
is not limited to, a suitable bond, 
a legally-binding guarantee from 
an appropriate third party, or 
security over an employer asset of 
sufficient value.

The degree of flexibility given may 
take into account factors such as:

  the extent of the employer’s 
deficit;

  the amount and quality of the 
security offered;

Page 509



122  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

  the employer’s financial security 
and business plan; and

  whether the admission 
agreement is likely to be open or 
closed to new entrants.

3.6 Non ill health early 
retirement costs

It is assumed that members’ 
benefits are payable from the 
earliest age that the employee 
could retire without incurring a 
reduction to their benefit (and 
without requiring their employer’s 
consent to retire). (NB the relevant 
age may be different for different 
periods of service, following 
the benefit changes from April 
2008 and April 2014). Employers 
are required to pay additional 
contributions (‘strain’) wherever an 
employee retires before attaining 
this age. The actuary’s funding 
basis makes no allowance for 
premature retirement except on 
grounds of ill-health.  

Employers must make these 
additional contributions as a 
one off payment to the fund 
immediately on awarding the 
early retirement. The exception 
to this rule are statutory bodies 
with tax raising powers, where, 
depending on the circumstances, 
the Administering Authority may 
at its absolute discretion agree to 
spread the payment over a period 
not exceeding 3 years. If this is 
agreed, interest will be charged, 
using factors provided by the 
actuary. In any event the spread 
period cannot exceed the period 
to the member’s normal retirement 
date if this is shorter than 3 years.     

3.7 Ill health early retirement 
costs

If a member retires early due to 
ill-health, an additional funding 
strain will usually arise, which can 
be very large. Such strain costs are 
the responsibility of the member’s 
employer to pay, and are required 
to be paid to the Fund immediately 
or, in the case of tax raising 
bodies, over a three year period if 

requested by the employer.

3.8 Ill health risk management 

The Fund recognises ill health 
early retirement costs can have a 
significant impact on an employer’s 
funding and contribution rate, 
which could ultimately jeopardise 
their continued operation.

To mitigate this risk, the Fund 
has agreed to implement new 
procedures with effect from 
1st April 2020, under which 
all Academy Schools, Town 
and Parish Council’s, Admitted 
Bodies with Closed Admission 
Agreements and Admitted Bodies 
without a guarantor will be required 
to be automatically be covered 
by an ill health pension strain 
insurance policy organised by the 
Fund. This cost of this cover is 
built into the employer contribution 
rates set for the financial years 
2020/21 to 2022/23.

All other employers will also 
automatically be covered by the 
ill health pension strain insurance 
policy organised by the Fund, 
unless they formally choose to opt 
out of such cover by making a 
risk based decision in accordance 
with the detailed procedures 
issued to all employers. The 
cost of this cover is built into the 
employer contribution rates set 
for the financial years 2020/21 to 
2022/23.

Where an employer formally 
opts out of the cover their 
employer contributions will remain 
unchanged, but will include a risk 
based ill health allowance. The 
standard approach of monitoring 
ill-health strain costs will apply 
for these employers where, they 
will be asked to pay for any ill-
health strains in excess of their 
allowance. Where ill health pension 
strain costs do not exceed the 
allowances allocated to employers 
who opt out of the pension strain 
insurance cover, the unused 
allowance will be added to the 
employers assets within the Fund.

3.9 Employers with no 
remaining active members

In general an employer ceasing in 
the Fund, due to the departure of 
the last active member, will pay a 
cessation debt or receive an exit 
credit on an appropriate basis (see 
3.3, Note (j)) and consequently have 
no further obligation to the Fund. 
Thereafter it is expected that one of 
two situations will eventually arise:

a) The employer’s asset share 
runs out before all its ex-
employees’ benefits have been 
paid. In this situation the other 
Fund employers will be required 
to contribute to pay all remaining 
benefits: this will be done by the 
Fund actuary apportioning the 
remaining liabilities on a pro-
rata basis at successive formal 
valuations;

b) The last ex-employee or 
dependant dies before the 
employer’s asset share has been 
fully utilised. In this situation 
the remaining assets would be 
apportioned pro-rata by the 
Fund’s actuary to the other Fund 
employers. 

c) In exceptional circumstances 
the Fund may permit an employer 
with no remaining active members 
and a cessation deficit to continue 
contributing to the Fund. This 
would require the provision of a 
suitable security or guarantee, 
as well as a written ongoing 
commitment to fund the remainder 
of the employer’s obligations over 
an appropriate period. The Fund 
would reserve the right to invoke 
the cessation requirements in the 
future, however. The Administering 
Authority may need to seek 
legal advice in such cases, as 
the employer would have no 
contributing members.

3.10 Policies on bulk transfers

Each case will be treated on its 
own merits, but in general:

  The Fund will not pay bulk 
transfers greater than the lesser 

Page 510



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  123

of (a) the asset share of the 
transferring employer in the Fund, 
and (b) the value of the past 
service liabilities of the transferring 
members;

  The Fund will not grant added 
benefits to members bringing 
in entitlements from another 
Fund unless the asset transfer 
is sufficient to meet the added 
liabilities; and

  The Fund may permit shortfalls 
to arise on bulk transfers if the 
Fund employer has suitable 
strength of covenant and commits 
to meeting that shortfall in an 
appropriate period. This may 
require the employer’s Fund 
contributions to increase between 
valuations.  

3.11 Excess salary awards

The Fund Actuary makes 
assumptions regarding future pay 
growth applying to the pre-1st 
April 2014 accrual of benefit of 
current active members. Should 
actual pay rises exceed this 
assumption then the employer’s 
liabilities will increase, and this 
increase could be very marked as 
pay growth immediately affects all 
benefits accrued before April 2014.

4. Funding strategy 
and links to investment 
strategy

4.1 What is the Fund’s 
investment strategy? 

The Fund has built up assets over 
the years, and continues to receive 
contribution and other income.  
All of this must be invested in 
a suitable manner, which is the 
investment strategy.

Investment strategy is set by the 
Administering Authority, after 
consultation with the employers 
and after taking investment advice.  
The precise mix, manager make 
up and target returns are set out in 
the Investment Strategy Statement 
which is available to members and 
employers.

The investment strategy is set for 
the long-term, but is reviewed from 
time to time. Normally a full review 
is carried out as part of each 
actuarial valuation, and is kept 
under review annually between 
actuarial valuations to ensure 
that it remains appropriate to the 
Fund’s liability profile.  

The same investment strategy is 
currently followed for all employers. 

4.2 What is the link between 
funding strategy and investment 
strategy?

The Fund must be able to meet 
all benefit payments as and when 
they fall due. These payments will 
be met by contributions (resulting 
from the funding strategy) or asset 
returns and income (resulting from 
the investment strategy). To the 
extent that investment returns or 
income fall short, then higher cash 
contributions are required from 
employers, and vice versa

Therefore, the funding and 
investment strategies are 
inextricably linked.  

4.3 How does the funding 
strategy reflect the Fund’s 
investment strategy?

In the opinion of the Fund actuary, 
the current funding policy is 
consistent with the current 
investment strategy of the Fund.  
The actuary’s assumptions 
for future investment returns 
(described further in Appendix 
E) are based on the current 
benchmark investment strategy of 
the Fund. The future investment 
return assumptions underlying 
each of the fund’s three funding 
bases include a margin for 
prudence, and are therefore also 
considered to be consistent with 
the requirement to take a “prudent 
longer-term view” of the funding 
of liabilities as required by the UK 
Government (see Appendix A1).

In the short term – such as 
the assessments at formal 
valuations – there is the scope 

for considerable volatility in asset 
values. However, the actuary 
takes a long term view when 
assessing employer contribution 
rates and the contribution rate 
setting methodology takes into 
account this potential variability. 

The Fund does not hold a 
contingency reserve to protect 
it against the volatility of equity 
investments.  

4.4 Does the Fund monitor its 
overall funding position?

The Administering Authority 
monitors the relative funding 
position, i.e. changes in the 
relationship between asset values 
and the liabilities value, annually. It 
reports this to the regular Pensions 
Committee meetings, and also to 
employers via e-mail, Employers 
Forums and its Annual General 
Meeting.

5. Statutory reporting and 
comparison to other LGPS 
Funds

5.1 Purpose

Under Section 13(4)(c) of the 
Public Service Pensions Act 2013 
(“Section 13”), the Government 
Actuary’s Department must, 
following each triennial actuarial 
valuation, report to MHCLG 
on each of the LGPS Funds in 
England & Wales. This report will 
cover whether, for each Fund, the 
rate of employer contributions 
are set at an appropriate level to 
ensure both the solvency and the 
long term cost efficiency of the 
Fund.  

This additional MHCLG oversight 
may have an impact on the 
strategy for setting contribution 
rates at future valuations.

5.2 Solvency

For the purposes of Section 13, 
the rate of employer contributions 
shall be deemed to have been set 
at an appropriate level to ensure 
solvency if:

Page 511



124  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

(a) the rate of employer 
contributions is set to target 
a funding level for the Fund of 
100%, over an appropriate time 
period and using appropriate 
actuarial assumptions (where 
appropriateness is considered in 
both absolute and relative terms in 
comparison with other funds); and 
either 

(b) employers collectively have 
the financial capacity to increase 
employer contributions, and/
or the Fund is able to realise 
contingent assets should future 
circumstances require, in order to 
continue to target a funding level 
of 100%; or

(c) there is an appropriate plan in 
place should there be, or if there 
is expected in future to be, a 
material reduction in the capacity 
of fund employers to increase 
contributions as might be needed.  

5.3 Long Term Cost Efficiency

The rate of employer contributions 
shall be deemed to have been set 
at an appropriate level to ensure 
long term cost efficiency if:

i. the rate of employer 
contributions is sufficient to make 
provision for the cost of current 
benefit accrual,

ii. with an appropriate adjustment 
to that rate for any surplus or 
deficit in the Fund.

In assessing whether the above 
condition is met, MHCLG may 
have regard to various absolute 
and relative considerations. A 
relative consideration is primarily 
concerned with comparing 
LGPS pension funds with 
other LGPS pension funds. An 
absolute consideration is primarily 
concerned with comparing Funds 
with a given objective benchmark.

Relative considerations include:

1. the implied deficit recovery 
period; and

2. the investment return required 
to achieve full funding after 20 
years. 

Absolute considerations include:

1. the extent to which the 

contributions payable are sufficient 
to cover the cost of current benefit 
accrual and the interest cost on 
any deficit;

2. how the required investment 
return under “relative 
considerations” above compares 
to the estimated future return 
being targeted by the Fund’s 
current investment strategy; 

3. the extent to which 
contributions actually paid have 
been in line with the expected 
contributions based on the extant 
rates and adjustment certificate; 
and 

4. the extent to which any new 
deficit recovery plan can be directly 
reconciled with, and can be 
demonstrated to be a continuation 
of, any previous deficit recovery 
plan, after allowing for actual Fund 
experience. 

MHCLG may assess and compare 
these metrics on a suitable 
standardised market-related basis, 
for example where the local funds’ 
actuarial bases do not make 
comparisons straightforward. 

A1  Why does the Fund need a 
FSS?

The Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) has stated 
that the purpose of the FSS is: 

  “to establish a clear and 
transparent fund-specific 
strategy which will identify how 
employers’ pension liabilities are 
best met going forward;

  to support the regulatory 
framework to maintain as nearly 
constant employer contribution 

rates as possible; and   

  to take a prudent longer-term 
view of funding those liabilities.”

These objectives are desirable 
individually, but may be mutually 
conflicting.

The requirement to maintain and 
publish a FSS is contained in LGPS 
Regulations which are updated 
from time to time. In publishing the 
FSS the Administering Authority 
has to have regard to any guidance 
published by Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy 

(CIPFA) (most recently in 2016) 
and to its Statement of Investment 
Principles / Investment Strategy 
Statement.

This is the framework within 
which the Fund’s actuary carries 
out triennial valuations to set 
employers’ contributions and 
provides recommendations to the 
Administering Authority when other 
funding decisions are required, 
such as when employers join or 
leave the Fund. The FSS applies 
to all employers participating in the 
Fund.

> Appendix A 
Regulatory framework

Page 512



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  125

The efficient and effective 
operation of the Fund needs 
various parties to each play their 
part.

B1  The Administering Authority 
should:-

1.  operate the Fund as per the 
LGPS Regulations;

2.  effectively manage any potential 
conflicts of interest arising from 
its dual role as Administering 
Authority and a Fund employer;

3.  collect employer and employee 
contributions, and investment 
income and other amounts due to 
the Fund;

4.  ensure that cash is available 

to meet benefit payments as and 
when they fall due;

5.  pay from the Fund the relevant 
benefits and entitlements that are 
due;

6.  invest surplus monies (i.e. 
contributions and other income 
which are not immediately needed 
to pay benefits) in accordance with 

> Appendix B 
Responsibilities of key parties

A2  Does the Administering 
Authority consult anyone on 
the FSS?

Yes. This is required by LGPS 
Regulations. It is covered in more 
detail by the most recent CIPFA 
guidance, which states that the 
FSS must first be subject to 
“consultation with such persons 
as the authority considers 
appropriate”, and should include 
“a meaningful dialogue at officer 
and elected member level with 
council tax raising authorities and 
with corresponding representatives 
of other participating employers”.

In practice, for the Fund, the 
consultation process for this FSS 
was as follows:

a) A draft version of the FSS 
was issued to all participating 
employers in November 2019 for 
comment;

b) Comments were requested 
within 20 days;

c) Following the end of the 
consultation period the FSS was 
submitted to, and agreed by the 
Pension Committee at it’s February 
2020 meeting, updated where 
required and then published, in 
April 2020.

A3  How is the FSS published?

The FSS is made available through 
the following routes:

  Published on the website, at 
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/
pensions/investments

  A copy sent by e-mail to each 
participating employer in the Fund;

  A copy sent to employee/
pensioner representatives;

  A full copy linked from the 
annual report and accounts of the 
Fund;

  Copies sent to investment 
advisers;

  Copies made available on 
request.

A4  How often is the FSS 
reviewed?

The FSS is reviewed in detail at 
least every three years as part of 
the triennial valuation (which may 
move to every four years in future 
– see Section 2.8). This version 
is expected to remain unaltered 
until it is consulted upon as part 
of the formal process for the next 
valuation. 

It is possible that (usually slight) 
amendments may be needed 
within the three year period. These 
would be needed to reflect any 
regulatory changes, or alterations 
to the way the Fund operates (e.g. 
to accommodate a new class of 
employer). Any such amendments 
would be consulted upon as 

appropriate: 

  trivial amendments would be 
simply notified at the next round of 
employer communications, 

  amendments affecting only 
one class of employer would be 
consulted with those employers, 

  other more significant 
amendments would be subject to 
full consultation.

In any event, changes to the FSS 
would need agreement by the 
Pension Committee and would be 
included in the relevant Committee 
Meeting minutes.

A5  How does the FSS fit into 
other Fund documents?

The FSS is a summary of the 
Fund’s approach to funding 
liabilities. It is not an exhaustive 
statement of policy on all issues, 
for example there are a number of 
separate statements published by 
the Fund including the Investment 
Strategy Statement, Governance 
Strategy and Communications 
Strategy. In addition, the Fund 
publishes an Annual Report 
and Accounts with up to date 
information on the Fund

These documents can be found on 
the web at www.gloucestershire.
gov.uk/extra/pensions/investments

Page 513



126  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

the Fund’s Investment Strategy 
Statement (ISS) and LGPS 
Regulations;

7.  communicate appropriately 
with employers so that they fully 
understand their obligations to the 
Fund;

8.  take appropriate measures to 
safeguard the Fund against the 
consequences of employer default;

9.  manage the valuation process 
in consultation with the Fund’s 
actuary;

10.   provide data and information 
as required by the Government 
Actuary’s Department to carry 
out their statutory obligations (see 
Section 5);

11.   prepare and maintain a FSS 
and a ISS, after consultation; 

12.   notify the Fund’s actuary of 
material changes which could 
affect funding (this is covered in 
a separate agreement with the 
actuary); and 

13.   monitor all aspects of the 
Fund’s performance and funding 
and amend the FSS and ISS as 
necessary and appropriate.

B2  The Individual Employer 
should:-

1. deduct contributions from 
employees’ pay correctly;

2. pay all contributions, including 
their own as determined by the 
actuary, promptly by the due date;

3. have a policy and exercise 
discretions within the regulatory 
framework;

4. make additional contributions 
in accordance with agreed 
arrangements in respect of, for 
example, augmentation of scheme 
benefits, early retirement strain; and 

5. notify the Administering 
Authority promptly of all changes 
to its circumstances, prospects or 
membership, which could affect 
future funding.

B3  The Fund Actuary should:-

1.  prepare valuations, including 
the setting of employers’ 
contribution rates. This will involve 
agreeing assumptions with the 
Administering Authority, having 
regard to the FSS and LGPS 
Regulations, and targeting each 
employer’s solvency appropriately; 

2.  provide data and information 
as required by the Government 
Actuary’s Department to carry 
out their statutory obligations (see 
Section 5);

3.  provide advice relating to new 
employers in the Fund, including 
the level and type of bonds or 
other forms of security (and the 
monitoring of these);

4.  prepare advice and calculations 
in connection with bulk transfers 
and individual benefit-related 
matters;

5.  assist the Administering 
Authority in considering possible 
changes to employer contributions 
between formal valuations, where 
circumstances suggest this may 
be necessary;

6.  advise on the termination of 
employers’ participation in the 
Fund; and

7.  fully reflect actuarial 
professional guidance and 
requirements in the advice given to 
the Administering Authority.

B4  Other Parties:-

1.  investment advisers (either 
internal or external) should 
ensure the Fund’s ISS remains 
appropriate, and consistent with 
this FSS;

2.  investment managers, 
custodians and bankers should 
all play their part in the effective 
investment (and dis-investment) of 
Fund assets, in line with the ISS;

3.  auditors should comply 
with their auditing standards, 
ensure Fund compliance with all 
requirements, monitor and advise 
on fraud detection, and sign 
off annual reports and financial 
statements as required;

4.  governance advisers may 
be appointed to advise the 
Administering Authority on efficient 
processes and working methods in 
managing the Fund;

5.  legal advisers (either internal 
or external) should ensure the 
Fund’s operation and management 
remains fully compliant with all 
regulations and broader local 
government requirements, 
including the Administering 
Authority’s own procedures.

6.  MHCLG (assisted by 
the Government Actuary’s 
Department) and the Scheme 
Advisory Board, should work with 
LGPS Funds to meet Section 13 
requirements.

Page 514



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  127

C1 Types of risk 

The Administering Authority 
has an active risk management 

programme in place. The measures 
that it has in place to control key 
risks are summarised below under 
the following headings: 

 financial; 
 demographic; 
 regulatory; and 
 governance.

> Appendix C 
Key risks and controls

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms

Fund assets fail to deliver 
returns in line with the 
anticipated returns underpinning 
the valuation of liabilities and 
contribution rates over the 
long-term.

Only anticipate long-term returns on a relatively prudent basis to reduce 
risk of under-performing.

Assets invested on the basis of specialist advice, in a suitably diversified 
manner across asset classes, geographies, managers, etc.

Analyse progress at three yearly valuations for all employers.  

Inter-valuation roll-forward of liabilities between valuations at whole 
Fund level.   

Inappropriate long-term 
investment strategy.

Overall investment strategy options considered as an integral part of 
the funding strategy. Used asset liability modelling to measure four key 
outcomes.  

Chosen option considered to provide the best balance.

Active investment manager 
under-performance relative to 
benchmark.

Quarterly investment monitoring analyses market performance and 
active managers relative to their index benchmark.  

Pay and price inflation 
significantly more than 
anticipated.

The focus of the actuarial valuation process is on real returns on assets, 
net of price and pay increases. 

Inter-valuation monitoring, as above, gives early warning. 

Some investment in bonds also helps to mitigate this risk.  

Employers pay for their own salary awards and should be mindful of the 
geared effect on pension liabilities of any bias in pensionable pay rises 
towards longer-serving employees.  

Effect of possible increase in 
employer’s contribution rate on 
service delivery and admission/
scheduled bodies.

An explicit stabilisation mechanism has been agreed as part of the 
funding strategy. Other measures are also in place to limit sudden 
increases in contributions.

Orphaned employers give rise 
to added costs for the Fund.

The Fund seeks a cessation debt (or security/guarantor) to minimise the 
risk of this happening in the future.

If it occurs, the Actuary calculates the added cost spread pro-rata 
among all employers – (see 3.9).

Effect of possible asset 
underperformance as a result of 
climate change.

The Fund is working closely with the Brunel Pension Partnership to 
ensure that climate change risks are actively considered. 

C2  Financial risks

Page 515



128  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

C3 Demographic risks

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms

Pensioners living longer, thus 
increasing cost to Fund.

Set mortality assumptions with some allowance for future increases in 
life expectancy.

The Fund Actuary has direct access to the experience of over 50 LGPS 
funds which allows early identification of changes in life expectancy that 
might in turn affect the assumptions underpinning the valuation.

Maturing Fund – i.e. proportion 
of actively contributing 
employees declines relative to 
retired employees.

Continue to monitor at each valuation, consider seeking monetary 
amounts rather than % of pay and consider alternative investment 
strategies.

Deteriorating patterns of early 
retirements

Employers are charged the extra cost of non ill-health retirements 
following each individual decision.

All high risk employers are covered by an ill health insurance policy 
organised by the Fund. All other employers are also covered by this 
policy unless they formally opt out of these arrangements following the 
procedures set out in section 3.8 above.

Reductions in payroll causing 
insufficient deficit recovery 
payments

In many cases this may not be sufficient cause for concern, and will 
in effect be caught at the next formal valuation. However, there are 
protections where there is concern, as follows:

Employers in the stabilisation mechanism may be brought out of that 
mechanism to permit appropriate contribution increases (see Note (b) to 
3.3).

For other employers, review of contributions is permitted in general 
between valuations (see Note (f) to 3.3) and may require a move in deficit 
contributions from a percentage of payroll to fixed monetary amounts.

Page 516



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  129

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms

Administering Authority unaware 
of structural changes in an 
employer’s membership (e.g. 
large fall in employee members, 
large number of retirements) 
or not advised of an employer 
closing to new entrants.

The Administering Authority has a close relationship with employing 
bodies and communicates required standards e.g. for submission of 
data. 

The Actuary may revise the Rates and Adjustments certificate to 
increase an employer’s contributions between triennial valuations.

Deficit contributions may be expressed as monetary amounts.

Actuarial or investment advice is 
not sought, or is not heeded, or 
proves to be insufficient in some 
way.

The Administering Authority maintains close contact with its specialist 
advisers.

Advice is delivered via formal meetings involving Elected Members, and 
recorded appropriately.

Actuarial advice is subject to professional requirements such as peer 
review.

Administering Authority failing to 
commission the Fund Actuary 
to carry out a termination 
valuation for a departing 
Admission Body.

The Administering Authority requires employers with Best Value 
contractors to inform it of forthcoming changes.

Community Admission Bodies’ memberships are monitored and, if 
active membership decreases, steps will be taken.

C5 Governance risks

C4 Regulatory risks

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms

Changes to national pension 
requirements and/or HMRC 
rules e.g. changes arising from 
public sector pensions reform.

The Administering Authority considers all consultation papers issued by 
the Government and comments where appropriate. 

The Administering Authority is monitoring the progress on the McCloud 
court case and will consider an interim valuation or other appropriate 
action once more information is known.  

The government’s long term preferred solution to GMP indexation and 
equalisation  - conversion of GMPs to scheme benefits - was built into 
the 2019 valuation.

Time, cost and/or reputational 
risks associated with any 
MHCLG intervention triggered 
by the Section 13 analysis 
(see Section 5).

Take advice from Fund Actuary on position of Fund as at prior 
valuation, and consideration of proposed valuation approach relative to 
anticipated Section 13 analysis.

Changes by Government to 
particular employer participation 
in LGPS Funds, leading to 
impacts on funding and/or 
investment strategies.

The Administering Authority considers all consultation papers issued by 
the Government and comments where appropriate. 

Take advice from Fund Actuary on impact of changes on the Fund and 
amend strategy as appropriate.

Page 517



130  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms

An employer ceasing to exist 
with insufficient funding or 
adequacy of a bond.

The Administering Authority believes that it would normally be too late 
to address the position if it was left to the time of departure.

The risk is mitigated by:

 Seeking a funding guarantee from another scheme employer, 
or external body, where-ever possible (see Notes (h) and (j) to 3.3).

Alerting the prospective employer to its obligations and encouraging 
it to take independent actuarial advice. 

Vetting prospective employers before admission.

Where permitted under the regulations requiring a bond to protect 
the Fund from various risks.

Requiring new Community Admission Bodies to have a guarantor.

Reviewing bond or guarantor arrangements at regular intervals (see 
Note (f) to 3.3).

Reviewing contributions well ahead of cessation if thought 
appropriate (see Note (a) to 3.3).

An employer ceasing to exist 
resulting in an exit credit being 
payable

The Administering Authority regularly monitors admission bodies 
coming up to cessation

The Administering Authority invests in liquid assets to ensure that exit 
credits can be paid when required.

C5 Governance risks (continued)

In Section 2 there was a broad 
description of the way in which 
contribution rates are calculated.  
This Appendix considers these 
calculations in much more detail.

As discussed in Section 2, the 
actuary calculates the required 
contribution rate for each employer 
using a three-step process:

 Calculate the funding target for 
that employer, i.e. the estimated 
amount of assets it should 
hold in order to be able to pay 
all its members’ benefits. See 

Appendix E for more details of 
what assumptions we make to 
determine that funding target;

 Determine the time horizon over 
which the employer should aim to 
achieve that funding target. See 
the table in 3.3 and Note (c) for 
more details;

 Calculate the employer 
contribution rate such that it has at 
least a given likelihood of achieving 
that funding target over that 
time horizon, allowing for various 
possible economic outcomes over 

that time horizon. See the table in 
3.3 Note (e) for more details.

The calculations involve actuarial 
assumptions about future 
experience, and these are 
described in detail in Appendix E.

D1  What is the difference 
between calculations 
across the whole Fund and 
calculations for an individual 
employer?

Employer contributions are 
normally made up of two elements:

> Appendix D 
The calculation of Employer contributions

Page 518



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  131

a) the estimated cost of ongoing 
benefits being accrued, referred to 
as the “Primary contribution rate” 
(see D2 overleaf); plus

b) an adjustment for the difference 
between the Primary rate above, 
and the actual contribution the 
employer needs to pay, referred 
to as the “Secondary contribution 
rate” (see D3 below). 

The contribution rate for each 
employer is measured as above, 
appropriate for each employer’s 
assets, liabilities and membership. 
The whole Fund position, including 
that used in reporting to MHCLG 
(see section 5), is calculated 
in effect as the sum of all the 
individual employer rates. MHCLG 
currently only regulates at whole 
Fund level, without monitoring 
individual employer positions.

D2  How is the Primary 
contribution rate calculated? 

The Primary element of the 
employer contribution rate is 
calculated with the aim that these 
contributions will meet benefit 
payments in respect of members’ 
future service in the Fund. This is 
based upon the cost (in excess 
of members’ contributions) of the 
benefits which employee members 
earn from their service each year.  

The Primary rate is calculated 
separately for all the employers, 
although employers within a pool 
will pay the contribution rate 
applicable to the pool as a whole.  
The Primary rate is calculated such 
that it is projected to:

1. meet the required funding 
target for all future years’ accrual 
of benefits*, excluding any accrued 
assets,

2. within the determined time 
horizon (see note 3.3 Note (c) for 
further details),

3. with a sufficiently high 
likelihood, as set by the Fund’s 
strategy for the category of 
employer (see 3.3 Note (e) for 
further details).

* The projection is for the current 
active membership where the 
employer no longer admits new 
entrants, or additionally allows 
for new entrants where this is 
appropriate.

The projections are carried out 
using an economic modeller (the 
“Economic Scenario Service”) 
developed by the Fund’s actuary 
Hymans Robertson: this allows 
for a wide range of outcomes as 
regards key factors such as asset 
returns (based on the Fund’s 
investment strategy), inflation, and 
bond yields. Further information 
about this model is included 
in Appendix E. The measured 
contributions are calculated such 
that the proportion of outcomes 
meeting the employer’s funding 
target (at the end of the time 
horizon) is equal to the required 
likelihood. 

The approach includes expenses 
of administration to the extent that 
they are borne by the Fund, and 
includes allowances for benefits 
payable on death in service and on 
ill health retirement.

D3  How is the Secondary 
contribution rate calculated?

The Fund aims for the employer 
to have assets sufficient to meet 
100% of its accrued liabilities at 
the end of its funding time horizon 
based on the employer’s funding 
target assumptions (see Appendix 
E).

The Secondary rate is calculated 
as the balance over and above the 
Primary rate, such that the total 
contribution rate is projected to:

1. meet the required funding 
target relating to combined past 
and future service benefit accrual, 
including accrued asset share (see 
D5 opposite)

2. at the end of the determined 
time horizon (see 3.3 Note (c) for 
further details)

3. with a sufficiently high 
likelihood, as set by the Fund’s 

strategy for the category of 
employer (see 3.3 Note (e) for 
further details).

The projections are carried out 
using an economic modeller (the 
“Economic Scenario Service”) 
developed by the Fund Actuary 
Hymans Robertson: this allows 
for a wide range of outcomes as 
regards key factors such as asset 
returns (based on the Fund’s 
investment strategy), inflation, and 
bond yields. Further information 
about this model is included 
in Appendix E. The measured 
contributions are calculated such 
that the proportion of outcomes 
meeting the employer’s funding 
target (at the end of the time 
horizon) is equal to the required 
likelihood.

D4  What affects a given 
employer’s valuation results?

The results of these calculations 
for a given individual employer will 
be affected by:

1. past contributions relative to 
the cost of accruals of benefits; 

2. different liability profiles of 
employers (e.g. mix of members 
by age, gender, service vs. salary);

3. the effect of any differences 
in the funding target, i.e. the 
valuation basis used to value the 
employer’s liabilities at the end of 
the time horizon;

4. any different time horizons;  

5. the difference between actual 
and assumed rises in pensionable 
pay;

6. the difference between actual 
and assumed increases to 
pensions in payment and deferred 
pensions;

7. the difference between actual 
and assumed retirements on 
grounds of ill-health from active 
status;

8. the difference between actual 
and assumed amounts of pension 
ceasing on death;

Page 519



132  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

9. the additional costs of any non 
ill-health retirements relative to any 
extra payments made; and/or

10.  differences in the required 
likelihood of achieving the funding 
target.

D5  How is each employer’s 
asset share calculated?

The Administering Authority 
does not operate separate 
bank accounts or investment 
mandates for each employer. 
Therefore it cannot account for 
each employer’s assets separately. 
Instead, the Fund Actuary must 
apportion the assets of the whole 
Fund between the individual 
employers. There are broadly two 
ways to do this:

1. A technique known as “analysis 
of surplus” in which the Fund 
actuary estimates the surplus/
deficit of an employer at the 
current valuation date by analysing 
movements in the surplus/
deficit from the previous actuarial 
valuation date. The estimated 
surplus/deficit is compared to 
the employer’s liability value to 
calculate the employer’s asset 

value. The actuary will quantify the 
impact of investment, membership 
and other experience to analyse 
the movement in the surplus/
deficit. This technique makes a 
number of simplifying assumptions 
due to the unavailability of certain 
items of information. This leads 
to a balancing, or miscellaneous, 
item in the analysis of surplus, 
which is split between employers 
in proportion to their asset shares.

2. A ‘cashflow approach’ in which 
an employer’s assets are tracked 
over time allowing for cashflows 
paid in (contributions, transfers in 
etc.), cashflows paid out (benefit 
payments, transfers out etc.) 
and investment returns on the 
employer’s assets. 

Until 31st March 2016 the 
Administering Authority used the 
‘analysis of surplus’ approach 
to apportion the Fund’s assets 
between individual employers. 

Since then, the Fund has adopted 
a cashflow approach for tracking 
individual employer assets.

The Fund Actuary uses the 
Hymans Robertson’s proprietary 

“HEAT” system to track employer 
assets on a monthly basis. Starting 
with each employer’s assets from 
the previous month end, cashflows 
paid in/out and investment returns 
achieved on the Fund’s assets 
over the course of the month are 
added to calculate an asset value 
at the month end. 

The Fund is satisfied that this 
new approach provides the most 
accurate asset allocations between 
employers that is reasonably 
possible at present.

D6  How does the Fund adjust 
employer asset shares when an 
individual member moves from 
one employer in the Fund to 
another?

Under the cashflow approach for 
tracking employer asset shares, 
the Fund has allowed for any 
individual members transferring 
from one employer in the Fund to 
another, via the transfer of a sum 
from the ceding employer’s asset 
share to the receiving employer’s 
asset share. This sum is equal to 
the member’s Cash Equivalent 
Transfer Value (CETV) as advised 
by the Fund’s administrators.

E1  What are the actuarial 
assumptions used to calculate 
employer contribution rates?

These are expectations of future 
experience used to place a 
value on future benefit payments 
(“the liabilities”) and future asset 
values. Assumptions are made 
about the amount of benefit 
payable to members (the financial 
assumptions) and the likelihood 
or timing of payments (the 
demographic assumptions). For 
example, financial assumptions 
include investment returns, salary 
growth and pension increases; 
demographic assumptions include 

life expectancy, probabilities of 
ill-health early retirement, and 
proportions of member deaths 
giving rise to dependants’ benefits.  

Changes in assumptions will affect 
the funding target and required 
contribution rate. However, 
different assumptions will not of 
course affect the actual benefits 
payable by the Fund in future.

The actuary’s approach to 
calculating employer contribution 
rates involves the projection of 
each employer’s future benefit 
payments, contributions and 
investment returns into the future 

under 5,000 possible economic 
scenarios. Future inflation (and 
therefore benefit payments) and 
investment returns for each asset 
class (and therefore employer 
asset values) are variables in 
the projections. By projecting 
the evolution of an employer’s 
assets and benefit payments 
5,000 times, a contribution 
rate can be set that results in a 
sufficient number of these future 
projections (determined by the 
employer’s required likelihood) 
being successful at the end of the 
employer’s time horizon. In this 
context, a successful contribution 
rate is one which results in the 

> Appendix E 
Actuarial assumptions

Page 520



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  133

employer having met its funding 
target at the end of the time 
horizon. 

Setting employer contribution rates 
therefore requires two types of 
assumptions to be made about 
the future:

1. Assumptions to project the 
employer’s assets, benefits and 
cashflows to the end of the 
funding time horizon. For this 
purpose the actuary uses Hymans 
Robertson’s proprietary stochastic 
economic model - the Economic 
Scenario Service (“ESS”).

2. Assumptions to assess 
whether, for a given projection, 
the funding target is satisfied at 
the end of the time horizon. For 
this purpose, the Fund has three 
different funding bases. 

Details on the ESS assumptions 
and funding target assumptions 
are included below (in E2 and E3 
respectively).  

E2  What assumptions are used 
in the ESS?

The actuary uses Hymans 
Robertson’s ESS model to project 
a range of possible outcomes 
for the future behaviour of asset 
returns and economic variables. 
With this type of modelling, there is 

no single figure for an assumption 
about future inflation or investment 
returns. Instead, there is a range of 
what future inflation or returns will 
be which leads to likelihoods of the 
assumption being higher or lower 
than a certain value.

The ESS is a complex model 
to reflect the interactions and 
correlations between different 
asset classes and wider economic 
variables. The table below shows 
the calibration of the model as at 
31st March 2019. All returns are 
shown net of fees and are the 
annualised total returns over 5, 10 
and 20 years, except for the yields 

which refer to the simulated yields 
at that time horizon.

E3  What assumptions are used 
in the funding target?

At the end of an employer’s funding 
time horizon, an assessment will 
be made – for each of the 5,000 
projections – of how the assets 
held compare to the value of 
assets required to meet the future 
benefit payments (the funding 
target). Valuing the cost of future 
benefits requires the actuary to 
make assumptions about the 
following financial factors:

0 Time (years)

ESS assumptions                               Funding target assumptions

Funding time
horizon

     Annualised total returns
   Index Fixed    A Rated  17 year 17 year
  Linked Interest    Corporate RPI real govt govt   
  Gilts Gilts UK Overseas  bonds inflation bond bond
 Cash (medium) (medium) Equity Equity Property (medium) expectation yield yield
 

 16th %’ile -0.4% -2.3% -2.9% -4.1% -4.1%  -3.5% -2.7% 1.9% -2.5% 0.8%
 50th %’ile 0.7% 0.5% 0.3% 4.0% 4.1% 2.4% 0.8% 3.3% -1.7% 2.1%
 84th %’ile 2.0% 3.3% 3.4% 12.7% 12.5% 8.8% 4.0% 4.9% -0.8% 3.6%
 16th %’ile -0.2% -1.8% -1.3% -1.5% -1.4% -1.5% -0.9% 1.9% -2.0% 1.2% 
 50th %’ile 1.3% 0.0% 0.2% 4.6% 4.7% 3.1% 0.8% 3.3% -0.8% 2.8%
 84th %’ile 2.9% 1.9% 1.7% 10.9% 10.8% 7.8% 2.5% 4.9% 0.4% 4.8%
 16th %’ile 0.7% -1.1% 0.1% 1.2% 1.3% 0.6% 0.7% 2.0% -0.7% 2.2%
 50th %’ile 2.4% 0.3% 1.0% 5.7% 5.8% 4.3% 1.9% 3.2% 0.8% 4.0%
 84th %’ile 4.5% 2.0% 2.0% 10.3% 10.4% 8.1% 3.0% 4.7% 2.2% 6.3% 

 Volatility 1% 7% 10% 17% 17% 14% 11% 1%
 (Disp) (1 yr)

5
ye

ar
s

10
ye

ar
s

20
ye

ar
s

Page 521



134  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

 Benefit increases and CARE 
revaluation

 Salary growth

 Investment returns (the 
“discount rate”)

Each of the 5,000 projections 
represents a different prevailing 
economic environment at the 
end of the funding time horizon 
and so a single, fixed value for 
each assumption is unlikely to be 
appropriate for every projection. 
For example, a high assumed 
future investment return (discount 
rate) would not be prudent in 
projections with a weak outlook 
for economic growth. Therefore, 
instead of using a fixed value for 
each assumption, the actuary 
references economic indicators to 
ensure the assumptions remain 
appropriate for the prevailing 
economic environment in each 
projection. The economic 
indicators the actuary uses are: 
future inflation expectations and 
the prevailing risk free rate of 
return (the yield on long term UK 
government bonds is used as a 
proxy for this rate).

The Fund has three funding 
bases which will apply to 
different employers depending 
on their type. Each funding basis 
has a different assumption for 
future investment returns when 
determining the employer’s funding 
target. 

E4  What other assumptions 
apply?

The following assumptions are 
those of the most significance 
used in both the projection of the 
assets, benefits and cashflows and 
in the funding target.

a) Salary growth

After discussion with Fund officers, 
the salary increase assumption at 
the 2019 valuation has been set to 
be a blended rate combined of:

1. 2% p.a. until 31st March 2022 
followed by

2. 0.5% above the consumer 
prices index (CPI) p.a. thereafter.  

This gives a single “blended” 
assumption of CPI plus 0.3%. This 
is equivalent to the assumption 
adopted at the previous valuation 
leading to no change in the 
funding target.

b) Pension increases

Since 2011 the consumer prices 
index (CPI), rather than RPI, has 
been the basis for increases 
to public sector pensions in 
deferment and in payment. Note 
that the basis of such increases is 
set by the Government, and is not 
under the control of the Fund or 
any employers.

At this valuation, we have 

continued to assume that CPI is 
1.0% per annum lower than RPI.  
(Note that the reduction is applied 
in a geometric, not arithmetic, 
basis).

c) Life expectancy

The demographic assumptions 
are intended to be best estimates 
of future experience in the Fund 
based on past experience of LGPS 
funds which participate in Club 
Vita, the longevity analytics service 
used by the Fund, and endorsed 
by the actuary.  

The longevity assumptions 
that have been adopted at this 
valuation are a bespoke set of 
“VitaCurves”, produced by the 
Club Vita’s detailed analysis, which 
are specifically tailored to fit the 
membership profile of the Fund.  
These curves are based on the 
data provided by the Fund for the 
purposes of this valuation. 

Allowance has been made in the 
ongoing valuation basis for future 
improvements in line with the 2018 
version of the Continuous Mortality 
Investigation model published 
by the Actuarial Profession and 
a 1.25% per annum minimum 
underpin to future reductions 
in mortality rates. This updated 
allowance for future improvements 
will generally result in lower life 
expectancy assumptions and 
hence a reduced funding target (all 
other things being equal).

 
Funding basis

Ongoing participation 
basis

Contractor 
exit basis

Low risk 
exit basis

Employer type All employers except 
Transferee Admission 
Bodies and closed 
Community Admission 
Bodies

Transferee Admission 
Bodies

Community Admission 
Bodies that are closed to 
new entrants

Investment return 
assumption underlying 
the employer’s funding 
target (at the end of its 
time horizon)

Long term government 
bond yields plus an 
asset outperformance 
assumption (AOA) of 
1.8% p.a. 

Long term government 
bond yields plus an AOA 
equal to the AOA used 
to allocate assets to the 
employer on joining the 
Fund

Long term government 
bond yields with 
no allowance for 
outperformance on the 
Fund’s assets

Page 522



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  135

Funding basis  
The combined set of assumptions 
made by the actuary, regarding 
the future, to calculate the value 
of the funding target at the end of 
the employer’s time horizon. The 
main assumptions will relate to the 
level of future investment returns, 
salary growth, pension increases 
and longevity. More prudent 
assumptions will give a higher 
funding target, whereas more 
optimistic assumptions will give a 
lower funding target. 

Administering Authority  
The council with statutory 
responsibility for running the Fund, 
in effect the Fund’s “trustees”.

Admission Bodies  
Employers where there is an 
Admission Agreement setting out 
the employer’s obligations. These 
can be Community Admission 
Bodies or Transferee Admission 
Bodies. For more details (see 2.3).

Covenant 
The assessed financial strength of 
the employer. A strong covenant 
indicates a greater ability (and 
willingness) to pay for pension 
obligations in the long run. A 
weaker covenant means that 
it appears that the employer 
may have difficulties meeting its 
pension obligations in full over the 

longer term.

Designating Employer 
Employers such as town and 
parish councils that are able 
to participate in the LGPS via 
resolution. These employers 
can designate which of their 
employees are eligible to join the 
Fund.

Employer   
An individual participating body in 
the Fund, which employs (or used 
to employ) members of the Fund. 
Normally the assets and funding 
target values for each employer 
are individually tracked, together 
with its Primary rate at each 
valuation. 

Gilt 
A UK Government bond, i.e. a 
promise by the Government to 
pay interest and capital as per 
the terms of that particular gilt, 
in return for an initial payment of 
capital by the purchaser. Gilts 
can be “fixed interest”, where 
the interest payments are level 
throughout the gilt’s term, or 
“index-linked” where the interest 
payments vary each year in line 
with a specified index (usually RPI). 
Gilts can be bought as assets by 
the Fund, but are also used in 
funding as an objective measure of 
a risk-free rate of return.

Guarantee / Guarantor 
A formal promise by a third party 
(the guarantor) that it will meet 
any pension obligations not met 
by a specified employer. The 
presence of a guarantor will mean, 
for instance, that the Fund can 
consider the employer’s covenant 
to be as strong as its guarantor’s.

Letting employer 
An employer which outsources 
or transfers a part of its services 
and workforce to another 
employer (usually a contractor). 
The contractor will pay towards 
the LGPS benefits accrued by 
the transferring members, but 
ultimately the obligation to pay 
for these benefits will revert to the 
letting employer. A letting employer 
will usually be a local authority, but 
can sometimes be another type of 
employer such as an Academy.

LGPS 
The Local Government Pension 
Scheme, a public sector pension 
arrangement put in place via 
Government Regulations, for 
workers in local government. 
These Regulations also dictate 
eligibility (particularly for Scheduled 
Bodies), members’ contribution 
rates, benefit calculations and 
certain governance requirements.  
The LGPS is divided into 100 
Funds which map the UK. Each 

> Appendix F 
Glossary

The approach taken is considered 
reasonable in light of the long 
term nature of the Fund and 
the assumed level of security 
underpinning members’ benefits.   

d) General

The same financial assumptions 
are adopted for most employers 
(on the ongoing participation basis 
identified above), in deriving the 
funding target underpinning the 

Primary and Secondary rates: as 
described in (3.3), these calculated 
figures are translated in different 
ways into employer contributions, 
depending on the employer’s 
circumstances.

The demographic assumptions, 
in particular the life expectancy 
assumption, in effect vary by type 
of member and so reflect the 
different membership profiles of 
employers.

Page 523



136  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

LGPS Fund is autonomous to the 
extent not dictated by Regulations, 
e.g. regarding investment strategy, 
employer contributions and choice 
of advisers. 

Maturity 
A general term to describe a Fund 
(or an employer’s position within 
a Fund) where the members are 
closer to retirement (or more 
of them already retired) and 
the investment time horizon is 
shorter. This has implications 
for investment strategy and, 
consequently, funding strategy. 

Members 
The individuals who have built 
up (and may still be building up) 
entitlement in the Fund. They 
are divided into actives (current 
employee members), deferreds 
(ex-employees who have not 
yet retired) and pensioners (ex-
employees who have now retired, 
and dependants of deceased 
ex-employees).

Primary contribution rate 
The employer contribution rate 
required to pay for ongoing 
accrual of active members’ 
benefits (including an allowance 
for administrative expenses). See 
Appendix D for further details.

Profile 
The profile of an employer’s 

membership or liability reflects 
various measurements of that 
employer’s members, i.e. current 
and former employees. This 
includes: the proportions which are 
active, deferred or pensioner; the 
average ages of each category; 
the varying salary or pension 
levels; the lengths of service of 
active members vs. their salary 
levels, etc. A membership (or 
liability) profile might be measured 
for its maturity also.

Rates and Adjustments 
Certificate 
A formal document required by the 
LGPS Regulations, which must 
be updated at the conclusion 
of the formal valuation. This is 
completed by the actuary and 
confirms the contributions to be 
paid by each employer (or pool 
of employers) in the Fund for the 
period until the next valuation is 
completed.

Scheduled Bodies  
Types of employer explicitly 
defined in the LGPS Regulations, 
whose employees must be offered 
membership of their local LGPS 
Fund. These include Councils, 
colleges, universities, academies, 
police and fire authorities etc., 
other than employees who have 
entitlement to a different public 
sector pension scheme (e.g. 

teachers, police and fire officers, 
university lecturers). 

Secondary contribution 
rate 
The difference between the 
employer’s actual and Primary 
contribution rates. See Appendix D 
for further details.

Stabilisation 
Any method used to smooth out 
changes in employer contributions 
from one year to the next. This 
is very broadly required by the 
LGPS Regulations, but in practice 
is particularly employed for large 
stable employers in the Fund 

Valuation 
A risk management exercise 
to review the Primary and 
Secondary contribution rates, 
and other statutory information 
for a Fund, and usually individual 
employers too

Page 524



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  137

This is the Investment Strategy 
Statement (“ISS”) of the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund (“the 
Fund”), which is administered by 
Gloucestershire County Council, 
(“the Administering Authority”). The 
Council has a duty to ensure that 
the Fund assets, not immediately 
required to pay pension benefits, 
are suitably invested and to take 
proper advice in the execution 
of this function. It has delegated 
this responsibility to the Funds 
Pensions Committee (“the 
Committee”).

The ISS is made in accordance 
with Regulation 7 of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme 
(Management and Investment of 
Funds) Regulations 2016 (“the 
Regulations”) and guidance issued 
from time to time by the Secretary 
of State. The ISS has been 
prepared by the Committee having 
taken advice from the actuary 
to the Fund, Hymans Robertson 
LLP and the Fund’s Independent 
Investment Advisor.

This ISS, which was approved 
by the Committee, is subject to 
periodic review at least every 
three years and without delay 
after any significant change in 
investment policy. In addition, an 
appendix is included which sets 
out the Committees Investment 
Beliefs. This is in line with 
the recommendations in the 
Stewardship Code 2020 produced 
by the Financial Reporting Council 
(FRC). It is the intention that these 
beliefs act as broad guidance for 
the Committee’s actions going 
forward.

 The ISS should be read in 
conjunction with the Fund’s 
Funding Strategy Statement (dated 
February 2020). 

The suitability of particular 
investments and types of 
investments 

The primary objective of the Fund 
is to provide pension and lump 
sum benefits for members on 
their retirement and/or benefits 
on death for their dependants, 
on a defined benefits basis. The 
funding position of the Fund will be 
reviewed at each triennial actuarial 
valuation, or more frequently as 
required. 

The Committee aims to fund the 
Fund in such a manner that, in 
normal market conditions, all 
accrued benefits are fully covered 
by the value of the Fund’s assets 
and that an appropriate level of 
contributions is agreed by the 
employers to meet the cost of 
future benefits accruing. 

The Committee has translated its 
objectives into a suitable strategic 
asset allocation benchmark for 
the Fund. This benchmark is 
consistent with the Committee’s 
views on the appropriate balance 
between generating a satisfactory 
long-term return on investments 
whilst taking account of market 
volatility and risk and the nature of 
the Fund’s liabilities. 

It is intended that the Fund’s 
investment strategy and strategic 
asset allocation will be reviewed at 
least every three years following an 
actuarial revaluations of the Fund. 

The Committee carried out a 
strategic asset allocation review 
and an asset liability modelling 
exercise in conjunction with 
the 2019 actuarial valuation of 
the Fund. A number of different 
contribution and investment 
strategies were modelled and 
the future evolution of the Fund 
considered under a wide range of 

different scenarios. The Committee 
considered the chances of 
achieving their long-term funding 
target – maintaining a fully funded 
position into the future. They also 
considered the level of downside 
risk in the various strategies by 
identifying the low funding levels 
which might emerge in the event of 
poor outcomes. 

This approach helps to ensure that 
the investment strategy takes due 
account of the maturity profile of 
the Fund (in terms of the relative 
proportions of liabilities in respect 
of pensioners, deferred and active 
members), together with the level 
of disclosed surplus or deficit 
(relative to the funding bases 
used). 

In addition, the Committee 
monitors the investment strategy 
on an ongoing basis, focusing on 
factors including, but not limited to: 

 Suitability, given the Fund’s level 
of funding and liability profile 

 The level of expected risk 

 The outlook for asset returns 
over the long term 

The Committee also monitors 
the Fund’s actual allocation on a 
regular basis to ensure it does not 
notably deviate from the agreed 
target allocation range, and will 
rebalance back to within this target 
allocation range as necessary to 
control investment risk. 

Investment of money 
in a wide variety of 
investments 

Asset classes 

The Fund may invest in quoted 
and unquoted securities of UK 
and overseas markets including 

Investment Strategy 
Statement

Page 525



138  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

equities; fixed interest and index 
linked bonds; cash; property; and 
loans, either directly or through 
pooled funds. The Fund may 
also make use of contracts for 
differences and other derivatives 
either directly or in pooled funds, 
investing in these products for 
the purpose of efficient portfolio 
management or to hedge specific 
risks. 

The Committee reviews the nature 
of Fund investments on a regular 
basis, with particular reference to 
suitability and diversification. The 
Committee seeks and considers 
advice from a suitably qualified 

person in undertaking such a 
review, this being the appointed 
Independent Advisor to the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund. 
If, at any time, investment in a 
security or product not previously 
known to the Committee is 
proposed, appropriate advice is 
sought and considered to ensure 
its suitability and diversification. 

The conclusions of the asset 
allocation review conducted in 
2020 were that the Fund could 
afford to take a modestly lower 
level of investment risk and still 
achieve the required rate of return 
as forecast by the actuary. As a 

result, the overall target allocation 
to equities has been reduced and 
there have been increases in the 
target allocations to, international 
property; infrastructure; private 
equity and private debt. Due to 
the illiquid nature of some of the 
assets the Fund will be investing 
in, this move will take a number of 
years to complete.

The new target investment 
strategy is set out below.

Allocation by investment category

 Investment Strategic Asset Target Strategic Target Strategic
 Category Allocation to Asset Allocation Asset Allocation
  31st March 2020 from 1st April 2020 Range from
    1st April 2020

 Equities  58.5% 55.0% 52% to 58%

 Alternatives  17.0% 23.0% 21% to 25%

 Fixed Interest  24.5% 22.0% 20% to 24%

 Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

As at February 2020, the forecast 
return on the target portfolio over 
the long-term was 4.8% p.a. with 
an expected annual volatility of the 
funding level of 9.1%. This volatility 
includes an assumed diversification 
benefit. Further details on the 
Fund’s risks, including the 
approach to mitigating risks, is 
provided in the following section. 

Restrictions on investment 

In line with the Regulations, the 
authority’s investment strategy 
does not permit more than 5% of 
the total value of all investments 
of fund money to be invested 
in entities which are connected 
with that authority within the 
meaning of section 212 of the 
Local Government and Public 

Involvement in Health Act 2007. 

The Committee’s approach to 
setting its investment strategy and 
assessing the suitability of different 
types of investment takes account 
of the various risks involved and 
a rebalancing policy is applied to 
maintain the asset split close to 
the agreed asset allocation target. 
Therefore, it is not felt necessary 
to set additional restrictions on 
investments. 

Once the Committee has set the 
strategic asset allocation for the 
Fund, after seeking appropriate 
investment advice, it sets 
benchmarks for each asset class 
which reflect the risk and return 
profile which the Fund is looking 
to access so that, in aggregate, 

they are consistent with the overall 
asset allocation for the Fund. 

The Fund’s investment managers 
will hold a mix of investments 
which reflects their views relative 
to their respective benchmarks. 
Within each major market and 
asset class, the managers will 
maintain diversified portfolios 
through direct investment 
or pooled vehicles. Passive 
management (where the portfolio 
directly reflects the composition 
of the benchmark), is used where 
the Committee do not believe 
an active manager is able to add 
value in this asset class or where 
there is a desire to dampen the 
investment risk in that asset class. 

Page 526



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  139

The individual managers and their benchmarks are as follows:

The intention is to move to the 
Target Strategic Benchmark in 
stages over the next few years as 
market conditions allow.

The approach to risk, 
including the ways in 
which risks are to be 
measured and managed 

The Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
Committee is aware that the Fund 
has a need to take investment 
risk to help it achieve its funding 
objectives. It has an active risk 
management programme in place 
that aims to help it identify the risks 
being taken and has put in place 
processes to manage, measure, 

monitor and (where possible) 
mitigate the risks being taken. The 
principal risks affecting the Fund 
are set out below, as is the Fund’s 
approach to managing these risks 
and the contingency plans that are 
in place: 

Funding risks 

 Financial mismatch – The risk 
that Fund assets fail to grow in 
line with the developing cost of 
meeting its liabilities

 Changing demographics –
The risk that longevity improves 
and other demographic factors 
change, increasing the cost of 
Fund benefits. 

 Systemic risk - The possibility 
of an interlinked and simultaneous 
failure of several asset classes 
and/or investment managers, 
possibly compounded by financial 
‘contagion’, resulting in an 
increase in the cost of meeting the 
Fund’s liabilities. 

The Committee measures and 
manages financial mismatch in 
two ways. As indicated above, 
the Committee has set a strategic 
asset allocation benchmark for 
the Fund after taking into account 
the most recent actuarial data 
from the 2019 actuarial review. 
This data will be updated in 2022.
The Committee assesses risk 
relative to the strategic benchmark 

 Asset Class Benchmark Strategic Asset Target Strategic Target Asset
   Allocation to Asset Allocation Allocation Range
   31st March 2020 from 1st April 2020 from 1st April 2020
   (%) (%) (%)

 Equities   58.5 55.0 52.0 to 58.0
 UK Active Equities FTSE All Share 13.0 12.0 10.0 to 14.0
 Global High Alpha MSCI World 14.0 13.0 11.0 to 15.0
 Emerging Market MSCI Emerging Markets 7.0  6.5  5.0 to 8.0
 Sustainable MSCI World 2.0  2.0  1.0 to 3.0
 Low Carbon MSCI World 2.0  2.0  1.0 to 3.0
 Passive Developed  MSCI World 5.5  5.0  3.5 to 6.5
 (hedged)
 Passive Developed  MSCI World 5.5  5.0  3.5 to 6.5
 (unhedged) 
 Smart Beta MSCI World 9.5  9.5  8.0 to 11.0

 Fixed Interest    22.0 20.0 to 24.0
 UK Investment Iboxx UK Corporate  17.0 14.5 13.0 to 16.0
 Grade Bonds 
 Multi Asset Credit Cash +2% 7.5  7.5 6.5 to 8.5

 Alternatives     23.0 21.0 to 25.0 
 Absolute Return Cash +5% 4.0  0.0 0.0
 Property IPD UK Balanced 7.5  10.0 8.0 to 12.0
 Infrastructure   1.0  5.0 4.0 to 6.0
 Private Equity   1.0  3.0 2.0 to 4.0
 Private Debt   3.5  5.0 4.0 to 6.0
 Venture Capital   0.0  0.0 0.0 to 0.5
 Cash   0.0  0.0 0.0 to 0.5

 TOTAL    100.0  100.0  100.0 

Page 527



140  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

by monitoring the Fund’s asset 
allocation and investment returns 
relative to the benchmark. The 
Committee also assesses risk 
relative to liabilities by monitoring 
the delivery of benchmark returns 
relative to liabilities. 

The Committee monitors 
Demographic changes by using 
detailed mortality analysis provided 
by the Funds actuaries during 
each triennial actuarial review.

The Committee seeks to 
mitigate systemic risk through a 
diversified portfolio of assets and 
by employing a number of asset 
managers. It is not possible to 
make specific provision for all 
possible eventualities that may 
arise under this heading. 

Investment risks 

 Concentration - The risk 
that a significant allocation to 
any single asset category and 
its underperformance relative 
to expectation would result in 
difficulties in achieving funding 
objectives. 

 Illiquidity - The risk that the 
Fund cannot meet its immediate 
liabilities because it has insufficient 
liquid assets. 

 Currency risk – The risk that 
the currency of the Fund’s assets 
underperforms relative to Sterling 
(i.e. the currency of the liabilities). 

 Environmental, social and 
governance (“ESG”) – The risk that 
ESG related factors reduce the 
Fund’s ability to generate the long-
term returns. 

 Manager underperformance - 
The failure by the fund managers 
to achieve the rate of investment 
return assumed in setting their 
mandates. 

The Committee measure and 
manage asset risks as follows: 

The Fund’s strategic asset 
allocation benchmark includes 
a diversified range of asset 

classes. The Committee has put 
in place rebalancing arrangements 
to ensure the Fund’s “actual 
allocation” does not deviate 
substantially from this target. 
The Fund invests in a range of 
investment mandates each of 
which has a defined objective, 
performance benchmark and 
manager process which, taken in 
aggregate, help reduce the Fund’s 
asset concentration risk. 

The Fund monitors its cashflow 
requirements and any necessary 
generation of income from its 
assets to meet current and future 
pension payments. The cash flow 
forecasts are formally updated 
as part of the triennial actuarial 
review. The Fund invests in a range 
of assets, both liquid (quoted 
equities and bonds) and less 
liquid (infrastructure, private debt 
etc). The Committee monitors its 
need for liquidity in the short term 
whilst recognising that a higher 
investment return may be available 
in less liquid assets when held over 
the long-term. 

The Fund invests in a range of 
overseas markets which provides 
an exposure to a diversified range 
of currencies; the Committee 
also assess the Fund’s currency 
risk during their risk analysis. A 
proportion of the currency risk 
relating to the Fund’s overseas 
equity investments is hedged back 
to Sterling through investment 
in currency hedged fund units 
within the Fund’s Global Equity 
mandates. The extent of currency 
hedging is kept under review by 
the Committee and its advisers.

Details of the Fund’s approach 
to managing ESG risks is set out 
later in this Investment Strategy 
Statement. 

The Committee believes in 
working with asset managers over 
the long-term which allows the 
asset manager to invest over the 
long-term, and the Committee 
monitors them on this basis. The 
diversification by manager and 
long-term nature of the investment 

process adopted by the asset 
managers reduces the probability 
of a single asset manager 
underperforming to the extent 
that it affects the Funds ability to 
meet its liabilities in a significant 
way. Under the advent of pooling 
the selection and monitoring of 
asset managers is undertaken by 
the Brunel Pension Partnership 
(Brunel) who are resourced 
to complete this function. 
Nonetheless the Committee will 
continue to hold both Brunel 
and the underlying managers to 
account as necessary.

A separate schedule of risks that 
the Fund monitors is set out in the 
Fund’s Funding Strategy Statement. 

The approach to pooling 
investments, including 
the use of collective 
investment vehicles and 
shared services 

The Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund is working with nine other 
administering authorities to pool 
investment assets through the 
Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd 
(Brunel). Brunel is wholly owned 
by the Administering Authorities 
of these ten member Funds and 
is authorised by the Financial 
Conduct Authority (FCA) to act 
as the operator of an unregulated 
Collective Investment Scheme.   

The pool has been created 
in order to achieve greater 
economies of scale within asset 
management, increase resources 
focused on the selection and 
monitoring of asset managers, 
provide thought leadership in 
Responsible Investment and ESG 
areas, imbedding these into the 
selection of asset managers and 
investments, and deliver cost 
savings to the Fund. The Fund’s 
intention is to invest its assets 
through the Brunel pool as and 
when suitable investment solutions 
become available. An indicative 
timetable for investing through the 
Pool was set out in the July 2016 
submission to Government. 

Page 528



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  141

The key criteria for assessment of 
Pool solutions will be as follows: 

1 That the Pool enables access to 
an appropriate solution that meets 
the objectives and benchmark 
criteria set by the Fund. 

2 That there is financial benefit to 
the Fund in investing in the solution 
offered by the Pool. 

At the end of 2019/20 around 
half of the Fund’s assets are now 
being managed by Brunel with 
the vast majority of the Funds 
assets expected to be under 
their management by the end of 
2021/22. At the time of preparing 
this statement, the Fund has 
elected not to invest the following 
assets via the BPP Pool:

 Two small closed end fixed 
life venture capital funds. These 
funds will mature over the next few 
years and repay their proceeds to 
the Fund. These assets equate to 
less than 1% of the Funds total 
assets. It is deemed to not be cost 
effective to transfer these assets 
to the pool due to the impending 
wind up of these funds.

Any assets not invested in 
Brunel will be reviewed at least 
every three years to determine 
whether the rationale for holding 
them outside the pool remains 
appropriate, and whether this 
approach demonstrates value for 
money. 

The Gloucestershire fund is a 
client of Brunel and as a client 
has the right to expect certain 
standards and quality of service. 
A detailed service agreement 
has been signed which sets out 
the duties and responsibilities 
of Brunel, and the rights of the 
Gloucestershire Fund as a client. It 
includes a duty of care on Brunel 
to act in its clients’ interests. 
Each client has an appointed 
Shareholder and an Oversight 
Board and Client Group have been 
established. They are comprised 
of representatives from each of the 
Administering Authorities including 
Gloucestershire. 

These have been set up by 
them according to an agreed 
constitution and terms of 
reference. Acting for the 
Administering Authorities, they 
will, together with the nominated 
Shareholders, have responsibility 
for ensuring that Brunel 
delivers the services required 
to achieve investment pooling. 
The proposed arrangements for 
asset pooling for the Brunel pool 
have been formulated to meet 
the requirements of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme 
(Management and Investment 
of Funds) Regulations 2016 
and Government guidance. The 
Committee is aware that the 
Ministry for Housing, Communities 
and Local Government is currently 
engaged in a further consultation 
regarding the mechanisms for 
pooling and the Fund will take any 
updated recommendations and 
advice into account when issued.  
Gloucestershire County Council 
has approved the full business 
case for the Brunel Pension 
Partnership. 

How social, environmental 
or corporate governance 
considerations are taken 
into account in the 
selection, non-selection, 
retention and realisation 
of investments 

The Committee consider the 
Fund’s approach to responsible 
investment in two key areas: 

 Responsible investment, 
including climate change – 
considering the financial impact 
of environmental, social and 
governance (ESG) factors on its 
investments. 

 Stewardship and 
governance – acting as 
responsible and active investors/
owners, through considered 
voting of shares, and encouraging 
its investment managers to 
engage with investee company 
management as part of the 
investment process. 

Responsible investment, 
including Climate Change

As a Pension Fund, with pension 
obligations stretching out many 
years into the future, the Fund, 
by its nature, is a long-term 
investor. The authority recognises 
that investing responsibly over 
the long-term must include the 
consideration of not just financial 
data but also of the impact of the 
Fund’s investments in terms of the 
environment, effects on broader 
society and corporate governance 
(ESG issues). The Fund, through 
Brunel, has appointed asset 
managers who invest for the long 
term and explicitly consider ESG 
issues as an integral part of their 
research effort when investing the 
Fund’s assets. 

The Fund also expects to vote, 
where practical, on all Annual and 
Extraordinary general meetings 
held by companies in which it is 
invested, via the Brunel Pension 
Partnership. The Fund will not seek 
to exclude investments that are 
not barred by UK law in the belief 
that engagement is preferable to 
divestment. Whilst there is obvious 
risk in investing in companies 
with material ESG issues, there 
can be long-term financial gain 
where such companies are 
actively attempting to manage 
and improve these risks, and as 
such the Fund adopts a policy of 
risk monitoring and engagement 
in order to positively influence 
company behaviour and enhance 
future returns to investors, and 
believes this is more compatible 
with its fiduciary responsibility and 
more supportive of its long term 
investment goals. 

If a company fails to engage 
on these issues with the Brunel 
Pension Partnership and with the 
Fund’s asset managers, or if the 
BPP and/or asset managers have 
reason to believe a company is 
not being honest and open about 
its intended actions in this area, 
divestment on a stock by stock 
basis remains an option.

Page 529



142  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

The Fund will work with like-
minded investors within the BPP to 
promote best practice in the long-
term stewardship of investments. 

Brunel’s Investment Principles 
clearly articulate the commitment 
of each Fund in the Partnership 
and its operator (Brunel Company), 
to be responsible investors and 
as such recognise that social, 
environment and corporate 
governance considerations are a 
key part of the processes in the 
selection, non-selection, retention 
and realisation of managers 
and underlying assets. One of 
the principal benefits, outlined 
in the Brunel business case, 
achieved through scale and 
resources arising from pooling, 
is this improved implementation 
of responsible investment and 
stewardship. Every portfolio, 
in every asset class, under 
the Brunel, explicitly includes 
responsible investment and 
includes an assessment of how 
social, environment and corporate 
governance considerations may 
present financial risks to the 
delivery of the portfolio objectives. 
The approach undertaken will vary 
in order to be the most effective 
in mitigating risks and enhancing 
investor value in relation to each 
portfolio and its objectives. 
More information is available on 
the Brunel Pension Partnership 
website. 

Climate Change

The Brunel Pension 
Partnership’s 2020-2022 
climate change policy 
objectives 

The Gloucestershire Pension 
Committee fully encourages and 
supports the BPP’s 2020-2022 
policy objectives on climate 
change which are set out in their 
Climate Change Policy. These are 
laid out below.

Brunel’s 2020-2022 policy 
objectives 

We will play an active and leading 
role in encouraging policy makers 

to establish comprehensive and 
robust climate change policy 
frameworks. Within this, we will 
focus particular attention on:  

 The adoption of a meaningful 
price on carbon, which is material 
(i.e. sufficient to drive change 
at the scale and rate required); 
progressive over time and 
widespread (i.e. applies to all major 
sectors of the economy). 

 The removal of fossil fuel 
subsidies. 

 The introduction of policy 
measures – for example, product 
standards, limitations on high 
carbon technologies, support for 
low carbon technologies – that 
accelerate the move away from 
high impact activities and sectors.  

 The removal or correction of 
regulatory barriers to progress and 
support financial policy makers 
and regulators in being ambitious 
and effective in implementation of 
plans to mitigate climate risk and 
under the Adaptation Reporting 
Power. 

 The integration of climate 
change into the mandates and 
into the oversight and control 
processes of prudential regulators 
and other regulatory bodies. 

 Ensuring that climate change 
policy is socially sustainable and 
takes due account of workers’ 
rights and community interests 
(the ‘Just Transition’) when taking 
action to reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions and adapt to a changing 
climate. 

We will play an active leading role 
in encouraging policy makers 
to integrate climate change into 
multilateral and bilateral trading 
frameworks, with a particular focus 
on the UK post Brexit.    

We will encourage policy makers 
to introduce mandatory climate 
change disclosure requirements 
for companies, with a focus on 
providing clear, decision useful 
information and encouraging a 

clear articulation of the risks that 
companies and their investors 
face.  

We will support the development 
of skills, knowledge and 
professional standards of those 
intermediaries who are critical 
influencers in the action of 
investors and companies. These 
include, but are not limited to, 
investment consultants, actuaries, 
lawyers and auditors.

Further details of Brunel’s 
Climate Change policy are set 
out on its website https://www.
brunelpensionpartnership.org/.  

Monitoring and Reporting 
Progress 

Reporting on climate change is an 
area that is rapidly developing, and 
we are working with Brunel and 
other member funds to continue 
to improve this. We are supportive 
of Brunel’s involvement in 
initiatives, such as the Institutional 
Investors Group on Climate 
Change (“IIGCC”) Paris Aligned 
Investment Initiative, that are 
working to allow asset owners and 
investment managers to explain, 
in a consistent and comparable 
manner, how their portfolios 
compare to the goals of a net 
zero carbon future and of keeping 
global temperature rise below 2°C. 

2022 stocktake and 
ongoing improvements  

The Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
is currently supportive of Brunel’s 
approach of not issuing exclusion 
lists as we believe that simply 
stating exclusions or requiring 
divestment from specific stocks or 
sectors will not compel investment 
managers to develop their capacity 
on climate change or drive change 
in the companies in which they are 
invested. 

Alongside Brunel and our partner 
funds, we will be undertaking a full 
review of our climate change policy 
approach in late 2022 to provide 
us with the opportunity to reflect 

Page 530



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  143

on our progress, the effectiveness 
of our approach, and to raise our 
ambitions (ahead of the triennial 
strategy review). 

One of the key questions that will 
be addressed as part of this review 
is whether Brunel’s decision to 
engage with investment managers 
has been effective. Specifically, 
whether it has been effective 
in delivering change in the way 
investment managers work and 
in their ongoing engagement with 
companies to drive improvements 
in corporate strategies on climate 
change, so that these companies 
are on a trajectory to be aligned 
with the transition to a 2°C 
economy. If the answer is no, 
we will be expecting Brunel to 
consider whether they need to 
change investment managers and/
or introduce selective divestment 
requirements for companies. 

We will continue to monitor 
Brunel’s progress on implementing 
its policy objectives and will work 
with them to achieve our collective 
climate change ambitions. If 
the Fund does not feel action is 
progressing at an appropriate 
pace, the Fund will seek to 
address this with the partnership. 

Stewardship  

The Committee believes one of 
the potential benefits of pooling, 
achieved through the scale and 
resources arising from pooling, 
is the improved implementation 
of stewardship practices. Brunel 
has published its Responsible 
Investment Stewardship Policy 
which outlines its approach and 
priorities. 

The policy reflects the priorities of 
its underlying clients, and we were 
active in contributing to the policy.   

With the support of the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund and 
the other partner funds, Brunel 
has been using its influence to 
press for improved stewardship 
at external investment managers 

and has been actively involved 
in government consultations 
and other initiatives in the area. 
Once all equity assets have been 
transitioned, the Partnership and 
Brunel Ltd will seek to deliver best 
practice standards in responsible 
investment and stewardship in 
terms of company engagement 
as outlined in the Brunel 
Pension Partnership Investment 
Principles. More information is 
available on the website (www.
brunelpensionpartnership.org). 

The Committee has delegated 
investment powers to Brunel and 
the Fund’s investment managers 
(where assets have not yet 
transitioned to Brunel) to act in 
the best interests of the Fund. 
Brunel and the Fund’s investment 
managers are encouraged to 
engage in constructive dialogue 
on behalf of the Fund and to 
use their influence to encourage 
companies to adopt best practice 
in key areas. Brunel and the Fund’s 
investment managers have been 
asked to report to the Committee 
on the implementation of their 
stewardship and engagement 
activities, which will be reviewed 
on a regular basis.  

Officers of the Fund have been 
involved in the Responsible 
Investment sub-group and discuss 
ESG and responsible investment 
matters regularly. A representative 
from Brunel is also present at the 
majority of Committee meetings 
and can report back on these 
activities. 

The Fund recognises the 
importance of collaboration with 
other investors to achieve more 
effective and wider reaching 
outcomes. In this respect, the 
Fund is a member of the Local 
Authority Pension Fund Forum 
(“LAPFF”) which aims to protect 
the long-term investment interests 
of beneficiaries by promoting the 
highest standards of corporate 
governance and corporate 
responsibility amongst investee 
companies. 

2020 UK Stewardship Code: 

In late 2019, the Financial 
Reporting Council (“FRC”) 
published its revised 2020 
UK Stewardship Code (“2020 
Code”). The latest Code defines 
stewardship as “the responsible 
allocation, management and 
oversight of capital to create 
long-term value for clients and 
beneficiaries leading to sustainable 
benefits for the economy, the 
environment and society.” 

The FRC has described the 2020 
Code as ambitious and highlighted 
the increased focus on ‘activities 
and outcomes’ as opposed to 
policy statements alone. As part 
of this increased remit, the 2020 
Code covers a wider range of 
asset classes, requires signatories 
to consider the systematic 
integration of ESG and climate 
change in the stewardship and 
investment process, and is based 
on a more stringent ‘comply and 
explain’ basis. 

The Committee will be reviewing 
its policy towards becoming a 
signatory to the Stewardship Code 
2020 as published by the Financial 
Reporting Council. In relation to 
the asset classes where the UK 
Stewardship Code is relevant, our 
Fund Managers are signatories. 

The Committee expects both 
the Brunel pool and any directly 
appointed fund managers to 
comply with the Stewardship Code 
2020 and this is monitored on an 
annual basis. Through Brunel the 
Fund is affiliated with Institutional 
Investors Group on Climate 
Change (IIGCC); Share Action; The 
Task Force on Climate Related 
Financial Disclosures (TCFD); the 
UK Sustainable Investment and 
Finance Association (UKSIF) and 
Climate Action 100. We continue 
to explore opportunities to 
enhance our stewardship activities. 

Voting

The Committee has delegated 

Page 531



144  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

the exercise of voting rights to 
Brunel and the Fund’s investment 
managers (where assets have 
not yet transitioned to Brunel) on 
the basis that voting power will 
be exercised with the objective of 
preserving and enhancing long-
term shareholder value. 

As part of owning publicly listed 
companies Brunel, on behalf of its 
clients, will have the opportunity 
to vote at company meetings 
(AGM/ EGMs). Brunel aims to vote 
100% of all available votes. To 
provide guidance to its managers, 
Brunel has a single voting policy 
for all assets managed by Brunel 
in segregated accounts. Hermes 
EOS has been appointed to 
support Brunel as its engagement 
and voting service provider. Brunel 
will publish its voting policy and 
provide online voting records 
at least annually. The Fund will 
publish the voting carried out on its 
behalf on its website. 

Investment managers have 
produced written guidelines of their 
process and practice in this regard. 
They are encouraged to vote in 
line with their guidelines, in respect 
of all resolutions, at annual and 
extraordinary general meetings of 
companies. Investment managers 
are expected to report on their 
voting activity on a regular basis. 

Appendix – Investment 
Beliefs

The Committee believes that

 It is important that funding 
related aspects and, in particular, 
funding level and cash flow profile 
feed into investment strategy 
decisions. Given this, actuarial and 
investment matters are looked 
at in tandem by the Committee, 
most notably setting investment 
strategy.

 The Committee targets a strong 
funding level to provide some 
buffer to the risk of future employer 
contribution increases. This and 
knowledge of the future cash flow 

profile of the Fund enables the 
Committee to adopt a long-term 
investment horizon. This enables 
the Fund to accept short term 
volatility in investment returns or 
the illiquidity of some assets, in 
order to achieve higher investment 
returns. In this context, the 
Committee believes that, over the 
longer term, equities are expected 
to outperform other liquid assets, 
in particular, government bonds. 
The Committee is therefore 
comfortable that the Fund 
maintains a significant allocation 
to equities in order to support the 
affordability of contributions.

 Strategic asset allocation is a 
key determinant of investment risk 
and return, and thus is typically 
more important than manager 
or stock selection which going 
forward will be delegated to the 
LGPS pool to which the Fund 
is a member. In addition, the 
Committee believes that periodic 
rebalancing of asset class 
weightings back to their strategic 
benchmark can add value over the 
long term.

 Risk can be mitigated through 
the diversification of the portfolio, 
by selecting a variety of both asset 
classes and managers. A balance 
needs to be struck between 
the need for diversification and 
keeping a small enough number 
of mandates to ensure good 
governance.

 Markets are dynamic and are 
not always efficient, and therefore 
offer opportunities for investors. 
Active management can add value 
over time but it is not guaranteed 
and can be hard to access. Where 
generating ‘alpha’ is particularly 
difficult, passive management 
may be preferred, but brings 
some of its own risks. In all cases, 
managers will be judged on net 
returns calculated after fees. It is 
one of the roles of the Investment 
Committee to monitor investment 
costs and challenge where 
necessary.

 A strong ESG / RI policy is 
required by regulation and should 
be seen within the context of 
the Fund’s long-term investment 
and futureproofing its financial 
security. ESG considerations can 
help identify superior long-term 
investments and the Committee 
requires its managers to include 
them as an integral part of their 
investment processes, provided 
these considerations do not 
detrimentally impact financial 
returns or risk. The Fund requires 
managers to report back to them 
on all ESG matters. 

 The Committee believe that 
controlling climate change will 
impact all investment decisions 
going forward and, therefore, 
require their investment managers 
to adopt a policy of engaging with 
investee companies to improve 
their behaviour in all areas but 
particularly regarding climate 
change, The committee believes 
that engagement with investee 
companies rather than exclusion, 
is the best approach to achieve 
material change and is more 
compatible with their fiduciary duty 
and more supportive of their long-
term investment goals. However, 
where investee companies are not 
taking sufficient action or are not 
prepared to engage in good faith 
on these issues, we believe this 
is likely to impact future returns 
and expect our managers to act 
accordingly.

 Effective governance and 
decision-making structures that 
promote decisiveness, efficiency 
and accountability add value 
to the Fund. The Committee 
believes in appointing good 
investment managers with 
which to work in partnership, 
delegates authority to them, 
and monitors their performance 
(on financial and other metrics) 
regularly. The Committee also 
believes that taking independent 
advice, notably in investment and 
actuarial matters, can strengthen 
governance, and add value to the 
Fund.

Page 532



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  145

Communications Policy

The following Communications Policy Statement outlines how the 
Fund communicates with scheme members, their representatives and 
employers and was reviewed in August 2018.

All employers are instructed to issue new employees with a pensions 
starter pack provided by the Administering Authority, which provides 
information regarding the pension scheme and the individual’s options 
together with links to where more detailed scheme information can be 
obtained.

HR and Payroll Guides to the 2014 Scheme are provided by the Local 
Government Association on the National LGPS 2014 Regulations & 
Guidance website. A link to this information is provided on the Employer 
page of the Fund’s website together with an administration guide to the 
2008 Scheme. 

During 2019/20 the Pension Fund communicated with scheme 
members, their representatives and employers as set out in the policy 
statement below. 

> Communications Policy Statement

Various means are employed to 
communicate with the Fund’s 
stakeholders. These are described 
in respect of each interested group 
as shown below:

Members of the Scheme 

An Annual Meeting is held each 
December and provides the main 
opportunity for the Fund to explain 
its performance and accounts 
to members of the Fund and 
employers.

The Fund’s Annual Report is 
also placed on the pension 
pages of the County Council’s 
website. This Report includes 
the Fund’s policy statements 
covering Funding Strategy, 
Governance, Communication 
and Administration. In addition, 
each policy statement is listed 
separately on the website.

All pensioner members receive a 
pension newsletter each April that 
covers matters of interest. 

An annual Benefit Statement is 
sent to all active and deferred 
members of the Fund showing 
their accrued benefits up to the 
end of the previous financial year. 
At this time the opportunity is 
also taken to include information 
on current matters of interest to 
scheme members. 

Information on the scheme and 
changes to it are posted on the 
pension pages of the County 
Council’s website and where 
appropriate these are also posted 
onto the “news” section of the staff 
intranet. 

The Authority continues to send 
payslips to pensioners every April, 
May and October. The October 

Page 533



146  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

pensioner pay slips include an 
invitation to the Fund’s Annual 
Meeting and details on how to 
access the annual report and 
accounts.

Pay slips are also sent where 
the difference in the net pension 
payment is £10 or more from the 
previous month.

All active scheme members are 
sent an invitation to attend the 
Fund’s Annual Meeting, via their 
employer and are given the link 
to the County Council’s website 
to access a copy of the Fund’s 
annual report and accounts. They 
are also given details on how to 
request a paper copy of the annual 
report and accounts. 

Prospective Members 
of the Scheme 

All employers are provided with a 
link to the employers’ pages of the 
Fund’s pension website, together 
with instructions on how to supply 
all prospective members of the 
scheme with a pensions pack. 
This pack informs individuals of 
the benefits of the scheme as well 
as details about where they can 
obtain further information. 

Advice and guidance is provided 
by Pensions staff to all employers 
within the Fund on an on-going 
basis.

Scheme Employers 

An online employers’ guide to the 
scheme is made available to all 
new and prospective employers 
via the County Council’s website.

Employers are also consulted 
on key revisions to the Funds 
strategy and policy documents 

- the Investment Strategy 
Statement, the Governance Policy 
and Compliance Statements, 
the Administration Strategy, the 
Communication Policy and the 
Funding Strategy Statement. 

Employer forums are held with 
the administering authority at 
least twice yearly to help improve 
understanding of: the pension 
scheme; the employers’ role and 
ways of improving the accuracy 
and timeliness of scheme 
administration. All employers 
are invited to attend. Minutes 
of the meetings and copies of 
any presentations are sent to all 
employers, including those unable 
to attend.

Copies of all relevant 
communications received centrally 
(i.e. from MHCLG, Treasury, 
HMRC, LGA, etc.) are circulated 
to employers to ensure they are 
kept informed. These documents 
are often discussed in detail 
at the Employers Forums. In 
addition, communications relating 
to operational requirements 
and changes are circulated to 
employers where required.

Where we are informed of a 
transfer, direct dialogue takes 
place between the administering 
authority and employers being 
affected by business transfers 
to ensure trades unions and 
prospective employers understand 
the pension scheme. 

Every three years when the 
triennial valuation takes place 
meetings are arranged with the 
actuary to discuss the outcome 
of the valuation, contribution rates 
and e.g. options around phasing 
in any increase in contribution 
required. 

Meetings are held with the 
Chief Financial Officers of 
District Councils where there 
is an opportunity for current 
developments and issues to be 
presented and discussed. 

Employee Representation 

The Pension Committee includes 
an employee representative 
nominated by the trades unions, 
as one of its members. The 
employee representative also 
represents pensioners and 
deferred members.

Employee representatives are 
involved in consultation where 
business transfers are proposed. 

Pension Board 

The Gloucestershire Pension 
Board meets at least twice a 
year and includes two employer 
representatives and two employee 
representatives. Members of 
the public are able to attend as 
observers.

Page 534



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  147

Summary of Fund Benefits 

Introduction

The Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
is administered under the Local 
Government Pension Scheme 
(LGPS) Regulations. Benefits 
built up from 1st April 2014 are 
calculated on a Career Average 
Revalued Earnings (C.A.R.E.) 
basis. Benefits accrued prior to 
1st April 2014 continue to be 
protected on a “final salary” basis.

The scheme is open to all eligible 
employees regardless of the hours 
worked and continues to provide 
a comprehensive set of benefits 
for its members. Shown below is a 
summary of the key features of the 
scheme currently in force from 1st 
April 2014. This summary is only 
provided as an illustrative guide 
of some of the key features of the 
scheme and is not intended to give 
details of all the benefits provided, 
or the specific conditions relating 
to the provisions of the scheme.

Enquiries

Enquiries and more detailed 
information on the LGPS can 
be obtained by visiting the 
Gloucestershire County Council 
Pensions website at www.
gloucestershire.gov.uk/
pensions or from the Pensions 
Section at Shire Hall, Gloucester, 
phone (01452) 328888.

Local Government 
Pension Scheme (LGPS) 
Regulations 2013 (as 
amended) – 

Principal Features of the 
Scheme in Force from   
1st April 2014

 Employee Contribution Rate – 
Variable (9 Band Rates) between 
5.5% and 12.5% depending on 
level of earnings.

 Annual Pension and Lump Sum 

 C.A.R.E. Pension based 
on 1/49th of pensionable pay 
attributable to each year of 
membership (index linked by C.P.I.) 
from 1st April 2014 PLUS option 
to exchange up to ¼ of pension 
pot for a lump sum (each £1 of 
pension providing £12 lump sum).

 Any membership between 1st 
April 2008 and 31st March 2014 
will provide a pension based on 
1/60th of final years pensionable 
pay for each year of membership 
PLUS option to exchange up to 
¼ of pension pot for a lump sum 
(each £1 of pension providing £12 
lump sum)

 Any pre 1st April 2008 
membership will provide “standard 
benefits” of a pension based on 
1/80th of final years pensionable 
pay for each year of membership 
PLUS a lump sum of three times 
the pension. There is also the 
option to exchange part of the 
pension to increase the lump sum 
to ¼ of the pension pot (each £1 of 
pension providing £12 lump sum).

 50:50 Option - allowing 
members the option to pay half 
contributions for half pension 
benefits.

 Normal Retirement Date - Later 
of State Pension Age or age 65. 
Member also has the right to retire 
from age 55 (although benefits 
will normally suffer an actuarial 
reduction). 

 Earliest Retirement Date – 
age 55 in cases of – Member 
initiated Early Retirement / Flexible 
Retirement / Redundancy / 
Efficiency of the Service. 

 Ill Health Retirement – early 
payment of benefits (irrespective 

of age) if “permanently” incapable 
of continuing in the employment 
the member was engaged in 
due to medical reasons and 
is not immediately capable 
of undertaking any “gainful 
employment” in the future. Level 
of benefits based on a three tier 
system, depending on likelihood 
of being able to obtain “gainful 
employment”.

 Provision for an ongoing pension 
is provided for a spouse, registered 
civil partner, eligible cohabiting 
partner (subject to certain qualifying 
conditions) and/or any eligible 
children in the event of a member’s 
death.   

 Lump Sum Death Grant - In the 
event of death in service, a lump 
sum death grant of three times 
annual pay is payable.

 Index Linking - Pensions are 
increased in accordance with 
annual review orders made under 
the Pension (Increase) Act 1971.  
The index currently used for this 
purpose is the Consumer Price 
Index (CPI).

 Additional Pension Benefits 
- In house facilities to increase 
potential benefits by:

 paying additional monthly 
contributions to purchase 
additional pension (to a maximum 
(at 1st April 2019) of £7,026).  
From 1st April 2020 this increased 
to £7,194;

 making additional voluntary 
contributions to Prudential’s in-
house AVC arrangement to provide 
an additional pension benefit at 
retirement.

Page 535



148  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

Accrual

An amount to cover income or spending 
that has not yet been paid but which 
belongs to that accounting period.

Actuary

An advisor on financial questions involving 
probabilities relating to mortality and other 
contingencies. Every three years the 
Scheme appointed actuary reviews the 
assets and the liabilities of the Fund and 
reports to the Strategic Finance Director 
(and Section 151 Officer) on the financial 
position. This is known as the triennial 
actuarial valuation.

Active Investment Management

A style of investment management where 
the fund manager aims to outperform a 
benchmark by superior asset allocation, 
market timing or stock selection (or by 
a combination of each).

Admitted Body

An organisation that chooses and is 
allowed by the scheme to be admitted to 
the LGPS using an Admission Agreement 
in order to provide access to the scheme 
for some or all of its employees.

Additional Voluntary Contributions 
(AVC’s)

Contributions over and above a member’s 
normal contributions which the member 
elects to pay in order to secure additional 
benefits.

Augmentation

This is when extra pension benefits can 
be bought for a pension scheme member. 
They are usually paid for by the employer.

Benchmark

A target or measure against which 
performance is to be judged, which is 
commonly used to assess the investment 
performance of a fund or portfolio. 

Bid/Offer/Mid Price

Bid - The price at which a Market-maker 
or dealer is prepared to buy securities or 
other assets. 
Offer - The price at which a Market-maker 
or dealer is prepared to sell securities or 
other assets. 
Mid - The average of the current bid and 
offer price.

Bond

Certificate of debt issued by a Government 
or company, promising regular payments 
on a specified date or range of dates, 
usually with final capital payment at 
redemption.

Consumer Price Index (CPI)

Measure of price inflation in the UK. Differs 
from the RPI in the range of goods and 
services included, and the way the index 
is constructed.

Deferred Retirement Benefit

A retirement benefit that a member has 
accrued but is not yet entitled to receive.  

Derivatives

See definition on note N17, page 83.

Equities

Share in the ownership of a company, 
giving the holder the right to receive 
distributed profits and to vote at annual 
general meetings of the company. A term 
used for ordinary shares.

Exchange Traded Funds (ETFs/ET’s)

A fund that tracks a selection or ‘basket’ 
of related securities within a stock market 
index but can be traded on an exchange 
like a stock or share. 

Fair Value

A price deemed to accurately reflect the 
value of a security based on measurable 
valuation fundamentals. Considered to be 
an equitable valuation from the point of 
view of both buyer and seller.

FTSE

Indices maintained by the FTSE Group 
(an independent company originally set 
up by the Financial Times and the London 
Stock Exchange) which measures the 
performance of the shares listed on the 
London Stock Exchange.

Funding Level

The relationship at a specified date 
between the actuarial value of assets and 
the actuarial liability. Normally expressed 
as a funding ratio or percentage. Used 
as a measure of the fund’s ability to meet 
future liabilities.

Futures Contracts

A contract which binds two parties to 
complete a sale or purchase at a specified 
future date at a price which is fixed at 

the time the contract is effected. Futures 
contracts have standard terms. Margin 
(deposit) payments are required, and 
settlement dealt via a clearing house.

Gilts

A bond issued by the UK Government and 
so-called because certificates used to be 
gilt-edged.

Global Custodian

An organisation which is responsible 
for the safe-keeping of assets, income 
collection and settlement of trades, 
independent of the asset management 
function.

Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP)

The minimum pension which a salary 
related occupational pension scheme 
must provide in respect of contracted out 
contributions paid between April 1978 and 
1997, as a condition of contracting out of 
the state-earnings related pension scheme 
(SERPS).

Hedge

A means of protecting against financial 
loss, normally by taking an offsetting 
position in a related investment.

Index Tracking

An investment process which aims to 
match the returns on a particular market 
index either by holding all the stocks in 
the particular index or, more commonly 
a mathematically calculated sample of 
stocks that will perform as closely as 
possible to the index.

Investment Management Agreement

The document agreed between an 
investment manager and the Fund setting 
out the basis upon which the manager will 
manage a portfolio of investments for the 
Fund.

Investment Strategy

The Fund’s long-term distribution of assets 
amongst various asset classes, taking into 
consideration, for example, the goals of 
the Pension Committee and their attitude 
to risk and timescale.

Leverage

The use of borrowed money to over-invest 
a portfolio which magnifies both gains and 
losses. This may be achieved by derivative 
instruments. Also refers to the debt/equity 
ratio in a company’s balance sheet.

Glossary of Terms

Page 536



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  149

Managed Fund

A pooled fund that invests across a wide 
range of asset classes. (See Pooled 
Investment Vehicle).

Market Value

The price at which an asset might 
reasonably be expected to be sold in 
an open market.

Membership

Local authority employment during which 
time pension contributions were made 
or deemed to have been made providing 
entitlement to benefits under the scheme.

MSCI Index

Indices maintained and produced by 
Morgan Stanley Capital International 
that track equity markets throughout the 
world. MSCI indexes are weighted by 
market capitalisation and include various 
countries, regions and industries in both 
developed and emerging markets.

Net Asset Value (NAV)

The value in a company or mutual fund, 
calculated by subtracting total debt from 
total assets and dividing the result by the 
number of shares or units in existence.

Notional Value

The value of a derivative’s underlying 
assets.

Open Ended Investment Company 
(OEIC)

A pooled investment vehicle structured 
as a limited company. Investors can buy 
and sell shares on an on-going basis.

Options

The right but not the obligation to buy 
(call option) or sell (put option) a specific 
security at a specified price (the exercise 
or strike price), at or within a specified time 
(the expiry date). This right is obtained 
by payment of an amount (known as the 
premium) to the writer (seller) of the option, 
and can be exercised whatever happens 
to the security’s market price.

Over The Counter (OTC)

Any market which does not operate 
through a recognised exchange.

Pensionable Earnings

The earnings on which benefits and/or 
contributions are calculated under the 
scheme rules.

Performance Measurement

Calculation of a fund’s historic return on 
its investments.

PIRC

PIRC is an independent research and 
advisory consultancy providing services 
to institutional investors on corporate 
governance and corporate social 
responsibility.

Pooled Investment Vehicle

A fund in which a number of investors 
pool their assets, which are managed on 
a collective basis. The assets of a pooled 
investment vehicle are denominated 
in units that are re-valued regularly to 
reflect the values of underlying assets. 
Vehicles include: open ended investment 
companies, real estate investment trusts 
and unit trusts.

Projected Unit Method

An accrued benefits funding method 
in which the actuarial liability makes 
allowance for projected pensionable pay. 
The standard contribution rate is that 
necessary to cover the cost of all benefits 
which will accrue in the control period 
following the valuation date by reference 
to pensionable pay projected to the dates 
on which benefits become payable. 

Quoted Investments

Investments that have their prices quoted 
on a recognised stock exchange.

Realised Gains/ (Losses)

Profit/(losses) on investments when they 
are sold at more/(less) than the purchase 
price.

Retail Price Index (RPI)

Measure of price inflation in the UK. The 
RPI measures the average change from 
month to month in the prices of goods and 
services purchased by most households 
in the UK.

Risk

The likelihood of a return different from that 
expected and the possible extent of the 
difference. It can also indicate the volatility 
of different assets.

Securities

General name for stocks and shares of 
all types that can be traded freely on the 
open market.

Segregated Fund

Where the assets of a particular fund are 
managed independently of those of other 
funds under the fund manager’s control.

Specialist Management

When an investment manager’s mandate 
is restricted to a specific asset class 
or sector. The Pension Committee 
determines allocations to each asset class.

Strategic Asset Allocation

The process of dividing investments 
between the main asset classes to meet 
the Fund’s risk and return objectives.

Transfer Payment

A payment made from one pension 
scheme to another pension scheme 
in lieu of benefits which have accrued 
to the member or members concerned, 
to enable the receiving pension scheme 
to provide alternative benefits.

Transfer Value

The amount of the transfer payment.

Unitised Insurance Policy

Investors are issued with a life policy 
representing title. Investors’ ‘holdings of 
units’ represent a means of calculating the 
value of their policy. The life fund/company 
holds the pool of investments and is the 
owner of all the assets. 

Unit Trust

Unit trusts are collective funds which allow 
private investors to pool their money in a 
single fund, thus spreading risk, getting the 
benefit of professional fund management 
and reducing dealing costs. Unit trust 
trading is based on market forces and their 
net asset value - that is the value of their 
underlying assets divided by the number 
of units in issue. The activities of unit trusts 
are regulated by the FCA.

Universe

Term sometimes used to describe the total 
number of funds in a performance survey.

Unlisted Securities

Stocks and shares not available for 
purchase or sale through the stock market.

Unquoted Investments

Stocks that are not listed on an exchange 
and so have no publicly stated price.

Venture Capital

Investment in a company that is at a 
relatively early stage of development 
and is not listed on a stock exchange. 
A venture capitalist raises money from 
investors to invest in such opportunities.  
These investments are typically risky but 
potentially very profitable.

Page 537



150  Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020 ]

Notes

Page 538



Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report [ 2019-2020]  151Page 539



www.gloucestershire.gov.uk

Gloucestershire County Council
Shire Hall 
Gloucester
GL1 2TG

t: 01452 425000

G
C

C
_3

03
6 

11
/2

0

Page 540


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	4 Chairman's announcements
	6 Corporate Parenting
	8a Report and recommendations
	8b Council Strategy - Appendix 1
	8c MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY - Appendix 2
	8d Budget consultation report - Appendix 3
	8e Budget Scrutiny - Appendix 4
	8f Due Regard Statement - Appendix 5
	Appendix 4b - DRS Council Strategy and MTFS 2021-22 (Full Council 17.02.21)

	10a Scrutiny report
	11 Constitution Committee report
	12 Individual Cabinet Member Decision Statements
	13 Cabinet Decision Statements
	Decisions Statement 270121

	14 Gloucestershire LGPS 2019-20 Annual Report
	LGPS 2019-20 Annual Report


